Maxwell's equations

Contents

Articles

Overview	1
Maxwell's equations	1
Equations	28
Ampère's circuital law	28
Faraday's law of induction	34
Gauss's law	46
Gauss's law for magnetism	52
Related equations	55
Biot–Savart law	55
Electromagnetic wave equation	59
Electromotive force	67
Inverse-square law	78
Lorentz force	82
Telegrapher's equations	92
Physical quantities	99
E field	99
D field	105
B and H fields	108
Current density	129
Displacement current	132
Electric charge	140
Magnetic charge	145
Electric flux	155
Magnetic flux	156
Electric potential	159
Magnetic potential	162
Electric susceptibility	166
Magnetic susceptibility	168
Permittivity	172
Permeability	178
Magnetization	183

Polarization	185
Scalar potential	188
Vector potential	191
Vacuum permeability	192
Vacuum permittivity	195
Speed of light	198
Related phenomena	218
Dielectric	218
Diamagnetic	224
Electromagnetic induction	228
Electromagnetic radiation	230
Vacuum	239
People	254
André-Marie Ampère	254
Jean-Baptiste Biot	257
Michael Faraday	260
Carl Friedrich Gauss	273
Oliver Heaviside	284
Joseph Henry	290
Heinrich Hertz	296
Rudolf Kohlrausch	303
Heinrich Lenz	304
Hendrik Lorentz	305
James Clerk Maxwell	312
Albert Abraham Michelson	325
Edward Morley	331
Félix Savart	334
Wilhelm Eduard Weber	335
Publications	338
On Physical Lines of Force	338
A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field	340
A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism	343
Related articles	345
Classical electromagnetism and special relativity	345
Covariant formulation of classical electromagnetism	348

Electromagnetic four-potential	355
Maxwell's equations in curved spacetime	356
Faraday paradox	363
Moving magnet and conductor problem	371
Luminiferous aether	377
Michelson-Morley experiment	389

References

Article Sources and Contributors	398
Image Sources, Licenses and Contributors	406

Article Licenses

Overview

Maxwell's equations

Maxwell's equations are a set of partial differential equations that, together with the Lorentz force law, form the foundation of classical electrodynamics, classical optics, and electric circuits. These fields in turn underlie modern electrical and communications technologies.

Maxwell's equations have two major variants. The "microscopic" set of Maxwell's equations uses total charge and total current including the difficult-to-calculate atomic level charges and currents in materials. The "macroscopic" set of Maxwell's equations defines two new auxiliary fields that can sidestep having to know these 'atomic' sized charges and currents.

Maxwell's equations are named after the Scottish physicist and mathematician James Clerk Maxwell, since in an early form they are all found in a four-part paper, "On Physical Lines of Force," which he published between 1861 and 1862. The mathematical form of the Lorentz force law also appeared in this paper.

It is often useful to write Maxwell's equations in other forms; these representations are still formally termed "Maxwell's equations". A relativistic formulation in terms of covariant field tensors is used in special relativity, while, in quantum mechanics, a version based on the electric and magnetic potentials is preferred.

Conceptual description

Conceptually, Maxwell's equations describe how electric charges and electric currents act as sources for the electric and magnetic fields. Further, it describes how a time varying electric field generates a time varying magnetic field and vice versa. (See below for a mathematical description of these laws.) Of the four equations, two of them, Gauss's law and Gauss's law for magnetism, describe how the fields emanate from charges. (For the magnetic field there is no magnetic charge and therefore magnetic fields lines neither begin nor end anywhere.) The other two equations describe how the fields 'circulate' around their respective sources; the magnetic field 'circulates' around electric currents and time varying electric field in Ampère's law with Maxwell's correction, while the electric field 'circulates' around time varying magnetic fields in Faraday's law.

Gauss's law

Gauss's law describes the relationship between an electric field and the electric charges that cause it: The electric field points away from positive charges and towards negative charges. In the field line description, electric field lines begin only at positive electric charges and end only at negative electric charges. 'Counting' the number of field lines in a closed surface, therefore, yields the total charge enclosed by that surface. More technically, it relates the electric flux through any hypothetical closed "Gaussian surface" to the enclosed electric charge.

Gauss's law for magnetism

Gauss's law for magnetism states that there are no "magnetic charges" (also called magnetic monopoles), analogous to electric charges.^[1] Instead, the magnetic field due to materials is generated by a configuration called a dipole. Magnetic dipoles are best represented as loops of current but resemble positive and negative 'magnetic charges', inseparably bound together, having no net 'magnetic charge'. In terms of field lines, this equation states that magnetic field lines neither begin nor end but make loops or extend to infinity and back. In other words, any magnetic field line that enters a given volume must somewhere exit that volume. Equivalent technical statements are that the sum total magnetic flux through any Gaussian surface is zero, or that the magnetic field is a solenoidal vector field.



infinity as shown here with the magnetic field due to a ring of current.

Faraday's law



In a geomagnetic storm, a surge in the flux of charged particles temporarily alters Earth's magnetic field, which induces electric fields in Earth's atmosphere, thus causing surges in our electrical power grids. **Faraday's law** describes how a time varying magnetic field creates ("induces") an electric field.^[1] This aspect of electromagnetic induction is the operating principle behind many electric generators: for example a rotating bar magnet creates a changing magnetic field, which in turn generates an electric field in a nearby wire. (Note: there are two closely related equations which are called Faraday's law. The form used in Maxwell's equations is always valid but more restrictive than that originally formulated by Michael Faraday.)

Ampère's law with Maxwell's correction

Ampère's law with Maxwell's correction states that magnetic fields can be generated in two ways: by electrical current (this was the original "Ampère's law") and by changing electric fields (this was "Maxwell's correction").

Maxwell's correction to Ampère's law is particularly important: it shows that not only a changing magnetic field induces an electric field, but also a changing electric field induces a magnetic field.^[1] ^[2] Therefore, these equations allow self-sustaining "electromagnetic waves" to travel through empty space (see electromagnetic wave equation).



An Wang's magnetic core memory (1954) is an application of Ampère's law. Each core stores one bit of data.

The speed calculated for electromagnetic waves, which could be predicted from experiments on charges and currents,^[3] exactly matches the speed of light; indeed, light *is* one form of electromagnetic radiation (as are X-rays, radio waves, and others). Maxwell understood the connection between electromagnetic waves and light in 1861, thereby unifying the theories of electromagnetism and optics.

Units and summary of equations

Maxwell's equations vary with the unit system used. Though the general form remains the same, various definitions get changed and different constants appear at different places. (This may seem strange at first, but this is because some unit systems, e.g. variants of cgs, define their units in such a way that certain physical constants are fixed, dimensionless constants, e.g. 1, so these constants disappear from the equations.) The equations in this section are given in SI units. Other units commonly used are Gaussian units (based on the cgs system^[4]), Lorentz–Heaviside units (used mainly in particle physics) and Planck units (used in theoretical physics). See below for CGS-Gaussian units.

For a description of the difference between the microscopic and macroscopic variants of Maxwell's equations see the relevant sections below.

In the equations given below, symbols in **bold** represent vector quantities, and symbols in *italics* represent scalar quantities. The definitions of terms used in the two tables of equations are given in another table immediately following.

Table of 'microscopic' equations

Name	Differential form	Integral form
Gauss's law	$ abla \cdot \mathbf{E} = rac{ ho}{arepsilon_0}$	$\oint_{\partial V} \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{A} = \frac{Q(V)}{\varepsilon_0}$
Gauss's law for magnetism	$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$	$\oint_{\partial V} \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{dA} = 0$
Maxwell–Faraday equation (Faraday's law of induction)	$ abla imes {f E} = - rac{\partial {f B}}{\partial t}$	$\oint_{\partial S} \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathrm{d} \mathbf{l} = -\frac{\partial \Phi_S(\mathbf{B})}{\partial t}$
Ampère's circuital law (with Maxwell's correction)	$ abla imes \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \mathbf{J} + \mu_0 arepsilon_0 rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t}$	$\oint_{\partial S} \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathrm{d} \mathbf{l} = \mu_0 I_S + \mu_0 \varepsilon_0 \frac{\partial \Phi_S(\mathbf{E})}{\partial t}$

Formulation in terms of *total* charge and current^[5]

Here, in agreement with the common definition, it is assumed that one works in a system where the integration regions are constant. Thus, for example, $\frac{\partial \Phi_S(\mathbf{B})}{\partial t} := \iint_S \frac{\partial(\mathbf{B})}{\partial t} \cdot d\mathbf{S}$. However, exactly this equation, and *not*

 $\frac{\partial \Phi_S(\mathbf{B})}{\partial t} := \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{dt}} \iint_{S(t)} \mathbf{B}(t) \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{S}, \text{would also be true, if S were to depend on time as well.}$

Table of 'macroscopic' equations

Name	Differential form	Integral form
Gauss's law	$ abla \cdot \mathbf{D} = \rho_f$	$\oint \!$
Gauss's law for magnetism	$ abla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$	$\oint \!$
Maxwell–Faraday equation (Faraday's law of induction)	$ abla imes {f E} = - rac{\partial {f B}}{\partial t}$	$\oint_{\partial S} {f E} \cdot { m d} {f l} = - rac{\partial \Phi_S({f B})}{\partial t}$
Ampère's circuital law (with Maxwell's correction)	$ abla imes \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{J}_f + rac{\partial \mathbf{D}}{\partial t}$	$\oint_{\partial S} \mathbf{H} \cdot d\mathbf{l} = I_{f,S} + \frac{\partial \Phi_S(\mathbf{D})}{\partial t}$

Formulation in terms of *free* charge and current

Table of terms used in Maxwell's equations

The following table provides the meaning of each symbol and the SI unit of measure:

Symbol	Meaning (first term is the most common)	SI Unit of Measure
Е	electric field	volt per meter or, equivalently,
	also called the electric field intensity	newton per coulomb
В	magnetic field	tesla, or equivalently,
	also called the magnetic induction	weber per square meter,
	also called the magnetic field density	volt-second per square meter
	also called the magnetic flux density	
D	electric displacement field	coulombs per square meter or
	also called the electric induction	equivalently,
	also called the electric flux density	newton per volt-meter
Н	magnetizing field	ampere per meter
	also called auxiliary magnetic field	
	also called magnetic field intensity	
	also called magnetic field	
$\nabla \cdot$	the divergence operator	per meter (factor contributed by
$\nabla \times$	the curl operator	applying either operator)
ð	partial derivative with respect to time	per second (factor contributed by
$\overline{\partial t}$		applying the operator)
S and ∂S	S is any surface, and ∂S is its boundary curve. The surface is fixed	
	(unchanging in time).	
V and ∂V	V is any three-dimensional volume, and ∂V is its boundary surface. The	
	volume is fixed (unchanging in time).	
$d\mathbf{A}$	differential vector element of surface area A, with infinitesimally small	square meters
	magnitude and direction normal to surface S	
dl	differential vector element of <i>path length</i> tangential to the path/curve	meters
ε_0	permittivity of free space, also called the electric constant, a universal	farads per meter
	constant	
μ_0	permeability of free space, also called the magnetic constant, a universal	henries per meter, or newtons per
	constant	ampere squared
$ ho_f$	free charge density (not including bound charge)	coulombs per cubic meter
	1	

Definitions and units

ρ	total charge density (including both free and bound charge)	coulombs per cubic meter
\mathbf{J}_{f}	free current density (not including bound current)	amperes per square meter
J	total current density (including both free and bound current)	amperes per square meter
$Q_f(V)$	net free electric charge within the three-dimensional volume V (not including bound charge)	coulombs
Q(V)	net electric charge within the three-dimensional volume <i>V</i> (including both free and bound charge)	coulombs
$\oint_{\partial S} \mathbf{E} \cdot d\mathbf{l}$	line integral of the electric field along the boundary ∂S of a surface S (∂S is always a closed curve).	joules per coulomb
$\oint_{\partial S} \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathrm{d} \mathbf{l}$	line integral of the magnetic field over the closed boundary ∂S of the surface S	tesla-meters
$\oint \!$	the electric flux (surface integral of the electric field) through the (closed) surface ∂V (the boundary of the volume <i>V</i>)	joule-meter per coulomb
$\oint \!$	the magnetic flux (surface integral of the magnetic B-field) through the (closed) surface ∂V (the boundary of the volume V)	tesla meters-squared or webers
$\iint_S \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{A} = \Phi_S(\mathbf{B})$	magnetic flux through any surface S, not necessarily closed	webers or equivalently, volt-seconds
$\iint_S {f E} \cdot { m d} {f A} = \Phi_S({f E})$	electric flux through any surface S, not necessarily closed	joule-meters per coulomb
$\int\!\!\!\!\int_S \overline{\mathbf{D}\cdot\mathrm{d}\mathbf{A}} = \Phi_S(\mathbf{D})$	flux of electric displacement field through any surface S, not necessarily closed	coulombs
$\boxed{\iint_{S} \mathbf{J}_{f} \cdot \mathrm{d} \mathbf{A} = I_{f,s}}$	net free electrical current passing through the surface S (not including bound current)	amperes
$\iint_{S} \mathbf{J} \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{A} = I_{S}$	net electrical current passing through the surface S (including both free and bound current)	amperes

Proof that the two general formulations are equivalent

The two alternate general formulations of Maxwell's equations given above are mathematically equivalent and related by the following relations:

$$\begin{split} \rho_b &= -\nabla \cdot \mathbf{P}, \\ \mathbf{J}_b &= \nabla \times \mathbf{M} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial t}, \\ \mathbf{D} &= \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P}, \\ \mathbf{B} &= \mu_0 (\mathbf{H} + \mathbf{M}), \\ \rho &= \rho_b + \rho_f, \\ \mathbf{J} &= \mathbf{J}_b + \mathbf{J}_f, \end{split}$$

where **P** and **M** are polarization and magnetization, and ρ_b and \mathbf{J}_b are bound charge and current, respectively. Substituting these equations into the 'macroscopic' Maxwell's equations gives identically the microscopic equations.

Relationship between differential and integral forms

The differential and integral forms of the equations are mathematically equivalent, by the divergence theorem in the case of Gauss's law and Gauss's law for magnetism, and by the Kelvin–Stokes theorem in the case of Faraday's law and Ampère's law. Both the differential and integral forms are useful. The integral forms can often be used to simply and directly calculate fields from symmetric distributions of charges and currents. On the other hand, the differential forms are a more natural starting point for calculating the fields in more complicated (less symmetric) situations, for example using finite element analysis.^[6]

Maxwell's 'microscopic' equations

The *microscopic* variant of Maxwell's equation expresses the electric \mathbf{E} field and the magnetic \mathbf{B} field in terms of the *total charge* and total *current* present including the charges and currents at the atomic level. It is sometimes called the general form of Maxwell's equations or "Maxwell's equations in a vacuum". Both variants of Maxwell's equations are equally general, though, as they are mathematically equivalent. The microscopic equations are most useful in waveguides for example, when there are no dielectric or magnetic materials nearby.

Name	Differential form	Integral form
Gauss's law	$ abla \cdot {f E} = { ho \over arepsilon_0}$	$\oint \!$
Gauss's law for magnetism	$ abla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$	$\oint\!$
Maxwell–Faraday equation (Faraday's law of induction)	$ abla imes {f E} = - rac{\partial {f B}}{\partial t}$	$\oint_{\partial S} \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathrm{d} \mathbf{l} = -\frac{\partial \Phi_S(\mathbf{B})}{\partial t}$
Ampère's circuital law (with Maxwell's correction)	$ abla imes \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \mathbf{J} + \mu_0 arepsilon_0 rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t}$	$\oint_{\partial S} \mathbf{B} \cdot d\mathbf{l} = \mu_0 I_S + \mu_0 \varepsilon_0 \frac{\partial \Phi_S(\mathbf{E})}{\partial t}$

Formulation in terms of *total* charge and current^[7]

With neither charges nor currents

Further information: Electromagnetic wave equation and Sinusoidal plane-wave solutions of the electromagnetic wave equation

In a region with no charges ($\rho = 0$) and no currents ($\mathbf{J} = 0$), such as in a vacuum, Maxwell's equations reduce to:

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{E} = 0$$
$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = -\mu_0 \varepsilon_0 \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t}.$$

These equations lead directly to \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{B} satisfying the wave equation for which the solutions are linear combinations of plane waves traveling at the speed of light,

$$c = rac{1}{\sqrt{\mu_0 arepsilon_0}}.$$

In addition, **E** and **B** are mutually perpendicular to each other and the direction of motion and are in phase with each other. A sinusoidal plane wave is one special solution of these equations.

In fact, Maxwell's equations explain how these waves can physically propagate through space. The changing magnetic field creates a changing electric field through Faraday's law. In turn, that electric field creates a changing

magnetic field through Maxwell's correction to Ampère's law. This perpetual cycle allows these waves, now known as electromagnetic radiation, to move through space at velocity *c*.

Maxwell's 'macroscopic' equations

Unlike the 'microscopic' equations, "Maxwell's macroscopic equations", also known as **Maxwell's equations in matter**, factor out the bound charge and current to obtain equations that depend only on the free charges and currents. These equations are more similar to those that Maxwell himself introduced. The cost of this factorization is that additional fields need to be defined: the displacement field **D** which is defined in terms of the electric field **E** and the polarization **P** of the material, and the magnetic-**H** field, which is defined in terms of the magnetic-**B** field and the magnetization **M** of the material.

Bound charge and current

When an electric field is applied to a dielectric material its molecules respond by forming microscopic electric dipoles-their atomic nuclei move a tiny distance in the direction of the field, while their electrons move a tiny distance in the opposite direction. This produces a macroscopic bound charge in the material even though all of the charges involved are bound to individual molecules. For example, if every molecule responds the same, similar to that shown in the figure, these tiny movements of charge combine to produce a layer of positive bound charge on one side of the material and a layer of negative charge on the other side. The bound charge is most conveniently described in terms of a



at the boundaries no cancellation occurs.

polarization, **P**, in the material. If **P** is uniform, a macroscopic separation of charge is produced only at the surfaces where **P** enter and leave the material. For non-uniform **P**, a charge is also produced in the bulk.^[8]

Somewhat similarly, in all materials the constituent atoms exhibit magnetic moments that are intrinsically linked to the angular momentum of the atoms' components, most notably their electrons. The connection to angular momentum suggests the picture of an assembly of microscopic current loops. Outside the material, an assembly of such microscopic current loops is not different from a macroscopic current circulating around the material's surface, despite the fact that no individual magnetic moment is traveling a large distance. These *bound currents* can be described using the magnetization **M**.^[9]

The very complicated and granular bound charges and bound currents, therefore can be represented on the macroscopic scale in terms of **P** and **M** which average these charges and currents on a sufficiently large scale so as not to see the granularity of individual atoms, but also sufficiently small that they vary with location in the material. As such, the *Maxwell's macroscopic equations* ignores many details on a fine scale that may be unimportant to understanding matters on a grosser scale by calculating fields that are averaged over some suitably sized volume.

Equations

Name	Differential form	Integral form
Gauss's law	$ abla \cdot \mathbf{D} = \rho_f$	$\oint \!$
Gauss's law for magnetism	$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$	$\oint \!$
Maxwell–Faraday equation (Faraday's law of induction)	$ abla imes {f E} = - rac{\partial {f B}}{\partial t}$	$\oint_{\partial S} \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathrm{d} \mathbf{l} = -\frac{\partial \Phi_S(\mathbf{B})}{\partial t}$
Ampère's circuital law (with Maxwell's correction)	$ abla imes \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{J}_f + rac{\partial \mathbf{D}}{\partial t}$	$\oint_{\partial S} \mathbf{H} \cdot \mathrm{d} \mathbf{l} = I_{f,S} + \frac{\partial \Phi_S(\mathbf{D})}{\partial t}$

Formulation in terms of *free* charge and current

Constitutive relations

In order to apply 'Maxwell's macroscopic equations', it is necessary to specify the relations between displacement field **D** and **E**, and the magnetic H-field **H** and **B**. These equations specify the response of bound charge and current to the applied fields and are called constitutive relations.

Determining the constitutive relationship between the auxiliary fields D and H and the E and B fields starts with the definition of the auxiliary fields themselves:

$$\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r},t) = arepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) + \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},t)$$
 $\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r},t) = rac{1}{\mu_0} \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) - \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{r},t),$

where \mathbf{P} is the polarization field and \mathbf{M} is the magnetization field which are defined in terms of microscopic bound charges and bound current respectively. Before getting to how to calculate \mathbf{M} and \mathbf{P} it is useful to examine some special cases, though.

Without magnetic or dielectric materials

In the absence of magnetic or dielectric materials, the constitutive relations are simple:

 $\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}, \quad \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{B}/\mu_0$

where ε_0 and μ_0 are two universal constants, called the permittivity of free space and permeability of free space, respectively. Substituting these back into Maxwell's macroscopic equations lead directly to Maxwell's microscopic equations, except that the currents and charges are replaced with free currents and free charges. This is expected since there are no bound charges nor currents.

Isotropic Linear materials

In an (isotropic^[10]) linear material, where **P** is proportional to **E** and **M** is proportional to **B** the constitutive relations are also straightforward. In terms of the polarization **P** and the magnetization **M** they are:

 $\mathbf{P} = \varepsilon_0 \chi_e \mathbf{E}, \quad \mathbf{M} = \chi_m \mathbf{H},$

where χ_e and χ_m are the electric and magnetic susceptibilities of a given material respectively. In terms of **D** and **H** the constitutive relations are:

$$\mathbf{D}=arepsilon\mathbf{E},\ \ \mathbf{H}=\mathbf{B}/\mu_{0}$$

where ε and μ are constants (which depend on the material), called the permittivity and permeability, respectively, of the material. These are related to the susceptibilities by:

$$arepsilon=arepsilon_0(1+\chi_e) ~~~\mu=\mu_0(1+\chi_m)$$

Substituting in the constitutive relations above into Maxwell's equations in linear, dispersionless, time-invariant materials (differential form only) are:

$$\nabla \cdot (\varepsilon \mathbf{E}) = \rho_f$$
$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}$$
$$\nabla \times (\mathbf{B}/\mu) = \mathbf{J}_f + \varepsilon \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t}$$

These are formally identical to the *general* formulation in terms of **E** and **B** (given above), except that the permittivity of free space was replaced with the permittivity of the material, the permeability of free space was replaced with the permeability of the material, and only free charges and currents are included (instead of all charges and currents). Unless that material is homogeneous in space, ε and μ cannot be factored out of the derivative expressions on the left sides.

General case

For real-world materials, the constitutive relations are not linear, except approximately. Calculating the constitutive relations from first principles involves determining how \mathbf{P} and \mathbf{M} are created from a given \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{B} .^[11] These relations may be empirical (based directly upon measurements), or theoretical (based upon statistical mechanics, transport theory or other tools of condensed matter physics). The detail employed may be macroscopic or microscopic, depending upon the level necessary to the problem under scrutiny.

In general, though the constitutive relations can usually still be written:

$$\mathbf{D}=arepsilon\mathbf{E},\ \ \mathbf{H}=\mathbf{B}/\mu$$

but ε and μ are not, in general, simple constants, but rather functions. Examples are:

- Dispersion and absorption where ε and μ are functions of frequency. (Causality does not permit materials to be nondispersive; see, for example, Kramers–Kronig relations). Neither do the fields need to be in phase which leads to ε and μ being complex. This also leads to absorption.
- Bi-(an)isotropy where **H** and **D** depend on both **B** and \mathbf{E} :^[12]

 $D = \varepsilon E + \xi H \quad B = \mu H + \zeta E.$

- *Nonlinearity* where ε and μ are functions of **E** and **B**.
- Anisotropy (such as birefringence or dichroism) which occurs when ε and μ are second-rank tensors,

$$D_i = \sum_j arepsilon_{ij} E_j \;\;\; B_i = \sum_j \mu_{ij} H_j.$$

• Dependence of **P** and **M** on **E** and **B** at other locations and times. This could be due to *spatial inhomogeneity*; for example in a domained structure, heterostructure or a liquid crystal, or most commonly in the situation where there are simply multiple materials occupying different regions of space). Or it could be due to a time varying medium or due to hysteresis. In such cases **P** and **M** can be calculated as:^{[13] [14]}

$$egin{aligned} \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},t) &= arepsilon_0 \int \mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{r}' \mathrm{d}t' \; \hat{\chi}_{ ext{elec}}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',t,t';\mathbf{E}) \, \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}',t') \ \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{r},t) &= rac{1}{\mu_0} \int \mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{r}' \mathrm{d}t' \; \hat{\chi}_{ ext{magn}}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',t,t';\mathbf{B}) \, \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}',t'), \end{aligned}$$

in which the permittivity and permeability functions are replaced by integrals over the more general electric and magnetic susceptibilities.^[15]

In practice, some materials properties have a negligible impact in particular circumstances, permitting neglect of small effects. For example: optical nonlinearities can be neglected for low field strengths; material dispersion is unimportant when frequency is limited to a narrow bandwidth; material absorption can be neglected for wavelengths

for which a material is transparent; and metals with finite conductivity often are approximated at microwave or longer wavelengths as perfect metals with infinite conductivity (forming hard barriers with zero skin depth of field penetration).

It may be noted that man-made materials can be designed to have customized permittivity and permeability, such as metamaterials and photonic crystals.

Calculation of constitutive relations

In general, the constitutive equations are theoretically determined by calculating how a molecule responds to the local fields through the Lorentz force. Other forces may need to be modeled as well such as lattice vibrations in crystals or bond forces. Including all of the forces leads to changes in the molecule which are used to calculate \mathbf{P} and \mathbf{M} as a function of the local fields.

The local fields differ from the applied fields due to the fields produced by the polarization and magnetization of nearby material; an effect which also needs to be modeled. Further, real materials are not continuous media; the local fields of real materials vary wildly on the atomic scale. The fields need to be averaged over a suitable volume to form a continuum approximation.

These continuum approximations often require some type of quantum mechanical analysis such as quantum field theory as applied to condensed matter physics. See, for example, density functional theory, Green–Kubo relations and Green's function. Various approximate transport equations have evolved, for example, the Boltzmann equation or the Fokker–Planck equation or the Navier–Stokes equations. Some examples where these equations are applied are magnetohydrodynamics, fluid dynamics, electrohydrodynamics, superconductivity, plasma modeling. An entire physical apparatus for dealing with these matters has developed. A different set of *homogenization methods* (evolving from a tradition in treating materials such as conglomerates and laminates) are based upon approximation of an inhomogeneous material by a homogeneous *effective medium*^[16] ^[17] (valid for excitations with wavelengths much larger than the scale of the inhomogeneity).^[18] ^[19] ^[20] ^[21]

The theoretical modeling of the continuum-approximation properties of many real materials often rely upon measurement as well,^[22] for example, ellipsometry measurements.

History

Relation between electricity, magnetism, and the speed of light

The relation between electricity, magnetism, and the speed of light can be summarized by the modern equation:

$$c=rac{1}{\sqrt{\mu_0arepsilon_0}}$$
 .

The left-hand side is the speed of light, and the right-hand side is a quantity related to the equations governing electricity and magnetism. Although the right-hand side has units of velocity, it can be inferred from measurements of electric and magnetic forces, which involve no physical velocities. Therefore, establishing this relationship provided convincing evidence that light is an electromagnetic phenomenon.

The discovery of this relationship started in 1855, when Wilhelm Eduard Weber and Rudolf Kohlrausch determined that there was a quantity related to electricity and magnetism, "the ratio of the absolute electromagnetic unit of charge to the absolute electrostatic unit of charge" (in modern language, the value $1/\sqrt{\mu_0\varepsilon_0}$), and determined that it should have units of velocity. They then measured this ratio by an experiment which involved charging and discharging a Leyden jar and measuring the magnetic force from the discharge current, and found a value $3.107 \times 10^8 \text{ m/s}$,^[23] remarkably close to the speed of light, which had recently been measured at $3.14 \times 10^8 \text{ m/s}$ by Hippolyte Fizeau in 1848 and at $2.98 \times 10^8 \text{ m/s}$ by Léon Foucault in 1850.^[23] However, Weber and Kohlrausch did not make the connection to the speed of light.^[23] Towards the end of 1861 while working on part III of his paper *On*

Physical Lines of Force, Maxwell travelled from Scotland to London and looked up Weber and Kohlrausch's results. He converted them into a format which was compatible with his own writings, and in doing so he established the connection to the speed of light and concluded that light is a form of electromagnetic radiation.^[24]

The term Maxwell's equations

The four modern Maxwell's equations can be found individually throughout his 1861 paper, derived theoretically using a molecular vortex model of Michael Faraday's "lines of force" and in conjunction with the experimental result of Weber and Kohlrausch. But it wasn't until 1884 that Oliver Heaviside,^[25] concurrently with similar work by Willard Gibbs and Heinrich Hertz,^[26] grouped the four together into a distinct set. This group of four equations was known variously as the Hertz-Heaviside equations and the Maxwell-Hertz equations,^[25] and are sometimes still known as the Maxwell–Heaviside equations.^[27]

Maxwell's contribution to science in producing these equations lies in the correction he made to Ampère's circuital law in his 1861 paper *On Physical Lines of Force*. He added the displacement current term to Ampère's circuital law and this enabled him to derive the electromagnetic wave equation in his later 1865 paper *A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field* and demonstrate the fact that light is an electromagnetic wave. This fact was then later confirmed experimentally by Heinrich Hertz in 1887. The physicist Richard Feynman predicted that, "The American Civil War will pale into provincial insignificance in comparison with this important scientific event of the same decade."^[28]

The concept of fields was introduced by, among others, Faraday. Albert Einstein wrote:

The precise formulation of the time-space laws was the work of Maxwell. Imagine his feelings when the differential equations he had formulated proved to him that electromagnetic fields spread in the form of polarised waves, and at the speed of light! To few men in the world has such an experience been vouchsafed ... it took physicists some decades to grasp the full significance of Maxwell's discovery, so bold was the leap that his genius forced upon the conceptions of his fellow-workers

-(Science, May 24, 1940)

Heaviside worked to eliminate the potentials (electric potential and magnetic potential) that Maxwell had used as the central concepts in his equations;^[25] this effort was somewhat controversial,^[29] though it was understood by 1884 that the potentials must propagate at the speed of light like the fields, unlike the concept of instantaneous action-at-a-distance like the then conception of gravitational potential.^[26] Modern analysis of, for example, radio antennas, makes full use of Maxwell's vector and scalar potentials to separate the variables, a common technique used in formulating the solutions of differential equations. However, the potentials can be introduced by algebraic manipulation of the four fundamental equations.

On Physical Lines of Force

The four modern day Maxwell's equations appeared throughout Maxwell's 1861 paper On Physical Lines of Force:

- 1. Equation (56) in Maxwell's 1861 paper is $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$.
- 2. Equation (112) is Ampère's circuital law with Maxwell's displacement current added. It is the addition of displacement current that is the most significant aspect of Maxwell's work in electromagnetism, as it enabled him to later derive the electromagnetic wave equation in his 1865 paper A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field, and hence show that light is an electromagnetic wave. It is therefore this aspect of Maxwell's work which gives the equations their full significance. (Interestingly, Kirchhoff derived the telegrapher's equations in 1857 without using displacement current. But he did use Poisson's equation and the equation of continuity which are the mathematical ingredients of the displacement current. Nevertheless, Kirchhoff believed his equations to be applicable only inside an electric wire and so he is not credited with having discovered that light is an electromagnetic wave).
- 3. Equation (115) is Gauss's law.

4. Equation (54) is an equation that Oliver Heaviside referred to as 'Faraday's law'. This equation caters for the time varying aspect of electromagnetic induction, but not for the motionally induced aspect, whereas Faraday's original flux law caters for both aspects.^{[30] [31]} Maxwell deals with the motionally dependent aspect of electromagnetic induction, $\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}$, at equation (77). Equation (77) which is the same as equation (D) in the original eight Maxwell's equations listed below, corresponds to all intents and purposes to the modern day force law $\mathbf{F} = q(\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B})$ which sits adjacent to Maxwell's equations and bears the name Lorentz force, even though Maxwell derived it when Lorentz was still a young boy.

The difference between the **B** and the **H** vectors can be traced back to Maxwell's 1855 paper entitled *On Faraday's Lines of Force* which was read to the Cambridge Philosophical Society. The paper presented a simplified model of Faraday's work, and how the two phenomena were related. He reduced all of the current knowledge into a linked set of differential equations.

It is later clarified in his concept of a sea of molecular vortices that appears in his 1861 paper *On Physical Lines of Force*. Within that context, **H** represented pure vorticity (spin), whereas **B** was a weighted vorticity that was weighted for the density of the vortex sea. Maxwell considered magnetic permeability μ to be a measure of the density of the vortex sea. Hence the relationship,

 Magnetic induction current causes a magnetic current density



Figure of Maxwell's molecular vortex model. For a uniform magnetic field, the field lines point outward from the display screen, as can be observed from the black dots in the middle of the hexagons. The vortex of each hexagonal molecule rotates counter-clockwise. The small green circles are clockwise rotating particles sandwiching between the molecular vortices.

$\mathbf{B} = \mu \mathbf{H}$

was essentially a rotational analogy to the linear electric current relationship,

1. Electric convection current

 $\mathbf{J} = \rho \mathbf{v}$

where ρ is electric charge density. **B** was seen as a kind of magnetic current of vortices aligned in their axial planes, with **H** being the circumferential velocity of the vortices. With μ representing vortex density, it follows that the product of μ with vorticity **H** leads to the magnetic field denoted as **B**.

The electric current equation can be viewed as a convective current of electric charge that involves linear motion. By analogy, the magnetic equation is an inductive current involving spin. There is no linear motion in the inductive current along the direction of the \mathbf{B} vector. The magnetic inductive current represents lines of force. In particular, it represents lines of inverse square law force.

The extension of the above considerations confirms that where **B** is to **H**, and where **J** is to ρ , then it necessarily follows from Gauss's law and from the equation of continuity of charge that **E** is to **D**. i.e. **B** parallels with **E**, whereas **H** parallels with **D**.

A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field

In 1864 Maxwell published *A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field* in which he showed that light was an electromagnetic phenomenon. Confusion over the term "Maxwell's equations" sometimes arises because it has been used for a set of eight equations that appeared in Part III of Maxwell's 1864 paper A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field, entitled "General Equations of the Electromagnetic Field,"^[32] and this confusion is compounded by the writing of six of those eight equations as three separate equations (one for each of the Cartesian axes), resulting in twenty equations and twenty unknowns. (As noted above, this terminology is not common: Modern references to the term "Maxwell's equations" refer to the Heaviside restatements.)

The eight original Maxwell's equations can be written in modern vector notation as follows:

(A) The law of total currents

$$\mathbf{J}_{tot} = \mathbf{J} + rac{\partial \mathbf{D}}{\partial t}$$

(B) The equation of magnetic force

$$\mu \mathbf{H} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$$

(C) Ampère's circuital law

 $\nabla \times \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{J}_{tot}$

(D) Electromotive force created by convection, induction, and by static electricity. (This is in effect the Lorentz force)

$$\mathbf{E} = \mu \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{H} - rac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t} -
abla \phi$$

(E) The electric elasticity equation

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{1}{arepsilon} \mathbf{D}$$

(F) Ohm's law

$$\mathbf{E} = rac{1}{\sigma} \mathbf{J}$$

(G) Gauss's law

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D} = \rho$$

(H) Equation of continuity

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{J} = -rac{\partial
ho}{\partial t}$$

or

 $\nabla\cdot {\bf J}_{\rm tot}=0$

Notation

H is the magnetizing field, which Maxwell called the *magnetic intensity*.

J is the current density (with \mathbf{J}_{tot} being the total current including displacement current).^[33]

D is the displacement field (called the *electric displacement* by Maxwell).

 ρ is the free charge density (called the *quantity of free electricity* by Maxwell).

A is the magnetic potential (called the angular impulse by Maxwell).

E is called the *electromotive force* by Maxwell. The term electromotive force is nowadays used for voltage, but it is clear from the context that Maxwell's meaning corresponded more to the modern term electric field.

 φ is the electric potential (which Maxwell also called *electric potential*).

 σ is the electrical conductivity (Maxwell called the inverse of conductivity the *specific resistance*, what is now called the resistivity).

It is interesting to note the $\mu \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{H}$ term that appears in equation D. Equation D is therefore effectively the Lorentz force, similarly to equation (77) of his 1861 paper (see above).

When Maxwell derives the electromagnetic wave equation in his 1865 paper, he uses equation D to cater for electromagnetic induction rather than Faraday's law of induction which is used in modern textbooks. (Faraday's law itself does not appear among his equations.) However, Maxwell drops the $\mu \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{H}$ term from equation D when he is deriving the electromagnetic wave equation, as he considers the situation only from the rest frame.

A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism

In *A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism*, an 1873 treatise on electromagnetism written by James Clerk Maxwell, eleven general equations of the electromagnetic field are listed and these include the eight that are listed in the 1865 paper.^[34]

Maxwell's equations and relativity

Maxwell's original equations are based on the idea that light travels through a sea of molecular vortices known as the 'luminiferous aether', and that the speed of light has to be respective to the reference frame of this aether. Measurements designed to measure the speed of the Earth through the aether conflicted, though.^[35]

A more theoretical approach was suggested by Hendrik Lorentz along with George FitzGerald and Joseph Larmor. Both Larmor (1897) and Lorentz (1899, 1904) derived the Lorentz transformation (so named by Henri Poincaré) as one under which Maxwell's equations were invariant. Poincaré (1900) analyzed the coordination of moving clocks by exchanging light signals. He also established mathematically the group property of the Lorentz transformation (Poincaré 1905).

Einstein dismissed the aether as unnecessary and concluded that Maxwell's equations predict the existence of a fixed speed of light, independent of the speed of the observer, and as such he used Maxwell's equations as the starting point for his special theory of relativity. In doing so, he established the Lorentz transformation as being valid for all matter and not just Maxwell's equations. Maxwell's equations played a key role in Einstein's famous paper on special relativity; for example, in the opening paragraph of the paper, he motivated his theory by noting that a description of a conductor moving with respect to a magnet must generate a consistent set of fields irrespective of whether the force is calculated in the rest frame of the magnet or that of the conductor.^[36]

General relativity has also had a close relationship with Maxwell's equations. For example, Theodor Kaluza and Oskar Klein showed in the 1920s that Maxwell's equations can be derived by extending general relativity into five dimensions. This strategy of using higher dimensions to unify different forces remains an active area of research in particle physics.

Modified to include magnetic monopoles

Maxwell's equations provide for an electric charge, but posit no magnetic charge. Magnetic charge has never been seen^[37] and may not exist. Nevertheless, Maxwell's equations including magnetic charge (and magnetic current) is of some theoretical interest.^[38]

For one reason, Maxwell's equations can be made fully symmetric under interchange of electric and magnetic field by allowing for the possibility of magnetic charges with magnetic charge density ρ_m and currents with magnetic current density \mathbf{J}_m .^[39] The extended Maxwell's equations (in cgs-Gaussian units) are:

Name	Without magnetic monopoles	With magnetic monopoles (hypothetical)
Gauss's law:	$ abla \cdot {f E} = 4 \pi ho_{f e}$	$ abla \cdot {f E} = 4 \pi ho_{f e}$
Gauss's law for magnetism:	$ abla \cdot {f B} = 0$	$ abla \cdot {f B} = 4 \pi ho_{ m m}$
Maxwell–Faraday equation (Faraday's law of induction):	$- abla imes \mathbf{E} = rac{1}{c}rac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}$	$- abla imes {f E} = rac{1}{c}rac{\partial {f B}}{\partial t} + rac{4\pi}{c}{f j}_{ m m}$
Ampère's law (with Maxwell's extension):	$ abla imes {f B} = rac{1}{c} rac{\partial {f E}}{\partial t} + rac{4\pi}{c} {f j}_{ m e}$	$ abla imes {f B} = {1\over c} {\partial {f E}\over\partial t} + {4\pi\over c} {f j_e}$

If magnetic charges do not exist, or if they exist but not in the region studied, then the new variables are zero, and the symmetric equations reduce to the conventional equations of electromagnetism such as $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$. Further, if every particle has the same ratio of electric to magnetic charge, then an E and a B field can be defined that obeys the normal Maxwell's equation (having no magnetic charges or currents) with its own charge and current densities.^[40]

Solving Maxwell's equations

Maxwell's equations are partial differential equations that relate the electric and magnetic fields to each other and to the electric charges and currents. Often, the charges and currents are themselves dependent on the electric and magnetic fields via the Lorentz force equation and the constitutive relations. These all form a set of coupled partial differential equations, which are often very difficult to solve. In fact, the solutions of these equations encompass all the diverse phenomena in the entire field of classical electromagnetism. A thorough discussion is far beyond the scope of the article, but some general notes follow:

- Like any differential equation, boundary conditions^{[41] [42] [43]} and initial conditions^[44] are necessary for a unique solution. For example, even with no charges and no currents anywhere in spacetime, many solutions to Maxwell's equations are possible, not just the obvious solution E=B=0. Another solution is E=constant, B=constant, while yet other solutions have electromagnetic waves filling spacetime. In some cases, Maxwell's equations are solved through infinite space, and boundary conditions are given as asymptotic limits at infinity.^[45] In other cases, Maxwell's equations are solved in just a finite region of space, with appropriate boundary conditions on that region: For example, the boundary conditions, or (as with a waveguide or cavity resonator) the boundary conditions may describe the walls that isolate a small region from the outside world.^[48]
- Jefimenko's equations (or the closely related Liénard–Wiechert potentials) are the explicit solution to Maxwell's
 equations for the electric and magnetic fields created by any given distribution of charges and currents. It assumes
 specific initial conditions to obtain the so-called "retarded solution", where the only fields present are the ones
 created by the charges. Jefimenko's equations are not so helpful in situations when the charges and currents are
 themselves affected by the fields they create.
- Numerical methods for differential equations can be used to approximately solve Maxwell's equations when an exact solution is impossible. These methods usually require a computer, and include the finite element method and finite-difference time-domain method.^[41] ^[43] ^[49] ^[50] ^[51] For more details, see Computational electromagnetics.

Gaussian units

Gaussian units is a popular electromagnetism variant of the centimetre gram second system of units (cgs). In gaussian units, Maxwell's equations are:^[52]

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D} = 4\pi \rho_{\rm f}$$
$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H} = \frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial \mathbf{D}}{\partial t} + \frac{4\pi}{c} \mathbf{J}_{\rm f}$$

where c is the speed of light in a vacuum. The microscopic equations are:

$$\begin{array}{l} \nabla \cdot \mathbf{E} = 4\pi \rho_{\rm tot} \\ \nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0 \\ \nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} \\ \nabla \times \mathbf{B} = \frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} + \frac{4\pi}{c} \mathbf{J}_{\rm tot} \end{array}$$

The relation between electric displacement field, electric field and polarization density is:

$$\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{E} + 4\pi \mathbf{P}.$$

And likewise the relation between magnetic induction, magnetic field and total magnetization is:

$$\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{H} + 4\pi \mathbf{M}.$$

In the linear approximation, the electric susceptibility and magnetic susceptibility are defined so that:

 $\mathbf{P} = \chi_{\mathbf{e}} \mathbf{E}, \quad \mathbf{M} = \chi_{\mathbf{m}} \mathbf{H}.$

(Note: although the susceptibilities are dimensionless numbers in both cgs and SI, they differ in value by a factor of 4π .) The permittivity and permeability are:

$$\varepsilon = 1 + 4\pi \chi_{e}, \quad \mu = 1 + 4\pi \chi_{m},$$

so that

$$\mathbf{D} = \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \mathbf{E}, \quad \mathbf{B} = \boldsymbol{\mu} \mathbf{H}.$$

In vacuum, $\varepsilon = \mu = 1$, therefore **D** = **E**, and **B** = **H**.

The force exerted upon a charged particle by the electric field and magnetic field is given by the Lorentz force equation:

$$\mathbf{F} = q\left(\mathbf{E} + rac{\mathbf{v}}{c} imes \mathbf{B}
ight),$$

where q is the charge on the particle and \mathbf{v} is the particle velocity. This is slightly different from the SI-unit expression above. For example, the magnetic field **B** has the same units as the electric field **E**.

Some equations in the article are given in Gaussian units but not SI or vice-versa. Fortunately, there are general rules to convert from one to the other; see the article Gaussian units for details.

Alternative formulations of Maxwell's equations

Special relativity motivated a compact mathematical formulation of Maxwell's equations, in terms of covariant tensors. Quantum mechanics also motivated other formulations.

For example, consider a conductor moving in the field of a magnet.^[53] In the frame of the magnet, that conductor experiences a *magnetic* force. But in the frame of a conductor moving relative to the magnet, the conductor experiences a force due to an *electric* field. The following formulation shows how Maxwell's equations take the same form in any inertial coordinate system.

In terms of a minimum action principle

For the field formulation of Maxwell's equations in terms of a principle of extremal action, see the article on the electromagnetic tensor.

Covariant formulation of Maxwell's equations

In special relativity, in order to more clearly express the fact that Maxwell's ('microscopic') equations take the same form in any inertial coordinate system, Maxwell's equations are written in terms of four-vectors and tensors in the "manifestly covariant" form. The purely spatial components of the following are in SI units.

One ingredient in this formulation is the electromagnetic tensor, a rank-2 covariant antisymmetric tensor combining the electric and magnetic fields:

$$F_{\alpha\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{-E_{\mathbf{x}}}{c} & \frac{-E_{\mathbf{y}}}{c} & \frac{-E_{\mathbf{z}}}{c} \\ \frac{E_{\mathbf{x}}}{c} & 0 & B_{\mathbf{z}} & -B_{\mathbf{y}} \\ \frac{E_{\mathbf{y}}}{c} & -B_{\mathbf{z}} & 0 & B_{\mathbf{x}} \\ \frac{E_{\mathbf{z}}}{c} & B_{\mathbf{y}} & -B_{\mathbf{x}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and the result of raising its indices

$$F^{\mu\nu} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \eta^{\mu\alpha} F_{\alpha\beta} \eta^{\beta\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{E_{\mathbf{x}}}{c} & \frac{E_{\mathbf{y}}}{c} & \frac{E_{\mathbf{z}}}{c} \\ \frac{-E_{\mathbf{x}}}{c} & 0 & B_{\mathbf{z}} & -B_{\mathbf{y}} \\ \frac{-E_{\mathbf{y}}}{c} & -B_{\mathbf{z}} & 0 & B_{\mathbf{x}} \\ \frac{-E_{\mathbf{z}}}{c} & B_{\mathbf{y}} & -B_{\mathbf{x}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The other ingredient is the four-current:

$$J^{lpha} = (c
ho, \vec{J})$$

where ρ is the charge density and **J** is the current density.

With these ingredients, Maxwell's equations can be written:

$$\mu_0 J^{\beta} = \frac{\partial F^{\beta \alpha}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \partial_{\alpha} F^{\beta \alpha} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F^{\beta \alpha}_{,\alpha}$$

and

$$0 = \partial_{\gamma} F_{\alpha\beta} + \partial_{\beta} F_{\gamma\alpha} + \partial_{\alpha} F_{\beta\gamma} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F_{\alpha\beta,\gamma} + F_{\gamma\alpha,\beta} + F_{\beta\gamma,\alpha}$$

The first tensor equation is an expression of the two inhomogeneous Maxwell's equations, Gauss's law and Ampère's law with Maxwell's correction. The second equation is an expression of the two homogeneous equations, Faraday's law of induction and Gauss's law for magnetism. The second equation is equivalent to

$$0 = \epsilon^{\delta\alpha\beta\gamma} F_{\beta\gamma,\alpha}$$

where $e^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ is the contravariant version of the Levi-Civita symbol, and

$$rac{\partial}{\partial x^{lpha}} \stackrel{ ext{def}}{=} \partial_{lpha} \stackrel{ ext{def}}{=} _{,lpha} \stackrel{ ext{def}}{=} \left(rac{1}{c}rac{\partial}{\partial t},
abla
ight)$$

is the 4-gradient. In the tensor equations above, repeated indices are summed over according to Einstein summation convention. We have displayed the results in several common notations. Upper and lower components of a vector, v^{α} and v^{α} respectively, are interchanged with the fundamental tensor g, e.g., $g = \eta = \text{diag}(-1, +1, +1, +1)$.

Alternative covariant presentations of Maxwell's equations also exist, for example in terms of the four-potential; see Covariant formulation of classical electromagnetism for details.

Potential formulation

In advanced classical mechanics and in quantum mechanics (where it is necessary) it is sometimes useful to express Maxwell's equations in a 'potential formulation' involving the electric potential (also called scalar potential), φ , and the magnetic potential, **A**, (also called vector potential). These are defined such that:

$$\mathbf{E} = -\nabla \varphi - \frac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t},$$

 $\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}.$

With these definitions, the two homogeneous Maxwell's equations (Faraday's Law and Gauss's law for magnetism) are automatically satisfied and the other two (inhomogeneous) equations give the following equations (for "Maxwell's microscopic equations"):

$$abla^2 arphi + rac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(
abla \cdot \mathbf{A}
ight) = -rac{
ho}{arepsilon_0} \ \left(
abla^2 \mathbf{A} - rac{1}{c^2} rac{\partial^2 \mathbf{A}}{\partial t^2}
ight) -
abla \left(
abla \cdot \mathbf{A} + rac{1}{c^2} rac{\partial arphi}{\partial t}
ight) = -\mu_0 \mathbf{J}.$$

These equations, taken together, are as powerful and complete as Maxwell's equations. Moreover, if we work only with the potentials and ignore the fields, the problem has been reduced somewhat, as the electric and magnetic fields each have three components which need to be solved for (six components altogether), while the electric and magnetic potentials have only four components altogether.

Many different choices of **A** and φ are consistent with a given **E** and **B**, making these choices physically equivalent – a flexibility known as gauge freedom. Suitable choice of **A** and φ can simplify these equations, or can adapt them to suit a particular situation.

Four-potential

In the Lorenz gauge, the two equations that represent the potentials can be reduced to one manifestly Lorentz invariant equation, using four-vectors: the four-current defined by

$$j^{\mu} = (\rho c, \mathbf{j})$$

formed from the current density \mathbf{j} and charge density ρ , and the electromagnetic four-potential defined by

$$A^{\mu} = (\varphi, \mathbf{A}c)$$

formed from the vector potential **A** and the scalar potential φ . The resulting single equation, due to Arnold Sommerfeld, a generalization of an equation due to Bernhard Riemann and known as the Riemann–Sommerfeld equation^[54] or the covariant form of the Maxwell equations,^[55] is:

$$\Box A^{\mu} = \mu_0 j^{\mu}$$

where $\Box = \partial^2 = \partial_\alpha \partial^\alpha$ is the d'Alembertian operator, or four-Laplacian, $\left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} - \nabla^2\right)$, sometimes written

 \square^2 , or $\square \cdot \square$, where \square is the four-gradient.

Differential geometric formulations

In free space, where $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_0$ and $\mu = \mu_0$ are constant everywhere, Maxwell's equations simplify considerably once the language of differential geometry and differential forms is used. In what follows, cgs-Gaussian units, not SI units are used. (To convert to SI, see here.) The electric and magnetic fields are now jointly described by a 2-form **F** in a 4-dimensional spacetime manifold. Maxwell's equations then reduce to the Bianchi identity

$$d\mathbf{F} = 0$$

where d denotes the exterior derivative — a natural coordinate and metric independent differential operator acting on forms — and the source equation

$$d * F = J$$

where the (dual) Hodge star operator * is a linear transformation from the space of 2-forms to the space of (4-2)-forms defined by the metric in Minkowski space (in four dimensions even by any metric conformal to this metric), and the fields are in natural units where $1/4\pi\epsilon_0 = 1$. Here, the 3-form **J** is called the *electric current form* or *current 3-form* satisfying the continuity equation

 $d\mathbf{J} = 0.$

The current 3-form can be integrated over a 3-dimensional space-time region. The physical interpretation of this integral is the charge in that region if it is spacelike, or the amount of charge that flows through a surface in a certain amount of time if that region is a spacelike surface cross a timelike interval. As the exterior derivative is defined on any manifold, the differential form version of the Bianchi identity makes sense for any 4-dimensional manifold, whereas the source equation is defined if the manifold is oriented and has a Lorentz metric. In particular the differential form version of the Maxwell equations are a convenient and intuitive formulation of the Maxwell equations in general relativity.

In a linear, macroscopic theory, the influence of matter on the electromagnetic field is described through more general linear transformation in the space of 2-forms. We call

$$C:\Lambda^2
i {f F}\mapsto {f G}\in \Lambda^{(4-2)}$$

the constitutive transformation. The role of this transformation is comparable to the Hodge duality transformation. The Maxwell equations in the presence of matter then become:

$$d\mathbf{F} = 0$$
$$d\mathbf{G} = \mathbf{J}$$

where the current 3-form **J** still satisfies the continuity equation $d\mathbf{J} = 0$.

When the fields are expressed as linear combinations (of exterior products) of basis forms θ^p ,

$$\mathbf{F} = rac{1}{2} F_{pq} heta^p \wedge heta^q.$$

the constitutive relation takes the form

$$G_{pq} = C_{pq}^{mn} F_{mn}$$

where the field coefficient functions are antisymmetric in the indices and the constitutive coefficients are antisymmetric in the corresponding pairs. In particular, the Hodge duality transformation leading to the vacuum equations discussed above are obtained by taking

$$C^{mn}_{pq} = rac{1}{2} g^{ma} g^{nb} \epsilon_{abpq} \sqrt{-g}$$

which up to scaling is the only invariant tensor of this type that can be defined with the metric.

In this formulation, electromagnetism generalises immediately to any 4-dimensional oriented manifold or with small adaptations any manifold, requiring not even a metric. Thus the expression of Maxwell's equations in terms of differential forms leads to a further notational and conceptual simplification. Whereas Maxwell's Equations could be

written as two tensor equations instead of eight scalar equations, from which the propagation of electromagnetic disturbances and the continuity equation could be derived with a little effort, using differential forms leads to an even simpler derivation of these results.

Conceptual insight from this formulation

On the conceptual side, from the point of view of physics, this shows that the second and third Maxwell equations should be grouped together, be called the homogeneous ones, and be seen as <u>geometric</u> *identities* expressing nothing else than: the *field* **F** derives from a more "fundamental" *potential* **A**. While the first and last one should be seen as the <u>dynamical</u> equations of motion, obtained via the Lagrangian principle of least action, from the "interaction term" **A J** (introduced through gauge covariant derivatives), coupling the field to matter.

Often, the time derivative in the third law motivates calling this equation "dynamical", which is somewhat misleading; in the sense of the preceding analysis, this is rather an artifact of breaking relativistic covariance by choosing a preferred time direction. To have physical degrees of freedom propagated by these field equations, one must include a kinetic term $\mathbf{F} * \mathbf{F}$ for \mathbf{A} ; and take into account the non-physical degrees of freedom which can be removed by gauge transformation $\mathbf{A} \rightarrow \mathbf{A'} = \mathbf{A} - d\alpha$. See also gauge fixing and Faddeev–Popov ghosts.

Geometric algebra (GA) formulation

In geometric algebra, Maxwell's equations are reduced to a single equation,

$$\left(rac{1}{c}\partial_t+oldsymbol{
abla}
ight)F=\mu_0cJ,^{[56]}$$

where *F* and *J* are multivectors

$$F = \mathbf{E} + Ic\mathbf{B}$$

and

 $J = c
ho + \mathbf{J}.$

with the unit pseudoscalar $I^2 = -1$

The GA spatial gradient operator ∇ acts on a vector field, such that

 $\boldsymbol{\nabla}\mathbf{F} = \boldsymbol{\nabla}\cdot\mathbf{F} + I\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\mathbf{F},$

In spacetime algebra using the same geometric product the equation is simply

 $\nabla F = \mu_0 c J,$

the spacetime derivative of the electromagnetic field is its source. Here the (non-bold) spacetime gradient

$$abla = \gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}$$

is a four vector, as is the current density

$$J = \gamma_{\mu} J^{\mu} = \gamma_0 c\rho + J^k \gamma_k = (c\rho + \mathbf{J})\gamma_0.$$

For a demonstration that the equations given reproduce Maxwell's equations see the main article.

Classical electrodynamics as the curvature of a line bundle

An elegant and intuitive way to formulate Maxwell's equations is to use complex line bundles or principal bundles with fibre U(1). The connection ∇ on the line bundle has a curvature $\mathbf{F} = \nabla^2$ which is a two-form that automatically satisfies $d\mathbf{F} = 0$ and can be interpreted as a field-strength. If the line bundle is trivial with flat reference connection *d* we can write $\nabla = d + \mathbf{A}$ and $\mathbf{F} = d\mathbf{A}$ with \mathbf{A} the 1-form composed of the electric potential and the magnetic vector potential.

In quantum mechanics, the connection itself is used to define the dynamics of the system. This formulation allows a natural description of the Aharonov–Bohm effect. In this experiment, a static magnetic field runs through a long

magnetic wire (e.g., an iron wire magnetized longitudinally). Outside of this wire the magnetic induction is zero, in contrast to the vector potential, which essentially depends on the magnetic flux through the cross-section of the wire and does not vanish outside. Since there is no electric field either, the Maxwell tensor $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{0}$ throughout the space-time region outside the tube, during the experiment. This means by definition that the connection ∇ is flat there.

However, as mentioned, the connection depends on the magnetic field through the tube since the holonomy along a non-contractible curve encircling the tube is the magnetic flux through the tube in the proper units. This can be detected quantum-mechanically with a double-slit electron diffraction experiment on an electron wave traveling around the tube. The holonomy corresponds to an extra phase shift, which leads to a shift in the diffraction pattern.^[57] [58]

Curved spacetime

Traditional formulation

Matter and energy generate curvature of spacetime. This is the subject of general relativity. Curvature of spacetime affects electrodynamics. An electromagnetic field having energy and momentum also generates curvature in spacetime. Maxwell's equations in curved spacetime can be obtained by replacing the derivatives in the equations in flat spacetime with covariant derivatives. (Whether this is the appropriate generalization requires separate investigation.) The sourced and source-free equations become (cgs-Gaussian units):

$$\frac{4\pi}{c}j^{\beta} = \partial_{\alpha}F^{\alpha\beta} + \Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\alpha}F^{\mu\beta} + \Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\mu\alpha}F^{\alpha\mu} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \nabla_{\alpha}F^{\alpha\beta} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F^{\alpha\beta}{}_{;c}$$

and

$$0 = \partial_{\gamma}F_{\alpha\beta} + \partial_{\beta}F_{\gamma\alpha} + \partial_{\alpha}F_{\beta\gamma} = \nabla_{\gamma}F_{\alpha\beta} + \nabla_{\beta}F_{\gamma\alpha} + \nabla_{\alpha}F_{\beta\gamma}.$$

Here,

 $\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\beta}$

is a Christoffel symbol that characterizes the curvature of spacetime and \mathbb{I}_{α} is the covariant derivative.

Formulation in terms of differential forms

The formulation of the Maxwell equations in terms of differential forms can be used without change in general relativity. The equivalence of the more traditional general relativistic formulation using the covariant derivative with the differential form formulation can be seen as follows. Choose local coordinates x^{α} which gives a basis of 1-forms dx^{α} in every point of the open set where the coordinates are defined. Using this basis and cgs-Gaussian units we define

• The antisymmetric infinitesimal field tensor $F_{\alpha\beta}$, corresponding to the field 2-form **F**

$$\mathbf{F}:=rac{1}{2}F_{lphaeta}\,\mathrm{d}\,x^{lpha}\wedge\mathrm{d}\,x^{eta}.$$

• The current-vector infinitesimal 3-form J

$$\mathbf{J}:=rac{4\pi}{c}j^lpha\sqrt{-g}\,\epsilon_{lphaeta\gamma\delta}\mathrm{d}\,x^eta\wedge\mathrm{d}\,x^\gamma\wedge\mathrm{d}\,x^\delta.$$

Here g is as usual the determinant of the metric tensor $g_{\alpha\beta}$. A small computation that uses the symmetry of the Christoffel symbols (i.e., the torsion-freeness of the Levi-Civita connection) and the covariant constantness of the Hodge star operator then shows that in this coordinate neighborhood we have:

the Bianchi identity

$$\mathrm{d}\mathbf{F} = 2(\partial_{\gamma}F_{\alpha\beta} + \partial_{\beta}F_{\gamma\alpha} + \partial_{\alpha}F_{\beta\gamma})\mathrm{d}\,x^{\alpha}\wedge\mathrm{d}\,x^{\beta}\wedge\mathrm{d}\,x^{\gamma} = 0,$$

the source equation

$$\mathrm{d} * \mathbf{F} = F^{lphaeta}_{;lpha} \sqrt{-g} \, \epsilon_{eta\gamma\delta\eta} \mathrm{d} \, x^\gamma \wedge \mathrm{d} \, x^\delta \wedge \mathrm{d} \, x^\eta = \mathbf{J},$$

• the continuity equation

$$\mathrm{d}\mathbf{J} = \frac{4\pi}{c} j^{\alpha}{}_{;\alpha} \sqrt{-g} \,\epsilon_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} \mathrm{d}\,x^{\alpha} \wedge \mathrm{d}\,x^{\beta} \wedge \mathrm{d}\,x^{\gamma} \wedge \mathrm{d}\,x^{\delta} = 0.$$

Notes

- [1] J.D. Jackson, "Maxwell's Equations" video glossary entry (http://videoglossary.lbl.gov/2009/maxwells-equations/)
- [2] *Principles of physics: a calculus-based text* (http://books.google.com/books?id=1DZz341Pp50C&pg=PA809), by R.A. Serway, J.W. Jewett, page 809.
- [3] The quantity we would now call $1/\sqrt{\mu_0 \varepsilon_0}$, with units of velocity, was directly measured before Maxwell's equations, in an 1855 experiment by Wilhelm Eduard Weber and Rudolf Kohlrausch. They charged a leyden jar (a kind of capacitor), and measured the electrostatic force associated with the potential; then, they discharged it while measuring the magnetic force from the current in the discharge-wire. Their result was 3.107×10^8 m/s, remarkably close to the speed of light. See The story of electrical and magnetic measurements: from 500 B.C. to the 1940s, by Joseph F. Keithley, p115 (http://books.google.com/books?id=uwgNAtqSHuQC&pg=PA115)
- [4] David J Griffiths (1999). Introduction to electrodynamics (http://worldcat.org/isbn/013805326X) (Third ed.). Prentice Hall. pp. 559–562. ISBN 013805326X.
- [5] In some books *e.g., inU. Krey and A. Owen's Basic Theoretical Physics (Springer 2007)), the term effective charge is used instead of total charge, while free charge is simply called charge.
- [6] Šolín, Pavel (2006). Partial differential equations and the finite element method (http://books.google.com/books?id=-hIG3NZrnd8C&pg=PA273). John Wiley and Sons. p. 273. ISBN 0471720704.
- [7] In some books *e.g., in), the term effective charge is used instead of total charge, while free charge is simply called charge.
- [8] See David J. Griffiths (1999). *Introduction to Electrodynamics* (third ed.). Prentice Hall. for a good description of how **P** relates to the bound charge.
- [9] See David J. Griffiths (1999). *Introduction to Electrodynamics* (third ed.). Prentice Hall. for a good description of how **M** relates to the bound current.
- [10] The generalization to non-isotropic materials is straight forward; simply replace the constants with tensor quantities.
- [11] The *free* charges and currents respond to the fields through the Lorentz force law and this response is calculated at a fundamental level using mechanics. The response of *bound* charges and currents is dealt with using grosser methods subsumed under the notions of magnetization and polarization. Depending upon the problem, one may choose to have *no* free charges whatsoever.
- [12] In general materials are bianisotropic. TG Mackay and A Lakhtakia (2010). Electromagnetic Anisotropy and Bianisotropy: A Field Guide (http://www.worldscibooks.com/physics/7515.html). World Scientific. .
- [13] Halevi, Peter (1992). Spatial dispersion in solids and plasmas. Amsterdam: North-Holland. ISBN 978-0444874054.
- [14] Jackson, John David (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). New York: Wiley. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.
- [15] Note that the 'magnetic susceptibility' term used here is in terms of B and is different from the standard definition in terms of H.
- [16] Aspnes, D.E., "Local-field effects and effective-medium theory: A microscopic perspective," Am. J. Phys. 50, p. 704-709 (1982).
- [17] Habib Ammari & Hyeonbae Kang (2006). Inverse problems, multi-scale analysis and effective medium theory : workshop in Seoul, Inverse problems, multi-scale analysis, and homogenization, June 22–24, 2005, Seoul National University, Seoul, Korea (http://books.google.com/?id=dK7JwVPbUkMC&printsec=frontcover&dq="effective+medium"). Providence RI: American Mathematical Society. p. 282. ISBN 0821839683.
- [18] O. C. Zienkiewicz, Robert Leroy Taylor, J. Z. Zhu, Perumal Nithiarasu (2005). *The Finite Element Method* (http://books.google.com/ ?id=rvbSmooh8Y4C&printsec=frontcover&dq=finite+element+inauthor:Zienkiewicz) (Sixth ed.). Oxford UK: Butterworth-Heinemann. p. 550 ff. ISBN 0750663219.
- [19] N. Bakhvalov and G. Panasenko, Homogenization: Averaging Processes in Periodic Media (Kluwer: Dordrecht, 1989); V. V. Jikov, S. M. Kozlov and O. A. Oleinik, Homogenization of Differential Operators and Integral Functionals (Springer: Berlin, 1994).
- [20] Vitaliy Lomakin, Steinberg BZ, Heyman E, & Felsen LB (2003). "Multiresolution Homogenization of Field and Network Formulations for Multiscale Laminate Dielectric Slabs" (http://www.ece.ucsd.edu/~vitaliy/A8.pdf). *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation* 51 (10): 2761 ff. Bibcode 2003ITAP...51.2761L. doi:10.1109/TAP.2003.816356.
- [21] AC Gilbert (Ronald R Coifman, Editor) (2000-05). Topics in Analysis and Its Applications: Selected Theses (http://books.google.com/?id=d4MOYN5DjNUC&printsec=frontcover&dq=homogenization+date:2000-2009). Singapore: World Scientific Publishing Company.
 p. 155. ISBN 9810240945.
- [22] Edward D. Palik & Ghosh G (1998). Handbook of Optical Constants of Solids (http://books.google.com/?id=AkakoCPhDFUC& dq=optical+constants+inauthor:Palik). London UK: Academic Press. p. 1114. ISBN 0125444222.
- [23] The story of electrical and magnetic measurements: from 500 B.C. to the 1940s, by Joseph F. Keithley, p115 (http://books.google.com/ books?id=uwgNAtqSHuQC&pg=PA115)
- [24] "The Dictionary of Scientific Biography", by Charles Coulston Gillispie
- [25] but are now universally known as Maxwell's equations. However, in 1940 Einstein referred to the equations as Maxwell's equations in "The Fundamentals of Theoretical Physics" published in the Washington periodical Science, May 24, 1940.

Paul J. Nahin (2002-10-09). *Oliver Heaviside: the life, work, and times of an electrical genius of the Victorian age* (http://books.google.com/?id=e9wEntQmA0IC&pg=PA111&dq=nahin+hertz-heaviside+maxwell-hertz). JHU Press. pp. 108–112. ISBN 9780801869099.

- [26] Jed Z. Buchwald (1994). The creation of scientific effects: Heinrich Hertz and electric waves (http://books.google.com/ ?id=2bDEvvGT1EYC&pg=PA194&dq=maxwell+faraday+time-derivative+vector-potential). University of Chicago Press. p. 194. ISBN 9780226078885.
- [27] Myron Evans (2001-10-05). Modern nonlinear optics (http://books.google.com/?id=9p0kK6IG94gC&pg=PA240& dq=maxwell-heaviside+equations). John Wiley and Sons. p. 240. ISBN 9780471389316.
- [28] Crease, Robert. The Great Equations: Breakthroughs in Science from Pythagoras to Heisenberg (http://books.google.com/ books?id=IU04tZsVjXkC&lpg=PA133&dq="Civil War will pale into provincial insignificance"&pg=PA133#v=onepage&q="Civil War will pale into provincial insignificance"&f=false), page 133 (2008).
- [29] Oliver J. Lodge (November 1888). "Sketch of the Electrical Papers in Section A, at the Recent Bath Meeting of the British Association". *Electrical Engineer* 7: 535.
- [30] J. R. Lalanne, F. Carmona, and L. Servant (1999-11). Optical spectroscopies of electronic absorption (http://books.google.com/ ?id=7rWD-TdxKkMC&pg=PA8&dq=maxwell-faraday+derivative). World Scientific. p. 8. ISBN 9789810238612.
- [31] Roger F. Harrington (2003-10-17). Introduction to Electromagnetic Engineering (http://books.google.com/?id=ZIC2EV8zvX8C&pg=PR7&dq=maxwell-faraday-equation+law-of-induction). Courier Dover Publications. pp. 49–56. ISBN 9780486432410.
- [32] page 480. (http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/19/A_Dynamical_Theory_of_the_Electromagnetic_Field.pdf)
- [33] Here it is noted that a quite different quantity, the *magnetic polarization*, μ_0 M by decision of an international IUPAP commission has been given the same name J. So for the electric current density, a name with small letters, j would be better. But even then the mathematicians would still use the large-letter-name J for the corresponding current-twoform (see below).
- [34] http://www.mathematik.tu-darmstadt.de/~bruhn/Original-MAXWELL.htm
- [35] Experiments like the Michelson-Morley experiment in 1887 showed that the 'aether' moved at the same speed as Earth. While other experiments, such as measurements of the aberration of light from stars, showed that the ether is moving relative to earth.
- [36] "On the Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies" (http://www.fourmilab.ch/etexts/einstein/specrel/www/). Fourmilab.ch. . Retrieved 2008-10-19.
- [37] Recently, scientists have described behavior in a crystalline state of matter known as spin-ice which have macroscopic behavior like magnetic monopoles. (See http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/content/abstract/1178868 and http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v461/ n7266/full/nature08500.html .) The divergence of B is still zero for this system, though.
- [38] J.D. Jackson. "6.12". Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). ISBN 047143132x.
- [39] "IEEEGHN: Maxwell's Equations" (http://www.ieeeghn.org/wiki/index.php/Maxwell's_Equations). Ieeeghn.org. . Retrieved 2008-10-19.
- [40] This is known as a duality transformation. See J.D. Jackson. "6.12". Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). ISBN 047143132x..
- [41] Peter Monk (2003). Finite Element Methods for Maxwell's Equations (http://books.google.com/?id=zI7Y1jT9pCwC&pg=PA1& dq=electromagnetism+"boundary+conditions"). Oxford UK: Oxford University Press. p. 1 ff. ISBN 0198508883.
- [42] Thomas B. A. Senior & John Leonidas Volakis (1995-03-01). Approximate Boundary Conditions in Electromagnetics (http://books. google.com/?id=eOofBpuyuOkC&pg=PA261&dq=electromagnetism+"boundary+conditions"). London UK: Institution of Electrical Engineers. p. 261 ff. ISBN 0852968493.
- [43] T Hagstrom (Björn Engquist & Gregory A. Kriegsmann, Eds.) (1997). Computational Wave Propagation (http://books.google.com/ ?id=EdZefkIOR5cC&pg=PA1&dq=electromagnetism+"boundary+conditions"). Berlin: Springer. p. 1 ff. ISBN 0387948740.
- [44] Henning F. Harmuth & Malek G. M. Hussain (1994). Propagation of Electromagnetic Signals (http://books.google.com/
 ?id=6_CZBHzfhpMC&pg=PA45&dq=electromagnetism+"initial+conditions"). Singapore: World Scientific. p. 17. ISBN 9810216890.
- [45] David M Cook (2002). *The Theory of the Electromagnetic Field* (http://books.google.com/?id=bI-ZmZWeyhkC&pg=RA1-PA335& dq=electromagnetism+infinity+boundary+conditions). Mineola NY: Courier Dover Publications. p. 335 ff. ISBN 0486425673.
- [46] Jean-Michel Lourtioz (2005-05-23). *Photonic Crystals: Towards Nanoscale Photonic Devices* (http://books.google.com/?id=vSszZ2WuG_IC&pg=PA84&dq=electromagnetism+boundary++-element). Berlin: Springer. p. 84. ISBN 354024431X.
- [47] S. G. Johnson, Notes on Perfectly Matched Layers (http://math.mit.edu/~stevenj/18.369/pml.pdf), online MIT course notes (Aug. 2007).
- [48] S. F. Mahmoud (1991). Electromagnetic Waveguides: Theory and Applications applications (http://books.google.com/ ?id=toehQ7vLwAMC&pg=PA2&dq=Maxwell's+equations+waveguides). London UK: Institution of Electrical Engineers. Chapter 2. ISBN 0863412327.
- [49] John Leonidas Volakis, Arindam Chatterjee & Leo C. Kempel (1998). Finite element method for electromagnetics : antennas, microwave circuits, and scattering applications (http://books.google.com/?id=55q7HqnMZCsC&pg=PA79&dq=electromagnetism+"boundary+ conditions"). New York: Wiley IEEE. p. 79 ff. ISBN 0780334256.
- [50] Bernard Friedman (1990). Principles and Techniques of Applied Mathematics (http://www.amazon.com/ Principles-Techniques-Applied-Mathematics-Friedman/dp/0486664449/ref=sr_1_1?ie=UTF8&s=books&qisbn=1207010487&sr=1-1). Mineola NY: Dover Publications. ISBN 0486664449.

- [51] Taflove A & Hagness S C (2005). Computational Electrodynamics: The Finite-difference Time-domain Method (http://www.amazon. com/gp/reader/1580538320/ref=sib_dp_pop_toc?ie=UTF8&p=S008#reader-link). Boston MA: Artech House. Chapters 6 & 7. ISBN 1580538320.
- [52] Littlejohn, Robert (Fall 2007). "Gaussian, SI and Other Systems of Units in Electromagnetic Theory" (http://bohr.physics.berkeley.edu/ classes/221/0708/notes/emunits.pdf) (PDF). *Physics 221A, University of California, Berkeley lecture notes.*. Retrieved 2008-05-06.
- [53] Albert Einstein (1905) On the electrodynamics of moving bodies
- [54] Carver A. Mead (2002-08-07). Collective Electrodynamics: Quantum Foundations of Electromagnetism (http://books.google.com/ ?id=GkDR4e2lo2MC&pg=PA37&dq=Riemann+Summerfeld). MIT Press. pp. 37–38. ISBN 9780262632607.
- [55] Frederic V. Hartemann (2002). *High-field electrodynamics* (http://books.google.com/?id=tIkflVrfkG0C&pg=PA102& dq=d'Alembertian+covariant-form+maxwell-lorentz). CRC Press. p. 102. ISBN 9780849323782.
- [56] Oersted Medal Lecture David Hestenes (Am. J. Phys. 71 (2), February 2003, pp. 104–121) Online:http://geocalc.clas.asu.edu/html/ Oersted-ReformingTheLanguage.html p26
- [57] M. Murray (5 September 2008). "Line Bundles. Honours 1996" (http://www.maths.adelaide.edu.au/michael.murray/line_bundles.pdf). University of Adelaide. Retrieved 2010-11-19.
- [58] R. Bott (1985). "On some recent interactions between mathematics and physics". *Canadian Mathematical Bulletin* 28 (2): 129–164. doi:10.4153/CMB-1985-016-3.

References

Further reading

Journal articles

 James Clerk Maxwell, "A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field", *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London* 155, 459-512 (1865). (This article accompanied a December 8, 1864 presentation by Maxwell to the Royal Society.)

The developments before relativity

- Joseph Larmor (1897) "On a dynamical theory of the electric and luminiferous medium", *Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc.* 190, 205-300 (third and last in a series of papers with the same name).
- Hendrik Lorentz (1899) "Simplified theory of electrical and optical phenomena in moving systems", *Proc. Acad. Science Amsterdam*, I, 427-43.
- Hendrik Lorentz (1904) "Electromagnetic phenomena in a system moving with any velocity less than that of light", *Proc. Acad. Science Amsterdam*, **IV**, 669-78.
- Henri Poincaré (1900) "La theorie de Lorentz et la Principe de Reaction", Archives Néerlandaises, V, 253-78.
- Henri Poincaré (1901) Science and Hypothesis
- Henri Poincaré (1905) "Sur la dynamique de l'électron" (http://www.soso.ch/wissen/hist/SRT/P-1905-1. pdf), *Comptes rendus de l'Académie des Sciences*, **140**, 1504-8.

see

 Macrossan, M. N. (1986). "A note on relativity before Einstein" (http://eprint.uq.edu.au/archive/00002307/). Brit. J. Phil. Sci. 37: 232–234.

University level textbooks

Undergraduate

- Feynman, Richard P. (2005). *The Feynman Lectures on Physics*. **2** (2nd ed.). Addison-Wesley. ISBN 978-0805390650.
- Fleisch, Daniel (2008). *A Student's Guide to Maxwell's Equations*. Cambridge University Press. ISBN 978-0521877619.
- Griffiths, David J. (1998). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall. ISBN 0-13-805326-X.
- Hoffman, Banesh (1983). Relativity and Its Roots. W. H. Freeman.
- Krey, U.; Owen, A. (2007). *Basic Theoretical Physics: A Concise Overview*. Springer. ISBN 978-3-540-36804-5. See especially part II.
- Purcell, Edward Mills (1985). *Electricity and Magnetism*. McGraw-Hill. ISBN 0-07-004908-4.
- Reitz, John R.; Milford, Frederick J.; Christy, Robert W. (2008). *Foundations of Electromagnetic Theory* (4th ed.). Addison Wesley. ISBN 978-0321581747.
- Sadiku, Matthew N. O. (2006). *Elements of Electromagnetics* (4th ed.). Oxford University Press. ISBN 0-19-5300483.
- Schwarz, Melvin (1987). Principles of Electrodynamics. Dover. ISBN 0-486-65493-1.
- Stevens, Charles F. (1995). The Six Core Theories of Modern Physics. MIT Press. ISBN 0-262-69188-4.
- Tipler, Paul; Mosca, Gene (2007). *Physics for Scientists and Engineers*. **2** (6th ed.). W. H. Freeman. ISBN 978-1429201339.
- Ulaby, Fawwaz T. (2007). *Fundamentals of Applied Electromagnetics* (5th ed.). Pearson Education. ISBN 0-13-241326-4.

Graduate

- Jackson, J. D. (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Wiley. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.
- Panofsky, Wolfgang K. H.; Phillips, Melba (2005). *Classical Electricity and Magnetism* (2nd ed.). Dover. ISBN 978-0486439242.

Older classics

- Lifshitz, Evgeny; Landau, Lev (1980). *The Classical Theory of Fields* (4th ed.). Butterworth-Heinemann. ISBN 0750627689.
- Lifshitz, Evgeny; Landau, Lev; Pitaevskii, L. P. (1984). *Electrodynamics of Continuous Media* (2nd ed.). Butterworth-Heinemann. ISBN 0750626348.
- Maxwell, James Clerk (1873). A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism. Dover. ISBN 0-486-60637-6.
- Misner, Charles W.; Thorne, Kip; Wheeler, John Archibald (1973). *Gravitation*. W. H. Freeman. ISBN 0-7167-0344-0. Sets out the equations using differential forms.

Computational techniques

- Chew, W. C.; Jin, J.; Michielssen, E.; Song, J. (2001). *Fast and Efficient Algorithms in Computational Electromagnetics*. Artech House. ISBN 1-58053-152-0.
- Harrington, R. F. (1993). Field Computation by Moment Methods. Wiley-IEEE Press. ISBN 0-78031-014-4.
- Jin, J. (2002). *The Finite Element Method in Electromagnetics* (2nd ed.). Wiley-IEEE Press. ISBN 0-47143-818-9.
- Lounesto, Pertti (1997). *Clifford Algebras and Spinors*. Cambridge University Press.. ISBN 0521599164. Chapter 8 sets out several variants of the equations using exterior algebra and differential forms.
- Taflove, Allen; Hagness, Susan C. (2005). Computational Electrodynamics: The Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method (3rd ed.). Artech House. ISBN 1-58053-832-0.

External links

• Mathematical aspects of Maxwell's equation are discussed on the Dispersive PDE Wiki (http://tosio.math. toronto.edu/wiki/index.php/Main_Page).

Modern treatments

- Electromagnetism (http://www.lightandmatter.com/html_books/0sn/ch11/ch11.html), B. Crowell, Fullerton College
- Lecture series: Relativity and electromagnetism (http://farside.ph.utexas.edu/~rfitzp/teaching/jk1/lectures/ node6.html), R. Fitzpatrick, University of Texas at Austin
- *Electromagnetic waves from Maxwell's equations* (http://www.physnet.org/modules/pdf_modules/m210.pdf) on Project PHYSNET (http://www.physnet.org).
- MIT Video Lecture Series (36 x 50 minute lectures) (in .mp4 format) Electricity and Magnetism (http://ocw. mit.edu/OcwWeb/Physics/8-02Electricity-and-MagnetismSpring2002/VideoAndCaptions/index.htm) Taught by Professor Walter Lewin.

Historical

- James Clerk Maxwell, A Treatise on Electricity And Magnetism Vols 1 and 2 (http://www.antiquebooks.net/ readpage.html#maxwell) 1904—most readable edition with all corrections—Antique Books Collection suitable for free reading online.
- Maxwell, J.C., A Treatise on Electricity And Magnetism Volume 1 1873 (http://posner.library.cmu.edu/ Posner/books/book.cgi?call=537_M46T_1873_VOL._1) - Posner Memorial Collection - Carnegie Mellon University
- Maxwell, J.C., A Treatise on Electricity And Magnetism Volume 2 1873 (http://posner.library.cmu.edu/ Posner/books/book.cgi?call=537_M46T_1873_VOL._2) - Posner Memorial Collection - Carnegie Mellon University
- On Faraday's Lines of Force 1855/56 (http://blazelabs.com/On Faraday's Lines of Force.pdf) Maxwell's first paper (Part 1 & 2) Compiled by Blaze Labs Research (PDF)
- On Physical Lines of Force 1861 Maxwell's 1861 paper describing magnetic lines of Force Predecessor to 1873 Treatise
- Maxwell, James Clerk, "*A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field*", Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London 155, 459-512 (1865). (This article accompanied a December 8, 1864 presentation by Maxwell to the Royal Society.)
- Catt, Walton and Davidson. "The History of Displacement Current". *Wireless World*, March 1979. (http://www.electromagnetism.demon.co.uk/z014.htm)
- Reprint from Dover Publications (ISBN 0-486-60636-8)

- Full text of 1904 Edition including full text search. (http://www.antiquebooks.net/readpage.html#maxwell)
- A Dynamical Theory Of The Electromagnetic Field 1865 (http://books.google.com/ books?id=5HE_cmxXt2MC&vid=02IWHrbcLC9ECI_wQx&dq=Proceedings+of+the+Royal+Society+Of+ London+Vol+XIII&ie=UTF-8&jtp=531) Maxwell's 1865 paper describing his 20 Equations in 20 Unknowns -Predecessor to the 1873 Treatise

Other

- Feynman's derivation of Maxwell equations and extra dimensions (http://uk.arxiv.org/abs/hep-ph/0106235)
- Nature Milestones: Photons Milestone 2 (1861) Maxwell's equations (http://www.nature.com/milestones/ milephotons/full/milephotons02.html)

Equations

Ampère's circuital law

In classical electromagnetism, **Ampère's circuital law**, discovered by André-Marie Ampère in 1826,^[1] relates the integrated magnetic field around a closed loop to the electric current passing through the loop. James Clerk Maxwell derived it again using hydrodynamics in his 1861 paper *On Physical Lines of Force* and it is now one of the Maxwell equations, which form the basis of classical electromagnetism.

Original Ampère's circuital law

It relates magnetic fields to electric currents that produce them. Using Ampere's law, one can determine the magnetic field associated with a given current or current associated with a given magnetic field, providing there is no time changing electric field present. In its historically original form, Ampère's Circuital Law relates the magnetic field to its electric current source. The law can be written in two forms, the "integral form" and the "differential form". The forms are equivalent, and related by the Kelvin–Stokes theorem. It can also be written in terms of either the **B** or **H** magnetic fields. Again, the two forms are equivalent (see the "proof" section below).

Ampère's circuital law is now known to be a correct law of physics in a magnetostatic situation: The system is static except possibly for continuous steady currents within closed loops. In all other cases the law is incorrect unless Maxwell's correction is included (see below).



Integral form

In SI units (the version in cgs units is in a later section), the "integral form" of the original Ampère's circuital law is:^{[2] [3]}

$$\oint_C \mathbf{B} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = \mu_0 \iint_S \mathbf{J} \cdot d\mathbf{S}$$
$$\oint_C \mathbf{H} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = \iint_S \mathbf{J}_f \cdot d\mathbf{S}$$

or equivalently,

$$\oint_{C} \mathbf{B} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = \mu_{0} I_{\text{enc}}$$
$$\oint_{C} \mathbf{H} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = I_{\text{f,enc}}$$

where

 \oint_C is the closed line integral around the closed curve C;

B is the magnetic B-field in teslas;

H is the magnetic H-field in ampere per metre;

 \cdot is the vector dot product;

 $d\mathbb{I}$ is an infinitesimal element (a differential) of the curve *C* (i.e. a vector with magnitude equal to the length of the infinitesimal line element, and direction given by the tangent to the curve *C*, see below);

 \iint_S denotes an integral over the surface S enclosed by the curve C (see below; the double integral sign is meant simply to denote that the integral is two-dimensional in nature);

 μ_0 is the magnetic constant;

 $\mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{f}}$ is the free current density through the surface S enclosed by the curve C (see below);

J is the total current density through the surface S enclosed by the curve C, including both free and bound current (see below);

 $d\mathbf{S}$ is the vector area of an infinitesimal element of surface *S* (that is, a vector with magnitude equal to the area of the infinitesimal surface element, and direction normal to surface *S*. The direction of the normal must correspond with the orientation of *C* by the right hand rule, see below for further discussion);

 I_{fenc} is the net free current that penetrates through the surface S (see below);

 I_{enc} is the total net current that penetrates through the surface S, including both free and bound current (see below).

There are a number of ambiguities in the above definitions that warrant elaboration.

First, three of these terms are associated with sign ambiguities: the line integral \oint_C could go around the loop in either direction (clockwise or counterclockwise); the vector area d**S** could point in either of the two directions normal to the surface; and I_{enc} is the net current passing through the surface *S*, meaning the current passing through in one direction, minus the current in the other direction—but either direction could be chosen as positive. These ambiguities are resolved by the right-hand rule: With the palm of the right-hand toward the area of integration, and the index-finger pointing along the direction of line-integration, the outstretched thumb points in the direction that must be chosen for the vector area d**S**. Also the current passing in the same direction as d**S** must be counted as positive. The right hand grip rule can also be used to determine the signs.

Second, there are infinitely many possible surfaces S that have the curve C as their border. (Imagine a soap film on a wire loop, which can be deformed by blowing gently at it.) Which of those surfaces is to be chosen? If the loop does not lie in a single plane, for example, there is no one obvious choice. The answer is that it does not matter; it can be proven that any surface with boundary C can be chosen.

Differential form

By the Kelvin–Stokes theorem, this equation can also be written in a "differential form". Again, this equation only applies in the case where the electric field is constant in time; see below for the more general form. In SI units, the equation states:

 $abla imes \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \mathbf{J}$ $abla imes \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{f}}$

where

 $\nabla \times$ is the curl operator.

Note on free current versus bound current

The electric current that arises in the simplest textbook situations would be classified as "free current"—for example, the current that passes through a wire or battery. In contrast, "bound current" arises in the context of bulk materials that can be magnetized and/or polarized. (All materials can to some extent.)

When a material is magnetized (for example, by placing it in an external magnetic field), the electrons remain bound to their respective atoms, but behave as if they were orbiting the nucleus in a particular direction, creating a microscopic current. When the currents from all these atoms are put together, they create the same effect as a macroscopic current, circulating perpetually around the magnetized object. This magnetization current J_M is one contribution to "bound current".

The other source of bound current is bound charge. When an electric field is applied, the positive and negative bound charges can separate over atomic distances in polarizable materials, and when the bound charges move, the polarization changes, creating another contribution to the "bound current", the polarization current J_p .

The total current density J due to free and bound charges is then:

$$\mathbf{J} = \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{f}} + \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{M}} + \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{P}} \ ,$$

with J_f the "free" or "conduction" current density.

All current is fundamentally the same, microscopically. Nevertheless, there are often practical reasons for wanting to treat bound current differently from free current. For example, the bound current usually originates over atomic dimensions, and one may wish to take advantage of a simpler theory intended for larger dimensions. The result is that the more microscopic Ampère's law, expressed in terms of **B** and the microscopic current (which includes free, magnetization and polarization currents), is sometimes put into the equivalent form below in terms of **H** and the free current only. For a detailed definition of free current and bound current, and the proof that the two formulations are equivalent, see the "proof" section below.

Shortcomings of the original formulation of Ampère's circuital law

There are two important issues regarding Ampère's law that require closer scrutiny. First, there is an issue regarding the continuity equation for electrical charge. There is a theorem in vector calculus that states the divergence of a curl must always be zero. Hence $\nabla \cdot (\nabla \times \mathbf{B}) = 0$ and so the original Ampère's law implies that $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{J} = 0$. But in general $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{J} = -\partial \rho / \partial t$, which is non-zero for a time-varying charge density. An example occurs in a capacitor circuit where time-varying charge densities exist on the plates.^[4] [5] [6] [7] [8]

Second, there is an issue regarding the propagation of electromagnetic waves. For example, in free space, where $\mathbf{J} = 0$, Ampère's law implies that $\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = 0$, but instead $\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = -(1/c^2) \partial \mathbf{E}/\partial t$.

To treat these situations, the contribution of displacement current must be added to the current term in Ampère's law.

James Clerk Maxwell conceived of displacement current as a polarization current in the dielectric vortex sea, which he used to model the magnetic field hydrodynamically and mechanically.^[9] He added this displacement current to Ampère's circuital law at equation (112) in his 1861 paper *On Physical Lines of Force*.^[10]

Displacement current

In free space, the displacement current is related to the time rate of change of electric field.

In a dielectric the above contribution to displacement current is present too, but a major contribution to the displacement current is related to the polarization of the individual molecules of the dielectric material. Even though charges cannot flow freely in a dielectric, the charges in molecules can move a little under the influence of an electric field. The positive and negative charges in molecules separate under the applied field, causing an increase in the state of polarization, expressed as the polarization density P. A changing state of polarization is equivalent to a current.

Both contributions to the displacement current are combined by defining the displacement current as:^[4]

$$\mathbf{J_D} = rac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbf{D}(\boldsymbol{r}, t) \; ,$$

where the electric displacement field is defined as:

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P} = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r \mathbf{E} \; ,$$

where ε_0 is the electric constant, ε_r the relative static permittivity, and **P** is the polarization density. Substituting this form for **D** in the expression for displacement current, it has two components:

$$\mathbf{J}_{\mathrm{D}} = arepsilon_0 rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} + rac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial t}.$$

The first term on the right hand side is present everywhere, even in a vacuum. It doesn't involve any actual movement of charge, but it nevertheless has an associated magnetic field, as if it were an actual current. Some authors apply the name *displacement current* to only this contribution.^[11]

The second term on the right hand side is the displacement current as originally conceived by Maxwell, associated with the polarization of the individual molecules of the dielectric material.

Maxwell's original explanation for displacement current focused upon the situation that occurs in dielectric media. In the modern post-aether era, the concept has been extended to apply to situations with no material media present, for example, to the vacuum between the plates of a charging vacuum capacitor. The displacement current is justified today because it serves several requirements of an electromagnetic theory: correct prediction of magnetic fields in regions where no free current flows; prediction of wave propagation of electromagnetic fields; and conservation of electric charge in cases where charge density is time-varying. For greater discussion see Displacement current.

Extending the original law: the Maxwell–Ampère equation

Next Ampère's equation is extended by including the polarization current, thereby remedying the limited applicability of the original Ampère's circuital law.

Treating free charges separately from bound charges, Ampère's equation including Maxwell's correction in terms of the **H**-field is (the **H**-field is used because it includes the magnetization currents, so J_M does not appear explicitly, see H-field and also Note):^[12]

$$\oint_{C} \mathbf{H} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = \iint_{S} \left(\mathbf{J}_{f} + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbf{D} \right) \cdot d\mathbf{A}$$

(integral form), where **H** is the magnetic H field (also called "auxiliary magnetic field", "magnetic field intensity", or just "magnetic field", **D** is the electric displacement field, and J_f is the enclosed conduction current or free current density. In differential form,

$$abla imes \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{J}_{\mathrm{f}} + rac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbf{D} \; .$$

On the other hand, treating all charges on the same footing (disregarding whether they are bound or free charges), the generalized Ampère's equation (also called the Maxwell–Ampère equation) is (see the "proof" section below):

$$\oint_C \mathbf{B} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = \iint_S \left(\mu_0 \mathbf{J} + \mu_0 \epsilon_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbf{E} \right) \cdot d\mathbf{A}$$

in integral form. In differential form,

$$abla imes {f B} = (\mu_0 {f J} + \mu_0 \epsilon_0 rac{\partial}{\partial t} {f E}) \; .$$

In both forms **J** includes magnetization current density^[13] as well as conduction and polarization current densities. That is, the current density on the right side of the Ampère–Maxwell equation is:

$${f J_f}+{f J_D}+{f J_M}={f J_f}+{f J_P}+{f J_M}+arepsilon_0rac{\partial {f E}}{\partial t}={f J}+arepsilon_0rac{\partial {f E}}{\partial t}\;,$$

where current density \mathbf{J}_{D} is the *displacement current*, and \mathbf{J} is the current density contribution actually due to movement of charges, both free and bound. Because $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D} = \rho$, the charge continuity issue with Ampère's original formulation is no longer a problem.^[14] Because of the term in $\varepsilon_0 \partial E / \partial t$, wave propagation in free space now is possible.

With the addition of the displacement current, Maxwell was able to hypothesize (correctly) that light was a form of electromagnetic wave. See electromagnetic wave equation for a discussion of this important discovery.

Proof of equivalence

Proof that the formulations of Ampère's law in terms of free current are equivalent to the formulations involving total current.

In this proof, we will show that the equation

$$abla imes \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{J}_f + rac{\partial \mathbf{D}}{\partial t}$$

is equivalent to the equation

$$abla imes \mathbf{B}/\mu_0 = \mathbf{J} + \epsilon_0 rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t}$$

Note that we're only dealing with the differential forms, not the integral forms, but that is sufficient since the differential and integral forms are equivalent in each case, by the Kelvin–Stokes theorem.

We introduce the polarization density P, which has the following relation to E and D:

$$\mathbf{D} = \epsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P}$$

Next, we introduce the magnetization density M, which has the following relation to B and H:

$$\mathbf{B}/\mu_0 = \mathbf{H} + \mathbf{M}$$

and the following relation to the bound current:

$$egin{aligned} \mathbf{J}_{ ext{bound}} &=
abla imes \mathbf{M} + rac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial t} \;, \ &= \mathbf{J}_{ ext{M}} + \mathbf{J}_{ ext{P}} \;, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\mathbf{J}_{\mathrm{M}} = \nabla \times \mathbf{M} \; ,$$

is called the magnetization current density, and

$$\mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{P}} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial t}$$

is the polarization current density. Taking the equation for B:

$$egin{aligned}
abla imes \mathbf{B}/\mu_0 &=
abla imes (\mathbf{H} + \mathbf{M}) \ &=
abla imes \mathbf{H} + \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{M}} \ &= \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{f}} + \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{P}} + arepsilon_0 rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} + \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{M}} \end{aligned}$$

Consequently, referring to the definition of the bound current:

$$egin{aligned}
abla imes \mathbf{B}/\mu_0 &= \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{f}} + \mathbf{J}_{ ext{bound}} + arepsilon_0 rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} \ &= \mathbf{J} + arepsilon_0 rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} \;, \end{aligned}$$

as was to be shown.
Ampère's law in cgs units

In cgs units, the integral form of the equation, including Maxwell's correction, reads

$$\oint_C \mathbf{B} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = \frac{1}{c} \iint_S \left(4\pi \mathbf{J} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} \right) \cdot d\mathbf{S}$$

where c is the speed of light.

The differential form of the equation (again, including Maxwell's correction) is

$$abla imes \mathbf{B} = \frac{1}{c} \left(4\pi \mathbf{J} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} \right).$$

Notes

- [1] Richard Fitzpatrick (2007). "Ampère's Circuital Law" (http://farside.ph.utexas.edu/teaching/316/lectures/node75.html). .
- [2] Heinz E Knoepfel (2000). *Magnetic Fields: A comprehensive theoretical treatise for practical use* (http://books.google.com/?id=1n7NPasgh0sC&pg=PA210&dq=isbn=0471322059#PPA4,M1). Wiley. p. 4. ISBN 0471322059. .
- [3] George E. Owen (2003). *Electromagnetic Theory* (http://books.google.com/?id=VLm_dqhZUOYC&pg=PA213&dq="Ampere's+circuital+law") (Reprint of 1963 ed.). Courier-Dover Publications. p. 213. ISBN 0486428303.
- [4] John David Jackson (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Wiley. p. 238. ISBN 047130932X.
- [5] David J Griffiths (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (http://books.google.com/?id=w0YgJgAACAAJ&dq=isbn=013805326X) (3rd ed.). Pearson/Addison-Wesley. pp. 322–323. ISBN 013805326X.
- [6] George E. Owen (2003). op. cit. (http://books.google.com/?id=VLm_dqhZUOYC&pg=PA213&dq="Ampere's+circuital+law"). Mineola, N.Y.: Dover Publications. p. 285. ISBN 0486428303.
- J. Billingham, A. C. King (2006). Wave Motion (http://books.google.com/?id=bNePaHM20LQC&pg=PA179&dq=displacement+ "ampere's+law"). Cambridge University Press. p. 179. ISBN 0521634504.
- [8] J.C. Slater and N.H. Frank (1969). *Electromagnetism* (http://books.google.com/?id=GYsphnFwUuUC&pg=PA83&dq=displacement+ "ampere's+law") (Reprint of 1947 ed.). Courier Dover Publications. p. 83. ISBN 0486622630.
- [9] Daniel M. Siegel (2003). Innovation in Maxwell's Electromagnetic Theory: Molecular Vortices, Displacement Current, and Light (http:// books.google.com/?id=AbQq85U8K0gC&pg=PA97&dq=Ampere's+circuital+law+"displacement+current"). Cambridge University Press. pp. 96–98. ISBN 0521533295.
- [10] James C. Maxweel (1961). "On Physical Lines of Force" (http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/b/b8/ On_Physical_Lines_of_Force.pdf). *Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science*.
- [11] For example, see David J. Griffiths (1999). op. cit.. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall. p. 323. ISBN 013805326X. and Tai L. Chow (2006). *Introduction to Electromagnetic Theory* (http://books.google.com/?id=dpnpMhw1zo8C&pg=PA153&dq=isbn=0763738271#PPA204,M1). Jones & Bartlett. p. 204. ISBN 0763738271.
- [12] Mircea S. Rogalski, Stuart B. Palmer (2006). Advanced University Physics (http://books.google.com/?id=rW95PWh3YbkC& pg=PA266&dq=displacement+"Ampere's+circuital+law"). CRC Press. p. 267. ISBN 1584885114.
- [13] Stuart B. Palmer & Mircea S. Rogalski (2006). Advanced University Physics (http://books.google.com/?id=rW95PWh3YbkC& printsec=frontcover#PPA251,M1). CRC Press. p. 251. ISBN 1584885114.
- [14] The magnetization current can be expressed as the *curl* of the magnetization, so its divergence is zero and it does not contribute to the continuity equation. See magnetization current.

Further reading

- Griffiths, David J. (1998). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall. ISBN 013805326X.
- Tipler, Paul (2004). *Physics for Scientists and Engineers: Electricity, Magnetism, Light, and Elementary Modern Physics (5th ed.)*. W. H. Freeman. ISBN 0716708108.

External links

- *Simple Nature* by Benjamin Crowell (http://www.lightandmatter.com/html_books/0sn/ch11/ch11. html#Section11.3) Ampere's law from an online textbook
- MISN-0-138 *Ampere's Law* (http://35.9.69.219/home/modules/pdf_modules/m138.pdf) (PDF file) by Kirby Morgan for Project PHYSNET (http://www.physnet.org).

- MISN-0-145 *The Ampere–Maxwell Equation; Displacement Current* (http://35.9.69.219/home/modules/ pdf_modules/m145.pdf) (PDF file) by J.S. Kovacs for Project PHYSNET.
- *The Ampère's Law Song* (http://www.haverford.edu/physics-astro/songs/ampere.PDF) (PDF file) by Walter Fox Smith; Main page (http://www.haverford.edu/physics-astro/songs/), with recordings of the song.
- A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field (http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/19/ A_Dynamical_Theory_of_the_Electromagnetic_Field.pdf) Maxwell's paper of 1864

Faraday's law of induction

Faraday's law of induction dates from the 1830s, and is a basic law of electromagnetism relating to the operating principles of transformers, inductors, and many types of electrical motors and generators.^[1] Faraday's law is applicable to a closed circuit made of thin wire and states that:

The induced electromotive force (EMF) in any closed circuit is equal to the time rate of change of the magnetic flux through the circuit.^[1]

Or alternatively:

The EMF generated is proportional to the rate of change of the magnetic flux.

The law strictly holds only when the closed circuit is an infinitely-thin wire;^[2] for example, a spinning homopolar generator has a constant magnetically-induced EMF, but its magnetic flux does not rise perpetually higher and higher, as would be implied by a naive interpretation of the statements above.^[2]

EMF is defined as the energy available per unit charge that travels once around the wire loop (the unit of EMF is the volt).^{[2] [3] [4] [5]} Equivalently, it is the voltage that would be measured by cutting the wire to create an open circuit, and attaching a voltmeter to the leads. According to the Lorentz force law, the EMF on a wire loop is:

$$EMF = \oint (\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B}) \, \mathrm{d} \ell$$

Faraday's law of induction is closely related to the Maxwell-Faraday equation:^{[2] [3]}

$$abla imes {f E} = - rac{\partial {f B}}{\partial t}$$

where:

 $\nabla \times$ denotes curl

E is the electric field

B is the magnetic flux density.

The Maxwell-Faraday equation is one of the four Maxwell's equations, and therefore plays a fundamental role in the theory of classical electromagnetism.

History

Electromagnetic induction was discovered independently by Michael Faraday and Joseph Henry in 1831; however, Faraday was the first to publish the results of his experiments.^[6] ^[7]

In Faraday's first experimental demonstration of electromagnetic induction (August 29, 1831^[9]), he wrapped two wires around opposite sides of an iron torus (an arrangement similar to a modern transformer). Based on his assessment of recently-discovered properties of electromagnets, he expected that when current started to flow in one wire, a sort of wave would travel through the ring and cause some electrical effect on the opposite side. He plugged one wire into a galvanometer, and watched it as he connected the other wire to a battery. Indeed, he saw a transient current (which he called a "wave of electricity") when he connected the wire to the battery, and another when he disconnected it.^[10] This induction was due to the change in magnetic flux that occurred when the battery was connected and disconnected.^[8] Within two months, Faraday had found several other manifestations of electromagnetic induction. For example, he saw transient currents when he quickly slid a bar magnet in and out of a coil of wires, and he generated a steady







Faraday's disk (see homopolar generator)

(DC) current by rotating a copper disk near a bar magnet with a sliding electrical lead ("Faraday's disk").^[11]

Faraday explained electromagnetic induction using a concept he called lines of force. However, scientists at the time widely rejected his theoretical ideas, mainly because they were not formulated mathematically.^[12] An exception was Maxwell, who used Faraday's ideas as the basis of his quantitative electromagnetic theory.^[12] ^[13] ^[14] In Maxwell's papers, the time varying aspect of electromagnetic induction is expressed as a differential equation which Oliver Heaviside referred to as Faraday's law even though it is slightly different in form from the original version of Faraday's law, and does not describe motional EMF. Heaviside's version (see Maxwell-Faraday equation below) is the form recognized today in the group of equations known as Maxwell's equations.

Lenz's law, formulated by Heinrich Lenz in 1834, describes "flux through the circuit", and gives the direction of the induced electromotive force and current resulting from electromagnetic induction (elaborated upon in the examples below).



Faraday's law as two different phenomena

Some physicists have remarked that Faraday's law is a single equation describing two different phenomena: the *motional EMF* generated by a magnetic force on a moving wire (see Lorentz force), and the *transformer EMF* generated by an electric force due to a changing magnetic field (due to the Maxwell-Faraday equation). James Clerk Maxwell drew attention to this fact in his 1861 paper *On Physical Lines of Force*. In the latter half of part II of that paper, Maxwell gives a separate physical explanation for each of the two phenomena. A reference to these two aspects of electromagnetic induction is made in some modern textbooks.^[16] As Richard Feynman states:^[2]

So the "flux rule" that the emf in a circuit is equal to the rate of change of the magnetic flux through the circuit applies whether the flux changes because the field changes or because the circuit moves (or both).... Yet in our explanation of the rule we have used two completely distinct laws for the two cases $-\mathbf{v}\times\mathbf{B}$ for "circuit moves" and $\nabla\times\mathbf{E}=-\partial_{\mathbf{t}}\mathbf{B}$ for "field changes".

We know of no other place in physics where such a simple and accurate general principle requires for its real understanding an analysis in terms of *two different phenomena*.

- Richard P. Feynman, The Feynman Lectures on Physics

Reflection on this apparent dichotomy was one of the principal paths that led Einstein to develop special relativity:

It is known that Maxwell's electrodynamics—as usually understood at the present time—when applied to moving bodies, leads to asymmetries which do not appear to be inherent in the phenomena. Take, for example, the reciprocal electrodynamic action of a magnet and a conductor. The observable phenomenon here depends only on the relative motion of the conductor and the magnet, whereas the customary view draws a sharp distinction between the two cases in which either the one or the other of these bodies is in motion. For if the magnet is in motion and the conductor at rest, there arises in the neighbourhood of the magnet an electric field with a certain definite energy, producing a current at the places where parts of the conductor are situated. But if the magnet is stationary and the conductor in motion, no electric field arises in the neighbourhood of the magnet. In the conductor, however, we find an electromotive force, to which in itself there is no corresponding energy, but which gives rise—assuming equality of relative motion in the two cases discussed—to electric

currents of the same path and intensity as those produced by the electric forces in the former case.

Examples of this sort, together with unsuccessful attempts to discover any motion of the earth relative to the "light medium," suggest that the phenomena of electrodynamics as well as of mechanics possess no properties corresponding to the idea of absolute rest.

- Albert Einstein, On the Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies^[17]

Flux through a surface and EMF around a loop

Faraday's law of induction makes use of the magnetic flux Φ_B through a hypothetical surface Σ whose boundary is a wire loop. Since the wire loop may be moving, we write $\Sigma(t)$ for the surface. The magnetic flux is defined by a surface integral:



The wire loop (red) forms the boundary of a surface Σ (blue). The black arrows denote any vector field $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ defined throughout space; in the case of Faraday's law, the relevant vector field is the magnetic flux density \mathbf{B} , and it is integrated over the blue surface. The red arrow represents the fact that the wire loop may be moving and/or deforming.



The definition of surface integral relies on splitting the surface Σ into small surface elements. Each element is associated with a vector $d\mathbf{A}$ of magnitude equal to the area of the element and with direction normal to the element and pointing outward.

$$\Phi_B = \iint\limits_{\Sigma(t)} {f B}({f r},t) \cdot d{f A} \; ,$$

where $d\mathbf{A}$ is an element of surface area of the moving surface $\Sigma(t)$, **B** is the magnetic field, and **B**· $d\mathbf{A}$ is a vector dot product. In more visual terms, the magnetic flux through the wire loop is proportional to the number of magnetic flux lines that pass through the loop.

When the flux changes—because **B** changes, or because the wire loop is moved or deformed, or both—Faraday's law of induction says that the wire loop acquires an EMF \mathcal{E} , defined as the energy available per unit charge that travels

once around the wire loop (the unit of EMF is the volt). The EMF is given by the rate of change of the magnetic flux:

$$|\mathcal{E}| = \left|rac{d\Phi_B}{dt}
ight| \;,$$

where $|\mathcal{E}|$ is the magnitude of the electromotive force (EMF) in volts and Φ_B is the magnetic flux in webers. The direction of the electromotive force is given by Lenz's law.

For a tightly-wound coil of wire, composed of N identical loops, each with the same Φ_B , Faraday's law of induction states that

$$\mathcal{E} = -N rac{d\Phi_B}{dt}$$
[18]

where N is the number of turns of wire and Φ_{R} is the magnetic flux in webers through a *single* loop.

The Maxwell-Faraday equation

A changing magnetic field creates an electric field; this phenomenon is described by the Maxwell-Faraday equation:^[19]



surface Σ its boundary $\partial \Sigma$ and orientation *n* set by the right-hand rule.

$$abla imes {f E}({f r},\ t) = -rac{\partial {f B}({f r},\ t)}{\partial t}$$

where:

 $\nabla \times$ denotes curl

E is the electric field

B is the magnetic flux density.

This equation appears in modern sets of Maxwell's equations and is often referred to as Faraday's law. It can also be written in an **integral form** by the Kelvin-Stokes theorem:^[20]

$$\oint_{\partial \Sigma} {f E} \cdot doldsymbol{\ell} = -\int_{\Sigma} rac{\partial {f B}}{\partial t} \cdot d{f A}$$

where, as indicated in the figure:

 Σ is a surface bounded by the closed contour $\partial \Sigma$,

E is the electric field,

dI is an infinitesimal vector element of the contour $\partial \Sigma$,

B is the magnetic field.

dA is an infinitesimal vector element of surface Σ . If its direction is orthogonal to that surface patch, the magnitude is the area of an infinitesimal patch of surface.

Both $d\mathbb{I}$ and $d\mathbf{A}$ have a sign ambiguity; to get the correct sign, the right-hand rule is used, as explained in the article Kelvin-Stokes theorem. For a planar surface Σ , a positive path element $d\mathbb{I}$ of curve $\partial\Sigma$ is defined by the right-hand rule as one that points with the fingers of the right hand when the thumb points in the direction of the normal **n** to the surface Σ .

The integral around $\partial \Sigma$ is called a *path integral* or *line integral*. The surface integral at the right-hand side of the Maxwell-Faraday equation is the explicit expression for the magnetic flux $\Phi_{\rm B}$ through Σ .

Notice that a nonzero path integral for \mathbf{E} is different from the behavior of the electric field generated by charges. A charge-generated \mathbf{E} -field can be expressed as the gradient of a scalar field that is a solution to Poisson's equation, and has a zero path integral. See gradient theorem.

The integral equation is true for *any* path $\partial \Sigma$ through space, and any surface Σ for which that path is a boundary.

If the path Σ is not changing in time, the equation can be rewritten:

$$\oint_{\partial \Sigma} {f E} \cdot d{m \ell} = - rac{d}{dt} \int_{\Sigma} {f B} \cdot d{f A}$$

Proof of Faraday's law

The four Maxwell's equations (including the Maxwell-Faraday equation), along with the Lorentz force law, are a sufficient foundation to derive *everything* in classical electromagnetism.^{[2] [3]} Therefore it is possible to "prove" Faraday's law starting with these equations.^{[21] [22]} Click "show" in the box below for an outline of this proof. (In an alternative approach, not shown here but equally valid, Faraday's law could be taken as the starting point and used to "prove" the Maxwell-Faraday equation and/or other laws.)

Outline of proof of Faraday's law from Maxwell's equations and the Lorentz force law.

Consider the time-derivative of flux through a possibly-moving loop, with area $\Sigma(t)$:

$$rac{d\Phi_B}{dt} = rac{d}{dt} \int_{\Sigma(t)} {f B}(t) \cdot d{f A}$$

The integral can change over time for two reasons: The integrand can change, or the integration region can change. These add linearly, therefore:

$$\left. rac{d\Phi_B}{dt}
ight|_{t=t_0} = \left(\int_{\Sigma(t_0)} \left. rac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}
ight|_{t=t_0} \cdot d\mathbf{A}
ight) + \left(rac{d}{dt} \int_{\Sigma(t)} \mathbf{B}(t_0) \cdot d\mathbf{A}
ight)$$

where t_0 is any given fixed time. We will show that the first term on the right-hand side corresponds to transformer EMF, the second to motional EMF (see above). The first term on the right-hand side can be rewritten using the integral form of the Maxwell-Faraday equation:

$$\left. \int_{\Sigma(t_0)} \left. rac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}
ight|_{t=t_0} \cdot d\mathbf{A} = - \oint_{\partial \Sigma(t_0)} \mathbf{E}(t_0) \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell}$$

Next, we analyze the second term on the right-hand side:



$$rac{d}{dt}\int_{\Sigma(t)} {f B}(t_0)\cdot d{f A}$$

This is the most difficult part of the proof; more details and alternate approaches can be found in references.^[21] ^[22] As the loop moves and/or deforms, it sweeps out a surface (see figure on right). The magnetic flux through this swept-out surface corresponds to the magnetic flux that is either entering or exiting the loop, and therefore this is the magnetic flux that contributes to the time-derivative. (This step implicitly uses Gauss's law for magnetism: Since the flux lines have no beginning or end, they can only get into the loop by getting cut through by the wire.) As a small part of the loop $d\ell$ moves with velocity **v** for a short time dt, it sweeps out a vector area vector $d\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{v} \, dt \times d\ell$. Therefore, the change in magnetic flux through the loop here is

$$\mathbf{B} \cdot (\mathbf{v} \, dt \times d\boldsymbol{\ell}) = -dt \, d\boldsymbol{\ell} \cdot (\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B})$$

Therefore:

$$rac{d}{dt}\int_{\Sigma(t)} {f B}(t_0)\cdot d{f A} = -\oint_{\partial\Sigma(t_0)} ({f v}(t_0) imes {f B}(t_0))\cdot d{f \ell}$$

where **v** is the velocity of a point on the loop $\partial \Sigma$.

Putting these together,

$$\left. \frac{d\Phi_B}{dt} \right|_{t=t_0} = \left(-\oint_{\partial \Sigma(t_0)} \mathbf{E}(t_0) \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} \right) + \left(-\oint_{\partial \Sigma(t_0)} (\mathbf{v}(t_0) imes \mathbf{B}(t_0)) \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} \right)$$

Meanwhile, EMF is defined as the energy available per unit charge that travels once around the wire loop. Therefore, by the Lorentz force law,

$$EMF=\oint \left({f E}+{f v} imes {f B}
ight) {
m d}\ell$$

Combining these, ${d\Phi_B\over dt}=-EMF$

"Counterexamples" to Faraday's law



Although Faraday's law is always true for loops of thin wire, it can give the wrong result if naively extrapolated to other contexts.^[2] One example is the homopolar generator (above left): A spinning circular metal disc in a homogeneous magnetic field generates a DC (constant in time) EMF. In Faraday's law, EMF is the time-derivative of flux, so a DC EMF is only possible if the magnetic flux is getting uniformly larger and larger perpetually. But in the generator, the magnetic field is constant and the disc stays in the same position, so no magnetic fluxes are growing larger and larger. So this example cannot be analyzed directly with Faraday's law.

Another example, due to Feynman,^[2] has a dramatic change in flux through a circuit, even though the EMF is arbitrarily small. See figure and caption above right.

In both these examples, the changes in the current path are different from the motion of the material making up the circuit. The electrons in a material tend to follow the motion of the atoms that make up the material, due to scattering in the bulk and work function confinement at the edges. Therefore, motional EMF is generated when a material's atoms are moving through a magnetic field, dragging the electrons with them, thus subjecting the electrons to the Lorentz force. In the homopolar generator, the material's atoms are moving, even though the overall geometry of the circuit is staying the same. In the second example, the material's atoms are almost stationary, even though the overall geometry of the circuit is changing dramatically. On the other hand, Faraday's law always holds for thin wires, because there the geometry of the circuit always changes in a direct relationship to the motion of the material's atoms.

Although Faraday's law does not apply to all situations, the Maxwell-Faraday equation and Lorentz force law are always correct and can always be used directly.^[2]

Electrical generator

The EMF generated by Faraday's law of induction due to relative movement of a circuit and a magnetic field is the phenomenon underlying electrical generators. When a permanent magnet is moved relative to a conductor, or vice versa, an electromotive force is created. If the wire is connected through an electrical load, current will flow, and thus electrical energy is generated, converting the mechanical energy of motion to electrical energy. For example, the drum generator is based upon the figure to the right. A different implementation of this idea is the Faraday's disc, shown in simplified form on the right.

In the Faraday's disc example, the disc is



Rectangular wire loop rotating at angular velocity ω in radially outward pointing magnetic field **B** of fixed magnitude. Current is collected by brushes attached to top and bottom discs, which have conducting rims. This is a simplified version of the *drum generator*

rotated in a uniform magnetic field perpendicular to the disc, causing a current to flow in the radial arm due to the Lorentz force. It is interesting to understand how it arises that mechanical work is necessary to drive this current. When the generated current flows through the conducting rim, a magnetic field is generated by this current through Ampère's circuital law (labeled "induced B" in the figure). The rim thus becomes an electromagnet that resists rotation of the disc (an example of Lenz's law). On the far side of the figure, the return current flows from the rotating arm through the far side of the rim to the bottom brush. The B-field induced by this return current opposes the applied B-field, tending to *decrease* the flux through that side of the circuit, opposing the *increase* in flux due to rotation. On the near side of the figure, the return current flows from the rotating arm through the side of the circuit generate an emf opposing the rotation. The energy required to keep the disc moving, despite this reactive force, is exactly equal to the electrical energy generated (plus energy wasted due to friction, Joule heating, and other inefficiencies). This behavior is common to all generators converting mechanical energy to electrical energy.

Electrical motor

An electrical generator can be run "backwards" to become a motor. For example, with the Faraday disc, suppose a DC current is driven through the conducting radial arm by a voltage. Then by the Lorentz force law, this traveling charge experiences a force in the magnetic field *B* that will turn the disc in a direction given by Fleming's left hand rule. In the absence of irreversible effects, like friction or Joule heating, the disc turns at the rate necessary to make $d \Phi_{p}/dt$ equal to the voltage driving the current.

Electrical transformer

The EMF predicted by Faraday's law is also responsible for electrical transformers. When the electric current in a loop of wire changes, the changing current creates a changing magnetic field. A second wire in reach of this magnetic field will experience this change in magnetic field as a change in its coupled magnetic flux, a $d \Phi_{\rm B} / d t$. Therefore, an electromotive force is set up in the second loop called the **induced EMF** or **transformer EMF**. If the two ends of this loop are connected through an electrical load, current will flow.

Magnetic flow meter

Faraday's law is used for measuring the flow of electrically conductive liquids and slurries. Such instruments are called magnetic flow meters. The induced voltage \mathcal{E} generated in the magnetic field *B* due to a conductive liquid moving at velocity *v* is thus given by:

 $\mathcal{E} = B\ell v,$

where ℓ is the distance between electrodes in the magnetic flow meter.

Parasitic induction and waste heating

All metal objects moving in relation to a static magnetic field will experience inductive power flow, as do all stationary metal objects in relation to a moving magnetic field. These power flows are occasionally undesirable, resulting in flowing electric current at very low voltage and heating of the metal.

There are a number of methods employed to control these undesirable inductive effects.

- Electromagnets in electric motors, generators, and transformers do not use solid metal, but instead use thin sheets of metal plate, called *laminations*. These thin plates reduce the parasitic eddy currents, as described below.
- Inductive coils in electronics typically use magnetic cores to minimize parasitic current flow. They are a mixture of metal powder plus a resin binder that can hold any shape. The binder prevents parasitic current flow through the powdered metal.

Electromagnet laminations



Eddy currents occur when a solid metallic mass is rotated in a magnetic field, because the outer portion of the metal cuts more lines of force than the inner portion, hence the induced electromotive force not being uniform, tends to set up currents between the points of greatest and least potential. Eddy currents consume a considerable amount of energy and often cause a harmful rise in temperature.^[24]



Only five laminations or plates are shown in this example, so as to show the subdivision of the eddy currents. In practical use, the number of laminations or punchings ranges from 40 to 66 per inch, and brings the eddy current loss down to about one percent. While the plates can be separated by insulation, the voltage is so low that the natural rust/oxide coating of the plates is enough to prevent current flow across the laminations.^[24]



This is a rotor approximately 20mm in diameter from a DC motor used in a CD player. Note the laminations of the electromagnet pole pieces, used to limit parasitic inductive losses.

Parasitic induction within inductors



In this illustration, a solid copper bar inductor on a rotating armature is just passing under the tip of the pole piece N of the field magnet. Note the uneven distribution of the lines of force across the bar inductor. The magnetic field is more concentrated and thus stronger on the left edge of the copper bar (a,b) while the field is weaker on the right edge (c,d). Since the two edges of the bar move with the same velocity, this difference in field strength across the bar creates whorls or current eddies within the copper bar.^[25] This is one reason high voltage devices tend to be more efficient than low voltage devices. High voltage devices use many turns of small-gauge wire in motors, generators, and transformers. These many small turns of inductor wire in the electromagnet break up the eddy flows that can form within the large, thick inductors of low voltage, high current devices.

References

- Sadiku, M. N. O. (2007). Elements of Electromagnetics (http://books.google.com/?id=w2ITHQAACAAJ&dq=isbn:0-19-530048-3) (fourth ed.). New York (USA)/Oxford (UK): Oxford University Press. p. 386. ISBN 0-19-530048-3.
- [2] "The flux rule" is the terminology that Feynman uses to refer to the law relating magnetic flux to EMF. Richard Phillips Feynman, Leighton R B & Sands M L (2006). *The Feynman Lectures on Physics* (http://books.google.com/?id=zUt7AAAACAAJ&dq=intitle:Feynman+ intitle:Lectures+intitle:on+intitle:Physics). San Francisco: Pearson/Addison-Wesley. Vol. II, pp. 17-2. ISBN 0805390499.
- [3] Griffiths, David J. (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (http://www.amazon.com/gp/reader/013805326X/ref=sib_dp_pt/ 104-2951702-6987112#reader-link) (Third ed.). Upper Saddle River NJ: Prentice Hall. pp. 301–303. ISBN 0-13-805326-X.
- [4] Tipler and Mosca, *Physics for Scientists and Engineers*, p795, google books link (http://books.google.com/books?id=R2Nuh3Ux1AwC&pg=PA795)
- [5] Note that different textbooks may give different definitions. The set of equations used throughout the text was chosen to be compatible with the special relativity theory.
- [6] Ulaby, Fawwaz (2007). Fundamentals of applied electromagnetics (http://www.amazon.com/exec/obidos/tg/detail/-/0132413264/ ref=ord_cart_shr?_encoding=UTF8&m=ATVPDKIKX0DER&v=glance) (5th ed.). Pearson:Prentice Hall. p. 255. ISBN 0-13-241326-4.
- [7] "Joseph Henry" (http://www.nas.edu/history/members/henry.html). Distinguished Members Gallery, National Academy of Sciences. . Retrieved 2006-11-30.
- [8] Giancoli, Douglas C. (1998). Physics: Principles with Applications (Fifth edition ed.). pp. 623-624.
- [9] Faraday, Michael; Day, P. (1999-02-01). The philosopher's tree: a selection of Michael Faraday's writings (http://books.google.com/books?id=ur6iKVmzYhcC&pg=PA71). CRC Press. p. 71. ISBN 9780750305709. Retrieved 28 August 2011.
- [10] Michael Faraday, by L. Pearce Williams, p. 182-3
- [11] Michael Faraday, by L. Pearce Williams, p. 191-5
- [12] Michael Faraday, by L. Pearce Williams, p. 510
- [13] Maxwell, James Clerk (1904), A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism, Vol. II, Third Edition. Oxford University Press, pp. 178-9 and 189.
- [14] "Archives Biographies: Michael Faraday", The Institution of Engineering and Technology. (http://www.theiet.org/about/libarc/archives/ biographies/faraday.cfm)
- [15] Poyser, Arthur William (1892), Magnetism and electricity: A manual for students in advanced classes (http://books.google.com/ books?id=JzBAAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA285). London and New York; Longmans, Green, & Co., p. 285, fig. 248. Retrieved 2009-08-06.
- [16] Griffiths, David J. (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (http://www.amazon.com/gp/reader/013805326X/ref=sib_dp_pt/ 104-2951702-6987112#reader-link) (Third ed.). Upper Saddle River NJ: Prentice Hall. pp. 301–3. ISBN 0-13-805326-X. Note that the law relating flux to EMF, which this article calls "Faraday's law", is referred to in Griffiths' terminology as the "universal flux rule". Griffiths uses the term "Faraday's law" to refer to what article calls the "Maxwell-Faraday equation". So in fact, in the textbook, Griffiths' statement is about the "universal flux rule".
- [17] A. Einstein, On the Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies (http://www.fourmilab.ch/etexts/einstein/specrel.pdf)
- [18] Nave, Carl R. "Faraday's Law" (http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/electric/farlaw.html). HyperPhysics. Georgia State University. Retrieved 29 August 2011.
- [19] The term Maxwell-Faraday equation frequently is replaced by Faraday's law of induction or even Faraday's law. These last two terms have multiple meanings, so Maxwell-Faraday equation is used here to avoid confusion.
- [20] Roger F Harrington (2003). Introduction to electromagnetic engineering (http://books.google.com/?id=ZIC2EV8zvX8C&pg=PA57& dq="faraday's+law+of+induction"). Mineola, NY: Dover Publications. p. 56. ISBN 0486432416.
- [21] Davison, M. E. (1973). "A Simple Proof that the Lorentz Force, Law Implied Faraday's Law of Induction, when B is Time Independent". *American Journal of Physics* 41 (5): 713–711. doi:10.1119/1.1987339.
- [22] Basic Theoretical Physics: A Concise Overview by Krey and Owen, p155, google books link (http://books.google.com/ books?id=xZ_QelBmkxYC&pg=PA155)
- [23] K. Simonyi, Theoretische Elektrotechnik, 5th edition, VEB Deutscher Verlag der Wissenschaften, Berlin 1973, equation 20, page 47
- [24] Images and reference text are from the public domain book: Hawkins Electrical Guide, Volume 1, Chapter 19: Theory of the Armature, pp. 272-273, Copyright 1917 by Theo. Audel & Co., Printed in the United States
- [25] Images and reference text are from the public domain book: Hawkins Electrical Guide, Volume 1, Chapter 19: Theory of the Armature, pp. 270-271, Copyright 1917 by Theo. Audel & Co., Printed in the United States

Further reading

Maxwell, James Clerk (1881), A treatise on electricity and magnetism, Vol. II, Chapter III, §530, p. 178. (http://books.google.com/books?id=vAsJAAAAIAAJ&printsec=frontcover&dq=intitle:a+intitle:treatise+intitle:on+intitle:electricity+intitle:an+intitle:magnetism&cad=0_1#v=onepage&q&f=false) Oxford, UK: Clarendon Press. ISBN 0486606376.

External links

- A simple interactive Java tutorial on electromagnetic induction (http://www.magnet.fsu.edu/education/ tutorials/java/electromagneticinduction/index.html) National High Magnetic Field Laboratory
- R. Vega *Induction: Faraday's law and Lenz's law* Highly animated lecture (http://www.physics.smu.edu/ ~vega/em1304/lectures/lect13/lect13_f03.ppt)
- Notes from Physics and Astronomy HyperPhysics at Georgia State University (http://hyperphysics.phy-astr. gsu.edu/HBASE/hframe.html)
- Faraday's Law for EMC Engineers (http://www.learnemc.com/tutorials/Faraday/Faradays_Law.html)
- Tankersley and Mosca: *Introducing Faraday's law* (http://www.nadn.navy.mil/Users/physics/tank/Public/ FaradaysLaw.pdf)

Gauss's law

In physics, **Gauss's law**, also known as **Gauss's flux theorem**, is a law relating the distribution of electric charge to the resulting electric field. Gauss's law states that:

The electric flux through any closed surface is proportional to the enclosed electric charge.^[1]

The law was formulated by Carl Friedrich Gauss in 1835, but was not published until 1867.^[2] It is one of the four Maxwell's equations which form the basis of classical electrodynamics, the other three being Gauss's law for magnetism, Faraday's law of induction, and Ampère's law with Maxwell's correction. Gauss's law can be used to derive Coulomb's law,^[3] and vice versa.

Gauss's law may be expressed as:

$$\Phi_E = rac{Q}{arepsilon_0}$$

where Φ_E is the electric flux through a closed surface *S*, *Q* is the total charge enclosed within *S*, and ε_0 is the electric constant. The electric flux Φ_E is defined as a surface integral of the electric field:

$$\Phi_E \equiv \oint_S {f E} \cdot {
m d} {f A}$$

Because the flux is defined as an *integral* of the electric field, this expression of Gauss's law is called the *integral* form.

Gauss's law can alternatively be written in the differential form:

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{E} = rac{
ho}{arepsilon_0}$$

where $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{E}$ is the divergence of the electric field, and ρ is the charge density.

The integral and differential forms are related by the divergence theorem, also called Gauss's theorem. Each of these forms can also be expressed two ways: In terms of a relation between the electric field \mathbf{E} and the total electric charge, or in terms of the electric displacement field \mathbf{D} and the *free* electric charge.

Gauss's law has a close mathematical similarity with a number of laws in other areas of physics, such as Gauss's law for magnetism and Gauss's law for gravity. In fact, any "inverse-square law" can be formulated in a way similar to Gauss's law: For example, Gauss's law itself is essentially equivalent to the inverse-square Coulomb's law, and Gauss's law for gravity is essentially equivalent to the inverse-square Newton's law of gravity.

Gauss's law can be used to demonstrate that all electric fields inside a Faraday cage have an electric charge. Gauss's law is something of an electrical analogue of Ampère's law, which deals with magnetism.

In terms of total charge

Integral form

For a volume V with surface S, Gauss's law states that

$$\Phi_{E,S} = \frac{Q}{\varepsilon_0}$$

where $\Phi_{E,S}$ is the electric flux through *S*, *Q* is total charge inside *V*, and ε_0 is the electric constant. The electric flux is given by a surface integral over a closed surface *S*:

$$\oint_{S} \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{A}$$

where **E** is the electric field, d**A** is a vector representing an infinitesimal element of area,^[4] and \cdot represents the dot product.

Applying the integral form

If the electric field is known everywhere, Gauss's law makes it quite easy, in principle, to find the distribution of electric charge: The charge in any given region can be deduced by integrating the electric field to find the flux.

However, much more often, it is the reverse problem that needs to be solved: The electric charge distribution is known, and the electric field needs to be computed. This is much more difficult, since if you know the total flux through a given surface, that gives almost no information about the electric field, which (for all you know) could go in and out of the surface in arbitrarily complicated patterns.

An exception is if there is some symmetry in the situation, which mandates that the electric field passes through the surface in a uniform way. Then, if the total flux is known, the field itself can be deduced at every point. Common examples of symmetries which lend themselves to Gauss's law include cylindrical symmetry, planar symmetry, and spherical symmetry. See the article Gaussian surface for examples where these symmetries are exploited to compute electric fields.

Differential form

In differential form, Gauss's law states:

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{E} = rac{
ho}{arepsilon_0}$$

where ∇ · denotes divergence, **E** is the electric field, and ρ is the total electric charge density (including both free and bound charge), and ε_0 is the electric constant. This is mathematically equivalent to the integral form, because of the divergence theorem.

Equivalence of integral and differential forms

The integral and differential forms are mathematically equivalent, by the divergence theorem. Here is the argument more specifically:

The integral form of Gauss's law is:

$$\oint_{S} \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{A} = \frac{Q}{\varepsilon_{0}}$$

for any closed surface S containing charge Q. By the divergence theorem, this equation is equivalent to:

$$\iiint_V \nabla \cdot \mathbf{E} \, \mathrm{d}V = \frac{Q}{\varepsilon_0}$$

for any volume V containing charge Q. By the relation between charge and charge density, this equation is equivalent to:

$$\iiint\limits_V \nabla \cdot \mathbf{E} \, \mathrm{d}V = \iiint\limits_V \frac{\rho}{\varepsilon_0} \, \mathrm{d}V$$

for any volume V. In order for this equation to be *simultaneously true* for *every* possible volume V, it is necessary (and sufficient) for the integrands to be equal everywhere. Therefore, this equation is equivalent to:

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{E} = rac{
ho}{arepsilon_0}.$$

Thus the integral and differential forms are equivalent.

In terms of free charge

Free versus bound charge

The electric charge that arises in the simplest textbook situations would be classified as "free charge"—for example, the charge which is transferred in static electricity, or the charge on a capacitor plate. In contrast, "bound charge" arises only in the context of dielectric (polarizable) materials. (All materials are polarizable to some extent.) When such materials are placed in an external electric field, the electrons remain bound to their respective atoms, but shift a microscopic distance in response to the field, so that they're more on one side of the atom than the other. All these microscopic displacements add up to give a macroscopic net charge distribution, and this constitutes the "bound charge".

Although microscopically, all charge is fundamentally the same, there are often practical reasons for wanting to treat bound charge differently from free charge. The result is that the more "fundamental" Gauss's law, in terms of \mathbf{E} , is sometimes put into the equivalent form below, which is in terms of \mathbf{D} and the free charge only.

Integral form

This formulation of Gauss's law states that, for any volume V in space, with surface S, the following equation holds:

$$\Phi_{D,S} = Q_{ ext{free}}$$

where $\Phi_{D,S}$ is the flux of the electric displacement field **D** through *S*, and Q_{free} is the free charge contained in *V*. The flux $\Phi_{D,S}$ is defined analogously to the flux $\Phi_{E,S}$ of the electric field **E** through *S*. Specifically, it is given by the surface integral

$$\Phi_{D,S} = \oint_S \mathbf{D} \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{A}.$$

Differential form

The differential form of Gauss's law, involving free charge only, states:

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{D} =
ho_{ ext{free}}$$

where $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D}$ is the divergence of the electric displacement field, and ρ_{free} is the free electric charge density.

The differential form and integral form are mathematically equivalent. The proof primarily involves the divergence theorem.

Equivalence of total and free charge statements

Proof that the formulations of Gauss's law in terms of free charge are equivalent to the formulations involving total charge.

In this proof, we will show that the equation

 $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{E} = \rho / \epsilon_0$

is equivalent to the equation

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{D} =
ho_{ ext{free}}$$

Note that we're only dealing with the differential forms, not the integral forms, but that is sufficient since the differential and integral forms are equivalent in each case, by the divergence theorem.

We introduce the polarization density P, which has the following relation to E and D:

 $\mathbf{D} = \epsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P}$

and the following relation to the bound charge:

 $ho_{\mathrm{bound}} = -
abla \cdot \mathbf{P}$

Now, consider the three equations:

 $egin{aligned} &
ho_{ ext{bound}} =
abla \cdot (-\mathbf{P}) \ &
ho_{ ext{free}} =
abla \cdot \mathbf{D} \ &
ho =
abla \cdot (\epsilon_0 \mathbf{E}) \end{aligned}$

The key insight is that the sum of the first two equations is the third equation. This completes the proof: The first equation is true by definition, and therefore the second equation is true if and only if the third equation is true. So the second and third equations are equivalent, which is what we wanted to prove.

In linear materials

In homogeneous, isotropic, nondispersive, linear materials, there is a nice, simple relationship between E and D:

$$\varepsilon \mathbf{E} = \mathbf{D}$$

where ε is the permittivity of the material. Under these circumstances, there is yet another pair of equivalent formulations of Gauss's law:

$$egin{aligned} \Phi_{E,S} &= rac{Q_{ ext{free}}}{arepsilon} \
onumber
on$$

Relation to Coulomb's law

Deriving Gauss's law from Coulomb's law

Gauss's law can be derived from Coulomb's law, which states that the electric field due to a stationary point charge is:

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r})=rac{q}{4\pi\epsilon_0}rac{\mathbf{e_r}}{r^2}$$

where

e, is the radial unit vector,

r is the radius, $|\mathbf{r}|$,

 ϵ_0 is the electric constant,

q is the charge of the particle, which is assumed to be located at the origin.

Using the expression from Coulomb's law, we get the total field at \mathbf{r} by using an integral to sum the field at \mathbf{r} due to the infinitesimal charge at each other point \mathbf{s} in space, to give

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}) = rac{1}{4\pi\epsilon_0}\int rac{
ho(\mathbf{s})(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{s})}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{s}|^3}\,d^3\mathbf{s}$$

where ρ is the charge density. If we take the divergence of both sides of this equation with respect to **r**, and use the known theorem^[5]

$$abla \cdot \left(rac{\mathbf{s}}{|\mathbf{s}|^3}
ight) = 4\pi \delta(\mathbf{s})$$

where $\delta(s)$ is the Dirac delta function, the result is

$$abla \cdot {f E}({f r}) = rac{1}{arepsilon_0} \int
ho({f s}) \; \delta({f r}-{f s}) \, d^3{f s}$$

Using the "sifting property" of the Dirac delta function, we arrive at

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}) = rac{
ho(\mathbf{r})}{arepsilon_0},$$

which is the differential form of Gauss's law, as desired.

Note that since Coulomb's law only applies to *stationary* charges, there is no reason to expect Gauss's law to hold for moving charges *based on this derivation alone*. In fact, Gauss's law *does* hold for moving charges, and in this respect Gauss's law is more general than Coulomb's law.

Deriving Coulomb's law from Gauss's law

Strictly speaking, Coulomb's law cannot be derived from Gauss's law alone, since Gauss's law does not give any information regarding the curl of \mathbf{E} (see Helmholtz decomposition and Faraday's law). However, Coulomb's law *can* be proven from Gauss's law if it is assumed, in addition, that the electric field from a point charge is spherically-symmetric (this assumption, like Coulomb's law itself, is exactly true if the charge is stationary, and approximately true if the charge is in motion).

Taking S in the integral form of Gauss's law to be a spherical surface of radius r, centered at the point charge Q, we have

$$\oint_S {f E} \cdot d{f A} = {Q\over arepsilon_0}$$

By the assumption of spherical symmetry, the integrand is a constant which can be taken out of the integral. The result is

$$4\pi r^2 \hat{\mathbf{r}} \cdot \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{Q}{\varepsilon_0}$$

where $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$ is a unit vector pointing radially away from the charge. Again by spherical symmetry, **E** points in the radial direction, and so we get

$${f E}({f r})=rac{Q}{4\piarepsilon_0}rac{\hat{f r}}{r^2}$$

which is essentially equivalent to Coulomb's law. Thus the inverse-square law dependence of the electric field in Coulomb's law follows from Gauss's law.

Notes

- [1] Serway, Raymond A. (1996). Physics for Scientists and Engineers with Modern Physics, 4th edition. pp. 687.
- [2] Bellone, Enrico (1980). A World on Paper: Studies on the Second Scientific Revolution.
- [3] Halliday, David; Resnick, Robert (1970). Fundamentals of Physics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. pp. 452-53.
- [4] More specifically, the infinitesimal area is thought of as planar and with area dA. The vector dA is normal to this area element and has magnitude dA.Matthews, Paul (1998). Vector Calculus. Springer. ISBN 3540761802.
- [5] See, for example, Griffiths, David J. (1998). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall. p. 50. ISBN 0-13-805326-X.

References

Jackson, John David (1999). Classical Electrodynamics, 3rd ed., New York: Wiley. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.

External links

- MIT Video Lecture Series (30 x 50 minute lectures)- Electricity and Magnetism (http://ocw.mit.edu/OcwWeb/ Physics/8-02Electricity-and-MagnetismSpring2002/VideoAndCaptions/) Taught by Professor Walter Lewin.
- section on Gauss's law in an online textbook (http://www.lightandmatter.com/html_books/0sn/ch10/ch10. html#Section10.6)
- MISN-0-132 Gauss's Law for Spherical Symmetry (http://physnet2.pa.msu.edu/home/modules/pdf_modules/ m132.pdf) (PDF file) by Peter Signell for Project PHYSNET (http://www.physnet.org).
- MISN-0-133 *Gauss's Law Applied to Cylindrical and Planar Charge Distributions* (http://physnet2.pa.msu.edu/ home/modules/pdf_modules/m133.pdf) (PDF file) by Peter Signell for Project PHYSNET.

Gauss's law for magnetism

In physics, **Gauss's law for magnetism** is one of Maxwell's equations, the four equations that underlie classical electrodynamics. It states that the magnetic field **B** has divergence equal to zero, in other words, that it is a solenoidal vector field. It is equivalent to the statement that magnetic monopoles do not exist. Rather than "magnetic charges", the basic entity for magnetism is the magnetic dipole. (Of course, if monopoles were ever found, the law would have to be modified, as elaborated below.)

Gauss's law for magnetism can be written in two forms, a *differential form* and an *integral form*. These forms are equivalent due to the divergence theorem.

The name "Gauss's law for magnetism"^[1] is not universally used. The law is also called "Absence of free magnetic poles".^[2] (or some variant); one reference even explicitly says the law has "no name".^[3] It is also referred to as the "transversality requirement"^[4] because for plane waves it requires that the polarization be transverse to the direction of propagation.

Differential form

The differential form for Gauss's law for magnetism is the following:

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$$

where

 ∇ . denotes divergence,

B is the magnetic field.

Integral form

The integral form of Gauss's law for magnetism states:



Definition of a closed surface. Left: Some examples of closed surfaces include the surface of a sphere, surface of a torus, and surface of a cube. The magnetic flux through any of these surfaces is zero. Right: Some examples of non-closed surfaces include the disk surface, square surface, or hemisphere surface. They all have boundaries (red lines) and they do not fully enclose a 3D volume. The magnetic flux through these surfaces is *not necessarily zero*.

$$\oint_{S} \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{A} = 0$$

where

S is any closed surface (a "closed surface" is the boundary of some three-dimensional volume; the surface of a sphere or cube is a "closed surface", but a disk is not),

 $d\mathbf{A}$ is a vector, whose magnitude is the area of an infinitesimal piece of the surface *S*, and whose direction is the outward-pointing surface normal (see surface integral for more details).

The left-hand side of this equation is called the net flux of the magnetic field out of the surface, and Gauss's law for magnetism states that it is always zero.

The integral and differential forms of Gauss's law for magnetism are mathematically equivalent, due to the divergence theorem. That said, one or the other might be more convenient to use in a particular computation.

The law in this form states that for each volume element in space, there are exactly the same number of "magnetic field lines" entering and exiting the volume. No total "magnetic charge" can build up in any point in space. For example, the south pole of the magnet is exactly as strong as the north pole, and free-floating south poles without accompanying north poles (magnetic monopoles) are not allowed. In contrast, this is not true for other fields such as electric fields or gravitational fields, where total electric charge or mass can build up in a volume of space.

In terms of vector potential

Due to the Helmholtz decomposition theorem, Gauss's law for magnetism is equivalent to the following statement:^[5]

There exists a vector field **A** such that $\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$

The vector field \mathbf{A} is called the magnetic vector potential.

Note that there is more than one possible **A** which satisfies this equation for a given **B** field. In fact, there are infinitely many: Any field of the form $\nabla \phi$ can be added onto **A** to get an alternative choice for **A**, by the identity (see Vector calculus identities):

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{A} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{A} + \nabla \phi)$$

This arbitrariness in A is called gauge freedom.

In terms of field lines

The magnetic field **B**, like any vector field, can be depicted via field lines (also called *flux lines*)-- that is, a set of curves whose direction corresponds to the direction of **B**, and whose areal density is proportional to the magnitude of **B**. Gauss's law for magnetism is equivalent to the statement that the field lines have neither a beginning nor an end: Each one either forms a closed loop, winds around forever without ever quite joining back up to itself exactly, or extends to infinity.

Modification if magnetic monopoles exist

If magnetic monopoles were ever discovered to exist, then Gauss's law for magnetism would be disproved. Instead, the divergence of **B** would be proportional to the "magnetic charge density" ρ_m , as follows:

- $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = \rho_m$ (SI units, weber convention)^[7]
- $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \rho_m$ (SI units, ampere meter convention)^[8]
- $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 4\pi \rho_m$ (cgs units)^[9] where μ_0 is the vacuum permeability.

So far, despite extensive search no magnetic monopoles have been found.

History

The equation $\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$ was one of Maxwell's original eight equations. However, the interpretation was somewhat different: Maxwell's **A** field directly corresponded to an important physical quantity which he believed corresponded to Faraday's *electrotonic state*,^[10] while the modern interpretation emphasizes gauge freedom, the idea that there are many possible **A** fields, all equally valid.^[10]

Notes

- Tai L. Chow (2006). *Electromagnetic Theory: A modern perspective* (http://books.google.com/books?id=dpnpMhw1zo8C&pg=PA153& dq=isbn:0763738271#PPA134,M1). Jones and Bartlett. p. 134. ISBN 0-7637-3827-1.
- [2] John David Jackson (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Wiley. p. 237. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.
- [3] David J. Griffiths (1998). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall. p. 321. ISBN 0-13-805326-X.
- [4] John D. Joannopoulos, Steve G. Johnson, Joshua N. Winn, Robert D. Meade (2008). *Photonic Crystals: Molding the Flow of Light* (2nd ed.). Princeton University Press. p. 9. ISBN 978-0-691-12456-8.
- [5] W.H.A. Schilders et al. (2005-05-23). Handbook of Numerical Analysis (http://books.google.com/books?id=F_E9SAe6ny0C&pg=PA13).
 p. 13. ISBN 9780444513755.
- [6] John David Jackson (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Wiley. p. 180. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.
- [7] John David Jackson (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Wiley. p. 273, eq. (6.150).
- [8] See for example equation (4) in M. Nowakowski, N. G. Kelkar (2005). "Faraday's law in the presence of magnetic monopoles". *Europhysics Letters* 71 (3): 346. arXiv:physics/0508099. Bibcode 2005EL....71..346N. doi:10.1209/epl/i2004-10545-2.
- [9] F. Moulin (2001). "Magnetic monopoles and Lorentz force". *Il Nuovo Cimento B* 116 (8): 869–877. arXiv:math-ph/0203043. Bibcode 2001NCimB.116..869M.
- [10] Paul G. Hurray (2010). Maxwell's Equations (http://books.google.com/books?id=0QsDgdd0MhMC&pg=PA22). p. 22. ISBN 9780470542767.

Related equations

Biot-Savart law

The **Biot–Savart law** (\mathbf{n}) /'bi:o $\mathbf{vs}\mathbf{\theta}$ 'v $\mathbf{\alpha}$ r/ or /'bjo $\mathbf{vs}\mathbf{\theta}$ 'v $\mathbf{\alpha}$ r/)^[1] is an equation in electromagnetism that describes the magnetic field **B** generated by an electric current. The vector field **B** depends on the magnitude, direction, length, and proximity of the electric current, and also on a fundamental constant called the magnetic constant. The law is valid in the magnetostatic approximation, and results in a **B** field consistent with both Ampère's circuital law and Gauss's law for magnetism.^[2]

Introduction

The Biot–Savart law is used to compute the magnetic field generated by a *steady current*, i.e. a continual flow of charges, for example through a wire, which is constant in time and in which charge is neither building up nor depleting at any point. The equation in SI units is

$$\mathbf{B}=\intrac{\mu_0}{4\pi}rac{Id\mathbf{l} imes\mathbf{\hat{r}}}{|r|^2},$$

or, equivalently,

$$\mathbf{B}=\intrac{\mu_0}{4\pi}rac{Id\mathbf{l} imes\mathbf{r}}{|r|^3},$$

where

I is the current,

*d***I** is a vector, whose magnitude is the length of the differential element of the wire, and whose direction is the direction of conventional current,

B is the net magnetic field,

 μ_0 is the magnetic constant,

 $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$ is the displacement unit vector in the direction pointing from the wire element towards the point at which the field is being computed, and

 $\mathbf{r}=\mathbf{r}\hat{\mathbf{r}}$ is the full displacement vector from the wire element to the point at which the field is being computed.

The symbols in boldface denote vector quantities.

To apply the equation, you choose a point in space at which you want to compute the magnetic field. Holding that point fixed, you integrate over the path of the current(s) to find the total magnetic field at that point. The application of this law implicitly relies on the superposition principle for magnetic fields, i.e. the fact that the magnetic field is a vector sum of the field created by each infinitesimal section of the wire individually.^[3]

The formulations given above work well when the current can be approximated as running through an infinitely-narrow wire. If the current has some thickness, the proper formulation of the Biot–Savart law (again in SI units) is:

$$\mathbf{B} = \int \frac{\mu_0}{4\pi} \frac{(\mathbf{J} \, dV) \times \hat{\mathbf{r}}}{r^2}, \text{ or (equivalently), } \mathbf{B} = \int \frac{\mu_0}{4\pi} \frac{(\mathbf{J} \, dV) \times \mathbf{r}}{r^3},$$

where dV is the differential element of volume and **J** is the current density vector in that volume.

The Biot–Savart law is fundamental to magnetostatics, playing a similar role to Coulomb's law in electrostatics. When magnetostatics does not apply, the Biot–Savart law should be replaced by Jefimenko's equations.

Forms

General

In the magnetostatic approximation, the magnetic field can be determined if the current density J is known:

$$\mathbf{B} = K_m \int \frac{\mathbf{J} \times \hat{\mathbf{r}}}{r^2} dV$$

where:

dV is the differential element of volume.

$$K_m = rac{\mu_0}{4\pi}$$
 is the magnetic constant

Constant uniform current

In the special case of a constant, uniform current I, the magnetic field B is

$$\mathbf{B} = K_m I \int \frac{d\mathbf{l} \times \hat{\mathbf{r}}}{r^2}$$

Point charge at constant velocity

In the case of a charged point particle \mathbf{q} moving at a constant velocity \mathbf{v} , then Maxwell's equations give the following expression for the electric field and magnetic field:^[4]

$$\mathbf{E} = rac{q}{4\pi\epsilon_0}rac{1-v^2/c^2}{(1-v^2\sin^2 heta/c^2)^{3/2}}rac{\mathbf{\hat{r}}}{r^2}
onumber \ \mathbf{B} = \mathbf{v} imesrac{1}{c^2}\mathbf{E}$$

where $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$ is the vector pointing from the current (non-retarded) position of the particle to the point at which the field is being measured, and θ is the angle between \mathbf{v} and \mathbf{r} .

When $v^2 \ll c^2$, the electric field and magnetic field can be approximated as $^{[4]}$

$$\mathbf{E} = rac{q}{4\pi\epsilon_0} \; rac{\mathbf{\hat{r}}}{r^2} \searrow \ \mathbf{B} = rac{\mu_0 q \mathbf{v}}{4\pi} imes rac{\mathbf{\hat{r}}}{r^2}$$

These equations are called the "Biot–Savart law for a point charge"^[5] due to its closely analogous form to the "standard" Biot–Savart law given previously. These equations were first derived by Oliver Heaviside in 1888.

Magnetic responses applications

The Biot–Savart law can be used in the calculation of magnetic responses even at the atomic or molecular level, e.g. chemical shieldings or magnetic susceptibilities, provided that the current density can be obtained from a quantum mechanical calculation or theory.

Aerodynamics applications

The Biot–Savart law is also used in aerodynamic theory to calculate the velocity induced by vortex lines.

In the aerodynamic application, the roles of vorticity and current are reversed as when compared to the magnetic application.

In Maxwell's 1861 paper 'On Physical Lines of Force ^[6], magnetic field strength **H** was directly equated with pure vorticity (spin), whereas **B** was a weighted vorticity that was weighted for the density of the vortex sea. Maxwell considered magnetic permeability μ to be a measure of the density of the vortex sea. Hence the relationship,



(1) Magnetic induction current

$\mathbf{B} = \mu \mathbf{H}$

was essentially a rotational analogy to the linear electric current relationship,

(2) Electric convection current

$$\mathbf{J} = \rho \mathbf{v}$$

where ρ is electric charge density. **B** was seen as a kind of magnetic current of vortices aligned in their axial planes, with **H** being the circumferential velocity of the vortices.

The electric current equation can be viewed as a convective current of electric charge that involves linear motion. By analogy, the magnetic equation is an inductive current involving spin. There is no linear motion in the inductive current along the direction of the \mathbf{B} vector. The magnetic inductive current represents lines of force. In particular, it represents lines of inverse square law force.

In aerodynamics the induced air currents are forming solenoidal rings around a vortex axis that is playing the role that electric current plays in magnetism. This puts the air currents of aerodynamics into the equivalent role of the magnetic induction vector \mathbf{B} in electromagnetism.

In electromagnetism the \mathbf{B} lines form solenoidal rings around the source electric current, whereas in aerodynamics, the air currents form solenoidal rings around the source vortex axis.

Hence in electromagnetism, the vortex plays the role of 'effect' whereas in aerodynamics, the vortex plays the role of 'cause'. Yet when we look at the **B** lines in isolation, we see exactly the aerodynamic scenario in so much as that **B** is the vortex axis and **H** is the circumferential velocity as in Maxwell's 1861 paper.

For a vortex line of infinite length, the induced velocity at a point is given by

$$v = rac{\Gamma}{2\pi r}$$

where

 Γ is the strength of the vortex

r is the perpendicular distance between the point and the vortex line.

This is a limiting case of the formula for vortex segments of finite length:

$$v = \frac{\Gamma}{4\pi r} \left[\cos A - \cos B \right]$$

where A and B are the (signed) angles between the line and the two ends of the segment.

The Biot-Savart law, Ampère's circuital law, and Gauss's law for magnetism

Here is a demonstration that the magnetic field **B** as computed from the Biot–Savart law will always satisfy Ampère's circuital law and Gauss's law for magnetism.^[7] Click "show" in the box below for an outline of the proof.

Outline of proof that a magnetic field calculated by the Biot–Savart law will always satisfy Gauss's law for magnetism and Ampère's law.^[7]

Starting with the Biot-Savart law:

$$\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}) = rac{\mu_0}{4\pi}\int d^3r' \mathbf{J}(\mathbf{r}') imes rac{\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'|^3}$$

Plugging in the easily-derived relation

$$\frac{\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|^3} = -\nabla \left(\frac{1}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|}\right)$$

and using the product rule for curls, as well as the fact that \mathbf{J} does not depend on the unprimed coordinates, this equation can be rewritten as^[7]

$$\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}) = rac{\mu_0}{4\pi}
abla imes \int d^3 r' rac{\mathbf{J}(\mathbf{r'})}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r'}|}$$

Since the divergence of a curl is always zero, this establishes Gauss's law for magnetism. Next, taking the curl of both sides, using the formula for the curl of a curl (see the article Curl (mathematics)), and again using the fact that **J** does not depend on the unprimed coordinates, we eventually get the result^[7]

$$abla imes \mathbf{B} = rac{\mu_0}{4\pi}
abla \int d^3 r' \mathbf{J}(\mathbf{r}') \cdot
abla \left(rac{1}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|}\right) - rac{\mu_0}{4\pi} \int d^3 r' \mathbf{J}(\mathbf{r}')
abla^2 \left(rac{1}{|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|}\right)$$
by physicing in the relations^[7]

Finally, plugging in the relations

$$egin{split}
abla \left(rac{1}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'|}
ight) &= -
abla' \left(rac{1}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'|}
ight), \
abla^2 \left(rac{1}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'|}
ight) &= -4\pi\delta(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}') \end{split}$$

(where δ is the Dirac delta function), using the fact that the divergence of **J** is zero (due to the assumption of magnetostatics), and performing an integration by parts, the result turns out to be^[7]

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \mathbf{J}$$

i.e. Ampère's law.

Notes

- [1] (http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/biot+savart+law?qsrc=2446)
- [2] Jackson, John David (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed. ed.). New York: Wiley. Chapter 5. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.
- [3] The superposition principle holds for the electric and magnetic fields because they are the solution to a set of linear differential equations, namely Maxwell's equations, where the current is one of the "source terms".
- [4] Griffiths, David J. (1998). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall. pp. 222-224, 435-440. ISBN 0-13-805326-X.
- [5] http://maxwell.ucdavis.edu/~electro/magnetic_field/pointcharge.html
- [6] http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/b/b8/On_Physical_Lines_of_Force.pdf
- [7] See Jackson, page 178–79 or Griffiths p. 222–24. The presentation in Griffiths is particularly thorough, with all the details spelled out.

References

- Griffiths, David J. (1998). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed. ed.). Prentice Hall. ISBN 0-13-805326-X.
- Feynman, Richard (1966). The Feynman Lectures on Physics (2nd ed. ed.). Addison-Wesley. ISBN 0-63-20717.

External links

- Electromagnetism (http://www.lightandmatter.com/html_books/0sn/ch11/ch11.html), B. Crowell, Fullerton College
- MISN-0-125 The Ampère-Laplace-Biot-Savart Law (http://physnet2.pa.msu.edu/home/modules/pdf_modules/ m125.pdf) by Orilla McHarris and Peter Signell for Project PHYSNET (http://www.physnet.org).

Electromagnetic wave equation

The **electromagnetic wave equation** is a second-order partial differential equation that describes the propagation of electromagnetic waves through a medium or in a vacuum. The homogeneous form of the equation, written in terms of either the electric field **E** or the magnetic field **B**, takes the form:

$$\left(\nabla^2 - \mu \epsilon \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} \right) \mathbf{E} = \mathbf{0}$$
$$\left(\nabla^2 - \mu \epsilon \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} \right) \mathbf{B} = \mathbf{0}$$

where

$$c = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mu\epsilon}}$$

is the speed of light in the medium, and ∇^2 is the Laplace operator. In a vacuum, $c = c_0 = 299,792,458$ meters per second, which is the speed of light in free space.^[1] The electromagnetic wave equation derives from Maxwell's equations. It should also be noted that in most older literature, **B** is called the *magnetic flux density* or *magnetic induction*.

The origin of the electromagnetic wave equation

In his 1864 paper titled A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field, Maxwell utilized the correction to Ampère's circuital law that he had made in part III of his 1861 paper On Physical Lines of Force. In *Part VI* of his 1864 paper titled *Electromagnetic Theory of Light*,^[2] Maxwell combined displacement current with some of the other equations of electromagnetism and he obtained a wave equation with a speed equal to the speed of light. He commented:

The agreement of the results seems to show that light and magnetism are affections of the same substance, and that light is an electromagnetic disturbance propagated through the field according to electromagnetic laws.^[3]



A postcard from Maxwell to Peter Tait

Maxwell's derivation of the electromagnetic wave equation has been replaced in modern physics by a much less cumbersome method involving combining the corrected version of Ampère's circuital law with Faraday's law of induction.

To obtain the electromagnetic wave equation in a vacuum using the modern method, we begin with the modern 'Heaviside' form of Maxwell's equations. In a vacuum and charge free space, these equations are:

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{E} = 0$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}$$
$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \varepsilon_0 \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t}$$

where $\rho = 0$ because there's no charge density in free space.

Taking the curl of the curl equations gives:

$$\nabla \times \nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \nabla \times \mathbf{B} = -\mu_0 \varepsilon_0 \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^2}$$
$$\nabla \times \nabla \times \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \varepsilon_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\mu_o \varepsilon_o \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{B}}{\partial t^2}$$

By using the vector identity

_

$$abla imes (
abla imes \mathbf{V}) =
abla (
abla \cdot \mathbf{V}) -
abla^2 \mathbf{V}$$

where \mathbf{V} is any vector function of space, it turns into the wave equations:

$$\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^{2}} - c_{0}^{2} \cdot \nabla^{2} \mathbf{E} = 0$$
$$\frac{\partial^{2} \mathbf{B}}{\partial t^{2}} - c_{0}^{2} \cdot \nabla^{2} \mathbf{B} = 0$$

where

$$c_0 = rac{1}{\sqrt{\mu_0 arepsilon_0}} = 2.99792458 imes 10^8 \ {
m m/s}$$

is the speed of light in free space.

Covariant form of the homogeneous wave equation

These relativistic equations can be written in contravariant form as



$$\Box A^{\mu} = 0$$

where the electromagnetic four-potential is

$$A^{\mu} = (\phi/c, \mathbf{A})$$

with the Lorenz gauge condition:

$$\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu} = 0.$$

Where

 $\Box = \nabla^2 - \frac{1}{c^2} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}$ is the d'Alembertian operator. (The square box is not a typographical error; it is the

correct symbol for this operator.)

Homogeneous wave equation in curved spacetime

The electromagnetic wave equation is modified in two ways, the derivative is replaced with the covariant derivative and a new term that depends on the curvature appears.

$$-A^{\alpha;\beta}{}_{;\beta}+R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}A^{\beta}=0$$

where $R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ is the Ricci curvature tensor and the semicolon indicates covariant differentiation.

The generalization of the Lorenz gauge condition in curved spacetime is assumed:

$$A^{\mu}_{;\mu} = 0.$$

Inhomogeneous electromagnetic wave equation

Localized time-varying charge and current densities can act as sources of electromagnetic waves in a vacuum. Maxwell's equations can be written in the form of a wave equation with sources. The addition of sources to the wave equations makes the partial differential equations inhomogeneous.

Solutions to the homogeneous electromagnetic wave equation

The general solution to the electromagnetic wave equation is a linear superposition of waves of the form



This 3D diagram shows a plane linearly polarized wave propagating from left to right with the same

wave equations where $\mathbf{E} = E_0 \sin(-\omega t + \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r})$ and $\mathbf{B} = B_0 \sin(-\omega t + \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r})$

 $\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t)=g(\phi(\mathbf{r},t))=g(\omega t-\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r})$ and

$$\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) = g(\phi(\mathbf{r},t)) = g(\omega t - \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r})$$

for virtually any well-behaved function g of dimensionless argument φ , where

 ω is the angular frequency (in radians per second), and

 $\mathbf{k} = (k_x, k_y, k_z)$ is the wave vector (in radians per meter).

Although the function g can be and often is a monochromatic sine wave, it does not have to be sinusoidal, or even periodic. In practice, g cannot have infinite periodicity because any real electromagnetic wave must always have a finite extent in time and space. As a result, and based on the theory of Fourier decomposition, a real wave must consist of the superposition of an infinite set of sinusoidal frequencies.

In addition, for a valid solution, the wave vector and the angular frequency are not independent; they must adhere to the dispersion relation:

$$k=|{f k}|={\omega\over c}={2\pi\over\lambda}$$
 .

where *k* is the wavenumber and λ is the wavelength.

Monochromatic, sinusoidal steady-state

The simplest set of solutions to the wave equation result from assuming sinusoidal waveforms of a single frequency in separable form:

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = \operatorname{Re}\{\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r})e^{i\omega t}\}\$$

where

- *i* is the imaginary unit,
- $\omega = 2\pi f$ is the angular frequency in radians per second,
- *f* is the **frequency in hertz, and**
- $e^{i\omega t} = \cos(\omega t) + i\sin(\omega t)$ is Euler's formula.

Plane wave solutions

Consider a plane defined by a unit normal vector

$$\mathbf{n} = \frac{\mathbf{k}}{k}$$

Then planar traveling wave solutions of the wave equations are

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}) = E_0 e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}$$

and

$$\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}) = B_0 e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}$$

where

 $\mathbf{r} = (x, y, z)$ is the position vector (in meters).

These solutions represent planar waves traveling in the direction of the normal vector **n**. If we define the z direction as the direction of **n** and the x direction as the direction of **E**, then by Faraday's Law the magnetic field lies in the y direction and is related to the electric field by the relation $c^2 \frac{\partial B}{\partial z} = \frac{\partial E}{\partial t}$. Because the divergence of the electric and magnetic fields are zero, there are no fields in the direction of propagation.

This solution is the linearly polarized solution of the wave equations. There are also circularly polarized solutions in which the fields rotate about the normal vector.

Spectral decomposition

Because of the linearity of Maxwell's equations in a vacuum, solutions can be decomposed into a superposition of sinusoids. This is the basis for the Fourier transform method for the solution of differential equations. The sinusoidal solution to the electromagnetic wave equation takes the form



$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = \mathbf{E}_0 \cos(\omega t - \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r} + \phi_0)$$

and

$$\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) = \mathbf{B}_0 \cos(\omega t - \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r} + \phi_0)$$

where

t is time (in seconds),

 ω is the angular frequency (in radians per second),

 $\mathbf{k} = (k_x, k_y, k_z)$ is the wave vector (in radians per meter), and

 ϕ_0 is the phase angle (in radians).

The wave vector is related to the angular frequency by

$$|\mathbf{k}| = |\mathbf{k}| = rac{\omega}{c} = rac{2\pi}{\lambda}$$

where *k* is the wavenumber and λ is the wavelength.

The electromagnetic spectrum is a plot of the field magnitudes (or energies) as a function of wavelength.

Multipole Expansion

Assuming monochromatic fields varying in time as $e^{-i\omega t}$, if one uses Maxwell's Equations to eliminate **B**, the electromagnetic wave equation reduces to the Helmholtz Equation for **E**:

$$(
abla^2+k^2){f E}=0,\ {f B}=-rac{i}{k}
abla imes{f E}$$

with $k = \omega/c$ as given above. Alternatively, one can eliminate **E** in favor of **B** to obtain:

$$(
abla^2+k^2){f B}=0,~{f E}=-rac{i}{k}
abla imes{f B}$$

A generic electromagnetic field with frequency ω can be written as a sum of solutions to these two equations. The three-dimensional solutions of the Helmholtz Equation can be expressed as expansions in spherical harmonics with coefficients proportional to the spherical Bessel functions. However, applying this expansion to each vector component of **E** or **B** will give solutions that are not generically divergence-free ($\nabla \cdot \mathbf{E} = \nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$), and therefore require additional restrictions on the coefficients.

The multipole expansion circumvents this difficulty by expanding not **E** or **B**, but $\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{E}$ or $\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{B}$ into spherical harmonics. These expansions still solve the original Helmholtz equations for **E** and **B** because for a divergence-free field $\mathbf{F}, \nabla^2 (\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{F}) = \mathbf{r} \cdot (\nabla^2 \mathbf{F})$. The resulting expressions for a generic electromagnetic field are:

$$\mathbf{E} = e^{-i\omega t} \sum_{l,m} \sqrt{l(l+1)} \left[a_E(l,m) \mathbf{E}_{l,m}^{(E)} + a_M(l,m) \mathbf{E}_{l,m}^{(M)} \right]$$
$$\mathbf{B} = e^{-i\omega t} \sum_{l,m} \sqrt{l(l+1)} \left[a_E(l,m) \mathbf{B}_{l,m}^{(E)} + a_M(l,m) \mathbf{B}_{l,m}^{(M)} \right]$$

where $\mathbf{E}_{l,m}^{(E)}$ and $\mathbf{B}_{l,m}^{(E)}$ are the *electric multipole fields of order* (l, m), and $\mathbf{E}_{l,m}^{(M)}$ and $\mathbf{B}_{l,m}^{(M)}$ are the corresponding *magnetic multipole fields*, and $a_{E}^{(l,m)}$ and $a_{M}^{(l,m)}$ are the coefficients of the expansion. The multipole fields are given by

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B}_{l,m}^{(E)} &= \sqrt{l(l+1)} \left[B_l^{(1)} h_l^{(1)}(kr) + B_l^{(2)} h_l^{(2)}(kr) \right] \mathbf{\Phi}_{l,m} \\ \mathbf{E}_{l,m}^{(E)} &= \frac{i}{k} \nabla \times \mathbf{B}_{l,m}^{(E)} \\ \mathbf{E}_{l,m}^{(M)} &= \sqrt{l(l+1)} \left[E_l^{(1)} h_l^{(1)}(kr) + E_l^{(2)} h_l^{(2)}(kr) \right] \mathbf{\Phi}_{l,m} \\ \mathbf{B}_{l,m}^{(M)} &= -\frac{i}{k} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}_{l,m}^{(M)}, \\ \mathbf{B}_{l,m}^{(L)} &= -\frac{i}{k} \nabla \times \mathbf{E}_{l,m}^{(M)}, \end{split}$$

where $h_l^{(l,2)}(x)$ are the spherical Hankel functions, $E_l^{(l,2)}$ and $B_l^{(l,2)}$ are determined by boundary conditions, and $\Phi_{l,m} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{l(l+1)}} (\mathbf{r} \times \nabla) Y_{l,m}$ are vector spherical harmonics normalized so that $\int \Phi_{l,m}^* \cdot \Phi_{l',m'} d\Omega = \delta_{l,l'} \delta m, m'$

The multipole expansion of the electromagnetic field finds application in a number of problems involving spherical symmetry, for example antennae radiation patterns, or nuclear gamma decay. In these applications, one is often interested in the power radiated in the far-field. In this regions, the E and B fields asymptote to

$$\mathbf{B}pprox rac{e^{i(kr-\omega t)}}{kr}\sum_{l,m}(-i)^{l+1}\left[a_E(l,m)\mathbf{\Phi}_{l,m}+a_M(l,m)\mathbf{\hat{r}} imes \mathbf{\Phi}_{l,m}
ight] \ \mathbf{E}pprox \mathbf{B} imes \mathbf{\hat{r}}\,.$$

The angular distribution of the time-averaged radiated power is then given by

$$rac{dP}{d\Omega}pprox rac{1}{2k^2} \left| \sum_{l,m} (-i)^{l+1} \left[a_E(l,m) \mathbf{\Phi}_{l,m} imes \mathbf{\hat{r}} + a_M(l,m) \mathbf{\Phi}_{l,m}
ight]
ight|^2$$

Other solutions

Other spherically and cylindrically symmetric analytic solutions to the electromagnetic wave equations are also possible.

In spherical coordinates the solutions to the wave equation can be written as follows:

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = \frac{1}{r} \mathbf{E}_0 \cos(\omega t - \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r} + \phi_0), \ \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = \frac{1}{r} \mathbf{E}_0 \sin(\omega t - \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r} + \phi_0)$$

and

$$egin{aligned} \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) &= rac{1}{r} \mathbf{B}_0 \cos(\omega t - \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r} + \phi_0), \ \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) &= rac{1}{r} \mathbf{B}_0 \sin(\omega t - \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{r} + \phi_0). \end{aligned}$$

These can be rewritten in terms of the spherical bessel function.

In cylindrical coordinates, the solutions to the wave equation are the ordinary bessel function of integer order.

Notes

Current practice is to use c₀ to denote the speed of light in vacuum according to ISO 31. In the original Recommendation of 1983, the symbol c was used for this purpose. See NIST Special Publication 330, Appendix 2, p. 45 (http://physics.nist.gov/Pubs/SP330/sp330.pdf)

[2] Maxwell 1864, page 497.

[3] See Maxwell 1864, page 499.

Further reading

Electromagnetism

Journal articles

 Maxwell, James Clerk, "A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field", Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London 155, 459-512 (1865). (This article accompanied a December 8, 1864 presentation by Maxwell to the Royal Society.)

Undergraduate-level textbooks

- Griffiths, David J. (1998). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall. ISBN 0-13-805326-X.
- Tipler, Paul (2004). *Physics for Scientists and Engineers: Electricity, Magnetism, Light, and Elementary Modern Physics (5th ed.).* W. H. Freeman. ISBN 0-7167-0810-8.
- Edward M. Purcell, *Electricity and Magnetism* (McGraw-Hill, New York, 1985). ISBN 0-07-004908-4.
- Hermann A. Haus and James R. Melcher, *Electromagnetic Fields and Energy* (Prentice-Hall, 1989) ISBN 0-13-249020-X.
- Banesh Hoffmann, Relativity and Its Roots (Freeman, New York, 1983). ISBN 0-7167-1478-7.
- David H. Staelin, Ann W. Morgenthaler, and Jin Au Kong, *Electromagnetic Waves* (Prentice-Hall, 1994) ISBN 0-13-225871-4.
- Charles F. Stevens, The Six Core Theories of Modern Physics, (MIT Press, 1995) ISBN 0-262-69188-4.
- Markus Zahn, *Electromagnetic Field Theory: a problem solving approach*, (John Wiley & Sons, 1979) ISBN 0-471-02198-9

Graduate-level textbooks

- Jackson, John D. (1998). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Wiley. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.
- Landau, L. D., *The Classical Theory of Fields* (Course of Theoretical Physics: Volume 2), (Butterworth-Heinemann: Oxford, 1987). ISBN 0-08-018176-7.
- Maxwell, James C. (1954). A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism. Dover. ISBN 0-486-60637-6.
- Charles W. Misner, Kip S. Thorne, John Archibald Wheeler, *Gravitation*, (1970) W.H. Freeman, New York; ISBN 0-7167-0344-0. (*Provides a treatment of Maxwell's equations in terms of differential forms.*)

Vector calculus

- P. C. Matthews Vector Calculus, Springer 1998, ISBN 3-540-76180-2
- H. M. Schey, *Div Grad Curl and all that: An informal text on vector calculus*, 4th edition (W. W. Norton & Company, 2005) ISBN 0-393-92516-1.

Biographies

- André-Marie Ampère
- Albert Einstein
- Michael Faraday
- Heinrich Hertz
- Oliver Heaviside
- James Clerk Maxwell

Electromotive force

In physics, **electromotive force**, **emf** (seldom capitalized), or **electromotance** (denoted ε and measured in volts) refers to voltage generated by a battery or by the magnetic force according to Faraday's Law, which states that a time varying magnetic field will induce an electric current.^[1]

It is important to note that the electromotive "force" is not a force in the classical physics sense—as can be seen in the fact that it is measured in volts and not newtons. Formally, emf is the external work expended per unit of charge to produce an electric potential difference across two open-circuited terminals.^{[2] [3]} The electric potential difference produced is created by separating positive and negative charges, thereby generating an electric field.^{[4] [5]} The created electrical potential difference drives current flow if a circuit is attached to the source of emf. When current flows, however, the voltage across the terminals of the source of emf is no longer the open-circuit value, due to voltage drops inside the device due to its internal resistance.

Devices that can provide emf include electrochemical cells, thermoelectric devices, solar cells, electrical generators, transformers, and even Van de Graaff generators.^[2] ^[6] In nature, emf is generated whenever magnetic field fluctuations occur through a surface. An example for this is the varying Earth magnetic field during a geomagnetic storm, acting on anything on the surface of the planet, like an extended electrical grid.

In the case of a battery, charge separation that gives rise to a voltage difference is accomplished by chemical reactions at the electrodes;^[5] a voltaic cell can be thought of as having a "charge pump" of atomic dimensions at each electrode, that is:^[7]

A source of emf can be thought of as a kind of *charge pump* that acts to move positive charge from a point of low potential through its interior to a point of high potential. ... By chemical, mechanical or other means, the source of emf performs work dW on that charge to move it to the high potential terminal. The emf \mathscr{E} of the source is defined as the work dW done per charge dq: $\mathscr{E} = dW/dq$.

Around 1830 Faraday established that the reactions at each of the two electrode–electrolyte interfaces provide the "seat of emf" for the voltaic cell, that is, these reactions drive the current.^[8] In the open-circuit case, charge separation continues until the electrical field from the separated charges is sufficient to arrest the reactions. Years earlier, Volta, who had measured a contact potential difference at the metal-metal (electrode-electrode) interface of his cells, held the incorrect opinion that this contact potential was the origin of the seat of emf.

In the case of an electrical generator, a time-varying magnetic field inside the generator creates an electric field via electromagnetic induction, which in turn creates an energy difference between generator terminals. Charge separation takes place within the generator, with electrons flowing away from one terminal and toward the other, until, in the open-circuit case, sufficient electric field builds up to make further movement unfavorable. Again the emf is countered by the electrical voltage due to charge separation. If a load is attached, this voltage can drive a current. The general principle governing the emf in such electrical machines is Faraday's law of induction.

A solar cell or photodiode is another source of emf, with light energy as the external power source.

Notation and units of measurement

Electromotive force is often denoted by \mathcal{E} or \mathscr{E} (script capital E, Unicode U+2130).

In a device without internal resistance, if an electric charge Q passes through that device, and gains an energy W, the net emf for that device is the energy gained per unit charge, or W/Q. Like other measures of energy per charge, emf has SI units of volts, equivalent to joules per coulomb.^[9]

Electromotive force in electrostatic units is the statvolt (in the centimeter gram second system of units equal in amount to an erg per electrostatic unit of charge).

Terminology

The term electromotive force is due to Alessandro Volta (1745–1827), who invented the battery, or voltaic pile. "Electromotive force" originally referred to the 'force' with which positive and negative charges could be separated (that is, moved, hence "electromotive"), and was also called "electromotive power" (although it is not a power in the modern sense). Maxwell's 1865 explanation of what are now called Maxwell's equations used the term "electromotive force" for what is now called the electric field strength.^[10] But, in his later textbook^[11] he uses the term "electromotive force" both for "voltage-like" causes of current flow in an electric circuit, and (inconsistently) for contact potential difference (which is a form of electrostatic potential difference). Given that Maxwell's textbook was written before the discovery of the electron, it is understandable that Maxwell exhibits what (in terms of modern knowledge) is inconsistency in the use of the term "electromotive force".

The word "force" in "electromotive force" is a misnomer:^[12]

[Electromotive force] has turned out to be an unfortunate choice of words which is still with us 160 years later. In all of physics except electromagnetic induction, the term 'force' is reserved for mechanical action on ponderable matter and is measured in units called newtons. In contrast electromotive force is measured in units of volts and causes charge separation.^[12]

Nonetheless, the term "electromotive force" has resisted change. "Electromotance", meaning (literally) tendency to move ("-motance") electrical charge, is semantically more accurate, but not widely adopted. Both terms are less common than the abbreviation *emf*.

These terms (*emf*, *voltage*, etc.) have many interpretations and applications, not all necessarily consistent with each other. The emf is typically considered to be the work done per unit charge by a source in creating a separation of positive from negative charges, thereby creating a voltage difference; the work done per unit charge in pushing charge through a battery creating the battery's voltage difference, for example. However, there is not complete unanimity upon this usage. As Sydney Ross says, in excusing himself for avoiding the term emf:^[13]
We have refrained from using the term 'electromotive force' or 'e.m.f.' for short; for there is no consistency between different authors in the meaning of the term. ... To some authors it is synonymous with 'voltage.' To others it means the open-circuit voltage of a battery. To a third group of authors it means the open-circuit voltage of any two-terminal device. This use is met most often in connection with Thevenin's theorem in circuit theory. To a fourth group it means the work accounted for by agencies other than differences of the (not measurable) Galvani potentials. Such authors equate the current–resistance product of a circuit branch to the sum of voltage plus e.m.f. A fifth group extends this use to field theory. The authors of this group equate the product of current density and resistivity to the sum of electric-field strength plus an e.m.f. gradient. A sixth group applies the term to electromagnetic induction. These authors define e.m.f. as the spatial line integral of the electric-field strength taken over a complete loop. To them the term 'counter e.m.f.' means something.

It is common in some fields, such as circuit theory, to refer to the *voltage created by the emf* as the *emf*.^{[14] [15] [16]} Some authors do not distinguish between the emf and the voltage it creates.^{[17] [18]} Some use *emf* to refer to the open-circuit voltage and *voltage* to the potential difference when current is drawn.^[19] Here is a quotation describing emf as an open-circuit voltage difference:^[20]

This buildup of charge on the electrodes tends to oppose the current flow with a 'back voltage' ΔV . On an open circuit, I = 0 the value of ΔV for which I = 0 is defined as the emf \mathscr{E} of the cell. That is, $\mathscr{E} = \Delta V_{I=0}$.

This usage does not identify the work done per unit charge in creating the charge build-up as emf, but rather identifies emf with the consequent "back voltage" that arrests current flow in the open-circuit condition.^[21] One emphasizes the conversion of energy from other forms to electrical energy, the other emphasizes the resulting electrical potential. This article focuses upon the conversion of other forms of energy to electrical potential energy, and describes some examples of how this conversion comes about.

Formal definitions of electromotive force

Inside a source of emf that is open-circuited, the conservative electrostatic field created by separation of charge exactly cancels the forces producing the emf. Thus, the emf has the same value but opposite sign as the integral of the electric field aligned with an internal path between two terminals A and B of a source of emf in open-circuit condition (the path is taken from the negative terminal to the positive terminal to yield a positive emf, indicating work done on the electrons moving in the circuit).^[22] Mathematically:

$${\cal E} = -\int_A^B {m E_{cs}} \cdot d{m \ell} \; ,$$

where E_{cs} is the conservative electrostatic field created by the charge separation associated with the emf, $d\Box$ is an element of the path from terminal A to terminal B, and '·' denotes the vector dot product.^[23] This equation applies only to locations A and B that are terminals, and does not apply to paths between points A and B with portions outside the source of emf. This equation involves the electrostatic electric field due to charge separation E_{cs} and does not involve (for example) any non-conservative component of electric field due to Faraday's law of induction.

In the case of a closed path in the presence of a varying magnetic field, the integral of the electric field around a closed loop may be nonzero; one common application of the concept of emf, known as "*induced emf*" is the voltage induced in a such a loop.^[24] The "*induced emf*" around a stationary closed path C is:

$$\mathcal{E} = \oint_C \boldsymbol{E} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} \; ,$$

where now E is the entire electric field, conservative and non-conservative, and the integral is around an arbitrary but stationary closed curve C through which there is a varying magnetic field. Note that the electrostatic field does not contribute to the net emf around a circuit because the electrostatic portion of the electric field is conservative (that is, the work done against the field around a closed path is zero).

This definition can be extended to arbitrary sources of emf and moving paths C.^[25]

$$egin{aligned} \mathcal{E} &= \oint_C \left[oldsymbol{E} + oldsymbol{v} imes oldsymbol{B}
ight] oldsymbol{\cdot} doldsymbol{\ell} \ &+ rac{1}{q} \oint_C extbf{effective chemical forces} \cdot doldsymbol{\ell} \ &+ rac{1}{q} \oint_C extbf{effective thermal forces} \cdot doldsymbol{\ell} \ \end{aligned}$$

which is a conceptual equation mainly, because the determination of the "effective forces" is difficult.

Electromotive force in thermodynamics

When multiplied by an amount of charge dZ the emf \mathscr{E} yields a thermodynamic work term $\mathscr{E}dZ$ that is used in the formalism for the change in Gibbs free energy when charge is passed in a battery:

$$dG = -SdT + VdP + \mathcal{E}dZ$$

where G is the Gibb's free energy, S is the entropy, V is the system volume, P is its pressure and T is its absolute temperature.

The combination (\mathscr{E} , Z) is an example of a conjugate pair of variables. At constant pressure the above relationship produces a Maxwell relation that links the change in open cell voltage with temperature T (a measurable quantity) to the change in entropy S when charge is passed isothermally and isobarically. The latter is closely related to the reaction entropy of the electrochemical reaction that lends the battery its power. This Maxwell relation is:^[26]

$$\left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{E}}{\partial T}\right)_{Z} = -\left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial Z}\right)_{T}$$

If a mole of ions goes into solution (for example, in a Daniell cell, as discussed below) the charge through the external circuit is:

$$\Delta Z = -n_0 F_0 ,$$

where n_0 is the number of electrons/ion, and F_0 is the Faraday constant and the minus sign indicates discharge of the cell. Assuming constant pressure and volume, the thermodynamic properties of the cell are related strictly to the behavior of its emf by:^[26]

$$\Delta H = -n_0 F_0 \left(\mathcal{E} - T rac{d \mathcal{E}}{dT}
ight) \; ,$$

where ΔH is the heat of reaction. The quantities on the right all are directly measurable.

Electromotive force and voltage difference

An electrical voltage difference is sometimes called an emf.^[14] ^[15] ^[16] ^[17] ^[19] The points below illustrate the more formal usage, in terms of the distinction between emf and the voltage it generates:

- 1. For a circuit as a whole, such as one containing a resistor in series with a voltaic cell, electrical voltage does not contribute to the overall emf, because the voltage difference on going around a circuit is zero. (The ohmic *IR* drop plus the applied electrical voltage is zero. See Kirchhoff's Law). The emf is due solely to the chemistry in the battery that causes charge separation, which in turn creates an electrical voltage that drives the current.
- 2. For a circuit consisting of an electrical generator that drives current through a resistor, the emf is due solely to a time-varying magnetic field that generates an electrical voltage that in turn drives the current. (The ohmic *IR* drop plus the applied electrical voltage again is zero. See Kirchhoff's Law)

- 3. A transformer coupling two circuits may be considered a source of emf for one of the circuits, just as if it were caused by an electrical generator; this example illustrates the origin of the term "transformer emf".
- 4. A photodiode or solar cell may be considered as a source of emf, similar to a battery, resulting in an electrical voltage generated by charge separation driven by light rather than chemical reaction.^[27]
- 5. Other devices that produce emf are fuel cells, thermocouples, and thermopiles.^[28]

In the case of an open circuit, the electric charge that has been separated by the mechanism generating the emf creates an electric field opposing the separation mechanism. For example, the chemical reaction in a voltaic cell stops when the opposing electric field at each electrode is strong enough to arrest the reactions. A larger opposing field can reverse the reactions in what are called *reversible* cells.^[29] [30]

The electric charge that has been separated creates an electric potential difference that can be measured with a voltmeter between the terminals of the device. The magnitude of the emf for the battery (or other source) is the value of this 'open circuit' voltage. When the battery is charging or discharging, the emf itself cannot be measured directly using the external voltage because some voltage is lost inside the source.^[] It can, however, be inferred from a measurement of the current *I* and voltage difference *V*, provided that the internal resistance *r* already has been measured: $I = (\mathscr{E} - V)/r$.

Electromotive force generation

Chemical sources

The question of how batteries (galvanic cells) generate an emf is one that occupied scientists for most of the 19th century. The "seat of the electromotive force" was eventually determined by Walther Nernst to be primarily at the interfaces between the electrodes and the electrolyte.^[8]

Molecules are groups of atoms held together by chemical bonds, and these bonds consist of electrical forces between electrons (negative) and protons (positive). The molecule in isolation is a stable entity, but when



different molecules are brought together, some types of molecules are able to steal electrons from others, resulting in charge separation. This redistribution of charge is accompanied by a change in energy of the system, and a reconfiguration of the atoms in the molecules.^[32] The gain of an electron is termed "reduction" and the loss of an electron is termed "oxidation". Reactions in

which such electron exchange occurs (which are the basis for batteries) are called reduction-oxidation reactions or redox reactions. In a battery, one electrode is composed of material that gains electrons from the solute, and the other electrode loses electrons, because of these fundamental molecular attributes. The same behavior can be seen in atoms themselves, and their ability to steal electrons is referred to as their electronegativity.^[33]

As an example, a Daniell cell consists of a zinc anode (an electron collector), which dissolves into a zinc sulfate



solution, the dissolving zinc leaving behind its electrons in the electrode according to the oxidation reaction (s = solid electrode; aq = aqueous solution):

$${
m Zn}(s)
ightarrow {
m Zn}^{2+}(aq)+2{
m e}^{-}$$

The zinc sulfate is an electrolyte, that is, a solution in which the components consist of ions, in this case zinc ions Zn^{2+} , and sulfate ions SO_4^{2-} .

At the cathode, the copper ions in a copper sulfate electrolyte adopt electrons from the electrode by the reduction reaction:

 $\operatorname{Cu}^{2+}(aq) + 2e^{-} \to \operatorname{Cu}(s)$,

and the thus-neutralized copper plates onto the electrode. (A detailed discussion of the microscopic process of electron transfer between an electrode and the ions in an electrolyte may be found in Conway.)^[34]

The electrons pass through the external circuit (light bulb in figure), while the ions pass through the salt bridge to maintain charge balance. In the process the zinc anode is dissolved while the copper electrode is plated with copper.^[35] If the light bulb is removed (open circuit) the emf between the electrodes is opposed by the electric field due to charge separation, and the reactions stop.

At 273 K, the emf $\mathscr{E} = 1.0934$ V, with a temperature coefficient of $d\mathscr{E}/dT = -4.53 \times 10^{-4}$ V/K.^[26]

Voltaic cells

Volta developed the voltaic cell about 1792, and presented his work March 20, 1800.^[36] Volta correctly identified the role of dissimilar electrodes in producing the voltage, but incorrectly dismissed any role for the electrolyte.^[37] Volta ordered the metals in a 'tension series', "that is to say in an order such that any one in the list becomes positive when in contact with any one that succeeds, but negative by contact with any one that precedes it."^[38] A typical symbolic convention in a schematic of this circuit (-|-|-) would have a long electrode 1 and a short electrode 2, to indicate that electrode 1 dominates. Volta's law about opposing electrode emfs means that, given ten electrodes (for example, zinc and nine other materials), which can be used to produce 45 types of voltaic cells ($10 \times 9/2$), only nine relative measurements (for example, copper and each of the nine others) are needed to get all 45 possible emfs that these ten electrodes can produce.

Electromotive force of cells

The electromotive force produced by primary and secondary cells is usually of the order of a few volts. The figures quoted below are nominal, because emf varies according to the size of the load and the state of exhaustion of the cell.

Emf	Cell chemistry
1.2 V	nickel-cadmium
1.2 V	nickel-metal hydride
1.5 V	zinc-carbon
2.1 V	lead-acid
3.6 V to 3.7 V	lithium-ion

Electromagnetic induction

The principle of electromagnetic induction, noted above, states that a time-dependent magnetic field produces a circulating electric field. A time-dependent magnetic field can be produced either by motion of a magnet relative to a circuit, by motion of a circuit relative to another circuit (at least one of these must be carrying a current), or by changing the current in a fixed circuit. The effect on the circuit itself, of changing the current, is known as self-induction; the effect on another circuit is known as mutual induction.

For a given circuit, the electromagnetically induced emf is determined purely by the rate of change of the magnetic flux through the circuit according to Faraday's law of induction.

An emf is induced in a coil or conductor whenever there is change in the flux linkages. Depending on the way in which the changes are brought about, there are two types: When the conductor is moved in a stationary magnetic field to procure a change in the flux linkage, the emf is *statically induced*. The electromotive force generated by motion is often referred to as *motional emf*. When the change in flux linkage arises from a change in the magnetic field around the stationary conductor, the emf is *dynamically induced*. The electromotive force generated by a time-varying magnetic field is often referred to as *transformer emf*.

Contact potentials

When two different solids are in contact, it is common that thermodynamic equilibrium requires one of the solids assume a higher electrical potential than the other, the *contact potential*.^[39] For example, dissimilar metals in contact produce what is known also as a contact electromotive force or Galvani potential. The magnitude of this potential difference often is expressed as a difference in Fermi levels in the two solids, where the Fermi level (a name for the chemical potential of an electron system^{[40] [41]}) describes the energy necessary to remove an electron from the body.^[42] Evidently, if there is an energy advantage in taking an electron from one body to the other, this transfer will occur, thereby causing a charge separation, one body gaining electrons and the other losing electrons. This charge transfer causes a potential difference between the bodies, and therefore, charge transfer becomes more difficult as the charge separation increases. At thermodynamic equilibrium, the gain in energy due to Fermi level difference is matched by the work needed to surmount this potential difference, and at this point no more transfer occurs, and the potential difference has the value called the contact potential. The difference in Fermi levels, on the other hand, is referred to as the emf.^[43] The contact potential cannot drive current through a load attached to its terminals because that current would involve a charge transfer. No mechanism exists to continue such transfer and, hence, maintain a current, once equilibrium is attained.

One might inquire why the contact potential does not appear in Kirchhoff's law of voltages as one contribution to the sum of potential drops. The customary answer is that any circuit involves not only a particular diode or junction, but also all the contact potentials due to wiring and so forth around the entire circuit. The sum of *all* the contact potentials is zero, and so they may be ignored in Kirchhoff's law.^[44] [45]

Solar cell

Operation of a solar cell can be understood from the equivalent circuit at right. Light, if it includes photons of sufficient energy (greater than the bandgap of the material), creates mobile electron–hole pairs in a semiconductor. Charge separation occurs because of a pre-existing electric field associated with the p-n junction in thermal equilibrium (a contact potential creates the field). This charge separation between positive holes and negative electrons across a p-n junction (a diode), yields a *forward voltage*, the *photo voltage*, between the illuminated diode terminals.^[47] As has been noted earlier in the terminology section, the photo *voltage* is sometimes referred to as the photo *emf*, rather than distinguishing between the effect and the cause.

The light-induced charge separation creates a reverse current through the cell's junction (that is, not in the direction that a diode normally conducts current), and the charge separation causes a photo voltage that drives current through any attached load. However, a side effect of this voltage is that it tends to forward bias the junction. At high enough levels, this forward bias of the junction will cause a forward current in the diode that subtracts from the current created by the light.





load for two light-induced currents I_L ; currents as a ratio with reverse saturation current I_0 . Compare with Fig. 1.4 in Nelson.^[46]

Consequently, the greatest current is obtained under short-circuit conditions, and is denoted as $I_{\rm L}$ (for light-induced current) in the equivalent circuit.^[48] Approximately this same current is obtained for forward voltages up to the point where the diode conduction becomes significant.

With this notation, the current-voltage relation for the illuminated diode is:

$$I=I_L-I_0\left(e^{qV/(mkT)}-1
ight)$$
 .

where *I* is the current delivered to the load, I_0 is the reverse saturation current, and *m* the ideality factor, two parameters that depend on the solar cell construction and to some degree upon the voltage itself,^[48] and where kT/qis the thermal voltage (about 0.026 V at room temperature). This relation is plotted in the figure using a fixed value m = 2.^[49] Under open-circuit conditions (that is, as $I \rightarrow 0$), the open-circuit voltage is the voltage at which forward bias of the junction is enough that the forward current completely balances the photocurrent. Rearrangement of the I-V equation provides the open-circuit voltage as:

$$V_{
m oc} = m \; rac{kT}{q} \; \ln \left(rac{I_{
m L}}{I_0} + 1
ight) \; ,$$

which is useful in indicating a logarithmic dependence of V_{oc} upon the light-induced current. Typically, the open-circuit voltage is not more than about 0.5 V.^[50]

The value of the photo voltage when driving a load is variable. As shown in the figure, for a load resistance R_L , the cell develops a voltage between the short-circuit value V = 0, $I = I_L$ and the open-circuit value V_{oc} , I = 0, a value given by Ohm's law $V = I R_L$, where the current *I* is the difference between the short-circuit current and current due to forward bias of the junction, as indicated by the equivalent circuit (neglecting the parasitic resistances).^[46]

In contrast to the battery, at current levels near I_L , the solar cell acts more like a *current source* rather than a voltage source.^[46] The current drawn is nearly fixed over a range of load voltages, at one electron per converted photon. The quantum efficiency, or probability of getting an electron of photocurrent per incident photon, depends not only upon the solar cell itself, but upon the spectrum of the light.

The diode possesses a "built-in potential" due to the contact potential difference between the two different materials on either side of the junction. This built-in potential is established when the junction is formed as a by-product of thermodynamic equilibrium. Once established, this potential difference cannot drive a current, however, as connecting a load does not upset this equilibrium. In contrast, the accumulation of excess electrons in one region and of excess holes in another due to illumination results in a photo voltage that does drive a current when a load is attached to the illuminated diode. As noted above, this photo voltage also forward biases the junction, and so *reduces* the pre-existing field in the depletion region.

References

- [1] Irving Langmuir (1916). "The Relation Between Contact Potentials and Electrochemical Action" (http://books.google.com/?id=OW0SAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA172&dq="electromotive+force+is+that"&q="electromotive force is that"). Transactions of the American Electrochemical Society (The Society) 29: 125–182.
- [2] Lawrence M Lerner (1997). Physics for scientists and engineers (http://books.google.com/?id=Nv5GAyAdijoC&pg=PA727). Jones & Bartlett Publishers. pp. 724–727. ISBN 0763704601.
- [3] David M. Cook (2003). The Theory of the Electromagnetic Field (http://books.google.com/?id=bI-ZmZWeyhkC&pg=PA157). Courier Dover. p. 157. ISBN 9780486425672.
- [4] Robert L. Lehrman (1998). Physics the easy way (http://books.google.com/?id=wMhCxOsPNE8C&pg=PA274&dq=emf++separated+ charge+reaction+potential). Barron's Educational Series. p. 274. ISBN 9780764102363.
- [5] Alvin M. Halpern, Erich Erlbach (1998). Schaum's outline of theory and problems of beginning physics II (http://books.google.com/ ?id=vN2chIay624C&pg=PA138). McGraw-Hill Professional. p. 138. ISBN 0070257078.
- [6] Paul A. Tipler and Gene Mosca (2007). *Physics for Scientists and Engineers* (http://books.google.com/?id=BMVR37-8Jh0C&pg=PA850) (6 ed.). Macmillan. p. 850. ISBN 142920124X.
- [7] Kongbam Chandramani Singh (2009). "§3.16 EMF of a source" (http://www.flipkart.com/basic-physics-kongbam-chandramani-singh/ 8120337085-iu23f9qdih). Basic Physics. Prentice Hall India Pvt Ltd. p. 152. ISBN 8120337085.
- [8] Florian Cajori (1899). A History of Physics in Its Elementary Branches: Including the Evolution of Physical Laboratories (http://books.google.com/?id=ICASAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA219&dq="seat+of"+"electromotive+force"). The Macmillan Company. pp. 218–219.
- [9] Van Valkenburgh (1995). *Basic Electricity* (http://books.google.com/?id=vmg1UKsTntAC&pg=PT67&dq=electromotive-force+ joules-per-coulomb+volts+charge+energy). Cengage Learning. pp. 1–46. ISBN 9780790610412.
- [10] Edward J. Rothwell and Michael J. Cloud (2001). Electromagnetics. CRC Press. p. 22. ISBN 0-8493-1397-X.
- [11] J. C. Maxwell (1891, republished 1998). An elementary treatise on electricity (3rd ed.). Oxford: Clarendon. ISBN 0895610191.
- [12] Neal Graneau (2006). In the grip of the distant universe (http://books.google.com/?id=xpIJZxDkWAUC&pg=PA191). World Scientific. p. 191. ISBN 9812567542.
- [13] Sydney Ross (1991). "Supplementary Note to The story of the Volta potential" (http://books.google.com/?id=MVgCz1dT3IAC&pg=PA83&dq=define-emf+electromotive-force). Nineteenth-century attitudes: men of science. Springer. p. 83. ISBN 9780792313083.
- [14] M. Fogiel (2002). Basic Electricity (http://books.google.com/?id=_DapslzANfwC&pg=PA76). Research & Education Association. p. 76. ISBN 087891420X.
- [15] David Halliday, Robert Resnick, and Jearl Walker (2008). Fundamentals of Physics (http://books.google.com/?id=VXIEQlznCO0C&pg=PA638) (6th ed.). Wiley. p. 638. ISBN 9780471758013.
- [16] Roger L Freeman (2005). Fundamentals of Telecommunications (http://books.google.com/?id=6_yQ-dEGc5wC&pg=PA576) (2nd ed.). Wiley. p. 576. ISBN 0471710458.
- [17] Terrell Croft (1917). Practical Electricity (http://books.google.com/?id=zuZMAAAAMAAJ&pg=PA533). McGraw-Hill. p. 533. .
- [18] Vladimir Borisovich Rojansky (1979). Electromagnetic fields and waves (http://books.google.com/?id=X7s1ngmD2j4C&pg=PA186& dq=electromotances+emf). Courier Dover. p. 186. ISBN 9780486638348.
- [19] Leonard B Loeb (2007). Fundamentals of Electricity and Magnetism (http://books.google.com/?id=zw-3icfx9qAC&pg=PA86) (Reprint of Wiley 1947 3rd ed.). Read Books. p. 86. ISBN 1406707333.
- [20] Wayne M. Saslow (2002). "§7.8 Emf and Ohm's Law" (http://books.google.com/?id=4liwlxqt9NIC&pg=PA304). Electricity, Magnetism, and Light (3rd ed.). Academic Press. pp. 304 ff. ISBN 0126194556.
- [21] Note the minus sign in Eq. (7.10) in David J Griffiths (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (http://www.amazon.com/gp/product/ 013805326X) (3rd ed.). Pearson/Adisson Wesley. p. 293. ISBN 013805326X. .. Also, the term "back voltage" indicates the electric field due to charge separation opposes the mechanism creating the separation. In the open-circuit condition, this electric field arrests the charge separation, and zero current flows.

- [22] David J Griffiths (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (http://www.amazon.com/gp/product/013805326X) (3rd ed.). Pearson/Adisson Wesley. p. 293. ISBN 013805326X.
- [23] Only the electric field due to the charge separation caused by the emf is counted. In a solar cell, for example, an electric field is present related to the contact potential that results from thermodynamic equilibrium (discussed later), and this electric field component is not included in the integral. Rather, only the electric field due to the particular portion of charge separation that causes the photo voltage is included.
- [24] Richard P. Olenick, Tom M. Apostol and David L. Goodstein (1986). Beyond the mechanical universe: from electricity to modern physics (http://books.google.com/?id=Ht4T7C7AXZIC&pg=RA1-PA245&dq=define+electromotive-force+around-a-closed-path). Cambridge University Press. p. 245. ISBN 9780521304306.
- [25] David M. Cook (2003). The Theory of the Electromagnetic Field (http://books.google.com/?id=bI-ZmZWeyhkC&pg=PA158). Courier Dover. p. 158. ISBN 9780486425672.
- [26] Colin B P Finn (1992). Thermal Physics (http://books.google.com/?id=BTMPThGxXQ0C&pg=PA162). CRC Press. p. 163. ISBN 0748743790.
- [27] Jenny Nelson (2003). The Physics of Solar Cells (http://books.google.com/?id=s5NN34HLWO8C&pg=PA6). Imperial College Press. p. 6. ISBN 1860943497.
- [28] John S. Rigden, (editor in chief), Macmillan encyclopedia of physics. New York : Macmillan, 1996.
- [29] J. R. W. Warn, A. P. H. Peters (1996). Concise Chemical Thermodynamics (http://books.google.com/?id=oCTRVcJ1mqYC& pg=PA123) (2 ed.). CRC Press. p. 123. ISBN 0748744452.
- [30] Samuel Glasstone (2007). Thermodynamics for Chemists (http://books.google.com/?id=oW5XqmTSXyEC&pg=RA1-PA301) (Reprint of D. Van Nostrand Co (1964) ed.). Read Books. p. 301. ISBN 1406773220.
- [31] Nikolaus Risch (2002). "Molecules bonds and reactions" (http://books.google.com/?id=mGj1y1WYflMC& printsec=frontcover#PPA374,M1). In L Bergmann *et al.*. Constituents of Matter: Atoms, Molecules, Nuclei, and Particles. CRC Press. ISBN 0849312027.
- [32] The brave reader can find an extensive discussion for organic electrochemistry in Christian Amatore (2000). "Basic concepts" (http:// books.google.com/?id=tBxxZclgKyMC&pg=PA23). In Henning Lund, Ole Hammerich. Organic electrochemistry (4 ed.). CRC Press. ISBN 0824704304.
- [33] The idea of electronegativity has been extended to include the concept of *electronegativity equalization*, the notion that when molecules are brought together the electrons rearrange to achieve an equilibrium where there is no net force upon them. See, for example, Francis A. Carey, Richard J. Sundberg (2007). *Advanced organic chemistry* (http://books.google.com/?id=g5dYyJMBhCoC&pg=PA11) (5 ed.). Springer. p. 11. ISBN 0387683461.
- [34] BE Conway (1999). "Energy factors in relation to electrode potential" (http://books.google.com/?id=8yvzlr9TqI0C&pg=PA37). Electrochemical supercapacitors. Springer. p. 37. ISBN 0306457369.
- [35] R. J. D. Tilley (2004). Understanding Solids (http://books.google.com/?id=ZVgOLCXNoMoC&pg=PA267). Wiley. p. 267. ISBN 0470852755.
- [36] Paul Fleury Mottelay (2008). Bibliographical History of Electricity and Magnetism (http://books.google.com/?id=9vzti90Q8i0C&pg=RA1-PA247) (Reprint of 1892 ed.). Read Books. p. 247. ISBN 1443728446.
- [37] Helge Kragh (2000). "Confusion and Controversy: Nineteenth-century theories of the voltaic pile" (http://ppp.unipv.it/Collana/Pages/ Libri/Saggi/NuovaVoltiana_PDF/sei.pdf). Nuova Voltiana:Studies on Volta and his times (Università degli studi di Pavia).
- [38] Linnaus Cumming (2008). An Introduction to the Theory of Electricity (http://books.google.com/?id=Nrb8723u4WEC&pg=PA118) (Reprint of 1885 ed.). BiblioBazaar. p. 118. ISBN 0559207425.
- [39] George L. Trigg (1995). Landmark experiments in twentieth century physics (http://books.google.com/?id=YOQ9fi5yQ4sC&pg=PA138) (Reprint of Crane, Russak & Co 1975 ed.). Courier Dover. pp. 138 ff. ISBN 048628526X.
- [40] Angus Rockett (2007). "Diffusion and drift of carriers" (http://books.google.com/?id=n5zMiMfw6ZUC&pg=PA74). Materials science of semiconductors. New York, NY: Springer Science. pp. 74 ff. ISBN 0387256539.
- [41] Charles Kittel (2004). "Chemical potential in external fields" (http://books.google.com/?id=5sd9SAoRjgQC&pg=PA67). Elementary Statistical Physics (Reprint of Wiley 1958 ed.). Courier Dover. p. 67. ISBN 0486435148.
- [42] George W. Hanson (2007). Fundamentals of Nanoelectronics (http://books.google.com/?id=L7AUi7ltCksC&pg=PA100). Prentice Hall. p. 100. ISBN 0131957082.
- [43] Norio Sato (1998). "Semiconductor photoelectrodes" (http://books.google.com/?id=olQzaXNgM74C&pg=PA110). Electrochemistry at metal and semiconductor electrodes (2nd ed.). Elsevier. pp. 110 ff. ISBN 0444828060.
- [44] Richard S. Quimby (2006). Photonics and lasers (http://books.google.com/?id=82f-gIvtC7wC&pg=PA176). Wiley. p. 176. ISBN 0471719749.
- [45] Donald A. Neamen (2002). Semiconductor physics and devices (http://books.google.com/?id=9oEifMuMAVsC&pg=PA240) (3rd ed.). McGraw-Hill Professional. p. 240. ISBN 0072321075.
- [46] Jenny Nelson (2003). Solar cells (http://books.google.com/?id=s5NN34HLWO8C&pg=PA8). Imperial College Press. p. 8. ISBN 1860943497.
- [47] S M Dhir (2000). "\$3.1 Solar cells" (http://books.google.com/?id=sGbwj4J76tEC&pg=PA283). Electronic Components and Materials: Principles, Manufacture and Maintenance. Tata McGraw-Hill. ISBN 0074630822.
- [48] Gerardo L. Araújo (1994). "§2.5.1 Short-circuit current and open-circuit voltage" (http://books.google.com/?id=lYc53xZyxZQC& pg=PA74). In Eduardo Lorenzo. Solar Electricity: Engineering of photovoltaic systems. Progenza for Universidad Politechnica Madrid. p. 74.

ISBN 8486505550. .

- [49] In practice, at low voltages $m \rightarrow 2$, whereas at high voltages $m \rightarrow 1$. See Araújo, *op. cit.* isbn = 8486505550. page 72 (http://books.google. com/books?id=IYc53xZyxZQC&pg=PA72)
- [50] Robert B. Northrop (2005). "§6.3.2 Photovoltaic Cells" (http://books.google.com/?id=mcpcfpQfxB4C&pg=PA176). Introduction to Instrumentation and Measurements. CRC Press. p. 176. ISBN 0849378982.

Further reading

- Andrew Gray, "Absolute Measurements in Electricity and Magnetism", Electromotive force (http://books. google.com/books?vid=0pkd5YYtaGRtjR6Oes&id=WxeFSg38JLQC&pg=PA41&dq=). Macmillan and co., 1884.
- John O'M. Bockris, Amulya K. N. Reddy (1973). "Electrodics" (http://books.google.com/ ?id=5OGsg_v_7yoC&pg=PA647). *Modern Electrochemistry: An Introduction to an Interdisciplinary Area* (2 ed.). Springer. ISBN 0306250020.
- Roberts, Dana (1983). "How batteries work: A gravitational analog". *Am. J. Phys.* 51: 829.
 Bibcode 1983AmJPh..51..829R. doi:10.1119/1.13128.
- Charles Albert Perkins, "Outlines of Electricity and Magnetism", Measurement of Electromotive Force (http:// books.google.com/books?vid=OCLC02316583&id=jd1vvFcD-MAC&pg=PA158&vq=&dq=). Henry Holt and co., 1896.
- John Livingston Rutgers Morgan, "The Elements of Physical Chemistry", Electromotive force (http://books. google.com/books?vid=OCLC10759094&id=ovjORAvJZZkC&pg=PA235&dq=). J. Wiley, 1899.
- George F. Barker, "On the measurement of electromotive force (http://books.google.com/ books?vid=0uowlltB5bCx84xQrO&id=zXAQ97d7YiIC&pg=PA649&lpg=PA650)". Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society Held at Philadelphia for Promoting Useful Knowledge, American Philosophical Society. January 19, 1883.
- "Abhandlungen zur Thermodynamik, von H. Helmholtz. Hrsg. von Max Planck". (Tr. "Papers to thermodynamics, on H. Helmholtz. Hrsg. by Max Planck".) Leipzig, W. Engelmann, Of Ostwald classical author of the accurate sciences series. New consequence. No. 124, 1902.
- Nabendu S. Choudhury, "Electromotive force measurements on cells involving [beta]-alumina solid electrolyte". NASA technical note, D-7322.
- Henry S. Carhart, "Thermo-electromotive force in electric cells, the thermo-electromotive force between a metal and a solution of one of its salts". New York, D. Van Nostrand company, 1920. LCCN 20020413
- Hazel Rossotti, "Chemical applications of potentiometry". London, Princeton, N.J., Van Nostrand, 1969. ISBN 0-442-07048-9 LCCN 69011985 //r88
- Theodore William Richards and Gustavus Edward Behr, jr., "The electromotive force of iron under varying conditions, and the effect of occluded hydrogen". Carnegie Institution of Washington publication series, 1906. LCCN 07003935 //r88
- G. W. Burns, et al., "Temperature-electromotive force reference functions and tables for the letter-designated thermocouple types based on the ITS-90". Gaithersburg, MD : U.S. Dept. of Commerce, National Institute of Standards and Technology, Washington, Supt. of Docs., U.S. G.P.O., 1993.
- Norio Sato (1998). "Semiconductor photoelectrodes" (http://books.google.com/?id=olQzaXNgM74C& pg=PA328). *Electrochemistry at metal and semiconductor electrodes* (2nd ed.). Elsevier. pp. 326 *ff*. ISBN 0444828060.

External links

- Electromotive Force in Inductors Interactive Java Tutorial (http://www.magnet.fsu.edu/education/tutorials/ java/backemf/index.html) National High Magnetic Field Laboratory
- Hai, Pham Nam; Ohya, Shinobu; Tanaka, Masaaki; Barnes, Stewart E.; Maekawa, Sadamichi (2009-03-08). "Electromotive force and huge magnetoresistance in magnetic tunnel junctions" (http://www.nature.com/ nature/journal/vaop/ncurrent/abs/nature07879.html). *Nature* 458 (7237): 489. Bibcode 2009Natur.458..489H. doi:10.1038/nature07879. PMID 19270681. Retrieved 2009-03-10.

Inverse-square law

In physics, an **inverse-square law** is any physical law stating that a specified physical quantity or strength is inversely proportional to the square of the distance from the source of that physical quantity.

The divergence of a vector field which is the resultant of radial inverse-square law fields with respect to one or more sources is everywhere proportional to the strength of the local sources, and hence zero outside sources.

The lines represent the flux emanating from the source. The total number of flux lines lepends on the strength of the source and is constant with increasing distance. A greater lensity of flux lines (lines per unit area) means a stronger field. The density of flux lines is the new to t

Justification

The inverse-square law generally applies when some force, energy, or other conserved quantity is radiated outward radially in three-dimensional depends on the strength of the source and is constant with increasing distance. A greater density of flux lines (lines per unit area) means a stronger field. The density of flux lines is inversely proportional to the square of the distance from the source because the surface area of a sphere increases with the square of the radius. Thus the strength of the field is inversely proportional to the square of the distance from the source.

space from a point source. Since the surface area of a sphere (which is $4\pi r^2$) is proportional to the square of the radius, as the emitted radiation gets farther from the source, it is spread out over an area that is increasing in proportion to the square of the distance from the source. Hence, the intensity of radiation passing through any unit area (directly facing the point source) is inversely proportional to the square of the distance from the point source. Gauss's law applies to and can be used with any physical quantity that acts in accord to the inverse-square relationship.

Occurrences

Gravitation

Gravitation is the attraction of two objects with mass. This law states:

The gravitational attraction force between two **point masses** is directly proportional to the product of their masses and inversely proportional to the square of their separation distance. The force is always attractive and acts along the line joining them from their center.

If the distribution of matter in each body is spherically symmetric, then the objects can be treated as point masses without approximation, as shown in the shell theorem. Otherwise, if we want to calculate the attraction between massive bodies, we need to add all the point-point attraction forces vectorially and the net attraction might not be exact inverse square. However, if the separation between the massive bodies is much larger compared to their sizes, then to a good approximation, it is reasonable to treat the masses as point mass while calculating the gravitational force.

As the law of gravitation, this law was suggested in 1645 by Ismael Bullialdus. But Bullialdus did not accept Kepler's second and third laws, nor did he appreciate Christiaan Huygens's solution for circular motion (motion in a straight line pulled aside by the central force). Indeed, Bullialdus maintained the sun's force was attractive at aphelion and repulsive at perihelion. Robert Hooke and Giovanni Alfonso Borelli both expounded gravitation in 1666 as an attractive force^[1] (Hooke's lecture "On gravity" at the Royal Society, London, on 21 March; Borelli's "Theory of the Planets", published later in 1666). Hooke's 1670 Gresham lecture explained that gravitation applied to "all celestiall bodys" and added the principles that the gravitating power decreases with distance and that in the absence of any such power bodies move in straight lines. By 1679, Hooke thought gravitation had inverse square dependence and communicated this in a letter to Isaac Newton. Hooke remained bitter about Newton claiming the invention of this principle, even though Newton's "Principia" acknowledged that Hooke, along with Wren and Halley, had separately appreciated the inverse square law in the solar system,^[2] as well as giving some credit to Bullialdus.

Electrostatics

The force of attraction or repulsion between two electrically charged particles, in addition to being directly proportional to the product of the electric charges, is inversely proportional to the square of the distance between them; this is known as Coulomb's law. The deviation of the exponent from 2 is less than one part in 10^{15} .^[3]

Light and other electromagnetic radiation

The intensity (or illuminance or irradiance) of light or other linear waves radiating from a point source (energy per unit of area perpendicular to the source) is inversely proportional to the square of the distance from the source; so an object (of the same size) twice as far away, receives only one-quarter the energy (in the same time period).

More generally, the irradiance, *i.e.*, the intensity (or power per unit area in the direction of propagation), of a spherical wavefront varies inversely with the square of the distance from the source (assuming there are no losses caused by absorption or scattering).

For example, the intensity of radiation from the Sun is 9126 watts per square meter at the distance of Mercury (0.387 AU); but only 1367 watts per square meter at the distance of Earth (1 AU)—an approximate threefold increase in distance results in an approximate ninefold decrease in intensity of radiation.

In photography and theatrical lighting, the inverse-square law is used to determine the "fall off" or the difference in illumination on a subject as it moves closer to or further from the light source. For quick approximations, it is enough to remember that doubling the distance reduces illumination to one quarter;^[4] or similarly, to halve the illumination increase the distance by a factor of 1.4 (the square root of 2), and to double illumination, reduce the

distance to 0.7 (square root of 1/2). When the illuminant is not a point source, the inverse square rule is often still a useful approximation; when the size of the light source is less than one-fifth of the distance to the subject, the calculation error is less than 1%.^[5]

The fractional reduction in electromagnetic fluence (Φ) for indirectly ionizing radiation with increasing distance from a point source can be calculated using the inverse-square law. Since emissions from a point source have radial directions, they intercept at a perpendicular incidence. The area of such a shell is $4\pi r^2$ where r is the radial distance from the center. The law is particularly important in diagnostic radiography and radiotherapy treatment planning, though this proportionality does not hold in practical situations unless source dimensions are much smaller than the distance.

Example

Let the total power radiated from a point source, for example, an omnidirectional isotropic antenna, be *P*. At large distances from the source (compared to the size of the source), this power is distributed over larger and larger spherical surfaces as the distance from the source increases. Since the surface area of a sphere of radius *r* is $A = 4\pi r^2$, then intensity *I* (power per unit area) of radiation at distance *r* is

$$I = \frac{P}{A} = \frac{P}{4\pi r^2}.$$

The energy or intensity decreases (divided by 4) as the distance r is doubled; measured in dB it would decrease by 6.02 dB per doubling of distance.

Acoustics

In acoustics one usually measures the sound pressure at a given distance r from the source using the 1/r law.^[6] Since intensity is proportional to the square of pressure amplitude, this is just a variation on the inverse-square law.

Example

In acoustics, the sound pressure of a spherical wavefront radiating from a point source decreases by 50% as the distance r is doubled; measured in dB, the decreases is still 6.02 dB, since dB represents an intensity ratio. The behaviour is not inverse-square, but is inverse-proportional (inverse distance law):

$$p \propto rac{1}{r}$$

The same is true for the component of particle velocity v that is in-phase with the instantaneous sound pressure p:

$$v \propto rac{1}{r}$$

In the near field is a quadrature component of the particle velocity that is 90° out of phase with the sound pressure and does not contribute to the time-averaged energy or the intensity of the sound. The sound intensity is the product of the RMS sound pressure and the *in-phase* component of the RMS particle velocity, both of which are inverse-proportional. Accordingly, the intensity follows an inverse-square behaviour:

$$I = pv \propto \frac{1}{r^2}.$$

Field theory interpretation

For an irrotational vector field in three-dimensional space the inverse-square law corresponds to the property that the divergence is zero outside the source. This can be generalized to higher dimensions. Generally, for an irrotational vector field in *n*-dimensional Euclidean space, the intensity "I" of the vector field falls off with the distance "r" following the inverse (n - 1)th power law

$$I \propto \frac{1}{r^{n-1}}$$

given that the space outside the source is divergence free.

Notes

- Hooke's gravitation was also not yet universal, though it approached universality more closely than previous hypotheses: See page 239 in Curtis Wilson (1989), "The Newtonian achievement in astronomy", ch.13 (pages 233–274) in "Planetary astronomy from the Renaissance to the rise of astrophysics: 2A: Tycho Brahe to Newton", CUP 1989.
- [2] Newton acknowledged Wren, Hooke and Halley in this connection in the Scholium to Proposition 4 in Book 1 (in all editions): See for example the 1729 English translation of the 'Principia', at page 66 (http://books.google.com/books?id=Tm0FAAAAQAAJ& pg=PA66#v=onepage&q=&f=false).
- [3] Williams, Faller, Hill, E.; Faller, J.; Hill, H. (1971), "New Experimental Test of Coulomb's Law: A Laboratory Upper Limit on the Photon Rest Mass", *Physical Review Letters* 26 (12): 721–724, Bibcode 1971PhRvL..26..721W, doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.26.721
- [4] Millerson, G. (1991) Lighting for Film and Television 3rd Edition p.27
- [5] Ryer, A. (1997) "The Light Measurement Handbook", ISBN 0-9658356-9-3 p.26
- [6] Inverse-Square law for sound (http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/acoustic/invsqs.html)

External links

- Damping of sound level with distance (http://www.sengpielaudio.com/calculator-distance.htm)
- Sound pressure p and the inverse distance law 1/r (http://www.sengpielaudio.com/calculator-distancelaw.htm)
- Inverse Square Law & Radiation Protection by Ionactive (Animation) (http://www.ionactive.co.uk/ multi-media_video.html?m=6)

© This article incorporates public domain material from the General Services Administration document "Federal Standard 1037C" (http://www.its.bldrdoc.gov/fs-1037/fs-1037c.htm).

Lorentz force

In physics, the **Lorentz force** is the force on a point charge due to electromagnetic fields. It is given by the following equation in terms of the electric and magnetic fields:^[1]



Trajectory of a particle with a positive or negative charge q under the influence of a magnetic field B, which is directed perpendicularly out of the screen.



Beam of electrons moving in a circle, due to the presence of a magnetic field. Purple light is emitted along the electron path, due to the electrons colliding with gas molecules in the bulb.

$$\mathbf{F} = q[\mathbf{E} + (\mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B})],$$

where

F is the force (in newtons)

E is the electric field (in volts per metre)

B is the magnetic field (in teslas)

q is the electric charge of the particle (in coulombs)

 \mathbf{v} is the instantaneous velocity of the particle (in metres per second)

× is the vector cross product operator

All the quantities written in boldface are vectors.

The Lorentz force law has a close relationship with Faraday's law of induction.

A positively charged particle will be accelerated in the *same* linear orientation as the **E** field, but will curve perpendicularly to both the instantaneous velocity vector **v** and the **B** field according to the right-hand rule (in detail, if the thumb of the right hand points along **v** and the index finger along **B**, then the middle finger points along **F**).

The term $q\mathbf{E}$ is called the **electric force**, while the term $q\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}$ is called the **magnetic force**.^[2] According to some definitions, the term "Lorentz force" refers specifically to the formula for the magnetic force,^[3] with the *total* electromagnetic force (including the electric force) given some other (nonstandard) name. This article will *not* follow this nomenclature: In what follows, the term "Lorentz force" will refer only to the expression for the total force.

The magnetic force component of the Lorentz force manifests itself as the force that acts on a current-carrying wire in a magnetic field. In that context, it is also called the **Laplace force**.

History

Early attempts to quantitatively describe the electromagnetic force were made in the mid-18th century. It was proposed that the force on magnetic poles, by Johann Tobias Mayer and others in 1760, and electrically charged objects, by Henry Cavendish in 1762, obeyed an inverse-square law. However, in both cases the experimental proof was neither complete nor conclusive. It was not until 1784 when Charles-Augustin de Coulomb, using a torsion balance, was able to definitively show through experiment that this was true.^[4] Soon after the discovery in 1820 by H. C. Ørsted that a magnetic needle is acted on by a voltaic current, André-Marie Ampère that same year was able to devise through experimentation the formula for the angular dependence of the force between two current elements.^[5] In all these descriptions, the force was always given in terms of the properties of the objects involved and the distances between them rather than in terms of electric and magnetic fields.^[7]

The modern concept of electric and magnetic fields first arose in the theories of Michael Faraday, particularly his idea of lines of force, later to be given full mathematical description by Lord Kelvin and James Clerk Maxwell.^[8] From a modern perspective it is possible to identify in Maxwell's 1865 formulation of his field equations a form of the Lorentz force equation in relation to electric currents,^[9] however, in the time of Maxwell it was not evident how his equations related to the forces on moving charged objects. J. J. Thomson was the first to attempt to derive from Maxwell's field equations the electromagnetic forces on a moving charged object in terms of the object's properties and external fields. Interested in determining the electromagnetic behavior of the charged particles in cathode rays, Thomson published a paper in 1881 wherein he gave the force on the particles due to an external magnetic field as $\frac{1}{2}q\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}$. Thomson was able to arrive at the correct basic form of the formula, but, because of some

miscalculations and an incomplete description of the displacement current, included an incorrect scale-factor of a half in front of the formula. It was Oliver Heaviside, who had invented the modern vector notation and applied them to Maxwell's field equations, that in 1885 and 1889 fixed the mistakes of Thomson's derivation and arrived at the correct form of the magnetic force on a moving charged object.^[10] Finally, in 1892, Hendrik Lorentz derived the modern day form of the formula for the electromagnetic force which includes the contributions to the total force from both the electric and the magnetic fields. Lorentz began by abandoning the Maxwellian descriptions of the ether and conduction. Instead, Lorentz made a distinction between matter and the luminiferous aether and sought to apply the Maxwell equations at a microscopic scale. Using the Heaviside's version of the Maxwell equations for a stationary ether and applying Lagrangian mechanics, Lorentz arrived at the correct and complete form of the force law that now bears his name.^{[11] [12]}

Trajectories of particles in a Lorentz force

In many cases of practical interest, the motion in a magnetic field of an electrically charged particle (such as an electron or ion in a plasma) can be treated as the superposition of a relatively fast circular motion around a point called the **guiding center** and a relatively slow **drift** of this point. The drift speeds may differ for various species depending on their charge states, masses, or temperatures, possibly resulting in electric currents or chemical separation.

Significance of the Lorentz force

While the modern Maxwell's equations describe how electrically charged particles and currents or moving charged particles give rise to electric and magnetic fields, the Lorentz force law completes that picture by describing the force acting on a moving point charge q in the presence of electromagnetic fields.^[1] The Lorentz force law describes the effect of **E** and **B** upon a point charge, but such electromagnetic forces are not the entire picture. Charged particles are possibly coupled to other forces, notably gravity and nuclear forces. Thus, Maxwell's equations do not stand separate from other physical laws, but are coupled to them via the charge and current densities. The response of a point charge to the Lorentz law is



Charged particle drifts in a homogeneous magnetic field. (A) No disturbing force (B) With an electric field, E (C) With an independent force, F (e.g. gravity) (D) In an inhomogeneous magnetic field, grad H

one aspect; the generation of E and B by currents and charges is another.

In real materials the Lorentz force is inadequate to describe the behavior of charged particles, both in principle and as a matter of computation. The charged particles in a material medium both respond to the **E** and **B** fields and generate these fields. Complex transport equations must be solved to determine the time and spatial response of charges, for example, the Boltzmann equation or the Fokker–Planck equation or the Navier–Stokes equations. For example, see magnetohydrodynamics, fluid dynamics, electrohydrodynamics, superconductivity, stellar evolution. An entire physical apparatus for dealing with these matters has developed. See for example, Green–Kubo relations and Green's function (many-body theory).

Lorentz force law as the definition of *E* and *B*

In many textbook treatments of classical electromagnetism, the Lorentz Force Law is used as the *definition* of the electric and magnetic fields \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{B} .^[14] To be specific, the Lorentz Force is understood to be the following empirical statement:

The electromagnetic force on a test charge at a given point and time is a certain function of its charge and velocity, which can be parameterized by exactly two vectors \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{B} , in the functional form:

$$\mathbf{F} = q[\mathbf{E} + (\mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B})]$$

If this empirical statement is valid (and, of course, countless experiments have shown that it is), then two vector fields \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{B} are thereby defined throughout space and time, and these are called the "electric field" and "magnetic

field".

Note that the fields are defined everywhere in space and time, regardless of whether or not a charge is present to experience the force. In particular, the fields are defined with respect to what force a test charge *would* feel, if it *were* hypothetically placed there.

Note also that as a definition of \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{B} , the Lorentz force is only a definition *in principle* because a *real* particle (as opposed to the hypothetical "test charge" of infinitesimally-small mass and charge) would generate its own finite \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{B} fields, which would alter the electromagnetic force that it experiences. In addition, if the charge experiences acceleration, for example, if forced into a curved trajectory by some external agency, it emits radiation that causes braking of its motion. See, for example, Bremsstrahlung and synchrotron light. These effects occur through both a direct effect (called the radiation reaction force) and indirectly (by affecting the motion of nearby charges and currents).

Moreover, the electromagnetic force is not in general the same as the *net* force, due to gravity, electroweak and other forces, and any extra forces would have to be taken into account in a real measurement.

Lorentz force and Faraday's law of induction

Given a loop of wire in a magnetic field, Faraday's law of induction states:

$${\cal E}=-rac{d\Phi_B}{dt}$$

where:

 Φ_B is the magnetic flux through the loop,

 ${\cal E}$ is the electromotive force (EMF) experienced,

t is time

The sign of the EMF is determined by Lenz's law.

Note that this is valid for not only a stationary wire but also for a moving wire. From the Faraday Law (that is valid for a moving wire, for instance in a motor) and the Maxwell Equations, the Lorentz Force can be deduced. The reverse is also true, the Lorentz force and the Maxwell Equations can be used to derive the Faraday Law.

Let $\partial \Sigma(t)$ be the moving wire, moving together without rotation and with constant velocity \mathbf{v} and $\Sigma(t)$ be the internal surface of the wire. The EMF around the closed path $\partial \Sigma(t)$ is given by:^[15]

$$\mathcal{E} = \oint_{\partial \Sigma(t)} doldsymbol{\ell} \cdot \mathbf{F}/q$$

where d is an element of the curve $\partial \Sigma(t)$. The flux $\Phi_{\rm B}$ in Faraday's law of induction can be expressed explicitly as:

$$\Phi_B = \iint_{\Sigma(t)} doldsymbol{A} \cdot \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t)$$

where

 $\Sigma(t)$ is a surface bounded by the closed contour $\partial \Sigma(t)$

E is the electric field,

d is an infinitesimal vector element of the contour $\partial \Sigma(t)$,

 ${\bf v}$ is the velocity of the infinitesimal contour element d1,

B is the magnetic field.

dA is an infinitesimal vector element of surface $\partial \Sigma(t)$, whose magnitude is the area of an infinitesimal patch of surface, and whose direction is orthogonal to that surface patch.

Both dl and dA have a sign ambiguity; to get the correct sign, the right-hand rule is used, as explained in the article Kelvin-Stokes theorem.

The above result can be compared with the version of Faraday's law of induction that appears in the modern Maxwell's equations, called here the *Maxwell-Faraday equation*:

$$abla imes {f E} = - rac{\partial {f B}}{\partial t} \; .$$

The Maxwell-Faraday equation also can be written in an *integral form* using the Kelvin-Stokes theorem:.^[16]

So we have, the Maxwell Faraday equation:

$$\oint_{\partial \Sigma(t)} doldsymbol{\ell} \cdot \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, \; t) = - \; \iint_{\Sigma(t)} doldsymbol{A} \cdot rac{d \, \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}, \; t)}{dt}$$

and the Faraday Law,

$$\oint_{\partial \Sigma(t)} doldsymbol{\ell} \cdot {f F}/q({f r}, \; t) = -rac{d}{dt} \iint_{\Sigma(t)} doldsymbol{A} \cdot {f B}({f r}, \; t)$$

The two are equivalent if the wire is not moving. Using the Leibniz integral rule and that $div \mathbf{B} = 0$, results in,

$$\oint_{\partial \Sigma(t)} doldsymbol{\ell} \cdot \mathbf{F}/q(\mathbf{r},t) = - \iint_{\Sigma(t)} doldsymbol{A} \cdot rac{d}{dt} \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) + \oint_{\partial \Sigma(t)} \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B} doldsymbol{\ell}$$

and using the Maxwell Faraday equation,

$$\oint_{\partial \Sigma(t)} doldsymbol{\ell} \cdot \mathbf{F}/q(\mathbf{r}, \ t) = \oint_{\partial \Sigma(t)} doldsymbol{\ell} \cdot \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, \ t) + \oint_{\partial \Sigma(t)} \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}, \ t) doldsymbol{\ell}$$

since this is valid for any wire position it implies that,

 $\mathbf{F} = q \, \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) + q \, \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}, t)$

Faraday's law of induction holds whether the loop of wire is rigid and stationary, or in motion or in process of deformation, and it holds whether the magnetic field is constant in time or changing. However, there are cases where Faraday's law is either inadequate or difficult to use, and application of the underlying Lorentz force law is necessary. See inapplicability of Faraday's law.

If the magnetic field is fixed in time and the conducting loop moves through the field, the flux magnetic flux $\Phi_{\rm B}$ linking the loop can change in several ways. For example, if the **B**-field varies with position, and the loop moves to a location with different **B**-field, $\Phi_{\rm B}$ will change. Alternatively, if the loop changes orientation with respect to the **B**-field, the **B**•dA differential element will change because of the different angle between **B** and dA, also changing $\Phi_{\rm B}$. As a third example, if a portion of the circuit is swept through a uniform, time-independent **B**-field, and another portion of the circuit is held stationary, the flux linking the entire closed circuit can change due to the shift in relative position of the circuit's component parts with time (surface $\partial \Sigma(t)$ time-dependent). In all three cases, Faraday's law of induction then predicts the EMF generated by the change in $\Phi_{\rm B}$.

Note that the Maxwell Faraday's equation implies that the Electric Field (E) is non conservative when the Magnetic Field (B) varies in time, and is not expressible as the gradient of a scalar field, and not subject to the gradient theorem since its rotational is not zero.

See Landau, L. D., Lifshitlsl, E. M., & Pitaevskiĭ, L. P. (1984). *Electrodynamics of continuous media; Volume 8* [[Course of Theoretical Physics ^[17]]] (Second ed.). Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann. p. §63 (§49 pp. 205–207 in 1960 edition). ISBN 0750626348. M N O Sadiku (2007). *Elements of elctromagnetics* ^[18] (Fourth ed.). NY/Oxford: Oxford University Press. p. 391. ISBN 0-19-530048-3.

Relativistic form of the Lorentz force

Because the electric and magnetic fields are dependent on the velocity of an observer, the relativistic form of the Lorentz force law can best be exhibited starting from a coordinate-independent expression for the electromagnetic and magnetic fields,^[19] \mathcal{F} , and an arbitrary time-direction, γ_0 , where

$$\mathbf{E} = (\mathcal{F} \cdot \gamma_0)$$

and

$$\mathbf{B} = (\mathcal{F} \wedge \gamma_0)^*.$$

 \mathcal{F} is a space-time plane (bivector), which has six degrees of freedom corresponding to translations (rotations in space-time planes) and rotations (rotations in space-space planes). The dot product with the vector γ_0 pulls a vector from the translational part, while the wedge-product creates a space-time trivector, whose dot product with the volume element (the dual above) creates the magnetic field vector from the spatial rotation part. Only the parts of the above two formulas perpendicular to σ_0 are relevant. The relativistic velocity is given by the (time-like) changes in a time-position vector \dot{x} , where

$$\dot{x}^{2} = 1$$

(which shows our choice for the metric) and the velocity is

$$\mathbf{v} = \dot{x} \wedge \gamma_0 / (\dot{x} \cdot \gamma_0)$$

Then the Lorentz force law is simply (note that the order is important)

$$m\ddot{x} = q\mathcal{F}\cdot\dot{x}.$$

Lorentz force in terms of potentials

If the scalar potential and vector potential replace E and B (see Helmholtz decomposition), the force becomes:

$$\mathbf{F} = q(-
abla \phi - rac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial \mathbf{t}} + \mathbf{v} imes (
abla imes \mathbf{A}))$$

or, equivalently (making use of the fact that v is a constant; see triple product),

$$\mathbf{F} = q(-
abla \phi - rac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial \mathbf{t}} +
abla (\mathbf{v} \cdot \mathbf{A}) - (\mathbf{v} \cdot
abla) \mathbf{A})$$

where

A is the magnetic vector potential

 ϕ is the electrostatic potential

The symbols $\nabla, (\nabla \times), (\nabla \cdot)$ denote gradient, curl, and divergence, respectively.

The potentials are related to ${\bf E}$ and ${\bf B}$ by

$$\mathbf{E} = -
abla \phi - rac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t} \ \mathbf{B} =
abla imes \mathbf{A}$$

Lorentz force in cgs units

The above-mentioned formulae use SI units which are the most common among experimentalists, technicians, and engineers. In cgs-Gaussian units, which are somewhat more common among theoretical physicists, one has instead

$$\mathbf{F} = q_{cgs} \cdot (\mathbf{E}_{cgs} + rac{\mathbf{v}}{c} imes \mathbf{B}_{cgs}).$$

where c is the speed of light. Although this equation looks slightly different, it is completely equivalent, since one has the following relations:

$$q_{cgs} = rac{q_{SI}}{\sqrt{4\pi\epsilon_0}}, \ \ \mathbf{E}_{cgs} = \sqrt{4\pi\epsilon_0} \, \mathbf{E}_{SI}, \ ext{and} \ \ \ \mathbf{B}_{cgs} = \sqrt{4\pi/\mu_0} \, \mathbf{B}_{SI}$$

where ε_0 and μ_0 are the vacuum permittivity and vacuum permeability, respectively. In practice, unfortunately, the subscripts "cgs" and "SI" are always omitted, and the unit system has to be assessed from context.

Covariant form of the Lorentz force

Newton's law of motion can be written in covariant form in terms of the field strength tensor.

$${dp^lpha\over d au}=qU_eta F^{lphaeta}$$

where

au is c times the proper time of the particle,

q is the charge,

U is the covariant 4-velocity of the particle, defined as:

$$U_{\beta} = (U_0, U_1, U_2, U_3) = \gamma (-c, u_x, u_y, u_z)$$
 under the metric signature (-1,1,1,1)

with γ = Lorentz factor defined above, and *F* is the contravariant electromagnetic tensor written in terms of fields as:

$$F^{\alpha\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & E_x/c & E_y/c & E_z/c \\ -E_x/c & 0 & B_z & -B_y \\ -E_y/c & -B_z & 0 & B_x \\ -E_z/c & B_y & -B_x & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

The fields are transformed to a frame moving with constant relative velocity by:

$$\acute{F}^{\mu\nu} = \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}\Lambda^{\nu}{}_{\beta}F^{\alpha\beta}$$

where $\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}$ is a Lorentz transformation. Alternatively, using the four vector:

$$A^lpha=(\phi/c,\;A_x,\;A_y,\;A_z)\;\;,$$

related to the electric and magnetic fields by:

$$\mathbf{E} = -
abla \phi - \partial_t \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{B} =
abla imes \mathbf{A} \ ,$$

the field tensor becomes:^[20]

$$F^{lphaeta} = rac{\partial A^eta}{\partial x_lpha} - rac{\partial A^lpha}{\partial x_eta}$$

where:

$$x_lpha=(-ct,\ x,\ y,\ z)$$
 .

Translation to vector notation

The $\alpha = 1$ component (x-component) of the force is

$$rac{dp^{_1}}{d au} = q U_eta F^{1eta} = q \left(U_0 F^{10} + U_1 F^{11} + U_2 F^{12} + U_3 F^{13}
ight).$$

Here, τ is the proper time of the particle. Substituting the components of the covariant electromagnetic tensor *F* yields

$$rac{dp^1}{d au} = q\left(U_0\left(rac{-E_x}{c}
ight) + U_2(B_z) + U_3(-B_y)
ight)$$

Using the components of covariant four-velocity yields

$$egin{aligned} &rac{dp^1}{d au} = q\gamma\left(-c\left(rac{-E_x}{c}
ight) + u_yB_z + u_z(-B_y)
ight) \ &rac{dp^1}{d au} = q\gamma\left(E_x + u_yB_z - u_zB_y
ight) \ &rac{dp^1}{d au} = q\gamma\left(E_x + [\mathbf{u} imes \mathbf{B}]_x
ight). \end{aligned}$$

The calculation of the $\alpha = 2$ or $\alpha = 3$ is similar yielding

$$rac{d {f p}}{d au} = q \gamma \left({f E} + {f u} imes {f B}
ight) \; ,$$

or, in terms of the vector and scalar potentials A and ϕ ,

$$rac{d {f p}}{d au} = q \gamma (-
abla \phi - rac{\partial {f A}}{\partial t} + {f v} imes (
abla imes {f A})) \; ,$$

which are the relativistic forms of Newton's law of motion when the Lorentz force is the only force present.

Force on a current-carrying wire

When a wire carrying an electrical current is placed in a magnetic field, each of the moving charges, which comprise the current, experiences the Lorentz force, and together they can create a macroscopic force on the wire (sometimes called the **Laplace force**). By combining the Lorentz force law above with the definition of electrical current, the following equation results, in the case of a straight, stationary wire:



$$\mathbf{F} = I\mathbf{L} \times \mathbf{B}$$

where

 \mathbf{F} = Force, measured in newtons

I =current in wire, measured in amperes

 \mathbf{B} = magnetic field vector, measured in teslas

 \times = vector cross product

L = a vector, whose magnitude is the length of wire (measured in metres), and whose direction is along the wire, aligned with the direction of conventional current flow.

Alternatively, some authors write

$$\mathbf{F} = L\mathbf{I} \times \mathbf{B}$$

where the vector direction is now associated with the current variable, instead of the length variable. The two forms are equivalent.

If the wire is not straight but curved, the force on it can be computed by applying this formula to each infinitesimal segment of wire $d\mathbb{I}$, then adding up all these forces via integration. Formally, the net force on a stationary, rigid wire carrying a current *I* is

$${f F}=I\int d{m \ell} imes {f B}$$

(This is the net force. In addition, there will usually be torque, plus other effects if the wire is not perfectly rigid.)

One application of this is Ampère's force law, which describes how two current-carrying wires can attract or repel each other, since each experiences a Lorentz force from the other's magnetic field. For more information, see the article: Ampère's force law.

EMF

The magnetic force $(q \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B})$ component of the Lorentz force is responsible for *motional* electromotive force (or *motional EMF*), the phenomenon underlying many electrical generators. When a conductor is moved through a magnetic field, the magnetic force tries to push electrons through the wire, and this creates the EMF. The term "motional EMF" is applied to this phenomenon, since the EMF is due to the *motion* of the wire.

In other electrical generators, the magnets move, while the conductors do not. In this case, the EMF is due to the electric force ($q\mathbf{E}$) term in the Lorentz Force equation. The electric field in question is created by the changing magnetic field, resulting in an *induced* EMF, as described by the Maxwell-Faraday equation (one of the four modern Maxwell's equations).^[21]

Both of these EMF's, despite their different origins, can be described by the same equation, namely, the EMF is the rate of change of magnetic flux through the wire. (This is Faraday's law of induction, see above.) Einstein's theory of special relativity was partially motivated by the desire to better understand this link between the two effects.^[21] In fact, the electric and magnetic fields are different faces of the same electromagnetic field, and in moving from one inertial frame to another, the solenoidal vector field portion of the *E*-field can change in whole or in part to a *B*-field or *vice versa*.^[22]

General references

The numbered references refer in part to the list immediately below.

- Feynman, Richard Phillips; Leighton, Robert B.; Sands, Matthew L. (2006). *The Feynman lectures on physics (3 vol.)*. Pearson / Addison-Wesley. ISBN 0-8053-9047-2: volume 2.
- Griffiths, David J. (1999). *Introduction to electrodynamics* (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, [NJ.]: Prentice-Hall. ISBN 0-13-805326-X
- Jackson, John David (1999). Classical electrodynamics (3rd ed.). New York, [NY.]: Wiley. ISBN 0-471-30932-X
- Serway, Raymond A.; Jewett, John W., Jr. (2004). *Physics for scientists and engineers, with modern physics*. Belmont, [CA.]: Thomson Brooks/Cole. ISBN 0-534-40846-X
- Srednicki, Mark A. (2007). *Quantum field theory* ^[23]. Cambridge, [England]; New York [NY.]: Cambridge University Press. ISBN 978-0-521-86449-7

Numbered footnotes and references

- [1] See Jackson page 2. The book lists the four modern Maxwell's equations, and then states, "Also essential for consideration of charged particle motion is the Lorentz force equation, $\mathbf{F} = q$ ($\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}$), which gives the force acting on a point charge q in the presence of electromagnetic fields."
- [2] See Griffiths page 204.
- [3] For example, see the website of the "Lorentz Institute": (http://ilorentz.org/history/lorentz/lorentz.html), or Griffiths.
- [4] Meyer, Herbert W. (1972). A History of Electricity and Magnetism. Norwalk, CT: Burndy Library. pp. 30-31. ISBN 026213070X.
- [5] Verschuur, Gerrit L. (1993). Hidden Attraction : The History And Mystery Of Magnetism. New York: Oxford University Press. pp. 78–79. ISBN 0195064887.
- [6] Darrigol, Olivier (2000). *Electrodynamics from Ampère to Einstein*. Oxford, [England]: Oxford University Press. pp. 9, 25. ISBN 0-198-50593-0
- [7] Verschuur, Gerrit L. (1993). Hidden Attraction : The History And Mystery Of Magnetism. New York: Oxford University Press. p. 76. ISBN 0195064887.
- [8] Darrigol, Olivier (2000). *Electrodynamics from Ampère to Einstein*. Oxford, [England]: Oxford University Press. pp. 126–131, 139–144. ISBN 0-198-50593-0
- [9] Huray, Paul G. (2009). Maxwell's Equations (http://books.google.com/books?id=0QsDgdd0MhMC&pg=PA22#v=onepage&q&f=false).
 Wiley-IEEE. p. 22. ISBN 0470542764.
- [10] Darrigol, Olivier (2000). Electrodynamics from Ampère to Einstein. Oxford, [England]: Oxford University Press. pp. 200, 429–430. ISBN 0-198-50593-0
- [11] Darrigol, Olivier (2000). *Electrodynamics from Ampère to Einstein*. Oxford, [England]: Oxford University Press. p. 327. ISBN 0-198-50593-0
- [12] Whittaker, E. T. (1910). A History of the Theories of Aether and Electricity: From the Age of Descartes to the Close of the Nineteenth Century (http://books.google.com/books?id=CGJDAAAAIAAJ&printsec=frontcover#v=onepage&q&f=false). Longmans, Green and Co., pp. 420–423. ISBN 1143012089.
- [13] See Griffiths page 326, which states that Maxwell's equations, "together with the [Lorentz] force law...summarize the entire theoretical content of classical electrodynamics".
- [14] See, for example, Jackson p777-8.
- [15] Landau, L. D., Lifshitlsl, E. M., & Pitaevskiĭ, L. P. (1984). *Electrodynamics of continuous media; Volume 8* [[Course of Theoretical Physics (http://worldcat.org/search?q=0750626348&qt=owc_search)]] (Second ed.). Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann. p. §63 (§49 pp. 205–207 in 1960 edition). ISBN 0750626348.
- [16] Roger F Harrington (2003). Introduction to electromagnetic engineering (http://books.google.com/?id=ZIC2EV8zvX8C&pg=PA57&dq="faraday's+law+of+induction"). Mineola, NY: Dover Publications. p. 56. ISBN 0486432416.
- [17] http://worldcat.org/search?q=0750626348&qt=owc_search
- [18] http://books.google.com/?id=w2ITHQAACAAJ&dq=isbn:0-19-530048-3
- [19] Hestenes, David. "SpaceTime Calculus" (http://geocalc.clas.asu.edu/html/STC.html). .
- [20] DJ Griffiths (1999). Introduction to electrodynamics. Saddle River NJ: Pearson/Addison-Wesley. p. 541. ISBN 0-13-805326-X.
- [21] See Griffiths pages 301-3.
- [22] Tai L. Chow (2006). Electromagnetic theory (http://books.google.com/?id=dpnpMhw1zo8C&pg=PA153&dq=isbn=0763738271). Sudbury MA: Jones and Bartlett. p. 395. ISBN 0-7637-3827-1.
- [23] http://books.google.com/?id=5OepxIG42B4C&pg=PA315&dq=isbn=9780521864497

Applications

The Lorentz force occurs in many devices, including:

- · Cyclotrons and other circular path particle accelerators
- Mass spectrometers
- Velocity Filters
- Magnetrons

In its manifestation as the Laplace force on an electric current in a conductor, this force occurs in many devices including:

- Electric motors
- Railguns
- Linear motors
- Loudspeakers

- Magnetoplasmadynamic thrusters
- Electrical generators
- Homopolar generators
- Linear alternators

External links

- Interactive Java tutorial on the Lorentz force (http://www.magnet.fsu.edu/education/tutorials/java/ lorentzforce/index.html) National High Magnetic Field Laboratory
- Lorentz force (demonstration) (http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mxMMqNrm598)
- Faraday's law: Tankersley and Mosca (http://www.nadn.navy.mil/Users/physics/tank/Public/FaradaysLaw. pdf)
- Notes from Physics and Astronomy HyperPhysics at Georgia State University (http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/HBASE/hframe.html); see also home page (http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/HBASE/hframe.html)
- Interactive Java applet on the magnetic deflection of a particle beam in a homogeneous magnetic field (http:// chair.pa.msu.edu/applets/Lorentz/a.htm) by Wolfgang Bauer

Telegrapher's equations

The **telegrapher's equations** (or just **telegraph equations**) are a pair of linear differential equations which describe the voltage and current on an electrical transmission line with distance and time. The equations come from Oliver Heaviside who in the 1880s developed the *transmission line model* which is described in this article. The model demonstrates that the electromagnetic waves can be reflected on the wire, and that wave patterns can appear along the line. The theory applies to transmission lines of all frequencies including high-frequency transmission lines (such as telegraph wires and radio frequency conductors), audio frequency (such as telephone lines), low frequency (such as power lines) and direct current.

The equations

The telegrapher's equations, like all other equations describing electrical phenomena, can be held to result from Maxwell's equations. In a more practical approach, one assumes that the conductors are composed of an infinite series of two-port elementary components, each representing an infinitesimally short segment of the transmission line:

- The distributed resistance *R* of the conductors is represented by a series resistor (expressed in ohms per unit length).
- The distributed inductance *L* (due to the magnetic field around the wires, self-inductance, etc.) is represented by a series inductor (henries per unit length).
- The capacitance C between the two conductors is represented by a shunt capacitor C (farads per unit length).
- The conductance G of the dielectric material separating the two conductors is represented by a shunt resistor between the signal wire and the return wire (siemens per unit length). This resistor in the model has a resistance of 1/G ohms.

It should be repeated for clarity that the model consists of an *infinite series* of the infinitesimal elements shown in the figure, and that the values of the components are specified *per unit length* so the picture of the component can be misleading. An alternative notation is to use R', L', C' and G' to emphasize that the values are derivatives with respect to length. These quantities can also be known as the primary line constants to distinguish from the secondary line constants derived from them, these being the characteristic impedance, the propagation constant, attenuation constant and phase constant. All these constants are constant with respect to time, voltage and current. They may be



Schematic representation of the elementary components of a transmission line.

non-constant functions of frequency.

The Telegrapher's Equations are developed in similar forms in the following references: Kraus,^[1] Hayt,^[2] Marshall,^[3] Sadiku,^[4] Harrington,^[5] Karakash,^[6] Metzger,^[7]

Values of Primary Parameters for Telephone Cable

Representative parameter data for 24 gauge PIC telephone cable at 70°F

Frequency	R	L	G	С
Hz	Ω/kft	mH/kft	μS/kft	nF/kft
1	52.50	0.1868	0.000	15.72
1k	52.51	0.1867	0.022	15.72
10k	52.64	0.1859	0.162	15.72
100k	58.41	0.1770	1.197	15.72
1 M	141.30	0.1543	8.873	15.72
2M	196.03	0.1482	16.217	15.72
5M	304.62	0.1425	35.989	15.72

More extensive tables and tables for other gauges, temperatures and types are available in Reeve.^[8] Chen^[9] gives the same data in a parameterized form that he states is usable up to 50 MHz.

The variation of R and L is mainly due to skin effect and proximity effect.

The constancy of the capacitance is a consequence of intentional design.

The variation of G can be inferred from Terman^[10] "The power factor ... tends to be independent of frequency, since the fraction of energy lost during each cycle ... is substantially independent of the number of cycles per second, over wide frequency ranges." A function of the form $G(f) = G_1 \left(\frac{f}{f_1}\right)^{ge}$ with **ge** close to 1.0 would fit the statement

from Terman. Chen ^[9] gives an equation of similar form.

G in this table can be modeled well with

$$f_1$$
= 1MHz
 $G_1 = 8.873 \mu$ S/kft
ge = 0.87

Usually the resistive losses grow proportionately to $f^{0.5}$ and dielectric losses grow proportionately to f^{ge} with **ge** > 0.5 so at a high enough frequency, dielectric losses will exceed resistive losses. In practice, before that point is reached, a transmission line with a better dielectric is used. The dielectric can be reduced down to air with an occasional plastic spacer.

Lossless transmission

When the elements R and G are very small, their effects can be neglected, and the transmission line is considered as an idealized, lossless, structure. In this case, the model depends only on the L and C elements, and we obtain a pair of first-order partial differential equations, one function describing the voltage V along the line and the other the current I, both function of position x and time t:

$$rac{\partial}{\partial x}V(x,t) = -Lrac{\partial}{\partial t}I(x,t)$$

 $rac{\partial}{\partial x}I(x,t) = -Crac{\partial}{\partial t}V(x,t)$

These equations may be combined to form either of two exact wave equations:

$$rac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}V = rac{1}{LC}rac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}V \ rac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}I = rac{1}{LC}rac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}I$$

In the steady-state case (assuming a sinusoidal wave $E = E_o \cdot e^{-j\omega(\frac{x}{c}-t)}$, these reduce to

$$rac{\partial^2 V(x)}{\partial x^2} + \omega^2 LC \cdot V(x) = 0$$

 $rac{\partial^2 I(x)}{\partial x^2} + \omega^2 LC \cdot I(x) = 0$

where ω is the frequency of the steady-state wave

If the line has infinite length or when it is terminated with its characteristic impedance, these equations indicate the presence of a wave, travelling with a speed $v = \frac{1}{\sqrt{LC}}$.

(Note that this propagation speed applies to the wave phenomenon on the line and has nothing to do with the electron drift velocity. In other words, the electrical impulse travels very close to the speed of light, although the electrons themselves travel only a few centimeters per second.) For a coaxial transmission line, made of perfect conductors with vacuum between them, it can be shown that this speed is equal to the speed of light.

The Lossless line and Distortionless line are discussed in Sadiku,^[11] and Marshall,^[12]

Lossy transmission line

When the loss elements R and G are not negligible, the original differential equations describing the elementary segment of line become

$$egin{aligned} &rac{\partial}{\partial x}V(x,t)=-Lrac{\partial}{\partial t}I(x,t)-RI(x,t)\ &rac{\partial}{\partial x}I(x,t)=-Crac{\partial}{\partial t}V(x,t)-GV(x,t) \end{aligned}$$

By differentiating the first equation with respect to x and the second with respect to t, and some algebraic manipulation, we obtain a pair of hyperbolic partial differential equations each involving only one unknown:

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}V = LC\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}V + (RC + GL)\frac{\partial}{\partial t}V + GRV$$
$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2}I = LC\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}I + (RC + GL)\frac{\partial}{\partial t}I + GRI$$

Note that these equations resemble the homogeneous wave equation with extra terms in V and I and their first derivatives. These extra terms cause the signal to decay and spread out with time and distance. If the transmission line is only slightly lossy (small R and G = 0), signal strength will decay over distance as $e^{-\alpha x}$, where $\alpha = R/2Z_0$

Direction of signal propagations

The wave equations above indicate that there are two solutions for the travelling wave: one forward and one reverse. Assuming a simplification of being lossless (requiring both R=0 and G=0) the solution can be represented as:

$$V(x,t) ~=~ f_1(\omega t - kx) + f_2(\omega t + kx)$$

where:

$$k = \omega \sqrt{LC} = rac{\omega}{v}$$

 \boldsymbol{k} is called the **wavenumber** and has units of radians per meter,

 ω is the **angular frequency** (in radians per second),

 f_1 and f_2 can be *any* functions whatsoever, and

$$v = \frac{1}{\sqrt{LC}}$$

is the waveform's propagation speed (also known as phase velocity).

 f_1 represents a wave traveling from left to right in a positive x direction whilst f_2 represents a wave traveling from right to left. It can be seen that the instantaneous voltage at any point x on the line is the sum of the voltages due to **both** waves.

Since the current I is related to the voltage V by the telegrapher's equations, we can write

$$I(x,t) \;=\; rac{f_1(\omega t - kx)}{Z_0} - rac{f_2(\omega t + kx)}{Z_0}$$

where Z_0 is the characteristic impedance of the transmission line, which, for a lossless line is given by

$$Z_0 = \sqrt{rac{L}{C}}$$

Signal pattern examples



Depending on the parameters of the telegraph equation, the changes of the signal level distribution along the length of the single-dimensional transmission media may take the shape of the simple wave, wave with decrement, or the diffusion-like pattern of the telegraph equation. The shape of the diffusion-like pattern is caused by the effect of the shunt capacity.

Suprice 5 equations



Solutions of the Telegrapher's Equations as Circuit Components

The solutions of the telegrapher's equations can be inserted into a circuit as components of an equivalent sub-circuit as shown the figure. As drawn, all voltages are with respect to ground and all amplifiers have unshown connections to ground. An example of a transmission line modeled by this circuit would be an unbalanced transmission line such as a strip line on a circuit board. The impedance Z(s), the voltage doubler (the triangle with the number "2") and the difference amplifier (the triangle

with the number "1") account for the interaction of the transmission line with the rest of the circuit. The T(s) blocks account for delay, attenuation, dispersion and whatever happens to the signal in transit. One of the T(s) blocks carries the "forward wave" and the other carries the "backward wave". The circuit, as depicted, is fully symmetric, although it is not drawn that way. The circuit depicted is equivalent to a transmission line connected from V1 to V2 in the sense that V1, V2, I1 and I2 would be same whether this circuit or an actual transmission line was connected between V1 and V2. There is no implication that there are actually amplifiers inside the transmission line.

This is not the only possible equivalent circuit. Voltage amplifiers and sensors can be replaced with current, transimpedance or transconductance amplifiers. Series impedances can be replaced with shunt admittances. The circuit can be augmented to account for different "grounds" at each end. The circuit can be made fully differential.

External links

• SPICE Simulation of Transmission Lines ^[13]

Notes

- [1] Kraus (1989, pp. 380-419)
- [2] Hayt (1989, pp. 382–392)
- [3] Marshall (1987, pp. 359-378)
- [4] Sadiku (1989, pp. 497–505)
- [5] Harrington (1961, pp. 61-65)
- [6] Karakash (1950, pp. 5–14)
- [7] Metzger (1969, pp. 1–10)
- [8] Reeve (1995, p. 558)
- [9] Chen (2004, p. 26)
- [10] Terman (1943, p. 112)
- [11] Sadiku (1989, pp. 501-503)
- [12] Marshall (198y, pp. 369-372)
- [13] http://www.eetimes.com/design/microwave-rf-design/4200760/

SPICE-Simulation-of-Transmission-Lines-by-the-Telegrapher-s-Method-Part-1-of-3-? Ecosystem=microwave-rf-design and the second second

References

- Chen, Walter Y. (2004), Home Networking Basics, Prentice Hall, ISBN 0130165115
- Harrington, Roger F. (1961), Time-Harmonic Electromagnetic Fields, McGraw-Hill
- Hayt, William (1989), Engineering Electromagnetics (5th ed.), McGraw-Hill, ISBN 0070274061
- Karakash, John J. (1950), Transmission Lines and Filter Networks (1st ed.), Macmillan
- Kraus, John D. (1984), Electromagnetics (3rd ed.), McGraw-Hill, ISBN 0070354235
- Marshall, Stanley V. (1987), *Electromagnetic Concepts & Applications* (1st ed.), Prentice-Hall, ISBN 0132490048
- Metzger, Georges; Vabre, Jean-Paul (1969), Transmission Lines with Pulse Excitation, Academic Press
- Reeve, Whitman D. (1995), Subscriber Loop Signaling and Transmission Handbook, IEEE Press, ISBN 0780304403
- Sadiku, Matthew N. O. (1989), *Elements of Electromagnetics* (1st ed.), Saunders College Publishing, ISBN 993013846
- Terman, Frederick Emmons (1943), Radio Engineers' Handbook (1st ed.), McGraw-Hill

Physical quantities

E field

In physics, an **electric field** surrounds electrically charged particles and time-varying magnetic fields. The electric field depicts the force exerted on other electrically charged objects by the electrically charged particle the field is surrounding. The concept of an electric field was introduced by Michael Faraday.

The electric field is a vector field with SI units of newtons per coulomb (N C⁻¹) or, equivalently, volts per metre (V m⁻¹). The SI base units of the electric field are kg·m·s⁻³·A⁻¹. The strength or magnitude of the field at a given point is defined as the force that would be exerted on a positive test charge of 1 coulomb placed at that point; the direction of the field is given by the direction of that force. Electric fields contain electrical energy with energy density proportional to the square of the field amplitude. The electric field is to charge as gravitational acceleration is to mass and force density is to volume.

An electric field that changes with time, such as due to the motion of charged particles in the field, influences the local magnetic field. That is, the electric and magnetic fields are not completely separate phenomena; what one observer perceives as an electric field, another observer in a different frame of reference perceives as a mixture of electric and magnetic fields. For this reason, one speaks of "electromagnetism" or "electromagnetic fields". In quantum electrodynamics, disturbances in the electromagnetic fields are called photons, and the energy of photons is quantized.

Definition

The electric field intensity is defined as the force per unit positive charge that would be experienced by a stationary point charge, or "test charge", at a given location in the field:^[1]

$$\mathbf{E}=rac{\mathbf{F}}{q_t}$$

where

 \mathbf{F} is the electric force experienced by the test particle

 q_{\star} is the charge of the test particle in the electric field

E is the electric field wherein the particle is located.

Taken literally, this equation only defines the electric field at a specific location as the force experienced by a stationary test charge at that point(with the sign of q_t , positive or negative, determining the direction of the force). Given that electric fields are generated by electrically charged particles, adding and/or moving a source charge, q_s , will alter the electric field distribution. Therefore, it is important to remember that an electric field is defined with respect to a particular configuration of source charges. In practice, this is achieved by placing test particles with successively smaller electric charge in the vicinity of the source distribution and measuring the force exerted on the test charges as their charge approaches zero.

$$\mathbf{E} = \lim_{q o 0} rac{\mathbf{F}}{q}$$

This allows the electric field to be determined from the distribution of its source charges alone.

As is clear from the definition, the direction of the electric field is the same as the direction of the force it would exert on a positively-charged particle, and opposite the direction of the force on a negatively-charged particle. Since like charges repel and opposites attract (as quantified below), the electric field tends to point away from positive charges and towards negative charges.

Based on Coulomb's law for interacting point charges, the contribution to the E-field at a point in space due to a single, discrete charge located at another point in space is given by the following^[1]:





$$\mathbf{E}=rac{1}{4\piarepsilon_0}rac{Q}{r^2}\mathbf{\hat{r}}$$

where

Q is the charge of the particle creating the electric force,

r is the distance from the particle with charge Q to the E-field evaluation point,

 $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$ is the unit vector pointing from the particle with charge Q to the E-field evaluation point,

 ε_0 is the electric constant.

The total E-field due to a quantity of point charges, n_q , is simply the superposition of the contribution of each individual point charge^[2]:

$$\mathbf{E} = \sum_{i=1}^{n_q} \mathbf{E}_i = \sum_{i=1}^{n_Q} \frac{1}{4\pi\varepsilon_0} \frac{Q_i}{r_i^2} \hat{\mathbf{r}}_i.$$

Alternatively, Gauss's law allows the E-field to be calculated in terms of a continuous distribution of charge density in space, ρ :^[3]

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{E} = rac{
ho}{arepsilon_0}$$

Coulomb's law is actually a special case of Gauss's Law, a more fundamental description of the relationship between the distribution of electric charge in space and the resulting electric field. Gauss's law is one of Maxwell's equations, a set of four laws governing electromagnetics.

A uniform field is one in which the electric field is constant at every point. It can be approximated by placing two conducting plates parallel to each other and maintaining a voltage between them; it is only an approximation because of edge effects. Ignoring such effects, the equation for the magnitude of the electric field is:

$$E = -\frac{V}{d}$$

where

E field

V is the voltage difference between the plates

d is the distance separating the plates

The negative sign arises as positive charges repel, so a positive charge will experience a force away from the positively charged plate, in the opposite direction to that in which the voltage increases.

Time-varying fields

An electric field can be produced, not only by a static charge, but also by a changing magnetic field. The combined electric field is expressed as,

$$\mathbf{E} = -
abla \phi - rac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t}$$

where,

$$\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$$

The vector \mathbf{B} is the magnetic flux density and the vector \mathbf{A} is the magnetic vector potential. Taking the curl of the electric field equation we obtain,

$$abla imes {f E} = - rac{\partial {f B}}{\partial t}$$

which is one of Maxwell's equations, referred to as Faraday's law of induction.^[4]

Where electrostatics is the study of the fields surrounding static charges, the study of the electric fields induced by changing magnetic field comes under the domain of electrodynamics or electromagnetics.

Properties (in electrostatics)

According to Coulomb's law the electric field is dependent on position. The electric field due to any single charge falls off as the square of the distance from that charge.

Electric fields follow the superposition principle. If more than one charge is present, the total electric field at any point is equal to the vector sum of the respective electric fields that each object would create in the absence of the others.



positive to negative



$$\mathbf{E}_{ ext{total}} = \sum_i \mathbf{E}_i = \mathbf{E}_1 + \mathbf{E}_2 + \mathbf{E}_3 \dots$$

If this principle is extended to an infinite number of infinitesimally small elements of charge, the following formula results:

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{1}{4\pi\varepsilon_0}\int \frac{\rho}{r^2} \hat{\mathbf{r}} \,\mathrm{d} V$$

where

 ρ is the charge density, or the amount of charge per unit volume.

The electric field at a point is equal to the negative gradient of the electric potential there. In symbols,



$$\mathbf{E} = -\nabla \Phi$$

where

 $\Phi(x, y, z)$ is the scalar field representing the electric potential at a given point.

If several spatially distributed charges generate such an electric potential, e.g. in a solid, an electric field gradient may also be defined.

Considering the permittivity ε of a linear material, which may differ from the permittivity of free space ε_0 , the electric displacement field is:

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon \mathbf{E}.$$

Energy in the electric field

The electric field stores energy. The energy density of the electric field is given by

$$u=rac{1}{2}arepsilon|{f E}|^2\,,$$

where ε is the permittivity of the medium in which the field exists, and **E** is the electric field vector.

The total energy stored in the electric field in a given volume V is therefore

$$\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon \int_{V} |\mathbf{E}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}V,$$

where dV is the differential volume element.

Parallels between electrostatics and gravity

Coulomb's law, which describes the interaction of electric charges:



$$\mathbf{F} = q(rac{-1}{4\piarepsilon_0}rac{Q}{r^2}\mathbf{\hat{r}}) = q\mathbf{E}$$

is similar to Newton's law of universal gravitation:



$$\mathbf{F}=m(-Grac{M}{r^2}\mathbf{\hat{r}})=m\mathbf{g}.$$

This suggests similarities between the electric field \mathbf{E} and the gravitational field \mathbf{g} , so sometimes mass is called "gravitational charge".

Similarities between electrostatic and gravitational forces:

- 1. Both act in a vacuum.
- 2. Both are central and conservative.
- 3. Both obey an inverse-square law (both are inversely proportional to square of r).
- 4. Both propagate with finite speed c, the speed of light.
- 5. Electric charge and relativistic mass are conserved; note, though, that rest mass is not conserved.

Differences between electrostatic and gravitational forces:

- 1. Electrostatic forces are much greater than gravitational forces (by about 10^{36} times).
- 2. Gravitational forces are attractive for like charges, whereas electrostatic forces are repulsive for like charges.
- 3. There are no negative gravitational charges (no negative mass) while there are both positive and negative electric charges. This difference combined with previous implies that gravitational forces are always attractive, while electrostatic forces may be either attractive or repulsive.

References

- [1] Electric field in "Electricity and Magnetism", R Nave (http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/electric/elefie.html)
- [2] 'The Electric Field' Chapter 23 of Frank Wolfs's lectures (http://teacher.pas.rochester.edu/phy122/Lecture_Notes/Chapter23/ Chapter23.html#Heading3) at University of Rochester
- [3] 'Gauss's Law' Chapter 24 of Frank Wolfs's lectures (http://teacher.pas.rochester.edu/phy122/Lecture_Notes/Chapter24/Chapter24. html) at University of Rochester
- [4] Huray, Paul G. (2009), *Maxwell's Equations* (http://books.google.com/books?id=0QsDgdd0MhMCp), Wiley-IEEE, p. 205, ISBN 0-470-54276-4, , Chapter 7, p 205 (http://books.google.com/books?id=0QsDgdd0MhMC&pg=PA205)

External links

- (http://www.its.caltech.edu/~phys1/java/phys1/MovingCharge/MovingCharge.html) An applet that shows the electric field of a moving point charge.
- Fields (http://www.lightandmatter.com/html_books/0sn/ch10/ch10.html) a chapter from an online textbook
- Learning by Simulations (http://www.vias.org/simulations/simusoft_efield.html) Interactive simulation of an electric field of up to four point charges
- Java simulations of electrostatics in 2-D (http://www.falstad.com/emstatic/) and 3-D (http://www.falstad.com/vector3de/)
- Electric Fields Applet (http://www.physics-lab.net/applets/electric-fields) An applet that shows electric field lines as well as potential gradients.
- The inverse cube law (http://blazelabs.com/inversecubelaw.pdf) The inverse cube law for dipoles (PDF file) by Eng. Xavier Borg
- Interactive Flash simulation picturing the electric field of user-defined or preselected sets of point charges (http:// www.flashphysics.org/electricField.html) by field vectors, field lines, or equipotential lines. Author: David Chappell
D field

In physics, the **electric displacement field**, denoted as \mathbf{D} , is a vector field that appears in Maxwell's equations. It accounts for the effects of free charges within materials. "D" stands for "displacement," as in the related concept of displacement current in dielectrics. In free space, the electric displacement field is equivalent to flux density, a concept that lends understanding to Gauss's law.

Definition

In a dielectric material the presence of an electric field \mathbf{E} causes the bound charges in the material (atomic nuclei and their electrons) to slightly separate, inducing a local electric dipole moment. The electric displacement field \mathbf{D} is defined as

$$\mathbf{D} \equiv \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P},$$

where ε_0 is the vacuum permittivity (also called permittivity of free space), and **P** is the (macroscopic) density of the permanent and induced electric dipole moments in the material, called the polarization density. Separating the total volume charge density into free and bound charges:

$$\rho = \rho_f + \rho_l$$

the density can be rewritten as a function of the polarization P:

$$\rho = \rho_f - \nabla \cdot \mathbf{P}.$$

P is a vector field whose divergence yields the density of bound charges ρ_b in the material. The electric field satisfies the equation:

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{E} = rac{1}{arepsilon_0} (
ho_f +
ho_b) = rac{1}{arepsilon_0} (
ho_f -
abla \cdot \mathbf{P})$$

and hence

$$abla \cdot (\varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P}) = \rho_f$$

The displacement field therefore satisfies Gauss's law in a dielectric:

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D} = \rho - \rho_b = \rho_f.$$

D is not determined exclusively by the free charge. Consider the relationship:

$$abla imes \mathbf{D} = arepsilon_0 (
abla imes \mathbf{E}) + (
abla imes \mathbf{P})$$

Which, by the fact that E has a curl of zero in electrostatic situations, evaluates to:

$$abla imes \mathbf{D} =
abla imes \mathbf{P}$$

Which can be immediately seen in the case of some object with a "frozen in" polarization like a bar electret, the electric analogue to a bar magnet. There is no free charge in such a material, but the inherent polarization gives rise to an electric field. If the wayward student were to assume the **D** field were entirely determined by the free charge, he or she would immediately conclude the electric field were zero in such a material, but this is patently not true. The electric field can be properly determined by using the above relation along with other boundary conditions on the polarization density yielding the bound charges, which will, in turn, yield the electric field.

In a linear, homogeneous, isotropic dielectric with instantaneous response to changes in the electric field, **P** depends linearly on the electric field,

$$\mathbf{P}=\varepsilon_0\chi\mathbf{E},$$

where the constant of proportionality χ is called the electric susceptibility of the material. Thus

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 (1 + \chi) \mathbf{E} = \varepsilon \mathbf{E}$$

where $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r$ is the permittivity, and $\varepsilon_r = 1 + \chi$ the relative permittivity of the material.

In linear, homogeneous, isotropic media ε is a constant. However, in linear anisotropic media it is a matrix, and in nonhomogeneous media it is a function of position inside the medium. It may also depend upon the electric field (nonlinear materials) and have a time dependent response. Explicit time dependence can arise if the materials are physically moving or changing in time (e.g. reflections off a moving interface give rise to Doppler shifts). A different form of time dependence can arise in a time-invariant medium, in that there can be a time delay between the imposition of the electric field and the resulting polarization of the material. In this case, **P** is a convolution of the impulse response susceptibility χ and the electric field **E**. Such a convolution takes on a simpler form in the frequency domain—by Fourier transforming the relationship and applying the convolution theorem, one obtains the following relation for a linear time-invariant medium:

$$\mathbf{D}(\omega) = \varepsilon(\omega) \mathbf{E}(\omega),$$

where ω is frequency of the applied field (e.g. in radian/s). The constraint of causality leads to the Kramers–Kronig relations, which place limitations upon the form of the frequency dependence. The phenomenon of a frequency-dependent permittivity is an example of material dispersion. In fact, all physical materials have some material dispersion because they cannot respond instantaneously to applied fields, but for many problems (those concerned with a narrow enough bandwidth) the frequency-dependence of ε ; can be neglected.

At a boundary, $D_{1,\perp} - D_{2,\perp} = \sigma_f$, where σ_f is the free charge density.^[1]

Units

In the standard SI system of units, **D** is measured in coulombs per square meter (C/m^2) . This choice of units (together with measuring the magnetizing field **H** in amperes per meter (A/m)) is designed to absorb the electric and magnetic constants in the Maxwell's equations expressed in terms of free charge and current, and results in very simple forms for Gauss's law and the Ampère-Maxwell equation:

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{D} =
ho_f$$
 $abla imes \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{J}_f + \frac{\partial \mathbf{D}}{\partial t}$

Choice of units has differed in history, for example in the Gaussian CGS system of units the unit of charge is defined so that E and D are expressed in the same units.

Example: Displacement field in a capacitor

Consider an infinite parallel plate capacitor placed in space (or in a medium) with no free charges present except on the capacitor. In SI units, the charge density on the plates is equal to the value of the **D** field between the plates. This follows directly from Gauss's law, by integrating over a small rectangular pillbox straddling one plate of the capacitor:



$$\oint_A \mathbf{D} \cdot d\mathbf{A} = Q_{free}$$

On the sides of the pillbox, $d\mathbf{A}$ is perpendicular to the field, so that part of the integral is zero, leaving, for the space inside the capacitor where the fields of the two plates add

$$|\mathbf{D}| = Q/A$$

where A is surface area of the top face of the small rectangular pillbox and Q/A is just the free surface charge density on the positive plate. Outside the capacitor, the fields of the two plates cancel each other and $|\mathbf{D}| = 0$. If the space between the capacitor plates is filled with a linear homogeneous isotropic dielectric with permittivity ε the electric field between the plates is constant: $|\mathbf{E}| = Q/(\varepsilon A)$. If the distance *d* between the plates of a *finite* parallel plate capacitor is much smaller than its lateral dimensions we

If the distance d between the plates of a *finite* parallel plate capacitor is much smaller than its lateral dimensions we can approximate it using the infinite case and obtain its capacitance as

$$C = rac{Q}{V} pprox rac{Q}{|\mathbf{E}|d} = arepsilon rac{A}{d}$$
 .

References

- [1] David Griffiths. Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd 1999 ed.).
- "electric displacement field" at PhysicsForums (http://www.physicsforums.com/library.php?do=view_item& itemid=6)

B and **H** fields

A magnetic field is a mathematical description of the magnetic influence of electric currents and magnetic materials. The magnetic field at any given point is specified by both a *direction* and a *magnitude* (or strength); as such it is a vector field.^[1] The magnetic field is most commonly defined in terms of the Lorentz force it exerts on moving electric charges. There are two separate but closely related fields to which the name 'magnetic field' can refer: a magnetic **B** field and a magnetic **H** field.

Magnetic fields are produced by moving electric charges and the intrinsic magnetic moments of elementary particles associated with a fundamental quantum property, their spin. In special relativity, electric and magnetic fields are two interrelated aspects of a single object, called the electromagnetic field tensor; the aspect of the electromagnetic field that is seen as a magnetic field is dependent on the reference frame of the observer. In quantum physics, the electromagnetic field is quantized and electromagnetic interactions result from the exchange of photons.

Magnetic fields have had many uses in ancient and modern society. The Earth produces its own magnetic field, which is important in navigation. Rotating magnetic fields are utilized in both electric motors and generators. Magnetic forces give information about the charge carriers in a material through the Hall effect. The interaction of magnetic fields in electric devices such as transformers is studied in the discipline of magnetic circuits.

History

Although magnets and magnetism were known much earlier, one of the first descriptions of the magnetic field was produced in 1269 by the French scholar Petrus Peregrinus^[2] who mapped out the magnetic field on the surface of a spherical magnet using iron needles. Noting that the resulting field lines crossed at two points he named those points 'poles' in analogy to Earth's poles. Almost three centuries later, William Gilbert of Colchester replicated Petrus Peregrinus' work and was the first to state explicitly that Earth itself was a magnet. Gilbert's great work De Magnete was published in 1600 and helped to establish the study of magnetism as a science.

One of the first successful models of the magnetic field was developed in 1824 by



illustrated his theory that magnetism was caused by the circulation of tiny helical particles, "threaded parts", through threaded pores in magnets.

Siméon-Denis Poisson (1781–1840). Poisson assumed that magnetism was due to 'magnetic charges' such that like 'magnetic charges' repulse while opposites attract. The model he created is exactly analogous to modern electrostatics with a magnetic H-field being produced by 'magnetic charges' in the same way that an electric field E-field is produced by electric charges. It predicts the correct H-field for permanent magnets. It predicts the forces between magnets. And, it predicts the correct energy stored in the magnetic fields.^[3]

Three remarkable discoveries though, would challenge Poisson's model. First, in 1819, Hans Christian Oersted discovered that an electric current generates a magnetic field encircling it. Then, André-Marie Ampère showed that parallel wires having currents in the same direction attract one another. Finally Jean-Baptiste Biot and Félix Savart

discovered the Biot-Savart law which correctly predicts the magnetic field around any current-carrying wire.

Together, these discoveries suggested a model in which the magnetic B field of a material is produced by microscopic current loops. In this model, these current loops (called magnetic dipoles) would replace the dipoles of charge of the Poisson's model.^[4] No magnetic charges are needed which has the additional benefit of explaining why magnetic charge can not be isolated; cutting a magnet in half does not result in two separate poles but in two separate magnets, each of which has both poles.

The next decade saw two developments that help lay the foundation for the full theory of electromagnetism. In 1825, Ampère published his Ampère's law which like the Biot–Savart law correctly described the magnetic field generated by a steady current but was more general. And, in 1831, Michael Faraday showed that a *changing* magnetic field generates an encircling electric field and thereby demonstrated that electricity and magnetism are even more tightly knitted.

Between 1861 and 1865, James Clerk Maxwell developed and published a set of Maxwell's equations which explained and united all of classical electricity and magnetism. The first set of these equations was published in a paper entitled *On Physical Lines of Force* in 1861. The mechanism that Maxwell proposed to underlie these equations in this paper was fundamentally incorrect, which is not surprising since it predated the modern understanding even of the atom. Yet, the equations were valid although incomplete. He completed the set of Maxwell's equations in his later 1865 paper *A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field* and demonstrated the fact that light is an electromagnetic wave. Thus, he theoretically unified not only electricity and magnetism but light as well. This fact was then later confirmed experimentally by Heinrich Hertz in 1887.

Even though the classical theory of electrodynamics was essentially complete with Maxwell's equations, the twentieth century saw a number of improvements and extensions to the theory. Albert Einstein, in his great paper of 1905 that established relativity, showed that both the electric and magnetic fields are part of the same phenomena viewed from different reference frames. (See moving magnet and conductor problem for details about the thought experiment that eventually helped Albert Einstein to develop special relativity.) Finally, the emergent field of quantum mechanics was merged with electrodynamics to form quantum electrodynamics or QED.

Definitions, units, and measurement

Magnetic field can be defined in many equivalent ways based on the effects it has on its environment. For instance, a particle having an electric charge, q, and moving in a magnetic field with a velocity, v, experiences a force, F, called the Lorentz force. See Force on a charged particle below. Alternatively, the magnetic field can be defined in terms of the torque it produces on a magnetic dipole. See Torque on a magnet due to a B-field below.

Devices used to measure the local magnetic field are called magnetometers. Important classes of magnetometers include using a rotating coil, Hall effect magnetometers, NMR magnetometers, SQUID magnetometers, and fluxgate magnetometers. The magnetic fields of distant astronomical objects are measured through their effects on local charged particles. For instance, electrons spiraling around a field line produce synchrotron radiation which is detectable in radio waves.



There are two *magnetic fields*, **H** and **B**. In a vacuum they are indistinguishable, differing only by a multiplicative constant that depends on the physical units. Inside a material they are different (see H and B inside and outside of magnetic materials). The term *magnetic field* is historically reserved for **H** while using other terms for **B**. Informally, though, and formally for some recent textbooks mostly in physics, the term 'magnetic field' is used to describe **B** as well as or in place of **H**.^[7] There are many alternative names for both (see sidebar to right).

The B-field is measured in teslas in SI units and in gauss in cgs units. (1 tesla = 10,000 gauss). The SI unit of tesla is equivalent to (newton·second)/(coulomb·metre).^[8] The H-field is measured in ampere-turn per metre (A/m) in SI units, and in oersteds (Oe) in cgs units.^[9]

The smallest precision level for a magnetic field measurement^[10] is on the order of attoteslas (10^{-18} tesla) ; the largest magnetic field produced in a laboratory is 2,800 T (VNIIEF in Sarov, Russia, 1998).^[11] The magnetic field of some astronomical objects such as magnetars are much higher; magnetars range from 0.1 to 100 GT (10^8 to 10^{11} T).^[12] See orders of magnitude (magnetic field).

Magnetic field lines



the local magnetic field. As seen here, the magnetic field points towards a magnet's south pole and away from its north pole.

Mapping the magnetic field of an object is simple in principle. First, measure the strength and direction of the magnetic field at a large number of locations. Then, mark each location with an arrow (called a vector) pointing in the direction of the local magnetic field with a length proportional to the strength of the magnetic field.

A simpler way to visualize the magnetic field is to 'connect' the arrows to form "magnetic **field lines**". Magnetic field lines make it much easier to visualize and understand the complex mathematical relationships underlying magnetic field. If done carefully, a field line diagram contains the same information as the vector field it represents. The magnetic field can be estimated at *any* point on a magnetic field line diagram (whether on a field line or not) using the direction and density of nearby magnetic field lines.^[13] A higher density of nearby field lines indicates a stronger magnetic field.

Various phenomena have the effect of "displaying" magnetic field lines as though the field lines are physical phenomena. For example, iron filings placed in a magnetic field line up to form lines that correspond to 'field lines'. Magnetic fields "lines" are also visually displayed in polar auroras, in which plasma particle dipole interactions create visible streaks of light that line up with the local direction of Earth's magnetic field. However, field lines are a visual and conceptual aid only and are no more real than (for example) the contour lines (constant altitude) on a topographic map. They do not exist in the actual field; a different choice of mapping scale could show twice as many "lines" or half as many.

Field lines can be used as a qualitative tool to visualize magnetic forces. In ferromagnetic substances like iron and in plasmas, magnetic forces can be understood by imagining that the field lines exert a tension, (like a rubber band) along their length, and a pressure perpendicular to their length on neighboring field lines. 'Unlike' poles



of magnets attract because they are linked by many field lines; 'like' poles repel because their field lines do not meet, but run parallel, pushing on each other.

Most physical phenomena that "display" magnetic field lines do not include which direction along the lines that the magnetic field is in. A compass, though, reveals that magnetic field lines *outside of a magnet* point from the north pole (compass points away from north pole) to the south (compass points toward the south pole). The magnetic field of a straight current-carrying wire encircles the wire with a direction that depends on the direction of the current and that can be measured with a compass as well.

The magnetic field and permanent magnets

Permanent magnets are objects that produce their own persistent magnetic fields. They are made of ferromagnetic materials, such as iron and nickel, that have been magnetized, and they have both a north and a south pole.

Magnetic field of permanent magnets

The magnetic field of permanent magnets can be quite complicated, especially near the magnet. The magnetic field of a small^[14] straight magnet is proportional to the magnet's *strength* (called its magnetic dipole moment m). The equations are non-trivial and also depend on the distance from the magnet and the orientation of the magnet. For simple magnets, **m** points in the direction of a line drawn from the south to the north pole of the magnet. Flipping a bar magnet is equivalent to rotating its **m** by 180 degrees.

The magnetic field of larger magnets can be obtain by modelling them as a collection of a large number of small magnets called dipoles each having their own **m**. The magnetic field produced by the magnet then is the net magnetic field of these dipoles. And, any net force on the magnet is a result of adding up the forces on the individual dipoles.

There are two competing models for the nature of these dipoles. These two models produce two different magnetic fields, **H** and **B**. Outside a material, though, the two are identical (to a multiplicative constant) so that in many cases the distinction can be ignored. This is particularly true for magnetic fields, such as those due to electric currents, that are not generated by magnetic materials.

Magnetic pole model and the *H*-field

It is sometimes useful to model the force and torques between two magnets as due to magnetic poles repelling or attracting each other in the same manner as the Coulomb force between electric charges. In this model, a magnetic *H-field* is produced by *magnetic charges* that are 'smeared' around each pole. The H-field, therefore, is analogous to the electric field \mathbf{E} which starts at a positive electric charge and ends at a negative electric charge. Near the north pole, therefore, all H-field lines point away from the north pole (whether inside the magnet or out) all H-field lines point toward the south pole. A north pole, then, feels a force in the direction of the H-field while the force on the south pole is opposite to the H-field.

In the magnetic pole model, the elementary magnetic dipole **m** is formed by two opposite magnetic charges (poles) of pole strength q_m separated by a very small distance d, such that $m = q_m d$.

Unfortunately, magnetic poles cannot exist apart from each other; all magnets have north/south pairs which cannot be separated without creating two magnets each having a north/south pair. Further, magnetic charge does not account for magnetism that is produced by electric currents nor the force that a magnetic field applies to moving electric charges.

Amperian loop model and the *B*-field

After Oersted discovered that electric currents produce a magnetic field and Ampere discovered that electric currents attracted and repelled each other similar to magnets, it was natural to hypothesize that all magnetic fields are due to electric current loops. In this model developed by Ampere, the elementary magnetic dipole that makes up all magnets is an Amperian loop of current I and extremely small area A with a dipole moment $\mathbf{m} = \mathbf{IA}$ where the direction of A is perpendicular to the area and determined by the direction of the current around the area.

These magnetic dipoles produce a magnetic **B** field. One important property of the B-field produced this way is that magnetic **B** field lines neither start nor end (mathematically, **B** is a solenoidal vector field); a field line either extends to infinity or wraps around to form a closed curve.^[15] To date no exception to this rule has been found. (See magnetic monopole below.) Magnetic field lines exit a magnet near its north pole and enter near its south pole, but inside the magnet B-field lines continue through the magnet from the south pole back to the north.^[16] If a B-field line enters a magnet somewhere it has to leave somewhere else; it is not allowed to have an end point. Magnetic poles, therefore, always come in N and S pairs. Cutting a magnet in half results in two separate magnets each with both a north and a south pole.

More formally, since all the magnetic field lines that enter any given region must also leave that region, subtracting the 'number'^[17] of field lines that enter the region from the number that exit gives identically zero. Mathematically this is equivalent to:

$$\oint_{S} \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{dA} = 0,$$

where the integral is a surface integral over the closed surface S (a closed surface is one that completely surrounds a region with no holes to let any field lines escape). Since dA points outward, the dot product in the integral is positive for B-field pointing out and negative for B-field pointing in.

There is also a corresponding differential form of this equation covered in Maxwell's equations below.

Force Between magnets

The force between two small magnets is quite complicated and depends on the strength and orientation of both magnets and the distance and direction of the magnets relative to each other. The force is particularly sensitive to rotations of the magnets due to magnetic torque. The force on each magnet depends on its magnetic moment and the magnetic field $\mathbf{B}^{[18]}$ of the other.

To understand the force between magnets and to generalize it to other cases, it is useful to examine the *magnetic charge model* given above (with the caveats given above as well). In this model, the *H-field* of the first magnet pushes and pulls on the magnetic charges near *both* poles of the second magnet. If the H-field due to the first magnet is the same at both poles of the second magnet then there is no net force on that magnet since the force is opposite for opposite poles. The magnetic field is not the same, though; the magnetic field is significantly stronger near the poles of a magnet. In this *nonuniform* magnetic field, each pole sees a different field and is subject to a different force. This difference in the two forces moves the magnet in the direction of increasing magnetic field and may also cause a net torque.

This is a specific example of a general rule that magnets are attracted (or repulsed depending on the orientation of the magnet) into regions of higher magnetic field. Any non-uniform magnetic field whether caused by permanent magnets or by electric currents will exert a force on a small magnet in this way.

Mathematically, the force on a small magnet having a magnetic moment \mathbf{m} due to a magnetic field \mathbf{B} is:^[19]

 $\mathbf{F} = \nabla \left(\mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right),$

where the gradient ∇ is the change of the quantity $\mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{B}$ per unit distance and the direction is that of maximum increase of $\mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{B}$. To understand this equation, note that the dot product $\mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{B} = mB\cos(\theta)$, where *m* and *B* represent the magnitude of the **m** and **B** vectors and θ is the angle between them. If **m** is in the same direction as **B** then the dot product is positive and the gradient points 'uphill' pulling the magnet into regions of higher B-field (more strictly larger $\mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{B}$). This equation is strictly only valid for magnets of zero size, but is often a good approximation for not too large magnets. The magnetic force on larger magnets is determined by dividing them into smaller regions having their own **m** then summing up the forces on each of these regions.

Torque on a magnet due to a B-field

Magnetic torque on a magnet due to an external magnetic field can be observed by placing two magnets near each other while allowing one to rotate. Magnetic torque is used to drive simple electric motors. In one simple motor design, a magnet is fixed to a freely rotating shaft and subjected to a magnetic field from an array of electromagnets. By continuously switching the electric current through each of the electromagnets, thereby flipping the polarity of their magnetic fields, like poles are kept next to the rotor; the resultant torque is transferred to the shaft. See Rotating magnetic fields below.

Magnetic torque τ tends to align a magnet's poles with the B-field lines (since **m** is in the direction of the poles this is equivalent to saying that it tends to align **m** in the same direction as **B**). This is why the magnetic needle of a compass points toward earth's north pole. By definition, the direction of the Earth's local magnetic field is the direction in which the north pole of a compass (or of any magnet) tends to point.

Mathematically, the torque τ on a small magnet is proportional both to the applied B-field and to the magnetic moment **m** of the magnet:

$\boldsymbol{\tau} = \mathbf{m} \times \mathbf{B},$

where \times represents the vector cross product. Note that this equation includes all of the qualitative information included above. There is no torque on a magnet if **m** is in the same direction as **B**. (The cross product is zero for two vectors that are in the same direction.) Further, all other orientations feel a torque that twists them toward the direction of **B**.

The magnetic field and electric currents

Currents of electric charges both generate a magnetic field and feel a force due to magnetic B-fields.

Magnetic field due to moving charges and electric currents

All moving charged particles produce magnetic fields. Moving point charges, such as electrons, produce complicated but well known magnetic fields that depend on the charge, velocity, and acceleration of the particles.^[20]

Magnetic field lines form in concentric circles around a cylindrical current-carrying conductor, such as a length of wire. The direction of such a magnetic field can be determined by using the "right hand grip rule" (see figure at right). The strength of the magnetic field decreases with distance from the wire. (For an infinite length wire the strength decreases inversely proportional to the distance.)



Right hand grip rule: current (*I*) flowing through a conductor in the direction indicated by the white arrow produces a magnetic field (*B*) around the conductor as shown by the red arrows.

Bending a current-carrying wire into a loop concentrates the magnetic field inside the loop while weakening it outside. Bending a wire into multiple closely spaced loops to form a coil or "solenoid" enhances this effect. A device so formed around an iron core may act as an **electromagnet**, generating a strong, well-controlled magnetic field. An infinitely long cylindrical electromagnet has a uniform magnetic field inside, and no magnetic field outside. A finite length electromagnet



produces a magnetic field that looks similar to that produced by a uniform permanent magnet, with its strength and polarity determined by the current flowing through the coil.

The magnetic field generated by a steady current I (a constant flow of electric charges in which charge is neither accumulating nor depleting at any point)^[21] is described by the **Biot–Savart law**:

$$\mathbf{B}=rac{\mu_0 I}{4\pi}\intrac{doldsymbol{\ell} imes \mathbf{\hat{r}}}{r^2},$$

where the integral sums over the wire length where vector $d\mathbb{I}$ is the direction of the current, μ_0 is the magnetic constant, *r* is the distance between the location of $d\mathbb{I}$ and the location at which the magnetic field is being calculated, and $\hat{\mathbf{r}}$ is a unit vector in the direction of \mathbf{r} .

A slightly more general^{[22] [23]} way of relating the current I to the B-field is through **Ampère's law**:

$$\oint \mathbf{B} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = \mu_0 I_{\rm enc},$$

where the line integral is over any arbitrary loop and I_{enc} is the current enclosed by that loop. Ampère's law is always valid for steady currents and can be used to calculate the B-field for certain highly symmetric situations such as an infinite wire or an infinite solenoid.

In a modified form that accounts for time varying electric fields, Ampère's law is one of four Maxwell's equations that describe electricity and magnetism.

Force on moving charges and current

Force on a charged particle

A charged particle moving in a B-field experiences a *sideways* force that is proportional to the strength of the magnetic field, the component of the velocity that is perpendicular to the magnetic field and the charge of the particle. This force is known as the **Lorentz force**, and is given by



Charged particle drifts in a magnetic field with (A) no net force, (B) an electric field, **E**, (C) a charge independent force, **F** (e.g. gravity), and (D) an inhomogeneous magnetic field, grad **H**.



$\mathbf{F} = q\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B},$

where \mathbf{F} is the force, q is the electric charge of the particle, \mathbf{v} is the instantaneous velocity of the particle, and \mathbf{B} is the magnetic field (in teslas).

The Lorentz force is always perpendicular to both the velocity of the particle and the magnetic field that created it. When a charged particle moves in a static magnetic field it will trace out a helical path in which the helix axis is parallel to the magnetic field and in which the speed of the particle will remain constant. Because the magnetic force is always perpendicular to the motion, the magnetic field can do no work on an isolated charge. It can only do work indirectly, via the electric field generated by a changing magnetic field. It is often claimed that the magnetic force can do work to a non-elementary magnetic dipole, or to charged particles whose motion is constrained by other forces, but this is incorrect^[24] because the work in those cases is performed by the electric forces of the charges deflected by the magnetic field.

Force on current-carrying wire

The force on a current carrying wire is similar to that of a moving charge as expected since a charge carrying wire is a collection of moving charges. A current carrying wire feels a sideways force in the presence of a magnetic field. The Lorentz force on a macroscopic current is often referred to as the **Laplace force**. Consider a conductor of length 1 and area of cross section A and has charge q which is due to electric current i .If a conductor is placed in a magnetic field of induction B which makes an angle θ (theta) with the velocity of charges in the conductor which has i current

flowing in it. then force exerted due to small particle q is

$$\mathbf{F} = q\mathbf{v}\sin(\theta),$$

then for *n* number of charges it has

$$N = nlA$$

then force exerted on the body is

$$f = \mathbf{F}N = q\mathbf{v}\sin(\theta)(nlA)$$

but

nqvA = i

that is

$$f = \mathbf{B}il\sin(\theta)$$



Direction of force

The direction of force on a charge or a current can be determined by a mnemonic known as the **right-hand rule**. See the figure on the left. Using the right hand and pointing the thumb in the direction of the moving positive charge or positive current and the fingers in the direction of the magnetic field the resulting force on the charge points outwards from the palm. The force on a negatively charged particle is in the opposite direction. If both the speed and the charge are reversed then the direction of the force remains the same. For that reason a magnetic field measurement (by itself) cannot distinguish whether there is a positive charge moving to

the right or a negative charge moving to the left. (Both of these cases produce the same current.) On the other hand, a magnetic field combined with an electric field *can* distinguish between these, see Hall effect below.

An alternative mnemonic to the right hand rule is Fleming's left hand rule.

H and B inside and outside of magnetic materials

The formulas derived for the magnetic field above are correct when dealing with the entire current. A magnetic material placed inside a magnetic field, though, generates its own bound current which can be a challenge to calculate. (This bound current is due to the sum of atomic sized current loops and the spin of the subatomic particles such as electrons that make up the material.) The H-field as defined above helps factor out this bound current; but in order to see how, it helps to introduce the concept of *magnetization* first.

Magnetization

The **magnetization** field **M** represents how strongly a region of material is magnetized. For a uniform magnet, the magnetization is equal to its magnetic moment, **m**, divided by its volume. More generally, the magnetization of a region is defined as net magnetic dipole moment per unit volume of that region. Since the SI unit of magnetic moment is ampere-turn meter², the SI unit of magnetization **M** is ampere-turn per meter which is identical to that of the **H**-field.

The magnetization \mathbf{M} field of a region points in the direction of the average magnetic dipole moment in the region and is in the same direction as the local **B**-field it produces. Therefore, **M** field lines move from near the south pole of a magnet to near its north. Unlike **B**, magnetization only exists inside a magnetic material. Therefore, magnetization field lines begin and end near magnetic poles.

The physically correct way to represent magnetization is to add all of the currents of the dipole moments that produce the magnetization. See Magnetic dipoles below and magnetic poles vs. atomic currents for more information. The resultant current is called *bound current* and is the source of the magnetic field due to the magnet. Given the definition of the magnetic dipole, the magnetization field follows a similar law to that of Ampere's law: [25]

$$\oint \mathbf{M} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = I_{\rm b},$$

where the integral is a line integral over any closed loop and I_{b} is the 'bound current' enclosed by that closed loop.

It is also possible to model the magnetization in terms of magnetic charge in which magnetization begins at and ends at bound 'magnetic charges'. If a given region, therefore, has a net positive 'magnetic charge' then it will have more magnetic field lines entering it than leaving it. Mathematically this is equivalent to:

$$\oint_{S} \mu_0 \mathbf{M} \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{A} = -q_M,$$

where the integral is a closed surface integral over the closed surface S and q_M is the 'magnetic charge' (in units of magnetic flux) enclosed by S. (A closed surface completely surrounds a region with no holes to let any field lines escape.) The negative sign occurs because, like **B** *inside* a magnet, the magnetization field moves from south to north.

H-field and magnetic materials

The **H**-field is defined as:

$$\mathbf{H} \equiv \frac{\mathbf{B}}{\mu_0} - \mathbf{M}$$
,(definition of **H** in SI units)

With this definition, Ampere's law becomes:

$$\oint \mathbf{H} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = \oint (rac{\mathbf{B}}{\mu_0} - \mathbf{M}) \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = I_{ ext{tot}} - I_{ ext{b}} = I_{ ext{f}},$$

where I_f represents the 'free current' enclosed by the loop so that the line integral of **H** does not depend at all on the bound currents.^[26] For the differential equivalent of this equation see Maxwell's equations. Ampere's law leads to the boundary condition

$$H_{1,\parallel} - H_{2,\parallel} = \mathbf{K}_{\mathrm{f}},$$

where \mathbf{K}_{f} is the surface free current density.^[27]

Similarly, a surface integral of **H** over any closed surface is independent of the free currents and picks out the 'magnetic charges' within that closed surface:

$$\oint_{S} \mu_0 \mathbf{H} \cdot d\mathbf{A} = \oint_{S} (\mathbf{B} - \mu_0 \mathbf{M}) \cdot d\mathbf{A} = (0 - (-q_M)) = q_M,$$

which does not depend on the free currents.

The **H**-field, therefore, can be separated into $two^{[28]}$ independent parts:

$\mathbf{H}=\mathbf{H}_0+\mathbf{H}_d,$

where \mathbf{H}_0 is the applied magnetic field due only to the free currents and \mathbf{H}_d is the demagnetizing field due only to the bound currents.

The magnetic **H**-field, therefore, re-factors the bound current in terms of 'magnetic charges'. The **H** field lines loop only around 'free current' and, unlike the magnetic **B** field, begins and ends at near magnetic poles as well.

Magnetism

Most materials respond to an applied B-field by producing their own magnetization **M** and therefore their own B-field. Typically, the response is very weak and exists only when the magnetic field is applied. The term **'magnetism**' describes how materials respond on the microscopic level to an applied magnetic field and is used to categorize the magnetic phase of a material. Materials are divided into groups based upon their magnetic behavior:

- Diamagnetic materials^[29] produce a magnetization that opposes the magnetic field.
- Paramagnetic materials^[29] produce a magnetization in the same direction as the applied magnetic field.
- Ferromagnetic materials and the closely related ferrimagnetic materials and antiferromagnetic materials^[30] [^{31]} can have a magnetization independent of an applied B-field with a complex relationship between the two fields.
- Superconductors (and ferromagnetic superconductors)^{[32] [33]} are materials that are characterized by perfect conductivity below a critical temperature and magnetic field. They also are highly magnetic and can be perfect diamagnets below a lower critical magnetic field. Superconductors often have a broad range of temperatures and magnetic fields (the so named mixed state) for which they exhibit a complex hysteretic dependence of **M** on **B**.

In the case of paramagnetism and diamagnetism, the magnetization \mathbf{M} is often proportional to the applied magnetic field such that:

$\mathbf{B}=\mu\mathbf{H},$

where μ is a material dependent parameter called the permeability. In some cases the permeability may be a second rank tensor so that **H** may not point in the same direction as **B**. These relations between **B** and **H** are examples of constitutive equations. However, superconductors and ferromagnets have a more complex **B** to **H** relation, see magnetic hysteresis.

Energy stored in magnetic fields

Energy is needed to generate a magnetic field both to work against the electric field that a changing magnetic field creates and to change the magnetization of any material within the magnetic field. For non-dispersive materials this same energy is released when the magnetic field is destroyed so that this energy can be modeled as being stored in the magnetic field.

For linear, non-dispersive, materials (such that $\mathbf{B} = \mu \mathbf{H}$ where μ is frequency-independent), the energy density is:

$$u = \frac{\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{B}}{2\mu} = \frac{\mu \mathbf{H} \cdot \mathbf{H}}{2}.$$

If there are no magnetic materials around then μ can be replaced by μ_0 . The above equation cannot be used for nonlinear materials, though; a more general expression given below must be used.

In general, the incremental amount of work per unit volume δW needed to cause a small change of magnetic field $\delta \mathbf{B}$ is:

$\delta W = \mathbf{H} \cdot \delta \mathbf{B}.$

Once the relationship between \mathbf{H} and \mathbf{B} is known this equation is used to determine the work needed to reach a given magnetic state. For hysteretic materials such as ferromagnets and superconductors the work needed will also depend

on how the magnetic field is created. For linear non-dispersive materials, though, the general equation leads directly to the simpler energy density equation given above.

Electromagnetism: the relationship between magnetic and electric fields

Faraday's Law: Electric force due to a changing B-field

A changing magnetic field, such as a magnet moving through a conducting coil, generates an electric field (and therefore tends to drive a current in the coil). This is known as **Faraday's law** and forms the basis of many electrical generators and electric motors.

Mathematically, Faraday's law is:

$${\cal E}=-rac{d\Phi_m}{dt}$$

where ε is the electromotive force (or *EMF*, the voltage generated around a closed loop) and $\Phi_{\rm m}$ is the **magnetic** flux—the product of the area times the magnetic field normal to that area. (This definition of magnetic flux is why **B** is often referred to as **magnetic flux density**.)

The negative sign is necessary and represents the fact that any current generated by a changing magnetic field in a coil produces a magnetic field that *opposes* the **change** in the magnetic field that induced it. This phenomenon is known as Lenz's Law.

This integral formulation of Faraday's law can be converted^[34] into a differential form, which applies under slightly different conditions. This form is covered as one of Maxwell's equations below.

Maxwell's correction to Ampère's Law: The magnetic field due to a changing electric field

Similar to the way that a changing magnetic field generates an electric field, a changing electric field generates a magnetic field. This fact is known as 'Maxwell's correction to Ampère's law'. Maxwell's correction to Ampère's Law bootstrap together with Faraday's law of induction to form electromagnetic waves, such as light. Thus, a changing electric field generates a changing magnetic field which generates a changing electric field again.

Maxwell's correction to Ampère law is applied as an additive term to Ampere's law given above. This additive term is proportional to the time rate of change of the electric flux and is similar to Faraday's law above but with a different and positive constant out front. (The electric flux through an area is proportional to the area times the perpendicular part of the electric field.)

This full Ampère law including the correction term is known as the Maxwell–Ampère equation. It is not commonly given in integral form because the effect is so small that it can typically be ignored in most cases where the integral form is used. The Maxwell term *is* critically important in the creation and propagation of electromagnetic waves. These, though, are usually described using the differential form of this equation given below.

Maxwell's equations

Like all vector fields the B-field has two important mathematical properties that relates it to its *sources*. (For magnetic fields the *sources* are currents and changing electric fields.) These two properties, along with the two corresponding properties of the electric field, make up **Maxwell's Equations**. Maxwell's Equations together with the Lorentz force law form a complete description of classical electrodynamics including both electricity and magnetism.

The first property is the divergence of a vector field \mathbf{A} , $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A}$ which represents how \mathbf{A} 'flows' outward from a given point. As discussed above, a B-field line never starts or ends at a point but instead forms a complete loop. This is mathematically equivalent to saying that the divergence of \mathbf{B} is zero. (Such vector fields are called solenoidal vector fields.) This property is called Gauss's law for magnetism and is equivalent to the statement that there are no magnetic charges or magnetic monopoles. The electric field on the other hand begins and ends at electric charges so that its divergence is non-zero and proportional to the charge density (See Gauss's law).

The second mathematical property is called the curl, such that $\nabla \times \mathbf{A}$ represents how \mathbf{A} curls or 'circulates' around a given point. The result of the curl is called a 'circulation source'. The equations for the curl of \mathbf{B} and of \mathbf{E} are called the Ampère–Maxwell equation and Faraday's law respectively. They represent the differential forms of the integral equations given above.

The complete set of Maxwell's equations then are:



Magnetic field, like all pseudovectors, changes sign when reflected in a mirror: When a current carrying loop (black) is reflected in a mirror (dotted line), its magnetic field (blue) is reflected *and* reversed.

$$egin{aligned} &
abla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0, \ &
abla \cdot \mathbf{E} = rac{
ho}{\epsilon_0}, \ &
abla \times \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \mathbf{J} + \mu_0 arepsilon_0 rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t}, \ &
abla \times \mathbf{E} = -rac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}, \end{aligned}$$

where \mathbf{J} = complete microscopic current density and ρ is the charge density.

Technically, **B** is a pseudovector (also called an *axial vector*) due to being defined by a vector cross product. (See diagram to right.)

As discussed above, materials respond to an applied electric **E** field and an applied magnetic **B** field by producing their own internal 'bound' charge and current distributions that contribute to **E** and **B** but are difficult to calculate. To circumvent this problem the auxiliary **H** and **D** fields are defined so that Maxwell's equations can be re-factored in terms of the *free current density* \mathbf{J}_{f} and *free charge density* ϱ_{f} :

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0,$$

 $abla \cdot \mathbf{D} =
ho_f,$

$$abla imes \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{J}_f + rac{\partial \mathbf{D}}{\partial t},$$
 $abla imes \mathbf{E} = -rac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}.$

These equations are not any more general than the original equations (if the 'bound' charges and currents in the material are known'). They also need to be supplemented by the relationship between \mathbf{B} and \mathbf{H} as well as that between \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{D} . On the other hand, for simple relationships between these quantities this form of Maxwell's equations can circumvent the need to calculate the bound charges and currents.

Electric and magnetic fields: different aspects of the same phenomenon

According to the special theory of relativity, the partition of the electromagnetic force into separate electric and magnetic components is not fundamental, but varies with the observational frame of reference: An electric force perceived by one observer may be perceived by another (in a different frame of reference) as a magnetic force, or a mixture of electric and magnetic forces.

Formally, special relativity combines the electric and magnetic fields into a rank-2 tensor, called the **electromagnetic tensor**. Changing reference frames *mixes* these components. This is analogous to the way that special relativity *mixes* space and time into spacetime, and mass, momentum and energy into four-momentum.

Magnetic vector potential

In advanced topics such as quantum mechanics and relativity it is often easier to work with a potential formulation of electrodynamics rather than in terms of the electric and magnetic fields. In this representation, the **vector potential**, **A**, and the scalar potential, φ , are defined such that:

$$egin{aligned} \mathbf{B} &=
abla imes \mathbf{A}, \ \mathbf{E} &= -
abla arphi - rac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t} \end{aligned}$$

The vector potential **A** may be interpreted as a *generalized potential momentum per unit charge*^[35] just as φ is interpreted as a *generalized potential energy per unit charge*.

Maxwell's equations when expressed in terms of the potentials can be cast into a form that agrees with special relativity with little effort.^[36] In relativity **A** together with φ forms the four-potential analogous to the four-momentum which combines the momentum and energy of a particle. Using the four potential instead of the electromagnetic tensor has the advantage of being much simpler; further it can be easily modified to work with quantum mechanics.

Quantum electrodynamics

In modern physics, the electromagnetic field is understood to be not a *classical* field, but rather a quantum field; it is represented not as a vector of three numbers at each point, but as a vector of three quantum operators at each point. The most accurate modern description of the electromagnetic interaction (and much else) is **Quantum electrodynamics** (QED),^[37] which is incorporated into a more complete theory known as the "**Standard Model** of particle physics".

In QED, the magnitude of the electromagnetic interactions between charged particles (and their antiparticles) is computed using perturbation theory; these rather complex formulas have a remarkable pictorial representation as Feynman diagrams in which virtual photons are exchanged.

Predictions of QED agree with experiments to an extremely high degree of accuracy: currently about 10^{-12} (and limited by experimental errors); for details see precision tests of QED. This makes QED one of the most accurate physical theories constructed thus far.

All equations in this article are in the classical approximation, which is less accurate than the quantum description mentioned here. However, under most everyday circumstances, the difference between the two theories is negligible.

Important uses and examples of magnetic field

Earth's magnetic field

The **Earth's magnetic field** is thought to be produced by convection currents in the outer liquid of Earth's core. The Dynamo theory proposes that these movements produce electric currents which, in turn, produce the magnetic field.^[38]

The presence of this field causes a compass, placed anywhere within it, to rotate so that the "north pole" of the magnet in the compass points roughly north, toward Earth's north magnetic pole. This is the traditional definition of the "north pole" of a magnet, although other equivalent definitions are also possible.

One confusion that arises from this definition is that, if Earth itself is considered as a magnet, the *south* pole of that magnet would be the one nearer the north magnetic pole, and vice-versa^[39] (opposite poles attract, so the north pole of the compass magnet is attracted to the south pole of Earth's interior magnet).

The north magnetic pole is so-named not because of the polarity of the field there but because of its geographical location. The north and south poles of a permanent magnet are so-called because they are "north-seeking" and "south-seeking", respectively.^[40]

The figure to the right is a sketch of Earth's magnetic field represented by field lines. For most locations, the magnetic field has a significant up/down component in addition to the North/South component. (There is also an East/West component; Earth's magnetic poles do not coincide exactly with Earth's geological pole.) The magnetic field can be visualised as a bar magnet buried deep in Earth's interior.



A sketch of Earth's magnetic field representing the source of the field as a magnet. The geographic north pole of Earth is near the top of the diagram, the south pole near the bottom. The south pole of that magnet is deep in Earth's interior below Earth's North Magnetic Pole.

Earth's magnetic field is not constant — the strength of the field and the location of its poles vary. Moreover, the poles periodically reverse their orientation in a process called geomagnetic reversal. The most recent reversal occurred 780,000 years ago.

Rotating magnetic fields

The **rotating magnetic field** is a key principle in the operation of alternating-current motors. A permanent magnet in such a field rotates so as to maintain its alignment with the external field. This effect was conceptualized by Nikola Tesla, and later utilized in his, and others', early AC (alternating-current) electric motors.

A rotating magnetic field can be constructed using two orthogonal coils with 90 degrees phase difference in their AC currents. However, in practice such a system would be supplied through a three-wire arrangement with unequal currents.

This inequality would cause serious problems in standardization of the conductor size and so, in order to overcome it, three-phase systems are used where the three currents are equal in magnitude and have 120 degrees phase difference. Three similar coils having mutual geometrical angles of 120 degrees create the rotating magnetic field in

this case. The ability of the three-phase system to create a rotating field, utilized in electric motors, is one of the main reasons why three-phase systems dominate the world's electrical power supply systems.

Because magnets degrade with time, synchronous motors use DC voltage fed rotor windings which allows the excitation of the machine to be controlled and induction motors use short-circuited rotors (instead of a magnet) following the rotating magnetic field of a multicoiled stator. The short-circuited turns of the rotor develop eddy currents in the rotating field of the stator, and these currents in turn move the rotor by the Lorentz force.

In 1882, Nikola Tesla identified the concept of the rotating magnetic field. In 1885, Galileo Ferraris independently researched the concept. In 1888, Tesla gained U.S. Patent 381968 ^[41] for his work. Also in 1888, Ferraris published his research in a paper to the *Royal Academy of Sciences* in Turin.

Hall effect

The charge carriers of a current carrying conductor placed in a transverse magnetic field experience a sideways Lorentz force; this results in a charge separation in a direction perpendicular to the current and to the magnetic field. The resultant voltage in that direction is proportional to the applied magnetic field. This is known as the **'Hall effect**'.

The *Hall effect* is often used to measure the magnitude of a magnetic field. It is used as well to find the sign of the dominant charge carriers in materials such as semiconductors (negative electrons or positive holes).

Magnetic circuits

An important use of *H* is in **magnetic circuits** where inside a linear material $B = \mu H$. Here, μ is the magnetic permeability of the material. This result is similar in form to Ohm's law $J = \sigma E$, where *J* is the current density, σ is the conductance and *E* is the electric field. Extending this analogy, the counterpart to the macroscopic Ohm's law (I = V/R) is:

$$\Phi = \frac{F}{R_m},$$

where $\Phi = \int \mathbf{B} \cdot d\mathbf{A}$ is the magnetic flux in the circuit, $F = \int \mathbf{H} \cdot d\mathbf{l}$ is the magnetomotive force applied to

the circuit, and R_m is the reluctance of the circuit. Here the reluctance R_m is a quantity similar in nature to resistance for the flux.

Using this analogy it is straight-forward to calculate the magnetic flux of complicated magnetic field geometries, by using all the available techniques of circuit theory.

Magnetic field shape descriptions

- An azimuthal magnetic field is one that runs east-west.
- A meridional magnetic field is one that runs north-south. In the solar dynamo model of the Sun, differential rotation of the solar plasma causes the meridional magnetic field to stretch into an azimuthal magnetic field, a process called the *omega-effect*. The reverse process is called the *alpha-effect*.^[42]
- A dipole magnetic field is one seen around a bar magnet or around a charged elementary particle with nonzero spin.
- A quadrupole magnetic field is one seen, for example, between the poles of four bar magnets. The field strength grows linearly with the radial distance from its longitudinal axis.
- A solenoidal magnetic field is similar to a dipole magnetic field, except that a solid bar magnet is replaced by a hollow electromagnetic coil magnet.
- \mathbb{S} 5 S Schematic quadrupole magnet ("four-pole") magnetic field. There are four steel pole tips, two

opposing magnetic north poles and two opposing magnetic south poles.

- A toroidal magnetic field occurs in a doughnut-shaped coil, the electric current spiraling around the tube-like surface, and is found, for example, in a tokamak.
- A **poloidal** magnetic field is generated by a current flowing in a ring, and is found, for example, in a tokamak.
- A radial magnetic field is one in which the field lines are directed from the center outwards, similar to the spokes in a bicycle wheel. An example can be found in a loudspeaker transducers (driver).^[43]
- A helical magnetic field is corkscrew-shaped, and sometimes seen in space plasmas such as the Orion Molecular Cloud.^[44]

Magnetic dipoles

The magnetic field of a magnetic dipole is depicted on the right. From outside, the ideal magnetic dipole is identical to that of an ideal electric dipole of the same strength. Unlike the electric dipole, a magnetic dipole is properly modeled as a current loop having a current I and an area a. Such a current loop has a magnetic moment of:

$$m = Ia$$
,

where the direction of m is perpendicular to the area of the loop and depends on the direction of the current using the right-hand rule. An ideal magnetic dipole is modeled as a real magnetic dipole whose area a has been reduced to zero and its current I increased to infinity such that the product m = Ia is finite. In this model it is easy to see the connection between angular momentum and magnetic moment which is the basis of the Einstein-de Haas effect "rotation by magnetization" and its inverse, the Barnett effect or "magnetization by rotation".^[45]



Rotating the loop faster (in the same direction) increases the current and therefore the magnetic moment, for example.

It is sometimes useful to model the magnetic dipole similar to the electric dipole with two equal but opposite magnetic charges (one south the other north) separated by distance d. This model produces an H-field not a B-field. Such a model is deficient, though, both in that there are no magnetic charges and in that it obscures the link between electricity and magnetism. Further, as discussed above it fails to explain the inherent connection between angular momentum and magnetism.

Magnetic monopole (hypothetical)

A **magnetic monopole** is a hypothetical particle (or class of particles) that has, as its name suggests, only one magnetic pole (either a north pole or a south pole). In other words, it would possess a "magnetic charge" analogous to an electric charge. Magnetic field lines would start or end on magnetic monopoles, so if they exist, they would give exceptions to the rule that magnetic field lines neither start nor end.

Modern interest in this concept stems from particle theories, notably Grand Unified Theories and superstring theories, that predict either the existence, or the possibility, of magnetic monopoles. These theories and others have inspired extensive efforts to search for monopoles. Despite these efforts, no magnetic monopole has been observed to date.^[46]

In recent research, materials known as spin ices can simulate monopoles, but do not contain actual monopoles.

Notes

- Technically, a magnetic field is a pseudo vector; pseudo-vectors, which also include torque and rotational velocity, are similar to vectors except that they remain unchanged when the coordinates are inverted.
- [2] His Epistola Petri Peregrini de Maricourt ad Sygerum de Foucaucourt Militem de Magnete, which is often shortened to Epistola de magnete, is dated 1269 C.E.
- [3] By the definition of magnetization, in this model, and in analogy to the physics of springs, the work done per unit volume, in stretching and twisting the *bonds* between *magnetic charge* to increment the magnetization by $\mu_0 \delta M$ is $W = H \cdot \mu_0 \delta M$. In this model, $B = \mu_0 (H + M)$ is an effective magnetization which includes the *H*-field term to account for the energy of setting up the magnetic field in a vacuum. Therefore the total energy density increment needed to increment the magnetic field is $W = H \cdot \delta B$.
- [4] It is a remarkable fact that from the 'outside' the field of a dipole of magnetic charge has the exact same form as that of an elementary current loop called a magnetic dipole. It is therefore only for the physics of magnetism 'inside' of magnetic material that the two models differ.
- [5] Electromagnetics, by Rothwell and Cloud, p23 (http://books.google.com/books?id=jCqv1UygjA4C&pg=PA23)
- [6] R.P. Feynman, R.B. Leighton, M. Sands (1963). The Feynman Lectures on Physics, volume 2.
- [7] Edward Purcell, in Electricity and Magnetism, McGraw-Hill, 1963, writes, *Even some modern writers who treat* **B** *as the primary field feel obliged to call it the magnetic induction because the name magnetic field was historically preempted by* **H**. *This seems clumsy and pedantic. If you go into the laboratory and ask a physicist what causes the pion trajectories in his bubble chamber to curve, he'll probably answer "magnetic field", not "magnetic induction." You will seldom hear a geophysicist refer to the Earth's magnetic induction, or an astrophysicist talk about the magnetic induction of the galaxy. We propose to keep on calling* **B** *the magnetic field. As for* **H**, *although other names have been invented for it, we shall call it "the field* **H**" *or even "the magnetic field* **H**." In a similar vein, M Gerloch (1983). *Magnetism and Ligand-field Analysis* (http://books.google.com/?id=Ovo8AAAAIAAJ&pg=PA110). Cambridge University Press. p. 110.
 ISBN 0521249392. . says: "So we may think of both **B** and **H** as magnetic fields, but drop the word 'magnetic' from **H** so as to maintain the distinction ... As Purcell points out, 'it is only the names that give trouble, not the symbols'."
- [8] This can be seen from the magnetic part of the Lorentz force law $\mathbf{F}_{mag} = (q\mathbf{vB})$.
- [9] Magnetic Field Strength Converter (http://www.unitconversion.org/unit_converter/magnetic-field-strength.html), UnitConversion.org.
- [10] "Gravity Probe B Executive Summary" (http://www.nasa.gov/pdf/168808main_gp-b_pfar_cvr-pref-execsum.pdf). pp. 10,21..
- [11] "With record magnetic fields to the 21st Century" (http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpl/freeabs_all.jsp?arnumber=823621). IEEE Xplore. .
- [12] Kouveliotou, C.; Duncan, R. C.; Thompson, C. (February 2003). "Magnetars (http://solomon.as.utexas.edu/~duncan/sciam.pdf)". Scientific American; Page 36.
- [13] The use of iron filings to display a field presents something of an exception to this picture; the filings alter the magnetic field so that it is much larger along the "lines" of iron, due to the large permeability of iron relative to air.
- [14] Here 'small' means that the observer is sufficiently far away that it can be treated as being infinitesimally small. 'Larger' magnets need to include more complicated terms in the expression and depend on the entire geometry of the magnet not just **m**.
- [15] Magnetic field lines may also wrap around and around without closing but also without ending. These more complicated non-closing non-ending magnetic field lines are moot, though, since the magnetic field of objects that produce them are calculated by adding the magnetic fields of 'elementary parts' having magnetic field lines that do form closed curves or extend to infinity.
- [16] To see that this must be true imagine placing a compass inside a magnet. There, the north pole of the compass points toward the north pole of the magnet since magnets stacked on each other point in the same direction.
- [17] As discussed above, magnetic field lines are primarily a conceptual tool used to represent the mathematics behind magnetic fields. The total 'number' of field lines is dependent on how the field lines are drawn. In practice, integral equations such as the one that follows in the main text are used instead.
- [18] Either **B** or **H** may be used for the magnetic field outside of the magnet.
- [19] See Eq. 11.42 in E. Richard Cohen, David R. Lide, George L. Trigg (2003). AIP physics desk reference (http://books.google.com/ ?id=JStYf6WlXpgC&pg=PA381) (3 ed.). Birkhäuser. p. 381. ISBN 0387989730.
- [20] Griffiths, David J. (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall. p. 438. ISBN 0-13-805326-X. OCLC 40251748.

- [21] In practice, the Biot-Savart law and other laws of magnetostatics are often used even when the currents are changing in time as long as it is not changing too quickly. It is often used, for instance, for standard household currents which oscillate sixty times per second.
- [22] Griffiths, David J. (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall. pp. 222-225. ISBN 0-13-805326-X. OCLC 40251748.
- [23] The Biot–Savart law contains the additional restriction (boundary condition) that the B-field must go to zero fast enough at infinity. It also depends on the divergence of B being zero, which is always valid. (There are no magnetic charges.)
- [24] Deissler, R.J. (2008). "Dipole in a magnetic field, work, and quantum spin" (http://academic.csuohio.edu/deissler/ PhysRevE_77_036609.pdf). *Physical Review E* 77 (3, pt 2): 036609. Bibcode 2008PhRvE..77c6609D. doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.77.036609. PMID 18517545.
- [25] Griffiths, David J. (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall. pp. 266-8. ISBN 0-13-805326-X. OCLC 40251748.
- [26] John Clarke Slater, Nathaniel Herman Frank (1969). *Electromagnetism* (http://books.google.com/?id=GYsphnFwUuUC&pg=PA69) (first published in 1947 ed.). Courier Dover Publications. p. 69. ISBN 0486622630.
- [27] David Griffiths. Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd 1999 ed.). p. 332.
- [28] A third term is needed for changing electric fields and polarization currents; this displacement current term is covered in Maxwell's equations below.
- [29] RJD Tilley (2004). Understanding Solids (http://books.google.com/?id=ZVgOLCXNoMoC&pg=PA368). Wiley. p. 368. ISBN 0470852755.
- [30] Söshin Chikazumi, Chad D. Graham (1997). Physics of ferromagnetism (http://books.google.com/?id=AZVfuxXF2GsC& printsec=frontcover) (2 ed.). Oxford University Press. p. 118. ISBN 0198517769.
- [31] Amikam Aharoni (2000). Introduction to the theory of ferromagnetism (http://books.google.com/?id=9RvNuIDh0qMC&pg=PA27) (2 ed.). Oxford University Press. p. 27. ISBN 0198508085.
- [32] M Brian Maple et al. (2008). "Unconventional superconductivity in novel materials" (http://books.google.com/?id=PguAgEQTiQwC& pg=PA640). In K. H. Bennemann, John B. Ketterson. Superconductivity. Springer. p. 640. ISBN 3540732527.
- [33] Naoum Karchev (2003). "Itinerant ferromagnetism and superconductivity" (http://books.google.com/?id=3AFo_yxBkD0C&pg=PA169). In Paul S. Lewis, D. Di (CON) Castro. Superconductivity research at the leading edge. Nova Publishers. p. 169. ISBN 1590338618.
- [34] A complete expression for Faraday's law of induction in terms of the electric E and magnetic fields can be written as: $\mathcal{E} = -\frac{d\Phi_m}{\mu}$

$$=\oint_{\partial\Sigma(t)} \left(\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) + \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}, t) \right) \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell} = -\frac{d}{dt} \iint_{\Sigma(t)} d\boldsymbol{A} \cdot \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}, t),$$
 where $\partial\Sigma(t)$ is the moving closed path

bounding the moving surface $\Sigma(t)$, and dA is an element of surface area of $\Sigma(t)$. The first integral calculates the work done moving a charge a distance dI based upon the Lorentz force law. In the case where the bounding surface is stationary, the Kelvin–Stokes theorem can be used to show this equation is equivalent to the Maxwell–Faraday equation.

- [35] E. J. Konopinski (1978). "What the electromagnetic vector potential describes". Am. J. Phys. 46 (5): 499–502.
 Bibcode 1978AmJPh..46..499K. doi:10.1119/1.11298.
- [36] Griffiths, David J. (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall. p. 422. ISBN 0-13-805326-X. OCLC 40251748.
- [37] For a good qualitative introduction see: Feynman, Richard (2006). *QED: the strange theory of light and matter*. Princeton University Press. ISBN 0-691-12575-9.
- [38] Herbert, Yahreas (June 1954). "What makes the earth Wobble" (http://books.google.com/?id=NiEDAAAAMBAJ&pg=PA96& dq=What+makes+the+earth+wobble&q=What makes the earth wobble). *Popular Science* (New York: Godfrey Hammond): p.266.
- [39] College Physics, Volume 10, by Serway, Vuille, and Faughn, page 628 weblink (http://books.google.com/books?id=CX0u0mIOZ44C& pg=PT660). "the geographic North Pole of Earth corresponds to a magnetic south pole, and the geographic South Pole of Earth corresponds to a magnetic north pole".
- [40] Kurtus, Ron (2004). "Magnets" (http://www.school-for-champions.com/science/magnets.htm). School for champions: Physics topics. . Retrieved 17 July 2010.
- [41] http://www.google.com/patents?vid=381968
- [42] The Solar Dynamo (http://www.cora.nwra.com/~werne/eos/text/dynamo.html), retrieved Sep 15, 2007.
- [43] I. S. Falconer and M. I. Large (edited by I. M. Sefton), "Magnetism: Fields and Forces (http://www.physics.usyd.edu.au/super/ life_sciences/electricity.html)" Lecture E6, The University of Sydney, retrieved 3 Oct 2008
- [44] Robert Sanders, "Astronomers find magnetic Slinky in Orion (http://berkeley.edu/news/media/releases/2006/01/12_helical.shtml)", 12 January 2006 at UC Berkeley. Retrieved 3 Oct 2008
- [45] (See magnetic moment for further information.)

B. D. Cullity, C. D. Graham (2008). *Introduction to Magnetic Materials* (http://books.google.com/?id=ixAe4qIGEmwC&pg=PA103) (2 ed.). Wiley-IEEE. p. 103. ISBN 0471477419.

[46] Two experiments produced candidate events that were initially interpreted as monopoles, but these are now regarded to be inconclusive. For details and references, see magnetic monopole.

References

Further reading

- Durney, Carl H. and Johnson, Curtis C. (1969). *Introduction to modern electromagnetics*. McGraw-Hill. ISBN 0-07-018388-0.
- Furlani, Edward P. (2001). *Permanent Magnet and Electromechanical Devices: Materials, Analysis and Applications*. Academic Press Series in Electromagnetism. ISBN 0-12-269951-3. OCLC 162129430.
- Jiles, David (1994). *Introduction to Electronic Properties of Materials* (1st ed ed.). Springer. ISBN 0-412-49580-5.
- Kraftmakher, Yaakov (2001). "Two experiments with rotating magnetic field" (http://www.iop.org/EJ/ abstract/0143-0807/22/5/302). *Eur. J. Phys.* 22: 477–482.
- Melle, Sonia; Rubio, Miguel A.; Fuller, Gerald G. (2000). "Structure and dynamics of magnetorheological fluids in rotating magnetic fields" (http://prola.aps.org/abstract/PRE/v61/i4/p4111_1). *Phys. Rev. E* **61**: 4111–4117.
- Rao, Nannapaneni N. (1994). *Elements of engineering electromagnetics (4th ed.)*. Prentice Hall. ISBN 0-13-948746-8. OCLC 221993786.
- Mielnik, Bogdan (1989). "An electron trapped in a rotating magnetic field" (http://scitation.aip.org/getabs/ servlet/GetabsServlet?prog=normal&id=JMAPAQ00003000002000537000001&idtype=cvips&gifs=yes). *Journal of Mathematical Physics* **30** (2): 537–549.
- Thalmann, Julia K. (2010). Evolution of Coronal Magnetic Fields. uni-edition. ISBN 978-3-942171-41-0.
- Tipler, Paul (2004). *Physics for Scientists and Engineers: Electricity, Magnetism, Light, and Elementary Modern Physics (5th ed.)*. W. H. Freeman. ISBN 0-7167-0810-8. OCLC 51095685.

External links

Information

- Crowell, B., "*Electromagnetism* (http://www.lightandmatter.com/ html_books/0sn/ch11/ch11.html)".
- Nave, R., "Magnetic Field (http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/ magnetic/magfie.html)". HyperPhysics.
- "Magnetism", The Magnetic Field (http://theory.uwinnipeg.ca/physics/ mag/node2.html#SECTION00110000000000000000). theory.uwinnipeg.ca.
- Hoadley, Rick, "What do magnetic fields look like (http://my.execpc.com/ ~rhoadley/magfield.htm)?" 17 July 2005.

Field density

- Oppelt, Arnulf (2006-11-02). "magnetic field strength" (http://searchsmb. techtarget.com/sDefinition/0,290660,sid44_gci763586,00.html). Retrieved 2007-06-04.
- "magnetic field strength converter" (http://www.unitconversion.org/ unit_converter/magnetic-field-strength.html). Retrieved 2007-06-04.

Rotating magnetic fields

- "*Rotating magnetic fields* (http://www.tpub.com/neets/ book5/18a.htm)". Integrated Publishing.
- "Introduction to Generators and Motors", rotating magnetic field (http://www.tpub.com/content/neets/14177/css/ 14177_87.htm). Integrated Publishing.
- "Induction Motor Rotating Fields (http://www.egr.msu. edu/~jurkovi4/Experiment4.pdf)". (dead link)

Diagrams

- McCulloch, Malcolm,"A2: Electrical Power and Machines", Rotating magnetic field (http://www.eng.ox.ac.uk/ ~epgmdm/A2/img89.htm). eng.ox.ac.uk.
- "AC Motor Theory" Figure 2 Rotating Magnetic Field (http://www.tpub.com/content/doe/h1011v4/css/h1011v4_23. htm). Integrated Publishing.
- "*Magnetic Fields*" Arc & Mitre Magnetic Field Diagrams (http://www.first4magnets.com/ekmps/shops/trainer27/ resources/Other/magnetic-fields.pdf). Magnet Expert Ltd.

Current density

Current density is a measure of the density of flow of a conserved charge. Usually the charge is the electric charge, in which case the associated current density is the electric current per unit area of cross section, but the term *current density* can also be applied to other conserved quantities. It is defined as a vector whose magnitude is the current per cross-sectional area.

In SI units, the electric current density is measured in amperes per square metre.

Definition

Electric current is a coarse, average quantity that tells what is happening in an entire wire. The *distribution* of flow of charge is described by the current density:

$$\mathbf{J}(\mathbf{r},t) = qn(\mathbf{r},t) \mathbf{v}_d(\mathbf{r},t) =
ho(\mathbf{r},t) \mathbf{v}_d(\mathbf{r},t),$$

where

 $\mathbf{J}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is the current density vector at location \mathbf{r} at time t (SI unit: amperes per square metre),

 $n(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is the particle density in count per volume at location \mathbf{r} at time t (SI unit: m⁻³),

q is the charge of the individual particles with density n (SI unit: coulombs)

 $\rho(\mathbf{r}, t) = qn(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is the charge density (SI unit: coulombs per cubic metre), and

 $\mathbf{v}_{d}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ is the particles' average drift velocity at position \mathbf{r} at time t (SI unit: metres per second)

Importance

Current density is important to the design of electrical and electronic systems.

Circuit performance depends strongly upon the designed current level, and the current density then is determined by the dimensions of the conducting elements. For example, as integrated circuits are reduced in size, despite the lower current demanded by smaller devices, there is trend toward higher current densities to achieve higher device numbers in ever smaller chip areas. See Moore's law.

At high frequencies, current density can increase because the conducting region in a wire becomes confined near its surface, the so-called skin effect.

High current densities have undesirable consequences. Most electrical conductors have a finite, positive resistance, making them dissipate power in the form of heat. The current density must be kept sufficiently low to prevent the conductor from melting or burning up, or the insulating material failing. At high current densities the material forming the interconnections actually moves, a phenomenon called *electromigration*. In superconductors excessive current density may generate a strong enough magnetic field to cause spontaneous loss of the superconductive property.

The analysis and observation of current density also is used to probe the physics underlying the nature of solids, including not only metals, but also semiconductors and insulators. An elaborate theoretical formalism has developed to explain many fundamental observations.^[1] ^[2]

The current density is an important parameter in Ampère's circuital law (one of Maxwell's equations), which relates current density to magnetic field.

In special relativity theory, charge and current are combined into a 4-vector.

Approximate calculation of current density

A common approximation to the current density assumes the current simply is proportional to the electric field, as expressed by:

$$\mathbf{J} = \sigma \mathbf{E}$$

where **E** is the electric field and σ is the electrical conductivity.

Conductivity σ is the reciprocal (inverse) of electrical resistivity and has the SI units of siemens per metre (S m⁻¹), and **E** has the SI units of newtons per coulomb (N C⁻¹) or, equivalently, volts per metre (V m⁻¹).

A more fundamental approach to calculation of current density is based upon:

$$\mathbf{J}(\mathbf{r},t) = \int_{-\infty}^t \mathrm{d}t' \int \mathrm{d}^3 \mathbf{r}' \ \sigma(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}',t-t') \ \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}',\ t') \, ,$$

indicating the lag in response by the time dependence of σ , and the non-local nature of response to the field by the spatial dependence of σ , both calculated in principle from an underlying microscopic analysis, for example, in the case of small enough fields, the linear response function for the conductive behavior in the material. See, for example, Giuliani or Rammer.^{[3] [4]} The integral extends over the entire past history up to the present time.

As some reflection might indicate, the above conductivity and its associate current density reflect the fundamental mechanisms underlying charge transport in the medium, both in time and over distance.

A Fourier transform in space and time then results in:

$${f J}({f k},\omega)=\sigma({f k},\omega)~{f E}({f k},\omega)$$
 ,

where $\sigma(\mathbf{k}, \omega)$ is now a complex function.

In many materials, for example, in crystalline materials, the conductivity is a tensor, and the current is not necessarily in the same direction as the applied field. Aside from the material properties themselves, the application of magnetic fields can alter conductive behavior.

Current through a surface

The current through a surface area S perpendicular to the flow can be calculated using a surface integral:

$$I = \int_{S} \mathbf{J} \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{A}$$

where the current is in fact the integral of the dot product of the current density vector and the differential of the directed surface element dA, in other words, the net flux of the current density vector field flowing through the surface *S*.

Continuity equation

Because charge is conserved, the net flow out of a chosen volume must equal the net change in charge held inside the volume:

$$\int_{S} \mathbf{J} \cdot d\mathbf{A} = -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{V} \rho \, \mathrm{d}V = -\int_{V} \left(\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t}\right) \mathrm{d}V ,$$

where ρ is the charge density per unit volume, and dA is a surface element of the surface *S* enclosing the volume *V*. The surface integral on the left expresses the current *outflow* from the volume, and the negatively signed volume integral on the right expresses the *decrease* in the total charge inside the volume. From the divergence theorem,

$$\int_{S} \mathbf{J} \cdot \mathrm{d}\mathbf{A} = \int_{V} (\nabla \cdot \mathbf{J}) \mathrm{d}V \; .$$

Hence:

$$\int_V (
abla \cdot \mathbf{J}) \mathrm{d} V \; = - \int_V \left(rac{\partial
ho}{\partial t}
ight) \mathrm{d} V$$

Because this relation is valid for any volume, independent of size or location,

$$abla \cdot {f J} = - rac{\partial
ho}{\partial t}$$
 .

This relation is called the continuity equation.^{[5] [6]}

In practice

- In the domain of electrical wiring (isolated copper), maximum current density can vary from 4A/mm² for a wire isolated from free air to 6A/mm² for a wire in free air. However, for compact designs (e.g. windings of SMPS transformers) the value might be as low as 2A/mm².^[7] If the wire is carrying high frequency currents, depending on its diameter, the skin effect may affect the distribution of the current across the section by concentrating the current on the surface of the conductor. This skin effect plays an important role in Switched-mode power supply transformers where the wires carries high currents and high frequencies (between 10 kHz and 1 MHz). Often in those transformers, the windings are made of multiple isolated wires in parallel with a diameter twice the skin effect.
- In the domain of printed circuit boards, for TOP and BOTTOM layers, maximum current density can be as high as 35A/mm² with a copper thickness of 35 μm. Inner layers cannot dissipate as much power as outer layers; thus it is not a good idea to put high power lines in inner layers.
- In the domain of semiconductors, the maximum current density is given by the manufacturer. A common average is $1\text{mA}/\mu\text{m}^2$ at 25°C for 180 nm technology. Above the maximum current density, apart from the joule effect, some other effects like electromigration appear in the micrometer scale.
- In biological systems, ion channels regulate the flow of ions (for example, sodium, calcium, potassium) across the membrane in all cells. Current density is measured in pA/pF (picoamperes per picofarad), that is, current divided by capacitance, a de facto measure of membrane area.
- In gas discharge lamps, such as flashlamps, current density plays an important role in the output spectrum produced. Low current densities produce spectral line emission and tend to favor longer wavelengths. High current densities produce continuum emission and tend to favor shorter wavelengths.^[8] Low current densities for flash lamps are generally around 1000A/cm². High current densities can be more than 4000A/cm².

References

- [1] Richard P Martin (2004). Electronic Structure: Basic theory and practical methods (http://books.google.com/ books?id=dmRTFLpSGNsC&pg=PA316&dq=isbn=0521782856#PPA369,M1). Cambridge University Press. ISBN 0521782856.
- [2] Alexander Altland & Ben Simons (2006). Condensed Matter Field Theory (http://books.google.com/books?id=0KMkfAMe3JkC& pg=RA4-PA557&dq=isbn=9780521845083#PRA2-PA378,M1). Cambridge University Press. ISBN 9780521845083.
- [3] Gabriele Giuliani, Giovanni Vignale (2005). Quantum Theory of the Electron Liquid (http://books.google.com/ books?id=kFkIKRfgUpsC&pg=PA538&dq="linear+response+theory"+capacitance+OR+conductance#PPA111,M1). Cambridge University Press. p. 111. ISBN 0521821126.
- [4] Jørgen Rammer (2007). Quantum Field Theory of Non-equilibrium States (http://books.google.com/books?id=A7TbrAm5Wq0C& pg=PR6&dq="linear+response+theory"+capacitance+OR+conductance#PPA158,M1). Cambridge University Press. p. 158. ISBN 0521874998.
- [5] Tai L Chow (2006). Introduction to Electromagnetic Theory: A modern perspective (http://books.google.com/ books?id=dpnpMhw1zo8C&pg=PA153&dq=isbn=0763738271#PPA204,M1). Jones & Bartlett. pp. 130–131. ISBN 0763738271.
- [6] Griffiths, D.J. (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd Edition ed.). Pearson/Addison-Wesley. p. 213. ISBN 013805326X.
- [7] A. Pressman et al., Switching power supply design, McGraw-Hill, ISBN 978-0-07-148272-1, page 320
- [8] Xenon lamp photocathodes (https://kb.osu.edu/dspace/bitstream/1811/5654/1/V71N06_343.pdf)

External links

• A short explanation of the current density (http://maxwell.byu.edu/~spencerr/websumm122/node46.html)

Displacement current

In electromagnetism, **displacement current** is a quantity that is defined in terms of the rate of change of electric displacement field. Displacement current has the units of electric current density, and it has an associated magnetic field just as actual currents do. However it is not an electric current of moving charges, but a time-varying electric field. In materials, there is also a contribution from the slight motion of charges bound in atoms, dielectric polarization.

The idea was conceived by James Clerk Maxwell in his 1861 paper On Physical Lines of Force in connection with the displacement of electric particles in a dielectric medium. Maxwell added displacement current to the electric current term in Ampère's Circuital Law. In his 1865 paper A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field Maxwell used this amended version of Ampère's Circuital Law to derive the electromagnetic wave equation. This derivation is now generally accepted as an historical landmark in physics by virtue of uniting electricity, magnetism and optics into one single unified theory. The displacement current term is now seen as a crucial addition that completed Maxwell's equations and is necessary to explain many phenomena, most particularly the existence of electromagnetic waves.

Explanation

The electric displacement field is defined as:

$$\boldsymbol{D}=arepsilon_0\boldsymbol{E}+\boldsymbol{P}$$
 .

where:

 ε_0 is the permittivity of free space

E is the electric field intensity

P is the polarization of the medium

Differentiating this equation with respect to time defines the *displacement current*, which therefore has two components in a dielectric:^[1]

$$oldsymbol{J}_{oldsymbol{D}} = arepsilon_0 rac{\partial oldsymbol{E}}{\partial t} + rac{\partial oldsymbol{P}}{\partial t} \;.$$

The first term on the right hand side is present in material media and in free space. It doesn't necessarily involve any actual movement of charge, but it does have an associated magnetic field, just as does a current due to charge motion. Some authors apply the name *displacement current* to only this contribution.^[2]

The second term on the right hand side is associated with the polarization of the individual molecules of the dielectric material. Polarization results when the charges in molecules move a little under the influence of an applied electric field. The positive and negative charges in molecules separate, causing an increase in the state of polarization P. A changing state of polarization corresponds to charge movement and so is equivalent to a current.

This polarization is the displacement current as it was originally conceived by Maxwell. Maxwell made no special treatment of the vacuum, treating it as a material medium. For Maxwell, the effect of P was simply to change the relative permittivity ε_r in the relation $D = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 E$.

The modern justification of displacement current is explained below.

Isotropic dielectric case

In the case of a very simple dielectric material the constitutive relation holds:

$$\boldsymbol{D} = \varepsilon \boldsymbol{E}$$

where the permittivity $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_r$,

- ε_r is the relative permittivity of the dielectric and
- ε_0 is the electric constant.

In this equation the use of ε , accounts for the polarization of the dielectric.

The scalar value of displacement current may also be expressed in terms of electric flux:

$$I_{
m D} = arepsilon rac{\partial \Phi_E}{\partial t}$$

The forms in terms of ε are correct only for linear isotropic materials. More generally ε may be replaced by a tensor, may depend upon the electric field itself, and may exhibit time dependence (dispersion).

For a linear isotropic dielectric, the polarization P is given by:

$$\boldsymbol{P} = \varepsilon_0 \chi_e \boldsymbol{E} = \varepsilon_0 (\varepsilon_r - 1) \boldsymbol{E}$$

where χ_{ρ} is known as the electric susceptibility of the dielectric. Note that:

$$\varepsilon = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 = (1 + \chi_e) \varepsilon_0.$$

Necessity

Some implications of the displacement current follow, which agree with experimental observation, and with the requirements of logical consistency for the theory of electromagnetism.

Generalizing Ampère's circuital law

Current in capacitors

An example illustrating the need for the displacement current arises in connection with capacitors with no medium between the plates. Consider the charging capacitor in the figure. The capacitor is in a circuit that transfers charge (on a wire external to the capacitor) from the left plate to the right plate, charging the capacitor and increasing the electric field between its plates. The same current enters the right plate (say I) as leaves the left plate. Although current is flowing through the capacitor, no actual charge is transported through the vacuum between its plates. Nonetheless, a magnetic field exists between the plates as though a current were present there as well. The explanation is that a *displacement current* I_D flows in the vacuum, and this current produces the magnetic field in the region between the plates according to Ampère's law:^[3] [4]



while current *I* leaves through surface *L*. Consistency of Ampère's law requires a displacement current $I_D = I$ to flow across surface *R*.

$$\oint_C \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\ell} = \mu_0 I_D$$
 .

where

- \oint_C is the closed line integral around some closed curve *C*.
- **B** is the magnetic field in tesla.
- • is the vector dot product.
- $d\boldsymbol{\ell}$ is an infinitesimal element (differential) of the curve *C* (that is, a vector with magnitude equal to the length of the infinitesimal line element, and direction given by the tangent to the curve *C*).
- μ_0 is the magnetic constant also called the permeability of free space.
- I_D is the net displacement current that links the curve C.

The magnetic field between the plates is the same as that outside the plates, so the displacement current must be the same as the conduction current in the wires, that is,

$$I_D = I$$

which extends the notion of current beyond a mere transport of charge.

Next, this displacement current is related to the charging of the capacitor. Consider the current in the imaginary cylindrical surface shown surrounding the left plate. A current, say I, passes outward through the left surface L of the cylinder, but no conduction current (no transport of real charges) enters the right surface R. Notice that the electric field between the plates E increases as the capacitor charges. That is, in a manner described by Gauss's law, assuming no dielectric between the plates:

$$Q(t) = arepsilon_0 \oint_{\mathcal{S}} d\mathcal{S} \, \cdot \, oldsymbol{E}(t) \; ,$$

where *S* refers to the imaginary cylindrical surface. Assuming a parallel plate capacitor with uniform electric field, and neglecting fringing effects around the edges of the plates, differentiation provides:^[3]

$$rac{dQ}{dt} = I = arepsilon_0 \oint_{\mathcal{S}} d\mathcal{S} \, ullet \, rac{\partial oldsymbol{E}}{\partial t} pprox -S \, arepsilon_0 rac{\partial E}{\partial t} \; ,$$

where the sign is negative because charge leaves this plate (the charge is decreasing), and where S is the area of the face R. The electric field at face L is zero because the field due to charge on the right-hand plate is terminated by the equal but opposite charge on the left-hand plate. Under the assumption of a uniform electric field distribution inside the capacitor, the displacement current density J_D is found by dividing by the area of the surface:

$$J_D = \frac{I_D}{S} = -\frac{I}{S} = \varepsilon_0 \frac{\partial E}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial D}{\partial t} ,$$

where *I* is the current leaving the cylindrical surface (which must equal $-I_D$ as the two currents sum to zero) and J_D is the flow of charge per unit area into the cylindrical surface through the face *R*.

Combining these results, the magnetic field is found using the integral form of Ampère's law with an arbitrary choice of contour provided the displacement current density term is added to the conduction current density (the Ampère-Maxwell equation):^[5]



current.

$$\oint_{\partial S} oldsymbol{B} \cdot doldsymbol{\ell} = \mu_0 \int_S (oldsymbol{J} + \epsilon_0 rac{\partial oldsymbol{E}}{\partial t}) \cdot doldsymbol{S}$$

This equation says that the integral of the magnetic field **B** around a loop ∂S is equal to the integrated current **J** through any surface spanning the loop, plus the displacement current term $\varepsilon_0 \partial E / \partial t$ through the surface. Applying the Ampère-Maxwell equation to surface S_1 we find:

$$B = \frac{\mu_0 I}{2\pi r}$$

However, applying this law to surface S_2 , which is bounded by exactly the same curve ∂S , but lies between the plates, provides:

$$B = \frac{\mu_0 I_D}{2\pi r}$$

Any surface that intersects the wire has current *I* passing through it so Ampère's law gives the correct magnetic field. Also, any surface bounded by the same loop but passing between the capacitor's plates has no charge transport flowing through it, but the $\varepsilon_0 \partial E / \partial t$ term provides a second source for the magnetic field besides charge conduction current. Because the current is increasing the charge on the capacitor's plates, the electric field between the plates is increasing, and the rate of change of electric field gives the correct value for the field *B* found above.

Mathematical formulation

In a more mathematical vein, the same results can be obtained from the underlying differential equations. Consider for simplicity a non-magnetic medium where the relative magnetic permeability is unity, and the complication of magnetization current is absent. The current leaving a volume must equal the rate of decrease of charge in a volume. In differential form this continuity equation becomes:

$$abla {f \cdot J_f} = -rac{\partial
ho_f}{\partial t} \; ,$$

where the left side is the divergence of the free current density and the right side is the rate of decrease of the free charge density. However, Ampère's law in its original form states:

$$oldsymbol{
abla} imes oldsymbol{B} = \mu_0 oldsymbol{J}_f$$
 ,

which implies that the divergence of the current term vanishes, contradicting the continuity equation. (Vanishing of the *divergence* is a result of the mathematical identity that states the divergence of a *curl* is always zero.) This conflict is removed by addition of the displacement current, as then:^{[6] [7]}

$$abla imes oldsymbol{B} = \mu_0 \left(oldsymbol{J} + arepsilon_0 rac{\partial oldsymbol{E}}{\partial t}
ight) = \mu_0 \left(oldsymbol{J}_f + rac{\partial oldsymbol{D}}{\partial t}
ight) \;,$$

and

$$\nabla \cdot (\nabla \times B) = 0 = \mu_0 \left(\nabla \cdot J_f + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \nabla \cdot D \right) ,$$

which is in agreement with the continuity equation because of Gauss's law:

$$oldsymbol{
abla} \cdot oldsymbol{D} =
ho_f$$
 .

Wave propagation

The added displacement current also leads to wave propagation by taking the curl of the equation for magnetic field.^[8]

$$\boldsymbol{J_D} = \epsilon_0 \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{E}}{\partial t}$$

Substituting this form for J into Ampère's law, and assuming there is no bound or free current density contributing to J:

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{B} = \mu_0 \boldsymbol{J_D} \; ,$$

with the result:

$$abla imes (oldsymbol
imes oldsymbol B) = \mu_0 \epsilon_0 rac{\partial}{\partial t} oldsymbol
imes oldsymbol E \;.$$

However,

$$oldsymbol{
abla} imes oldsymbol{E} = -rac{\partial}{\partial t}oldsymbol{B} \; ,$$

leading to the wave equation:^[9]

$$- oldsymbol{
abla} imes (oldsymbol{
abla} imes oldsymbol{B}) =
abla^2 oldsymbol{B} = \mu_0 \epsilon_0 rac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} oldsymbol{B} = rac{1}{c^2} rac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} oldsymbol{B} \;,$$

where use is made of the vector identity that holds for any vector field V(r, t):

$$oldsymbol{
abla} imes (oldsymbol{
abla} imes oldsymbol{V}) = oldsymbol{
abla} (oldsymbol{
abla}oldsymbol{\cdot}oldsymbol{V}) -
abla^2oldsymbol{V}$$

and the fact that the divergence of the magnetic field is zero. An identical wave equation can be found for the electric field by taking the *curl*:

$$abla imes (oldsymbol
imes oldsymbol E) = -rac{\partial}{\partial t} oldsymbol
imes oldsymbol B = -\mu_0 rac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(oldsymbol J + \epsilon_0 rac{\partial}{\partial t} oldsymbol E
ight) \; .$$

$$abla^2 oldsymbol{E} = \mu_0 \epsilon_0 rac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} oldsymbol{E} = rac{1}{c^2} rac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} oldsymbol{E} \; .$$

The electric field can be expressed in the general form:

$$oldsymbol{E} = -oldsymbol{
abla} arphi - rac{\partial oldsymbol{A}}{\partial t} \; ,$$

where φ is the electric potential (which can be chosen to satisfy Poisson's equation) and A is a vector potential. The $\nabla \varphi$ component on the right hand side is the Gauss's law component, and this is the component that is relevant to the conservation of charge argument above. The second term on the right-hand side is the one relevant to the electromagnetic wave equation, because it is the term that contributes to the *curl* of E. Because of the vector identity that says the *curl* of a *gradient* is zero, $\nabla \varphi$ does not contribute to $\nabla \times E$.

History and interpretation

Maxwell's displacement current was postulated in part III of his 1861 paper 'On Physical Lines of Force'. Few topics in modern physics have caused as much confusion and misunderstanding as that of displacement current.^[10] This is in part due to the fact that Maxwell used a sea of molecular vortices in his derivation, while modern textbooks operate on the basis that displacement current can exist in free space. Maxwell's derivation is unrelated to the modern day derivation for displacement current in the vacuum, which is based on consistency between Ampère's law for the magnetic field and the continuity equation for electric charge.

Maxwell's purpose is stated by him at (Part I, p. 161):

I propose now to examine magnetic phenomena from a mechanical point of view, and to determine what tensions in, or motions of, a medium are capable of producing the mechanical phenomena observed.

He is careful to point out the treatment is one of analogy:

The author of this method of representation does not attempt to explain the origin of the observed forces by the effects due to these strains in the elastic solid, but makes use of the mathematical analogies of the two problems to assist the imagination in the study of both.

In part III, in relation to displacement current, he says

I conceived the rotating matter to be the substance of certain cells, divided from each other by cell-walls composed of particles which are very small compared with the cells, and that it is by the motions of these particles, and their tangential action on the substance in the cells, that the rotation is communicated from one cell to another.

Clearly Maxwell was driving at magnetization even though the same introduction clearly talks about dielectric polarization.

Maxwell concluded, using Newton's equation for the speed of sound (*Lines of Force*, Part III, equation (132)), that "light consists of transverse undulations in the same medium that is the cause of electric and magnetic phenomena."

But although the above quotations point towards a magnetic explanation for displacement current, for example, based upon the divergence of the above *curl* equation, Maxwell's explanation ultimately stressed linear polarization of dielectrics:

This displacement...is the commencement of a current...The amount of displacement depends on the nature of the body, and on the electromotive force so that if h is the displacement, R the electromotive force, and E a coefficient depending on the nature of the dielectric:

$$R = -4\pi \mathrm{E}^2 h$$
 ;

and if r is the value of the electric current due to displacement

$$r=rac{dh}{dt}$$

,

These relations are independent of any theory about the mechanism of dielectrics; but when we find electromotive force producing electric displacement in a dielectric, and when we find the dielectric recovering from its state of electric displacement...we cannot help regarding the phenomena as those of an elastic body, yielding to a pressure and recovering its form when the pressure is removed.—Part III – *The theory of molecular vortices applied to statical electricity*, pp. 14–15

With some change of symbols (and units): $r \to J$, $R \to -E$ and the material constant $E^{-2} \to 4\pi \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0$ these equations take the familiar form:

$$J=rac{d}{dt}rac{1}{4\pi\mathrm{E}^2}E=rac{d}{dt}arepsilon_rarepsilon_0E=rac{d}{dt}D\;,$$

When it came to deriving the electromagnetic wave equation from displacement current in his 1865 paper A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field, he got around the problem of the non-zero divergence associated with Gauss's law and dielectric displacement by eliminating the Gauss term and deriving the wave equation exclusively for the solenoidal magnetic field vector.

Maxwell's emphasis on polarization diverted attention towards the electric capacitor circuit, and led to the common belief that Maxwell conceived of displacement current so as to maintain conservation of charge in an electric capacitor circuit. There are a variety of debatable notions about Maxwell's thinking, ranging from his supposed desire to perfect the symmetry of the field equations to the desire to achieve compatibility with the continuity equation.^[11] [12]

References

- [1] John D Jackson (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd Edition ed.). Wiley. p. 238. ISBN 047130932X.
- [2] For example, see David J Griffiths (1999). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd Edition ed.). Pearson/Addison Wesley. p. 323. ISBN 013805326X. and Tai L Chow (2006). Introduction to Electromagnetic Theory (http://books.google.com/ books?id=dpnpMhw1zo8C&pg=PA153&dq=isbn=0763738271#PPA204,M1). Jones & Bartlett. p. 204. ISBN 0763738271.
- [3] Stuart B. Palmer, Mircea S. Rogalski (1996). Advanced University Physics (http://books.google.com/books?id=TF6Igz5IJLgC&pg=PP1& dq=Physics+inauthor:"Stuart+B+Palmer"&as_pt=ALLTYPES#PPA214,M1). Taylor & Francis. p. 214. ISBN 2884490655.
- [4] Raymond A. Serway, John W. Jewett (2006). *Principles of Physics* (http://books.google.com/books?id=1DZz341Pp50C&pg=PA807). Thomson Brooks/Cole. p. 807. ISBN 053449143X.
- [5] from Feynman, Richard P.; Robert Leighton, Matthew Sands (1963). *The Feynman Lectures on Physics, Vol. 2.* Massachusetts, USA: Addison-Wesley. pp. 18–4. ISBN 0201021161.
- [6] Raymond Bonnett, Shane Cloude (1995). An Introduction to Electromagnetic Wave Propagation and Antennas (http://books.google.com/ books?id=gME9zlyG304C&pg=PA16&dq=wave+"displacement+current"#PPA16,M1). Taylor & Francis. p. 16. ISBN 1857282418.
- [7] JC Slater and NH Frank (1969). *Electromagnetism* (http://books.google.com/books?id=GYsphnFwUuUC&pg=PA83&dq=displacement+ "ampere's+law"#PPA84,M1) (Reprint of 1947 edition ed.). Courier Dover Publications. p. 84. ISBN 0486622630.
- [8] JC Slater and NH Frank. *Electromagnetism* (http://books.google.com/books?id=GYsphnFwUuUC&pg=PA83&dq=displacement+ "ampere's+law"#PPA91,M1) (op. cit. ed.). p. 91. ISBN 0486622630.
- J Billingham, A C King (2006). Wave Motion (http://books.google.com/books?id=bNePaHM20LQC&pg=PA179&dq=wave+ "displacement+current"#PPA181,M1). Cambridge University Press. p. 182. ISBN 0521634504.
- [10] Daniel M. Siegel (2003). Innovation in Maxwell's Electromagnetic Theory (http://books.google.com/books?id=AbQq85U8K0gC&pg=PA123&dq=Kirchhoff+displacement+current#PPA85,M1). Cambridge University Press. p. 85. ISBN 0521533295.
- [11] Paul J. Nahin (2002). Oliver Heaviside: The Life, Work, and Times of an Electrical Genius of the Victorian Age (http://books.google.com/ books?id=e9wEntQmA0IC&pg=PA109&dq=history+Maxwell+symmetry+of+field+equations&as_pt=ALLTYPES). Johns Hopkins University Press. p. 109. ISBN 0801869099.
- [12] Vyacheslav Stepin (2002). Theoretical Knowledge (http://books.google.com/books?id=4LEns8rzBOEC&pg=PA202&dq=history+ Maxwell+symmetry+of+field+equations&as_pt=ALLTYPES). Springer. p. 202. ISBN 1402030452.

Maxwell's papers

- On Faraday's Lines of Force (http://blazelabs.com/On Faraday's Lines of Force.pdf) Maxwell's paper of 1855
- On Physical Lines of Force Maxwell's paper of 1861
- A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field Maxwell's paper of 1864

Further reading

- AM Bork (http://dx.doi.org/10.1119/1.1969140) Maxwell, Displacement Current, and Symmetry (1963)
- AM Bork (http://dx.doi.org/10.1119/1.1974263) Maxwell and the Electromagnetic Wave Equation (1967)

Electric charge

electric charge	
SI symbol:	Q
SI quantity dimension:	Q
SI unit:	coulomb
other units:	e
Derivations from other quantities:	$Q = I \cdot t$

Electric charge is a physical property of matter that causes it to experience a force when near other electrically charged matter. Electric charge comes in two types, called positive and negative. Two positively charged substances, or objects, experience a mutual repulsive force, as do two negatively charged objects. Positively charged objects and negatively charged objects experience an attractive force. The SI unit of electric charge is the coulomb (C), although in electrical engineering it is also common to use the ampere-hour (Ah). The study of how charged substances interact is classical electrodynamics, which is accurate insofar as quantum effects can be ignored.

The *electric charge* is a fundamental conserved property of some subatomic particles, which determines their electromagnetic interaction. Electrically charged matter is influenced by, and produces, electromagnetic fields. The interaction between a moving charge and an electromagnetic field is the source of the electromagnetic force, which is one of the four fundamental forces (See also: magnetic field).

Twentieth-century experiments demonstrated that electric charge is *quantized*; that is, it comes in multiples of individual small units called the elementary charge, *e*, approximately equal to 1.602×10^{-19} coulombs (except for particles called quarks, which have charges that are multiples of $\frac{1}{3e}$). The proton has a charge of *e*, and the electron has a charge of *-e*. The study of charged particles, and how their interactions are mediated by photons, is quantum electrodynamics.

Overview

Charge is the fundamental property of forms of matter that exhibit electrostatic attraction or repulsion in the presence of other matter. Electric charge is a characteristic property of many subatomic particles. The charges of free-standing particles are integer multiples of the elementary charge *e*; we say that electric charge is *quantized*. Michael Faraday, in his electrolysis experiments, was the first to note the discrete nature of electric charge. Robert Millikan's oil-drop experiment demonstrated this fact directly, and measured the elementary charge.

By convention, the charge of an electron is -1, while that of a proton is +1. Charged particles whose charges have the same sign repel one another, and particles whose charges have different signs attract. Coulomb's law quantifies the electrostatic force between two particles



by asserting that the force is proportional to the product of their charges, and inversely proportional to the square of the distance between them.
The charge of an antiparticle equals that of the corresponding particle, but with opposite sign. Quarks have fractional charges of either $-\frac{1}{3}$ or $+\frac{2}{3}$, but free-standing quarks have never been observed (the theoretical reason for this fact is asymptotic freedom).

The electric charge of a macroscopic object is the sum of the electric charges of the particles that make it up. This charge is often small, because matter is made of atoms, and atoms typically have equal numbers of protons and electrons, in which case their charges cancel out, yielding a net charge of zero, thus making the atom neutral.

An *ion* is an atom (or group of atoms) that has lost one or more electrons, giving it a net positive charge (cation), or that has gained one or more electrons, giving it a net negative charge (anion). *Monatomic ions* are formed from single atoms, while *polyatomic ions* are formed from two or more atoms that have been bonded together, in each case yielding an ion with a positive or negative net charge.



During the formation of macroscopic objects, usually the constituent atoms and ions will combine in such a manner that they form structures composed of neutral *ionic compounds* electrically bound to neutral atoms. Thus macroscopic objects tend toward being neutral overall, but macroscopic objects are rarely perfectly net neutral.

There are times when macroscopic objects contain ions distributed throughout the material, rigidly bound in place, giving an overall net positive or negative charge to the object. Also, macroscopic objects made of conductive elements, can more or less easily (depending on the element) take on or give off electrons, and then maintain a net negative or positive charge indefinitely. When the net electric charge of an object is non-zero and motionless, the phenomenon is known as static electricity. This can easily be produced by rubbing two dissimilar materials together, such as rubbing amber with fur or glass with silk. In this way non-conductive materials can be charged to a significant degree, either positively or negatively. Of course, charge taken from one material is simply moved to the other material, leaving an opposite charge of the same magnitude behind. The law of *conservation of charge* always applies, giving the object from which a negative charge has been taken a positive charge of the same magnitude, and vice-versa.

Even when an object's net charge is zero, charge can be distributed non-uniformly in the object (e.g., due to an external electromagnetic field, or bound polar molecules). In such cases the object is said to be polarized. The charge due to polarization is known as bound charge, while charge on an object produced by electrons gained or lost from outside the object is called *free charge*. The motion of electrons in conductive metals in a specific direction is known as electric current.

Units

The SI unit of quantity of electric charge is the coulomb, which is equivalent to about $6.242 \times 10^{18} e$ (*e* is the charge of a proton). Hence, the charge of an electron is approximately -1.602×10^{-19} C. The coulomb is defined as the quantity of charge that has passed through the cross section of an electrical conductor carrying one ampere within one second. The symbol *Q* is often used to denote a quantity of electricity or charge. The quantity of electric charge can be directly measured with an electrometer, or indirectly measured with a ballistic galvanometer.

After finding the quantized character of charge, in 1891 George Stoney proposed the unit 'electron' for this fundamental unit of electrical charge. This was before the discovery of the particle by J.J. Thomson in 1897. The unit is today treated as nameless, referred to as "elementary charge", "fundamental unit of charge", or simply as "e". A measure of charge should be a multiple of the elementary charge *e*, even if at large scales, charge seems to behave as a real quantity. In some contexts it is meaningful to speak of fractions of a charge; for example in the charging of a

capacitor, or in the fractional quantum Hall effect.

History

As reported by the ancient Greek philosopher Thales of Miletus around 600 BC, charge (or *electricity*) could be accumulated by rubbing fur on various substances, such as amber. The Greeks noted that the charged amber buttons could attract light objects such as hair. They also noted that if they rubbed the amber for long enough, they could even get an electric spark to jump. This property derives from the triboelectric effect.

In 1600, the English scientist William Gilbert returned to the subject in *De Magnete*, and coined the New Latin word *electricus* from $\eta\lambda\epsilon\kappa\tau\varrho\sigma\nu$ (*elektron*), the Greek word for "amber", which soon gave rise to the English words "electric" and "electricity." He was followed in 1660 by Otto von Guericke, who invented what was probably the first electrostatic generator. Other European pioneers were Robert Boyle, who in 1675 stated that electric attraction and repulsion can act across a vacuum; Stephen Gray, who in 1729 classified materials as conductors and insulators; and C. F. du Fay, who proposed in 1733^[1]



that electricity comes in two varieties that cancel each other, and expressed this in terms of a two-fluid theory. When glass was rubbed with silk, du Fay said that the glass was charged with *vitreous electricity*, and, when amber was rubbed with fur, the amber was said to be charged with *resinous electricity*. In 1839, Michael Faraday showed that the apparent division between static electricity, current electricity, and bioelectricity was incorrect, and all were a consequence of the behavior of a single kind of electricity appearing in opposite polarities. It is arbitrary which polarity is called positive and which is called negative. Positive charge can be defined as the charge left on a glass rod after being rubbed with silk.^[2]

One of the foremost experts on electricity in the 18th century was Benjamin Franklin, who argued in favour of a one-fluid theory of electricity. Franklin imagined electricity as being a type of invisible fluid present in all matter; for example, he believed that it was the glass in a Leyden jar that held the accumulated charge. He posited that rubbing insulating surfaces together caused this fluid to change location, and that a flow of this fluid constitutes an electric current. He also posited that when matter contained too little of the fluid it was "negatively" charged, and when it had an excess it was "positively" charged. For a reason that was not recorded, he identified the term "positive" with vitreous electricity and "negative" with resinous electricity. William Watson arrived at the same explanation at about the same time.

Static electricity and electric current

Static electricity and electric current are two separate phenomena, both involving electric charge, and may occur simultaneously in the same object. Static electricity is a reference to the electric charge of an object and the related electrostatic discharge when two objects are brought together that are not at equilibrium. An electrostatic discharge creates a change in the charge of each of the two objects. In contrast, electric current is the flow of electric charge through an object, which produces no net loss or gain of electric charge. Although charge flows between two objects during an electrostatic discharge, time is too short for current to be maintained.

Electrification by friction

Further information: triboelectric effect

Experiment I

Let a piece of glass and a piece of resin, neither of which exhibiting any electrical properties, be rubbed together and left with the rubbed surfaces in contact. They will still exhibit no electrical properties. Let them be separated. They will now attract each other.

If a second piece of glass be rubbed with a second piece of resin, and if the piece be then separated and suspended in the neighbourhood of the former pieces of glass and resin, it may be observed:

- 1. that the two pieces of glass repel each other.
- 2. that each piece of glass attracts each piece of resin.
- 3. that the two pieces of resin repel each other.

These phenomena of attraction and repulsion are called electrical phenomena, and the bodies that exhibit them are said to be 'electrified', or to be 'charged with electricity'.

Bodies may be electrified in many other ways, as well as by friction.

The electrical properties of the two pieces of glass are similar to each other but opposite to those of the two pieces of resin: The glass attracts what the resin repels and repels what the resin attracts.

If a body electrified in any manner whatever behaves as the glass does, that is, if it repels the glass and attracts the resin, the body is said to be 'vitreously' electrified, and if it attracts the glass and repels the resin it is said to be 'resinously' electrified. All electrified bodies are found to be either vitreously or resinously electrified.

It is the established convention of the scientific community to define the vitreous electrification as positive, and the resinous electrification as negative. The exactly opposite properties of the two kinds of electrification justify our indicating them by opposite signs, but the application of the positive sign to one rather than to the other kind must be considered as a matter of arbitrary convention, just as it is a matter of convention in mathematical diagram to reckon positive distances towards the right hand.

No force, either of attraction or of repulsion, can be observed between an electrified body and a body not electrified.^[3]

We now know that the Franklin/Watson model was fundamentally correct. There is only one kind of electrical charge, and only one variable is required to keep track of the amount of charge.^[4] On the other hand, just knowing the charge is not a complete description of the situation. Matter is composed of several kinds of electrically charged particles, and these particles have many properties, not just charge.

The most common charge carriers are the positively charged proton and the negatively charged electron. The movement of any of these charged particles constitutes an electric current. In many situations, it suffices to speak of the *conventional current* without regard to whether it is carried by positive charges moving in the direction of the conventional current and/or by negative charges moving in the opposite direction. This macroscopic viewpoint is an approximation that simplifies electromagnetic concepts and calculations.

At the opposite extreme, if one looks at the microscopic situation, one sees there are many ways of carrying an electric current, including: a flow of electrons; a flow of electron "holes" that act like positive particles; and both negative and positive particles (ions or other charged particles) flowing in opposite directions in an electrolytic solution or a plasma).

Beware that, in the common and important case of metallic wires, the direction of the conventional current is opposite to the drift velocity of the actual charge carriers, i.e., the electrons. This is a source of confusion for beginners.

Properties

Aside from the properties described in articles about electromagnetism, charge is a relativistic invariant. This means that any particle that has charge Q, no matter how fast it goes, always has charge Q. This property has been experimentally verified by showing that the charge of *one* helium nucleus (two protons and two neutrons bound together in a nucleus and moving around at high speeds) is the same as *two* deuterium nuclei (one proton and one neutron bound together, but moving much more slowly than they would if they were in a helium nucleus).

Conservation of electric charge

The total electric charge of an isolated system remains constant regardless of changes within the system itself. This law is inherent to all processes known to physics and can be derived in a local form from gauge invariance of the wave function. The conservation of charge results in the charge-current continuity equation. More generally, the net change in charge density ρ within a volume of integration V is equal to the area integral over the current density **J** through the closed surface $S = \partial V$, which is in turn equal to the net current *I*:

Thus, the conservation of electric charge, as expressed by the continuity equation, gives the result:

$$I = \frac{dQ}{dt}.$$

The charge transferred between times t_i and t_f is obtained by integrating both sides:

$$Q = \int_{t_{\mathrm{i}}}^{t_{\mathrm{f}}} I \,\mathrm{d}t$$

where I is the net outward current through a closed surface and Q is the electric charge contained within the volume defined by the surface.

References

- [1] Two Kinds of Electrical Fluid: Vitreous and Resinous 1733 (http://www.sparkmuseum.com/BOOK_DUFAY.HTM)
- [2] Electromagnetic Fields (2nd Edition), Roald K. Wangsness, Wiley, 1986. ISBN 0-471-81186-6 (intermediate level textbook)
- [3] James Clerk Maxwell A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism, pp. 32-33, Dover Publications Inc., 1954 ASIN: B000HFDK0K, 3rd ed. of 1891
- [4] One Kind of Charge (http://www.av8n.com/physics/one-kind-of-charge.htm)

External links

- · How fast does a charge decay? (http://www.ce-mag.com/archive/2000/marapril/mrstatic.html)
- Science Aid: Electrostatic charge (http://www.scienceaid.co.uk/physics/electricity/charge.html) Easy-to-understand page on electrostatic charge.

Magnetic charge

A magnetic monopole is a hypothetical particle in particle physics that is a magnet with only one magnetic pole (a north pole without a south pole or vice-versa).^[1] ^[2] In more technical terms, a magnetic monopole would have a net "magnetic charge". Modern interest in the concept stems from particle theories, notably the grand unified and superstring theories, which predict their existence.^[3] ^[4] Magnetism in bar magnets and electromagnets does not arise from magnetic monopoles, and in fact there is no conclusive experimental evidence that magnetic monopoles exist at all in the universe.

Many early scientists attributed the magnetism of lodestones to two different "magnetic fluids" ("effluvia"), a north-pole fluid at one end and a south-pole fluid at the other, which attracted and repelled each other in analogy to positive and negative electric charge.^[5] ^[6] However, an improved understanding of electromagnetism in the nineteenth century showed that the magnetism of lodestones was caused by something else, not magnetic monopole fluids. It was concluded that magnetic monopoles did not exist: One of Maxwell's equations, now called Gauss's law for magnetism, is the mathematical statement that



north and south poles. A magnetic monopole cannot be created from normal matter such as atoms and electrons, but would instead be a new elementary particle.

there are no magnetic monopoles. Nevertheless, it was pointed out by Pierre Curie in 1894^[7] that magnetic monopoles *could* conceivably exist, despite not having been seen so far.

The *quantum* theory of magnetic charge started with a paper by the physicist Paul A.M. Dirac in 1931.^[8] In this paper, Dirac showed that if *any* magnetic monopoles exist in the universe, then all electric charge in the universe must be quantized.^[9] The electric charge *is*, in fact, quantized, which suggests (but does not necessarily prove) that monopoles exist.^[9]

Since Dirac's paper, several systematic monopole searches have been performed. Experiments in 1975^[10] and 1982^[11] produced candidate events that were initially interpreted as monopoles, but are now regarded as inconclusive.^[12] Therefore, it remains an open question whether or not monopoles exist.

Further advances in theoretical particle physics, particularly developments in grand unified theories and quantum gravity, have led to more compelling arguments that monopoles do exist. Joseph Polchinski, a prominent string-theorist, described the existence of monopoles as "one of the safest bets that one can make about physics not yet seen".^[13] These theories are not necessarily inconsistent with the experimental evidence. In some theoretical models, magnetic monopoles are unlikely to be observed, because they are too massive to be created in particle accelerators, and also too rare in the Universe to enter a particle detector with much probability.^[13]

Some condensed matter systems propose a structure superficially similar to a magnetic monopole, known as a flux tube. The ends of a flux tube form a magnetic dipole, but since they move independently, they can be treated for many purposes as independent magnetic monopole quasiparticles. Since 2009, numerous news reports from the popular media have incorrectly described these systems as the long-awaited discovery of the magnetic monopoles, but the two phenomena are only superficially related to one another.^[14] These condensed-matter systems continue to be an area of active research. (See "Monopoles" in condensed-matter systems below.)

Background

Magnets exert forces on one another, similar to the force associated with electric charges. *Like* poles will repel each other, and *unlike* poles will attract. When any magnet (an object conventionally described as having magnetic north and south poles) is cut in half across the axis joining those "poles", the resulting pieces are two normal (albeit smaller) magnets. Each has its own north pole and south pole.

Even atoms and subatomic particles have tiny magnetic fields. In the Bohr model of an atom, electrons orbit the nucleus. Their constant motion gives rise to a magnetic field. Permanent magnets have measurable magnetic fields because the atoms and molecules in them are arranged in such a way that their individual magnetic fields align, combining to form large aggregate fields. In this model, the lack of a single pole makes intuitive sense: cutting a bar magnet in half does nothing to the arrangement of the molecules within. The end result is two bar magnetics whose atoms have the same orientation as before, and therefore generate a magnetic field with the same orientation as the original larger magnet.

Maxwell's equations

Maxwell's equations of electromagnetism relate the electric and magnetic fields to each other and to the motions of electric charges. The standard equations provide for electric charges, but they posit no magnetic charges. Except for this difference, the equations are symmetric under the interchange of the electric and magnetic fields.^[15] In fact, symmetric Maxwell's equations can be written when all charges (and hence electric currents) are zero, and this is how the electromagnetic wave equation is derived.

Fully symmetric Maxwell's equations can also be written if one allows for the possibility of "magnetic charges" analogous to electric charges.^[16] With the inclusion of a variable for the density of these magnetic charges, say ρ_m , there will also be a "magnetic current density" variable in the equations, \mathbf{j}_m .

If magnetic charges do not exist - or if they do exist but are not present in a region of space - then the new terms in Maxwell's equations are all zero, and the extended equations reduce to the conventional equations of electromagnetism such as $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$ (where ∇ is divergence and \mathbf{B} is the magnetic \mathbf{B} field).

For a long time, the open question has been "Why does the magnetic charge always seem to be zero?"

In cgs units

The extended Maxwell's equations are as follows, in cgs units:^[17]

Name	Without magnetic monopoles	With magnetic monopoles						
Gauss's law:	$ abla \cdot {f E} = 4 \pi ho_e$	$ abla \cdot {f E} = 4 \pi ho_e$						
Gauss's law for magnetism:	$ abla \cdot {f B} = 0$	$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 4\pi \rho_m$						
Faraday's law of induction:	$- abla imes \mathbf{E} = rac{1}{c}rac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}$	$-\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = \frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} + \frac{4\pi}{c} \mathbf{j}_m$						
Ampère's law (with Maxwell's extension):	$ abla imes {f B} = rac{1}{c} rac{\partial {f E}}{\partial t} + rac{4\pi}{c} {f j}_e$	$ abla imes {f B} = rac{1}{c} rac{\partial {f E}}{\partial t} + rac{4\pi}{c} {f j}_e$						
$ ho_m$ and j_m are defined above. For all other definitions and details, see Maxwell's equations article.								
Note: For the equations in nondimensionalized form, remove the factors of c .								

Maxwell's equations in cgs

The equally-important Lorentz force equation becomes^{[17] [18]}

$$\mathbf{F} = q_e \left(\mathbf{E} + rac{\mathbf{v}}{c} imes \mathbf{B}
ight) + q_m \left(\mathbf{B} - rac{\mathbf{v}}{c} imes \mathbf{E}
ight)$$

In these equations ρ_m is the magnetic charge density, \mathbf{j}_m is the magnetic current density, and q_m is the magnetic charge of a test particle, all defined analogously to the related quantities of electric charge and current; \mathbf{v} is the particle's velocity and *c* is the speed of light.

In SI units

In SI units, there are two conflicting conventions in use for magnetic charge. In one, magnetic charge has units of webers, while in the other, magnetic charge has units of ampere-meters. Maxwell's equations then take the following forms:^[19]

Name	Without magnetic monopoles	Weber convention	Ampere-meter convention
Gauss's Law	$ abla \cdot {f E} = ho_e/\epsilon_0$	$ abla \cdot {f E} = ho_e/\epsilon_0$	$ abla \cdot {f E} = ho_e/\epsilon_0$
Gauss's Law for magnetism	$ abla \cdot {f B} = 0$	$ abla \cdot \mathbf{B} = ho_m$	$ abla \cdot {f B} = \mu_0 ho_m$
Faraday's Law of induction	$- abla imes {f E} = {\partial {f B}\over\partial t}$	$- abla imes \mathbf{E} = rac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} + \mathbf{j}_{m}$	$- abla imes \mathbf{E} = rac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} + \mu_0 \mathbf{j}_m$
Ampère's Law	$ abla imes {f B} = \mu_0 \epsilon_0 rac{\partial {f E}}{\partial t} + \mu_0 {f j}_e$	$ abla imes \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \epsilon_0 rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} + \mu_0 \mathbf{j}_e$	$ abla imes \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \epsilon_0 rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} + \mu_0 \mathbf{j}_e$
Lorentz force equation	$\mathbf{F}=q_{e}\left(\mathbf{E}+\mathbf{v} imes\mathbf{B} ight)$	$egin{aligned} \mathbf{F} &= q_e \left(\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B} ight) + \ &+ rac{q_m}{\mu_0} \left(\mathbf{B} - \mathbf{v} imes (\mathbf{E}/c^2) ight) \end{aligned}$	$\mathbf{F} = q_e \left(\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B} ight) + onumber + q_m \left(\mathbf{B} - \mathbf{v} imes \left(\mathbf{E}/c^2 ight) ight)$

Maxwell's equations and Lorentz force equation with magnetic monopoles: SI units

In these equations ρ_m is the magnetic charge density, \mathbf{j}_m is the magnetic current density, and q_m is the magnetic charge of a test particle, all defined analogously to the related quantities of electric charge and current.

Dirac's quantization

One of the defining advances in quantum theory was Paul Dirac's work on developing a relativistic quantum electromagnetism. Before his formulation, the presence of electric charge was simply "inserted" into the equations of quantum mechanics (QM), but in 1931 Dirac showed that a discrete charge naturally "falls out" of QM. That is to say, we can maintain the form of Maxwell's equations and still have magnetic charges.

Consider a system consisting of a single stationary electric monopole (an electron, say) and a single stationary magnetic monopole. Classically, the electromagnetic field surrounding them has a momentum density given by the Poynting vector, and it also has a total angular momentum, which is proportional to the product $q_e q_m$, and independent of the distance between them.

Quantum mechanics dictates, however, that angular momentum is quantized in units of \hbar , so therefore. the product $q_e q_m$ must also be quantized. This means that if even a single magnetic monopole existed in the universe, and the form of Maxwell's equations is valid, all electric charges would then be quantized.

What are the units in which magnetic charge would be quantized? Although it would be possible simply to integrate over all space to find the total angular momentum in the above example, Dirac took a different approach. This led him to new ideas. He considered a point-like magnetic charge whose magnetic field behaves as q_m/r^2 and is directed in the radial direction. Because the divergence of *B* is equal to zero almost everywhere, except for the locus of the magnetic monopole at r = 0, one can locally define the vector potential such that the curl of the vector potential *A* equals the magnetic field *B*.

However, the vector potential cannot be defined globally precisely because the divergence of the magnetic field is proportional to the Dirac delta function at the origin. We must define one set of functions for the vector potential on the northern hemisphere, and another set of functions for the southern hemispheres. These two vector potentials are matched at the equator, and they differ by a gauge transformation. The wave function of an electrically-charged particle (a "probe charge") that orbits the equator generally changes by a phase, much like in the Aharonov–Bohm effect. This phase is proportional to the electric charge q_e of the probe, as well as to the magnetic charge q_m of the source. Dirac was originally considering an electron whose wave function is described by the Dirac equation.

Because the electron returns to the same point after the full trip around the equator, the phase $\exp(i\varphi)$ of its wave function must be unchanged, which implies that the phase φ added to the wave function must be a multiple of 2π :

$$2\frac{q_e q_m}{\hbar c} \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ (cgs units)}$$

$$\frac{q_e q_m}{2\pi\hbar} \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ (SI units, weber convention)}^{[20]}$$

$$\frac{q_e q_m}{2\pi\epsilon_0 \hbar c^2} \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ (SI units, ampere meter convention)}$$

where

- ϵ_0 is vacuum permittivity
- ħ is reduced Planck's constant
- c is speed of light
- \mathbb{Z} is the set of integers.

This is known as the **Dirac quantization condition**. The hypothetical existence of a magnetic monopole would imply that the electric charge must be quantized in certain units; also, the existence of the electric charges implies that the magnetic charges of the hypothetical magnetic monopoles, if they exist, must be quantized in units inversely proportional to the elementary electric charge.

At the time it was not clear if such a thing existed, or even had to. After all, another theory could come along that would explain charge quantization without need for the monopole. The concept remained something of a curiosity. However, in the time since the publication of this seminal work, no other widely accepted explanation of charge quantization has appeared. (The concept of local gauge invariance—see gauge theory below—provides a natural explanation of charge quantization, without invoking the need for magnetic monopoles; but only if the U(1) gauge group is compact, in which case we will have magnetic monopoles anyway.)

If we maximally extend the definition of the vector potential for the southern hemisphere, it will be defined everywhere except for a semi-infinite line stretched from the origin in the direction towards the northern pole. This semi-infinite line is called the Dirac string and its effect on the wave function is analogous to the effect of the solenoid in the Aharonov–Bohm effect. The quantization condition comes from the requirement that the phases around the Dirac string are trivial, which means that the Dirac string must be unphysical. The Dirac string is merely an artifact of the coordinate chart used and should not be taken seriously.

The Dirac monopole is a singular solution of Maxwell's equation (because it requires removing the worldline from spacetime); in more complicated theories, it is superseded by a smooth solution such as the 't Hooft–Polyakov monopole.

Topological interpretation

Dirac string

A gauge theory like electromagnetism is defined by a gauge field, which associates a group element to each path in space time. For infinitesimal paths, the group element is close to the identity, while for longer paths the group element is the successive product of the infinitesimal group elements along the way.

In electrodynamics, the group is U(1), unit complex numbers under multiplication. For infinitesimal paths, the group element is $1+iA_{\mu}dx^{\mu}$ which implies that for finite paths parametrized by *s*, the group element is:

$$\prod_{s} \left(1 + ieA_{\mu} \frac{dx^{\mu}}{ds} ds \right) = \exp\left(ie \int A \cdot dx \right).$$

The map from paths to group elements is called the Wilson loop or the holonomy, and for a U(1) gauge group it is the phase factor which the wavefunction of a charged particle acquires as it traverses the path. For a loop:

$$e \oint_{\partial D} A \cdot dx = e \int_D (
abla imes A) dS = e \int_D B dS$$

So that the phase a charged particle gets when going in a loop is the magnetic flux through the loop. When a small solenoid has a magnetic flux, there are interference fringes for charged particles which go around the solenoid, or around different sides of the solenoid, which reveal its presence.

But if all particle charges are integer multiples of *e*, solenoids with a flux of $2\pi/e$ have no interference fringes, because the phase factor for any charged particle is $e^{2\pi i} = 1$. Such a solenoid, if thin enough, is quantum-mechanically invisible. If such a solenoid were to carry a flux of $2\pi/e$, when the flux leaked out from one of its ends it would be indistinguishable from a monopole.

Dirac's monopole solution in fact describes an infinitesimal line solenoid ending at a point, and the location of the solenoid is the singular part of the solution, the Dirac string. Dirac strings link monopoles and antimonopoles of opposite magnetic charge, although in Dirac's version, the string just goes off to infinity. The string is unobservable, so you can put it anywhere, and by using two coordinate patches, the field in each patch can be made nonsingular by sliding the string to where it cannot be seen.

Grand unified theories

In a U(1) gauge group with quantized charge, the group is a circle of radius $2\pi/e$. Such a U(1) gauge group is called compact. Any U(1) which comes from a Grand Unified Theory is compact - because only compact higher gauge groups make sense. The size of the gauge group is a measure of the inverse coupling constant, so that in the limit of a large-volume gauge group, the interaction of any fixed representation goes to zero.

The case of the U(1) gauge group is a special case because all its irreducible representations are of the same size the charge is bigger by an integer amount, but the field is still just a complex number — so that in U(1) gauge field theory it is possible to take the decompactified limit with no contradiction. The quantum of charge becomes small, but each charged particle has a huge number of charge quanta so its charge stays finite. In a non-compact U(1) gauge group theory, the charges of particles are generically not integer multiples of a single unit. Since charge quantization is an experimental certainty, it is clear that the U(1) gauge group of electromagnetism is compact.

GUTs lead to compact U(1) gauge groups, so they explain charge quantization in a way that seems to be logically independent from magnetic monopoles. However, the explanation is essentially the same, because in any GUT which breaks down into a U(1) gauge group at long distances, there are magnetic monopoles.

The argument is topological:

- 1. The holonomy of a gauge field maps loops to elements of the gauge group. Infinitesimal loops are mapped to group elements infinitesimally close to the identity.
- 2. If you imagine a big sphere in space, you can deform an infinitesimal loop which starts and ends at the north pole as follows: stretch out the loop over the western hemisphere until it becomes a great circle (which still starts and ends at the north pole) then let it shrink back to a little loop while going over the eastern hemisphere. This is called *lassoing the sphere*.
- 3. Lassoing is a sequence of loops, so the holonomy maps it to a sequence of group elements, a continuous path in the gauge group. Since the loop at the beginning of the lassoing is the same as the loop at the end, the path in the group is closed.
- 4. If the group path associated to the lassoing procedure winds around the U(1), the sphere contains magnetic charge. During the lassoing, the holonomy changes by the amount of magnetic flux through the sphere.
- 5. Since the holonomy at the beginning and at the end is the identity, the total magnetic flux is quantized. The magnetic charge is proportional to the number of windings *N*, the magnetic flux through the sphere is equal to $2\pi N/e$. This is the Dirac quantization condition, and it is a topological condition which demands that the long

distance U(1) gauge field configurations be consistent.

- 6. When the U(1) gauge group comes from breaking a compact Lie group, the path which winds around the U(1) group enough times is topologically trivial in the big group. In a non-U(1) compact Lie group, the covering space is a Lie group with the same Lie algebra, but where all closed loops are contractible. Lie groups are homogenous, so that any cycle in the group can be moved around so that it starts at the identity, then its lift to the covering group ends at *P*, which is a lift of the identity. Going around the loop twice gets you to P^2 , three times to P^3 , all lifts of the identity. But there are only finitely many lifts of the identity, because the lifts can't accumulate. This number of times one has to traverse the loop to make it contractible is small, for example if the GUT group is SO(3), the covering group is SU(2), and going around any loop twice is enough.
- 7. This means that there is a continuous gauge-field configuration in the GUT group allows the U(1) monopole configuration to unwind itself at short distances, at the cost of not staying in the U(1). In order to do this with as little energy as possible, you should leave only the U(1) gauge group in the neighborhood of one point, which is called the **core** of the monopole. Outside the core, the monopole has only magnetic field energy.

Hence, the Dirac monopole is a topological defect in a compact U(1) gauge theory. When there is no GUT, the defect is a singularity — the core shrinks to a point. But when there is some sort of short-distance regulator on space time, the monopoles have a finite mass. Monopoles occur in lattice U(1), and there the core size is the lattice size. In general, they are expected to occur whenever there is a short-distance regulator.

String theory

In our universe, quantum gravity provides the regulator. When gravity is included, the monopole singularity can be a black hole, and for large magnetic charge and mass, the black hole mass is equal to the black hole charge, so that the mass of the magnetic black hole is not infinite. If the black hole can decay completely by Hawking radiation, the lightest charged particles cannot be too heavy. The lightest monopole should have a mass less than or comparable to its charge in natural units.

So in a consistent holographic theory, of which string theory is the only known example, there are always finite-mass monopoles. For ordinary electromagnetism, the mass bound is not very useful because it is about same size as the Planck mass.

Mathematical formulation

In mathematics, a gauge field is defined as a connection over a principal G-bundle over spacetime. G is the gauge group, and it acts on each fiber of the bundle separately.

A *connection* on a G bundle tells you how to glue F's together at nearby points of M. It starts with a continuous symmetry group G which acts on F, and then it associates a group element with each infinitesimal path. Group multiplication along any path tells you how to move from one point on the bundle to another, by acting the G element of a path on the fiber F.

In mathematics, the definition of bundle is designed to emphasize topology, so the notion of connection is added on as an afterthought. In physics, the connection is the fundamental physical object. One of the fundamental observations in the theory of characteristic classes in algebraic topology is that many homotopical structures of nontrivial principal bundles may be expressed as an integral of some polynomial over **any** connection over it. Note that any connection over a trivial bundle can never give us a nontrivial principal bundle.

If space time has no topology, if it is \mathbf{R}^4 the space of all possible connections of the *G*-bundle is connected. But consider what happens when we remove a timelike worldline from spacetime. The resulting spacetime is homotopically equivalent to the topological sphere S^2 .

A principal G-bundle over S^2 is defined by covering S^2 by two charts, each homeomorphic to the open 2-ball such that their intersection is homeomorphic to the strip $S^1 \times I$. 2-balls are homotopically trivial and the strip is homotopically equivalent to the circle S^1 . So a topological classification of the possible connections is reduced to

classifying the transition functions. The transition function maps the strip to G, and the different ways of mapping a strip into G are given by the first homotopy group of G.

So in the G-bundle formulation, a gauge theory admits Dirac monopoles provided G is not simply connected, whenever there are paths that go around the group that cannot be deformed to nothing. U(1), which has quantized charges, is not simply connected and can have Dirac monopoles while **R**, its universal covering group, is simply connected, doesn't have quantized charges and does not admit Dirac monopoles. The mathematical definition is equivalent to the physics definition provided that, following Dirac, gauge fields are allowed which are defined only patch-wise and the gauge field on different patches are glued after a gauge transformation.

The total magnetic flux is none other than the first Chern number of the principal bundle, and depends only upon the choice of the principal bundle, and not the specific connection over it. In other words, it's a topological invariant.

This argument for monopoles is a restatement of the lasso argument for a pure U(1) theory. It generalizes to d + 1 dimensions with $d \ge 2$ in several ways. One way is to extend everything into the extra dimensions, so that U(1) monopoles become sheets of dimension d-3. Another way is to examine the type of topological singularity at a point with the homotopy group $\pi_{d-2}(G)$.

Grand unified theories

In more recent years, a new class of theories has also suggested the existence of magnetic monopoles.

During the early 1970s, the successes of quantum field theory and gauge theory in the development of electroweak theory and the mathematics of the strong nuclear force led many theorists to move on to attempt to combine them in a single theory known as a Grand Unified Theory (GUT). Several GUTs were proposed, most of which had the curious feature of implying the presence of a real magnetic monopole particle. More accurately, GUTs predicted a range of particles known as dyons, of which the most basic state was a monopole. The charge on magnetic monopoles predicted by GUTs is either 1 or 2 gD, depending on the theory.

The majority of particles appearing in any quantum field theory are unstable, and they decay into other particles in a variety of reactions that must satisfy various conservation laws. Stable particles are stable because there are no lighter particles into which they can decay and still satisfy the conservation laws. For instance, the electron has a lepton number of one and an electric charge of one, and there are no lighter particles that conserve these values. On the other hand, the muon, essentially a heavy electron, can decay into the electron plus two quanta of energy, and hence it is not stable.

The dyons in these GUTs are also stable, but for an entirely different reason. The dyons are expected to exist as a side effect of the "freezing out" of the conditions of the early universe, or a symmetry breaking. In this scenario, the dyons arise due to the configuration of the vacuum in a particular area of the universe, according to the original Dirac theory. They remain stable not because of a conservation condition, but because there is no simpler *topological* state into which they can decay.

The length scale over which this special vacuum configuration exists is called the *correlation length* of the system. A correlation length cannot be larger than causality would allow, therefore the correlation length for making magnetic monopoles must be at least as big as the horizon size determined by the metric of the expanding universe. According to that logic, there should be at least one magnetic monopole per horizon volume as it was when the symmetry breaking took place. Other arguments based on the critical density of the universe indicate that monopoles should be fairly common; the apparent problem of the observed scarcity of monopoles is resolved by cosmic inflation in the early universe, which greatly reduces the expected abundance of magnetic monopoles. For these reasons, monopoles became a major interest in the 1970s and 80s, along with the other "approachable" predictions of GUTs such as proton decay.

Many of the other particles predicted by these GUTs were beyond the abilities of current experiments to detect. For instance, a wide class of particles known as the X and Y bosons are predicted to mediate the coupling of the

electroweak and strong forces, but these particles are extremely heavy and well beyond the capabilities of any reasonable particle accelerator to create.

Searches for magnetic monopoles

A number of attempts have been made to detect magnetic monopoles. One of the simpler ones is to use a loop of superconducting wire to look for even tiny magnetic sources, a so-called "superconducting quantum interference device", or SQUID. Given the predicted density, loops small enough to fit on a lab bench would expect to see about one monopole event per year. Although there have been tantalizing events recorded, in particular the event recorded by Blas Cabrera on the night of February 14, 1982 (thus, sometimes referred to as the "Valentine's Day Monopole"^[21]), there has never been reproducible evidence for the existence of magnetic monopoles.^[11] The lack of such events places a limit on the number of monopoles of about one monopole per 10²⁹ nucleons.

Another experiment in 1975 resulted in the announcement of the detection of a moving magnetic monopole in cosmic rays by the team led by P. Buford Price.^[10] Price later retracted his claim, and a possible alternative explanation was offered by Alvarez.^[22] In his paper it was demonstrated that the path of the cosmic ray event that was claimed to have been be due to a magnetic monopole could be reproduced by the path followed by a platinum nucleus decaying first to osmium, and then to tantalum.

Other experiments rely on the strong coupling of monopoles with photons, as is the case for any electrically-charged particle as well. In experiments involving photon exchange in particle accelerators, monopoles should be produced in reasonable numbers, and detected due to their effect on the scattering of the photons. The probability of a particle being created in such experiments is related to their mass — with heavier particles being less likely to be created — so by examining the results of such experiments, limits on the mass of a magnetic monopole can be calculated. The most recent such experiments suggest that monopoles with masses below 600 GeV/ c^2 do not exist, while upper limits on their mass due to the very existence of the universe - which would have collapsed by now if they were too heavy - are about 10¹⁷ GeV/ c^2 .

The MoEDAL experiment, installed at the Large Hadron Collider, is currently searching for magnetic monopoles and large supersymmetric particles using layers of special plastic sheets attached to the walls around LHCb's VELO detector. The particles it is looking for will damage the sheets along their path, with various identifying features.

"Monopoles" in condensed-matter systems

While a magnetic monopole particle has never been conclusively observed, there are a number of phenomena in condensed-matter physics where a material, due to the collective behavior of its electrons and ions, can show emergent phenomena that resemble magnetic monopoles in some respect.^[23] ^[24] ^[25] ^[26] ^[27] These should not be confused with actual monopole particles: since all known particles have zero magnetic charge (including the protons, neutrons, and electrons that make up the whole periodic table), it is fundamentally impossible to find a *true* magnetic monopole in ordinary matter made from atoms; only quasiparticles are possible. In particular, the law $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B}=0$ is true everywhere in these systems, which it would not be in the presence of a true magnetic monopole particle. The Dirac string model describes such a system in the theoretical limit of infinitely thin connecting fluxtubes.

One example of the work on magnetic monopole quasiparticles is a paper published in the journal *Science* in September 2009, in which researchers Jonathan Morris and Alan Tennant from the Helmholtz-Zentrum Berlin für Materialien und Energie (HZB) along with Santiago Grigera from Instituto de Física de Líquidos y Sistemas Biológicos (IFLYSIB, CONICET) and other colleagues from Dresden University of Technology, University of St. Andrews and Oxford University described the observation of quasiparticles resembling magnetic monopoles. A single crystal of dysprosium titanate in a highly frustrated pyrochlore lattice (F d -3 m) was cooled to a temperature between 0.6 kelvin and 2.0 kelvin. Using observations of neutron scattering, the magnetic moments were shown to align in the spin ice into interwoven tubelike bundles resembling Dirac strings. At the defect formed by the end of

each tube, the magnetic field looks like that of a monopole. Using an applied magnetic field to break the symmetry of the system, the researchers were able to control the density and orientation of these strings. A contribution to the heat capacity of the system from an effective gas of these quasiparticles was also described.^[28]

Another example of the work on magnetic monopole quasiparticles is a paper in the February 11, 2011 issue of *Nature Physics* which describes creation and measurement of long-lived magnetic monopole quasiparticle currents in spin ice. By applying a magnetic-field pulse to a dysprosium titanate $(Dy_2Ti_2O_7)$ spin-ice crystal at 0.36 K, the authors created a relaxing magnetic current that lasted for several minutes. They measured the current by means of the electromotive force it induced in a solenoid coupled to a sensitive amplifier, and quantitatively described it using a chemical kinetic model of point-like charges obeying the Onsager–Wien mechanism of carrier dissociation and recombination. They thus derived the microscopic parameters of monopole motion in spin ice and identified the distinct roles of free and bound magnetic charges.^[30]

Notes

- Dark Cosmos: In Search of Our Universe's Missing Mass and Energy, by Dan Hooper, p192 (http://books.google.com/ books?id=tGBUvLpgmUMC&pg=PA192)
- [2] Particle Data Group summary of magnetic monopole search (http://pdg.lbl.gov/2004/listings/s028.pdf)
- [3] Wen, Xiao-Gang; Witten, Edward, Electric and magnetic charges in superstring models, Nuclear Physics B, Volume 261, p. 651-677
- [4] S. Coleman, The Magnetic Monopole 50 years Later, reprinted in Aspects of Symmetry
- [5] The encyclopædia britannica, Volume 17, p352 (http://books.google.com/books?id=N1YEAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA352)
- [6] Principles of Physics by William Francis Magie, p424 (http://books.google.com/books?id=6rYXAAAAIAAJ&pg=PA424)
- [7] Pierre Curie, Sur la possibilité d'existence de la conductibilité magnétique et du magnétisme libre (On the possible existence of magnetic conductivity and free magnetism), Séances de la Société Française de Physique (Paris), p76 (1894). (French) Free access online copy (http://www.archive.org/stream/sancesdelasocit19physgoog).
- [8] Paul Dirac, "Quantised Singularities in the Electromagnetic Field". Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A 133, 60 (1931). Free web link (http://users. physik.fu-berlin.de/~kleinert/files/dirac1931.pdf).
- [9] Lecture notes by Robert Littlejohn (http://bohr.physics.berkeley.edu/classes/221/0708/lectures/Lecture.2007.10.11.pdf), University of California, Berkeley, 2007-8
- [10] P. B. Price; E. K. Shirk; W. Z. Osborne; L. S. Pinsky (25 August 1975). "Evidence for Detection of a Moving Magnetic Monopole". *Physical Review Letters* (American Physical Society) 35 (8): 487–490. Bibcode 1975PhRvL..35..487P. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.35.487.
- [11] Blas Cabrera (17 May 1982). "First Results from a Superconductive Detector for Moving Magnetic Monopoles". *Physical Review Letters* (American Physical Society) 48 (20): 1378–1381. Bibcode 1982PhRvL..48.1378C. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.48.1378.
- [12] Milton p.60
- [13] Polchinski, arXiv 2003 (http://arxiv.org/abs/hep-th/0304042)
- [14] Magnetic monopoles spotted in spin ices (http://physicsworld.com/cws/article/news/40302), 3 September 2009. "Oleg Tchernyshyov at Johns Hopkins University [a researcher in this field] cautions that the theory and experiments are specific to spin ices, and are not likely to shed light on magnetic monopoles as predicted by Dirac."
- [15] The fact that the electric and magnetic fields can be written in a symmetric way is specific to the fact that space is three-dimensional. When the equations of electromagnetism are extrapolated to other dimensions, the magnetic field is described as being a rank-two antisymmetric tensor, whereas the electric field remains a true vector. In dimensions other than three, these two mathematical objects do not have the same number of components.
- [16] http://www.ieeeghn.org/wiki/index.php/STARS:Maxwell%27s_Equations
- [17] F. Moulin (2001). "Magnetic monopoles and Lorentz force". *Nuovo Cimento B* 116 (8): 869–877. arXiv:math-ph/0203043. Bibcode 2001NCimB.116.869M.
- [18] Wolfgang Rindler (November 1989). "Relativity and electromagnetism: The force on a magnetic monopole". American Journal of Physics (American Journal of Physics) 57 (11): 993–994. Bibcode 1989AmJPh..57..993R. doi:10.1119/1.15782.
- [19] For the convention where magnetic charge has units of webers, see Jackson 1999. In particular, for Maxwell's equations, see section 6.11, equation (6.150), page 273, and for the Lorentz force law, see page 290, exercise 6.17(a). For the convention where magnetic charge has units of ampere-meters, see (for example) arXiv:physics/0508099v1 (http://arxiv.org/abs/physics/0508099v1), eqn (4).
- [20] Jackson 1999, section 6.11, equation (6.153), page 275
- [21] http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v429/n6987/full/429010a.html
- [22] Alvarez, Luis W. "Analysis of a Reported Magnetic Monopole" (http://usparc.ihep.su/spires/find/hep/www?key=93726). In ed. Kirk, W. T.. Proceedings of the 1975 international symposium on lepton and photon interactions at high energies. International symposium on lepton and photon interactions at high energies, 21 Aug 1975. pp. 967.
- [23] Zhong, Fang; Naoto Nagosa, Mei S. Takahashi, Atsushi Asamitsu, Roland Mathieu, Takeshi Ogasawara, Hiroyuki Yamada, Masashi Kawasaki, Yoshinori Tokura, Kiyoyuki Terakura (October 3, 2003). "The Anomalous Hall Effect and Magnetic Monopoles in Momentum"

Space". Science 302 (5642): 92-95. doi:10.1126/science.1089408. ISSN 1095-9203. http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/content/abstract/302/5642/92.Retrieved on 2 August 2007.

- [24] Making magnetic monopoles, and other exotica, in the lab (http://www.symmetrymagazine.org/breaking/2009/01/29/ making-magnetic-monopoles-and-other-exotica-in-the-lab/), Symmetry Breaking, 29 January 2009. Retrieved 31 January 2009.
- [25] Inducing a Magnetic Monopole with Topological Surface States (http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/content/abstract/1167747), American Association for the Advancement of Science (AAAS) Science Express magazine, Xiao-Liang Qi, Rundong Li, Jiadong Zang, Shou-Cheng Zhang, 29 January 2009. Retrieved 31 January 2009.
- [26] Magnetic monopoles in spin ice (http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature06433), C. Castelnovo, R. Moessner and S. L. Sondhi, *Nature* 451, 42-45 (3 January 2008)
- [27] Nature 461, 956-959 (15 October 2009); doi:10.1038/nature08500 (http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v461/n7266/abs/ nature08500.html), Steven Bramwell et al
- [28] "Magnetic Monopoles Detected In A Real Magnet For The First Time" (http://www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2009/09/090903163725. htm). Science Daily. 4 September 2009. Retrieved 4 September 2009.
- [29] D.J.P. Morris, D.A. Tennant, S.A. Grigera, B. Klemke, C. Castelnovo, R. Moessner, C. Czter-nasty, M. Meissner, K.C. Rule, J.-U. Hoffmann, K. Kiefer, S. Gerischer, D. Slobinsky, and R.S. Perry (3 September 2009). *Dirac Strings and Magnetic Monopoles in Spin Ice Dy₂Ti₂O₇, Science*, DOI: 10.1126/science.1178868. Bibcode 2009Sci...326..411M. doi:10.1126/science.1178868. PMID 19729617.
- [30] S. R. Giblin, S. T. Bramwell, P. C. W. Holdsworth, D. Prabhakaran & I. Terry (13 February 2011). Creation and measurement of long-lived magnetic monopole currents in spin ice (http://www.nature.com/nphys/journal/v7/n3/full/nphys1896.html). Nature Physics. Bibcode 2011NatPh...7..252G. doi:10.1038/nphys1896. . Retrieved 28 February 2011.

References

- Brau, Charles A. (2004). *Modern Problems in Classical Electrodynamics*. Oxford University Press. ISBN 0-19-514665-4.
- Jackson, John David (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). New York: Wiley. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.
- Milton, Kimball A. (June 2006). "Theoretical and experimental status of magnetic monopoles". *Reports on Progress in Physics* 69 (6): 1637–1711. arXiv:hep-ex/0602040. Bibcode 2006RPPh...69.1637M. doi:10.1088/0034-4885/69/6/R02.
- Shnir, Yakov M. (2005). Magnetic Monopoles. Springer-Verlag. ISBN 3-540-25277-0.

External links

- Magnetic Monopole Searches (lecture notes) (http://arxiv.org/abs/hep-ex/0302011)
- Particle Data Group summary of magnetic monopole search (http://pdg.lbl.gov/2004/listings/s028.pdf)
- 'Race for the Pole' Dr David Milstead (http://www.vega.org.uk/video/programme/56) Freeview 'Snapshot' video by the Vega Science Trust and the BBC/OU.
- Interview with Jonathan Morris (http://www.drillingsraum.com/magnetic_monopole/magnetic_monopole. html) about magnetic monopoles and magnetic monopole quasiparticles. Drillingsraum, 16 April 2010

Electric flux

In electromagnetism, **electric flux** is the flux of the electric field. Electric flux is proportional to the number of electric field lines going through a virtual surface. The electric flux $d\Phi_E$ through a small area $d\mathbf{A}$ is given by

 $d\Phi_E = \mathbf{E} \cdot d\mathbf{A}$

(the electric field, \mathbf{E} , multiplied by the component of area perpendicular to the field). The electric flux over a surface *S* is therefore given by the surface integral:

$$\Phi_E = \int_S {f E} \cdot d{f A}$$

where E is the electric field and dA is a differential area on the closed surface S with an outward facing surface normal defining its direction.

For a closed Gaussian surface, electric flux is given by:

$$\Phi_E = \oint_S \mathbf{E} \cdot d\mathbf{A} = rac{Q_S}{\epsilon_0}$$

where Q_s is the net charge enclosed by the surface (including both free and bound charge), and ε_0 is the electric constant. This relation is known as Gauss' law for electric field in its integral form and it is one of the four Maxwell's equations.

It is important to note that while the electric flux is not affected by charges that are not within the closed surface, the net electric field, **E**, in the Gauss' Law equation, can be affected by charges that lie outside the closed surface. While Gauss' Law holds for all situations, it is only useful for "by hand" calculations when high degrees of symmetry exist in the electric field. Examples include spherical and cylindrical symmetry.

Electrical flux has SI units of volt metres (V m), or, equivalently, newton metres squared per coulomb (N m² C⁻¹). Thus, the SI base units of electric flux are kg•m³•s⁻³•A⁻¹.

External links

• Electric flux ^[1] — HyperPhysics

References

[1] http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/Hbase/electric/gaulaw.html#c3

Magnetic flux

Magnetic flux (most often denoted as Φ_m), is a measure of the amount of magnetic **B** field (also called "magnetic flux density") passing through a given surface (such as a conducting coil). The SI unit of magnetic flux is the weber (Wb) (in derived units: volt-seconds). The CGS unit is the maxwell.

Description

The magnetic flux through a given surface is proportional to the number of magnetic **B** field lines that pass through the surface. This is the *net* number, i.e. the number passing through in one direction, minus the number passing through in the other direction. (See below for how the positive sign is chosen.) For a uniform magnetic field **B** passing through a perpendicular area the magnetic flux is given by the product of the magnetic field and the area element. The magnetic flux for a uniform **B** at any angle to a surface is defined by a dot product of the magnetic field and the area element vector **a**.



on splitting the surface into small surface elements. Each element is associated with a vector d**S** of magnitude equal to the area of the element and with direction normal to the element and pointing outward.



$\Phi_m = \mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{a} = Ba \cos \theta$ (uniform **B** with flat area only)

where θ is the angle between **B** and a vector **a** that is perpendicular (normal) to the surface.

In the general case, the magnetic flux through a surface *S* is defined as the integral of the magnetic field over the area of the surface (See Figures 1 and 2):

$$\Phi_m = \iint_S \mathbf{B} \cdot d\mathbf{S},$$

where Φ_m is the magnetic flux, **B** is the magnetic field,

S is the surface (area), \cdot denotes dot product, and dS is an infinitesimal vector, whose magnitude is the area of a differential element of S, and whose direction is the surface normal. (See surface integral for more details.)

From the definition of the magnetic vector potential **A** and the fundamental theorem of the curl the magnetic flux may also be defined as:

$$\Phi_m = \oint\limits_{\Sigma} \mathbf{A} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell}$$

where the closed line integral is over the boundary of the surface and $d\Box$ is an infinitesimal vector element of that contour Σ .

The magnetic flux is usually measured with a fluxmeter. The fluxmeter contains measuring coils and electronics that evaluates the change of voltage in the measuring coils to calculate the magnetic flux.

Magnetic flux through a closed surface

Gauss's law for magnetism, which is one of the four Maxwell's equations, states that the total magnetic flux through a closed surface is equal to zero. (A "closed surface" is a surface that completely encloses a volume(s) with no holes.) This law is a consequence of the empirical observation that magnetic monopoles have never been found.

In other words, Gauss's law for magnetism is the statement:



some examples of closed surfaces (left) and open surfaces (right). Left: Surface of a sphere, surface of a torus, surface of a cube. Right: Disk surface, square surface, surface of a hemisphere. (The surface is blue, the boundary is red.)

$$\Phi_m = \iint \mathbf{B} \cdot d\mathbf{S} = 0,$$

for any closed surface S.

Magnetic flux through an open surface

While the magnetic flux through a closed surface is always zero, the magnetic flux through an open surface need not be zero and is an important quantity in electromagnetism. For example, a change in the magnetic flux passing through a loop of conductive wire will cause an electromotive force, and therefore an electric current, in the loop. The relationship is given by Faraday's law:



the field is integrated.

$$\mathcal{E} = \oint_{\partial \Sigma(t)} \left(\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, \; t) + \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}, \; t)
ight) \cdot d oldsymbol{\ell} = -rac{d \Phi_m}{dt},$$

where (see Figure 3):

 ${\cal E}$ is the EMF,

 Φ_{m} is the flux through a surface with an opening bounded by a curve $\partial \Sigma(t)$,

 $\partial \Sigma(t)$ is a closed contour that can change with time; the EMF is found around this contour, and the contour is a boundary of the surface over which Φ_m is found,

dI is an infinitesimal vector element of the contour $\partial \Sigma(t)$,

v is the velocity of the segment d \mathbb{I} ,

E is the electric field,

B is the magnetic field.

The EMF is determined in this equation in two ways: first, as the work per unit charge done against the Lorentz force in moving a test charge around the (possibly moving) closed curve $\partial \Sigma(t)$, and second, as the magnetic flux through the open surface $\Sigma(t)$.

This equation is the principle behind an electrical generator.

Comparison with electric flux

By way of contrast, Gauss's law for electric fields, another of Maxwell's equations, is

$$\Phi_E = \iint_S \mathbf{E} \cdot d\mathbf{S} = \frac{Q}{\epsilon_0},$$

where

E is the electric field,

S is any closed surface,

Q is the total electric charge inside the surface S,

 ϵ_0 is the electric constant (a universal constant, also called the "permittivity of free space").

Note that the flux of E through a closed surface is *not* always zero; this indicates the presence of electric "monopoles", that is, free positive or negative charges.

External articles

Patents

- Vicci, U.S. Patent 6720855^[1], Magnetic-flux conduits
- Magnetic Flux through a Loop of Wire ^[2] by Ernest Lee, Wolfram Demonstrations Project.
- Conversion Magnetic flux Φ in nWb per meter track width to flux level in dB Tape Operating Levels and Tape Alignment Levels ^[3]
- [1] http://www.google.com/patents?vid=6720855
- [2] http://demonstrations.wolfram.com/MagneticFluxThroughALoopOfWire/
- [3] http://www.sengpielaudio.com/calculator-magneticflux.htm

Electric potential

In classical electromagnetism, the **electric potential** (a scalar quantity denoted by $\varphi_{\rm E}$ or V and also called the *electric field potential* or the *electrostatic potential*) at a point within a defined space is equal to the electric potential energy (measured in joules) at that location divided by the charge there (measured in coulombs). The electric potential at a specific location in the electric field is independent of q_t . That is to say, it is a characteristic only of the electric field that is present. The electric potential can be calculated at a point in either a static (time-invariant) electric field or in a dynamic (varying with time) electric field at a specific time, and has the units of joules per coulomb, or volts.

There is also a generalized electric scalar potential that is used in electrodynamics when time-varying electromagnetic fields are present. This generalized electric potential cannot be simply interpreted as the ratio of potential energy to charge, however.

Introduction

Objects may possess a property known as an electric charge. An electric field exerts a force on charged objects, accelerating them in the direction of the force, in either the same or the opposite direction of the electric field. If the charged object has a positive charge, the force and acceleration will be in the direction of the field. This force has the same direction as the electric field vector, and its magnitude is given by the size of the charge multiplied with the magnitude of the electric field. Classical mechanics explores the concepts such as force, energy, potential etc. in more detail.

Force and potential energy are directly related. As an object moves in the direction that the force accelerates it, its potential energy decreases. For example, the gravitational potential energy of a cannonball at the top of a hill is greater than at the base of the hill. As the object falls, that potential energy decreases and is translated to motion, or inertial (kinetic) energy.

For certain forces, it is possible to define the "potential" of a field such that the potential energy of an object due to a field is dependent only on the position of the object with respect to the field. Those forces must affect objects depending only on the intrinsic properties of the object and the position of the object, and obey certain other mathematical rules.

Two such forces are the gravitational force (gravity) and the electric force in the absence of time-varying magnetic fields. The potential of an electric field is called the electric potential. The synonymous term "electrostatic potential" is also in common use.

The electric potential and the magnetic vector potential together form a four vector, so that the two kinds of potential are mixed under Lorentz transformations.

In electrostatics

The electric potential at a point \mathbf{r} in a static electric field \mathbf{E} is given by the line integral

$$\Delta V_{\mathbf{E}} = -\int_{C} \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{\ell} \,,$$

where *C* is an arbitrary path connecting the point with zero potential to **r**. When the curl $\nabla \times \mathbf{E}$ is zero, the line integral above does not depend on the specific path *C* chosen but only on its endpoints. In this case, the electric field is conservative and determined by the gradient of the potential:

$$\mathbf{E} = -\nabla V_{\mathbf{E}}.$$

Then, by Gauss's law, the potential satisfies Poisson's equation:

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{E} =
abla \cdot (-
abla V_{\mathbf{E}}) = -
abla^2 V_{\mathbf{E}} =
ho / arepsilon_0,$$

where ρ is the total charge density (including bound charge) and ∇ denotes the divergence.

The concept of electric potential is closely linked with potential energy. A test charge q has an electric potential energy $U_{\rm E}$ given by

$$U_{\mathbf{E}} = q \, V.$$

The potential energy and hence also the electric potential is only defined up to an additive constant: one must arbitrarily choose a position where the potential energy and the electric potential are zero.

These equations cannot be used if the curl $\nabla \times \mathbf{E} \neq 0$, i.e., in the case of a *nonconservative electric field* (caused by a changing magnetic field; see Maxwell's equations). The generalization of electric potential to this case is described below.

Electric potential due to a point charge

The electric potential created by a point charge Q, at a distance r from the charge (relative to the potential at infinity), can be shown to be

$$V_{\mathbf{E}} = rac{1}{4\piarepsilon_0}rac{Q}{r},$$

where ε_0 is the electric constant (permittivity of free space). This is known as the Coulomb Potential.

The electric potential due to a system of point charges is equal to the sum of the point charges' individual potentials. This fact simplifies calculations significantly, since addition of potential (scalar) fields is much easier than addition of the electric (vector) fields.

The equation given above for the electric potential (and all the equations used here) are in the forms required by SI units. In some other (less common) systems of units, such as CGS-Gaussian, many of these equations would be altered.

Generalization to electrodynamics

When time-varying magnetic fields are present (which is true whenever there are time-varying electric fields and vice versa), it is not possible to describe the electric field simply in terms of a scalar potential *V* because the electric field is no longer conservative: $\int_{\Omega} \mathbf{E} \cdot d\boldsymbol{\ell}$ is path-dependent because $\nabla \times \mathbf{E} \neq 0$ (Faraday's law of induction).

Instead, one can still define a scalar potential by also including the magnetic vector potential **A**. In particular, **A** is defined to satisfy:

$$\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$$

where \mathbf{B} is the magnetic field. Because the divergence of the magnetic field is always zero due to the absence of magnetic monopoles, such an \mathbf{A} can always be found. Given this, the quantity

$$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{E} + rac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t}$$

is a conservative field by Faraday's law and one can therefore write

$$\mathbf{E} = -\nabla V - \frac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t},$$

where V is the scalar potential defined by the conservative field \mathbf{F} .

The electrostatic potential is simply the special case of this definition where \mathbf{A} is time-invariant. On the other hand, for time-varying fields, note that

$$\int_{a}^{b} \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\ell} \neq V_{(b)} - V_{(a)},$$

unlike electrostatics.

Note that this definition of *V* depends on the gauge choice for the vector potential **A** (the gradient of any scalar field can be added to **A** without changing **B**). One choice is the Coulomb gauge, in which we choose $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$. In this case, we obtain

$$-
abla^2 V =
ho/arepsilon_0,$$

where ρ is the charge density, just as for electrostatics. Another common choice is the Lorenz gauge, in which we choose **A** to satisfy

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{A} = -rac{1}{c^2}rac{\partial V}{\partial t}.$$

Units

The SI unit of electric potential is the volt (in honor of Alessandro Volta), which is why electric potential is also known as voltage. Older units are rarely used nowadays. Variants of the centimeter gram second system of units included a number of different units for electric potential, including the abvolt and the statvolt.

Galvani potential versus electrochemical potential

Inside metals (and other solids and liquids), the energy of an electron is affected not only by the electric potential, but also by the specific atomic environment that it is in. When a voltmeter is connected between two different types of metal, it measures not the electric potential difference, but instead the potential difference corrected for the different atomic environments.^[1] The quantity measured by a voltmeter is called electrochemical potential or fermi level, while the pure unadjusted electric potential is sometimes called Galvani potential. The terms "voltage" and "electric potential" are a bit ambiguous in that, in practice, they can refer to *either* of these in different contexts.

References

- Bagotskii, Vladimir Sergeevich (2006). Fundamentals of electrochemistry (http://books.google.com/books?id=09QI-assq1cC&pg=PA22).
 p. 22. ISBN 9780471700586.
- Griffiths, David J. (1998). Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd. ed.). Prentice Hall. ISBN 0-13-805326-X.
- Jackson, John David (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd. ed.). USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.. ISBN 978-0-471-30932-1.
- Wangsness, Roald K. (1986). *Electromagnetic Fields* (2nd., Revised, illustrated ed.). Wiley. ISBN 9780471811862.

Magnetic potential

The term **magnetic potential** can be used for either of two quantities in classical electromagnetism: the **magnetic** vector potential, **A**, (often simply called the vector potential) and the **magnetic scalar potential**, ψ . Both quantities can be used in certain circumstances to calculate the magnetic field.

The more frequently used magnetic vector potential **A** (often simply called the **vector potential**) is defined such that the curl of **A** is the magnetic **B** field. Together with the electric potential, the magnetic vector potential can be used to specify the electric field, **E** as well. Therefore, many equations of electromagnetism can be written either in terms of the **E** and **B**, *or* in terms of the magnetic vector potential and electric potential. In more advanced theories such as quantum mechanics, most equations use the potentials and not the **E** and **B** fields.

The magnetic scalar potential ψ is sometimes used to specify the magnetic **H**-field in cases when there are no free currents, in a manner analogous to using the electric potential to determine the electric field in electrostatics. One important use of ψ is to determine the magnetic field due to permanent magnets when their magnetization is known. With some care the scalar potential can be extended to include free currents as well.

Magnetic vector potential

The magnetic vector potential **A** is a vector field that together with the (scalar field) electric potential φ are defined as:

$$\mathbf{B} =
abla imes \mathbf{A},^{[1]}$$

 $\mathbf{E} = -
abla \phi - rac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t},^{[1]}$

where **B** is the magnetic field and **E** is the electric field. In magnetostatics where there is no time varying charge distribution, only the first equation is needed. (In the context of electrodynamics, the terms "vector potential" and "scalar potential" are used for "magnetic vector potential" and "electric potential", respectively. In mathematics, vector potential and scalar potential have more general meanings.)

Defining the electric and magnetic fields from potentials automatically satisfies two of Maxwell's equations: Gauss's law for magnetism and Faraday's Law. For example, if \mathbf{A} is continuous and well-defined everywhere, then it is guaranteed not to result in magnetic monopoles. (In the mathematical theory of magnetic monopoles, \mathbf{A} is allowed to be either undefined or multiple-valued in some places; see magnetic monopole for details.)

Starting with the above definitions:

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = \nabla \cdot (\nabla \times \mathbf{A}) = 0$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = \nabla \times \left(-\nabla \phi - \frac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t} \right) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (\nabla \times \mathbf{A}) = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}$$

Alternatively, the existence of **A** and φ is guaranteed from these two laws using the Helmholtz's theorem. For example, since the magnetic field is divergence-free (Gauss's law for magnetism), i.e. $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0$, **A** always exists that satisfies the above definition.

The vector potential **A** is used when studying the Lagrangian in classical mechanics and in quantum mechanics (see Schrödinger equation for charged particles, Dirac equation, Aharonov-Bohm effect).

In the SI system, the units of A are volt-seconds per metre $(V \cdot s \cdot m^{-1})$ and are the same as that of momentum per unit charge.

Although the magnetic field **B** is a pseudovector (also called axial vector), the vector potential **A** is not: **A** is a polar vector.^[2] This means that if the right-hand rule for cross products were replaced with a left-hand rule, but without changing any other equations or definitions, then **B** would switch signs, but **A** would not change. This is an example of a general theorem: The curl of a polar vector is a pseudovector, and vice-versa.^[2]

Gauge choices

The above definition does **not** define the magnetic vector potential uniquely because, by definition, we can arbitrarily add curl-free components to the magnetic potential without changing the observed magnetic field. Thus, there is a degree of freedom available when choosing **A**. This condition is known as gauge invariance.

Maxwell's equations in terms of vector potential

Using the above definition of the potentials and applying it to the other two Maxwell's equations (the ones that are not automatically satisfied) results in a complicated differential equation that can be simplified using the Lorenz gauge where **A** is chosen so as to satisfy:

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} + \frac{1}{c^2} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} = 0.^{[1]}$$

Using the Lorenz gauge, Maxwell's equations can be written compactly in terms of the magnetic vector potential \mathbf{A} and the electric scalar potential $\boldsymbol{\Phi}$.

$$\nabla^2 \phi - \frac{1}{c^2} \frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial t^2} = -\rho/\epsilon_0^{[1]}$$
$$\nabla^2 \mathbf{A} - \frac{1}{c^2} \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{A}}{\partial t^2} = -\mu_0 \mathbf{J}^{[1]}$$

In other gauges, the equations are different. A different notation to write these same equations (using four-vectors) is shown below.

Calculation of potentials from source distributions

The solutions of Maxwell's equations (in the Lorenz gauge) Feynman^[1] and Jackson^[3] with the boundary condition that both potentials go to zero sufficiently fast as they approach infinity are called the *'retarded potentials* which are:

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{p_1}, t) = \frac{\mu_0}{4\pi} \int_{V_2} \frac{\mathbf{j}(\mathbf{p_2}, t_r)}{r_{12}} \, \mathrm{d}V \text{ where } t_r = t - \frac{r_{12}}{c}$$
$$\phi(\mathbf{p_1}, t) = \frac{1}{4\pi\epsilon_0} \int_{V_2} \frac{\rho(\mathbf{p_2}, t_r)}{r_{12}} \, \mathrm{d}V$$

where

t is the time at which the value of **A** and ϕ are to be calculated.

 \mathbf{p}_1 is the point at which the value of **A** and ϕ are to be calculated.

p₂ is the integration variable.

 r_{12} is the distance from point p_1 to point p_2 .

t_r is a time earlier than t by $\frac{r_{12}}{c}$ which is the time it takes an effect generated at **p**₂ to propagate to

 \mathbf{p}_1 at the speed of light. t_r is also called *retarded time*.

A (\mathbf{p}_1 , t) is the magnetic vector potential at point \mathbf{p}_1 and time t.

 ϕ (**p**₁, t) is the electric scalar potential at point **p**₁ and time t.

j (**p**₁, t_r) is the current density at point **p**₂ and time t_r

 $\rho(\mathbf{p}_1, \mathbf{t}_r)$ is the charge density at point \mathbf{p}_2 and time \mathbf{t}_r .

 V_2 is the volume of all points p_2 where j or ρ is non-zero at least sometimes.

There are a few notable things about **A** and ϕ calculated in this way:

(The Lorenz gauge condition): $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} + \frac{1}{c^2} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t} = 0$ is satisfied.

The position of the source point \mathbf{p}_2 only enters the equation as a scalar distance from \mathbf{p}_1 to \mathbf{p}_2 . The direction from \mathbf{p}_1 to \mathbf{p}_2 does not enter into the equation. The only thing that matters about a source point is how far away it is.

The integrand uses *retarded time*. This simply reflects the fact that changes in the sources propagate at the speed of light

The equation for **A** is a vector equation. In Cartesian coordinates, the equation separates into three equations thus^[4]:

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{p}_{1},t) = \frac{\mu_{0}}{4\pi} \int_{V_{2}} \frac{\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{p}_{2},t_{r})}{r_{12}} \, \mathrm{d}V$$
 where $\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{x}}$ and $\mathbf{j}_{\mathbf{x}}$ are the components of \mathbf{A} and \mathbf{j} in the direction

of the x axis.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{A_y}(\mathbf{p_1}, t) &= \frac{\mu_0}{4\pi} \int_{V_2} \frac{\mathbf{j_y}(\mathbf{p_2}, t_r)}{r_{12}} \, \mathrm{d}V \\ \mathbf{A_z}(\mathbf{p_1}, t) &= \frac{\mu_0}{4\pi} \int_{V_2} \frac{\mathbf{j_z}(\mathbf{p_2}, t_r)}{r_{12}} \, \mathrm{d}V \end{aligned}$$

In this form it is easy to see that the component of \mathbf{A} in a given direction depends only on the components of \mathbf{j} that are in the same direction. If the current is carried in a long straight wire, the \mathbf{A} points in the same direction as the wire.

In other gauges the formula for A and ϕ is different—for example, see Coulomb gauge for another possibility.

Depiction of the A field



Since $\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \mathbf{J}$ (assuming quasi-static conditions, i.e. $\frac{\partial E}{\partial t} \to 0$) and $\nabla \times \mathbf{A} = \mathbf{B}$, the lines and contours of **A** relate to **B** like the lines and contours of **B** relate to **j**. Thus, a depiction of the **A** field around a loop of **B** flux (as would be produced in a toroidal inductor) is qualitatively the same as the **B** field around a loop of current.

See Feynman^[5] for the depiction of the A field around a long thin solenoid.

The figure to the left is an artist's depiction of the A field. The thicker lines indicate paths of higher average intensity (shorter paths have higher intensity so that the path integral is the same). The lines are just drawn to look good and impart general look of the A field.

The drawing tacitly assumes $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$. This would be true under the following assumptions:

- the Coulomb gauge is assumed
- the Lorenz gauge is assumed and there is no distribution of charge, ho=0
- · the Lorenz gauge is assumed and zero frequency is assumed
- the Lorenz gauge is assumed and a non-zero frequency that is low enough to neglect $\frac{1}{c^2} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial t}$ is assumed

Electromagnetic four-potential

In the context of special relativity, it is natural to join the magnetic vector potential together with the (scalar) electric potential into the electromagnetic potential, also called "four-potential".

One motivation for doing so is that the four-potential is a mathematical four-vector. Thus, using standard four-vector transformation rules, if the electric and magnetic potentials are known in one inertial reference frame, they can be simply calculated in any other inertial reference frame.

Another, related motivation is that the content of classical electromagnetism can be written in a concise and convenient form using the electromagnetic four potential, especially when the Lorenz gauge is used. In particular, in abstract index notation, the set of Maxwell's equations (in the Lorenz gauge) may be written (in Gaussian units) as follows:

$$\partial^{\mu}A_{\mu} = 0$$

 $\Box A_{\mu} = \frac{4\pi}{c}J_{\mu}$

where \Box is the d'Alembertian and J is the four-current. The first equation is the Lorenz gauge condition while the second contains Maxwell's equations.

Yet another motivation for creating the electromagnetic four-potential is that it plays a very important role in quantum electrodynamics.

Magnetic scalar potential

The **magnetic scalar potential** is another useful tool in describing the magnetic field, especially for permanent magnets.

In a simply connected domain where there is no free current,

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H} = 0$$

hence we can define **magnetic scalar potential** ψ as^[6]

$$\mathbf{H} = -\nabla \psi.$$

And since

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \nabla \cdot (\mathbf{H} + \mathbf{M}) = 0,$$

it follows that

$$abla^2 \psi = -
abla \cdot \mathbf{H} =
abla \cdot \mathbf{M}.$$

Here $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{M}$ acts as the source for magnetic field, much like $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{P}$ as the source for electric field. So analogously to bound electric charge, we can call

$$\rho_m = -\nabla \cdot \mathbf{M}$$

bound magnetic charge.

If there is free current, one may subtract the contribution of free current per Biot-Savart law from total magnetic field and solve the remainder with the scalar potential method.

Notes

- [1] Feynman (1964, p. 15_15)
- [2] Tensors and pseudo-tensors, lecture notes by Richard Fitzpatrick (http://farside.ph.utexas.edu/teaching/em/lectures/node120.html)
- [3] Jackson (1999, p. 246)
- [4] Kraus (1984, p. 189)
- [5] Feynman (1964, p. 15_11)
- [6] Vanderlinde (2005, pp. 194~199)

References

- Duffin, W.J. (1990). Electricity and Magnetism, Fourth Edition. McGraw-Hill.
- Feynman, Richard P; Leighton, Robert B; Sands, Matthew (1964). *The Feynman Lectures on Physics Volume 2*. Addison-Wesley. ISBN 020102117XP.
- Jackson, John David (1998). Classical Electrodynamics, Third Edition. John Wiley & Sons.
- Jackson, John Davd (1999), Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.), John-Wiley, ISBN 047130932X
- Kraus, John D. (1984), Electromagnetics (3rd ed.), McGraw-Hill, ISBN 0070354235
- Ulaby, Fawwaz (2007). *Fundamentals of Applied Electromagnetics, Fifth Edition*. Pearson Prentice Hall. pp. 226–228. ISBN 0-13-241326-4.
- Vanderlinde, Jack (2005). *Classical Electromagnetic Theory* (http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/ 1-4020-2700-1). ISBN 1-4020-2699-4.

Electric susceptibility

In electromagnetism, the **electric susceptibility** χ_e (latin: *susceptibilis* "receptiveness") is a dimensionless proportionality constant that indicates the degree of polarization of a dielectric material in response to an applied electric field. The greater the electric susceptibility, the greater the ability of a material to polarize in response to the field, and thereby reduce the total electric field inside the material (and store energy). It is in this way that the electric susceptibility influences the electric permittivity of the material and thus influences many other phenomena in that medium, from the capacitance of capacitors to the speed of light.^[1] [2]

Definition of Volume Susceptibility

Electric susceptibility is defined as the constant of proportionality (which may be a tensor) relating an electric field \mathbf{E} to the induced dielectric polarization density \mathbf{P} such that:

$$\mathbf{P} = \varepsilon_0 \chi_e \mathbf{E},$$

Where:

- **P** is the Polarization Density
- ε_0 is the Electric Permittivity of Free Space
- χ_e is the Electric Susceptibility
- **E** is the Electric Field

The susceptibility is also related to the polarizability of individual particles in the medium by the Clausius-Mossotti relation. The susceptibility is related to its relative permittivity ε_r by:

$$\chi_e = \varepsilon_r - 1$$

So in the case of a vacuum:

 $\chi_e = 0$

At the same time, the electric displacement \mathbf{D} is related to the polarization density \mathbf{P} by:

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P} = \varepsilon_0 (1 + \chi_e) \mathbf{E} = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}.$$

Molecular Polarizability

A similar parameter exists to relate the magnitude of the induced dipole moment \mathbf{p} of an individual molecule to the local electric field \mathbf{E} that induced the dipole. This parameter is the *molecular polarizability* and the dipole moment resulting from the local electric field E_{local} is given by:

$$\mathbf{p} = \varepsilon_0 \alpha \mathbf{E}_{local}$$

This introduces a complication however, as locally the field can differ significantly from the overall applied field. We have:

$$\mathbf{P} = Np = N\varepsilon_0 \alpha \mathbf{E}_{local}$$

where \mathbf{P} is the polarization per unit volume, and \mathbf{N} is the number of molecules per unit volume contributing to the polarization. Thus, if the local electric field is parallel to the ambient electric field, we have:

$$rac{\chi_e}{Nlpha} = rac{\mathbf{E}_{local}}{\mathbf{E}}$$

Thus only if the local field equals the ambient field can we write:

 $\chi_e = N lpha$

Dispersion and causality

In general, a material cannot polarize instantaneously in response to an applied field, and so the more general formulation as a function of time is

$$\mathbf{P}(t) = arepsilon_0 \int_{-\infty}^t \chi_e(t-t') \mathbf{E}(t') \, dt'.$$

That is, the polarization is a convolution of the electric field at previous times with time-dependent susceptibility given by $\chi_e(\Delta t)$. The upper limit of this integral can be extended to infinity as well if one defines $\chi_e(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$. An instantaneous response corresponds to Dirac delta function susceptibility $\chi_e(\Delta t) = \chi_e \delta(\Delta t)$. It is more convenient in a linear system to take the Fourier transform and write this relationship as a function of frequency. Due to the convolution theorem, the integral becomes a simple product,

$$\mathbf{P}(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \chi_e(\omega) \mathbf{E}(\omega).$$

This frequency dependence of the susceptibility leads to frequency dependence of the permittivity. The shape of the susceptibility with respect to frequency characterizes the dispersion properties of the material.

Moreover, the fact that the polarization can only depend on the electric field at previous times (i.e. $\chi_e(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$), a consequence of causality, imposes Kramers–Kronig constraints on the susceptibility $\chi_e(0)$.

References

[1] "Electric susceptibility". Encyclopedia Brittanica.

[2] Cardarelli, François (2000, 2008). Materials Handbook: A Concise Desktop Reference (http://books.google.com/ books?id=PvU-qbQJq7IC&pg=PA524&dq=Electric+susceptibility#v=onepage&q=Electric susceptibility&f=false) (2nd ed.). London: Springer-Verlag. pp. 524 (Section 8.1.16). doi:10.1007/978-1-84628-669-8. ISBN 9781846286681.

Magnetic susceptibility

In electromagnetism, the **magnetic susceptibility** χ_m (latin: *susceptibilis* "receptiveness") is a dimensionless proportionality constant that indicates the degree of magnetization of a material in response to an applied magnetic field. A related term is **magnetizability**, the proportion between magnetic moment and magnetic flux density.^[1]

Definition of volume susceptibility

See also Relative permeability.

The volume magnetic susceptibility, represented by the symbol χ_{ν} (often simply χ , sometimes χ_m — magnetic, to distinguish from the electric susceptibility), is defined by the relationship

 $\mathbf{M} = \chi_v \mathbf{H}$

where, in SI units,

M is the magnetization of the material (the magnetic dipole moment per unit volume), measured in amperes per meter, and

H is the magnetic field strength, also measured in amperes per meter.

The magnetic induction **B** is related to **H** by the relationship

$$\mathbf{B} = \mu_0(\mathbf{H} + \mathbf{M}) = \mu_0(1 + \chi_v)\mathbf{H} = \mu\mathbf{H}$$

where μ_0 is the magnetic constant (see table of physical constants), and $(1 + \chi_v)$ is the relative permeability of the material. Thus the **volume magnetic susceptibility** χ_v and the magnetic permeability μ are related by the following formula:

 $\mu = \mu_0 (1 + \chi_v).$

Sometimes^[2] an auxiliary quantity, called **intensity of magnetization** (also referred to as magnetic polarisation J) and measured in teslas, is defined as

$$I = \mu_0 M$$

This allows an alternative description of all magnetization phenomena in terms of the quantities **I** and **B**, as opposed to the commonly used **M** and **H**.

Conversion between SI and CGS units

Note that these definitions are according to SI conventions. However, many tables of magnetic susceptibility give CGS values (more specifically emu-cgs, short for electromagnetic units, or Gaussian-cgs; both are the same in this context) that rely on a different definition of the permeability of free space:^[3]

$$\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{cgs}} = \mathbf{H}^{\mathrm{cgs}} + 4\pi \mathbf{M}^{\mathrm{cgs}} = (1 + 4\pi \chi_v^{\mathrm{cgs}}) \mathbf{H}^{\mathrm{cgs}}$$

The dimensionless CGS value of volume susceptibility is multiplied by 4π to give the dimensionless SI volume susceptibility value:^[3]

$$\chi_v^{
m SI} = 4\pi \chi_v^{
m cgs}$$

For example, the CGS volume magnetic susceptibility of water at 20° C is -7.19×10^{-7} which is -9.04×10^{-6} using the SI convention.

Mass susceptibility and molar susceptibility

There are two other measures of susceptibility, the **mass magnetic susceptibility** (χ_{mass} or χ_g , sometimes χ_m), measured in $m^3 \cdot kg^{-1}$ in SI or in $cm^3 \cdot g^{-1}$ in CGS and the **molar magnetic susceptibility** (χ_{mol}) measured in $m^3 \cdot mol^{-1}$ (SI) or $cm^3 \cdot mol^{-1}$ (CGS) that are defined below, where ρ is the density in kg·m⁻³ (SI) or g·cm⁻³ (CGS) and M is molar mass in kg·mol⁻¹ (SI) or g·mol⁻¹ (CGS).

 $\chi_{
m mass} = \chi_v /
ho$ $\chi_{
m mol} = M \chi_{
m mass} = M \chi_v /
ho$

Sign of susceptibility: diamagnetics and other types of magnetism

If χ is positive, the material can be paramagnetic . In this case, the magnetic field in the material is strengthened by the induced magnetization. Alternatively, if χ is negative, the material is diamagnetic. As a result, the magnetic field in the material is weakened by the induced magnetization. Generally, non-magnetic materials are said para- or diamagnetic because they do not possess permanent magnetization without external magnetic field. Ferromagnetic, or antiferromagnetic materials, which have positive susceptibility, possess permanent magnetization even without external magnetic field.

Experimental methods to determine susceptibility

Volume magnetic susceptibility is measured by the force change felt upon the application of a magnetic field gradient.^[4] Early measurements were made using the Gouy balance where a sample is hung between the poles of an electromagnet. The change in weight when the electromagnet is turned on is proportional to the susceptibility. Today, high-end measurement systems use a superconductive magnet. An alternative is to measure the force change on a strong compact magnet upon insertion of the sample. This system, widely used today, is called the Evans balance.^[5] For liquid samples, the susceptibility can be measured from the dependence of the NMR frequency of the sample on its shape or orientation.^[6] [7] [8] [9] [10]

Tensor susceptibility

The **magnetic susceptibility** of most crystals is not a scalar. Magnetic response **M** is dependent upon the orientation of the sample and can occur in directions other than that of the applied field **H**. In these cases, volume susceptibility is defined as a tensor

$M_i = \chi_{ij} H_j$

where *i* and *j* refer to the directions (e.g., x, y and z in Cartesian coordinates) of the applied field and magnetization, respectively. The tensor is thus rank 2, dimension (3,3) describing the component of magnetization in the *i*-th direction from the external field applied in the *j*-th direction.

Differential susceptibility

In ferromagnetic crystals, the relationship between M and H is not linear. To accommodate this, a more general definition of **differential susceptibility** is used

$$\chi^d_{ij} = rac{\partial M_i}{\partial H_j}$$

where χ_{ij}^d is a tensor derived from partial derivatives of components of **M** with respect to components of **H**. When the coercivity of the material parallel to an applied field is the smaller of the two, the differential susceptibility is a function of the applied field and self interactions, such as the magnetic anisotropy. When the material is not saturated, the effect will be nonlinear and dependent upon the domain wall configuration of the material.

Susceptibility in the frequency domain

When the magnetic susceptibility is measured in response to an AC magnetic field (i.e. a magnetic field that varies sinusoidally), this is called **AC susceptibility**. AC susceptibility (and the closely related "AC permeability") are complex quantities, and various phenomena (such as resonances) can be seen in AC susceptibility that cannot in constant-field (DC) susceptibility. In particular, when an ac-field is applied perpendicular to the detection direction (called the "transverse susceptibility" regardless of the frequency), the effect has a peak at the ferromagnetic resonance frequency of the material with a given static applied field. Currently, this effect is called the **microwave permeability** or **network ferromagnetic resonance** in the literature. These results are sensitive to the domain wall configuration of the material and eddy currents.

In terms of ferromagnetic resonance, the effect of an ac-field applied along the direction of the magnetization is called **parallel pumping**.

For a tutorial with more information on AC susceptibility measurements, see here (external link)^[11].

Examples

Material	Temperature	Pressure	$\chi_{ ext{mol}}(ext{mol})$	ar susc.)	$\chi_{ m mass}$ (mass susc.)		χ_v (volume susc.)		M (molar mass)	ρ(density)
Units	(°C)	(atm)	SI (m ³ ·mol ⁻¹)	CGS (cm ³ ·mol ⁻¹)	$\frac{\text{SI}}{(\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{kg}^{-1})}$	$\frac{\text{CGS}}{(\text{cm}^3 \cdot \text{g}^{-1})}$	SI	CGS (emu)	(10 ⁻³ kg/mol) or (g/mol)	(10 ³ kg/m ³) or (g/cm ³)
vacuum	Any	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	0
water [12]	20	1	-1.631×10 ⁻¹⁰	-1.298×10 ⁻⁵	-9.051×10 ⁻⁹	-7.203×10 ⁻⁷	-9.035×10 ⁻⁶	-7.190×10 ⁻⁷	18.015	0.9982
bismuth [13]	20	1	-3.55×10 ⁻⁹	-2.82×10 ⁻⁴	-1.70×10 ⁻⁸	-1.35×10 ⁻⁶	-1.66×10^{-4}	-1.32×10 ⁻⁵	208.98	9.78
Diamond [14]	R.T.	1	-7.4×10 ⁻¹¹	-5.9×10 ⁻⁶	-6.2×10 ⁻⁹	-4.9×10 ⁻⁷	-2.2×10 ⁻⁵	-1.7×10 ⁻⁶	12.01	3.513
Graphite [15] χ_{\perp} (to	R.T.	1	-7.5×10 ⁻¹¹	-6.0×10 ⁻⁶	-6.3×10 ⁻⁹	-5.0×10 ⁻⁷	-1.4×10 ⁻⁵	-1.1×10 ⁻⁶	12.01	2.267
$\frac{\text{c-axis}}{\text{Graphite}}$	R.T.	1	-3.2×10 ⁻⁹	-2.6×10 ⁻⁴	-2.7×10 ⁻⁷	-2.2×10 ⁻⁵	-6.1×10 ⁻⁴	-4.9×10 ⁻⁵	12.01	2.267
Graphite [15] $\chi_{ }$	-173	1	-4.4×10 ⁻⁹	-3.5×10 ⁻⁴	-3.6×10 ⁻⁷	-2.9×10 ⁻⁵	-8.3×10 ⁻⁴	-6.6×10 ⁻⁵	12.01	2.267
He ^[16]	20	1	-2.38×10^{-11}	-1.89×10 ⁻⁶	-5.93×10 ⁻⁹	-4.72×10 ⁻⁷	-9.85×10 ⁻¹⁰	-7.84×10 ⁻¹¹	4.0026	0.000166
Xe ^[16]	20	1	-5.71×10^{-10}	-4.54×10 ⁻⁵	-4.35×10 ⁻⁹	-3.46×10 ⁻⁷	-2.37×10 ⁻⁸	-1.89×10 ⁻⁹	131.29	0.00546
0 ₂ ^[16]	20	0.209	4.3×10 ⁻⁸	3.42×10^{-3}	1.34×10 ⁻⁶	1.07×10^{-4}	3.73×10 ⁻⁷	2.97×10 ⁻⁸	31.99	0.000278

Magnetic susceptibility of some materials

N ₂ ^[16]	20	0.781	-1.56×10^{-10}	-1.24×10 ⁻⁵	-5.56×10 ⁻⁹	-4.43×10 ⁻⁷	-5.06×10 ⁻⁹	-4.03×10 ⁻¹⁰	28.01	0.000910
Al		1	2.2×10 ⁻¹⁰	1.7×10 ⁻⁵	7.9×10 ⁻⁹	6.3×10 ⁻⁷	2.2×10 ⁻⁵	1.75×10 ⁻⁶	26.98	2.70
Ag ^[17]	961	1					-2.31×10 ⁻⁵	-1.84×10 ⁻⁶	107.87	

Sources of confusion in published data

There are tables of magnetic susceptibility values published on-line that seem to have been uploaded from a substandard source,^[18] which itself has probably borrowed heavily from the CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics. Some of the data (e.g. for Al, Bi, and diamond) are apparently in cgs **Molar Susceptibility** units, whereas that for water is in **Mass Susceptibility** units (see discussion above). The susceptibility table in the CRC Handbook is known to suffer from similar errors, and even to contain sign errors. Effort should be made to trace the data in such tables to the original sources, and to double-check the proper usage of units.

References and notes

- "magnetizability, ξ" (http://goldbook.iupac.org/search.py?search_text=magnetizability). IUPAC Compendium of Chemical Terminology—The Gold Book (2nd ed.). International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry. 1997.
- [2] Richard A. Clarke. "Magnetic properties of materials" (http://info.ee.surrey.ac.uk/Workshop/advice/coils/mu/#itns). Info.ee.surrey.ac.uk. Retrieved 2011-11-08.
- [3] Bennett, L. H.; Page, C. H.; and Swartzendruber, L. J. (1978). "Comments on units in magnetism". Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards (NIST, USA) 83 (1): 9–12.
- [4] L. N. Mulay (1972). A. Weissberger and B. W. Rossiter. ed. Techniques of Chemistry. 4. Wiley-Interscience: New York. p. 431.
- [5] "Magnetic Susceptibility Balances" (http://www.sherwood-scientific.com/msb/msbindex.html). Sherwood-scientific.com. Retrieved 2011-11-08.
- [6] J. R. Zimmerman, and M. R. Foster (1957). "Standardization of NMR high resolution spectra". J. Phys. Chem. 61 (3): 282–289. doi:10.1021/j150549a006.
- [7] Robert Engel, Donald Halpern, and Susan Bienenfeld (1973). "Determination of magnetic moments in solution by nuclear magnetic resonance spectrometry". Anal. Chem. 45 (2): 367–369. doi:10.1021/ac60324a054.
- [8] P. W. Kuchel, B. E. Chapman, W. A. Bubb, P. E. Hansen, C. J. Durrant, and M. P. Hertzberg (2003). "Magnetic susceptibility: solutions, emulsions, and cells". *Concepts Magn. Reson.* A 18: 56–71. doi:10.1002/cmr.a.10066.
- K. Frei and H. J. Bernstein (1962). "Method for determining magnetic susceptibilities by NMR". J. Chem. Phys. 37 (8): 1891–1892.
 Bibcode 1962JChPh..37.1891F. doi:10.1063/1.1733393.
- [10] R. E. Hoffman (2003). "Variations on the chemical shift of TMS". J. Magn. Reson. 163 (2): 325–331. Bibcode 2003JMagR.163..325H. doi:10.1016/S1090-7807(03)00142-3. PMID 12914848.
- [11] http://www.qdusa.com/resources/pdf/1078-201.pdf
- G. P. Arrighini, M. Maestro, and R. Moccia (1968). "Magnetic Properties of Polyatomic Molecules: Magnetic Susceptibility of H₂O, NH₃, CH₄, H₂O₂". J. Chem. Phys. 49 (2): 882–889. Bibcode 1968JChPh..49..882A. doi:10.1063/1.1670155.
- [13] S. Otake, M. Momiuchi and N. Matsuno (1980). "Temperature Dependence of the Magnetic Susceptibility of Bismuth". J. Phys. Soc. Jap. 49 (5): 1824–1828. Bibcode 1980JPSJ...49.1824O. doi:10.1143/JPSJ.49.1824. The tensor needs to be averaged over all orientations: $\chi = (1/3)\chi_{||} + (2/3)\chi_{\perp}$.
- [14] J. Heremans, C. H. Olk and D. T. Morelli (1994). "Magnetic Susceptibility of Carbon Structures". *Phys. Rev. B* 49 (21): 15122–15125.
 Bibcode 1994PhRvB.4915122H. doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.49.15122.
- [15] N. Ganguli and K.S. Krishnan (1941). "The Magnetic and Other Properties of the Free Electrons in Graphite". Proc. R. Soc. London 177 (969): 168–182. Bibcode 1941RSPSA.177..168G. doi:10.1098/rspa.1941.0002.
- [16] R. E. Glick (1961). "On the Diamagnetic Susceptibility of Gases". J. Phys. Chem. 65 (9): 1552-1555. doi:10.1021/j100905a020.
- [17] R. Dupree and C. J. Ford (1973). "Magnetic susceptibility of the noble metals around their melting points". *Phys. Rev. B* 8 (4): 1780–1782.
 Bibcode 1973PhRvB...8.1780D. doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.8.1780.
- [18] "Magnetic Properties Susceptibilities Chart from" (http://www.reade.com/Particle_Briefings/magnetic_susceptibilities.html). READE. 2006-01-11. Retrieved 2011-11-08.

Permittivity

In electromagnetism, **absolute permittivity** is the measure of the resistance that is encountered when forming an electric field in a medium. In other words, permittivity is a measure of how an electric field affects, and is affected by, a dielectric medium. The permittivity of a medium describes how much electric field (more correctly, flux) is 'generated' per unit charge. Less electric flux exists in a medium with a high permittivity (per unit charge) due to polarization effects. Permittivity is directly related to electric susceptibility, which is a measure of how easily a dielectric polarizes in response to an electric field. Thus, permittivity relates to a material's ability to transmit (or "permit") an electric field.

In SI units, permittivity ϵ is measured in farads per meter (F/m); electric susceptibility χ is dimensionless. They are related to each other through

 $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 = (1 + \chi) \varepsilon_0$

where ε_r is the relative permittivity of the material, and $\epsilon_0 = 8.85... \times 10^{-12}$ F/m is the vacuum permittivity.

Explanation

In electromagnetism, the electric displacement field \mathbf{D} represents how an electric field \mathbf{E} influences the organization of electrical charges in a given medium, including charge migration and electric dipole reorientation. Its relation to permittivity in the very simple case of *linear*, *homogeneous*, *isotropic* materials with *"instantaneous" response* to changes in electric field is

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon \mathbf{E}$$

where the permittivity ε is a scalar. If the medium is anisotropic, the permittivity is a second rank tensor.

In general, permittivity is not a constant, as it can vary with the position in the medium, the frequency of the field applied, humidity, temperature, and other parameters. In a nonlinear medium, the permittivity can depend on the strength of the electric field. Permittivity as a function of frequency can take on real or complex values.

In SI units, permittivity is measured in farads per meter (F/m or $A^2 \cdot s^4 \cdot kg^{-1} \cdot m^{-3}$). The displacement field **D** is measured in units of coulombs per square meter (C/m²), while the electric field **E** is measured in volts per meter (V/m). **D** and **E** describe the interaction between charged objects. **D** is related to the *charge densities* associated with this interaction, while **E** is related to the *forces* and *potential differences*.

Vacuum permittivity

The vacuum permittivity ε_0 (also called **permittivity of free space** or the **electric constant**) is the ratio **D/E** in free space. It also appears in the Coulomb force constant $1/4\pi\varepsilon_0$.

$$\varepsilon_0 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{c_0^2 \mu_0} = \frac{1}{35950207149.4727056\pi} \frac{\text{F}}{\text{m}} \approx 8.8541878176\ldots \times 10^{-12} \frac{\text{F}}{\text{m}}$$

where

 c_0 is the speed of light in free space,^[2]

 μ_0 is the vacuum permeability.



Unpolarized

charged particles creating polarization effects. Such a medium can have a higher ratio of electric flux to charge (permittivity) than empty space

Constants c_0 and μ_0 are defined in SI units to have exact numerical values, shifting responsibility of experiment to the determination of the meter and the ampere.^[3] (The approximation in the second value of ε_0 above stems from π being an irrational number.)

Relative permittivity

The linear permittivity of a homogeneous material is usually given relative to that of free space, as a relative permittivity ε_r (also called dielectric constant, although this sometimes only refers to the static, zero-frequency relative permittivity). In an anisotropic material, the relative permittivity may be a tensor, causing birefringence. The actual permittivity is then calculated by multiplying the relative permittivity by ε_0 :

$$\varepsilon = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 = (1 + \chi) \varepsilon_0$$

where

 χ (frequently written χ_{e}) is the electric susceptibility of the material.

The susceptibility is defined as the constant of proportionality (which may be a tensor) relating an electric field \mathbf{E} to the induced dielectric polarization density \mathbf{P} such that

 $\mathbf{P}=\varepsilon_0\chi\mathbf{E},$

where ε_0 is the electric permittivity of free space.

The susceptibility of a medium is related to its relative permittivity ε_r by

 $\chi = \varepsilon_r - 1.$

So in the case of a vacuum,

 $\chi = 0.$

The susceptibility is also related to the polarizability of individual particles in the medium by the Clausius-Mossotti relation.

The electric displacement **D** is related to the polarization density **P** by

$$\mathbf{D} \;=\; arepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P} \;=\; arepsilon_0 (1+\chi) \mathbf{E} \;=\; arepsilon_r arepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}.$$

The permittivity ε and permeability μ of a medium together determine the phase velocity v = c/n of electromagnetic radiation through that medium:

$$\varepsilon \mu = \frac{1}{v^2}.$$

Dispersion and causality

In general, a material cannot polarize instantaneously in response to an applied field, and so the more general formulation as a function of time is

$$\mathbf{P}(t) = arepsilon_0 \int_{-\infty}^t \chi(t-t') \mathbf{E}(t') \, dt'.$$

That is, the polarization is a convolution of the electric field at previous times with time-dependent susceptibility given by $\chi(\Delta t)$. The upper limit of this integral can be extended to infinity as well if one defines $\chi(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$. An instantaneous response corresponds to Dirac delta function susceptibility $\chi(\Delta t) = \chi \delta(\Delta t)$. It is more convenient in a linear system to take the Fourier transform and write this relationship as a function of

frequency. Due to the convolution theorem, the integral becomes a simple product,

$$\mathbf{P}(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \chi(\omega) \mathbf{E}(\omega)$$

This frequency dependence of the susceptibility leads to frequency dependence of the permittivity. The shape of the susceptibility with respect to frequency characterizes the dispersion properties of the material.

Moreover, the fact that the polarization can only depend on the electric field at previous times (i.e. $\chi(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$), a consequence of causality, imposes Kramers–Kronig constraints on the susceptibility $\chi(0)$.

Complex permittivity



As opposed to the response of a vacuum, the response of normal materials to external fields generally depends on the frequency of the field. This frequency dependence reflects the fact that a material's polarization does not respond instantaneously to an applied field. The response must always be *causal* (arising after the applied field) which can be represented by a phase difference. For this reason permittivity is often treated as a complex function (since complex numbers allow specification of magnitude and phase) of the (angular) frequency of the applied field ω , $\varepsilon \rightarrow \hat{\varepsilon}(\omega)$. The definition of permittivity therefore becomes

$$D_0 e^{-i\omega t} = \widehat{\varepsilon}(\omega) E_0 e^{-i\omega t},$$

where

 D_0 and E_0 are the amplitudes of the displacement and electrical fields, respectively,

i is the imaginary unit, $i^2 = -1$.

The response of a medium to static electric fields is described by the low-frequency limit of permittivity, also called the static permittivity ε_s (also ε_{DC}):

$$\varepsilon_s = \lim_{\omega \to 0} \widehat{\varepsilon}(\omega).$$

At the high-frequency limit, the complex permittivity is commonly referred to as ε_{∞} . At the plasma frequency and above, dielectrics behave as ideal metals, with electron gas behavior. The static permittivity is a good approximation for alternating fields of low frequencies, and as the frequency increases a measurable phase difference δ emerges between **D** and **E**. The frequency at which the phase shift becomes noticeable depends on temperature and the details of the medium. For moderate fields strength (E_{ρ}) , **D** and **E** remain proportional, and

$$\widehat{\varepsilon} = \frac{D_0}{E_0} = |\varepsilon| e^{i\delta}.$$

Since the response of materials to alternating fields is characterized by a complex permittivity, it is natural to separate its real and imaginary parts, which is done by convention in the following way:

$$\widehat{\varepsilon}(\omega) = \varepsilon'(\omega) + i\varepsilon''(\omega) = \frac{D_0}{E_0} \left(\cos \delta + i \sin \delta\right).$$

where

 ε " is the imaginary part of the permittivity, which is related to the dissipation (or loss) of energy within the medium.

 ϵ' is the real part of the permittivity, which is related to the stored energy within the medium.

It is important to realize that the choice of sign for time-dependence, $\exp(-i\omega t)$, dictates the sign convention for the imaginary part of permittivity. The signs used here correspond to those commonly used in physics, whereas for the engineering convention one should reverse all imaginary quantities.

The complex permittivity is usually a complicated function of frequency ω , since it is a superimposed description of dispersion phenomena occurring at multiple frequencies. The dielectric function $\varepsilon(\omega)$ must have poles only for frequencies with positive imaginary parts, and therefore satisfies the Kramers–Kronig relations. However, in the narrow frequency ranges that are often studied in practice, the permittivity can be approximated as frequency-independent or by model functions.

At a given frequency, the imaginary part of $\hat{\varepsilon}$ leads to absorption loss if it is positive (in the above sign convention) and gain if it is negative. More generally, the imaginary parts of the eigenvalues of the anisotropic dielectric tensor should be considered.

In the case of solids, the complex dielectric function is intimately connected to band structure. The primary quantity that characterizes the electronic structure of any crystalline material is the probability of photon absorption, which is directly related to the imaginary part of the optical dielectric function $\varepsilon(\omega)$. The optical dielectric function is given by the fundamental expression:^[5]

$$arepsilon(\omega) = 1 + rac{8\pi^2 e^2}{m^2} \sum_{c,v} \int W_{cv}(E) \left[arphi(\hbar\omega - E) - arphi(\hbar\omega + E)
ight] \, dx.$$

In this expression, $W_{cv}(E)$ represents the product of the Brillouin zone-averaged transition probability at the energy E with the joint density of states,^[6] ^[7] $J_{cv}(E)$; φ is a broadening function, representing the role of scattering in smearing out the energy levels.^[8] In general, the broadening is intermediate between Lorentzian and Gaussian;^[9] ^[10] for an alloy it is somewhat closer to Gaussian because of strong scattering from statistical fluctuations in the local composition on a nanometer scale.

Classification of materials

Materials can be classified according to their permittivity and conductivity, σ . Materials with a large amount of loss inhibit the propagation of electromagnetic waves. In this case, generally when $\sigma/(\omega \varepsilon') >> 1$, we consider the material to be a good conductor. Dielectrics are associated with lossless or low-loss materials, where $\sigma/(\omega \varepsilon') << 1$. Those that do not fall under either limit are considered to be general media. A *perfect dielectric* is a material that has no conductivity, thus exhibiting only a displacement current. Therefore it stores and returns electrical energy as if it were an ideal capacitor.

Lossy medium

In the case of lossy medium, i.e. when the conduction current is not negligible, the total current density flowing is:

$$J_{\rm tot} = J_c + J_d = \sigma E - i\omega\varepsilon' E = -i\omega\widehat{\varepsilon}E$$

where

 $\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ is the conductivity of the medium;

 ϵ' is the real part of the permittivity.

 $\widehat{\varepsilon}$ is the complex permittivity

The size of the displacement current is dependent on the frequency ω of the applied field *E*; there is no displacement current in a constant field.

In this formalism, the complex permittivity is defined as^[11]:

$$\widehat{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon' + i \frac{\sigma}{\omega}$$

In general, the absorption of electromagnetic energy by dielectrics is covered by a few different mechanisms that influence the shape of the permittivity as a function of frequency:

- First, are the relaxation effects associated with permanent and induced molecular dipoles. At low frequencies the field changes slowly enough to allow dipoles to reach equilibrium before the field has measurably changed. For frequencies at which dipole orientations cannot follow the applied field due to the viscosity of the medium, absorption of the field's energy leads to energy dissipation. The mechanism of dipoles relaxing is called dielectric relaxation and for ideal dipoles is described by classic Debye relaxation.
- Second are the resonance effects, which arise from the rotations or vibrations of atoms, ions, or electrons. These processes are observed in the neighborhood of their characteristic absorption frequencies.

The above effects often combine to cause non-linear effects within capacitors. For example, dielectric absorption refers to the inability of a capacitor that has been charged for a long time to completely discharge when briefly discharged. Although an ideal capacitor would remain at zero volts after being discharged, real capacitors will develop a small voltage, a phenomenon that is also called *soakage* or *battery action*. For some dielectrics, such as many polymer films, the resulting voltage may be less than 1-2% of the original voltage. However, it can be as much as 15 - 25% in the case of electrolytic capacitors or supercapacitors.

Quantum-mechanical interpretation

In terms of quantum mechanics, permittivity is explained by atomic and molecular interactions.

At low frequencies, molecules in polar dielectrics are polarized by an applied electric field, which induces periodic rotations. For example, at the microwave frequency, the microwave field causes the periodic rotation of water molecules, sufficient to break hydrogen bonds. The field does work against the bonds and the energy is absorbed by the material as heat. This is why microwave ovens work very well for materials containing water. There are two maxima of the imaginary component (the absorptive index) of water, one at the microwave frequency, and the other at far ultraviolet (UV) frequency. Both of these resonances are at higher frequencies than the operating frequency of microwave ovens.

At moderate frequencies, the energy is too high to cause rotation, yet too low to affect electrons directly, and is absorbed in the form of resonant molecular vibrations. In water, this is where the absorptive index starts to drop sharply, and the minimum of the imaginary permittivity is at the frequency of blue light (optical regime).

At high frequencies (such as UV and above), molecules cannot relax, and the energy is purely absorbed by atoms, exciting electron energy levels. Thus, these frequencies are classified as ionizing radiation.

While carrying out a complete *ab initio* (that is, first-principles) modelling is now computationally possible, it has not been widely applied yet. Thus, a phenomenological model is accepted as being an adequate method of capturing
experimental behaviors. The Debye model and the Lorentz model use a 1st-order and 2nd-order (respectively) lumped system parameter linear representation (such as an RC and an LRC resonant circuit).

Measurement

The dielectric constant of a material can be found by a variety of static electrical measurements. The complex permittivity is evaluated over a wide range of frequencies by using different variants of dielectric spectroscopy, covering nearly 21 orders of magnitude from 10^{-6} to 10^{15} Hz. Also, by using cryostats and ovens, the dielectric properties of a medium can be characterized over an array of temperatures. In order to study systems for such diverse excitation fields, a number of measurement setups are used, each adequate for a special frequency range.

Various microwave measurement techniques are outlined in Chen *et al.*.^[12] Typical errors for the Hakki-Coleman method employing a puck of material between conducting planes are about 0.3%.^[13]

- Low-frequency time domain measurements $(10^{-6} 10^3 \text{ Hz})$
- Low-frequency frequency domain measurements $(10^{-5}-10^{6} \text{ Hz})$
- Reflective coaxial methods $(10^6 10^{10} \text{ Hz})$
- Transmission coaxial method $(10^8 10^{11} \text{ Hz})$
- Quasi-optical methods $(10^9 10^{10} \text{ Hz})$
- Fourier-transform methods $(10^{11}-10^{15} \text{ Hz})$

At infrared and optical frequencies, a common technique is ellipsometry. Dual polarisation interferometry is also used to measure the complex refractive index for very thin films at optical frequencies.

References

- [1] electric constant (http://physics.nist.gov/cgi-bin/cuu/Value?ep0)
- [2] Current practice of standards organizations such as NIST and BIPM is to use c_0 , rather than c, to denote the speed of light in vacuum according to ISO 31. In the original Recommendation of 1983, the symbol c was used for this purpose. See NIST *Special Publication 330*, Appendix 2, p. 45 (http://physics.nist.gov/Pubs/SP330/sp330.pdf).
- [3] Latest (2006) values of the constants (NIST) (http://physics.nist.gov/cuu/Constants/index.html)
- [4] Dielectric Spectroscopy (http://www.psrc.usm.edu/mauritz/dilect.html)
- [5] Peter Y. Yu, Manuel Cardona (2001). Fundamentals of Semiconductors: Physics and Materials Properties (http://books.google.com/ ?id=W9pdJZoAeyEC&pg=PA261). Berlin: Springer. p. 261. ISBN 3540254706.
- [6] José García Solé, Jose Solé, Luisa Bausa, (2001). An introduction to the optical spectroscopy of inorganic solids (http://books.google.com/ ?id=c6pkqC50QMgC&pg=PA263). Wiley. Appendix A1, pp, 263. ISBN 0470868856.
- [7] John H. Moore, Nicholas D. Spencer (2001). Encyclopedia of chemical physics and physical chemistry (http://books.google.com/ ?id=Pn2edky6uJ8C&pg=PA108). Taylor and Francis. p. 105. ISBN 0750307986.
- [8] Solé, José García; Bausá, Louisa E; Jaque, Daniel (2005-03-22). Solé and Bausa (http://books.google.com/?id=c6pkqC50QMgC&pg=PA10). p. 10. ISBN 3540254706.
- Hartmut Haug, Stephan W. Koch (1994). Quantum Theory of the Optical and Electronic Properties of Semiconductors (http://books.google. com/?id=Ab2WnFyGwhcC&pg=PA196). World Scientific. p. 196. ISBN 9810218648.
- [10] Manijeh Razeghi (2006). Fundamentals of Solid State Engineering (http://books.google.com/?id=6x07E9PSzr8C&pg=PA383).
 Birkhauser. p. 383. ISBN 0387281525.
- [11] John S. Seybold (2005) Introduction to RF propagation. 330 pp, eq.(2.6), p.22.
- [12] Linfeng Chen, V. V. Varadan, C. K. Ong, Chye Poh Neo (2004). "Microwave theory and techniques for materials characterization" (http:// books.google.com/?id=2oA3po4coUoC&pg=PA37). *Microwave electronics*. Wiley. p. 37. ISBN 0470844922.
- [13] Mailadil T. Sebastian (2008). Dielectric Materials foress Communication (http://books.google.com/?id=eShDR4_YyM8C&pg=PA19).
 Elsevier. p. 19. ISBN 0080453309.

Further reading

- Theory of Electric Polarization: Dielectric Polarization, C.J.F. Böttcher, ISBN 0-444-41579-3
- Dielectrics and Waves edited by von Hippel, Arthur R., ISBN 0-89006-803-8
- Dielectric Materials and Applications edited by Arthur von Hippel, ISBN 0-89006-805-4.

External links

- Electromagnetism (http://lightandmatter.com/html_books/0sn/ch11/ch11.html), a chapter from an online textbook
- What's all this trapped charge stuff . . . (http://keith-snook.info/capacitor-soakage.html), A different approach to some capacitor problems

Permeability

In electromagnetism, **permeability** is the measure of the ability of a material to support the formation of a magnetic field within itself. In other words, it is the degree of magnetization that a material obtains in response to an applied magnetic field. Magnetic permeability is typically represented by the Greek letter μ . The term was coined in September, 1885 by Oliver Heaviside. The reciprocal of magnetic permeability is **magnetic reluctivity**.

We can simplify it by saying, the more conductive a material is to a magnetic field, the higher its permeability.



In SI units, permeability is measured in the henry per metre $(H \cdot m^{-1})$, or newton per ampere squared $(N \cdot A^{-2})$. The permeability constant (μ_0) , also known as the magnetic constant or the permeability of free space,

is a measure of the amount of resistance encountered when forming a magnetic field in a classical vacuum. The magnetic constant has the exact (defined)^[1] value $\mu_0 = 4\pi \times 10^{-7} \approx 1.2566370614... \times 10^{-6} \text{ H} \cdot \text{m}^{-1}$ or N·A⁻²).

Explanation

In electromagnetism, the auxiliary magnetic field \mathbf{H} represents how a magnetic field \mathbf{B} influences the organization of magnetic dipoles in a given medium, including dipole migration and magnetic dipole reorientation. Its relation to permeability is

$$\mathbf{B} = \mu \mathbf{H}$$

where the **permeability** μ is a scalar if the medium is isotropic or a second rank tensor for an anisotropic medium.

In general, permeability is not a constant, as it can vary with the position in the medium, the frequency of the field applied, humidity, temperature, and other parameters. In a nonlinear medium, the permeability can depend on the strength of the magnetic field. Permeability as a function of frequency can take on real or complex values. In ferromagnetic materials, the relationship between **B** and **H** exhibits both non-linearity and hysteresis: **B** is not a single-valued function of \mathbf{H} ,^[2] but depends also on the history of the material. For these materials it is sometimes useful to consider the *incremental permeability* defined as

$$\Delta \mathbf{B} = \mu_{\Delta} \Delta \mathbf{H}.$$

This definition is useful in local linearizations of non-linear material behavior, for example in a Newton-Raphson iterative solution scheme that computes the changing saturation of a magnetic circuit.

Permeability is the inductance per unit length. In SI units, permeability is measured in henries per metre $(H \cdot m^{-1} = J/(A^2 \cdot m) = N A^{-2})$. The auxiliary magnetic field **H** has dimensions current per unit length and is measured in units of amperes per metre $(A m^{-1})$. The product μH thus has dimensions inductance times current per unit area $(H \cdot A/m^2)$. But inductance is magnetic flux per unit current, so the product has dimensions magnetic flux per unit area. This is just the magnetic field **B**, which is measured in webers (volt-seconds) per square-metre $(V \cdot s/m^2)$, or teslas (T).

B is related to the Lorentz force on a moving charge q:

$$\mathbf{F} = q(\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B})$$

The charge q is given in coulombs (C), the velocity v in m/s, so that the force F is in newtons (N):

$$q\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B} = \mathbf{C} \cdot \frac{\mathbf{m}}{\mathbf{s}} \cdot \frac{\mathbf{V} \cdot \mathbf{s}}{\mathbf{m}^2} = \frac{\mathbf{C} \cdot (\mathbf{J} / \mathbf{C})}{\mathbf{m}} = \frac{\mathbf{J}}{\mathbf{m}} = \mathbf{N}$$

H is related to the magnetic dipole density. A magnetic dipole is a closed circulation of electric current. The dipole moment has dimensions current times area, units ampere square-metre $(A \cdot m^2)$, and magnitude equal to the current around the loop times the area of the loop.^[3] The **H** field at a distance from a dipole has magnitude proportional to the dipole moment divided by distance cubed,^[4] which has dimensions current per unit length.

Relative permeability

Relative permeability, sometimes denoted by the symbol μ_r , is the ratio of the permeability of a specific medium to the permeability of free space given by the magnetic constant $\mu_0 = 4\pi \times 10^{-7} \frac{N}{A^2}$:

$$\mu_{\tau} = \frac{\mu}{\mu_0}.$$

In terms of relative permeability, the magnetic susceptibility is:

$$\chi_m=\mu_r-1$$
 .

 $\chi_{\rm m}$, a dimensionless quantity, is sometimes called *volumetric* or *bulk* susceptibility, to distinguish it from $\chi_{\rm p}$ (*magnetic mass* or *specific* susceptibility) and $\chi_{\rm M}$ (*molar* or *molar mass* susceptibility).

Diamagnetism

Diamagnetism is the property of an object which causes it to create a magnetic field in opposition of an externally applied magnetic field, thus causing a repulsive effect. Specifically, an external magnetic field alters the orbital velocity of electrons around their nuclei, thus changing the magnetic dipole moment in the direction opposing the external field. Diamagnets are materials with a magnetic permeability less than μ_0 (a relative permeability less than 1).

Consequently, diamagnetism is a form of magnetism that a substance exhibits only in the presence of an externally applied magnetic field. It is generally a quite weak effect in most materials, although superconductors exhibit a strong effect.

Paramagnetism

Paramagnetism is a form of magnetism which occurs only in the presence of an externally applied magnetic field. Paramagnetic materials are attracted to magnetic fields, hence have a relative magnetic permeability greater than one (or, equivalently, a positive magnetic susceptibility). The magnetic moment induced by the applied field is *linear* in the field strength and rather *weak*. It typically requires a sensitive analytical balance to detect the effect. Unlike ferromagnets, paramagnets do not retain any magnetization in the absence of an externally applied magnetic field, because thermal motion causes the spins to become *randomly oriented* without it. Thus the total magnetization will drop to zero when the applied field is removed. Even in the presence of the field there is only a small *induced*

magnetization because only a small fraction of the spins will be oriented by the field. This fraction is proportional to the field strength and this explains the linear dependency. The attraction experienced by ferromagnets is non-linear and much stronger, so that it is easily observed, for instance, in magnets on one's refrigerator.

Values for some common materials

The following table should be used with caution as the permeability of ferromagnetic materials varies greatly with field strength. For example 4% Si steel has an initial relative permeability (at or near 0T) of 2,000 and a maximum of $35,000^{[5]}$ and, indeed, the relative permeability of any material at a sufficiently high field strength tends to 1.

Medium	Susceptibility χ _m (volumetric SI)	Permeability µ [H/m]	Relative Permeability μ/μ_0	Magnetic field	Frequency max.
Metglas		1.25×10^{-1}	1000000 ^[6]	at 0.5 T	100kHz
Nanoperm		10×10^{-2}	80000 ^[7]	at 0.5 T	10kHz
Mu-metal		2.5×10^{-2}	20000 ^[8]	at 0.002 T	
Mu-metal			50000 ^[9]		
Permalloy		1.0×10^{-2}	8000 ^[8]	at 0.002 T	
Electrical steel		5.0×10^{-3}	4000 ^[8]	at 0.002 T	
Ferrite (nickel zinc)		$2.0 \times 10^{-5} - 8.0 \times 10^{-4}$	16-640		100 kHz ~ 1 MHz
Ferrite (manganese zinc)		>8.0 × 10 ⁻⁴	640 (or more)		100 kHz ~ 1 MHz
Steel		8.75×10^{-4}	100 ^[8]	at 0.002 T	
Nickel		1.25×10^{-4}	100 ^[8] – 600	at 0.002 T	
Neodymium magnet			1.05 ^[10]		
Platinum		1.2569701×10^{-6}	1.000265		
Aluminum	$2.22 \times 10^{-5[11]}$	1.2566650×10^{-6}	1.000022		
Wood			1.00000043 ^[11]		
Air			1.00000037 [12]		
Concrete			1 ^[13]		
Vacuum	0	$1.2566371 \times 10^{-6} (\mu_0)$	1 ^[14]		
Hydrogen	$-2.2 \times 10^{-9[11]}$	1.2566371×10^{-6}	1.0000000		
Teflon		$1.2567 \times 10^{-6[8]}$	1.0000		
Sapphire	-2.1×10^{-7}	1.2566368×10^{-6}	0.99999976		
Copper	-6.4×10^{-6} or $-9.2 \times 10^{-6[11]}$	1.2566290×10^{-6}	0.999994		
Water	-8.0×10^{-6}	1.2566270×10^{-6}	0.999992		
Bismuth	-1.66×10^{-4}		0.999834		

Magnetic susceptibility and permeability data for selected materials

 Superconductors
 -1
 0
 0

A good magnetic core material must have high permeability.

For magnetic levitation a relative permeability below 1 is needed (corresponding to a negative susceptibility).

Permeability varies with magnetic field. Values shown above are approximate and valid only at the magnetic fields shown. Moreover, they are given for a zero frequency; in practice, the permeability is generally a function of the frequency. When frequency is considered the permeability can be complex, corresponding to the in phase and out of phase response.

Note that the magnetic constant μ_0 has an exact value in SI units (that is, there is no uncertainty in its value), because the definition of the ampere fixes its value to $4\pi \times 10^{-7}$ H/m exactly.



Complex permeability

A useful tool for dealing with high frequency magnetic effects is the complex permeability. While at low frequencies in a linear material the magnetic field and the auxiliary magnetic field are simply proportional to each other through some scalar permeability, at high frequencies these quantities will react to each other with some lag time.^[15] These fields can be written as phasors, such that

$$H = H_0 e^{j\omega t}$$
 $B = B_0 e^{j(\omega t - \delta)}$

where δ is the phase delay of B from H. Understanding permeability as the ratio of the magnetic field to the auxiliary magnetic field, the ratio of the phasors can be written and simplified as

$$\mu = \frac{B}{H} = \frac{B_0 e^{j(\omega t-\delta)}}{H_0 e^{j\omega t}} = \frac{B_0}{H_0} e^{-j\delta}$$

so that the permeability becomes a complex number. By Euler's formula, the complex permeability can be translated from polar to rectangular form,

$$\mu = \frac{B_0}{H_0} \cos \delta - j \frac{B_0}{H_0} \sin \delta = \mu' - j \mu''.$$

The ratio of the imaginary to the real part of the complex permeability is called the loss tangent,

$$\tan \delta = \frac{\mu''}{\mu'},$$

which provides a measure of how much power is lost in a material versus how much is stored.

References

- [1] "The NIST reference on fundamental physical constants" (http://physics.nist.gov/cuu/Units/ampere.html). Physics.nist.gov. . Retrieved 2011-11-08.
- [2] Jackson (1975), p. 190
- [3] Jackson, John David (1975). Classical Electrodynamics (2nd ed. ed.). New York: Wiley. ISBN 0-471-43132-X. p. 182 eqn. (5.57)
- [4] Jackson (1975) p. 182 eqn. (5.56)
- [5] G.W.C. Kaye & T.H. Laby, Table of Physical and Chemical Constants, 14th ed, Longman
- [6] ""Metglas Magnetic Alloy 2714A", "Metglas"" (http://www.metglas.com/products/page5_1_2_6.htm). Metglas.com. Retrieved 2011-11-08.
- [7] ""Typical material properties of NANOPERM", "Magnetec"" (http://www.magnetec.de/eng/pdf/werkstoffkennlinien_nano_e.pdf) (PDF).. Retrieved 2011-11-08.
- [8] ""Relative Permeability", "Hyperphysics"" (http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/solids/ferro.html).
 Hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu. . Retrieved 2011-11-08.
- [9] "Nickel Alloys-Stainless Steels, Nickel Copper Alloys, Nickel Chromium Alloys, Low Expansion Alloys" (http://www.nickel-alloys.net/ nickelalloys.html). Nickel-alloys.net. . Retrieved 2011-11-08.
- [10] Juha Pyrhönen, Tapani Jokinen, Valéria Hrabovcová (2009). Design of Rotating Electrical Machines (http://books.google.com/ ?id=_y3LSh1XTJYC&pg=PT232). John Wiley and Sons. p. 232. ISBN 0470695161.
- [11] Richard A. Clarke. "Clarke, R. "Magnetic properties of materials", surrey.ac.uk" (http://www.ee.surrey.ac.uk/Workshop/advice/coils/ mu/). Ee.surrey.ac.uk. . Retrieved 2011-11-08.
- [12] B. D. Cullity and C. D. Graham (2008), Introduction to Magnetic Materials, 2nd edition, 568 pp., p.16
- [13] NDT.net. "Determination of dielectric properties of insitu concrete at radar frequencies" (http://www.ndt.net/article/ndtce03/papers/ v078/v078.htm). Ndt.net. . Retrieved 2011-11-08.
- [14] exactly, by definition
- [15] M. Getzlaff, Fundamentals of magnetism, Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 2008.

External links

- Electromagnetism (http://www.lightandmatter.com/html_books/0sn/ch11/ch11.html) a chapter from an online textbook
- Relative Permeability (http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/solids/ferro.html)
- Soil Permeability Test (http://www.denichsoiltest.com)
- Magnetic Properties of Materials (http://www.ee.surrey.ac.uk/Workshop/advice/coils/mu/)

Magnetization

In classical electromagnetism, **magnetization**^[1] or **magnetic polarization** is the vector field that expresses the density of permanent or induced magnetic dipole moments in a magnetic material. The origin of the magnetic moments responsible for magnetization can be either microscopic electric currents resulting from the motion of electrons in atoms, or the spin of the electrons or the nuclei. Net magnetization results from the response of a material to an external magnetic field, together with any unbalanced magnetic dipole moments that may be inherent in the material itself; for example, in ferromagnets. Magnetization is not always homogeneous within a body, but rather varies between different points. Magnetization also describes how a material responds to an applied magnetic field as well as the way the material changes the magnetic field, and can be used to calculate the forces that result from those interactions. It can be compared to electric polarization, which is the measure of the corresponding response of a material to an electric field in electrostatics. Physicists and engineers define magnetization as the quantity of magnetic moment per unit volume. It is represented by a vector M.

Definition

Magnetization can be defined according to the following equation:

$$\mathbf{M} = \frac{N}{V}\mathbf{m} = n\mathbf{m}$$

Here, **M** represents magnetization; **m** is the vector that defines the magnetic moment; V represents volume; and *N* is the number of magnetic moments in the sample. The quantity N/V is usually written as *n*, the number density of magnetic moments. The M-field is measured in amperes per meter (A/m) in SI units.^[2]

Magnetization in Maxwell's equations

The behavior of magnetic fields (B, H), electric fields (E, D), charge density (ρ), and current density (J) is described by Maxwell's equations. The role of the magnetization is described below.

Relations between B, H, and M

The magnetization defines the auxiliary magnetic field H as

 $\mathbf{B} = \mu_0 (\mathbf{H} + \mathbf{M})$ (SI units)

 $\mathbf{B} = (\mathbf{H} + 4\pi \mathbf{M})$ (Gaussian units)

which is convenient for various calculations. The vacuum permeability μ_0 is, by definition, 4×10^{-7} V·s/(A·m).

A relation between M and H exists in many materials. In diamagnets and paramagnets, the relation is usually linear:

$$\mathbf{M} = \chi_m \mathbf{H}$$

where χ_{m} is called the volume magnetic susceptibility.

In ferromagnets there is no one-to-one correspondence between M and H because of hysteresis.

Magnetization current

The magnetization M makes a contribution to the current density J, known as the **magnetization current** or **bound current**:

$$\mathbf{J_m} = \nabla \times \mathbf{M}$$

so that the total current density that enters Maxwell's equations is given by

$$\mathbf{J} = \mathbf{J}_{\mathbf{f}} +
abla imes \mathbf{M} + rac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial t}$$

where J_{f} is the electric current density of free charges (also called the **free current**), the second term is the contribution from the magnetization, and the last term is related to the electric polarization P.

Magnetostatics

In the absence of free electric currents and time-dependent effects, Maxwell's equations describing the magnetic quantities reduce to

$$\nabla\cdot {\bf H} = -\nabla\cdot {\bf M}$$

$$abla imes \mathbf{H} = 0$$

These equations can be easily solved in analogy with electrostatic problems where

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{E} = rac{
ho}{\epsilon_0}$$
 $abla imes \mathbf{E} = 0$

In this sense $-\nabla \cdot \mathbf{M}$ plays the role of a "magnetic charge density" analogous to the electric charge density ρ (see also demagnetizing field).

Magnetization is volume density of magnetic moment. That is: if a certain volume has magnetization \mathbf{M} then the volume element dV has a magnetic moment of $d\mathbf{m} = \mathbf{M} dV$

Magnetization dynamics

Main article: Magnetization dynamics

The time-dependent behavior of magnetization becomes important when considering nanoscale and nanosecond timescale magnetization. Rather than simply aligning with an applied field, the individual magnetic moments in a material begin to precess around the applied field and come into alignment through relaxation as energy is transferred into the lattice.

Demagnetization

In addition to magnetization, there is also demagnetization. Demagnetization is the process by which the magnetic field of an object is reduced or eliminated.^[3] The process of demagnetizing can be accomplished in many ways. One technique used for demagnetization is to heat the object above its Curie Temperature. The reason for this is that when a magnetic material is heated to its Curie Temperature, the material's magnetivity is eliminated. One other way of achieving demagnetization is to use an electric coil. If the object is retracted out of a coil with aternating current running through it, the object's dipoles will become randomized and the object will be demagnetized.^[4]

Applications of Demagnetization

One application of demagnetization is to eliminate unwanted magnetic fields. The reason for doing this is that magnetic fields can have unwanted effects on different devices. In particular magnetic fields can affect electronic devices such as cell phones or computers. If such a device is going to be coming into contact with other possibly magnetic objects, the magnetic fields might need to be reduced in order to protect the electronic device. Therefore demagnetization is sometimes used to keep magnetic fields from damaging electrical devices.^[5]

Sources

- [1] American spelling. The British spelling is magnetisation.
- [2] "Units for Magnetic Properties" (http://www.magneticmicrosphere.com/resources/Units_for_Magnetic_Properties.pdf). Lake Shore Cryotronics, Inc... Retrieved 2009-10-24.
- [3] "Magnetic Component Engineering" (http://www.mceproducts.com/knowledge-base/article/article-dtl.asp?id=90). Magnetic Component Engineering. . Retrieved April 18, 2011.
- [4] "Demagnetization" (http://www.ndt-ed.org/EducationResources/CommunityCollege/MagParticle/Physics/Demagnetization.htm). *Introduction to Magnetic Particle Inspection*. NDT Resource Center. . Retrieved April 18, 2011.
- [5] "Demagnetization" (http://www.ndt-ed.org/EducationResources/CommunityCollege/MagParticle/Physics/Demagnetization.htm). Introduction to Magnetic Particle Inspection. NDT Resource Center. . Retrieved April 18, 2011.

Polarization

In classical electromagnetism, **polarization density** (or **electric polarization**, or simply **polarization**) is the vector field that expresses the density of permanent or induced electric dipole moments in a dielectric material. When a dielectric is placed in an external electric field, its molecules gain electric dipole moment and the dielectric is said to be polarized. The electric dipole moment induced per unit volume of the dielectric material is called the electric polarization of the dielectric. Polarization density also describes how a material responds to an applied electric field as well as the way the material changes the electric field, and can be used to calculate the forces that result from those interactions. It can be compared to magnetization, which is the measure of the corresponding response of a material to an magnetic field in magnetism. The SI unit of measure is coulombs per square metre, and polarization density is represented by a vector **P**.

Polarization density in Maxwell's equations

The behavior of electric fields (**E** and **D**), magnetic fields (**B**, **H**), charge density (ρ) and current density (**J**) are described by Maxwell's equations. The role of the polarization density **P** is described below.

Relations between E, D and P

The polarization density **P** defines the electric displacement field **D** as $^{[1]}$

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P}$$

which is convenient for various calculations. Here ε_0 is the electric permittivity.

A relation between P and E exists in many materials, as described later in the article.

Bound charge

Electric polarization corresponds to a rearrangement of the bound electrons in the material, which creates an additional charge density, known as the **bound charge density** $\rho_{\rm b}$:

$$ho_b = -
abla \cdot {f P}$$

so that the total charge density that enters Maxwell's equation for the divergence of E is given by

$$ho=
ho_f+
ho_b$$

where $\rho_{\rm f}$ is the **free charge density** given by the divergence of **D**.

At the surface of the polarized material, the bound charge appears as a surface charge density

$$\sigma_b = \mathbf{P} \cdot \mathbf{\hat{n}}_{ ext{out}}$$

where $\mathbf{\hat{n}}_{out}$ is the normal vector. If **P** is uniform inside the material, this surface charge is the only bound charge.

When the polarization density changes with time, the time-dependent bound-charge density creates a *polarization current density* of

$$\mathbf{J}_p = rac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial t}$$

so that the total current density that enters Maxwell's equations is given by

$$\mathbf{J} = \mathbf{J}_f +
abla imes \mathbf{M} + rac{\partial \mathbf{P}}{\partial t}$$

where \mathbf{J}_{f} is the free-charge current density, and the second term is the magnetization current density (also called the *bound current density*), a contribution from atomic-scale magnetic dipoles (when they are present).

Relation between P and E in various materials

In a homogeneous linear and isotropic dielectric medium, the **polarization** is aligned with and proportional to the electric field **E**:



Field lines of the **D**-field in a dielectric sphere with greater susceptibility than its surroundings, placed in a previously-uniform field.^[2] The field lines of the **E**-field are not shown: These point in the same directions, but many field lines start and end on the surface of the sphere, where there is bound charge. As a result, the density of E-field lines is lower inside the sphere than outside, which corresponds to the fact that the E-field is weaker inside the sphere than outside.

$$\mathbf{P}=\varepsilon_0\chi\mathbf{E},$$

where ε_0 is the electric constant, and χ is the electric susceptibility of the medium.

In an *anisotropic* material, the polarization and the field are not necessarily in the same direction. Then, the ith component of the polarization is related to the jth component of the electric field according to:

$$P_i = \sum_j \epsilon_0 \chi_{ij} E_j,$$

where ε_0 is the electric constant, and χ_{ij} is the electric susceptibility tensor of the medium. This relation shows, for example, that a material can polarize in the x direction by applying a field in the z direction, and so on. The case of an anisotropic dielectric medium is described by the field of crystal optics.

As in most electromagnetism, this relation deals with macroscopic averages of the fields and dipole density, so that one has a continuum approximation of the dielectric materials that neglects atomic-scale behaviors. The polarizability of individual particles in the medium can be related to the average susceptibility and polarization density by the Clausius-Mossotti relation.

In general, the susceptibility is a function of the frequency ω of the applied field. When the field is an arbitrary function of time *t*, the polarization is a convolution of the Fourier transform of $\chi(\omega)$ with the **E**(*t*). This reflects the fact that the dipoles in the material cannot respond instantaneously to the applied field, and causality considerations lead to the Kramers–Kronig relations.

If the polarization \mathbf{P} is not linearly proportional to the electric field \mathbf{E} , the medium is termed *nonlinear* and is described by the field of nonlinear optics. To a good approximation (for sufficiently weak fields, assuming no permanent dipole moments are present), \mathbf{P} is usually given by a Taylor series in \mathbf{E} whose coefficients are the nonlinear susceptibilities:

$$P_i/\epsilon_0 = \sum_j \chi_{ij}^{(1)} E_j + \sum_{jk} \chi_{ijk}^{(2)} E_j E_k + \sum_{jk\ell} \chi_{ijk\ell}^{(3)} E_j E_k E_\ell + \cdots$$

where $\chi^{(1)}$ is the linear susceptibility, $\chi^{(2)}$ is the second-order susceptibility (describing phenomena such as the Pockels effect, optical rectification and second-harmonic generation), and $\chi^{(3)}$ is the third-order susceptibility (describing third-order effects such as the Kerr effect and electric field-induced optical rectification). In ferroelectric materials, there is no one-to-one correspondence between **P** and **E** at all because of hysteresis.

References and notes

[1] Saleh, B.E.A.; Teich, M.C. (2007). Fundamentals of Photonics. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley. pp. 154. ISBN 9780471358329.

[2] Based upon equations from Andrew Gray (1888). The theory and practice of absolute measurements in electricity and magnetism (http://books.google.com/?id=jb0KAAAAIAAJ&pg=PA127). Macmillan & Co.. pp. 126–127. ., which refers to papers by Sir W. Thomson.

Scalar potential

A scalar potential is a fundamental concept in vector analysis and physics (the adjective *scalar* is frequently omitted if there is no danger of confusion with vector potential). The scalar potential is an example of a scalar field. Given a vector field \mathbf{F} , the scalar potential P is defined such that:



$$\mathbf{F} = -
abla P = -\left(rac{\partial P}{\partial x},rac{\partial P}{\partial y},rac{\partial P}{\partial z}
ight),^{[1]}$$

where ∇P is the gradient of P and the second part of the equation is minus the gradient for a function of the Cartesian coordinates x,y,z.^[2] In some cases, mathematicians may use a positive sign in front of the gradient to define the potential.^[3] Because of this definition of P in terms of the gradient, the direction of **F** at any point is the direction of the steepest decrease of P at that point, its magnitude is the rate of that decrease per unit length.

In order for \mathbf{F} to be described in terms of a scalar potential only, the following have to be true:

1. $-\int_{a}^{b} \mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{l} = P(\mathbf{b}) - P(\mathbf{a})$, where the integration is over a Jordan arc passing from location **a** to location

 \boldsymbol{b} and $P(\boldsymbol{b})$ is P evaluated at location \boldsymbol{b} .

2. $\oint \mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{l} = 0$, where the integral is over any simple closed path, otherwise known as a Jordan curve.

3.
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{F} = 0$$

The first of these conditions represents the fundamental theorem of the gradient and is true for any vector field that is a gradient of a differentiable single valued scalar field P. The second condition is a requirement of \mathbf{F} so that it can be expressed as the gradient of a scalar function. The third condition re-expresses the second condition in terms of the curl of \mathbf{F} using the fundamental theorem of the curl. A vector field \mathbf{F} that satisfies these conditions is said to be irrotational (Conservative).

Scalar potentials play a prominent role in many areas of physics and engineering. The gravity potential is the scalar potential associated with the gravity per unit mass, i.e., the acceleration due to the field, as a function of position. The gravity potential is the gravitational potential energy per unit mass. In electrostatics the electric potential is the scalar potential associated with the electric field, i.e., with the electrostatic force per unit charge. The electric potential is in this case the electrostatic potential energy per unit charge. In fluid dynamics, irrotational lamellar fields have a scalar potential only in the special case when it is a Laplacian field. Certain aspects of the nuclear force can be described by a Yukawa potential. The potential play a prominent role in the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formulations of classical mechanics. Further, the scalar potential is the fundamental quantity in quantum mechanics.

Not every vector field has a scalar potential. Those that do are called **conservative**, corresponding to the notion of conservative force in physics. Examples of non-conservative forces include frictional forces, magnetic forces, and in fluid mechanics a solenoidal field velocity field. By the Helmholtz decomposition theorem however, all vector fields can be describable in terms of a scalar potential and corresponding vector potential. In electrodynamics the electromagnetic scalar and vector potentials are known together as the electromagnetic four-potential.

Integrability conditions

If **F** is a conservative vector field (also called *irrotational*, *curl-free*, or *potential*), and its components have continuous partial derivatives, the **potential** of **F** with respect to a reference point \mathbf{r}_0 is defined in terms of the line integral:

$$V(\mathbf{r}) = -\int_C \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot d\mathbf{r} = -\int_a^b \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{r}(t)) \cdot \mathbf{r}'(t) dt.$$

where *C* is a parametrized path from \mathbf{r}_0 to \mathbf{r} ,

$$\mathbf{r}(t), a \leq t \leq b, \mathbf{r}(a) = \mathbf{r_0}, \mathbf{r}(b) = \mathbf{r}.$$

The fact that the line integral depends on the path *C* only through its terminal points \mathbf{r}_0 and \mathbf{r} is, in essence, the **path independence property** of a conservative vector field. The fundamental theorem of calculus for line integrals implies that if *V* is defined in this way, then $\mathbf{F} = -\nabla V$, so that *V* is a scalar potential of the conservative vector field \mathbf{F} . Scalar potential is not determined by the vector field alone: indeed, the gradient of a function is unaffected if a constant is added to it. If *V* is defined in terms of the line integral, the ambiguity of *V* reflects the freedom in the choice of the reference point \mathbf{r}_0 .

Altitude as gravitational potential energy

An example is the (nearly) uniform gravitational field near the Earth's surface. It has a potential energy

$$U = mgh$$

where U is the gravitational potential energy and h is the height above the surface. This means that gravitational potential energy on a contour map is proportional to altitude. On a contour map, the two-dimensional negative gradient of the altitude is a two-dimensional vector field, whose vectors are always perpendicular to the contours and also perpendicular to the direction of gravity. But on the hilly region represented by the contour map, the three-dimensional negative gradient of U always points straight downwards in the direction of gravity; F. However, a ball rolling down a hill cannot move directly downwards due to the normal force of the hill's surface, which cancels out the component of gravity perpendicular to the hill's surface. The component of gravity that remains to move the ball is parallel to the surface:





uniform spherical body. The inflection points of the cross-section are at the surface of the body.

$$F_S = -mg \sin \theta$$

where θ is the angle of inclination, and the component of F_{s} perpendicular to gravity is

$$F_P = -mg \sin heta \cos heta = -rac{1}{2}mg\sin 2 heta .$$

This force F_{p} , parallel to the ground, is greatest when θ is 45 degrees.

Let Δh be the uniform interval of altitude between contours on the contour map, and let Δx be the distance between two contours. Then

$$heta = an^{-1} rac{\Delta h}{\Delta x}$$

so that

$$F_P = -mgrac{\Delta x\,\Delta h}{\Delta x^2+\Delta h^2}$$

However, on a contour map, the gradient is inversely proportional to Δx , which is not similar to force F_p : altitude on a contour map is not exactly a two-dimensional potential field. The magnitudes of forces are different, but the directions of the forces are the same on a contour map as well as on the hilly region of the Earth's surface represented by the contour map.

Pressure as buoyant potential

In fluid mechanics, a fluid in equilibrium, but in the presence of a uniform gravitational field is permeated by a uniform buoyant force that cancels out the gravitational force: that is how the fluid maintains its equilibrium. This buoyant force is the negative gradient of pressure:

$$\mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{B}} = -\nabla p.$$

Since buoyant force points upwards, in the direction opposite to gravity, then pressure in the fluid increases downwards. Pressure in a static body of water increases proportionally to the depth below the surface of the water. The surfaces of constant pressure are planes parallel to the ground. The surface of the water can be characterized as a plane with zero pressure.

If the liquid has a vertical vortex (whose axis of rotation is perpendicular to the ground), then the vortex causes a depression in the pressure field. The surfaces of constant pressure are parallel to the ground far away from the vortex, but near and inside the vortex the surfaces of constant pressure are pulled downwards, closer to the ground. This also happens to the surface of zero pressure. Therefore, inside the vortex, the top surface of the liquid is pulled downwards into a depression, or even into a tube (a solenoid).

The buoyant force due to a fluid on a solid object immersed and surrounded by that fluid can be obtained by integrating the negative pressure gradient along the surface of the object:

$$F_B = -\oint_S
abla p \cdot d\mathbf{S}.$$

A moving airplane wing makes the air pressure above it decrease relative to the air pressure below it. This creates enough buoyant force to counteract gravity.

Calculating the scalar potential

Given a vector field **E**, its scalar potential Φ can be calculated to be

$$\phi(\mathbf{R_0}) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\tau} \frac{\nabla \cdot \mathbf{E}(\tau)}{\|\mathbf{R}(\tau) - \mathbf{R_0}\|} d\tau$$

where τ is volume. Then, if **E** is irrotational (Conservative),

$$\mathbf{E} = -\nabla\phi = -\frac{1}{4\pi}\nabla\int_{\tau}\frac{\nabla\cdot\mathbf{E}(\tau)}{\|\mathbf{R}(\tau) - \mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{0}}\|}\,d\tau.$$

This formula is known to be correct if **E** is continuous and vanishes asymptotically to zero towards infinity, decaying faster than 1/r and if the divergence of **E** likewise vanishes towards infinity, decaying faster than $1/r^2$.

References

- [1] Herbert Goldstein. Classical Mechanics (2 ed.). pp. 3-4. ISBN 9780201029185.
- [2] The second part of this equation is ONLY valid for Cartesian coordinates, other coordinate systems such as cylindrical or spherical coordinates will have more complicated representations. derived from the fundamental theorem of the gradient.
- [3] See (http://www.math.umn.edu/~nykamp/m2374/readings/findpot/) for an example where the potential is defined without a negative. Other references such as Louis Leithold, *The Calculus with Analytic Geometry* (5 ed.), p. 1199 avoid using the term *potential* when solving for a function from its gradient.

Vector potential

In vector calculus, a **vector potential** is a vector field whose curl is a given vector field. This is analogous to a *scalar potential*, which is a scalar field whose negative gradient is a given vector field.

Formally, given a vector field v, a vector potential is a vector field A such that

$$\mathbf{v} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}.$$

If a vector field v admits a vector potential A, then from the equality

$$\nabla \cdot (\nabla \times \mathbf{A}) = 0$$

(divergence of the curl is zero) one obtains

 $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{v} = \nabla \cdot (\nabla \times \mathbf{A}) = 0,$

which implies that \mathbf{v} must be a solenoidal vector field.

An interesting question is then if any solenoidal vector field admits a vector potential. The answer is yes, if the vector field satisfies certain conditions.

Theorem

Let

 $\mathbf{v}:\mathbb{R}^3\to\mathbb{R}^3$

be a solenoidal vector field which is twice continuously differentiable. Assume that $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x})$ decreases sufficiently fast as $\|\mathbf{x}\| \rightarrow \infty$. Define

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{x}) = rac{1}{4\pi}
abla imes \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} rac{\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{y})}{\|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}\|} \, d\mathbf{y}.$$

Then, A is a vector potential for v, that is,

 $\nabla \times \mathbf{A} = \mathbf{v}.$

A generalization of this theorem is the Helmholtz decomposition which states that any vector field can be decomposed as a sum of a solenoidal vector field and an irrotational vector field.

Nonuniqueness

The vector potential admitted by a solenoidal field is not unique. If A is a vector potential for v, then so is

 $\mathbf{A} +
abla m$

where m is any continuously differentiable scalar function. This follows from the fact that the curl of the gradient is zero.

This nonuniqueness leads to a degree of freedom in the formulation of electrodynamics, or gauge freedom, and requires choosing a gauge.

References

• Fundamentals of Engineering Electromagnetics by David K. Cheng, Addison-Wesley, 1993.

Vacuum permeability

Vacuum permeability, permeability of free space, or **magnetic constant** is an ideal, (baseline) physical constant, which is the value of magnetic permeability in a classical vacuum. *Vacuum permeability* is derived from production of a magnetic field by an electric current or by a moving electric charge and in all other formulas for magnetic-field production in a vacuum. When the permeability is that of the vacuum, denoted μ_0 has an exact defined value:^{[1] [2]}

 $\mu_0 = 4 \times 10^{-7} \text{ V} \cdot \text{s/(A} \cdot \text{m}) \approx 1.2566370614 \times 10^{-6} \text{ H} \cdot \text{m}^{-1} \text{ or } \text{N} \cdot \text{A}^{-2} \text{ or } \text{T} \cdot \text{m/A} \text{ or } \text{Wb/(A} \cdot \text{m})$

in the SI system of units.

As a constant, it can also be defined as a fundamental invariant quantity, and is also one of three components that defines free space through Maxwell's equations. In classical physics, *free space* is a concept of electromagnetic theory, corresponding to a theoretically perfect vacuum and sometimes referred to as the **vacuum of free space**, or as **classical vacuum**, and is appropriately viewed as a *reference* medium.^{[1] [3]}

The ampere defines vacuum permeability

The ampere is that constant current which, if maintained in two straight parallel conductors of infinite length, of negligible circular cross section, and placed 1 meter apart in vacuum, would produce between these conductors a force equal to 2×10^{-7} newton per meter of length.

Adopted in 1948, the effect of this definition is to fix the magnetic constant (permeability of vacuum) at exactly $4 \times 10^{-7} \text{ H} \cdot \text{m}^{-1}$.^[4] To further illustrate:

Two thin, straight, stationary, parallel wires, a distance *r* apart in free space, each carrying a current *I*, will exert a force on each other. Ampère's force law states that the force per unit length is given by^[5]

$$F_{
m m}=rac{\mu_0 I^2}{2\pi r}.$$

The ampere is defined such that if the wires are 1 m apart and the current in each wire is 1 A, the force between the two wires is $2 \times 10^{-7} \text{ N} \cdot \text{m}^{-1}$. Hence the value of μ_0 is *defined* to be exactly

 $\mu_0 = 4 \times 10^{-7} \text{ N} \cdot \text{A}^{-2} \approx 1.2566370614 \times 10^{-6} \text{ N} \cdot \text{A}^{-2} [6] [1]$

Terminology

Historically, the constant μ_0 has had different names. In the 1987 IUPAP Red book, for example, this constant was still called *permeability of vacuum*.^[7] Another, now rather rare and obsolete, term is "*magnetic permittivity of vacuum*". See, for example, Servant *et al.*^[8] The term "vacuum permeability" (and variations thereof, such as "permeability of free space") remains very widespread. However, Standards Organizations have recently moved to **magnetic constant** as the preferred name for μ_0 , although the older name continues to be listed as a synonym.^[1]

The name "magnetic constant" is used by standards organizations in order to avoid use of the terms "permeability" and "vacuum", which have physical meanings. This change of preferred name has been made because μ_0 is a defined value, and is not the result of experimental measurement (see below).

Systems of units and historical origin of value of μ_0

In principle, there are several equation systems that could be used to set up a system of electrical quantities and units.^[9] Since the late 19th century, the fundamental definitions of current units have been related to the definitions of mass, length and time units, using Ampère's force law. However, the precise way in which this has "officially" been done has changed many times, as measurement techniques and thinking on the topic developed. The overall history of the unit of electric current, and of the related question of how to define a set of equations for describing electromagnetic phenomena, is very complicated. Briefly, the basic reason why μ_0 has the value it does is as follows.

Ampère's force law describes the experimentally-derived fact that, for two thin, straight, stationary, parallel wires, a distance r apart, in each of which a current I flows, the force per unit length, F_m , that one wire exerts upon the other in the vacuum of free space would be given by

$$F_{
m m} \propto rac{I^2}{r}.$$

Writing the constant of proportionality as k_m gives

$$F_{\mathrm{m}} = k_{\mathrm{m}} rac{I^2}{r}.$$

The form of $k_{\rm m}$ needs to be chosen in order to set up a system of equations, and a value then needs to be allocated in order to define the unit of current.

In the old "electromagnetic (emu)" system of equations defined in the late 1800s, $k_{\rm m}$ was chosen to be a pure number, 2, distance was measured in centimetres, force was measured in the cgs unit dyne, and the currents defined by this equation were measured in the "electromagnetic unit (emu) of current" (also called the "abampere"). A practical unit to be used by electricians and engineers, the ampere, was then defined as equal to one tenth of the electromagnetic unit of current.

In another system, the "rationalized-metre-kilogram-second (rmks) system" (or alternatively the "metre-kilogram-second-ampere (mksa) system"), $k_{\rm m}$ is written as $\mu_0/2\pi$, where μ_0 is a measurement-system constant called the "magnetic constant".^[10] The value of μ_0 was chosen such that the rmks unit of current is equal in size to the ampere in the emu system: μ_0 is *defined* to be $4\pi \times 10^{-7}$ N A⁻².^[4]

Historically, several different systems (including the two described above) were in use simultaneously. In particular, physicists and engineers used different systems, and physicists used three different systems for different parts of physics theory and a fourth different system (the engineers' system) for laboratory experiments. In 1948, international decisions were made by standards organizations to adopt the rmks system, and its related set of electrical quantities and units, as the single main international system for describing electromagnetic phenomena in the International System of Units.

Ampère's law as stated above describes a physical property of the world. However, the choices about the form of k_m and the value of μ_0 are totally human decisions, taken by international bodies composed of representatives of the national standards organizations of all participating countries. The parameter μ_0 is a measurement-system constant,

not a physical constant that can be measured. It does not, in any meaningful sense, describe a physical property of the vacuum.^[11] This is why the relevant Standards Organizations prefer the name "magnetic constant", rather than any name that carries the hidden and misleading implication that μ_0 describes some physical property of the vacuum.

Significance in electromagnetism

The magnetic constant μ_0 appears in Maxwell's equations, which describe the properties of electric and magnetic fields and electromagnetic radiation, and relate them to their sources. In particular, it appears in relationship to quantities such as permeability and magnetization density, such as the relationship that defines the magnetic **H**-field in terms of the magnetic **B**-field. In real media, this relationship has the form:

$$\mathbf{H} = \frac{\mathbf{B}}{\mu_0} - \mathbf{M},$$

where \mathbf{M} is the magnetization density. In free space, $\mathbf{M} = 0$.

Maxwell's laws show that speed of light in a vacuum, c_0 is related to the magnetic constant and the electric constant (vacuum permittivity), ε_0 , by the formula

$$c_0 = rac{1}{\sqrt{\mu_0 arepsilon_0}}.$$

References and notes

- CODATA. "Magnetic constants" (http://physics.nist.gov/cgi-bin/cuu/Value?mu0) (2006 CODATA recommended values: Source of the CODATA internationally recommended values (http://physics.nist.gov/cuu/Constants/bibliography.html)). Fundamental Physical Constants. NIST. . Retrieved 2010-02-04.
- [2] Rosen, Joe. "Permeability (Physics)." Encyclopedia of Physics. New York: Facts On File, Inc., 2004. Science Online. Facts On File, Inc. http://www.fofweb.com/Science/default.asp?ItemID=WE40 (accessed 2010-02-04)
- [3] Werner S. Weiglhofer and Akhlesh Lakhtakia (2003). "§ 4.1 The classical vacuum as reference medium" (http://books.google.com/ ?id=QtIP_Lr3gngC&pg=PA34). Introduction to complex mediums for optics and electromagnetics. SPIE Press. p. 34 ff. ISBN 9780819449474.
- [4] This choice defines the SI unit of current, the ampere: "Unit of electric current (ampere)" (http://physics.nist.gov/cuu/Units/ampere. html). *Historical context of the SI*. NIST. . Retrieved 2007-08-11.
- [5] See for example Tipler, Paul A. (1992). Physics for Scientists and Engineers, Third Edition, Extended Version. New York, NY: Worth Publishers. p. 826. ISBN 0-87901-434-2.Equation 25-14
- [6] "Magnetic constant" (http://physics.nist.gov/cgi-bin/cuu/Value?mu0). 2006 CODATA recommended values. NIST. . Retrieved 2007-08-08.
- [7] SUNAMCO Commission (1987). "Recommended values of the fundamental physical constants" (http://www-v2.sp.se/metrology/ IUPAP_SUNAMCO/IUPAP SUNAMCO Commission_files/IUPAP_Red_book_1987/SUNAMCO Red book 1987/
 6_Recommended_fundamental_constants_iupap_sunamco_red_book_1987.pdf). Symbols, Units, Nomenclature and Fundamental Constants in Physics (http://www-v2.sp.se/metrology/IUPAP_SUNAMCO/IUPAP SUNAMCO Commission_files/IUPAP_Red_book_1987/
 SUNAMCO Red book 1987/index_red_book_iupap_sunamco_1987.htm). pp. 54. ; (the IUPAP "Red book").
- [8] J R Lalanne, F Carmona & L Servant (1999). Optical spectroscopies of electronic absorption. (http://books.google.com/ ?id=7rWD-TdxKkMC&pg=PA10&lpg=PA10&dq=+"magnetic+permittivity") (World Scientific series in contemporary chemical physics, vol. 17. ed.). Singapore;London: World Scientific. p. 10. ISBN 9810238614.
- [9] For an introduction to the subject of choices for independent units, see John David Jackson (1998). Classical electrodynamics (http://worldcat.org/isbn/047130932X) (Third ed.). New York: Wiley. p. 154. ISBN 047130932X.
- [10] The decision to explicitly include the factor of 2π in $k_{\rm m}$ stems from the "rationalization" of the equations used to describe physical electromagnetic phenomena.
- [11] The intrinsic properties of realizable vacuum, such as quantum vacuum, QCD vacuum, outer space or ultra-high vacuum are entirely separate from the definition of μ_0 .

Vacuum permittivity

The physical constant ε_0 , commonly called the **vacuum permittivity**, **permittivity of free space** or **electric constant**, relates the units for electric charge to mechanical quantities such as length and force.^[1] For example, the force between two separated electric charges (in vacuum) is given by Coulomb's law:

$$F_C = rac{1}{4\piarepsilon_0} rac{q_1 q_2}{r^2}$$

where q_1 and q_2 are the charges, and r is the distance between them. Likewise, ε_0 appears in Maxwell's equations, which describe the properties of electric and magnetic fields and electromagnetic radiation, and relate them to their sources.

Value

The value of ε_0 is *defined* by the formula

$$arepsilon_0 = rac{1}{\mu_0 c_0^2}$$

where c_0 is the speed of light in vacuum,^[2] and μ_0 is the parameter that international Standards Organizations call the "magnetic constant" (commonly called vacuum permeability). Since μ_0 has the *defined* value $4\pi \times 10^{-7}$ H m⁻¹,^[3] and c_0 has the *defined* value 299792458 m·s⁻¹,^[4] it follows that ε_0 has a *defined* value given approximately by

 $\varepsilon_0 \approx 8.854187817620... \times 10^{-12} \text{ F} \cdot \text{m}^{-1} \text{ (or } \text{A}^2 \cdot \text{s}^4 \cdot \text{kg}^{-1} \cdot \text{m}^{-3} \text{ in SI base units, or } \text{C}^2 \cdot \text{N}^{-1} \cdot \text{m}^{-2} \text{ or } \text{C} \cdot \text{V}^{-1} \cdot \text{m}^{-1} \text{ using other SI coherent units}}$

The ellipsis (...) does not indicate experimental uncertainty, but the arbitrary termination of a nonrecurring decimal. The historical origins of the electric constant ε_{α} , and its value, are explained in more detail below.

Under the proposals to redefine the ampere as a fixed number of elementary charges per second,^[7] the electric constant would no longer have an exact fixed value. Instead, it would be defined by the equation

$$arepsilon_0 = rac{e^2}{2lpha h c_0}$$

where *e* is the elementary charge, α is the fine structure constant and *h* is the Planck constant. The relative uncertainty in the value would be the same as that of the fine structure constant, currently 6.8×10^{-10} .^[5]

Terminology

Historically, the parameter ε_0 has been known by many different names. The terms "vacuum permittivity" or its variants, such as "permittivity in/of vacuum",^[8] ^[9] "permittivity of empty space",^[10] or "permittivity of free space"^[11] are widespread. Standards Organizations worldwide now use "electric constant" as a uniform term for this quantity,^[5] and official standards documents have adopted the term (although they continue to list the older terms as synonyms).^[12] ^[13]

Another historical synonym was "dielectric constant of vacuum", as "dielectric constant" was sometimes used in the past for the absolute permittivity.^[14] ^[15] However, in modern usage "dielectric constant" typically refers exclusively to a relative permittivity $\varepsilon/\varepsilon_0$ and even this usage is considered "obsolete" by some standards bodies in favor of relative static permittivity.^[13] ^[16] Hence, the term "dielectric constant of vacuum" for the electric constant ε_0 is considered obsolete by most modern authors, although occasional examples of continuing usage can be found.

As for notation, the constant can be denoted by either ε_0 or ϵ_0 , using either of the common glyphs for the letter epsilon.

Historical origin of the parameter ε_0

As indicated above, the parameter ε_0 is a measurement-system constant. Its presence in the equations now used to define electromagnetic quantities is the result of the so-called "rationalization" process described below. But the method of allocating a value to it is a consequence of the result that Maxwell's equations predict that, in free space, electromagnetic waves move with the speed of light. Understanding why ε_0 has the value it does requires a brief understanding of the history of how electromagnetic measurement systems developed.

Rationalization of units

The experiments of Coulomb and others showed that the force F between two equal point-like "amounts" of electricity, situated a distance r apart in free space, should be given by a formula that has the form

$$F=k_{
m e}Q^2/r^2$$

where Q is a quantity that represents the amount of electricity present at each of the two points, and k_e is Coulomb's constant. If one is starting with no constraints, then the value of k_e may be chosen arbitrarily.^[17] For each different choice of k_e there is a different "interpretation" of Q: to avoid confusion, each different "interpretation" has to be allocated a distinctive name and symbol.

In one of the systems of equations and units agreed in the late 19th century, called the "centimetre-gram-second electrostatic system of units" (the cgs esu system), the constant k_e was taken equal to 1, and a quantity now called "gaussian electric charge" q_s was defined by the resulting equation

$$F = q_s^2 / r^2.$$

The unit of gaussian charge, the statcoulomb, is such that two units, a distance of 1 centimetre apart, repel each other with a force equal to the cgs unit of force, the dyne. Thus the unit of gaussian charge can also be written 1 dyne^{1/2} cm. "Gaussian electric charge" is not the same mathematical quantity as modern (rmks) electric charge and is not measured in coulombs.

The idea subsequently developed that it would be better, in situations of spherical geometry, to include a factor 4π in equations like Coulomb's law, and write it in the form:

$$F = k_{\rm e}' q_s'^2 / 4\pi r^2.$$

This idea is called "rationalization". The quantities q'_s and k'_e are not the same as those in the older convention. Putting $k'_e = 1$ generates a unit of electricity of different size, but it still has the same dimensions as the cgs esu system.

The next step was to treat the quantity representing "amount of electricity" as a fundamental quantity in its own right, denoted by the symbol q, and to write Coulomb's Law in its modern form:

$$F = q^2 / 4\pi \epsilon_0 r^2.$$

The system of equations thus generated is known as the rationalized metre-kilogram-second (rmks) equation system, or "metre-kilogram-second-ampere (mksa)" equation system. This is the system used to define the SI units.^[18] The new quantity q is given the name "rmks electric charge", or (nowadays) just "electric charge". Clearly, the quantity q_s used in the old cgs esu system is related to the new quantity q by

$$q_s = q/(k_{
m e}'\epsilon_0)^{1/2}$$

Determination of a value for ε_0

In order to establish the numerical value of ε_0 , one makes use of the fact that if one uses the rationalized forms of Coulomb's law and Ampère's force law (and other ideas) to develop Maxwell's equations, then the relationship stated above is found to exist between ε_0 , μ_0 and c_0 . In principle, one has a choice of deciding whether to make the coulomb or the ampere the fundamental unit of electricity and magnetism. The decision was taken internationally to use the ampere. This means that the value of ε_0 is determined by the values of c_0 and μ_0 , as stated above. For a brief explanation of how the value of μ_0 is decided, see the article about μ_0 .

Permittivity of real media

By convention, the electric constant ε_0 appears in the relationship that defines the electric displacement field **D** in terms of the electric field **E** and classical electrical polarization density **P** of the medium. In general, this relationship has the form

 $\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P} \cdot$

For a linear dielectric, **P** is assumed to be proportional to **E**, so one has

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon \mathbf{E} = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}$$

where ε is the permittivity and ε_r the relative static permittivity. In vacuum, the polarization $\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{0}$, so $\varepsilon_r = 1$ and $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_0$.

Notes

- "electric constant" (http://www.electropedia.org/iev/iev.nsf/display?openform&ievref=121-11-03). Electropedia: International Electrotechnical Vocabulary (IEC 60050). Geneva: International Electrotechnical Commission. Retrieved 2010-04-02.
- [2] Quote from NIST: "The symbol C₀ (or sometimes simply C) is the conventional symbol for the speed of light in vacuum." See NIST Special Publication 330, p. 18 (http://physics.nist.gov/Pubs/SP330/sp330.pdf)
- [3] See the last sentence of the NIST definition of ampere (http://physics.nist.gov/cuu/Units/ampere.html).
- [4] See the last sentence of the NIST definition of meter (http://physics.nist.gov/cuu/Units/meter.html).
- [5] Mohr, Peter J.; Taylor, Barry N.; Newell, David B. (2008). "CODATA Recommended Values of the Fundamental Physical Constants: 2006" (http://physics.nist.gov/cuu/Constants/codata.pdf). *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 80: 633–730. Bibcode 2008RvMP...80..633M. doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.80.633. Direct link to value (http://physics.nist.gov/cgi-bin/cuu/Value?ep0)..
- [6] A summary of the definitions of $c_0^{}$, $\mu_0^{}$ and $\varepsilon_0^{}$ is provided in the 2006 CODATA Report: CODATA report, pp. 6-7 (http://physics.nist.gov/ cuu/Constants/codata.pdf)
- [7] "Recommendation E1" (http://www.bipm.org/utils/common/pdf/CCEM25.pdf). Report of the 25th meeting (15–16 March 2007), Consultative Committee for Electricity and Magnetism (CCEM). Sèvres, France: International Bureau for Weights and Measures.
- [8] SM Sze & Ng KK (2007). "Appendix E" (http://worldcat.org/isbn/0-471-14323-5). Physics of semiconductor devices (Third ed.). New York: Wiley-Interscience. p. 788. ISBN 0-471-14323-5.
- [9] RS Muller, Kamins TI & Chan M (2003). Device electronics for integrated circuits (http://worldcat.org/isbn/0-471-59398-2) (Third ed.). New York: Wiley. Inside front cover. ISBN 0-471-59398-2.
- [10] FW Sears, Zemansky MW & Young HD (1985). College physics (http://books.google.com/?id=AvVQAAAAMAAJ&q=zemansky+ "permittivity+of+empty+space"&dq=zemansky+"permittivity+of+empty+space"). Reading, Mass.: Addison-Wesley. p. 40. ISBN 0201078368.
- [11] B. E. A. Saleh and M. C. Teich, Fundamentals of Photonics (Wiley, 1991)
- [12] International Bureau of Weights and Measures (2006). "The International System of Units (SI)" (http://www.bipm.org/utils/common/ pdf/si_brochure_8_en.pdf) (PDF). p. 12. .
- Braslavsky, S.E. (2007). "Glossary of terms used in photochemistry ([[IUPAC (http://www.iupac.org/publications/pac/2007/pdf/ 7903x0293.pdf)] recommendations 2006)"]. Pure and Applied Chemistry 79 (3): 293–465; see p. 348.. doi:10.1351/pac200779030293.
- [14] "Naturkonstanten" (http://www.chemie.fu-berlin.de/chemistry/general/constants.html). Freie Universität Berlin. .
- [15] King, Ronold W. P. (1963). Fundamental Electromagnetic Theory. New York: Dover. p. 139.

- [16] IEEE Standards Board (1997). "IEEE Standard Definitions of Terms for Radio Wave Propagation" (http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/iel4/5697/ 15269/00705931.pdf?arnumber=705931). p. 6.
- [17] For an introduction to the subject of choices for independent units, see John David Jackson (1999). "Appendix on units and dimensions" (http://worldcat.org/isbn/047130932X). Classical electrodynamics (Third ed.). New York: Wiley. pp. 775 et seq... ISBN 047130932X.
- [18] International Bureau of Weights and Measures. "The International System of Units (SI) and the corresponding system of quantities" (http:// www.bipm.org/en/si/si_brochure/chapter1/1-2.html).

Speed of light



Speed of light

one parsec	3.26 years
from Proxima Centauri to Earth	4.24 years
from Alpha Centauri to Earth	4.37 years
from the nearest galaxy (the Canis Major Dwarf Galaxy) to Earth	25,000 years
across the Milky Way	100,000 years
from the Andromeda Galaxy to Earth	2.5 million years
from the furthest observed galaxy to Earth	13 billion years

The **speed of light** in vacuum, usually denoted by c, is a physical constant important in many areas of physics. Its value is 299,792,458 metres per second, a figure that is exact since the length of the metre is defined from this constant and the international standard for time.^[2] In imperial units this speed is approximately 186,282 miles per second.

According to special relativity, *c* is the maximum speed at which all energy, matter, and information in the universe can travel. It is the speed of all massless particles and associated fields—including electromagnetic radiation such as light—in vacuum, and it is predicted by the current theory to be the speed of gravity (that is, gravitational waves). Such particles and waves travel at *c* regardless of the motion of the source or the inertial frame of reference of the observer. In the theory of relativity, *c* interrelates space and time, and appears in the famous equation of mass–energy equivalence $E = mc^2$.^[3]

The speed at which light propagates through transparent materials, such as glass or air, is less than c. The ratio between c and the speed v at which light travels in a material is called the refractive index n of the material (n = c / v). For example, for visible light the refractive index of glass is typically around 1.5, meaning that light in glass travels at $c / 1.5 \approx 200000$ km/s; the refractive index of air for visible light is about 1.0003, so the speed of light in air is about 90 km/s slower than c.

In most practical cases, light can be thought of as moving instantaneously, but for long distances and very sensitive measurements the finite speed of light has noticeable effects. In communicating with distant space probes, it can take minutes to hours for the message to get from Earth to the spacecraft and back. The light we see from stars left them many years ago, allowing us to study the history of the universe by looking at distant objects. The finite speed of light also limits the theoretical maximum speed of computers, since information must be sent within the computer from chip to chip. Finally, the speed of light can be used with time of flight measurements to measure large distances to high precision.

Ole Rømer first demonstrated in 1676 that light travelled at a finite speed (as opposed to instantaneously) by studying the apparent motion of Jupiter's moon Io. In 1865, James Clerk Maxwell proposed that light was an electromagnetic wave, and therefore traveled at the speed *c* appearing in his theory of electromagnetism. In 1905, Albert Einstein postulated that the speed of light with respect to any inertial frame is independent of the motion of the light source,^[4] and explored the consequences of that postulate by deriving the special theory of relativity and showing that the parameter *c* had relevance outside of the context of light and electromagnetism. After centuries of increasingly precise measurements, in 1975 the speed of light was known to be 299792458 m/s with a relative measurement uncertainty of 4 parts per billion. In 1983, the metre was redefined in the International System of Units (SI) as the distance travelled by light in vacuum in $\frac{1}{299792458}$ of a second. As a result, the numerical value of *c* in metres per second is now fixed exactly by the definition of the metre.^[5]

Numerical value, notation, and units

The speed of light in vacuum is usually denoted by c, for "constant" or the Latin *celeritas* (meaning "swiftness"). Originally, the symbol V was used, introduced by James Clerk Maxwell in 1865. In 1856, Wilhelm Eduard Weber and Rudolf Kohlrausch used c for a constant later shown to equal $\sqrt{2}$ times the speed of light in vacuum. In 1894, Paul Drude redefined c with its modern meaning. Einstein used V in his original German-language papers on special relativity in 1905, but in 1907 he switched to c, which by then had become the standard symbol.^{[6] [7]}

Sometimes c is used for the speed of waves in *any* material medium, and c_0 for the speed of light in vacuum.^[8] This subscripted notation, which is endorsed in official SI literature,^[5] has the same form as other related constants: namely, μ_0 for the vacuum permeability or magnetic constant, ε_0 for the vacuum permittivity or electric constant, and Z_0 for the impedance of free space. This article uses c exclusively for the speed of light in vacuum.

In the International System of Units (SI), the metre is defined as the distance light travels in vacuum in $\frac{1}{299792458}$ of a second. This definition fixes the speed of light in vacuum at exactly 299792458 m/s.^[9] [10] [11] As a dimensional physical constant, the numerical value of *c* is different for different unit systems.^[12] In branches of physics in which *c* appears often, such as in relativity, it is common to use systems of natural units of measurement in which c = 1.^[13] [14] Using these units, *c* does not appear explicitly because multiplication or division by 1 does not affect the result.

Fundamental role in physics

The speed at which light waves propagate in vacuum is independent both of the motion of the wave source and of the inertial frame of reference of the observer.^[15] This invariance of the speed of light was postulated by Einstein in 1905,^[4] after being motivated by Maxwell's theory of electromagnetism and the lack of evidence for the luminiferous aether;^[16] it has since been consistently confirmed by many experiments. It is only possible to verify experimentally that the two-way speed of light (for example, from a source to a mirror and back again) is frame-independent, because it is impossible to measure the one-way speed of light (for example, from a source to a distant detector) without some convention as to how clocks at the source and at the detector should be synchronized. However, by adopting Einstein synchronization for the clocks, the one-way speed of light becomes equal to the two-way speed of light by definition.^[14] ^[17] The special theory of relativity explores the consequences of this invariance of *c* with the assumption that the laws of physics are the same in all inertial frames of reference.^[18] ^[19] One consequence is that *c* is the speed at which all massless particles and waves, including light, must travel in vacuum.



Special relativity has many counterintuitive and experimentally verified implications.^[20] These include the equivalence of mass and energy $(E = mc^2)$, length contraction (moving objects shorten),^[21] and time dilation (moving clocks run slower). The factor γ by which lengths contract and times dilate, is known as the Lorentz factor and is given by $\gamma = (1 - v^2/c^2)^{-1/2}$, where *v* is the speed of the object. The difference of γ from 1 is negligible for speeds much slower than *c*, such as most everyday speeds—in which case special relativity is closely approximated by Galilean relativity—but it increases at relativistic speeds and diverges to infinity as *v* approaches *c*.

The results of special relativity can be summarized by treating space and time as a unified structure known as spacetime (with c relating the units of space and time), and requiring that physical theories satisfy a special symmetry called

Lorentz invariance, whose mathematical formulation contains the parameter c.^[22] Lorentz invariance is an almost universal assumption for modern physical theories, such as quantum electrodynamics, quantum chromodynamics,

the Standard Model of particle physics, and general relativity. As such, the parameter c is ubiquitous in modern physics, appearing in many contexts that are unrelated to light. For example, general relativity predicts that c is also

the speed of gravity and of gravitational waves.^[23] ^[24] In non-inertial frames of reference (gravitationally curved space or accelerated reference frames), the *local* speed of light is constant and equal to c, but the speed of light along a trajectory of finite length can differ from c, depending on how distances and times are defined.^[25]

It is generally assumed that fundamental constants such as c have the same value throughout spacetime, meaning that they do not depend on location and do not vary with time. However, it has been suggested in various theories that the speed of light may have changed over time.^[26] [27] No conclusive evidence for such changes has been found, but they remain the subject of ongoing research.^[28] [29]

It also is generally assumed that the speed of light is isotropic, meaning that it has the same value regardless of the direction in which it is measured. Observations of the emissions from nuclear energy levels as a function of the orientation of the emitting nuclei in a magnetic field (see Hughes–Drever experiment), and of rotating optical resonators (see Resonator experiments) have put stringent limits on the possible two-way anisotropy.^{[30] [31]}

Upper limit on speeds

According to special relativity, the energy of an object with rest mass *m* and speed *v* is given by γmc^2 , where γ is the Lorentz factor defined above. When *v* is zero, γ is equal to one, giving rise to the famous $E = mc^2$ formula for mass-energy equivalence. Since the γ factor approaches infinity as *v* approaches *c*, it would take an infinite amount of energy to accelerate an object with mass to the speed of light. The speed of light is the upper limit for the speeds of objects with positive rest mass.^[32]

More generally, it is normally impossible for information or energy to travel faster than c. One argument for this follows from the counter-intuitive implication of special relativity known as the relativity of simultaneity. If the spatial distance between two events A and B is greater than the time interval between them multiplied by c then there are frames of reference in which A precedes B, others in which B precedes A, and others in which they are simultaneous. As a result, if something were travelling faster than c relative to an inertial frame of reference, it would be travelling backwards in time relative to another frame, and causality would be violated.^[33] [^{34]} In such a frame of reference, an "effect" could be observed before its "cause". Such a violation of causality has never been recorded, ^[17] and would lead to paradoxes such as the tachyonic antitelephone.^[35]



simultaneous with B in the green frame, and follows B in the blue frame.

Faster-than-light observations and experiments

There are situations in which it may seem that matter, energy, or information travels at speeds greater than c, but they do not. For example, as is discussed in the propagation of light in a medium section below, many wave velocities can exceed c. For example, the phase velocity of X-rays through most glasses can routinely exceed c,^[36] but such waves do not convey any information.^[37]

If a laser beam is swept quickly across a distant object, the spot of light can move faster than c, although the initial movement of the spot is delayed because of the time it takes light to get to the distant object at the speed c. However, the only physical entities that are moving are the laser and its emitted light, which travels at the speed c from the laser to the various positions of the spot. Similarly, a shadow projected onto a distant object can be made to move faster than c, after a delay in time.^[38] In neither case does any matter, energy, or information travel faster than light.^[39]

The rate of change in the distance between two objects in a frame of reference with respect to which both are moving (their closing speed) may have a value in excess of c. However, this does not represent the speed of any single object as measured in a single inertial frame.^[39]

Certain quantum effects appear to be transmitted instantaneously and therefore faster than c, as in the EPR paradox. An example involves the quantum states of two particles that can be entangled. Until either of the particles is observed, they exist in a superposition of two quantum states. If the particles are separated and one particle's quantum state is observed, the other particle's quantum state is determined instantaneously (i.e., faster than light could travel from one particle to the other). However, it is impossible to control which quantum state the first particle will take on when it is observed, so information cannot be transmitted in this manner.^{[39] [40]}

Another quantum effect that predicts the occurrence of faster-than-light speeds is called the Hartman effect; under certain conditions the time needed for a virtual particle to tunnel through a barrier is constant, regardless of the thickness of the barrier.^[41] ^[42] This could result in a virtual particle crossing a large gap faster-than-light. However, no information can be sent using this effect.^[43]

So-called superluminal motion is seen in certain astronomical objects,^[44] such as the relativistic jets of radio galaxies and quasars. However, these jets are not moving at speeds in excess of the speed of light: the apparent superluminal motion is a projection effect caused by objects moving near the speed of light and approaching Earth at a small angle to the line of sight: since the light which was emitted when the jet was farther away took longer to reach the Earth, the time between two successive observations corresponds to a longer time between the instants at which the light rays were emitted.^[45]

In models of the expanding universe, the farther galaxies are from each other, the faster they drift apart. This receding is not due to motion *through* space, but rather to the expansion of space itself.^[39] For example, galaxies far away from Earth appear to be moving away from the Earth with a speed proportional to their distances. Beyond a boundary called the Hubble sphere, the rate at which their distance from Earth increases becomes greater than the speed of light.^[46]

In late September 2011, physicists working at the OPERA experiment published results that seemed to suggest beams of neutrinos had travelled from CERN (in Geneva, Switzerland) to LNGS (at the Gran Sasso, Italy) faster than the speed of light, arriving $(57.8 \pm 7.8 \text{ (stat.)} + 8.3/-5.9 \text{ (sys.)})$ nanoseconds early (corresponding to about 18 metres in a total distance of 730 kilometres)^[47] These findings have yet to be independently verified.^[48] and the OPERA researchers say they are going to "investigate possible still unknown systematic effects that could explain the observed anomaly" and "deliberately do not attempt any theoretical or phenomenological interpretation of the results."^[47] Mid-November 2011 an updated version of the OPERA paper was released, addressing various issues raised by the community.^[47]

Propagation of light

In classical physics, light is described as a type of electromagnetic wave. The classical behaviour of the electromagnetic field is described by Maxwell's equations, which predict that the speed c with which electromagnetic waves (such as light) propagate through the vacuum is related to the electric constant ε_0 and the magnetic constant μ_0 by the equation $c = 1/\sqrt{\varepsilon_0 \mu_0}$.^[49] In modern quantum physics, the electromagnetic field is described by the theory of quantum electrodynamics (QED). In this theory, light is described by the fundamental excitations (or quanta) of the electromagnetic field, called photons. In QED, photons are massless particles and thus, according to special relativity, they travel at the speed of light in vacuum.

Extensions of QED in which the photon has a mass have been considered. In such a theory, its speed would depend on its frequency, and the invariant speed *c* of special relativity would then be the upper limit of the speed of light in vacuum.^[25] No variation of the speed of light with frequency has been observed in rigorous testing,^[50] [^{51]} [^{52]} putting stringent limits on the mass of the photon. The limit obtained depends on the model used: if the massive photon is described by Proca theory,^[53] the experimental upper bound for its mass is about 10⁻⁵⁷ grams;^[54] if photon mass is generated by a Higgs mechanism, the experimental upper limit is less sharp, $m \le 10^{-14} \text{ eV/c}^{2}$ [53] (roughly 2×10^{-47} g).

Another reason for the speed of light to vary with its frequency would be the failure of special relativity to apply to arbitrarily small scales, as predicted by some proposed theories of quantum gravity. In 2009, the observation of the spectrum of gamma-ray burst GRB 090510 did not find any difference in the speeds of photons of different energies, confirming that Lorentz invariance is verified at least down to the scale of the Planck length $(l_p = \sqrt{\hbar G/c^3} \approx 1.6163 \times 10^{-35} \text{ m})$ divided by 1.2.^[55]

In a medium

In a medium, light usually does not propagate at a speed equal to *c*; further, different types of light wave will travel at different speeds. The speed at which the individual crests and troughs of a plane wave (a wave filling the whole space, with only one frequency) propagate is called the phase velocity v_p . An actual physical signal with a finite extent (a pulse of light) travels at a different speed. The largest part of the pulse travels at the group velocity v_g , and its earliest part travels at the front velocity v_f .



The phase velocity is important in determining how a light wave travels through a material or from one material to another. It is often represented in terms of a *refractive index*. The refractive index of a material is defined as the ratio of *c* to the phase velocity v_p in the material: larger indices of refraction indicate lower speeds. The refractive index of a material may depend on the light's frequency, intensity, polarization, or direction of propagation; in many cases, though, it can be treated as a material-dependent constant. The refractive index of air is approximately 1.0003.^[56] Denser media, such as water,^[57] glass,^[58] and diamond,^[59] have refractive indexes of around 1.3, 1.5 and 2.4 respectively for visible light.

In transparent materials, the refractive index generally is greater than 1,

meaning that the phase velocity is less than c. In other materials, it is possible for the refractive index to become smaller than 1 for some frequencies; in some exotic materials it is even possible for the index of refraction to become negative.^[60] The requirement that causality is not violated implies that the real and imaginary parts of the dielectric constant of any material, corresponding respectively to the index of refraction and to the attenuation coefficient, are linked by the Kramers–Kronig relations.^[61] In practical terms, this means that in a material with refractive index less than 1, the absorption of the wave is so quick that no signal can be sent faster than c.

A pulse with different group and phase velocities (which occurs if the phase velocity is not the same for all the frequencies of the pulse) smears out over time, a process known as dispersion. Certain materials have an exceptionally low (or even zero) group velocity for light waves, a phenomenon called slow light, which has been confirmed in various experiments.^{[62] [63] [64] [65]} The opposite, group velocities exceeding c, has also been shown in experiment.^[66] It should even be possible for the group velocity to become infinite or negative, with pulses travelling instantaneously or backwards in time.^[67]

None of these options, however, allow information to be transmitted faster than c. It is impossible to transmit information with a light pulse any faster than the speed of the earliest part of the pulse (the front velocity). It can be shown that this is (under certain assumptions) always equal to c.^[67]

It is possible for a particle to travel through a medium faster than the phase velocity of light in that medium (but still slower than c). When a charged particle does that in an electrical insulator, the electromagnetic equivalent of a shock wave, known as Cherenkov radiation, is emitted.^[68]

Practical effects of finiteness

The finiteness of the speed of light has implications for various sciences and technologies. In some cases, it is a hindrance: for example, c, being the upper limit of the speed with which signals can be sent, provides a theoretical upper limit for the operating speed of microprocessors.^[69] On the other hand, some techniques depend on it, for example in distance measurements. Also, earth-based controllers must wait for round-trip communication lag that increases as spacecraft get farther away; NASA must wait several hours for information from a probe orbiting Jupiter, and if it needs to correct a navigation error, the fix will not arrive at the spacecraft for an equal amount of time, creating a risk of the correction not arriving in time.

The speed of light is of relevance to communications. For example, given the equatorial circumference of the Earth is about 40,075 km and *c* about 300,000 km/s, the theoretical shortest time for a piece of information to travel half the globe along the surface is about 67 milliseconds. When light is travelling around the globe in an optical fibre, the actual transit time is longer, in part because the speed of light is slower by about 35% in an optical fibre, depending on its refractive index n.^[70] Furthermore, straight lines rarely occur in global communications situations, and delays are created when the signal passes through an electronic switch or signal regenerator.^[71]

Another consequence of the finite speed of light is that communications between the Earth and spacecraft are not instantaneous. There is a brief delay from the source to the receiver, which becomes more noticeable as distances increase. This delay was significant for communications between ground control and

Apollo 8 when it became the first manned spacecraft to orbit the Moon: for every question, the ground control station had to wait at least three seconds for the answer to arrive.^[72] The communications delay between Earth and Mars can vary between five and twenty minutes depending upon the relative positions of the two planets. As a consequence of this, if a robot on the surface of Mars were to encounter a problem, its human controllers would not be aware of it until at least five minutes later, and possibly up to twenty minutes later; it would then take a further five to twenty minutes for instructions to travel from Earth to Mars.

The speed of light can also be of concern over very short distances. In supercomputers, the speed of light imposes a limit on how quickly data can be sent between processors. If a processor operates at 1 gigahertz, a signal can only travel a maximum of about 30 centimetres (1 ft) in a single cycle. Processors must therefore be placed close to each other to minimize communication latencies; this can cause difficulty with cooling. If clock frequencies continue to increase, the speed of light will eventually become a limiting factor for the internal design of single chips.^[69]

Distance measurement

Radar systems measure the distance to a target by the time it takes a radio-wave pulse to return to the radar antenna after being reflected by the target: the distance to the target is half the round-trip transit time multiplied by the speed of light. A Global Positioning System (GPS) receiver measures its distance to GPS satellites based on how long it takes for a radio signal to arrive from each satellite, and from these distances calculates the receiver's position. Because light travels about 300,000 kilometres (186,000 miles) in one second, these measurements of small fractions of a second must be very precise. The Lunar Laser Ranging Experiment, radar astronomy and the Deep Space Network determine distances to the Moon,^[73] planets^[74] and spacecraft,^[75] respectively, by measuring round-trip transit times.

Astronomy

The finite speed of light is important in astronomy. Due to the vast distances involved, it can take a very long time for light to travel from its source to Earth. For example, it has taken 13 billion (13×10^9) years for light to travel to Earth from the faraway galaxies viewed in the Hubble Ultra Deep Field images.^[76] ^[77] Those photographs, taken today, capture images of the galaxies as they appeared 13 billion years ago, when the universe was less than a billion years old.^[76] The fact that more distant objects appear to be younger, due to the finite speed of light, allows astronomers to infer the evolution of stars, of galaxies, and of the universe itself.

Astronomical distances are sometimes expressed in light-years, especially in popular science publications and media.^[78] A light-year is the distance light travels in one year, around 9461 billion kilometres, 5879 billion miles, or 0.3066 parsecs. Proxima Centauri, the closest star to Earth after the Sun, is around 4.2 light-years away.^[79]

Measurement

There are different ways to determine the value of c. One way is to measure the actual speed at which light waves propagate, which can be done in various astronomical and earth-based setups. However, it is also possible to determine c from other physical laws where it appears, for example, by determining the values of the electromagnetic constants ε_0 and μ_0 and using their relation to c. Historically, the most accurate results have been obtained by separately determining the frequency and wavelength of a light beam, with their product equaling c.

In 1983 the metre was defined as "the length of the path travelled by light in vacuum during a time interval of 1/299,792,458 of a second",^[80] fixing the value of the speed of light at 299792458 m/s by definition, as described below. Consequently, accurate measurements of the speed of light yield an accurate realization of the metre rather than an accurate value of *c*.

Astronomical measurements

Outer space is a natural setting for measuring the speed of light because of its large scale and nearly perfect vacuum. Typically, one measures the time needed for light to traverse some reference distance in the solar system, such as the radius of the Earth's orbit. Historically, such measurements could be made fairly accurately, compared to how accurately the length of the reference distance is known in Earth-based units. It is customary to express the results in astronomical units (AU) per day. An astronomical unit is approximately the average distance between the Earth and Sun; it is not based on the International System of Units.^[81] Because the AU determines an actual length, and is not based upon time-of-flight like the SI units, modern measurements of the speed of light in astronomical units per day can be compared with the defined value of c in the International System of Units.

Ole Christensen Rømer used an astronomical measurement to make the first quantitative estimate of the speed of light.^[82] [^{83]} When measured from Earth, the periods of moons orbiting a distant planet are shorter when the Earth is approaching the planet than when the Earth is receding from it. The distance travelled by light from the planet (or its moon) to Earth is shorter when the Earth is at the point in its orbit that is closest to its planet than when the Earth is at the farthest point in its orbit, the difference in distance being the diameter of the Earth's orbit around the Sun. The observed change in the moon's orbital period is actually the difference in the time it takes light to traverse the shorter or longer distance. Rømer observed this effect for Jupiter's innermost moon Io and deduced that light takes 22 minutes to cross the diameter of the Earth's orbit.

Another method is to use the aberration of light, discovered and explained by James Bradley in the 18th century.^[84] This effect results from the vector addition of the velocity of light arriving from a distant source (such as a star) and the velocity of its observer (see diagram on the right). A moving observer thus sees the light coming from a slightly different direction and consequently sees the source at a position shifted from its original position. Since the direction of the Earth's velocity changes continuously as the Earth orbits the Sun, this effect causes the apparent position of stars to move around. From the angular difference in the position of stars (maximally 20.5 arcseconds)^[85] it is possible to express the speed of light in terms of the Earth's velocity around the Sun, which with the known length of a year can be easily converted to the time needed to travel from the Sun to the Earth. In 1729, Bradley used this method to derive that light travelled 10,210 times faster than the Earth in its orbit (the modern figure is 10,066 times faster) or, equivalently, that it would take light 8 minutes 12 seconds to travel from the Sun to the Earth.^[84]



Nowadays, the "light time for unit distance"—the inverse of c, expressed in seconds per astronomical unit—is measured by comparing the time for radio signals to reach different spacecraft in the Solar System, with their position calculated from the gravitational effects of the Sun and various planets. By combining many such measurements, a best fit value for the light time per unit distance is obtained. As of 2009, the best estimate, as approved by the International Astronomical Union (IAU), is:^{[86] [87]}

light time for unit distance: 499.004783836(10) s

c = 0.00200398880410(4) AU/s = 173.144632674(3) AU/day.

The relative uncertainty in these measurements is 0.02 parts per billion (2×10^{-11}) , equivalent to the uncertainty in Earth-based measurements of length by interferometry.^[88] [89] Since the metre is defined to be the length travelled by light in a certain time interval, the measurement of the light time for unit distance can also be interpreted as measuring the length of an AU in metres.^[90]

Time of flight techniques

A method of measuring the speed of light is to measure the time needed for light to travel to a mirror at a known distance and back. This is the working principle behind the Fizeau–Foucault apparatus developed by Hippolyte Fizeau and Léon Foucault.

The setup as used by Fizeau consists of a beam of light directed at a mirror 8 kilometres (5 mi) away. On the way from the source to the mirror, the beam passes through a rotating cogwheel. At a certain rate of rotation, the beam passes through one gap on the way out and another on the way back, but at slightly higher or lower rates, the beam strikes a tooth and does not pass through the wheel. Knowing the distance between the wheel and the mirror, the number of teeth on the wheel, and the rate of rotation, the speed of light can be calculated.^[91]

The method of Foucault replaces the cogwheel by a rotating mirror. Because the mirror keeps rotating while the light travels to the distant



mirror and back, the light is reflected from the rotating mirror at a different angle on its way out than it is on its way back. From this difference in angle, the known speed of rotation and the distance to the distant mirror the speed of light may be calculated.^[92]

Nowadays, using oscilloscopes with time resolutions of less than one nanosecond, the speed of light can be directly measured by timing the delay of a light pulse from a laser or an LED reflected from a mirror. This method is less precise (with errors of the order of 1%) than other modern techniques, but it is sometimes used as a laboratory experiment in college physics classes.^[93] ^[94] ^[95]

Electromagnetic constants

An option for deriving c that does not directly depend on a measurement of the propagation of electromagnetic waves is to use the relation between c and the vacuum permittivity ε_0 and vacuum permeability μ_0 established by Maxwell's theory: $c^2 = 1/(\varepsilon_0 \mu_0)$. The vacuum permittivity may be determined by measuring the capacitance and dimensions of a capacitor, whereas the value of the vacuum permeability is fixed at exactly 4×10^{-7} H·m⁻¹ through the definition of the ampere. Rosa and Dorsey used this method in 1907 to find a value of 299710 ± 22 km/s.^{[96] [97]}

Cavity resonance

Another way to measure the speed of light is to independently measure the frequency f and wavelength λ of an electromagnetic wave in vacuum. The value of c can then be found by using the relation $c = f\lambda$. One option is to measure the resonance frequency of a cavity resonator. If the dimensions of the resonance cavity are also known, these can be used determine the wavelength of the wave. In 1946, Louis Essen and A.C. Gordon-Smith establish the frequency for a variety of normal modes of microwaves of a microwave cavity of precisely known dimensions. The dimensions were established to an accuracy of about $\pm 0.8 \,\mu\text{m}$ using gauges calibrated by interferometry.^[96] As the wavelength of the modes was known from the geometry of the cavity and from electromagnetic theory, knowledge of the associated frequencies enabled a calculation of the speed of light.^[96] [98]



The Essen–Gordon-Smith result, 299792 ± 9 km/s, was substantially more precise than those found by optical techniques.^[96] By 1950, repeated measurements by Essen established a result of 299792.5 ± 3.0 km/s.^[99]

A household demonstration of this technique is possible, using a microwave oven and food such as marshmallows or margarine: if the turntable is removed so that the food does not move, it will cook the fastest at the antinodes (the points at which the wave amplitude is the greatest), where it will begin to melt. The distance between two such spots is half the wavelength of the microwaves; by measuring this distance and multiplying the wavelength by the microwave frequency (usually displayed on the back of the oven, typically 2450 MHz), the value of c can be calculated, "often with less than 5% error".^{[100] [101]}

Interferometry

Interferometry is another method to find the wavelength of electromagnetic radiation for determining the speed of light.^[102] A coherent beam of light (e.g. from a laser), with a known frequency (f), is split to follow two paths and then recombined. By adjusting the path length while observing the interference pattern and carefully measuring the change in path length, the wavelength of the light (λ) can be determined. The speed of light is then calculated using the equation $c = \lambda f$.



Before the advent of laser technology, coherent radio

sources were used for interferometry measurements of the speed of light.^[103] However interferometric determination of wavelength becomes less precise with wavelength and the experiments were thus limited in precision by the long wavelength (~0.4 cm) of the radiowaves. The precision can be improved by using light with a shorter wavelength, but then it becomes difficult to directly measure the frequency of the light. One way around this problem is to start with a low frequency signal of which the frequency can be precisely measured, and from this signal progressively synthesize higher frequency signals whose frequency can then be linked to the original signal. A laser can then be locked to the frequency, and its wavelength can be determined using interferometry.^[104] This technique was due to a group at the National Bureau of Standards (NBS) (which later became NIST). They used it in 1972 to measure the speed of light in vacuum with a fractional uncertainty of 3.5×10^{-9} .^[104] [105]

History

1675	Rømer and Huygens, moons of Jupiter	220000 ^[83] [106]
1729	James Bradley, aberration of light	301000 ^[91]
1849	Hippolyte Fizeau, toothed wheel	315000 ^[91]
1862	Léon Foucault, rotating mirror	$298000 \pm 500^{[91]}$
1907	Rosa and Dorsey, <u>EM</u> constants	299710 ± 30 ^[96] [97]
1926	Albert Michelson, rotating mirror	$299796 \pm 4^{[107]}$
1950	Essen and Gordon-Smith, cavity resonator	299792.5 ± 3.0 ^[99]
1958	K.D. Froome, radio interferometry	$299792.50 \pm 0.10^{[103]}$
1972	Evenson et al., laser interferometry	$299792.4562 \pm 0.0011^{[105]}$
1983	17th CGPM, definition of the metre	299792.458 (exact) ^[80]

History of measurements of *c* (in km/s)

Until the early modern period, it was not known whether light travelled instantaneously or at a very fast finite speed. The first extant recorded examination of this subject was in ancient Greece. Empedocles was the first to claim that the light has a finite speed.^[108] He maintained that light was something in motion, and therefore must take some time to travel. Aristotle argued, to the contrary, that "light is due to the presence of something, but it is not a movement".^[109] Euclid and Ptolemy advanced the emission theory of vision, where light is emitted from the eye,

thus enabling sight. Based on that theory, Heron of Alexandria argued that the speed of light must be infinite because distant objects such as stars appear immediately upon opening the eyes.

Early Islamic philosophers initially agreed with the Aristotelian view that light had no speed of travel. In 1021, Alhazen (Ibn al-Haytham) published the *Book of Optics*, in which he presented a series of arguments dismissing the emission theory in favour of the now accepted intromission theory of vision, in which light moves from an object into the eye.^[110] This led Alhazen to propose that light must have a finite speed,^[109] [111] [112] and that the speed of light is variable, decreasing in denser bodies.^[112] [113] He argued that light is substantial matter, the propagation of which requires time, even if this is hidden from our senses.^[114]

Also in the 11th century, Abū Rayhān al-Bīrūnī agreed that light has a finite speed, and observed that the speed of light is much faster than the speed of sound.^[115] Roger Bacon argued that the speed of light in air was not infinite, using philosophical arguments backed by the writing of Alhazen and Aristotle.^[116] ^[117] In the 1270s, Witelo considered the possibility of light travelling at infinite speed in vacuum, but slowing down in denser bodies.^[118]

In the early 17th century, Johannes Kepler believed that the speed of light was infinite, since empty space presents no obstacle to it. René Descartes argued that if the speed of light were finite, the Sun, Earth, and Moon would be noticeably out of alignment during a lunar eclipse. Since such misalignment had not been observed, Descartes concluded the speed of light was infinite. Descartes speculated that if the speed of light were found to be finite, his whole system of philosophy might be demolished.^[109]

First measurement attempts

In 1629, Isaac Beeckman proposed an experiment in which a person observes the flash of a cannon reflecting off a mirror about one mile (1.6 km) away. In 1638, Galileo Galilei proposed an experiment, with an apparent claim to having performed it some years earlier, to measure the speed of light by observing the delay between uncovering a lantern and its perception some distance away. He was unable to distinguish whether light travel was instantaneous or not, but concluded that if it were not, it must nevertheless be extraordinarily rapid.^[119] [120] Galileo's experiment was carried out by the Accademia del Cimento of Florence, Italy, in 1667, with the lanterns separated by about one mile, but no delay was observed. The actual delay in this experiment would have been about 11 microseconds.



The first quantitative estimate of the speed of light was made in 1676 by Rømer (see Rømer's determination of the speed of light).^[82] [83] From the observation that the periods of Jupiter's innermost moon Io appeared to be shorter when the Earth was approaching Jupiter than when receding from it, he concluded that light travels at a finite speed, and estimated that it takes light 22 minutes to cross the diameter of Earth's orbit. Christiaan Huygens combined this estimate with an estimate for the diameter of the Earth's orbit to obtain an estimate of speed of light of 220000 km/s, 26% lower than the actual value.^[106]

In his 1704 book *Opticks*, Isaac Newton reported Rømer's calculations of the finite speed of light and gave a value of "seven or eight minutes" for the time taken for light to travel from the Sun to the Earth (the modern value is 8 minutes 19 seconds).^[121] Newton queried whether Rømer's eclipse shadows were coloured; hearing that they were not, he concluded the different colours travelled at the same speed. In 1729, James Bradley discovered the aberration of light.^[84] From this effect he determined that light must travel 10,210 times faster than the Earth in its orbit (the modern figure is 10,066 times faster) or, equivalently, that it would take light 8 minutes 12 seconds to travel from the Sun to the Earth.^[84]

19th and early 20th century

In the 19th century Hippolyte Fizeau developed a method to determine the speed of light based on time-of-flight measurements on Earth and reported a value of 315000 km/s. His method was improved upon by Léon Foucault who obtained a value of 298000 km/s in 1862.^[91] In the year 1856, Wilhelm Eduard Weber and Rudolf Kohlrausch measured the ratio of the electromagnetic and electrostatic units of charge, $1/\sqrt{\varepsilon_0 \mu_0}$, by discharging a Leyden jar, and found that its numerical value was very close to the speed of light as measured directly by Fizeau. The following year Gustav Kirchhoff calculated that an electric signal in a resistanceless wire travels along the wire at this speed.^[122] In the early 1860s, Maxwell showed that according to the theory of electromagnetism which he was working on, that electromagnetic waves propagate in empty space^[123] [124] [125] at a speed equal to the above Weber/Kohrausch ratio, and drawing attention to the numerical proximity of this value to the speed of light as measured by Fizeau, he proposed that light is in fact an electromagnetic wave.^[126]

It was thought at the time that empty space was filled with a background medium called the luminiferous aether in which the electromagnetic field existed. Some physicists thought that this aether acted as a preferred frame of reference for the propagation of light and therefore it should be possible to measure the motion of the Earth with respect to this medium, by measuring the isotropy of the speed of light. Beginning in the 1880s several experiments were performed to try to detect this motion, the most famous of which is the experiment performed by Albert Michelson and Edward Morley in 1887.^[127] The detected motion was always less than the observational error. Modern experiments indicate that the two-way speed of light is isotropic (the same in every direction) to within 6 nanometres per second.^[128] Because of this experiment Hendrik Lorentz proposed that the motion of the apparatus through the aether may cause the apparatus to contract along its length in the direction of motion, and he further assumed, that the time variable for moving systems must also be changed accordingly ("local time"), which led to the formulation of the Lorentz transformation. Based on Lorentz's aether theory, Henri Poincaré (1900) showed that this local time (to first order in v/c) is indicated by clocks moving in the aether, which are synchronized under the assumption of constant light speed. In 1904, he speculated that the speed of light could be a limiting velocity in dynamics, provided that the assumptions of Lorentz's theory are all confirmed. In 1905, Poincaré brought Lorentz's aether theory into full observational agreement with the principle of relativity.^[129] [130]

In 1905 Einstein postulated from the outset that the speed of light in vacuum, measured by a non-accelerating observer, is independent of the motion of the source or observer. Using this and the principle of relativity as a basis he derived the special theory of relativity, in which the speed of light in vacuum c featured as a fundamental parameter, also appearing in contexts unrelated to light. This made the concept of the stationary aether (to which Lorentz and Poincaré still adhered) useless and revolutionized the concepts of space and time.^{[131] [132]}

Increased accuracy of *c* and redefinition of the metre

In the second half of the 20th century much progress was made in increasing the accuracy of measurements of the speed of light, first by cavity resonance techniques and later by laser interferometer techniques. In 1972, using the latter method and the 1960 definition of the metre in terms of a particular spectral line of krypton-86, a group at NBS in Boulder, Colorado determined the speed of light in vacuum to be $c = 299792456.2 \pm 1.1$ m/s. This was 100 times less uncertain than the previously accepted value. The remaining uncertainty was mainly related to the definition of the metre.^[133] [105] Since similar experiments found comparable results for c, the 15th Conférence Générale des Poids et Mesures (CGPM) in 1975 recommended using the value 299792458 m/s for the speed of light.^[134]

Because the previous definition was deemed inadequate for the needs of various experiments, the 17th CGPM in 1983 decided to redefine the metre.^[135] The new (and current) definition reads: "The metre is the length of the path travelled by light in vacuum during a time interval of 1/299 792 458 of a second."^[80] As a result of this definition, the value of the speed of light in vacuum is exactly 299792458 m/s^[136] [^{137]} and has become a defined constant in the SI system of units.^[11] Improved experimental techniques do not affect the value of the speed of light in SI units, but instead allow for a more precise realization of the definition of the metre.^[138] [^{139]}

Notes

- As of November 2011. "Where Are the Voyagers NASA Voyager" (http://voyager.jpl.nasa.gov/where/index.html). Voyager The Interstellar Mission. Jet Propulsion Laboratory, California Istitute of Technology. . Retrieved 2011-11-11.
- [2] Penrose, R (2004). The Road to Reality: A Complete Guide to the Laws of the Universe. Vintage Books. pp. 410–1. ISBN 9780679776314. "... the most accurate standard for the metre is conveniently *defined* so that there are exactly 299,792,458 of them to the distance travelled by light in a standard second, giving a value for the metre that very accurately matches the now inadequately precise standard metre rule in Paris."
- [3] Uzan, J-P; Leclercq, B (2008). The Natural Laws of the Universe: Understanding Fundamental Constants (http://books.google.com/?id=dSAWX8TNpScC&pg=PA43). Springer. pp. 43–4. ISBN 0387734546.
- [4] Stachel, JJ (2002). Einstein from "B" to "Z" Volume 9 of Einstein studies (http://books.google.com/books?id=OAsQ_hFjhrAC&pg=PA226). Springer. p. 226. ISBN 0817641432.
- [5] International Bureau of Weights and Measures (2006), *The International System of Units (SI)* (http://www.bipm.org/utils/common/pdf/si_brochure_8_en.pdf) (8th ed.), p. 112, ISBN 92-822-2213-6,
- [6] Gibbs, P (2004). "Why is c the symbol for the speed of light?" (http://www.webcitation.org/5lLMPPN4L). Usenet Physics FAQ. University of California, Riverside. Archived from the original (http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/physics/Relativity/SpeedOfLight/c. html) on 2009-11-17. . Retrieved 2009-11-16.
- [7] Mendelson, KS (2006). "The story of c". American Journal of Physics 74 (11): 995–997. Bibcode 2006AmJPh..74..995M. doi:10.1119/1.2238887.
- [8] See for example:
 - Lide, DR (2004). CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics (http://books.google.com/?id=WDll8hA006AC&pg=PT76&dq=speed+ of+light+"c0+OR+"). CRC Press. pp. 2–9. ISBN 0849304857.
 - Harris, JW; et al. (2002). Handbook of Physics (http://books.google.com/?id=c60mCxGRMR8C&pg=PA499&dq=speed+of+light+ "c0+OR+"+date:2000-2009). Springer. p. 499. ISBN 0-387-95269-1.
 - Whitaker, JC (2005). *The Electronics Handbook* (http://books.google.com/?id=FdSQSAC3_EwC&pg=PA235&dq=speed+of+light+c0+handbook). CRC Press. p. 235. ISBN 0849318890.
 - Cohen, ER; et al. (2007). Quantities, Units and Symbols in Physical Chemistry (http://books.google.com/?id=TElmhULQoeIC&pg=PA143&dq=speed+of+light+c0+handbook) (3rd ed.). Royal Society of Chemistry. p. 184. ISBN 0854044337.
- [9] Sydenham, PH (2003). "Measurement of length" (http://books.google.com/books?id=sarHIbCVOUAC&pg=PA56). In Boyes, W. Instrumentation Reference Book (3rd ed.). Butterworth–Heinemann. p. 56. ISBN 0750671238. . "... if the speed of light is defined as a fixed number then, in principle, the time standard will serve as the length standard ..."
- [10] "CODATA value: Speed of Light in Vacuum" (http://physics.nist.gov/cgi-bin/cuu/Value?c). The NIST reference on Constants, Units, and Uncertainty. NIST. . Retrieved 2009-08-21.
- [11] Jespersen, J; Fitz-Randolph, J; Robb, J (1999). From Sundials to Atomic Clocks: Understanding Time and Frequency (http://books.google. com/?id=Z7chuo4ebUAC&pg=PA280) (Reprint of National Bureau of Standards 1977, 2nd ed.). Courier Dover. p. 280. ISBN 0486409139.
- [12] The speed of light in imperial units and US units is based on an inch of exactly 2.54 cm and is exactly 186,282 miles, 698 yards, 2 feet, and 5²¹/₁₂₇ inches per second. Savard, J. "From Gold Coins to Cadmium Light" (http://www.webcitation.org/5lHYVsp5E). *John Savard's Home Page* (http://www.quadibloc.com/). Archived from the original (http://www.quadibloc.com/other/cnv03.htm) on 2009-11-14. Retrieved 2009-11-14.
- [13] Lawrie, ID (2002). "Appendix C: Natural units" (http://books.google.com/books?id=9HZStxmfi3UC&pg=PA540). A Unified Grand Tour of Theoretical Physics (2nd ed.). CRC Press. p. 540. ISBN 0750306041.
- [14] Hsu, L (2006). "Appendix A: Systems of units and the development of relativity theories" (http://books.google.com/ books?id=amLqckyrvUwC&pg=PA428). A Broader View of Relativity: General Implications of Lorentz and Poincaré Invariance (2nd ed.). World Scientific. pp. 427–8. ISBN 9812566511.
- [15] However, the frequency of light can depend on the motion of the source relative to the observer, due to the Doppler effect.
- [16] Einstein, A (1905). "Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper" (http://www.pro-physik.de/Phy/pdfs/ger_890_921.pdf) (in German). Annalen der Physik 17: 890–921. English translation: Perrett, W; Jeffery, GB (tr.); Walker, J (ed.). "On the Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies" (http://www.fourmilab.ch/etexts/einstein/specrel/www/). Fourmilab. Retrieved 2009-11-27.
- [17] Zhang, YZ (1997). Special Relativity and Its Experimental Foundations (http://www.worldscibooks.com/physics/3180.html). Advanced Series on Theoretical Physical Science. 4. World Scientific. pp. 172–3. ISBN 9810227493.
- [18] d'Inverno, R (1992). Introducing Einstein's Relativity. Oxford University Press. pp. 19–20. ISBN 0-19-859686-3.
- [19] Sriranjan, B (2004). "Postulates of the special theory of relativity and their consequences" (http://books.google.com/ books?id=FsRfMvyudlAC&pg=PA20#v=onepage&q=&f=false). The Special Theory to Relativity. PHI Learning. pp. 20 ff. ISBN 812031963X.
- [20] Roberts, T; Schleif, S; Dlugosz, JM (ed.) (2007). "What is the experimental basis of Special Relativity?" (http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/ physics/Relativity/SR/experiments.html). Usenet Physics FAQ. University of California, Riverside. . Retrieved 2009-11-27.
- [21] Whereas moving objects are *measured* to be shorter along the line of relative motion, they are also *seen* as being rotated. This effect, known as Terrell rotation, is due to the different times that light from different parts of the object takes to reach the observer. Terrell, J (1959).
 "Invisibility of the Lorentz Contraction". *Physical Review* 116 (4): 1041–5. Bibcode 1959PhRv..116.1041T. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.116.1041.

Penrose, R (1959). "The Apparent Shape of a Relativistically Moving Sphere". *Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* **55** (01): 137–9. Bibcode 1959PCPS...55...137P. doi:10.1017/S0305004100033776.

- [22] Hartle, JB (2003). Gravity: An Introduction to Einstein's General Relativity. Addison-Wesley. pp. 52–9. ISBN 9810227493.
- [23] Hartle, JB (2003). Gravity: An Introduction to Einstein's General Relativity. Addison-Wesley. p. 332. ISBN 9810227493.
- [24] The interpretation of observations on binary systems used to determine the speed of gravity is considered doubtful by some authors, leaving the experimental situation uncertain; seeSchäfer, G; Brügmann, MH (2008). "Propagation of light in the gravitational filed of binary systems to quadratic order in Newton's gravitational constant: Part 3: 'On the speed-of-gravity controversy'" (http://books.google.com/ ?id=QYnfdXOI8-QC&pg=PA111). In Dittus, H; Lämmerzahl, C; Turyshev, SG. Lasers, clocks and drag-free control: Exploration of relativistic gravity in space. Springer. ISBN 3540343768.
- [25] Gibbs, P (1997). "Is The Speed of Light Constant?" (http://www.webcitation.org/5lLQD61qh). In Carlip, S. Usenet Physics FAQ. University of California, Riverside. Archived from the original (http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/physics/Relativity/SpeedOfLight/ speed_of_light.html) on 2009-11-17. . Retrieved 2009-11-26.
- [26] Ellis, GFR; Uzan, J-P (2005). "'c' is the speed of light, isn't it?". American Journal of Physics 73 (3): 240–7. arXiv:gr-qc/0305099. Bibcode 2005AmJPh..73..240E. doi:10.1119/1.1819929. "The possibility that the fundamental constants may vary during the evolution of the universe offers an exceptional window onto higher dimensional theories and is probably linked with the nature of the dark energy that makes the universe accelerate today."
- [27] An overview can be found in the dissertation of Mota, DF (2006). "Variations of the fine structure constant in space and time". arXiv:astro-ph/0401631 [astro-ph].
- [28] Uzan, J-P (2003). "The fundamental constants and their variation: observational status and theoretical motivations". *Reviews of Modern Physics* 74 (2): 403. arXiv:hep-ph/0205340. Bibcode 2003RvMP...75..403U. doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.75.403.
- [29] Amelino-Camelia, G (2008). "Quantum Gravity Phenomenology". arXiv:0806.0339 [gr-qc].
- [30] Herrmann, S et al. (2009). "Rotating optical cavity experiment testing Lorentz invariance at the 10⁻¹⁷ level". *Physical Review D* 80 (100): 105011. arXiv:1002.1284. Bibcode 2009PhRvD..80j5011H. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.80.105011.
- [31] Lang, KR (1999). Astrophysical formulae (http://books.google.com/?id=OvTjLcQ4MCQC&pg=PA152) (3rd ed.). Birkhäuser. p. 152. ISBN 3540296921.
- [32] Fowler, M (March 2008). "Notes on Special Relativity" (http://galileo.phys.virginia.edu/classes/252/SpecRelNotes.pdf). University of Virginia. p. 56. . Retrieved 2010-05-07.
- [33] It is thought that the Scharnhorst effect does allow signals to travel slightly faster than c, but the special conditions in which this effect can occur prevent one from using this effect to violate causality. Liberati, S; Sonego, S; Visser, M (2002). "Faster-than-c signals, special relativity, and causality". *Annals of Physics* 298 (1): 167–85. arXiv:gr-qc/0107091. Bibcode 2002AnPhy.298..167L. doi:10.1006/aphy.2002.6233.
- [34] Taylor, EF; Wheeler, JA (1992). Spacetime Physics. W. H. Freeman. pp. 74-5. ISBN 0-7167-2327-1.
- [35] Tolman, RC (2009) [1917]. "Velocities greater than that of light". *The Theory of the Relativity of Motion* (Reprint ed.). BiblioLife. p. 54. ISBN 978-1-103-17233-7.
- [36] Hecht, E (1987). Optics (2nd ed.). Addison-Wesley. p. 62. ISBN 0-201-11609-X.
- [37] Quimby, RS (2006). *Photonics and lasers: an introduction* (http://books.google.com/books?id=yWeDVfaVGxsC&lpg=PA9& pg=PA9#v=onepage). John Wiley and Sons. p. 9. ISBN 9780471719748.
- [38] Wertheim, M (2007-06-20). "The Shadow Goes" (http://www.nytimes.com/2007/06/20/opinion/20wertheim.html?_r=1&scp=1& sq='the shadow goes'&st=cse&oref=slogin). *The New York Times*. Retrieved 2009-08-21.
- [39] Gibbs, P (1997). "Is Faster-Than-Light Travel or Communication Possible?" (http://www.webcitation.org/5lLRguF0I). Usenet Physics FAQ. University of California, Riverside. Archived from the original (http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/physics/Relativity/SpeedOfLight/ FTL.html) on 2009-11-17. Retrieved 2008-08-20.
- [40] Sakurai, JJ (1994). T, S. ed. Modern Quantum Mechanics (Revised ed.). Addison-Wesley. pp. 231–232. ISBN 0-201-53929-2.
- [41] Muga, JG; Mayato, RS; Egusquiza, IL, eds (2007). *Time in Quantum Mechanics* (http://books.google.com/?id=InKru6zHQWgC&pg=PA48). Springer. p. 48. ISBN 3540734724.
- [42] Hernández-Figueroa, HE; Zamboni-Rached, M; Recami, E (2007). Localized Waves (http://books.google.com/?id=xxbXgL967PwC&pg=PA26). Wiley Interscience. p. 26. ISBN 0470108851.
- [43] Wynne, K (2002). "Causality and the nature of information" (http://bcp.phys.strath.ac.uk/the_group/r/uf/2002-OC-causality.pdf). Optics Communications 209 (1–3): 84–100. Bibcode 2002OptCo.209...85W. doi:10.1016/S0030-4018(02)01638-3.
- [44] Rees, M (1966). "The Appearance of Relativistically Expanding Radio Sources". *Nature* 211 (5048): 468. Bibcode 1966Natur.211..468R. doi:10.1038/211468a0.
- [45] Chase, IP. "Apparent Superluminal Velocity of Galaxies" (http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/physics/Relativity/SpeedOfLight/ Superluminal/superluminal.html). Usenet Physics FAQ. University of California, Riverside. . Retrieved 2009-11-26.
- [46] Harrison, ER (2003). Masks of the Universe (http://books.google.com/?id=tSowGCP0kMIC&pg=PA206). Cambridge University Press. p. 206. ISBN 0521773512.
- [47] OPERA Collaboration (2011). "Measurement of the neutrino velocity with the OPERA detector in the CNGS beam". arXiv:1109.4897 [hep-ex].
- [48] Collins, N. "Speed of light broken an expert's view" (http://www.telegraph.co.uk/science/science-news/8783264/ Speed-of-light-broken-an-experts-view.html). *The Telegraph*. Retrieved 2011-09-23.
- [49] Panofsky, WKH; Phillips, M (1962). Classical Electricity and Magnetism. Addison-Wesley. p. 182. ISBN 9780201057027.
- [50] Schaefer, BE (1999). "Severe limits on variations of the speed of light with frequency". *Physical Review Letters* 82 (25): 4964–6. arXiv:astro-ph/9810479. Bibcode 1999PhRvL..82.4964S. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.82.4964.
- [51] Ellis, J; Mavromatos, NE; Nanopoulos, DV; Sakharov, AS (2003). "Quantum-Gravity Analysis of Gamma-Ray Bursts using Wavelets". Astronomy & Astrophysics 403 (2): 409–24. arXiv:astro-ph/0210124. Bibcode 2003A&A...402..409E. doi:10.1051/0004-6361:20030263.
- [52] Füllekrug, M (2004). "Probing the Speed of Light with Radio Waves at Extremely Low Frequencies". *Physical Review Letters* 93 (4): 043901. Bibcode 2004PhRvL.93d3901F. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.043901.
- [53] Adelberger, E; Dvali, G; Gruzinov, A (2007). "Photon Mass Bound Destroyed by Vortices". *Physical Review Letters* 98 (1): 010402. arXiv:hep-ph/0306245. Bibcode 2007PhRvL..98a0402A. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.010402. PMID 17358459.
- [54] Sidharth, BG (2008). The Thermodynamic Universe (http://books.google.com/?id=OUfHR36wSfAC&pg=PA134). World Scientific. p. 134. ISBN 9812812342.
- [55] Amelino-Camelia, G (2009). "Astrophysics: Burst of support for relativity". *Nature* 462 (7271): 291–292. Bibcode 2009Natur.462..291A. doi:10.1038/462291a. PMID 19924200. Lay summary (http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v462/n7271/edsumm/e091119-06. html) *Nature* (19 November 2009).
- [56] de Podesta, M (2002). Understanding the Properties of Matter (http://books.google.com/?id=h8BNvnR050cC&pg=PA131& lpg=PA131). CRC Press. p. 131. ISBN 0415257883.
- [57] "Refractive index of Water, H20 [Liquids (http://refractiveindex.info/?group=LIQUIDS&material=Water)"]. *refractiveindex.info*. Mikhail Polyanskiy. . Retrieved 2010-03-14.
- [58] "Refractive index of Fused Silica [Glasses (http://refractiveindex.info/?group=GLASSES&material=F_SILICA)"]. refractiveindex.info. Mikhail Polyanskiy. . Retrieved 2010-03-14.
- [59] "Refractive index of C [Crystals etc. (http://refractiveindex.info/?group=CRYSTALS&material=C)"]. *refractiveindex.info*. Mikhail Polyanskiy. . Retrieved 2010-03-14.
- [60] Milonni, PW (2004). Fast light, slow light and left-handed light (http://books.google.com/?id=kE8OUCvt7ecC&pg=PA25). CRC Press. p. 25. ISBN 0750309261.
- [61] Toll, JS (1956). "Causality and the Dispersion Relation: Logical Foundations". *Physical Review* 104 (6): 1760–1770.
 Bibcode 1956PhRv..104.1760T. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.104.1760.
- [62] Hau, LV; Harris, SE; Dutton, Z; Behroozi, CH (1999). "Light speed reduction to 17 metres per second in an ultracold atomic gas" (http:// www.nature.com/nature/journal/v397/n6720/pdf/397594a0.pdf). Nature 397 (6720): 594–598. Bibcode 1999Natur.397..594V. doi:10.1038/17561.
- [63] Liu, C; Dutton, Z; Behroozi, CH; Hau, LV (2001). "Observation of coherent optical information storage in an atomic medium using halted light pulses" (http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v409/n6819/pdf/409490a0.pdf). *Nature* 409 (6819): 490–493. Bibcode 2001Natur.409..490L. doi:10.1038/35054017. PMID 11206540.
- [64] Bajcsy, M; Zibrov, AS; Lukin, MD (2003). "Stationary pulses of light in an atomic medium". *Nature* 426 (6967): 638–41. arXiv:quant-ph/0311092. Bibcode 2003Natur.426..638B. doi:10.1038/nature02176. PMID 14668857.
- [65] Dumé, B (2003). "Switching light on and off" (http://physicsworld.com/cws/article/news/18724). Physics World. Institute of Physics. . Retrieved 2008-12-08.
- [66] Whitehouse, D (19 July 2000). "Beam Smashes Light Barrier" (http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/science/nature/841690.stm). BBC News. . Retrieved 2008-12-08.
- [67] Milonni, PW (2004). "2" (http://books.google.com/?id=kE8OUCvt7ecC&pg=PA25). Fast light, slow light and left-handed light. CRC Press. ISBN 0750309261.
- [68] Cherenkov, Pavel A. (1934). "[Visible emission of clean liquids by action of γ radiation]". Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR 2: 451. Reprinted in Selected Papers of Soviet Physicists, Usp. Fiz. Nauk 93 (1967) 385. V sbornike: Pavel Alekseyevich Čerenkov: Chelovek i Otkrytie pod redaktsiej A. N. Gorbunova i E. P. Čerenkovoj, M., "Nauka, 1999, s. 149-153. (ref (http://dbserv.ihep.su/hist/owa/hw. move?s_c=VAVILOV+1934&m=1))
- [69] Parhami, B (1999). Introduction to parallel processing: algorithms and architectures (http://books.google.com/?id=ekBsZkIYfUgC& printsec=frontcover&q=). Plenum Press. p. 5. ISBN 9780306459702. . and Imbs, D; Raynal, Michel (2009). "Software Transactional Memories: An Approach for Multicore Programming" (http://books.google.com/books?id=sona_r6dPyQC&lpg=PA26&dq="speed of light" processor limit&pg=PA26#v=onepage&q="speed of light" processor limit&f=false). In Malyshkin, V. Parallel Computing Technologies. 10th International Conference, PaCT 2009, Novosibirsk, Russia, August 31-September 4, 2009. Springer. p. 26. ISBN 9783642032745. .
- [70] A typical value for the refractive index of optical fibre is between 1.518 and 1.538: Midwinter, JE (1991). *Optical Fibers for Transmission* (2nd ed.). Krieger Publishing Company. ISBN 0894645951.
- [71] "Theoretical vs real-world speed limit of Ping" (http://royal.pingdom.com/2007/06/01/theoretical-vs-real-world-speed-limit-of-ping/). *Royal Pingdom*. Pingdom. June 2007. . Retrieved 2010-05-05.
- [72] "Day 4: Lunar Orbits 7, 8 and 9" (http://history.nasa.gov/ap08fj/15day4_orbits789.htm). The Apollo 8 Flight Journal. NASA. . Retrieved 2010-12-16.
- [73] Dickey, JO; *et al.* (July 1994). "Lunar Laser Ranging: A Continuing Legacy of the Apollo Program". *Science* 265 (5171): 482–490.
 Bibcode 1994Sci...265..482D. doi:10.1126/science.265.5171.482. PMID 17781305.
- [74] Standish, EM (February 1982). "The JPL planetary ephemerides". Celestial Mechanics 26 (2): 181–186. Bibcode 1982CeMec..26..181S. doi:10.1007/BF01230883.

- [75] Berner, JB; Bryant, SH; Kinman, PW (November 2007). "Range Measurement as Practiced in the Deep Space Network". Proceedings of the IEEE 95 (11): 2202–2214. doi:10.1109/JPROC.2007.905128.
- [76] "Hubble Reaches the "Undiscovered Country" of Primeval Galaxies" (http://hubblesite.org/newscenter/archive/releases/2010/02/full/) (Press release). Space Telescope Science Institute. 5 January 2010.
- [77] "The Hubble Ultra Deep Field Lithograph" (http://www.nasa.gov/pdf/283957main_Hubble_Deep_Field_Lithograph.pdf) (PDF). NASA. . Retrieved 2010-02-04.
- [78] "The IAU and astronomical units" (http://www.iau.org/public/measuring/). International Astronomical Union. . Retrieved 2010-10-11.
- [79] Further discussion can be found at "StarChild Question of the Month for March 2000" (http://starchild.gsfc.nasa.gov/docs/StarChild/ questions/question19.html). StarChild. NASA, 2000. Retrieved 2009-08-22.
- [80] "Resolution 1 of the 17th CGPM" (http://www.bipm.org/en/CGPM/db/17/1/). BIPM. 1983. . Retrieved 2009-08-23.
- [81] The astronomical unit is defined as the radius of an unperturbed circular Newtonian orbit about the Sun of a particle having infinitesimal mass, moving with an angular frequency of 0.01720209895 radians (approximately ¹/_{365.256898} of a revolution) per day.International Bureau of Weights and Measures (2006), *The International System of Units (SI)* (http://www.bipm.org/utils/common/pdf/si_brochure_8_en.pdf) (8th ed.), p. 126, ISBN 92-822-2213-6, . It may be noted that the astronomical unit increases at a rate of about (15 ± 4) cm/yr, probably due to the changing mass of the Sun.John D. Anderson and Michael Martin Nieto (2009). "Astrometric solar-system anomalies". *Proceedings of the International Astronomical Union* (Cambridge University Press) **5** (S261): 189–197. arXiv:0907.2469. doi:10.1017/S1743921309990378. This unit has the advantage that the gravitational constant multiplied by the Sun's mass has a fixed, exact value in cubic astronomical units per day squared.
- [82] Cohen, IB (1940). "Roemer and the first determination of the velocity of light (1676)". Isis 31 (2): 327–79. doi:10.1086/347594.
- [83] "Touchant le mouvement de la lumiere trouvé par M. Rŏmer de l'Académie Royale des Sciences" (http://www-obs.univ-lyon1.fr/labo/fc/ ama09/pages_jdsc/pages/jdsc_1676_lumiere.pdf) (in French). Journal des sçavans: 233–36. 1676.
- Translated in "On the Motion of Light by M. Romer" (http://www.archive.org/stream/philosophicaltra02royarich#page/397/mode/1up). *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* **12** (136): 893–95. 1677. doi:10.1098/rstl.1677.0024. (As reproduced in Hutton, C; Shaw, G; Pearson, R eds. (1809). . *The Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, from Their Commencement in 1665, in the Year 1800: Abridged.* **2**. London: C. & R. Baldwin. pp. 397–98. .)

The account published in *Journal des sçavans* was based on a report that Rømer read to the French Academy of Sciences in November 1676 (Cohen, 1940, p. 346).

- [84] Bradley, J (1729). "Account of a new discoved Motion of the Fix'd Stars" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k55840n.image.f375. langEN). *Philosophical Transactions* 35: 637–660.
- [85] Duffett-Smith, P (1988). [[Practical Astronomy with your Calculator (http://books.google.com/?id=DwJfCtzaVvYC)]]. Cambridge University Press. p. 62. ISBN 0521356997..., Extract of page 62 (http://books.google.com/books?id=DwJfCtzaVvYC&pg=PA62)
- [86] Pitjeva, EV; Standish, EM (2009). "Proposals for the masses of the three largest asteroids, the Moon-Earth mass ratio and the Astronomical Unit". *Celestial Mechanics and Dynamical Astronomy* **103** (4): 365–372. Bibcode 2009CeMDA.103..365P. doi:10.1007/s10569-009-9203-8.
- [87] IAU Working Group on Numerical Standards for Fundamental Astronomy. "IAU WG on NSFA Current Best Estimates" (http://maia. usno.navy.mil/NSFA/CBE.html). US Naval Observatory. . Retrieved 2009-09-25.
- [88] "NPL's Beginner's Guide to Length" (http://www.npl.co.uk/educate-explore/posters/length/length-(poster)). UK National Physical Laboratory. . Retrieved 2009-10-28.
- [89] The value of the speed of light in astronomical units has a measurement uncertainty, unlike the value in SI units, because of the different definitions of the unit of length.
- [90] Nevertheless, at this degree of precision, the effects of general relativity must be taken into consideration when interpreting the length. The metre is considered to be a unit of proper length, whereas the AU is usually used as a unit of observed length in a given frame of reference. The values cited here follow the latter convention, and are TDB-compatible.
- [91] Gibbs, P (1997). "How is the speed of light measured?" (http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/physics/Relativity/SpeedOfLight/measure_c. html). Usenet Physics FAQ. University of California, Riverside. . Retrieved 2010-01-13.
- [92] Fowler, M. "The Speed of Light" (http://galileoandeinstein.physics.virginia.edu/lectures/spedlite.html). University of Virginia. . Retrieved 2010-04-21.
- [93] Cooke, J; Martin, M; McCartney, H; Wilf, B (1968). "Direct determination of the speed of light as a general physics laboratory experiment". *American Journal of Physics* 36 (9): 847. Bibcode 1968AmJPh..36..847C. doi:10.1119/1.1975166.
- [94] Aoki, K; Mitsui, T (2008). "A small tabletop experiment for a direct measurement of the speed of light". *American Journal of Physics* 76 (9): 812–815. arXiv:0705.3996. Bibcode 2008AmJPh..76..812A. doi:10.1119/1.2919743.
- [95] James, MB; Ormond, RB; Stasch, AJ (1999). "Speed of light measurement for the myriad". American Journal of Physics 67 (8): 681–714.
 Bibcode 1999AmJPh..67..681J. doi:10.1119/1.19352.
- [96] Essen, L; Gordon-Smith, AC (1948). "The Velocity of Propagation of Electromagnetic Waves Derived from the Resonant Frequencies of a Cylindrical Cavity Resonator". *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A* 194 (1038): 348–361. Bibcode 1948RSPSA.194..348E. doi:10.1098/rspa.1948.0085. JSTOR 98293.
- [97] Rosa, EB; Dorsey, NE (1907). "The Ratio of the Electromagnetic and Electrostatic Units". *Bulletin of the Bureau of Standards* 3 (6): 433.
 Bibcode 1906PhRvI..22..367R. doi:10.1103/PhysRevSeriesI.22.367.
- [98] Essen, L (1947). "Velocity of Electromagnetic Waves". Nature 159 (4044): 611–612. Bibcode 1947Natur.159..611E. doi:10.1038/159611a0.

- [99] Essen, L (1950). "The Velocity of Propagation of Electromagnetic Waves Derived from the Resonant Frequencies of a Cylindrical Cavity Resonator". *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A* 204 (1077): 260–277. Bibcode 1950RSPSA.204..260E. doi:10.1098/rspa.1950.0172. JSTOR 98433.
- [100] Stauffer, RH (April 1997). "Finding the Speed of Light with Marshmallows" (http://www.physics.umd.edu/icpe/newsletters/n34/ marshmal.htm). *The Physics Teacher* (American Association of Physics Teachers) **35** (4): 231. Bibcode 1997PhTea..35..231S. doi:10.1119/1.2344657. . Retrieved 2010-02-15.
- [101] "BBC Look East at the speed of light" (http://www.bbc.co.uk/norfolk/features/ba_festival/ bafestival_speedoflight_experiment_feature.shtml). BBC Norfolk website. BBC. . Retrieved 2010-02-15.
- [102] A detailed discussion of the interferometer and its use for determining the speed of light can be found in Vaughan, JM (1989). *The Fabry-Perot interferometer* (http://books.google.com/?id=mMLuISueDKYC&printsec=frontcover#PPA47,M1). CRC Press. p. 47, pp. 384–391. ISBN 0852741383.
- [103] Froome, KD (1958). "A New Determination of the Free-Space Velocity of Electromagnetic Waves". Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Mathematical and Physical Sciences, (The Royal Society) 247 (1248): 109–122. Bibcode 1958RSPSA.247..109F. doi:10.1098/rspa.1958.0172. JSTOR 100591.
- [104] Sullivan, DB (2001). "Speed of Light from Direct Frequency and Wavelength Measurements" (http://nvl.nist.gov/pub/nistpubs/ sp958-lide/191-193.pdf). In Lide, DR. A Century of Excellence in Measurements, Standards, and Technology. CRC Press. pp. 191–193. ISBN 0849312477.
- [105] Evenson, KM; et al. (1972). "Speed of Light from Direct Frequency and Wavelength Measurements of the Methane-Stabilized Laser". Physical Review Letters 29 (19): 1346–49. Bibcode 1972PhRvL..29.1346E. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.29.1346.
- [106] Huygens, C (1690) (in French). Traitée de la Lumière (http://books.google.com/?id=No8PAAAAQAAJ&pg=PA9). Pierre van der Aa. pp. 8–9.
- [107] Michelson, A. A. (1927). "Measurement of the Velocity of Light Between Mount Wilson and Mount San Antonio". *The Astrophysical Journal* 65: 1. Bibcode 1927ApJ...65...1M. doi:10.1086/143021.
- [108] Sarton, G (1993). Ancient science through the golden age of Greece (http://books.google.com/?id=VcoGIKIHuZcC&pg=PA248). Courier Dover. p. 248. ISBN 0486274950.
- [109] MacKay, RH; Oldford, RW (2000). "Scientific Method, Statistical Method and the Speed of Light" (http://www.stats.uwaterloo.ca/ ~rwoldfor/papers/sci-method/paperrev). Statistical Science 15 (3): 254–78. doi:10.1214/ss/1009212817.
- [110] Gross, C. G. (1999). "The Fire That Comes from the Eye". The Neuroscientist 5: 58. doi:10.1177/107385849900500108.
- [111] Hamarneh, S (1972). "Review: Hakim Mohammed Said, Ibn al-Haitham". Isis 63 (1): 119. doi:10.1086/350861.
- [112] Lester, PM (2005). Visual Communication: Images With Messages. Thomson Wadsworth. pp. 10-11. ISBN 0534637205.
- [113] O'Connor, JJ; Robertson, EF. "Abu Ali al-Hasan ibn al-Haytham" (http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/Biographies/ Al-Haytham.html). *MacTutor History of Mathematics archive*. University of St Andrews. . Retrieved 2010-01-12.
- [114] Lauginie, P (2005). "Measuring: Why? How? What?" (http://www.ihpst2005.leeds.ac.uk/papers/Lauginie.pdf). Proceedings of the 8th International History, Philosophy, Sociology & Science Teaching Conference. . Retrieved 2008-07-18.
- [115] O'Connor, JJ; Robertson, EF. "Abu han Muhammad ibn Ahmad al-Biruni" (http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/Biographies/ Al-Biruni.html). MacTutor History of Mathematics archive. University of St Andrews. . Retrieved 2010-01-12.
- [116] Lindberg, DC (1996). Roger Bacon and the origins of Perspectiva in the Middle Ages: a critical edition and English translation of Bacon's Perspectiva, with introduction and notes (http://books.google.com/?id=jSPHMKbjYkQC&pg=PA143). Oxford University Press. p. 143. ISBN 0198239920.
- [117] Lindberg, DC (1974). "Late Thirteenth-Century Synthesis in Optics" (http://books.google.com/?id=fAPN_3w4hAUC& pg=RA1-PA395&dq=roger-bacon+speed-of-light&q=roger-bacon speed-of-light). In Edward Grant. A source book in medieval science. Harvard University Press. p. 396. ISBN 9780674823600.
- [118] Marshall, P (1981). "Nicole Oresme on the Nature, Reflection, and Speed of Light". Isis 72 (3): 357–74 [367–74]. doi:10.1086/352787.
- [119] Boyer, CB (1941). "Early Estimates of the Velocity of Light". Isis 33 (1): 24. doi:10.1086/358523.
- [120] Galilei, G (1954) [1638]. Dialogues Concerning Two New Sciences (http://oll.libertyfund.org/index.php?option=com_staticxt& staticfile=show.php?title=753&layout=html#a_2288356). Crew, H; de Salvio A (trans.). Dover Publications. p. 43. ISBN 0486-60099-8.
- [121] Newton, I (1704). "Prop. XI" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k3362k.image.f235.vignettesnaviguer). Optiks. The text of Prop. XI is identical between the first (1704) and second (1719) editions.
- [122] Graneau, P; Assis, AKT (1994). "Kirchhoff on the motion of electricity in conductors" (http://www.physics.princeton.edu/~mcdonald/ examples/EM/kirchhoff_apc_102_529_57_english.pdf). Apeiron 19: 19–25. Retrieved 2010-10-21.
- [123] Giordano, Nicholas J. (2009). College physics: reasoning and relationships (http://books.google.com/books?id=BwistUlpZ7cC). Cengage Learning. p. 787. ISBN 0-534-42471-6., Extract of page 787 (http://books.google.com/books?id=BwistUlpZ7cC&pg=PA787)
- [124] Bergmann, Peter Gabriel (1992). *The riddle of gravitation* (http://books.google.com/books?id=WYxkrwMidp0C). Courier Dover Publications. p. 17. ISBN 0-486-27378-4. , Extract of page 17 (http://books.google.com/books?id=WYxkrwMidp0C&pg=PA17)
- [125] Bais, Sander (2005). The equations: icons of knowledge (http://books.google.com/books?id=jKbVuMSIJPoC). Harvard University Press. p. 40. ISBN 0-674-01967-9. ., Extract of page 40 (http://books.google.com/books?id=jKbVuMSIJPoC&pg=PA40)
- [126] O'Connor, JJ; Robertson, EF (November 1997). "James Clerk Maxwell" (http://www-groups.dcs.st-and.ac.uk/~history/Biographies/ Maxwell.html). School of Mathematics and Statistics, University of St Andrews. . Retrieved 2010-10-13.

- [127] Michelson, AA; Morley, EW (1887). "On the Relative Motion of the Earth and the Luminiferous Ether". *American Journal of Science* 34: 333–345.
- [128] French, AP (1983). Special relativity. Van Nostrand Reinhold. pp. 51-57. ISBN 0-442-30782-9.
- [129] Darrigol, O (2000). Electrodynamics from Ampére to Einstein. Clarendon Press. ISBN 0198505949.
- [130] Galison, P (2003). Einstein's Clocks, Poincaré's Maps: Empires of Time. W.W. Norton. ISBN 0393326047.
- [131] Miller, AI (1981). Albert Einstein's special theory of relativity. Emergence (1905) and early interpretation (1905–1911). Addison–Wesley. ISBN 0201046792.
- [132] Pais, A (1982). Subtle is the Lord: The Science and the Life of Albert Einstein. Oxford University Press. ISBN 0195204387.
- [133] Since 1960 the metre was defined as: "The metre is the length equal to 1650763.73 wavelengths in vacuum of the radiation corresponding to the transition between the levels 2p₁₀ and 5d5 of the krypton 86 atom." "Resolution 6 of the 15th CGPM" (http://www.bipm.org/en/CGPM/db/11/6/). BIPM. 1967. . Retrieved 2010-10-13. It was later discovered that this spectral line was not symmetric, which put a limit on the precision with which the definition could be realized in interferometry experiments.Barger, R.; Hall, J. (1973). "Wavelength of the 3.39-μm laser-saturated absorption line of methane". *Applied Physics Letters* 22 (4): 196. Bibcode 1973ApPhL..22..196B. doi:10.1063/1.1654608.
- [134] "Resolution 2 of the 15th CGPM" (http://www.bipm.org/en/CGPM/db/15/2/). BIPM. 1975. . Retrieved 2009-09-09.
- [135] Tom Wilkie (October 27, 1983). "Time to remeasure the metre" (http://books.google.com/?id=pKU5MXqo4UYC&pg=PA258). New Scientist 100 (1381): 258 ff.
- [136] Taylor, EF; Wheeler, JA (1992). *Spacetime Physics: Introduction to Special Relativity* (http://books.google.com/?id=PDA8YcvMc_QC&pg=PA59#v=onepage&q=) (2nd ed.). Macmillan. ISBN 0-7167-2327-1. .
- [137] Penzes, WB (2009). "Time Line for the Definition of the Meter" (http://www.nist.gov/pml/div681/museum-timeline.cfm). NIST. . Retrieved 2010-01-11.
- [138] Adams, S (1997). Relativity: An Introduction to Space-Time Physics (http://books.google.com/?id=1RV0AysEN4oC&pg=PA140). CRC Press. p. 140. ISBN 0748406212. . "One peculiar consequence of this system of definitions is that any future refinement in our ability to measure c will not change the speed of light (which is a defined number), but will change the length of the meter!"
- [139] Rindler, W (2006). Relativity: Special, General, and Cosmological (http://books.google.com/?id=MuuaG5HXOGEC&pg=PT41) (2nd ed.). Oxford University Press. p. 41. ISBN 0198567316. . "Note that [...] improvements in experimental accuracy will modify the meter relative to atomic wavelengths, but not the value of the speed of light!"

References

Further reading

Historical references

- Rømer, O (1676). "Démonstration touchant le mouvement de la lumière trouvé par M. Römer de l'Academie Royale des Sciences" (http://web.archive.org/web/20070729214326/http://dbhs.wvusd.k12.ca.us/ webdocs/Chem-History/Roemer-1677/Roemer-1677.html) (in French). *Journal des sçavans*: 223–36. Archived from the original (http://dbhs.wvusd.k12.ca.us/webdocs/Chem-History/Roemer-1677/Roemer-1677.html) on 2007-07-29.
 - Translated as "A Demonstration concerning the Motion of Light" (http://web.archive.org/web/20070729214326/http://dbhs.wvusd.k12.ca.us/webdocs/Chem-History/Roemer-1677/Roemer-1677.
 html). *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* (136): 893–4. 1677. Archived from the original (http://dbhs.wvusd.k12.ca.us/webdocs/Chem-History/Roemer-1677.html) on 2007-07-29.
- Halley, E (1694). "Monsieur Cassini, his New and Exact Tables for the Eclipses of the First Satellite of Jupiter, reduced to the Julian Stile and Meridian of London". *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* **18** (214): 237–56. doi:10.1098/rstl.1694.0048.
- Fizeau, HL (1849). "Sur une expérience relative à la vitesse de propagation de la lumière" (http://www. academie-sciences.fr/membres/in_memoriam/Fizeau/Fizeau_pdf/CR1849_p90.pdf) (in French). *Comptes rendus de l'Académie des sciences* **29**: 90–92, 132.
- Foucault, JL (1862). "Détermination expérimentale de la vitesse de la lumière: parallaxe du Soleil" (http://books.google.ca/books?id=yYIIAAAAMAAJ&pg=PA216&lpg=PA216&dq) (in French). Comptes rendus de l'Académie des sciences 55: 501–503, 792–796.

- Michelson, AA (1878). "Experimental Determination of the Velocity of Light" (http://www.gutenberg.org/ ebooks/11753). *Proceedings of the American Association of Advanced Science* **27**: 71–77.
- Michelson, AA; Pease, FG; Pearson, F (1935). "Measurement of the Velocity of Light in a Partial Vacuum". *Astrophysical Journal* 82: 26–61. Bibcode 1935ApJ....82...26M. doi:10.1086/143655.
- Newcomb, S (1886). "The Velocity of Light". *Nature* 34 (863): 29–32. Bibcode 1886Natur..34...29.. doi:10.1038/034029c0.
- Perrotin, J (1900). "Sur la vitesse de la lumière" (in French). *Comptes rendus de l'Académie des sciences* **131**: 731–4.

Modern references

- Brillouin, L (1960). Wave propagation and group velocity. Academic Press.
- Jackson, JD (1975). Classical Electrodynamics (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.
- Keiser, G (2000). Optical Fiber Communications (3rd ed.). McGraw-Hill. p. 32. ISBN 0072321016.
- Ng, YJ (2004). "Quantum Foam and Quantum Gravity Phenomenology" (http://books.google.com/ ?id=RntpN7OesBsC). In Amelino-Camelia, G; Kowalski-Glikman, J. *Planck Scale Effects in Astrophysics and Cosmology*. Springer. pp. 321*ff*. ISBN 3540252630.
- Helmcke, J; Riehle, F (2001). "Physics behind the definition of the meter" (http://books.google.com/ ?id=WE22Fez60EcC&pg=PA453). In Quinn, TJ; Leschiutta, S; Tavella, P. *Recent advances in metrology and fundamental constants*. IOS Press. p. 453. ISBN 1586031678.
- Duff, MJ (2004). "Comment on time-variation of fundamental constants". arXiv:hep-th/0208093 [hep-th].

External links

- Speed of light in vacuum (http://physics.nist.gov/cgi-bin/cuu/Value?c) (National Institute of Standards and Technology, NIST)
- Definition of the metre (http://www.bipm.org/en/si/si_brochure/chapter2/2-1/metre.html) (International Bureau of Weights and Measures, BIPM)
- Data Gallery: Michelson Speed of Light (Univariate Location Estimation) (http://www.itl.nist.gov/div898/ bayesian/datagall/michelso.htm) (download data gathered by A.A. Michelson)
- Subluminal (http://gregegan.customer.netspace.net.au/APPLETS/20/20.html) (Java applet demonstrating group velocity information limits)
- De Mora Luminis (http://www.mathpages.com/rr/s3-03/3-03.htm) at MathPages
- Light discussion on adding velocities (http://www.ertin.com/sloan_on_speed_of_light.html)
- Speed of Light (http://www.colorado.edu/physics/2000/waves_particles/lightspeed-1.html) (University of Colorado Department of Physics)
- c: Speed of Light (http://sixtysymbols.com/videos/light.htm) (Sixty Symbols, University of Nottingham Department of Physics [video])
- Usenet Physics FAQ (http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/physics/)
- The Fizeau "Rapidly Rotating Toothed Wheel" Method (http://njsas.org/projects/speed_of_light/fizeau/)

Related phenomena

Dielectric

A **dielectric** is an electrical insulator that can be polarized by an applied electric field. When a dielectric is placed in an electric field, electric charges do not flow through the material, as in a conductor, but only slightly shift from their average equilibrium positions causing **dielectric polarization**. Because of dielectric polarization, positive charges are displaced toward the field and negative charges shift in the opposite direction. This creates an internal electric field which reduces the overall field within the dielectric itself.^[1] If a dielectric is composed of weakly bonded molecules, those molecules not only become polarized, but also reorient so that their symmetry axis aligns to the field.^[1]

Although the term "insulator" implies low electrical conduction, "dielectric" is typically used to describe materials with a high polarizability. The latter is expressed by a number called the dielectric constant. A common, yet notable example of a dielectric is the electrically insulating material between the metallic plates of a capacitor. The polarization of the dielectric by the applied electric field increases the capacitor's surface charge.^[1]

The study of dielectric properties is concerned with the storage and dissipation of electric and magnetic energy in materials.^[2] It is important to explain various phenomena in electronics, optics, and solid-state physics.

The term "dielectric" was coined by William Whewell (from "dia-electric") in response to a request from Michael Faraday.^[3]

Electric susceptibility

The **electric susceptibility** χ_e of a dielectric material is a measure of how easily it polarizes in response to an electric field. This, in turn, determines the electric permittivity of the material and thus influences many other phenomena in that medium, from the capacitance of capacitors to the speed of light.

It is defined as the constant of proportionality (which may be a tensor) relating an electric field \mathbf{E} to the induced dielectric polarization density \mathbf{P} such that

 $\mathbf{P}=\varepsilon_{0}\chi_{e}\mathbf{E},$

where ε_0 is the electric permittivity of free space.

The susceptibility of a medium is related to its relative permittivity ε_r by

 $\chi_e = \varepsilon_r - 1.$

So in the case of a vacuum,

 $\chi_e = 0.$

The electric displacement **D** is related to the polarization density **P** by

$$\mathbf{D} = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{P} = \varepsilon_0 (1 + \chi_e) \mathbf{E} = \varepsilon_r \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}.$$

Dispersion and causality

In general, a material cannot polarize instantaneously in response to an applied field. The more general formulation as a function of time is

$$\mathbf{P}(t) = arepsilon_0 \int_{-\infty}^t \chi_e(t-t') \mathbf{E}(t') \, dt'.$$

That is, the polarization is a convolution of the electric field at previous times with time-dependent susceptibility given by $\chi_e(\Delta t)$. The upper limit of this integral can be extended to infinity as well if one defines $\chi_e(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$. An instantaneous response corresponds to Dirac delta function susceptibility $\chi_e(\Delta t) = \chi_e \delta(\Delta t)$. It is more convenient in a linear system to take the Fourier transform and write this relationship as a function of frequency. Due to the convolution theorem, the integral becomes a simple product,

$$\mathbf{P}(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \chi_e(\omega) \mathbf{E}(\omega)$$

Note the simple frequency dependence of the susceptibility, or equivalently the permittivity. The shape of the susceptibility with respect to frequency characterizes the dispersion properties of the material.

Moreover, the fact that the polarization can only depend on the electric field at previous times (i.e. $\chi_e(\Delta t) = 0$ for $\Delta t < 0$), a consequence of causality, imposes Kramers–Kronig constraints on the susceptibility $\chi_e(0)$.

Dielectric polarization

Basic atomic model

In the classical approach to the dielectric model, a material is made up of atoms. Each atom consists of a cloud of negative charge (Electrons) bound to and surrounding a positive point charge at its center. In the presence of an electric field the charge cloud is distorted, as shown in the top right of the figure.

This can be reduced to a simple dipole using the superposition principle. A dipole is characterized by its dipole moment, a vector quantity shown in the figure as the blue arrow labeled M. It is the relationship between the electric field and the dipole moment



that gives rise to the behavior of the dielectric. (Note that the dipole moment is shown to be pointing in the same direction as the electric field. This isn't always correct, and it is a major simplification, but it is suitable for many materials.)

When the electric field is removed the atom returns to its original state. The time required to do so is the so-called relaxation time; an exponential decay.

This is the essence of the model in physics. The behavior of the dielectric now depends on the situation. The more complicated the situation the richer the model has to be in order to accurately describe the behavior. Important questions are:

• Is the electric field constant or does it vary with time?

- If the electric field does vary, at what rate?
- What are the characteristics of the material?
 - Is the direction of the field important (isotropy)?
 - Is the material the same all the way through (homogeneous)?
 - Are there any boundaries/interfaces that have to be taken into account?
- Is the system linear or do nonlinearities have to be taken into account?

The relationship between the electric field \mathbf{E} and the dipole moment \mathbf{M} gives rise to the behavior of the dielectric, which, for a given material, can be characterized by the function \mathbf{F} defined by the equation:

 $\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{E})$.

When both the type of electric field and the type of material have been defined, one then chooses the simplest function F that correctly predicts the phenomena of interest. Examples of phenomena that can be so modeled include:

- Refractive index
- · Group velocity dispersion
- Birefringence
- Self-focusing
- Harmonic generation

Dipolar polarization

Dipolar polarization is a polarization that is either inherent to polar molecules (**orientation polarization**), or can be induced in any molecule in which the asymmetric distortion of the nuclei is possible (**distortion polarization**). Orientation polarization results from a permanent dipole, e.g. that arising from the *ca*. 104° angle between the asymmetric bonds between oxygen and hydrogen atoms in the water molecule, which retains polarization in the absence of an external electric field. The assembly of these dipoles forms a macroscopic polarization.

When an external electric field is applied, the distance between charges, which is related to chemical bonding, remains constant in orientation polarization; however, the polarization itself rotates. This rotation occurs on a timescale which depends on the torque and the surrounding local viscosity of the molecules. Because the rotation is not instantaneous, dipolar polarizations lose the response to electric fields at the lowest frequency in polarizations. A molecule rotates about 1ps per radian in a fluid, thus this loss occurs at about 10^{11} Hz (in the microwave region). The delay of the response to the change of the electric field causes friction and heat.

When an external electric field is applied in the infrared, a molecule is bent and stretched by the field and the molecular moment changes in response. The molecular vibration frequency is approximately the inverse of the time taken for the molecule to bend, and the **distortion polarization** disappears above the infrared.

Ionic polarization

Ionic polarization is polarization which is caused by relative displacements between positive and negative ions in ionic crystals (for example, NaCl).

If crystals or molecules do not consist of only atoms of the same kind, the distribution of charges around an atom in the crystals or molecules leans to positive or negative. As a result, when lattice vibrations or molecular vibrations induce relative displacements of the atoms, the centers of positive and negative charges might be in different locations. These center positions are affected by the symmetry of the displacements. When the centers don't correspond, polarizations arise in molecules or crystals. This polarization is called **ionic polarization**.

Ionic polarization causes ferroelectric transition as well as dipolar polarization. The transition, which is caused by the order of the directional orientations of permanent dipoles along a particular direction, is called **order-disorder phase transition**. The transition which is caused by ionic polarizations in crystals is called **displacive phase**

transition.

Dielectric dispersion

In physics, **dielectric dispersion** is the dependence of the permittivity of a dielectric material on the frequency of an applied electric field. Because there is always a lag between changes in polarization and changes in an electric field, the permittivity of the dielectric is a complicated, complex-valued function of frequency of the electric field. It is very important for the application of dielectric materials and the analysis of polarization systems.

This is one instance of a general phenomenon known as material dispersion: a frequency-dependent response of a medium for wave propagation.

When the frequency becomes higher:

- 1. it becomes impossible for dipolar polarization to follow the electric field in the microwave region around 10^{10} Hz;
- 2. in the infrared or far-infrared region around 10^{13} Hz, ionic polarization and molecular distortion polarization lose the response to the electric field;
- 3. electronic polarization loses its response in the ultraviolet region around 10^{15} Hz.

In the frequency region above ultraviolet, permittivity approaches the constant ε_0 in every substance, where ε_0 is the permittivity of the free space. Because permittivity indicates the strength of the relation between an electric field and polarization, if a polarization process loses its response, permittivity decreases.

Dielectric relaxation

Dielectric relaxation is the momentary delay (or lag) in the dielectric constant of a material. This is usually caused by the delay in molecular polarization with respect to a changing electric field in a dielectric medium (e.g. inside capacitors or between two large conducting surfaces). Dielectric relaxation in changing electric fields could be considered analogous to hysteresis in changing magnetic fields (for inductors or transformers). Relaxation in general is a delay or lag in the response of a linear system, and therefore dielectric relaxation is measured relative to the expected linear steady state (equilibrium) dielectric values. The time lag between electrical field and polarization implies an irreversible degradation of free energy(G).

In physics, **dielectric relaxation** refers to the relaxation response of a dielectric medium to an external electric field of microwave frequencies. This relaxation is often described in terms of permittivity as a function of frequency, which can, for ideal systems, be described by the Debye equation. On the other hand, the distortion related to ionic and electronic polarization shows behavior of the resonance or oscillator type. The character of the distortion process depends on the structure, composition, and surroundings of the sample.

The number of possible wavelengths of emitted radiation due to dielectric relaxation can be equated using Hemmings' first law (named after Mark Hemmings)

$$n = \frac{l^2 - l}{2}$$

where

n is the number of different possible wavelengths of emitted radiation

l is the number of energy levels (including ground level).

Debye relaxation

Debye relaxation is the dielectric relaxation response of an ideal, noninteracting population of dipoles to an alternating external electric field. It is usually expressed in the complex permittivity ε of a medium as a function of the field's frequency ω :

$$\hat{\varepsilon}(\omega) = \varepsilon_{\infty} + \frac{\Delta \varepsilon}{1 + i\omega \tau},$$

where ε_{∞} is the permittivity at the high frequency limit, $\Delta \varepsilon = \varepsilon_s - \varepsilon_{\infty}$ where ε_s is the static, low frequency permittivity, and τ is the characteristic relaxation time of the medium.

This relaxation model was introduced by and named after the chemist Peter Debye (1913).^[4]

Variants of the Debye equation

- Cole-Cole equation
- Cole–Davidson equation
- Havriliak–Negami relaxation
- Kohlrausch-Williams-Watts function (Fourier transform of stretched exponential function)

Applications

Capacitors

Commercially manufactured capacitors typically use a solid dielectric material with high permittivity as the intervening medium between the stored positive and negative charges. This material is often referred to in technical contexts as the "capacitor dielectric".^[5]

The most obvious advantage to using such a dielectric material is that it prevents the conducting plates on which the charges are stored from coming into direct electrical contact. More significant, however, a high permittivity allows a greater charge to be stored at a given voltage. This can be seen by treating the case of a linear dielectric with permittivity ε and thickness d between two conducting plates with uniform charge density σ_{e} . In this case the charge density is given by



$$\sigma_{\epsilon} = \epsilon \frac{V}{d}$$

and the capacitance per unit area by

$$c = rac{\sigma_\epsilon}{V} = rac{\epsilon}{d}$$

From this, it can easily be seen that a larger ϵ leads to greater charge stored and thus greater capacitance.

Dielectric materials used for capacitors are also chosen such that they are resistant to ionization. This allows the capacitor to operate at higher voltages before the insulating dielectric ionizes and begins to allow undesirable current.

Dielectric resonator

A *dielectric resonator oscillator* (DRO) is an electronic component that exhibits resonance for a narrow range of frequencies, generally in the microwave band. It consists of a "puck" of ceramic that has a large dielectric constant and a low dissipation factor. Such resonators are often used to provide a frequency reference in an oscillator circuit. An unshielded dielectric resonator can be used as a Dielectric Resonator Antenna (DRA).

Some practical dielectrics

Dielectric materials can be solids, liquids, or gases. In addition, a high vacuum can also be a useful, lossless dielectric even though its relative dielectric constant is only unity.

Solid dielectrics are perhaps the most commonly used dielectrics in electrical engineering, and many solids are very good insulators. Some examples include porcelain, glass, and most plastics. Air, nitrogen and sulfur hexafluoride are the three most commonly used gaseous dielectrics.

- Industrial coatings such as parylene provide a dielectric barrier between the substrate and its environment.
- Mineral oil is used extensively inside electrical transformers as a fluid dielectric and to assist in cooling. Dielectric fluids with higher dielectric constants, such as electrical grade castor oil, are often used in high voltage capacitors to help prevent corona discharge and increase capacitance.
- Because dielectrics resist the flow of electricity, the surface of a dielectric may retain *stranded* excess electrical charges. This may occur accidentally when the dielectric is rubbed (the triboelectric effect). This can be useful, as in a Van de Graaff generator or electrophorus, or it can be potentially destructive as in the case of electrostatic discharge.
- Specially processed dielectrics, called electrets (which should not be confused with ferroelectrics), may retain excess internal charge or "frozen in" polarization. Electrets have a semipermanent external electric field, and are the electrostatic equivalent to magnets. Electrets have numerous practical applications in the home and industry.
- Some dielectrics can generate a potential difference when subjected to mechanical stress, or change physical shape if an external voltage is applied across the material. This property is called piezoelectricity. Piezoelectric materials are another class of very useful dielectrics.
- Some ionic crystals and polymer dielectrics exhibit a spontaneous dipole moment which can be reversed by an externally applied electric field. This behavior is called the ferroelectric effect. These materials are analogous to the way ferromagnetic materials behave within an externally applied magnetic field. Ferroelectric materials often have very high dielectric constants, making them quite useful for capacitors.

References

- [1] Quote from Encyclopedia Britannica: "Dielectric, insulating material or a very poor conductor of electric current. When dielectrics are placed in an electric field, practically no current flows in them because, unlike metals, they have no loosely bound, or free, electrons that may drift through the material".
 - "Dielectrics (physics)" (http://www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic/162630/dielectric). *Britannica*. 2009. pp. 1. . Retrieved 2009-08-12.
- [2] Arthur R. von Hippel, in his seminal work, *Dielectric Materials and Applications*, stated: "*Dielectrics...* are not a narrow class of so-called insulators, but the broad expanse of *nonmetals* considered from the standpoint of their interaction with electric, magnetic, or electromagnetic fields. Thus we are concerned with gases as well as with liquids and solids, and with the storage of electric and magnetic energy as well as its dissipation." (Technology Press of MIT and John Wiley, NY, 1954).
- [3] J. Daintith (1994). Biographical Encyclopedia of Scientists. CRC Press. p. 943. ISBN 0750302879.
- [4] P. Debye (1913), Ver. Deut. Phys. Gesell. 15, 777; reprinted 1954 in collected papers of Peter J.W. Debye Interscience, New York
- [5] States7113388 United States patent 7113388 (http://worldwide.espacenet.com/textdoc?DB=EPODOC&IDX=United), Mussig & Hans-Joachim, "Semiconductor capacitor with praseodymium oxide as dielectric", published 2003-11-06, issued 2004-10-18, assigned to IHP GmbH- Innovations for High Performance Microelectronics/Institute Fur Innovative Mikroelektronik

Further reading

• Jackson, John David (August 10, 1998). *Classical Electrodynamics* (http://books.google.com/ books?id=U3LBQgAACAAJ&dq=Classical+Electrodynamics) (3 rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons. ISBN 9780471309321. 808 or 832 pages.

External links

- Electromagnetism (http://www.lightandmatter.com/html_books/0sn/ch11/ch11.html) A chapter from an online textbook
- Dielectric Sphere in an Electric Field (http://wiki.4hv.org/index.php/Dielectric_Sphere_in_Electric_Field)
- DoITPoMS Teaching and Learning Package "Dielectric Materials" (http://www.doitpoms.ac.uk/tlplib/ dielectrics/index.php)

Diamagnetic

Diamagnetism is the property of an object which causes it to create a magnetic field in opposition to an externally applied magnetic field, thus causing a repulsive effect. Specifically, an external magnetic field alters the orbital velocity of electrons around their nuclei, thus changing the magnetic dipole moment. According to Lenz's law, these electrons will oppose the magnetic field *changes* provided by the applied field, preventing them from building up. The result is that lines of magnetic flux curve away from the material. In most materials, diamagnetism is a weak effect, but under conditions of superconductivity, which only some materials may obtain, a strong quantum effect can emerge wherein the lines are completely blocked, excluding a very thin layer at the material's surface. Diamagnets are materials with a magnetic permeability less than μ_0 (a relative permeability less than 1).



History

In 1778, Sebald Justinus Brugmans was the first individual to

observe that bismuth and antimony were repelled by magnetic fields. However, the term *diamagnetism* was coined by Michael Faraday in September 1845, when he realized that all materials in nature possessed some form of diamagnetic response to an applied magnetic field.

Diamagnetic materials

Material	$\chi_v(10^{-5})$
Superconductor	-10 ⁵
Pyrolytic carbon	-40.0
Bismuth	-16.6
Mercury	-2.9
Silver	-2.6
Carbon (diamond)	-2.1
Lead	-1.8
Carbon (graphite)	-1.6
Copper	-1.0
Water	-0.91

Notable diamagnetic materials^[1]

Diamagnetism is a very general phenomenon, because all electrons, including the electrons of an atom, will always make a weak contribution to the material's response. However, for materials that show some other form of magnetism (such as ferromagnetism or paramagnetism), the diamagnetism is completely overpowered. Substances that mostly display diamagnetic behaviour are termed diamagnetic materials, or diamagnets. Materials that are said to be diamagnetic are those that are usually considered by non-physicists to be *non-magnetic*, and include water, wood, most organic compounds such as petroleum and some plastics, and many metals including copper, particularly the heavy ones with many core electrons, such as mercury, gold and bismuth. The magnetic susceptibility of various molecular fragments are called Pascal's constants.

Diamagnetic materials have a relative magnetic permeability that is less than or equal to 1, and therefore a magnetic susceptibility which is less than 0 since susceptibility is defined as $\chi_v = \mu_v - 1$. This means that diamagnetic materials are repelled by magnetic fields. However, since diamagnetism is such a weak property its effects are not observable in everyday life. For example, the magnetic susceptibility of diamagnets such as water is $\chi_v = -9.05 \times 10^{-6}$. The most strongly diamagnetic material is bismuth, $\chi_v = -1.66 \times 10^{-4}$, although pyrolytic carbon may have a susceptibility of $\chi_v = -4.00 \times 10^{-4}$ in one plane. Nevertheless, these values are orders of magnitudes smaller than the magnetism exhibited by paramagnets and ferromagnets. Note that because χ_v is derived from the ratio of the internal magnetic field to the applied field, it is a dimensionless value.

Superconductors may be considered to be perfect diamagnets ($\chi_v = -1$), since they expel all fields (except in a thin surface layer) due to the Meissner effect. However this effect is not due to eddy currents, as in ordinary diamagnetic materials (see the article on superconductivity).

Additionally, all conductors exhibit an effective diamagnetism when they experience a changing magnetic field. The Lorentz force on electrons causes them to circulate around forming eddy currents. The eddy currents then produce an induced magnetic field which opposes the applied field, resisting the conductor's motion.



A superconductor acts as an essentially perfect diamagnetic material when placed in a magnetic field and it excludes the field, and the flux lines avoid the region

Demonstrations of diamagnetism

Curving water surfaces

If a powerful magnet (such as a supermagnet) is covered with a layer of water (that is thin compared to the diameter of the magnet) then the field of the magnet significantly repels the water. This causes a slight dimple in the water's surface that may be seen by its reflection.^{[2] [3]}

Diamagnetic levitation



Diamagnets may be levitated in stable equilibrium in a magnetic field, with no power consumption. Earnshaw's theorem seems to preclude the possibility of static magnetic levitation. However, Earnshaw's theorem only applies to objects with positive moments, such as ferromagnets (which have a permanent positive moment) and paramagnets (which induce a positive moment). These are attracted to field maxima, which do not exist in free space. Diamagnets (which induce a negative moment) are attracted to field minima, and there can be a field minimum in free space.

A thin slice of pyrolytic graphite, which is an unusually strong diamagnetic material, can be stably floated in a magnetic field, such as that from rare earth permanent magnets. This can be done with all components at room temperature, making a visually effective demonstration of diamagnetism.

The Radboud University Nijmegen, the Netherlands, has conducted experiments where water and other substances were

successfully levitated. Most spectacularly, a live frog (see figure) was levitated.^[5]

In September 2009, NASA's Jet Propulsion Laboratory in Pasadena, California announced they had successfully levitated mice using a superconducting magnet,^[6] an important step forward since mice are closer biologically to humans than frogs.^[7] They hope to perform experiments regarding the effects of microgravity on bone and muscle mass.

Recent experiments studying the growth of protein crystals has led to a technique using powerful magnets to allow growth in ways that counteract Earth's gravity.^[8]

A simple homemade device for demonstration can be constructed out of bismuth plates and a few permanent magnets that will levitate a permanent magnet.^[9]

Theory of diamagnetism

The Bohr–van Leeuwen theorem proves that there cannot be any diamagnetism or paramagnetism in a purely classical system. Yet the classical theory for Langevin diamagnetism gives the same prediction as the quantum theory.^[10] The classical theory is given below.

Langevin diamagnetism

The Langevin theory of diamagnetism applies to materials containing atoms with closed shells (see dielectrics). A field with intensity *B*, applied to an electron with charge *e* and mass *m*, gives rise to Larmor precession with frequency $\omega = \frac{eB}{2m}$. The number of revolutions per unit time is $\frac{1}{2\pi}\omega$, so the current for an atom with *z* electrons is (in SI units)^[10]

$$I = -\frac{Ze^2B}{4\pi m}.$$

The magnetic moment of a current loop is equal to the current times the area of the loop. Suppose the field is aligned with the *z* axis. The average loop area can be given as $\pi \langle \rho^2 \rangle$, where $\langle \rho^2 \rangle$ is the mean square distance of the electrons perpendicular to the *z* axis. The magnetic moment is therefore

$$\mu = -\frac{Ze^2B}{4m} \langle \rho^2 \rangle.$$

If the distribution of charge is spherically symmetric, we can suppose that the distribution of x, y, z coordinates are independent and identically distributed. Then $\langle x^2 \rangle = \langle y^2 \rangle = \langle z^2 \rangle = \frac{1}{3} \langle r^2 \rangle$, where $\langle r^2 \rangle$ is the mean square distance of the electrons from the nucleus. Therefore $\langle \rho^2 \rangle = \langle x^2 \rangle + \langle y^2 \rangle = \frac{2}{3} \langle r^2 \rangle$. If N is the number of atoms per unit volume, the diamagnetic susceptibility is

$$\chi = rac{\mu_0 N \mu}{B} = -rac{\mu_0 N Z e^2}{6m} \langle r^2
angle$$

Diamagnetism in metals

The Langevin theory does not apply to metals because they have non-localized electrons. The theory for the diamagnetism of a free electron gas is called Landau diamagnetism, and instead considers the weak counter-acting field that forms when their trajectories are curved due to the Lorentz force. Landau diamagnetism, however, should be contrasted with Pauli paramagnetism, an effect associated with the polarization of delocalized electrons' spins.^[11]

References

- [1] Nave, Carl L.. "Magnetic Properties of Solids" (http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/Hbase/tables/magprop.html). Hyper Physics.
- [2] Beatty, Bill (2005). "Neodymium supermagnets: Some demonstrations—Diamagnetic water" (http://amasci.com/amateur/neodymium. html#water). *Science Hobbyist*. . Retrieved September 2011.
- [3] Quit007 (2011). "Magnetic Force" (http://quit007.deviantart.com/gallery/23787987#/d2e4dmz). DeviantART. . Retrieved September 2011.
- [4] "The Frog That Learned to Fly" (http://www.ru.nl/hfml/research/levitation/diamagnetic/). *High Field Laboratory*. Radboud University Nijmegen. 2011. . Retrieved September 2011.
- [5] "The Real Levitation" (http://www.ru.nl/hfml/research/levitation/diamagnetic/). *High Field Laboratory*. Radboud University Nijmegen. 2011. . Retrieved September 2011.
- [6] Liu, Yuanming; Zhu, Da-Ming; Strayer, Donald M.; Israelsson, Ulf E. (2010). "Magnetic levitation of large water droplets and mice". Advances in Space Research 45 (1): 208–213. Bibcode 2010AdSpR..45..208L. doi:10.1016/j.asr.2009.08.033.
- [7] Choi, Charles Q. (09-09-2009). "Mice levitated in lab" (http://www.livescience.com/animals/090909-mouse-levitation.html). *Live Science*. Retrieved September 2011.
- [8] Kleiner, Kurt (08-10-2007). "Magnetic gravity trick grows perfect crystals" (http://www.newscientist.com/article/ dn12467-magnetic-gravity-trick-grows-perfect-crystals.html). New Scientist. . Retrieved September 2011.
- [9] "Fun with diamagnetic levitation" (http://web.archive.org/web/20080212011654/http://www.fieldlines.com/other/diamag1.html). ForceField. 02-12-2008. . Retrieved September 2011.
- [10] Kittel, Charles (1986). Introduction to Solid State Physics (6th ed.). John Wiley & Sons. pp. 299-302. ISBN 0-471-87474-4.
- [11] Chang, M. C.. "Diamagnetism and paramagnetism" (http://phy.ntnu.edu.tw/~changmc/Teach/SS/SS_note/chap11.pdf). NTNU lecture notes. . Retrieved 2011-02-24.

External links

- Video of a museum-style magnetic elevation train model which makes use of diamagnetism (http://www. youtube.com/watch?v=8tFsrGRwOOM)
- Videos of frogs and other diamagnets levitated in a strong magnetic field (http://www.ru.nl/hfml/research/ levitation/diamagnetic/)
- Video of levitating pyrolytic graphite (http://www.grand-illusions.com/images/articles/toyshop/ diamagnetic_levitation_2/diamagnetic_levitation_2.wmv)
- Video of Meissner-Ochsenfeld effect involving liquid nitrogen (http://www.science.tv/watch/ e257e44aa9d5bade97ba/liquid-nitrogen-and-superconductor)
- Video of a piece of neodymium magnet levitating between blocks of bismuth. (http://netti.nic.fi/~054028/ images/LevitorMK1.0-1.mpg)
 - Website about this device, with images (in Finnish). (http://netti.nic.fi/~054028/)

Electromagnetic induction

Electromagnetic induction is the production of an electric current across a conductor moving through a magnetic field. It underlies the operation of generators, transformers, induction motors, electric motors, synchronous motors, and solenoids.

Michael Faraday is generally credited with the discovery of induction in 1831 though it may have been anticipated by the work of Francesco Zantedeschi in 1829. Around 1830^[1] to 1832^[2] Joseph Henry made a similar discovery, but did not publish his findings until later.

Overview

Michael Faraday stated that electromotive force (EMF) produced around a closed path is proportional to the rate of change of the magnetic flux through any surface bounded by that path. In practice, this means that an electric current will be induced in any closed circuit when the magnetic flux through a surface bounded by the conductor changes. This applies whether the field itself changes in strength or the conductor is moved through it.

In mathematical form, Faraday's law states that:

$${\cal E}=-rac{d\Phi_B}{dt}$$

where

 $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}$ is the electromotive force

 $\Phi_{\rm B}$ is the magnetic flux.

For the special case of a coil of wire, composed of N loops with the same area, the equation becomes

$${\cal E}=-Nrac{d\Phi_B}{dt}$$

A corollary of Faraday's Law, together with Ampère's law and Ohm's law is Lenz's law: The EMF induced in an electric circuit always acts in such a direction that the current it drives around the circuit opposes the change in magnetic flux which produces the EMF.^[3]

Applications

The principles of electromagnetic induction are applied in many devices and systems, including:

- Current clamp
- Electrical generators
- Electromagnetic forming
- Graphics tablet
- Hall effect meters
- Induction cookers
- Induction motors
- Induction sealing
- Induction welding
- Inductors
- Magnetic flow meters
- Mechanically powered flashlight
- Pickups
- Rowland ring
- Transcranial magnetic stimulation
- Transformers
- Wireless energy transfer

References

- [1] "Magnets" (http://library.thinkquest.org/13526/c3c.htm). ThinkQuest. . Retrieved 2009-11-06.
- [2] "Joseph Henry" (http://www.nndb.com/people/671/000096383/). Notable Names Database. . Retrieved 2009-11-06.
- Brauer, John R. (2006). Magnetic actuators and sensors (http://books.google.com/books?id=Wwk1EeZubdUC). John Wiley and Sons.
 p. 20. ISBN 0-471-73169-2. , Extract of page 20 (http://books.google.com/books?id=Wwk1EeZubdUC&pg=PA20)

External links

- A free java simulation on motional EMF (http://www.phy.hk/wiki/englishhtm/Induction.htm)
- Two videos demonstrating Faraday's and Lenz's laws at EduMation (http://msdaif.googlepages.com/physics)
- European Commission (http://ec.europa.eu/CEmarking): Blue Guide (http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/ policies/single-market-goods/files/blue-guide/guidepublic_en.pdf)

Electromagnetic radiation

Electromagnetic radiation (often abbreviated **E-M radiation** or **EMR**) is a form of energy that exhibits wave-like behavior as it travels through space. EMR has both electric and magnetic field components, which oscillate in phase perpendicular to each other and perpendicular to the direction of energy propagation.

Electromagnetic radiation is classified according to the frequency of its wave. The electromagnetic spectrum, in order of increasing frequency and decreasing wavelength, consists of radio waves, microwaves, infrared radiation, visible light, ultraviolet radiation, X-rays and gamma rays. The eyes of various organisms sense a small and somewhat variable window of frequencies called the visible spectrum. The photon is the quantum of the electromagnetic interaction and the basic "unit" of light and all other forms of electromagnetic radiation and is also the force carrier for the electromagnetic force.

Electromagnetic radiation carries energy - sometimes called radiant energy - and momentum that may be imparted to matter with which it interacts, through absorption of electromagnetic radiation.

Physics

Theory

James Clerk Maxwell first formally postulated *electromagnetic waves*. These were subsequently confirmed by Heinrich Hertz. Maxwell derived a wave form of the electric and magnetic equations, thus uncovering the wave-like nature of electric and magnetic fields, and their symmetry. Because the speed of EM waves predicted by the wave equation coincided with the measured speed of light, Maxwell concluded that light itself is an EM wave.

According to Maxwell's equations, a spatially varying electric field causes the magnetic field to change over time. Likewise, a spatially varying magnetic field causes changes over time in the electric field. In an electromagnetic wave, the changes induced by the electric field shift the wave in the magnetic field in one direction; the action of the magnetic field shifts the electric field in the same direction. Together, these fields form a propagating electromagnetic wave. This view of propagating electromagnetic waves makes sense from a *local*



perspective,^[1] but note that some prefer instead to look into the past for the source charge(s) that were the *original* cause of the wave.^[2]

A quantum theory of the interaction between electromagnetic radiation and matter such as electrons is described by the theory of quantum electrodynamics.

Properties

The physics of electromagnetic radiation is electrodynamics. Electromagnetism is the physical phenomenon associated with the theory of electrodynamics. Electric and magnetic fields obey the properties of superposition. Thus, a field due to any particular particle or time-varying electric or magnetic field contributes to the fields present in the same space due to other causes. Further, as they are vector fields, all magnetic and electric field vectors add together according to vector addition. For example, in optics two or more coherent lightwaves may interact and by constructive or destructive interference yield a resultant irradiance deviating from the sum of the component irradiances of the individual lightwaves.

Since light is an oscillation it is not affected by travelling through static electric or magnetic fields in a linear medium such as a vacuum. However in nonlinear media, such as some crystals, interactions can occur between light and static electric and magnetic fields — these interactions include the Faraday effect and the Kerr effect.

In refraction, a wave crossing from one medium to another of different density alters its speed and direction upon entering the new medium. The ratio of the refractive indices of the media determines the degree of refraction, and is summarized by Snell's law. Light of composite wavelengths (natural sunlight) disperses into a visible spectrum passing through a prism, because of the wavelength dependent refractive index of the prism material (dispersion); that is, each component wave within the composite light is bent a different amount.





Electromagnetic waves can be imagined as a self-propagating transverse oscillating wave of electric and magnetic fields. This 3D diagram shows a plane linearly polarized wave propagating from left to right





Electromagnetic waves can be imagined as a self-propagating transverse oscillating wave of electric and magnetic fields. This diagram shows a plane linearly polarized wave propagating from left to right. The electric field is in a vertical plane and the magnetic field in a horizontal plane.

EM radiation exhibits both wave properties and particle properties at the same time (see wave-particle duality). Both wave and particle characteristics have been confirmed in a large number of experiments. Wave characteristics are more apparent when EM radiation is measured over relatively large timescales and over large distances while particle characteristics are more

evident when measuring small timescales and distances. For example, when electromagnetic radiation is absorbed by matter, particle-like properties will be more obvious when the average number of photons in the cube of the relevant wavelength is much smaller than 1. Upon absorption of light, it is not too difficult to experimentally observe non-uniform deposition of energy. However, this alone is not evidence of "particulate" behavior of light. Rather, it reflects the quantum nature of *matter*.^[3]

There are experiments in which the wave and particle natures of electromagnetic waves appear in the same experiment, such as the self-interference of a single photon. *True* single-photon experiments (in a quantum optical sense) can be done today in undergraduate-level labs.^[4] When a single photon is sent through an interferometer, it passes through both paths, interfering with itself, as waves do, yet is detected by a photomultiplier or other sensitive detector only once.

Wave model

Electromagnetic radiation is a transverse wave meaning that the oscillations of the waves are perpendicular to the direction of energy transfer and travel. An important aspect of the nature of light is frequency. The frequency of a wave is its rate of oscillation and is measured in hertz, the SI unit of frequency, where one hertz is equal to one oscillation per second. Light usually has a spectrum of frequencies that sum to form the resultant wave. Different frequencies undergo different angles of refraction.

A wave consists of successive troughs and crests, and the distance between two adjacent crests or troughs is called the wavelength. Waves of the electromagnetic spectrum vary in size, from very long radio waves the size of buildings to very short gamma rays smaller than atom nuclei. Frequency is inversely proportional to wavelength, according to the equation:

$$v = f\lambda$$

where v is the speed of the wave (*c* in a vacuum, or less in other media), *f* is the frequency and λ is the wavelength. As waves cross boundaries between different media, their speeds change but their frequencies remain constant.

Interference is the superposition of two or more waves resulting in a new wave pattern. If the fields have components in the same direction, they constructively interfere, while opposite directions cause destructive interference.

The energy in electromagnetic waves is sometimes called radiant energy.

Particle model

Because energy of an electromagnetic wave is quantized (see second quantization), electromagnetic energy is emitted and absorbed as discrete packets of energy, or quanta, called photons. The energy of the photons is proportional to the frequency of the wave.^[5] On the converse, in a first-quantized treatment, because a photon acts as a transporter of energy, it is associated with a probability wave with frequency proportional to the energy carried. In both treatments, the energy per photon is related to the frequency via the Planck–Einstein equation:^[6]

$$E = hf$$

where *E* is the energy, *h* is Planck's constant, and *f* is frequency. The energy is commonly expressed in the unit of electronvolt (eV). This photon-energy expression is a particular case of the energy levels of the more general *electromagnetic oscillator*, whose average energy, which is used to obtain Planck's radiation law, can be shown to differ sharply from that predicted by the equipartition principle at low temperature, thereby establishes a failure of equipartition due to quantum effects at low temperature.^[7]

As a photon is absorbed by an atom, it excites the atom, elevating an electron to a higher energy level. If the energy is great enough, so that the electron jumps to a high enough energy level, it may escape the positive pull of the nucleus and be liberated from the atom in a process called photoionisation. However, an electron that descends to a lower energy level in an atom emits a photon of light equal to the energy difference. Since the energy levels of electrons in atoms are discrete, each element emits and absorbs its own characteristic frequencies.

Together, these effects explain the emission and absorption spectra of light. The dark bands in the absorption spectrum are due to the atoms in the intervening medium absorbing different frequencies of the light. The composition of the medium through which the light travels determines the nature of the absorption spectrum. For instance, dark bands in the light emitted by a distant star are due to the atoms in the star's atmosphere. These bands correspond to the allowed energy levels in the atoms. A similar phenomenon occurs for emission. As the electrons descend to lower energy levels, a spectrum is emitted that represents the jumps between the energy levels of the electrons. This is manifested in the emission spectrum of nebulae. Today, scientists use this phenomenon to observe what elements a certain star is composed of. It is also used in the determination of the distance of a star, using the red shift.

Speed of propagation

Any electric charge that accelerates, or any changing magnetic field, produces electromagnetic radiation. Electromagnetic information about the charge travels at the speed of light. Accurate treatment thus incorporates a concept known as retarded time (as opposed to advanced time, which is not physically possible in light of causality), which adds to the expressions for the electrodynamic electric field and magnetic field. These extra terms are responsible for electromagnetic radiation. When any wire (or other conducting object such as an antenna) conducts alternating current, electromagnetic radiation is propagated at the same frequency as the electric current. At the quantum level, electromagnetic radiation is produced when the wavepacket of a charged particle oscillates or otherwise accelerates. Charged particles in a stationary state do not move, but a superposition of such states may result in oscillation, which is responsible for the phenomenon of radiative transition between quantum states of a charged particle.

Depending on the circumstances, electromagnetic radiation may behave as a wave or as particles. As a wave, it is characterized by a velocity (the speed of light), wavelength, and frequency. When considered as particles, they are known as photons, and each has an energy related to the frequency of the wave given by Planck's relation E = hv, where *E* is the energy of the photon, $h = 6.626 \times 10^{-34}$ J·s is Planck's constant, and *v* is the frequency of the wave.

One rule is always obeyed regardless of the circumstances: EM radiation in a vacuum always travels at the speed of light, *relative to the observer*, regardless of the observer's velocity. (This observation led to Albert Einstein's development of the theory of special relativity.)

In a medium (other than vacuum), velocity factor or refractive index are considered, depending on frequency and application. Both of these are ratios of the speed in a medium to speed in a vacuum.

Thermal radiation and electromagnetic radiation as a form of heat

The basic structure of matter involves charged particles bound together in many different ways. When electromagnetic radiation is incident on matter, it causes the charged particles to oscillate and gain energy. The ultimate fate of this energy depends on the situation. It could be immediately re-radiated and appear as scattered, reflected, or transmitted radiation. It may also get dissipated into other microscopic motions within the matter, coming to thermal equilibrium and manifesting itself as thermal energy in the material. With a few exceptions such as fluorescence, harmonic generation, photochemical reactions and the photovoltaic effect, absorbed electromagnetic radiation. Intense radio waves can thermally burn living tissue and can cook food. In addition to infrared lasers, sufficiently intense visible and ultraviolet lasers can also easily set paper afire. Ionizing electromagnetic radiation can create high-speed electrons in a material and break chemical bonds, but after these electrons collide many times with other atoms in the material eventually most of the energy gets downgraded to thermal energy, this whole process happening in a tiny fraction of a second. That infrared radiation is a form of heat and other electromagnetic radiation is not, is a widespread misconception in physics. *Any* electromagnetic radiation can heat a material when it is absorbed.

The inverse or time-reversed process of absorption is responsible for thermal radiation. Much of the thermal energy in matter consists of random motion of charged particles, and this energy can be radiated away from the matter. The resulting radiation may subsequently be absorbed by another piece of matter, with the deposited energy heating the material. Radiation is an important mechanism of heat transfer.

The electromagnetic radiation in an opaque cavity at thermal equilibrium is effectively a form of thermal energy, having maximum radiation entropy. The thermodynamic potentials of electromagnetic radiation can be well-defined as for matter. Thermal radiation in a cavity has energy density (see Planck's Law) of

$$\frac{U}{V} = \frac{8\pi^5 (kT)^4}{15(hc)^3},$$

Differentiating the above with respect to temperature, we may say that the electromagnetic radiation field has an effective volumetric heat capacity given by

$$\frac{32\pi^5 k^4 T^3}{15(hc)^3}$$

Electromagnetic spectrum

In general, EM radiation (the designation 'radiation' excludes static electric and magnetic and near fields) is classified by wavelength into radio, microwave, infrared, the visible region we perceive as light, ultraviolet, X-rays, and gamma rays. Arbitrary electromagnetic waves can always be expressed by Fourier analysis in terms of sinusoidal monochromatic waves, which can be classified into these regions of the spectrum.



The behavior of EM radiation depends on its wavelength. Higher frequencies have shorter wavelengths, and lower frequencies have longer wavelengths. When EM radiation interacts with single atoms and molecules, its behavior depends on the amount of energy per quantum it carries. Spectroscopy can detect a much wider region of the EM spectrum than the visible range of 400 nm to 700 nm. A common laboratory spectroscope can detect wavelengths from 2 nm to 2500 nm. Detailed information about the physical properties of objects, gases, or even stars can be obtained from this type of device. It is widely used in astrophysics. For example, hydrogen atoms emit radio waves of wavelength 21.12 cm.

Soundwaves are not electromagnetic radiation. At the lower end of the electromagnetic spectrum, about 20 Hz to about 20 kHz, are frequencies that might be considered in the audio range. However, electromagnetic waves cannot be directly perceived by human ears. Sound waves are the oscillating compression of molecules. To be heard, electromagnetic radiation must be converted to air pressure waves, or if the ear is submerged, water pressure waves.

Light

EM radiation with a wavelength between approximately 400 nm and 700 nm is directly detected by the human eye and perceived as visible light. Other wavelengths, especially nearby infrared (longer than 700 nm) and ultraviolet (shorter than 400 nm) are also sometimes referred to as light, especially when visibility to humans is not relevant.

If radiation having a frequency in the visible region of the EM

spectrum reflects off of an object, say, a bowl of fruit, and then strikes our eyes, this results in our visual perception of the scene. Our brain's visual system processes the multitude of reflected frequencies into different shades and hues, and through this not-entirely-understood psychophysical phenomenon, most people perceive a bowl of fruit.

At most wavelengths, however, the information carried by electromagnetic radiation is not directly detected by human senses. Natural sources produce EM radiation across the spectrum, and our technology can also manipulate a broad range of wavelengths. Optical fiber transmits light, which, although not suitable for direct viewing, can carry data that can be translated into sound or an image. To be meaningful both transmitter and receiver must use some agreed-upon encoding system - especially so if the transmission is digital as opposed to the analog nature of the waves.

Radio waves

Radio waves can be made to carry information by varying the amplitude, frequency or phase.

When EM radiation impinges upon a conductor, it couples to the conductor, travels along it, and induces an electric current on the surface of that conductor by exciting the electrons of the conducting material. This effect (the skin effect) is used in antennas. EM radiation may also cause certain molecules to absorb energy and thus to heat up; this is exploited in microwave ovens. Radio waves are *not* ionizing radiation, as the energy per photon is too small.

CLASS	FREQUENCY	WVELENGTH	ENERGY
V	300 EHz	1 pm	1.24 MeV
	30 EHz	10 pm	124 keV
	3 EHz	100 pm	12.4 keV
SX —	300 PHz	1 nm	1.24 keV
	30 PHz	10 nm	124 eV
	3 PHz	100 nm	12.4 eV
	300 THz	1µm	1.24 eV
	30 THz	10 µm	124 meV
	3 THz	100 µm	12.4 meV
	300 GHz	1 mm	1.24 meV
EHF	30 GHz	1 cm	124 µeV
SHF	3 GHz	1 dm	12.4 µeV
	300 MHz	1 m	1.24 µeV
	30 MHz	10 m	124 neV
	3 MHz	100 m	12.4 neV
	300 kHz	1 km	1.24 neV
	30 kHz	10 km	124 peV
	3 kHz	100 km	12.4 peV
	300 Hz	1 Mm	1.24 peV
SLF	30 Hz	10 Mm	124 feV
ELF	3 Hz	100 Mm	12.4 feV



Derivation

Electromagnetic waves as a general phenomenon were predicted by the classical laws of electricity and magnetism, known as Maxwell's equations. Inspection of Maxwell's equations without sources (charges or currents) results in, along with the possibility of nothing happening, nontrivial solutions of changing electric and magnetic fields. Beginning with Maxwell's equations in free space:

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{E} = 0 \tag{1}$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} \tag{2}$$
$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B} = 0 \tag{3}$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \epsilon_0 \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} \tag{4}$$

where

 ∇ is a vector differential operator (see Del).

One solution,

$$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{B} = \mathbf{0}$$

is trivial.

For a more useful solution, we utilize vector identities, which work for any vector, as follows:

$$\nabla \times (\nabla \times \mathbf{A}) = \nabla (\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A}) - \nabla^2 \mathbf{A}$$

To see how we can use this, take the curl of equation (2):

$$\nabla \times (\nabla \times \mathbf{E}) = \nabla \times \left(-\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t}\right) \tag{5}$$

Evaluating the left hand side:

$$\nabla \times (\nabla \times \mathbf{E}) = \nabla (\nabla \cdot \mathbf{E}) - \nabla^2 \mathbf{E} = -\nabla^2 \mathbf{E}$$
(6)

where we simplified the above by using equation (1).

Evaluate the right hand side:

$$\nabla \times \left(-\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} \right) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(\nabla \times \mathbf{B} \right) = -\mu_0 \epsilon_0 \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^2} \tag{7}$$

Equations (6) and (7) are equal, so this results in a vector-valued differential equation for the electric field, namely

$$egin{aligned}
abla^2 \mathbf{E} = \mu_0 \epsilon_0 rac{\partial^2 \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^2} \end{aligned}$$

Applying a similar pattern results in similar differential equation for the magnetic field:

$$abla^2 \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \epsilon_0 rac{\partial^2 \mathbf{B}}{\partial t^2}.$$

These differential equations are equivalent to the wave equation:

$$\nabla^2 f = \frac{1}{{c_0}^2} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial t^2}$$

where

 c_0 is the speed of the wave in free space and

f describes a displacement

Or more simply:

$$\Box f = 0$$

where is d'Alembertian:

$$\Box = \nabla^2 - \frac{1}{c_0{}^2}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} - \frac{1}{c_0{}^2}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}$$

Notice that, in the case of the electric and magnetic fields, the speed is:

$$c_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mu_0 \epsilon_0}}$$

This is the speed of light in vacuum. Maxwell's equations have unified the vacuum permittivity ϵ_0 , the vacuum permeability μ_0 , and the speed of light itself, c_0 . Before this derivation it was not known that there was such a strong relationship between light and electricity and magnetism.

But these are only two equations and we started with four, so there is still more information pertaining to these waves hidden within Maxwell's equations. Let's consider a generic vector wave for the electric field.

$$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{E}_0 f\left(\hat{\mathbf{k}} \cdot \mathbf{x} - c_0 t\right)$$

Here, \mathbf{E}_0 is the constant amplitude, f is any second differentiable function, $\hat{\mathbf{k}}$ is a unit vector in the direction of propagation, and \mathbf{x} is a position vector. We observe that $f\left(\hat{\mathbf{k}}\cdot\mathbf{x}-c_0t\right)$ is a generic solution to the wave equation. In other words

$$abla^2 f\left(\hat{\mathbf{k}}\cdot\mathbf{x}-c_0t
ight)=rac{1}{c_0^2}rac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2}f\left(\hat{\mathbf{k}}\cdot\mathbf{x}-c_0t
ight),$$

for a generic wave traveling in the $\hat{\mathbf{k}}$ direction.

This form will satisfy the wave equation, but will it satisfy all of Maxwell's equations, and with what corresponding magnetic field?

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{E} = \hat{\mathbf{k}} \cdot \mathbf{E}_0 f'\left(\hat{\mathbf{k}} \cdot \mathbf{x} - c_0 t\right) = 0$$

$$\mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{k} = 0$$

The first of Maxwell's equations implies that electric field is orthogonal to the direction the wave propagates.

$$abla imes \mathbf{E} = \hat{\mathbf{k}} imes \mathbf{E}_0 f' \left(\hat{\mathbf{k}} \cdot \mathbf{x} - c_0 t
ight) = -rac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t}
onumber \ \mathbf{B} = rac{1}{c_0} \hat{\mathbf{k}} imes \mathbf{E}$$

The second of Maxwell's equations yields the magnetic field. The remaining equations will be satisfied by this choice of \mathbf{E}, \mathbf{B} .

Not only are the electric and magnetic field waves traveling at the speed of light but they have a special restricted orientation and proportional magnitudes, $E_0 = c_0 B_0$, which can be seen immediately from the Poynting vector. The electric field, magnetic field, and direction of wave propagation are all orthogonal, and the wave propagates in the same direction as $\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{B}$.

From the viewpoint of an electromagnetic wave traveling forward, the electric field might be oscillating up and down, while the magnetic field oscillates right and left; but this picture can be rotated with the electric field oscillating right and left and the magnetic field oscillating down and up. This is a different solution that is traveling in the same direction. This arbitrariness in the orientation with respect to propagation direction is known as polarization. On a quantum level, it is described as photon polarization. The direction of the polarization is defined as the direction of the electric field.

More general forms of the second-order wave equations given above are available, allowing for both non-vacuum propagation media and sources. A great many competing derivations exist, all with varying levels of approximation

and intended applications. One very general example is a form of the electric field equation,^[8] which was factorized into a pair of explicitly directional wave equations, and then efficiently reduced into a single uni-directional wave equation by means of a simple slow-evolution approximation.

References

- Kinsler, P. (2011). "How to be causal: time, spacetime, and spectra". *Eur. J. Phys.* 32: 1687. arXiv:1106.1792. doi:10.1088/0143-0807/32/6/022.
- [2] Jefimenko, O. (2004). "Presenting electromagnetic theory in accordance with the principle of causality". *Eur. J. Phys.* 25: 287. doi:10.1088/0143-0807/25/2/015.
- [3] (http://www.qo.phy.auckland.ac.nz/talks/photoelectric.pdf)
- [4] http://people.whitman.edu/~beckmk/QM/grangier/Thorn_ajp.pdf
- [5] Weinberg, S. (1995). The Quantum Theory of Fields. 1. Cambridge University Press. pp. 15–17. ISBN 0-521-55001-7.
- [6] Paul M. S. Monk (2004). Physical Chemistry (http://books.google.com/?id=LupAi35QjhoC&pg=PA435&dq="planck+einstein+equation"). John Wiley and Sons. p. 435. ISBN 9780471491804.
- [7] Vu-Quoc, L., Configuration integral (statistical mechanics) (http://clesm.mae.ufl.edu/wiki.pub/index.php/ Configuration_integral_(statistical_mechanics)), 2008.
- [8] Kinsler, P. (2010). "Optical pulse propagation with minimal approximations". *Phys. Rev. A* 81: 013819. arXiv:0810.5689. Bibcode 2010PhRvA..81a3819K. doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.81.013819.
- Hecht, Eugene (2001). Optics (4th ed.). Pearson Education. ISBN 0-8053-8566-5.
- Serway, Raymond A.; Jewett, John W. (2004). *Physics for Scientists and Engineers* (6th ed.). Brooks Cole. ISBN 0-534-40842-7.
- Tipler, Paul (2004). *Physics for Scientists and Engineers: Electricity, Magnetism, Light, and Elementary Modern Physics* (5th ed.). W. H. Freeman. ISBN 0-7167-0810-8.
- Reitz, John; Milford, Frederick; Christy, Robert (1992). *Foundations of Electromagnetic Theory* (4th ed.). Addison Wesley. ISBN 0-201-52624-7.
- Jackson, John David (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.
- Allen Taflove and Susan C. Hagness (2005). *Computational Electrodynamics: The Finite-Difference Time-Domain Method, 3rd ed.* Artech House Publishers. ISBN 1-58053-832-0.

External links

- Electromagnetism (http://www.lightandmatter.com/html_books/0sn/ch11/ch11.html) a chapter from an online textbook
- Electromagnetic Radiation (http://www.learnemc.com/tutorials/Radiation/EM_Radiation.html) an introduction for electrical engineers
- *Electromagnetic Waves from Maxwell's Equations* (http://www.physnet.org/modules/pdf_modules/m210. pdf) on Project PHYSNET (http://www.physnet.org).
- Radiation of atoms? e-m wave, Polarisation, ... (http://www.hydrogenlab.de/elektronium/HTML/ einleitung_hauptseite_uk.html)
- An Introduction to The Wigner Distribution in Geometric Optics (http://scripts.mit.edu/~raskar/lightfields/ index.php?title=An_Introduction_to_The_Wigner_Distribution_in_Geometric_Optics)
- The windows of the electromagnetic spectrum, on Astronoo (http://www.astronoo.com/articles/ electromagneticSpectrum-en.html)

Vacuum

In everyday usage, **vacuum** is a volume of space that is essentially empty of matter, such that its gaseous pressure is much less than atmospheric pressure.^[1] The word comes from the Latin term for "empty". A **perfect vacuum** would be one with no particles in it at all, which is impossible to achieve in practice. Physicists often discuss ideal test results that would occur in a perfect vacuum, which they simply call "vacuum" or "free space", and use the term **partial vacuum** to refer to an actual imperfect vacuum as one might have in a laboratory or in space. The Latin term **in vacuo** is also used to describe an object as being in what would otherwise be a vacuum.



The quality of a vacuum refers to how closely it approaches a perfect

vacuum. Other things equal, lower gas pressure means higher-quality vacuum. For example, a typical vacuum cleaner produces enough suction to reduce air pressure by around 20%.^[2] Much higher-quality vacuums are possible. Ultra-high vacuum chambers, common in chemistry, physics, and engineering, operate below one trillionth (10^{-12}) of atmospheric pressure (100 nPa), and can reach around 100 particles/cm³.^[3] Outer space is an even higher-quality vacuum, with the equivalent of just a few hydrogen atoms per cubic meter on average.^[4] However, even if every single atom and particle could be removed from a volume, it would still not be "empty" due to vacuum fluctuations, dark energy, and other phenomena in quantum physics. In modern Particle Physics, the vacuum is considered as the ground state of matter.

Vacuum has been a frequent topic of philosophical debate since ancient Greek times, but was not studied empirically until the 17th century. Evangelista Torricelli produced the first laboratory vacuum in 1643, and other experimental techniques were developed as a result of his theories of atmospheric pressure. A **torricellian vacuum** is created by filling with mercury a tall glass container closed at one end and then inverting the container into a bowl to contain the mercury.^[5]

Vacuum became a valuable industrial tool in the 20th century with the introduction of incandescent light bulbs and vacuum tubes, and a wide array of vacuum technology has since become available. The recent development of human spaceflight has raised interest in the impact of vacuum on human health, and on life forms in general.

Etymology

From Latin **vacuum** (*an empty space, void*) noun use of neuter of *vacuus* (*empty*) related to *vacare* (*be empty*).

"Vacuum" is one of the few words in the English language that contains two consecutive $'u's^{[6]}$.



A large vacuum chamber

Uses

Vacuum is useful in a variety of processes and devices. Its first widespread use was in the incandescent light bulb to protect the filament from chemical degradation. The chemical inertness produced by a vacuum is also useful for electron beam welding, cold welding, vacuum packing and vacuum frying. Ultra-high vacuum is used in the study of atomically clean substrates, as only a very good vacuum preserves atomic-scale clean surfaces for a reasonably long time (on the order of minutes to days). High to ultra-high vacuum removes the obstruction of air, allowing particle beams to deposit or remove materials without contamination. This is the principle behind chemical vapor deposition, physical vapor deposition, and dry etching which are essential to the fabrication of semiconductors and optical coatings, and to surface science. The reduction of convection provides the thermal insulation of thermos bottles. Deep vacuum lowers the boiling point of liquids and promotes low temperature outgassing which is used in freeze drying, adhesive preparation, distillation, metallurgy, and process purging. The electrical properties of vacuum make electron microscopes and vacuum tubes possible, including cathode ray tubes. The elimination of air friction is useful for flywheel energy storage and ultracentrifuges.



Vacuum driven machines

Vacuums are commonly used to produce suction, which has an even wider variety of applications. The Newcomen steam engine used vacuum instead of pressure to drive a piston. In the 19th century, vacuum was used for traction on Isambard Kingdom Brunel's experimental atmospheric railway. Vacuum brakes were once widely used on trains in the UK but, except on heritage railways, they have been replaced by air brakes.

Manifold vacuum can be used to drive accessories on automobiles. The best-known application is the vacuum servo, used to provide power assistance for the brakes. Obsolete applications include vacuum-driven windscreen wipers and fuel pumps.

Outer space



Outer space has very low density and pressure, and is the closest physical approximation of a perfect vacuum. It has effectively no friction, allowing stars, planets and moons to move freely along ideal gravitational trajectories. But no vacuum is truly perfect, not even in interstellar space, where there are still a few hydrogen atoms per cubic centimeter.^[4]

Stars, planets and moons keep their atmospheres by gravitational attraction, and as such, atmospheres have no clearly delineated boundary: the density of atmospheric gas simply decreases with distance from the object. The Earth's atmospheric pressure drops to about 3.2×10^{-2} Pa

at 100 kilometres (62 mi) of altitude,^[7] the Kármán line, which is a common definition of the boundary with outer space. Beyond this line, isotropic gas pressure rapidly becomes insignificant when compared to radiation pressure from the sun and the dynamic pressure of the solar wind, so the definition of pressure becomes difficult to interpret. The thermosphere in this range has large gradients of pressure, temperature and composition, and varies greatly due to space weather. Astrophysicists prefer to use number density to describe these environments, in units of particles per cubic centimetre.

But although it meets the definition of outer space, the atmospheric density within the first few hundred kilometers above the Kármán line is still sufficient to produce significant drag on satellites. Most artificial satellites operate in this region called low earth orbit and must fire their engines every few days to maintain orbit. The drag here is low enough that it could theoretically be overcome by radiation pressure on solar sails, a proposed propulsion system for interplanetary travel. Planets are too massive for their trajectories to be significantly affected by these forces, although their atmospheres are eroded by the solar winds.

All of the observable universe is filled with large numbers of photons, the so-called cosmic background radiation, and quite likely a correspondingly large number of neutrinos. The current temperature of this radiation is about 3 K, or -270 degrees Celsius or -454 degrees Fahrenheit.

Effects on humans and animals

Humans and animals exposed to vacuum will lose consciousness after a few seconds and die of hypoxia within minutes, but the symptoms are not nearly as graphic as commonly depicted in media and popular culture. The reduction in pressure lowers the temperature at which blood and other body fluids boil, but the elastic pressure of blood vessels ensures that this boiling point remains above the internal body temperature of 37°C.^[8] Although the blood will not boil, the formation of gas bubbles in bodily fluids at reduced pressures, known as ebullism, is still a concern. The steam may bloat the body to twice its normal size and slow circulation, but tissues are elastic and porous enough to prevent rupture.^[9] Swelling and ebullism can be restrained by containment in a flight suit. Shuttle astronauts wear a fitted elastic garment called the Crew Altitude Protection Suit (CAPS) which



Pump by Joseph Wright of Derby, 1768, depicts an experiment performed by Robert Boyle in 1660.

prevents ebullism at pressures as low as 2 kPa (15 Torr).^[10] Rapid boiling will cool the skin and create frost, particularly in the mouth, but this is not a significant hazard.

Animal experiments show that rapid and complete recovery is normal for exposures shorter than 90 seconds, while longer full-body exposures are fatal and resuscitation has never been successful.^[11] There is only a limited amount of data available from human accidents, but it is consistent with animal data. Limbs may be exposed for much longer if breathing is not impaired.^[12] Robert Boyle was the first to show in 1660 that vacuum is lethal to small animals.

During 1942, in one of a series of experiments on human subjects for the Luftwaffe, the Nazi regime experimented on prisoners in Dachau concentration camp by exposing them to low pressure.^[13]

Cold or oxygen-rich atmospheres can sustain life at pressures much lower than atmospheric, as long as the density of oxygen is similar to that of standard sea-level atmosphere. The colder air temperatures found at altitudes of up to 3 km generally compensate for the lower pressures there.^[12] Above this altitude, oxygen enrichment is necessary to prevent altitude sickness in humans that did not undergo prior acclimatization, and spacesuits are necessary to prevent ebullism above 19 km.^[12] Most spacesuits use only 20 kPa (150 Torr) of pure oxygen, just enough to sustain full consciousness. This pressure is high enough to prevent ebullism, but simple evaporation of blood can still cause decompression sickness and gas embolisms if not managed.

Rapid decompression can be much more dangerous than vacuum exposure itself. Even if the victim does not hold his or her breath, venting through the windpipe may be too slow to prevent the fatal rupture of the delicate alveoli of the lungs.^[12] Eardrums and sinuses may be ruptured by rapid decompression, soft tissues may bruise and seep blood, and the stress of shock will accelerate oxygen consumption leading to hypoxia.^[14] Injuries caused by rapid decompression are called barotrauma. A pressure drop of 13 kPa (100 Torr), which produces no symptoms if it is gradual, may be fatal if it occurs suddenly.^[12]

Some extremophile microrganisms, such as tardigrades, can survive vacuum for a period of days.

Historical interpretation

Historically, there has been much dispute over whether such a thing as a vacuum can exist. Ancient Greek philosophers did not like to admit the existence of a vacuum, asking themselves "how can 'nothing' be something?". Plato found the idea of a vacuum inconceivable. He believed that all physical things were instantiations of an abstract Platonic ideal, and he could not conceive of an "ideal" form of a vacuum. Similarly, Aristotle considered the creation of a vacuum impossible — nothing could not be something. Later Greek philosophers thought that a vacuum could exist outside the cosmos, but not within it. Hero of Alexandria was the first to challenge this belief in the first century AD, but his attempts to create an artificial vacuum failed.^[15]

In the Roman city of Pompeii, a dual-action suction pump was found, proving that the ancient Romans had access to this kind of technology. Used for raising water, this pump had two cylinders, alternately operated by a walking-beam pump. In the suction phase, a lower valve opened, permitting the entry of water into the cylinder, while an upper valve remained closed. When the piston went down, the lower valve closed and the upper one opened.^[16]

In the medieval Islamic world, the Muslim physicist and philosopher, Al-Farabi (Alpharabius, 872-950), conducted a small experiment concerning the existence of vacuum, in which he investigated handheld plungers in water.^[17] He concluded that air's volume can expand to fill available space, and he suggested that the concept of perfect vacuum was incoherent.^[18] However, the Muslim physicist Ibn al-Haytham (Alhazen, 965-1039) and the Mu'tazili theologians disagreed with Aristotle and Al-Farabi, and they supported the existence of a void. Using geometry, Ibn al-Haytham mathematically demonstrated that place (*al-makan*) is the imagined three-dimensional void between the inner surfaces of a containing body.^[19] Abū Rayhān al-Bīrūnī also states that "there is no observable evidence that rules out the possibility of vacuum".^[20] The suction pump was described in 1206 by the Muslim engineer and inventor, Al-Jazari. The suction pump later appeared in Europe from the 15th century.^[21] [22] [23]</sup> Taqi al-Din's six-cylinder 'Monobloc' pump, invented in 1551, could also create a partial vacuum.

In medieval Europe, the Catholic Church regarded the idea of a vacuum as against nature or even heretical; the absence of anything implied the absence of God, and harkened back to the void prior to the creation story in the Book of Genesis.^[24] Medieval thought experiments into the idea of a vacuum considered whether a vacuum was present, if only for an instant, between two flat plates when they were rapidly separated.^[24] There was much discussion of whether the air moved in quickly enough as the plates were separated, or, as Walter Burley postulated, whether a 'celestial agent' prevented the vacuum arising. The commonly held view that nature abhorred a vacuum was called horror vacui. Speculation that even God could not create a vacuum if he wanted to was shut down by the 1277 Paris condemnations of Bishop Etienne Tempier, which required there to be no restrictions on the powers of God, which led to the conclusion that God could create a vacuum if he so wished.^[25] René Descartes also argued against the existence of a vacuum, arguing along the following lines: "Space is identical with extension, but extension is connected with bodies; thus there is no space without bodies and hence no empty space (vacuum)." In spite of this, opposition to the idea of a vacuum existing in nature continued into the Scientific Revolution, with scholars such as Paolo Casati taking an anti-vacuist position. Jean Buridan reported in the 14th century that teams of ten horses could not pull open bellows when the port was sealed, apparently because of horror vacui.^[15]



Torricelli's mercury barometer produced one of the first sustained vacuums in a laboratory.

The belief in horror vacui was overthrown in the 17th century. Water pump designs had improved by then to the point that they produced measurable vacuums, but this was not immediately understood. What was known was that suction pumps could not pull water beyond a certain height: 18 Florentine yards according to a measurement taken around 1635. (The conversion to metres is uncertain, but it would be about 9 or 10 metres.) This limit was a concern to irrigation projects, mine drainage, and decorative water fountains planned by the Duke of Tuscany, so the Duke commissioned Galileo to investigate the problem. Galileo advertised the puzzle to other scientists, including Gasparo Berti who replicated it by building the first water barometer in



Rome in 1639.^[26] Berti's barometer produced a vacuum above the water column, but he could not explain it. The breakthrough was made by Evangelista Torricelli in 1643. Building upon Galileo's notes, he built the first mercury barometer and wrote a convincing argument that the space at the top was a vacuum. The height of the column was then limited to the maximum weight that atmospheric pressure could support. Some people believe that although Torricelli's experiment was crucial, it was Blaise Pascal's experiments that proved the top space really contained vacuum.

In 1654, Otto von Guericke invented the first vacuum pump^[27] and conducted his famous Magdeburg hemispheres experiment, showing that teams of horses could not separate two hemispheres from which the air had been (partially) evacuated. Robert Boyle improved Guericke's design and conducted experiments on the properties of vacuum. Robert Hooke also helped Boyle produce an air pump which helped to produce the vacuum. The study of vacuum then lapsed until 1850 when August Toepler invented the Toepler Pump. Then in 1855 Heinrich Geissler invented the mercury displacement pump and achieved a record vacuum of about 10 Pa (0.1 Torr). A number of electrical properties become observable at this vacuum level, and this renewed interest in vacuum. This, in turn, led to the development of the vacuum tube. Shortly after this Hermann Sprengel invented the Sprengel Pump in 1865.

While outer space has been likened to a vacuum, early theories of the nature of light relied upon the existence of an invisible, aetherial medium which would convey waves of light. (Isaac Newton relied on this idea to explain refraction and radiated heat).^[28] This evolved into the luminiferous aether of the 19th century, but the idea was known to have significant shortcomings - specifically, that if the Earth were moving through a material medium, the medium would have to be both extremely tenuous (because the Earth is not detectably slowed in its orbit), and extremely rigid (because vibrations propagate so rapidly). An 1891 article by William Crookes noted: "the [freeing of] occluded gases into the vacuum of space".^[29] Even up until 1912, astronomer Henry Pickering commented: "While the interstellar absorbing medium may be simply the ether, [it] is characteristic of a gas, and free gaseous molecules are certainly there".^[30]

In 1887, the Michelson-Morley experiment, using an interferometer to attempt to detect the change in the speed of light caused by the Earth moving with respect to the aether, was a famous null result. Many misinterpreted the results, which neither proved nor disproved the existence of the aether, as showing that there really was no static, pervasive medium throughout space and through which the Earth moved as though through a wind.^[31] ^[32] As a simplification, one can assume there no aether, and no such entity is required for the propagation of light. Besides the various particles which comprise cosmic radiation, there is a cosmic background of photonic radiation (electromagnetic radiation), including the cosmic microwave background (CMB), the thermal remnant of the Big Bang at about 2.7 K. However, none of these findings affect the outcome of the Michelson-Morley experiment to any significant degree.

Einstein argued that physical objects are not located in space, but rather have a spatial extent. Seen this way, the concept of empty space loses its meaning.^[33] Rather, space is an abstraction, based on the relationships between local objects. Nevertheless, the general theory of relativity admits a pervasive gravitational field, which, in Einstein's

words,^[34] may be regarded as an "aether", with properties varying from one location to another. One must take care, though, to not ascribe to it material properties such as velocity and so on.

In 1930, Paul Dirac proposed a model of vacuum as an infinite sea of particles possessing negative energy, called the Dirac sea. This theory helped refine the predictions of his earlier formulated Dirac equation, and successfully predicted the existence of the positron, discovered two years later in 1932. Despite this early success, the idea was soon abandoned in favour of the more elegant quantum field theory.

The development of quantum mechanics has complicated the modern interpretation of vacuum by requiring indeterminacy. Niels Bohr and Werner Heisenberg's uncertainty principle and Copenhagen interpretation, formulated in 1927, predict a fundamental uncertainty in the instantaneous measurability of the position and momentum of any particle, and which, not unlike the gravitational field, questions the emptiness of space between particles. In the late 20th century, this principle was understood to also predict a fundamental uncertainty in the number of particles in a region of space, leading to predictions of virtual particles arising spontaneously out of the void. In other words, there is a lower bound on the vacuum, dictated by the lowest possible energy state of the quantized fields in any region of space.

In electromagnetism

In classical electromagnetism, *free space* or *perfect vacuum* is a standard reference medium for electromagnetic effects.^{[35] [36]}

In the theory of classical electromagnetism, free space has the following properties:

- Electromagnetic radiation travels without obstructions, at the speed of light.
- The superposition principle is always exactly true.^[37] For example, the electric potential generated by two charges is the simple addition of the potentials generated by each charge in isolation. The value of the electric field at any point around these two charges is found by calculating the vector sum of the two electric fields from each of the charges acting alone.
- The permittivity and permeability are exactly ε_0 and μ_0 respectively (in SI units), or exactly 1 (in Gaussian units).
- The characteristic impedance (η) equals the impedance of free space $Z_0 \approx 376.73 \Omega$.

In quantum mechanics

In quantum mechanics and quantum field theory, the vacuum is defined as the state (i.e. solution to the equations of the theory) with the lowest possible energy (the ground state of the Hilbert space). This is a state with no matter particles (hence the name), and also no photons, no gravitons, etc. As described above, this state is impossible to achieve experimentally. (Even if every matter particle could somehow be removed from a volume, it would be impossible to eliminate all the blackbody photons.)

This hypothetical vacuum state often has interesting and complex properties. For example, it contains vacuum fluctuations (virtual particles that hop into and out of existence). It also, relatedly, has a finite energy, called vacuum energy. Vacuum fluctuations are an essential and ubiquitous part of quantum field theory. Some readily-apparent effects of vacuum fluctuations include the Casimir effect and Lamb shift.^[25]

There can be more than one possible vacuum state. The starting and ending of cosmological inflation is thought to have arisen from transitions between different vacuum states. For theories obtained by quantization of a classical theory, each stationary point of the energy in the configuration space gives rise to a single vacuum. String theory is believed to have a huge number of vacua - the so-called string theory landscape.

In the superfluid vacuum theory the physical vacuum is described as the quantum superfluid which is essentially non-relativistic whereas the Lorentz symmetry is an approximate emerging symmetry valid only for the small fluctuations of the superfluid background. An observer who resides inside such vacuum and is capable of creating and/or measuring the small fluctuations would observe them as relativistic objects - unless their energy and momentum are sufficiently high (as compared to the background ones) to make the Lorentz-breaking corrections detectable. It was shown that the relativistic gravity arises as the small-amplitude collective excitation mode whereas the relativistic elementary particles can be described by the particle-like modes in the low-momentum limit.

Pumping and ambient air pressure



Fluids cannot generally be pulled, so a vacuum cannot be created by suction. Suction can spread and dilute a vacuum by letting a higher pressure push fluids into it, but the vacuum has to be created first before suction can occur. The easiest way to create an artificial vacuum is to expand the volume of a container. For example, the diaphragm muscle expands the chest cavity, which causes the volume of the lungs to increase. This expansion reduces the pressure and creates a partial vacuum, which is soon filled by air pushed in by atmospheric pressure.

To continue evacuating a chamber indefinitely without requiring infinite growth, a compartment of the vacuum can be repeatedly closed off, exhausted, and expanded again. This is the principle behind positive displacement pumps, like the manual water pump for example. Inside the pump, a mechanism expands a small sealed cavity to create a vacuum. Because of the pressure differential, some fluid from the chamber (or the well, in our example) is pushed into the pump's small cavity. The pump's cavity is then sealed from the chamber, opened to the atmosphere, and squeezed back to a minute size.



The above explanation is merely a simple introduction to vacuum pumping, and is not representative of the entire range of pumps in use. Many variations of the positive displacement pump have been developed, and many other pump designs rely on fundamentally different principles. Momentum transfer pumps, which bear some similarities to dynamic pumps used at higher pressures, can achieve much higher quality vacuums than positive displacement pumps. Entrapment pumps can capture gases in a solid or absorbed state, often with no moving parts, no seals and no vibration. None of these pumps are universal; each type has important performance limitations. They all share a difficulty in pumping low molecular weight gases, especially hydrogen, helium, and neon.

The lowest pressure that can be attained in a system is also dependent on many things other than the nature of the pumps. Multiple pumps may be connected in series, called stages, to achieve higher vacuums. The choice of seals, chamber geometry, materials, and pump-down procedures will all have an impact. Collectively, these are called *vacuum technique*. And sometimes, the final pressure is not the only



A cutaway view of a turbomolecular pump, a momentum transfer pump used to achieve high vacuum

relevant characteristic. Pumping systems differ in oil contamination, vibration, preferential pumping of certain gases, pump-down speeds, intermittent duty cycle, reliability, or tolerance to high leakage rates.

In ultra high vacuum systems, some very "odd" leakage paths and outgassing sources must be considered. The water absorption of aluminium and palladium becomes an unacceptable source of outgassing, and even the adsorptivity of hard metals such as stainless steel or titanium must be considered. Some oils and greases will boil off in extreme vacuums. The permeability of the metallic chamber walls may have to be considered, and the grain direction of the metallic flanges should be parallel to the flange face.

The lowest pressures currently achievable in laboratory are about 10^{-13} torr (13 pPa).^[38] However, pressures as low as 5×10^{-17} Torr (6.7 fPa) have been indirectly measured in a 4 K cryogenic vacuum system.^[3] This corresponds to ≈ 100 particles/cm³.

Outgassing

Evaporation and sublimation into a vacuum is called outgassing. All materials, solid or liquid, have a small vapour pressure, and their outgassing becomes important when the vacuum pressure falls below this vapour pressure. In man-made systems, outgassing has the same effect as a leak and can limit the achievable vacuum. Outgassing products may condense on nearby colder surfaces, which can be troublesome if they obscure optical instruments or react with other materials. This is of great concern to space missions, where an obscured telescope or solar cell can ruin an expensive mission.

The most prevalent outgassing product in man-made vacuum systems is water absorbed by chamber materials. It can be reduced by desiccating or baking the chamber, and removing absorbent materials. Outgassed water can condense in the oil of rotary vane pumps and reduce their net speed drastically if gas ballasting is not used. High vacuum systems must be clean and free of organic matter to minimize outgassing.

Ultra-high vacuum systems are usually baked, preferably under vacuum, to temporarily raise the vapour pressure of all outgassing materials and boil them off. Once the bulk of the outgassing materials are boiled off and evacuated, the system may be cooled to lower vapour pressures and minimize residual outgassing during actual operation. Some systems are cooled well below room temperature by liquid nitrogen to shut down residual outgassing and simultaneously cryopump the system.

Quality

The quality of a vacuum is indicated by the amount of matter remaining in the system, so that a high quality vacuum is one with very little matter left in it. Vacuum is primarily measured by its absolute pressure, but a complete characterization requires further parameters, such as temperature and chemical composition. One of the most important parameters is the **mean free path** (MFP) of residual gases, which indicates the average distance that molecules will travel between collisions with each other. As the gas density decreases, the MFP increases, and when the MFP is longer than the chamber, pump, spacecraft, or other objects present, the continuum assumptions of fluid mechanics do not apply. This vacuum state is called *high vacuum*, and the study of fluid flows in this regime is called particle gas dynamics. The MFP of air at atmospheric pressure is very short, 70 nm, but at 100 mPa (~1×10⁻³ Torr) the MFP of room temperature air is roughly 100 mm, which is on the order of everyday objects such as vacuum tubes. The Crookes radiometer turns when the MFP is larger than the size of the vanes.

Vacuum quality is subdivided into ranges according to the technology required to achieve it or measure it. These ranges do not have universally agreed definitions, but a typical distribution is as follows:^{[39] [40]}
	pressure (Torr)	pressure (Pa)
Atmospheric pressure	760	101.3 kPa
Low vacuum	760 to 25	100 kPa to 3 kPa
Medium vacuum	25 to 1×10^{-3}	3 kPa to 100 mPa
High vacuum	1×10^{-3} to 1×10^{-9}	100 mPa to 100 nPa
Ultra high vacuum	1×10^{-9} to 1×10^{-12}	100 nPa to 100 pPa
Extremely high vacuum	<1×10 ⁻¹²	<100 pPa
Outer Space	1×10^{-6} to $< 3 \times 10^{-17}$	100 μPa to <3fPa
Perfect vacuum	0	0 Pa

- Atmospheric pressure is variable but standardized at 101.325 kPa (760 Torr)
- Low vacuum, also called *rough vacuum* or *coarse vacuum*, is vacuum that can be achieved or measured with rudimentary equipment such as a vacuum cleaner and a liquid column manometer.
- Medium vacuum is vacuum that can be achieved with a single pump, but the pressure is too low to measure with a liquid or mechanical manometer. It can be measured with a McLeod gauge, thermal gauge or a capacitive gauge.
- **High vacuum** is vacuum where the MFP of residual gases is longer than the size of the chamber or of the object under test. High vacuum usually requires multi-stage pumping and ion gauge measurement. Some texts differentiate between high vacuum and *very high vacuum*.
- Ultra high vacuum requires baking the chamber to remove trace gases, and other special procedures. British and German standards define ultra high vacuum as pressures below 10⁻⁶ Pa (10⁻⁸ Torr).^{[41] [42]}
- **Deep space** is generally much more empty than any artificial vacuum. It may or may not meet the definition of high vacuum above, depending on what region of space and astronomical bodies are being considered. For example, the MFP of interplanetary space is smaller than the size of the solar system, but larger than small planets and moons. As a result, solar winds exhibit continuum flow on the scale of the solar system, but must be considered as a bombardment of particles with respect to the Earth and Moon.
- **Perfect vacuum** is an ideal state of no particles at all. It cannot be achieved in a laboratory, although there may be small volumes which, for a brief moment, happen to have no particles of matter in them. Even if all particles of matter were removed, there would still be photons and gravitons, as well as dark energy, virtual particles, and other aspects of the quantum vacuum.
- **Hard vacuum** and **Soft vacuum** are terms that are defined with a dividing line defined differently by different sources, such as 5 psia,^[43] one Torr,^[44] or 0.1 Torr^[45] the common denominator being that a hard vacuum is a higher vacuum than a soft one.

Examples

	pressure (Pa)	pressure (Torr)	mean free path	molecules per cm ³
Vacuum cleaner	approximately 80 kPa	600	70 nm	10 ¹⁹
liquid ring vacuum pump	approximately 3.2 kPa	24	1.75 μm	10 ¹⁸
freeze drying	100 to 10 Pa	1 to 0.1	100 µm to 1 mm	10 ¹⁶ to 10 ¹⁵
rotary vane pump	100 Pa to 100 mPa	1 to 10^{-3}	100 µm to 10 cm	10^{16} to 10^{13}
Incandescent light bulb	10 to 1 Pa	0.1 to 0.01	1 mm to 1 cm	10^{15} to 10^{14}
Thermos bottle	1 to 0.01 Pa ^[1]	10^{-2} to 10^{-4}	1 cm to 1 m	10^{14} to 10^{12}
Earth thermosphere	1 Pa to 100 nPa	10^{-2} to 10^{-9}	1 cm to 100 km	10^{14} to 10^{7}
Vacuum tube	10 µPa to 10 nPa	10^{-7} to 10^{-10}	1 to 1,000 km	10^9 to 10^6
Cryopumped MBE chamber	100 nPa to 1 nPa	10^{-9} to 10^{-11}	100 to 10,000 km	10^7 to 10^5
Pressure on the Moon	approximately 1 nPa	10 ⁻¹¹	10,000 km	4×10 ^{5 [46]}
Interplanetary space				10 [1]
Interstellar space				1 [47]
Intergalactic space				10 ^{-6 [1]}

Measurement

Relative versus absolute measurement

Vacuum is measured in units of pressure, typically as a subtraction relative to ambient atmospheric pressure on Earth. But the amount of relative measurable vacuum varies with local conditions. On the surface of Jupiter, where ground level atmospheric pressure is much higher than on Earth, much higher relative vacuum readings would be possible. On the surface of the moon with almost no atmosphere, it would be extremely difficult to create a measurable vacuum relative to the local environment.

Similarly, much higher than normal relative vacuum readings are possible deep in the Earth's ocean. A submarine maintaining an internal pressure of 1 atmosphere submerged to a depth of 10 atmospheres (98 meters; a 9.8 meter column of seawater has the equivalent weight of 1 atm) is effectively a vacuum chamber keeping out the crushing exterior water pressures, though the 1 atm inside the submarine would not normally be considered a vacuum.

Therefore to properly understand the following discussions of vacuum measurement, it is important that the reader assumes the relative measurements are being done on Earth at sea level, at exactly 1 atmosphere of ambient atmospheric pressure.

Vacuum measurements relative to 1 atm

The SI unit of pressure is the pascal (symbol Pa), but vacuum is usually measured in torrs, named for Torricelli, an early Italian physicist (1608–1647). A torr is equal to the displacement of a millimeter of mercury (mmHg) in a manometer with 1 torr equaling 133.3223684 pascals above absolute zero pressure. Vacuum is often also measured using inches of mercury on the barometric scale or as a percentage of atmospheric pressure in bars or atmospheres. Low vacuum is often measured in inches of mercury (inHg), millimeters of mercury (mmHg) or kilopascals (kPa) below atmospheric pressure. "Below atmospheric" means that the absolute pressure is equal to the current atmospheric pressure (e.g. 29.92 inHg) minus the vacuum pressure in the same units. Thus a vacuum of 26 inHg is

equivalent to an absolute pressure of 4 inHg (29.92 inHg - 26 inHg).

In other words, most low vacuum gauges that read, for example, -28 inHg at full vacuum are actually reporting 2 inHg, or 50.79 Torr. Many inexpensive low vacuum gauges have a margin of error and may report a vacuum of -30 inHg, or 0 Torr but in practice this generally requires a two stage rotary vane or other medium type of vacuum pump to go much beyond (lower than) 25 torr.

Many devices are used to measure the pressure in a vacuum, depending on what range of vacuum is needed.^[48]

Hydrostatic gauges (such as the mercury column manometer) consist of a vertical column of liquid in a tube whose ends are exposed to different pressures. The column will rise or fall until its weight is in equilibrium with the pressure differential between the two ends of the tube. The simplest design is a closed-end U-shaped tube, one side of which is connected to the region of interest. Any fluid can be used, but mercury is preferred for its high density and low vapour pressure. Simple hydrostatic gauges can measure pressures ranging from 1 torr (100 Pa) to above atmospheric. An important variation is the McLeod gauge which isolates a known volume of vacuum and compresses it to multiply the height variation of the liquid column. The McLeod gauge can measure vacuums as high as 10^{-6} torr (0.1 mPa), which is the lowest direct measurement of pressure that is possible with current technology. Other vacuum gauges can measure lower pressures, but only indirectly by measurement of other pressure-controlled properties. These indirect measurements must be calibrated via a direct measurement, most commonly a McLeod gauge.^[49]



A glass McLeod gauge, drained of mercury

Mechanical or **elastic** gauges depend on a Bourdon tube, diaphragm, or capsule, usually made of metal, which will change shape in response to the pressure of the region in question. A variation on this idea is the **capacitance manometer**, in which the diaphragm makes up a part of a capacitor. A change in pressure leads to the flexure of the diaphragm, which results in a change in capacitance. These gauges are effective from 10^{+3} torr to 10^{-4} torr, and beyond.

Thermal conductivity gauges rely on the fact that the ability of a gas to conduct heat decreases with pressure. In this type of gauge, a wire filament is heated by running current through it. A thermocouple or Resistance Temperature Detector (RTD) can then be used to measure the temperature of the filament. This temperature is dependent on the rate at which the filament loses heat to the surrounding gas, and therefore on the thermal conductivity. A common variant is the Pirani gauge which uses a single platimum filament as both the heated element and RTD. These gauges are accurate from 10 torr to 10^{-3} torr, but they are sensitive to the chemical composition of the gases being measured.

Ion gauges are used in ultrahigh vacuum. They come in two types: hot cathode and cold cathode. In the hot cathode version an electrically heated filament produces an electron beam. The electrons travel through the gauge and ionize gas molecules around them. The resulting ions are collected at a negative electrode. The current depends on the number of ions, which depends on the pressure in the gauge. Hot cathode gauges are accurate from 10^{-3} torr to 10^{-10} torr. The principle behind cold cathode version is the same, except that electrons are produced in a discharge created by a high voltage electrical discharge. Cold cathode gauges are accurate from 10^{-2} torr to 10^{-9} torr. Ionization gauge calibration is very sensitive to construction geometry, chemical composition of gases being measured, corrosion and surface deposits. Their calibration can be invalidated by activation at atmospheric pressure or low vacuum. The composition of gases at high vacuums will usually be unpredictable, so a mass spectrometer

must be used in conjunction with the ionization gauge for accurate measurement.^[50]

Notes

- [1] Chambers, Austin (2004). Modern Vacuum Physics. Boca Raton: CRC Press. ISBN 0-8493-2438-6. OCLC 55000526.
- [2] Campbell, Jeff (2005). Speed cleaning (http://books.google.com/books?id=hqegeIz9dyQC&pg=PA97). p. 97. ISBN 1594862745. Note that 1 inch of water is ≈0.0025 atm.
- [3] Gabrielse, G., et. al. (1990). "Thousandfold Improvement in Measured Antiproton Mass". *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 65 (11): 1317–1320.
 Bibcode 1990PhRvL.65.1317G. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.65.1317. PMID 10042233.
- [4] Tadokoro, M. (1968). "A Study of the Local Group by Use of the Virial Theorem". *Publications of the Astronomical Society of Japan* **20**: 230. Bibcode 1968PASJ...20..230T. This source estimates a density of 7×10^{-29} g/cm³ for the Local Group. An atomic mass unit is 1.66×10^{-24} g, for roughly 40 atoms per cubic meter.
- [5] How to Make an Experimental Geissler Tube, Popular Science monthly, February 1919, Unnumbered page, Scanned by Google Books: http://books.google.com/books?id=7igDAAAAMBAJ&pg=PT3
- [6] "What words in the English language contain two u's in a row?" (http://oxforddictionaries.com/page/twousinarow), Oxford Dictionaries Online, , retrieved 2011-10-23
- [7] Squire, Tom (September 27, 2000), "U.S. Standard Atmosphere, 1976" (http://tpsx.arc.nasa.gov/cgi-perl/alt.pl), *Thermal Protection Systems Expert and Material Properties Database* (NASA), , retrieved 2011-10-23
- [8] "Human Exposure to Vacuum" (http://www.sff.net/people/Geoffrey.Landis/vacuum.html). . Retrieved 2006-03-25.
- [9] Billings, Charles E. (1973). "Barometric Pressure". In edited by James F. Parker and Vita R. West. *Bioastronautics Data Book* (Second ed.). NASA. NASA SP-3006.
- [10] Webb P. (1968). "The Space Activity Suit: An Elastic Leotard for Extravehicular Activity". Aerospace Medicine 39: 376–383. PMID 4872696.
- [11] Cooke JP, RW Bancroft (1966). "Some Cardiovascular Responses in Anesthetized Dogs During Repeated Decompressions to a Near-Vacuum". Aerospace Medicine 37: 1148–1152. PMID 5972265.
- [12] Harding, Richard M. (1989). Survival in Space: Medical Problems of Manned Spaceflight. London: Routledge. ISBN 0-415-00253-2.
 OCLC 18744945..
- [13] Höhentodversuche im KZ Dachau Seite 15-20 (http://www.iivs.de/~iivs8205/res/facharbeitenarchiv/G-Geidobler Carolin-Die Menschenversuche im KZ Dachau.pdf)
- [14] Czarnik, Tamarack R.. "EBULLISM AT 1 MILLION FEET: Surviving Rapid/Explosive Decompression" (http://www.sff.net/people/ Geoffrey.Landis/ebullism.html). Retrieved 2006-03-25.
- [15] Genz, Henning (1994). Nothingness, the Science of Empty Space (translated from German by Karin Heusch ed.). New York: Perseus Book Publishing (published 1999). ISBN 978-0-7382-0610-3. OCLC 48836264..
- [16] Institute and Museum of the History of Science. Pompeii: Nature, Science, and Technology in a Roman Town (http://www.imss.fi.it/ pompei/tecnica/epompa.html)
- [17] Zahoor, Akram (2000). Muslim History: 570-1950 C.E., Gaithersburg, MD: AZP (ZMD Corporation). ISBN 9780970238900.
- [18] Arabic and Islamic Natural Philosophy and Natural Science (http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/arabic-islamic-natural), Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy
- [19] El-Bizri, Nader (2007). "In Defence of the Sovereignty of Philosophy: Al-Baghdadi's Critique of Ibn al-Haytham's Geometrisation of Place". *Arabic Sciences and Philosophy* (Cambridge University Press) 17: 57–80. doi:10.1017/S0957423907000367.
- [20] Dallal, Ahmad (2001-2002). "The Interplay of Science and Theology in the Fourteenth-century Kalam" (http://humanities.uchicago.edu/ orgs/institute/sawyer/archive/islam/dallal.html). From Medieval to Modern in the Islamic World, Sawyer Seminar at the University of Chicago. . Retrieved 2008-02-02.
- [21] Donald Routledge Hill, "Mechanical Engineering in the Medieval Near East", *Scientific American*, May 1991, pp. 64-69 (cf. Donald Routledge Hill, Mechanical Engineering (http://home.swipnet.se/islam/articles/HistoryofSciences.htm))
- [22] Ahmad Y Hassan. "The Origin of the Suction Pump: Al-Jazari 1206 A.D." (http://www.history-science-technology.com/Notes/Notes 2. htm). Retrieved 2008-07-16.
- [23] Donald Routledge Hill (1996), A History of Engineering in Classical and Medieval Times, Routledge, pp. 143 & 150-2.
- [24] Edward Grant (1981). Much ado about nothing: theories of space and vacuum from the Middle Ages to the scientific revolution (http:// books.google.com/books?id=SidBQyFmgpsC). Cambridge University Press. ISBN 9780521229838.
- [25] Barrow, John D. (2000). The book of nothing : vacuums, voids, and the latest ideas about the origins of the universe (1st American ed.). New York: Pantheon Books. ISBN 0-09-928845-1. OCLC 46600561.
- [26] "The World's Largest Barometer" (http://www.denmark.com.au/en/Worlds+Largest+Barometer/default.htm). . Retrieved 2008-04-30.
- [27] Encyclopedia Britannica:Otto von Guericke
- [28] R. H. Patterson, Ess. Hist. & Art 10 1862
- [29] William Crookes, The Chemical News and Journal of Industrial Science; with which is Incorporated the "Chemical Gazette." (1932)
- [30] Pickering, W. H. (1912). "Solar system, the motion of the, relatively to the intersteller absorbing medium". *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society* 72: 740. Bibcode 1912MNRAS..72..740P.
- [31] Michelson-Morley: Detecting The Ether Wind Experiment (http://www.juliantrubin.com/bigten/michelsonmorley.html)

- [32] Michelson-Morley Interometer Results (http://www.glafreniere.com/sa_Michelson.htm)
- [33] French Wikipedia article on Vacuum, citing appendix 5 of *Relativity the Special and General Theory*, translated to French by Robert Lawson, 1961. (Please replace this with a more direct reference.)
- [34] Einstein, A., Naturwissenschaften 6, 697-702 (1918)
- [35] Werner S. Weiglhofer and Akhlesh Lakhtakia (2003). "§ 4.1 The classical vacuum as reference medium" (http://books.google.com/?id=QtIP_Lr3gngC&pg=PA34). Introduction to complex mediums for optics and electromagnetics. SPIE Press. pp. 28, 34, 65. ISBN 9780819449474.
- [36] Tom G. MacKay (2008). "Electromagnetic Fields in Linear Bianisotropic Mediums" (http://books.google.com/ books?id=lCm9Q18P8cMC&pg=PA143). In Emil Wolf. Progress in Optics, Volume 51. Elsevier. p. 143. ISBN 9780444520388.
- [37] Chattopadhyay, D. and Rakshit, P.C. (2004). *Elements of Physics: vol. 1* (http://books.google.com/books?id=tvkoopJMQQ8C&pg=PA577). New Age International. p. 577. ISBN 8122415385.
- [38] Ishimaru, H (1989). "Ultimate Pressure of the Order of 10⁻¹³ torr in an Aluminum Alloy Vacuum Chamber". J. Vac. Sci. Technol. 7 (3-II): 2439–2442. doi:10.1116/1.575916.
- [39] American Vacuum Society. "Glossary" (http://www.aip.org/avsguide/refguide/glossary.html). AVS Reference Guide. . Retrieved 2006-03-15.
- [40] National Physical Laboratory, UK. "FAQ on Pressure and Vacuum" (http://www.npl.co.uk/pressure/faqs/vacuum.html). Retrieved 2006-03-25.
- [41] BS 2951: Glossary of Terms Used in Vacuum Technology. Part I. Terms of General Application. British Standards Institution, London, 1969.
- [42] DIN 28400: Vakuumtechnik Bennenungen und Definitionen, 1972.
- [43] "Vacuum Measurements" (http://www.setra.com/tra/app/app_vac.htm). Pressure Measurement Division. Setra Systems, Inc. 1998. . Retrieved 2010-04-08.
- [44] "A look at vacuum pumps 14-9" (http://www.mcnallyinstitute.com/14-html/14-09.htm). *eMedicine*. McNally Institute. . Retrieved 2010-04-08.
- [45] "1500 Torr Diaphragm Transmitter" (http://www.vacuumresearch.com/partsnmans/pdfs/24vdcman.pdf) (PDF). Vacuum Transmitters for Diaphragm & Pirani Sensors 24 VDC Power. Vacuum Research Corporation. 2003-07-26. . Retrieved 2010-04-08.
- [46] Öpik, E. J. (May 1962). "The Lunar Atmosphere". *Planetary and Space Science* (Elsevier) 9 (5): 211–244. Bibcode 1962P&SS....9..2110. doi:10.1016/0032-0633(62)90149-6. ISSN 0032-0633..
- [47] University of New Hampshire Experimental Space Plasma Group. "What is the Interstellar Medium" (http://www-ssg.sr.unh.edu/ism/what1.html). *The Interstellar Medium, an online tutorial*. Retrieved 2006-03-15.
- [48] John H., Moore; Christopher Davis, Michael A. Coplan and Sandra Greer (2002). Building Scientific Apparatus. Boulder, CO: Westview Press. ISBN 0-8133-4007-1. OCLC 50287675.
- [49] Beckwith, Thomas G.; Roy D. Marangoni and John H. Lienhard V (1993). "Measurement of Low Pressures". *Mechanical Measurements* (Fifth ed.). Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley. pp. 591–595. ISBN 0-201-56947-7.
- [50] Robert M. Besançon, ed (1990). "Vacuum Techniques" (3rd edition ed.). Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York. pp. 1278–1284. ISBN 0-442-00522-9.

External links

- VIDEO on the nature of vacuum (http://spacegeek.org/ep9_QT.shtml) by Canadian astrophysicist Doctor P
- The Foundations of Vacuum Coating Technology (http://www.svc.org/H/H_HistoryArticle.html)
- American Vacuum Society (http://www.avs.org/)
- Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology A (http://scitation.aip.org/jvsta/)
- Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology B (http://scitation.aip.org/jvstb/)
- FAQ on explosive decompression and vacuum exposure (http://www.sff.net/people/Geoffrey.Landis/ vacuum.html).
- Discussion of the effects on humans of exposure to hard vacuum (http://imagine.gsfc.nasa.gov/docs/ ask_astro/answers/970603.html).
- Vacuum Energy in High Energy Physics (http://www.arXiv.org/abs/hep-th/0012062)
- Vacuum, Production of Space (http://void.mit.edu/~4.396/wiki/index.php?title=Main_Page)
- "Much Ado About Nothing" by Professor John D. Barrow, Gresham College (http://www.gresham.ac.uk/ event.asp?PageId=4&EventId=258)
- Free pdf copy of The Structured Vacuum thinking about nothing (http://www.physics.arizona.edu/~rafelski/ Books/StructVacuumE.pdf) by Johann Rafelski and Berndt Muller (1985) ISBN 3-87144-889-3.

People

André-Marie Ampère



André-Marie Ampère (20 January 1775 – 10 June 1836) was a French physicist and mathematician who is generally regarded as one of the main discoverers of electromagnetism. The SI unit of measurement of electric current, the ampere, is named after him.

Early days

Ampère was born in Lyon, France on 20 January 1775. He spent his childhood and adolescence at the family property at Poleymieux-au-Mont-d'Or near Lyon.^[1] His father began to teach him Latin, until he discovered the boy's preference and aptitude for mathematical studies. The young Ampère, however, soon resumed his Latin lessons, to enable him to master the works of Euler and Bernoulli. In later life Ampère claimed that he knew as much about mathematics and science when he was eighteen as ever he knew; but, a polymath, his reading embraced history, travels, poetry, philosophy, and the natural sciences.

During the French Revolution, Ampere's father stayed at Lyon expecting to be safer there. Nevertheless, after the revolutionaries had taken the city he was captured and executed. This death was a great shock to Ampère.

In 1796 Ampère met Julie Carron, and in 1799 they were married. From about 1796, Ampère gave private lessons at Lyon in mathematics, chemistry, and languages. In 1801 he moved to Bourg-en-Bresse, as professor of physics and chemistry, leaving his ailing wife and his infant son (Jean-Jacques Ampère) at Lyon. Her death, in July 1803, troubled Ampère for the rest of his life. Also in 1804, Ampère was appointed professor of mathematics at the University of Lyon.

Ampère claimed that "at eighteen years he found three culminating points in his life, his First Communion, the reading of Antoine Leonard Thomas's "Eulogy of Descartes", and the Taking of the Bastille. On the day of his wife's death he wrote two verses from the Psalms, and the prayer, 'O Lord, God of Mercy, unite me in Heaven with those whom you have permitted me to love on earth.' Serious doubts harassed him at times, and made him very unhappy. Then he would take refuge in the reading of the Bible and the Fathers of the Church."^[2]

For a time he took into his family the young student Antoine-Frédéric Ozanam (1813-1853), one of the founders of the Conference of Charity, later known as the Society of Saint Vincent de Paul. Through Ampère, Ozanam had contact with leaders of the neo-Catholic movement, such as François-René de Chateaubriand, Jean-Baptiste Henri Lacordaire, and Charles Forbes René de Montalembert. Ozanam was beatified by Pope John Paul II in 1997.

Physics and further studies

Jean Baptiste Joseph Delambre's recommendation obtained for Ampère the Lyon appointment, and afterwards (1805) a minor position in the polytechnic school at Paris, where he was appointed professor of mathematics in 1809. Here Ampère continued to pursue his scientific research and his diverse studies with unabated diligence. He was admitted as a member of the Institute in 1814.

Ampère's fame mainly rests on his establishing the relations between electricity and magnetism, and in developing the science of electromagnetism, or, as he called it, electrodynamics. On 11 September 1820 he heard of H. C. Ørsted's discovery that a magnetic needle is acted on by a voltaic current. Only a week later, on 18 September, Ampère presented a paper to the Academy containing a much more complete exposition of that and kindred phenomena. On the same day, Ampère also demonstrated before the Academy that parallel wires carrying currents attract or repel each other, depending on whether currents are in the same (attraction) or in opposite directions (repulsion). This laid the foundation of electrodynamics.

The topic of electromagnetism thus begun, Ampère developed a mathematical theory which not only described the electromagnetic phenomena already observed, but also predicted many new ones.

In 1828, he was elected a foreign member of the Royal Swedish Academy of Science.

Writings

- Considerations sur la théorie mathématique du jeu, Perisse, Lyon Paris 1802, online lesen ^[3] im Internet-Archiv
- André-Marie Ampère: *Recueil d'observations électro-dynamiques*. contenant divers mémoires, notices, extraits de lettres ou d'ouvrages périodiques sur les sciences, relatifs a l'action mutuelle de deux courans électriques, à celle qui existe entre un courant électrique et un aimant ou le globe terrestre, et à celle de deux aimans l'un sur l'autre Chez Crochard, 21 November 2011 (*André-Marie Ampère*^[4] at Google Books ; as at: 2010-9-26).
- André-Marie Ampère, Babinet (Jacques, M.): *Exposé des nouvelles découvertes sur l'électricité et le magneétisme*. Chez Méquignon-Marvis, 21 November 2011 (*André-Marie Ampère*^[4] at Google Books ; as at: 2010-9-26).
- André-Marie Ampère: Description d'un appareil électro-dynamique. Chez Crochard ... et Bachelie, 21 November 2011 (André-Marie Ampère^[4] at Google Books ; as at: 2010-9-26).
- André-Marie Ampère: *Théorie des phénomènes électro-dynamiques, uniquement déduite de l'expérience.* Méquignon-Marvis, 21 November 2011 (*André-Marie Ampère*^[4] at Google Books ; as at: 2010-9-26).

- André-Marie Ampère: *Théorie mathématique des phénomènes électro-dynamiques: uniquement déduite de l'expérience*. A. Hermann, 21 November 2011 (online lesen ^[5] im Internet-Archiv ; as at: 2010-9-26).
- André-Marie Ampère: Essai sur la philosophie des sciences, ou, Exposition analytique d'une classification naturelle de toutes les connaissances humaines. Chez Bachelier, 21 November 2011 (André-Marie Ampère^[4] at Google Books; as at: 2010-9-26).
 - André-Marie Ampère: Essai sur la philosophie des sciences. Bd. 1, Chez Bachelier, 21 November 2011 (André-Marie Ampère^[4] at Google Books; as at: 2010-9-26).
 - André-Marie Ampère: Essai sur la philosophie des sciences. Bd. 2, Bachelier, 21 November 2011 (André-Marie Ampère^[4] at Google Books; as at: 2010-9-26).

Last years

Ampère died at Marseille and was buried in the Cimetière de Montmartre, Paris. The great amiability and childlike simplicity of his character are well brought out in his *Journal et correspondence* (Paris, 1872).

Ampère's final work, published posthumously, was *Essai sur la* philosophie des sciences, ou exposition analytique d'une classification naturelle de toutes les connaissances humaines ("Essay on the philosophy of science or analytical exposition on the natural classification of human knowledge").

References

- [1] "Andre-Marie Ampere" (http://www.ieeeghn.org/wiki/index.php/ Andre-Marie_Ampere). *IEEE Global History Network*. IEEE. . Retrieved 21 July 2011.
- [2] "Catholic Encyclopedia" (http://www.newadvent.org/cathen/01437c.htm). . Retrieved 2007-12-29.
- [3] http://www.archive.org/details/considerationssu00ampuoft
- [4] http://books.google.com/books?id={{{id}}}
- [5] http://www.archive.org/details/thoriemathmatiq00ampgoog

Williams, L. Pearce (1970). "Ampère, André-Marie". *Dictionary of Scientific Biography*. **1**. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons. pp. 139–147. ISBN 0684101149.

External links

- Ampère and the history of electricity (http://www.ampere.cnrs.fr) a French-language, edited by CNRS, site with Ampère's correspondence (full text and critical edition with links to manuscripts pictures, more than 1000 letters), an Ampère bibliography, experiments, and 3D simulations
- Ampère Museum (http://musee-ampere.univ-lyon1.fr) a French-language site from the museum in Poleymieux-au-Mont-d'or, near Lyon, France
- O'Connor, John J.; Robertson, Edmund F., "André-Marie Ampère" (http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/ Biographies/Ampere.html), *MacTutor History of Mathematics archive*, University of St Andrews.
- Weisstein, Eric W., *Ampère, André (1775-1836)* (http://scienceworld.wolfram.com/biography/Ampere.html) from ScienceWorld.
- Catholic Encyclopedia on André Marie Ampère (http://www.newadvent.org/cathen/01437c.htm)
- This article incorporates text from a publication now in the public domain: Chisholm, Hugh, ed (1911). *Encyclopædia Britannica* (11th ed.). Cambridge University Press.

Grave of Ampère and his son

256

• André-Marie Ampère: The Founder of Electromagnetism (http://www.juliantrubin.com/bigten/ ampereexperiments.html) - Background information and related experiments

Jean-Baptiste Biot		
Jean-Baptiste Biot		
Born	Paris	
Died	3 February 1862 (aged 87) Paris	
Nationality	French	
Fields	Physics, astronomy, and mathematics	
Known for	Biot-Savart law	
Influenced	Louis Pasteur, William Ritchie	
Signature		
fros. Ring		

Jean-Baptiste Biot

Jean-Baptiste Biot (21 April 1774 - 3 February 1862) was a French physicist, astronomer, and mathematician who established the reality of meteorites, made an early balloon flight, and studied the polarization of light.

Biography

Jean-Baptiste Biot was born in Paris, France on 21 April 1774 and died in Paris on 3 February 1862. He had one son, Edouard Constant Biot, in 1803. Biot served in the artillery before he was appointed professor of mathematics at Beauvais in 1797. He later went on to become a professor of physics at the Collège de France around 1800, and three years later was elected as a member of the Academy of Sciences. In 1804 Biot was on board for the first scientific hot-air balloon ride with Gay-Lussac (NNDB 2009, O'Connor and Robertson 1997). Biot was also a member of the Legion of Honor; he was elected chevalier in 1814 and commander in 1849. In 1816, he was elected a foreign member of the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences. In addition, Biot received the Rumford Medal [link], awarded by the Royal Society in the field of thermal or optic properties of matter, in 1840 (O'Connor and Robertson 1997).

Biot's Work

Jean-Baptiste Biot made many contributions to the scientific community in his lifetime – most notably in optics, magnetism, and astronomy. The Biot-Savart Law in magnetism is named after Biot and his colleague Félix Savart for their work in 1820. In their experiment they showed a connection between electricity and magnetism by "starting with a long vertical wire and a magnetic needle some horizontal distance apart [and showing] that running a current through the wire caused the needle to move" (Parsley).

In 1803 Biot was sent by the French Academy to report back on 3000 meteorites that fell on L'aigle, France. He found that the meteorites, or stones at the time, were from outer space. With his report, Biot helped support Ernst Florens Friedrich Chladni's argument that meteorites were debris from space, which he had published in 1794. Biot also helped further the field of optics in 1815 with a study in polarized light. In his experiment Biot studied the effects of polarized light as it penetrated organic substances and determined that light "could be rotated clockwise or counterclockwise, dependent upon the optical axis of the material" (Molecular).

Meteorites

Prior to Biot's thorough investigation of the meteorites that fell near l'Aigle, France in 1803, very few truly believed that rocks found on Earth could have extraterrestrial origins. There were anecdotal tales of unusual rocks found on the ground after fireballs had been seen in the sky, but such stories were often dismissed as fantasy. Serious debate concerning the unusual rocks began in 1794 when German physicist Chladni published a book claiming that rocks had an extraterrestrial origin (Westrum). Only after Biot was able to analyze the rocks at l'Aigle was it commonly accepted that the fireballs seen in the sky were meteors falling through the atmosphere. Since Biot's time, analysis of meteorites has resulted in accurate measurements of the chemical composition of the solar system. The composition and position of meteors in the solar system have also given astronomers clues as to how the solar system formed.

Polarized light

In 1812, Biot turned his attention to the study of optics, particularly the polarization of light. Prior to the 19th century, light was believed to consist of discrete packets called corpuscles. During the early 19th century, many scientists began to disregard the corpuscular theory in favor of the wave theory of light. Biot began his work on polarization to show that the results he was obtaining could appear only if light were made of corpuscles. His work in chromatic polarization and rotary polarization greatly advanced the field of optics, although it was later shown that his findings could also be obtained using the wave theory of light (Frankel). Biot's work on the polarization of light has led to many breakthroughs in the field of optics. Liquid crystal displays (LCDs), such as television and computer screens, use light that is polarized by a filter as it enters the liquid crystal to provide a clearer picture. Polarizing filters are used extensively in photography to cut out unwanted reflections or to enhance reflection.

Selected writings

- Traité élémentaire d'astronomie physique ^[1] (Klostermann, 1810–1811)
- Traité de physique expérimentale et mathématique ^[2](Deterville, 1816)
- Précis de l'histoire de l'astronomie chinoise ^[3] (impr. impériale, 1861)
- Études sur l'astronomie indienne et sur l'astronomie chinoise ^[4] (Lévy frères, 1862)
- Mélanges scientifiques et littéraires ^[5] (Lévy frères, 1858)
- Recherches sur plusieurs points de l'astronomie égyptienne ^[6] (Didot, 1823)

References

- Frankel, Eugene. "Corpuscular Optics and the Wave Theory of Light: The Science and Politics of Revolution in Physics." Social Studies of Science vol. 6, no 2. May 1976. Sage Publications, Ltd. 15 June 2009 http://www.jstor.org/stable/284930>.
- Westrum, Ron. "Science and Social Intelligence about Anomalies: The Case of Meteorites." Social Studies of Science vol. 8, no.4 Nov. 1978. Sage Publications, Ltd. 15 June 2009 http://www.jstor.org/stable/284819>.
- Parsley, Robert J. "THE BIOT-SAVART OPERATOR AND ELECTRODYNAMICS ON BOUNDED SUBDOMAINS OF THE THREE-SPHERE". University of Pennsylvania.
 <www.wfu.edu/~parslerj/research/dissertation.parsley.pdf>

Further reading

- Crosland, M.P. (1970–80). "Biot, Jean-Baptiste". *Dictionary of Scientific Biography*. 2. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons. pp. 133–140. ISBN 0684101149.
- Gounelle, Matthieu (2006). "The meteorite fall at L 'Aigle and the Biot report: exploring the cradle of meteoritics" ^[7]. In Gerald Joseph Home McCall, A. J. Bowden, Richard John Howarth. *The History of Meteoritics and Key Meteorite Collections*. Geological Society of London. pp. 73–89. ISBN 9781862391949
- Levitt, Theresa (Sep 2003). "Biot's paper and Arago's plates. Photographic practice and the transparency of representation". *Isis* **94** (3): 456–476. PMID 14626764.

External links

- Catholic Encyclopedia article ^[8]
- Encyclopædia Britannica article^[9]
- Short Biography ^[10] Pasteur Brewing.
- O'Connor, John J.; Robertson, Edmund F., "Jean-Baptiste Biot" ^[11], *MacTutor History of Mathematics archive*, University of St Andrews.

References

- [1] http://gallica.bnf.fr/notice?N=FRBNF37257980
- [2] http://gallica.bnf.fr/notice?N=FRBNF30107176
- [3] http://gallica.bnf.fr/notice?N=FRBNF30107153
- [4] http://gallica.bnf.fr/notice?N=FRBNF35395244
- [5] http://books.google.com/books?id=jm4tAAAAMAAJ&pg=PA1&dq=%22Jean-Baptiste+Biot%22
- [7] http://books.google.com/?id=7SvtVoa1W-cC&printsec=frontcover&dq=The+history+of+meteoritics+and+key+meteorite+ collections#PPA73.M2
- [8] http://www.newadvent.org/cathen/02576a.htm
- [9] http://www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic/66209/Jean-Baptiste-Biot
- [10] http://www.pasteurbrewing.com/colleagues/biographies/jean-baptiste-biot-1774-1862.html
- [11] http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/Biographies/Biot.html

Michael Faraday

Michael Faraday		
Witchiel Faraday		
Born	22 September 1791 Newington Putter England	
	Newington Butts, England	
Died	25 August 1867 (aged 75)	
	Hampton Court, Middlesex, England	
Residence	England	
Nationality	British	
Fields	Physics and chemistry	
Institutions	Royal Institution	
Known for	Faraday's law of induction	
	Electrochemistry	
	Faraday effect	
	Faraday cage	
	Faraday constant	
	Faraday cup	
	Faraday's laws of electrolysis	
	Faraday paradox	
	Faraday rotator	
	Faraday-enficiency effect	
	Faraday wheel	
	Lines of force	
Influences	Humphry Davy	
	William Thomas Brande	
Notable awards	Royal Medal (1835 & 1846)	
	Copley Medal (1832 & 1838)	
	Rumford Medal (1846)	
Signature		
Maradas		

Michael Faraday, FRS (22 September 1791 – 25 August 1867) was an English chemist and physicist (or *natural philosopher*, in the terminology of the time) who contributed to the fields of electromagnetism and electrochemistry.

Faraday studied the magnetic field around a conductor carrying a DC electric current. While conducting these studies, Faraday established the basis for the electromagnetic field concept in physics, subsequently enlarged upon by James Maxwell. He similarly discovered electromagnetic induction, diamagnetism, and laws of electrolysis. He

established that magnetism could affect rays of light and that there was an underlying relationship between the two phenomena.^[1] ^[2] His inventions of electromagnetic rotary devices formed the foundation of electric motor technology, and it was largely due to his efforts that electricity became viable for use in technology.

As a chemist, Faraday discovered benzene, investigated the clathrate hydrate of chlorine, invented an early form of the Bunsen burner and the system of oxidation numbers, and popularised terminology such as anode, cathode, electrode, and ion.

Although Faraday received little formal education and knew little of higher mathematics, such as calculus, he was one of the most influential scientists in history.^[3] Historians^[4] of science refer to him as the best experimentalist in the history of science.^[5] The SI unit of capacitance, the farad, is named after him, as is the Faraday constant, the charge on a mole of electrons (about 96,485 coulombs). Faraday's law of induction states that magnetic flux changing in time creates a proportional electromotive force.

Faraday was the first and foremost Fullerian Professor of Chemistry at the Royal Institution of Great Britain, a life-time position.

Albert Einstein kept a photograph of Faraday on his study wall alongside pictures of Isaac Newton and James Clerk Maxwell.^[6]

Faraday was highly religious; he was a member of the Sandemanian Church, a Christian sect founded in 1730 that demanded total faith and commitment. Biographers have noted that "a strong sense of the unity of God and nature pervaded Faraday's life and work."^[7]

Early years

Faraday was born in Newington Butts,^[8] now part of the London Borough of Southwark; but then a suburban part of Surrey, one mile south of London Bridge.^[9] His family was not well off. His father, James, was a member of the Glassite sect of Christianity. James Faraday moved his wife and two children to London during the winter of 1790–1 from Outhgill in Westmorland, where he had been an apprentice to the village blacksmith.^[10] Michael was born the autumn of that year. The young Michael Faraday, the third of four children, having only the most basic of school educations, had to largely educate himself.^[11] At fourteen he became apprenticed to a local bookbinder and bookseller George Riebau in Blandford St^[12] and, during his seven-year apprenticeship, he read many books, including Isaac Watts' *The Improvement of the Mind*, and he enthusiastically implemented the principles and suggestions that it contained. He developed an interest in science, especially in electricity. In particular, he was inspired by the book *Conversations on Chemistry* by Jane Marcet.^[13]



Portrait of Faraday in his late thirties

At the age of twenty, in 1812, at the end of his apprenticeship, Faraday attended lectures by the eminent English chemist Humphry Davy of the Royal Institution and Royal Society, and John Tatum, founder of the City Philosophical Society. Many tickets for these lectures were given to Faraday by William Dance (one of the founders of the Royal Philharmonic Society). Afterwards, Faraday sent Davy a three hundred page book based on notes taken during the lectures. Davy's reply was immediate, kind, and favourable. When Davy damaged his eyesight in an accident with nitrogen trichloride, he decided to employ Faraday as a secretary. When John Payne, one of the Royal Institution's assistants, was sacked, Sir Humphry Davy was asked to find a replacement. He appointed Faraday as Chemical Assistant at the Royal Institution on 1 March 1813.^[1]

In the class-based English society of the time, Faraday was not considered a gentleman. When Davy went on a long tour to the continent in 1813–15, his valet did not wish to go. Faraday was going

as Davy's scientific assistant, and was asked to act as Davy's valet until a replacement could be found in Paris. Faraday was forced to fill the role of valet as well as assistant throughout the trip. Davy's wife, Jane Apreece, refused to treat Faraday as an equal (making him travel outside the coach, eat with the servants, etc.) and generally made Faraday so miserable that he contemplated returning to England alone and giving up science altogether. The trip did, however, give him access to the European scientific elite and a host of stimulating ideas.^[1]

Faraday was a devout Christian. His Sandemanian denomination was an offshoot of the Church of Scotland. Well after his marriage, he served as Deacon and two terms as an Elder in the meeting house of his youth. His church was located at Paul's Alley in the Barbican. This meeting house relocated in 1862 to Barnsbury Grove, Islington. This North London location is where Faraday served the final two years of his second term as Elder prior to his resignation from that post.^[14] [15]

Faraday married Sarah Barnard (1800–1879) on 12 June 1821.^[16] They had no children.^[8] They met through their families at the Sandemanian church. He confessed his faith to the Sandemanian congregation the month after he married.

Scientific achievements

Chemistry

Faraday's earliest chemical work was as an assistant to Humphry Davy. Faraday specifically studied chlorine, discovering two new compounds of chlorine and carbon. He also made the first rough experiments on the diffusion of gases, a phenomenon first pointed out by John Dalton, the physical importance of which was more fully brought to light by Thomas Graham and Joseph Loschmidt. He succeeded in liquefying several gases; he investigated the alloys of steel, and produced several new kinds of glass intended for optical purposes. A specimen of one of these heavy glasses afterwards became historically important as the substance in which Faraday detected the rotation of the plane of



Michael Faraday in his laboratory. c1850s by artist Harriet Jane Moore who documented Faraday's life in watercolours.



polarisation of light when the glass was placed in a magnetic field, and also as the first substance found to be repelled by the poles of a magnet. He also endeavoured, with some success, to make the general methods of chemistry, as distinguished from its results, the subject of special study and of popular exposition.

He invented an early form of what was to become the Bunsen burner, which is used almost universally in science laboratories as a convenient source of heat.^[18] ^[19] Faraday worked extensively in the field of chemistry, discovering chemical substances such as benzene (which he called bicarburet of hydrogen), and liquefying gases such as chlorine. Liquification of gases helped establish that gases are simply the vapours of liquids possessing a very low boiling-point, and gave a more solid basis to conceptions of molecular aggregation. In 1820

Faraday reported on the first syntheses of compounds made from carbon and chlorine, C_2Cl_6 and C_2Cl_4 , and published his results the following year.^[20] [21] [22]</sup> Faraday also determined the composition of the chlorine clathrate hydrate, which had been discovered by Humphry Davy in 1810.^[23] [24]

Faraday also discovered the laws of electrolysis and popularised terminology such as anode, cathode, electrode, and ion, terms largely created by William Whewell.

Faraday was the first to report what later came to be called metallic nanoparticles. In 1847 he discovered that the optical properties of gold colloids differed from those of the corresponding bulk metal. This was probably the first reported observation of the effects of quantum size, and might be considered to be the birth of nanoscience.^[25]

Electricity and magnetism

Faraday is best known for his work with electricity and magnetism. His first recorded experiment was the construction of a voltaic pile with seven halfpence pieces, stacked together with seven disks of sheet zinc, and six pieces of paper moistened with salt water. With this pile he decomposed sulphate of magnesia (first letter to Abbott, 12 July 1812).

In 1821, soon after the Danish physicist and chemist, Hans Christian Ørsted discovered the phenomenon of electromagnetism, Davy and British scientist William Hyde Wollaston tried but failed to design an electric motor.^[2] Faraday, having discussed the problem with the two men, went on to build two devices to produce what he called electromagnetic rotation: a continuous circular motion from the circular magnetic force around a wire and a wire extending into a pool of mercury with a magnet placed inside that would rotate around the magnet if supplied with current from a chemical battery. The latter device is known as a homopolar motor. These experiments and inventions form the foundation of modern electromagnetic technology. In his excitement, Faraday published results without acknowledging his work with either Wollaston or Davy. The resulting controversy within the Royal Society strained his mentor relationship with Davy and may well have contributed to Faraday's assignment to other activities, thereby removing him from electromagnetic research for several years.^{[27] [28]}



One of Faraday's 1831 experiments demonstrating induction. The liquid battery (*right*) sends an electric current through the small coil (*A*). When it is moved in or out of the large coil (*B*), its magnetic field induces a momentary voltage in the coil, which is detected by the galvanometer (*G*).



From his initial electromagnetic discovery in 1821, Faraday continued his laboratory work exploring properties of materials and developing the requisite experience. In 1824, Faraday briefly set up a circuit to study whether a magnetic field could regulate the flow of a current in an adjacent wire, but could find no such relationship.^[29] This lab followed similar work with light and magnets three years earlier with identical results.^[30] [^{31]} During the next seven years, Faraday spent much of his time perfecting his recipe for optical quality (heavy) glass, boro-silicate of lead,^[32] which he used in his future studies connecting light with magnetism.^[33] In his spare time from this optics work, Faraday continued publishing his experimental work (some of which related to EM) and conducted foreign correspondence with scientists (also working on EM) he previously met on his journeys about Europe with Davy.^[34] Two years after the death of Davy, in 1831, he began

his great series of experiments in which he discovered electromagnetic induction. Joseph Henry likely discovered self-induction a few months earlier and both may have been anticipated by the work of Francesco Zantedeschi in Italy in 1829 and 1830.^[35]



English chemists John Daniell (left) and Michael Faraday (right), credited as founders of electrochemistry today.



Faraday's breakthrough came when he wrapped two insulated coils of wire around an iron ring, and found that, upon passing a current through one coil, a momentary current was induced in the other coil.^[2] This phenomenon is known as mutual induction. The iron ring-coil apparatus is still on display at the Royal Institution. In subsequent experiments, he found that, if he moved a magnet through a loop of wire, an electric current flowed in the wire. The current also flowed if the loop was moved over a stationary magnet. His demonstrations established that a changing magnetic field produces an electric field. This relation was modelled mathematically by James Clerk Maxwell as Faraday's law, which subsequently became one of the four Maxwell equations. These in turn have evolved into the generalisation known today as field theory.

Faraday later used the principle to construct the electric dynamo, the ancestor of modern power generators.

In 1839, he completed a series of experiments aimed at investigating the fundamental nature of electricity. Faraday used "static", batteries, and "animal electricity" to produce the phenomena of electrostatic attraction, electrolysis, magnetism, etc. He concluded that, contrary to scientific opinion of the time, the divisions between the various "kinds" of electricity were illusory. Faraday instead proposed that only a single "electricity" exists, and the changing values of quantity and intensity

(current and voltage) would produce different groups of phenomena.^[2]

Near the end of his career, Faraday proposed that electromagnetic forces extended into the empty space around the conductor. This idea was rejected by his fellow scientists, and Faraday did not live to see this idea eventually accepted. Faraday's concept of lines of flux emanating from charged bodies and magnets provided a way to visualise electric and magnetic fields. That mental model was crucial to the successful development of electromechanical devices that dominated engineering and industry for the remainder of the 19th century.

Diamagnetism

In 1845, Faraday discovered that many materials exhibit a weak repulsion from a magnetic field, a phenomenon he named diamagnetism.

Faraday also found that the plane of polarisation of linearly polarised light can be rotated by the application of an external magnetic field aligned in the direction the light is moving. This is now termed the Faraday effect. He wrote in his notebook, "I have at last succeeded in *illuminating a magnetic curve* or *line of force* and in *magnetising a ray of light*".

Late in life (1862), Faraday used a spectroscope to search for a different alteration of light, the change of spectral lines by an applied magnetic field. However, the equipment available to him was insufficient for a definite determination of a spectral change. Pieter Zeeman later used an improved apparatus to study the same phenomenon, publishing his results in 1897 and receiving the 1902 Nobel Prize in Physics for his success. In both his 1897 paper^[37] and his Nobel acceptance speech,^[38] Zeeman referred to Faraday's work.



Michael Faraday holding a glass bar of the type he used in 1845 to show that magnetism can affect light in a dielectric material.^[36]

Faraday cage



In his work on static electricity, Faraday's ice pail experiment demonstrated that the charge resided only on the exterior of a charged conductor, and exterior charge had no influence on anything enclosed within a conductor. This is because the exterior charges redistribute such that the interior fields due to them cancel. This shielding effect is used in what is now known as a Faraday cage.

Faraday was an excellent experimentalist who conveyed his ideas in clear and simple

language. However, his mathematical abilities did not extend as far as trigonometry or any but the simplest algebra. It was James Clerk Maxwell who took the work of Faraday, and others, and consolidated it with a set of equations that lie at the base of all modern theories of electromagnetic phenomena. On Faraday's uses of the lines of force, Maxwell wrote that they show Faraday "to have been in reality a mathematician of a very high order – one from whom the mathematicians of the future may derive valuable and fertile methods."^[39]

Royal Institution and public service

Faraday was the first Fullerian Professor of Chemistry at the Royal Institution of Great Britain, a position to which he was appointed for life. His sponsor and mentor was John 'Mad Jack' Fuller, who created the position at the Royal Institution. Faraday was elected a member of the Royal Society in 1824,^[8] appointed director of the laboratory in 1825; and in 1833 he was appointed Fullerian Professor of Chemistry in the institution for life, without the obligation to deliver lectures.

Beyond his scientific research into areas such as chemistry, electricity, and magnetism at the Royal Institution, Faraday undertook numerous, and often time-consuming, service projects for private enterprise and the British government. This work included investigations of explosions in coal mines, being an expert witness in court, and the preparation of high-quality optical glass. In 1846, together with Charles Lyell, he produced a lengthy and detailed report on a serious explosion in the colliery at Haswell County Durham, which killed 95 miners. Their report was a meticulous forensic investigation and indicated that coal dust contributed to the severity of the explosion. The report should have warned coal owners of the hazard of coal dust explosions, but the risk was ignored for over 60 years until the Senghenydd Colliery Disaster of 1913.

As a respected scientist in a nation with strong maritime interests, Faraday spent extensive amounts of time on projects such as the construction and operation of light houses and protecting the bottoms of ships from corrosion. His workshop still stands at Trinity Buoy Wharf above the Chain and Buoy Store, next to London's only lighthouse and a school named after him.

Faraday also was active in what would now be called environmental science, or engineering. He investigated industrial pollution at Swansea and was consulted on air pollution at the Royal Mint. In July 1855, Faraday wrote a letter to The Times on the subject of the foul condition of the River Thames, which resulted in an oft-reprinted cartoon in Punch. (See also The Great Stink.)

Faraday assisted with planning and judging of exhibits for the Great Exhibition of 1851 in London. He also advised the National Gallery on the cleaning and protection of its art collection, and served on the National Gallery Site Commission in 1857.





Lighthouse lantern room from mid 1800s

Education was another area of service for Faraday. He lectured on the topic in 1854 at the Royal Institution, and in 1862 he appeared before a Public Schools Commission to give his views on education in Great Britain. Faraday also weighed in, negatively, on the public's fascination with table-turning, mesmerism, and seances, chastising both the public and the nation's educational system.^[40]

Faraday gave a successful series of lectures on the chemistry and physics of flames at the Royal Institution, entitled *The Chemical History of a Candle*. This was one of the earliest Christmas lectures for young people, which are still given each year. Between 1827 and 1860, Faraday gave the Christmas lectures a record nineteen times.

Later life



Faraday in old age.



Michael Faraday delivering a Christmas Lecture in 1856.

In June 1832, the University of Oxford granted Faraday a Doctor of Civil Law degree (honorary). During his lifetime, Faraday rejected a knighthood and twice refused to become President of the Royal Society. Faraday was elected a foreign member of the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences in 1838, and was one of eight foreign members elected to the French Academy of Sciences in 1844.^[41]

In 1848, as a result of representations by the Prince Consort, Michael Faraday was awarded a grace and favour house in Hampton Court in Middlesex, free of all expenses or upkeep. This was the Master Mason's House, later called Faraday House, and now No.37 Hampton Court Road. In 1858 Faraday retired to live there.^[42]

When asked by the British government to advise on the production of chemical weapons for use in the Crimean War (1853–1856), Faraday refused to participate citing ethical reasons.^[43]

Faraday died at his house at Hampton Court on 25 August 1867 aged 75 years and 11 months.^[44] He had previously turned down burial in Westminster Abbey, but he has a memorial plaque there, near Isaac Newton's tomb. Faraday was interred in the dissenters' (non-Anglican) section of Highgate Cemetery. Hirshfeld maintains in his biography that Faraday suffered from mental breakdown due to his intellectual exertions so that he became debilitated by the end of his life and unable to conduct any meaningful research.

Commemorations

Faraday School is located on Trinity Buoy Wharf where his workshop still stands above the Chain and Buoy Store, next to London's only lighthouse.

A statue of Faraday stands in Savoy Place, London, outside the Institution of Engineering and Technology. Also in London, the Michael Faraday Memorial, designed by brutalist architect Rodney Gordon and completed in 1961, is at the Elephant & Castle gyratory system, near Faraday's birthplace at Newington Butts.

Faraday Gardens is a small park in Walworth, London, not far from his birthplace at Newington Butts. This park lies within the local council ward of Faraday in the London Borough of Southwark.

A building at London South Bank University, which houses the institute's electrical engineering departments is named the Faraday Wing, due to its proximity to Faraday's birthplace in Newington Butts. A hall at Loughborough University was named after Faraday in 1960. Near the entrance to its dining hall is a bronze casting, which depicts the symbol of an electrical transformer, and inside there hangs a portrait, both in Faraday's honour. An eight-story building at the University of Edinburgh's science & engineering campus is named for



Michael Faraday, statue in Savoy Place, London. Sculptor John Henry Foley RA

Faraday, as is a recently built hall of accommodation at Brunel University, the main engineering building at Swansea University, and the instructional and experimental physics building at Northern Illinois University. The former UK Faraday Station ^[45] in Antarctica was named after him.

Streets named for Faraday can be found in many British cities (e.g., London, Fife, Swindon, Basingstoke, Nottingham, Whitby, Kirkby, Crawley, Newbury, Aylesbury and Stevenage) as well as in France (Paris), Germany (Hermsdorf), Canada (Quebec; Deep River, Ontario), and the United States (Reston, VA).

From 1991 until 2001, Faraday's picture featured on the reverse of Series E £20 banknotes issued by the Bank of England. He was shown conducting a lecture at the Royal Institution with the magneto-electric spark apparatus.^[46]

Bibliography

Faraday's books, with the exception of *Chemical Manipulation*, were collections of scientific papers or transcriptions of lectures.^[47] Since his death, Faraday's diary has been published, as have several large volumes of his letters and Faraday's journal from his travels with Davy in 1813–1815.

- Faraday, Michael (1827). Chemical Manipulation, Being Instructions to Students in Chemistry. John Murray. 2nd ed. 1830^[48], 3rd ed. 1842^[49]
- Faraday, Michael (1839, 1844). Experimental Researches in Electricity, vols. i. and ii. ^[50]. Richard and John Edward Taylor.; vol. iii. Richard Taylor and William Francis, 1855
- Faraday, Michael (1859). *Experimental Researches in Chemistry and Physics* ^[51]. Taylor and Francis. ISBN 0850668417.
- Faraday, Michael (1861). W. Crookes. ed. A Course of Six Lectures on [[the Chemical History of a Candle ^[52]]]. Griffin, Bohn & Co.. ISBN 1425519741.
- Faraday, Michael (1873). W. Crookes. ed. On the Various Forces in Nature ^[53]. Chatto and Windus.
- Faraday, Michael (1932–1936). T. Martin. ed. *Diary*. ISBN 0713504390. published in eight volumes; see also the 2009 publication ^[54] of Faraday's diary

- Faraday, Michael (1991). B. Bowers and L. Symons. ed. *Curiosity Perfectly Satisfyed: Faraday's Travels in Europe 1813–1815*. Institution of Electrical Engineers.
- Faraday, Michael (1991). F. A. J. L. James. ed. *The Correspondence of Michael Faraday*. 1. INSPEC, Inc.. ISBN 0863412483. – volume 2, 1993; volume 3, 1996; volume 4, 1999
- Faraday, Michael (2008). Alice Jenkins. ed. *Michael Faraday's Mental Exercises: An Artisan Essay Circle in Regency London*. Liverpool, UK: Liverpool University Press.
- Course of six lectures on the various forces of matter, and their relations to each other ^[55] London; Glasgow: R. Griffin, 1860.
- The liquefaction of gases ^[56] Edinburgh: W. F. Clay, 1896.
- The letters of Faraday and Schoenbein 1836–1862. With notes, comments and references to contemporary letters
 ^[57] London: Williams & Norgate 1899.

References

- Michael Faraday (http://www.1911encyclopedia.org/Michael_Faraday) entry at the 1911 Encyclopaedia Britannica hosted by LovetoKnow Retrieved January 2007.
- [2] "Archives Biographies: Michael Faraday", The Institution of Engineering and Technology. (http://www.theiet.org/about/libarc/archives/ biographies/faraday.cfm)
- [3] Hart, Michael H. (2000). The 100: A Ranking of the Most Influential Persons in History. New York: Citadel. ISBN 0-89104-175-3.
- [4] Russell, Colin (2000). Michael Faraday: Physics and Faith. New York: Oxford University Press. ISBN 0195117638.
- [5] "best [[experimentalist (http://www.bath.ac.uk/news/2006/10/25/gulp-ford251006.html)] in the history of science."] Quoting Dr Peter Ford, from the University of Bath's Department of Physics. Accessed January 2007.
- [6] "Einstein's Heroes: Imagining the World through the Language of Mathematics", by Robyn Arianrhod UQP, reviewed by Jane Gleeson-White, 10 November 2003, The Sydney Morning Herald.
- [7] Baggott, Jim (2 September 1991). "The myth of Michael Faraday: Michael Faraday was not just one of Britain's greatest experimenters. A closer look at the man and his work reveals that he was also a clever theoretician" (http://www.newscientist.com/article/mg13117874.
 600-the-myth-of-michael-faraday-michael-faraday-was-not-justone-of-britains-greatest-experimenters-a-closer-look-at-the-man-and-hiswork-reveals-that-he-was-html). *New Scientist.* . Retrieved 6 September 2008.
- [8] Frank A. J. L. James, 'Faraday, Michael (1791–1867)', Oxford Dictionary of National Biography, Oxford University Press, Sept 2004; online edn, Jan 2008 accessed 3 March 2009 (http://www.oxforddnb.com/view/article/9153)
- [9] For a concise account of Faraday's life including his childhood, see pages 175–83 of EVERY SATURDAY: A JOURNAL OF CHOICE READING, Vol III published at Cambridge in 1873 by Osgood & Co.
- [10] The implication was that James discovered job opportunities elsewhere through membership of this sect. James joined the London meeting house on 20 February 1791, and moved his family shortly thereafter. See pages 57–8 of Cantor's (1991) *Michael Faraday, Sandemanian and Scientist.*
- [11] "Michael Faraday." History of Science and Technology. Houghton Mifflin Company, 2004. Answers.com 4 June 2007 (http://www. answers.com/topic/michael-faraday)
- [12] Plaque #19 on Open Plaques (http://openplaques.org/plaques/19).
- [13] "Jane Marcet's Books". John H. Lienhard. *The Engines of Our Ingenuity*. NPR. KUHF-FM Houston. 1992. No. 744. Transcript (http:// www.uh.edu/engines/epi744.htm). Retrieved on 2 October 2007.
- [14] See pages 41-43, 60-4, and 277-80 of Geoffrey Cantor's (1991) Michael Faraday, Sandemanian and Scientist.
- [15] Paul's Alley was located 10 houses south of the Barbican. See page 330 Elmes's (1831) Topographical Dictionary of the British Metropolis.
- [16] The register at St. Faith-in-the-Virgin near St. Paul's Cathedral, records 12 June as the date their licence was issued. The witness was Sarah's father, Edward. Their marriage was 16 years prior to the Marriage and Registration Act of 1837. See page 59 of Cantor's (1991) Michael Faraday, Sandemanian and Scientist.
- Britannica.com (http://www.britannica.com/facts/5/248128/Michael-Faraday-as-discussed-in-tetrachloroethylene-chemical-compound)
 Facts about Michael Farady, Accessed may 2011
- [18] Jensen, William B. (2005). "The Origin of the Bunsen Burner" (http://jchemed.chem.wisc.edu/HS/Journal/Issues/2005/Apr/ clicSubscriber/V82N04/p518.pdf) (PDF). Journal of Chemical Education 82 (4).
- [19] See page 127 of Faraday's Chemical Manipulation, Being Instructions to Students in Chemistry (1827)
- [20] Faraday, Michael (1821). "On two new Compounds of Chlorine and Carbon, and on a new Compound of Iodine, Carbon, and Hydrogen". *Philosophical Transactions* 111: 47. doi:10.1098/rstl.1821.0007.
- [21] Faraday, Michael (1859). *Experimental Researches in Chemistry and Physics*. London: Richard Taylor and William Francis. pp. 33–53. ISBN 0850668417.
- [22] Williams, L. Pearce (1965). Michael Faraday: A Biography. New York: Basic Books. pp. 122–123. ISBN 0306802996.
- [23] Faraday, Michael (1823). "On Hydrate of Chlorine". Quartly Journal of Science 15: 71.

- [24] Faraday, Michael (1859). Experimental Researches in Chemistry and Physics. London: Richard Taylor and William Francis. pp. 81–84. ISBN 0850668417.
- [25] "The Birth of Nanotechnology" (http://www.nanogallery.info/nanogallery/?ipg=126). Nanogallery.info. 2006. . Retrieved 25 July 2007. "Faraday made some attempt to explain what was causing the vivid coloration in his gold mixtures, saying that known phenomena seemed to indicate that a mere variation in the size of gold particles gave rise to a variety of resultant colors.""
- [26] Faraday, Michael (1844). Experimental Researches in Electricity. 2. ISBN 0486435059. See plate 4.
- [27] Hamilton's A Life of Discovery: Michael Faraday, Giant of the Scientific Revolution (2004) pp. 165–71, 183, 187–90.
- [28] Cantor's Michael Faraday, Sandemanian and Scientist (1991) pp. 231-3.
- [29] Thompson's Michael Faraday, his life and work (1901) p.95.
- [30] Thompson (1901) p. 91. This lab entry illustrates Faraday's quest for the connection between light and electromagnetic phenomenon 10 September 1821.
- [31] Cantor's Michael Faraday, Sandemanian and Scientist (1991) p. 233.
- [32] pp. 95–98 of Thompson (1901).
- [33] Thompson (1901) p 100.
- [34] Faraday's initial induction lab work occurred in late November 1825. His work was heavily influenced by the ongoing research of fellow European scientists Ampere, Arago, and Oersted as indicated by his diary entries. Cantor's *Michael Faraday: Sandemanian and Scientist* (1991) pp. 235–44.
- [35] Brother Potamian (1913). "Francesco Zantedeschi article at the Catholic Encyclopedia" (http://en.wikisource.org/wiki/ Catholic_Encyclopedia_(1913)/Francesco_Zantedeschi). Wikisource. . Retrieved 16 June 2007.
- [36] Detail of an engraving by Henry Adlard, based on an earlier photograph by Maull & Polyblank ca. 1857. See National Portrait Gallery, UK (http://www.npg.org.uk/live/search/person.asp?LinkID=mp01529)
- [37] Zeeman, Pieter (1897). "The Effect of Magnetisation on the Nature of Light Emitted by a Substance". *Nature* 55 (1424): 347.
 Bibcode 1897Natur..55..347Z. doi:10.1038/055347a0.
- [38] "Pieter Zeeman, Nobel Lecture" (http://nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/laureates/1902/zeeman-lecture.html). Retrieved 29 May 2008.
- [39] The Scientific Papers of James Clerk Maxwell Volume 1 (http://books.google.com/books?id=RaqhIhxqLiwC&pg=PA360& lpg=PA360&dq="to+have+been+in+reality+a+mathematician") page 360; Courier Dover 2003, ISBN 0486495604
- [40] See The Illustrated London News, July 1853, for Faraday's comments.
- [41] Gladstone, John Hall (1872). Michael Faraday (http://books.google.com/?id=pbs4AAAAMAAJ&pg=PA53&lpg=PA53&dq=Faraday+ French+Academy). London: Macmillan and Company. p. 53.
- [42] Twickenham Museum on Faraday and Faraday House (http://www.twickenham-museum.org.uk/detail.asp?ContentID=197), Accessed June 2006
- [43] Croddy, Eric; Wirtz, James J. (2005). Weapons of Mass Destruction: An Encyclopedia of Worldwide Policy, Technology, and History (http://books.google.com/?id=ZzlNgS70OHAC&pg=PA86&lpg=PA86&dq=Faraday++chemical+weapons+Crimean+War). ABC-CLIO. pp. Page 86. ISBN 1851094903.
- [44] Plaque #2429 on Open Plaques (http://openplaques.org/plaques/2429).
- [45] http://www.antarctica.ac.uk/about_bas/our_history/stations_and_refuges/faraday.php
- [46] "Withdrawn banknotes reference guide" (http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/banknotes/denom_guide/index.htm). Bank of England. . Retrieved 17 October 2008.
- [47] See page 220 of Hamilton's A Life of Discovery: Michael Faraday, Giant of the Scientific Revolution (2002)
- [48] http://www.archive.org/details/chemicalmanipula00fararich
- [49] http://books.google.com/books?id=apjfZ3P8GdQC&pg=PA1&dq=chemical+manipulation#PPP9,M1
- [50] http://www.archive.org/details/experimentalrese00faraiala
- [51] http://www.archive.org/details/experimentalrese00fararich
- [52] http://www.archive.org/details/chemicalhistoryo00faraiala
- [53] http://www.archive.org/details/onvariousforceso00farauoft
- [54] http://www.faradaysdiary.com/
- [55] http://www.archive.org/details/courseofsixlectu00fararich
- [56] http://www.archive.org/details/liquefactionofga00fararich
- [57] http://www.archive.org/details/lettersoffaraday00fararich

Further reading

Biographies

- Bence Jones, Henry (1870). *The Life and Letters of Faraday* (http://books.google.com/?id=YzuCdNmu5soC& printsec=frontcover&dq=Faraday). Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott and Company.
- Cantor, Geoffrey (1991). Michael Faraday, Sandemanian and Scientist. Macmillian. ISBN 0-333-55077.
- Gladstone, J. H. (1872). *Michael Faraday* (http://books.google.com/?id=pbs4AAAAMAAJ& printsec=frontcover&dq=Faraday). London: Macmillan.
- Hamilton, James (2002). Faraday: The Life. London: Harper Collins. ISBN 0-00-716376-2.
- Hamilton, James (2004). *A Life of Discovery: Michael Faraday, Giant of the Scientific Revolution*. New York: Random House. ISBN 1-4000-6016-8.
- Hirshfeld, Alan W. (2006). The Electric Life of Michael Faraday. Walker and Company. ISBN 978-0802714701.
- Thompson, Silvanus (1901). *Michael Faraday, His Life and Work* (http://books.google.com/ ?id=HKf5g3qYYz8C&printsec=frontcover&dq=Silvanus+Thompson+faraday). London: Cassell and Company. ISBN 1-4179-7036-7.
- Tyndall, John (1868). *Faraday as a Discoverer* (http://www.archive.org/details/faradayasdiscove00tyndrich). London: Longmans, Green, and Company.
- Williams, L. Pearce (1965). Michael Faraday: A Biography. New York: Basic Books.
- The British Electrical and Allied Manufacturers Association (1931). *Faraday*. R. & R. Clark, Ltd., Edinburgh, 1931.
- Agassi, Joseph (1971). Faraday as a Natural Philosopher. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Ames, Joseph Sweetman (Ed.) (c1900). *The Discovery of Induced Electric Currents*. **2**. New York: American Book Company.
- Gooding, David (Ed.) (1985). *Faraday Rediscovered: Essays on the Life and Work of Michael Faraday,* 1791–1867. London/New York: Macmillan/Stockton.
- Thomas, John Meurig (1991). *Michael Faraday and the Royal Institution: The Genius of Man and Place*. Bristol: Hilger. ISBN 0-7503-0145-7.
- Russell, Colin A. (Ed. Owen Gingerich) (2000). *Michael Faraday: Physics and Faith (Oxford Portraits in Science Series)*. New York: Oxford University Press. ISBN 0-19-511763-8.

External links

Biographies

- Biography at The Royal Institution of Great Britain (http://www.rigb.org/rimain/heritage/faradaypage.jsp)
- Faraday as a Discoverer by John Tyndall, Project Gutenberg (http://www.gutenberg.org/etext/1225) (downloads)
- The Christian Character of Michael Faraday (http://www.asa3.org/ASA/PSCF/1991/PSCF6-91Eichman. html)
- Michael Faraday on the British twenty-pound banknote (http://www-personal.umich.edu/~jbourj/money1. htm)
- The Life and Discoveries of Michael Faraday (http://www.archive.org/details/lifediscoverieso00crowrich) by J. A. Crowther, London: Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge, 1920

Others

- Michael Faraday's announcement of ether as an anaesthetic in 1818 (http://journals.lww.com/anesthesiology/ Abstract/1992/10000/Michael_Faraday_and_His_Contribution_to_Anesthesia.27.aspx)
- Interactive Java Tutorial on Faraday's 1821 Motor (http://www.magnet.fsu.edu/education/tutorials/java/ faradaymotor/index.html) National High Magnetic Field Laboratory
- Interactive Java Tutorial on Faraday's Ice Pail Experiment (http://www.magnet.fsu.edu/education/tutorials/ java/faradaypail/index.html) National High Magnetic Field Laboratory
- "Faraday" (http://www.1911encyclopedia.org/Michael_Faraday) at LoveToKnow 1911 Britannica Online Encyclopedia
- Michael Faraday (http://www.dmoz.org/Science/Physics/History/People/Faraday,_Michael//) at the Open Directory Project
- Works by Michael Faraday (http://www.gutenberg.org/author/Michael_Faraday) at Project Gutenberg (downloads)
- "Experimental Researches in Electricity" by Michael Faraday (http://rack1.ul.cs.cmu.edu/is/faraday/doc. scn?fr=0&rp=http://rack1.ul.cs.cmu.edu/is/faraday/&pg=4) Original text with Biographical Introduction by Professor John Tyndall, 1914, Everyman edition.
- Video Podcast with Sir John Cadogan talking about Benzene since Faraday (http://www.ch.ic.ac.uk/video/ index.rss)
- The letters of Faraday and Schoenbein 1836–1862. With notes, comments and references to contemporary letters (1899) (http://www.archive.org/details/lettersoffaraday00fararich) full download PDF (http://www.archive. org/download/lettersoffaraday00fararich/lettersoffaraday00fararich.pdf)
- A Short History of Trinity Buoy Wharf (http://www.trinitybuoywharf.com/life-on-the-river/history.php) at the Trinity Buoy Wharf website
- Faraday School, located on Trinity Buoy Wharf (http://www.newmodelschool.co.uk/faraday) at the New Model School Company Limited's website

Carl Friedrich Gauss

Carl Friedrich Gauss			
Carl Friedrich Gauss (1777–1855), painted by Christian Albrecht Jensen			
Born	m 30 April 1777		
	Braunschweig, Duchy of Brunswick-Wolfenbüttel, Holy Roman Empire		
Died	23 February 1855 (aged 77)		
	Göttingen, Kingdom of Hanover		
Residence	Kingdom of Hanover		
Nationality	German		
Fields	Mathematics and Physics		
Institutions	University of Göttingen		
Alma mater	University of Helmstedt		
Doctoral advisor	Johann Friedrich Pfaff		
Other academic advisors	Johann Christian Martin Bartels		
Doctoral students	Friedrich Bessel Christoph Gudermann Christian Ludwig Gerling Richard Dedekind Johann Encke Johann Listing Bernhard Riemann Christian Peters Moritz Cantor		
Other notable students	Gotthold Eisenstein Gustav Kirchhoff Ernst Kummer Johann Dirichlet August Ferdinand Möbius Julius Weisbach L. C. Schnürlein		
Known for	See full list		
Influenced	Sophie Germain		
Notable awards	Copley Medal (1838)		



Johann Carl Friedrich Gauss () /'gaUs/; German: *Gauß* listen, Latin: *Carolus Fridericus Gauss*) (30 April 1777 – 23 February 1855) was a German mathematician and scientist who contributed significantly to many fields, including number theory, statistics, analysis, differential geometry, geodesy, geophysics, electrostatics, astronomy and optics.

Sometimes referred to as the *Princeps mathematicorum*^[1] (Latin, "the Prince of Mathematicians" or "the foremost of mathematicians") and "greatest mathematician since antiquity", Gauss had a remarkable influence in many fields of mathematics and science and is ranked as one of history's most influential mathematicians.^[2] He referred to mathematics as "the queen of sciences".^[3]

Early years (1777–1798)



Statue of Gauss at his birthplace, Braunschweig

Carl Friedrich Gauss was born on April 30, 1777 in Braunschweig, in the duchy of Braunschweig-Wolfenbüttel, now part of Lower Saxony, Germany, as the son of poor working-class parents.^[4] Indeed, his mother was illiterate and never recorded the date of his birth, remembering only that he had been born on a Wednesday, eight days before the Feast of the Ascension, which itself occurs 40 days after Easter. Gauss would later solve this puzzle for his birthdate in the context of finding the date of Easter, deriving methods to compute the date in both past and future years.^[5] He was christened and confirmed in a church near the school he attended as a child.^[6]

Gauss was a child prodigy. There are many anecdotes pertaining to his precocity while a toddler, and he made his first ground-breaking mathematical discoveries while still a teenager. He completed *Disquisitiones Arithmeticae*, his magnum opus, in 1798 at the age of 21, though it was not published until 1801. This work was fundamental in consolidating number theory as a discipline and has shaped the field to the present day.

Gauss's intellectual abilities attracted the attention of the Duke of Braunschweig,^[2] who sent him to the Collegium Carolinum (now Technische Universität Braunschweig), which he attended from 1792 to 1795, and to the University of Göttingen from 1795 to 1798. While in university, Gauss independently rediscovered several important theorems; his breakthrough occurred in 1796 when he was able to show that any regular polygon with a number of sides which is a Fermat prime (and, consequently, those polygons with any number of sides which is the product of distinct Fermat primes and a power of 2) can be constructed by compass and straightedge. This was a major discovery in an important field of mathematics; construction problems had occupied mathematicians since the days of the Ancient Greeks, and the discovery ultimately led Gauss to choose mathematics instead of philology as a career. Gauss was so pleased by this result that he requested that a regular heptadecagon be inscribed on his tombstone. The stonemason declined, stating that the difficult construction would essentially look like a circle.^[7]

The year 1796 was most productive for both Gauss and number theory. He discovered a construction of the heptadecagon on March 30.^[8] He invented modular arithmetic, greatly simplifying manipulations in number theory. He became the first to prove the quadratic reciprocity law on 8 April. This remarkably general law allows mathematicians to determine the solvability of any quadratic equation in modular arithmetic. The prime number theorem, conjectured on 31 May, gives a good understanding of how the prime numbers are distributed among the

integers. Gauss also discovered that every positive integer is representable as a sum of at most three triangular numbers on 10 July and then jotted down in his diary the famous words, "EYPHKA! num = $\Delta + \Delta + \Delta$ ". On October 1 he published a result on the number of solutions of polynomials with coefficients in finite fields, which ultimately led to the Weil conjectures 150 years later.

Middle years (1799–1830)

In his 1799 doctorate in absentia, A new proof of the theorem that every integral rational algebraic function of one variable can be resolved into real factors of the first or second degree, Gauss proved the fundamental theorem of algebra which states that every non-constant single-variable polynomial over the complex numbers has at least one root. Mathematicians including Jean le Rond d'Alembert had produced false proofs before him, and Gauss's dissertation contains a critique of d'Alembert's work. Ironically, by today's standard, Gauss's own attempt is not acceptable, owing to implicit use of the Jordan curve theorem. However, he subsequently produced three other proofs, the last one in 1849 being generally rigorous. His attempts clarified the concept of complex numbers considerably along the way.

Gauss also made important contributions to number theory with his 1801 book *Disquisitiones Arithmeticae* (Latin, Arithmetical Investigations), which, among things, introduced the symbol \equiv for congruence and used it in a clean presentation of modular arithmetic, had the first two proofs of the law of quadratic reciprocity, developed the theories of binary and ternary quadratic forms, stated the class number problem for them, and showed that a regular heptadecagon (17-sided polygon) can be constructed with straightedge and compass.

In that same year, Italian astronomer Giuseppe Piazzi discovered the dwarf planet Ceres. Piazzi had only been able to track Ceres for a few months, following it for three degrees across the night sky. Then it disappeared temporarily behind the glare of the Sun. Several months later, when Ceres should have reappeared, Piazzi could not locate it: the mathematical tools of the time were not able to extrapolate a position from such a scant amount of data—three degrees represent less than 1% of the total orbit.

Gauss, who was 23 at the time, heard about the problem and tackled it. After three months of intense work, he predicted a position for Ceres in December 1801—just about a year after its first sighting—and this turned out to be accurate within a half-degree when it was rediscovered by Franz Xaver von Zach on 31 December in Gotha, and one day later by Heinrich Olbers in Bremen.

Gauss's method involved determining a conic section in space, given one focus (the sun) and the conic's intersection with three given lines (lines of sight from the earth, which is itself moving on an ellipse, to the planet) and given the time it takes the planet to traverse the arcs determined by these lines (from which the lengths of the arcs can be calculated by Kepler's Second Law). This problem leads to an equation



of the eighth degree, of which one solution, the Earth's orbit, is known. The solution sought is then separated from the remaining six based on physical conditions. In this work Gauss used comprehensive approximation methods which he created for that purpose.^[9]

One such method was the fast Fourier transform. While this method is traditionally attributed to a 1965 paper by J. W. Cooley and J. W. Tukey, Gauss developed it as a trigonometric interpolation method. His paper, *Theoria Interpolationis Methodo Nova Tractata*, was only published posthumously in Volume 3 of his collected works. This

paper predates the first presentation by Joseph Fourier on the subject in 1807.^[10]

Zach noted that "without the intelligent work and calculations of Doctor Gauss we might not have found Ceres again". Though Gauss had been up to that point supported by the stipend from the Duke, he doubted the security of this arrangement, and also did not believe pure mathematics to be important enough to deserve support. Thus he sought a position in astronomy, and in 1807 was appointed Professor of Astronomy and Director of the astronomical observatory in Göttingen, a post he held for the remainder of his life.

The discovery of Ceres led Gauss to his work on a theory of the motion of planetoids disturbed by large planets, eventually published in 1809 as Theoria motus corporum coelestium in sectionibus conicis solem ambientum (theory of motion of the celestial bodies moving in conic sections around the sun). In the process, he so streamlined the cumbersome mathematics of 18th century orbital prediction that his work remains a cornerstone of astronomical computation. It introduced the Gaussian gravitational constant, and contained an influential treatment of the method of least squares, a procedure used in all sciences to this day to minimize the impact of measurement error. Gauss was able to prove the method under the assumption of normally distributed errors (see Gauss-Markov theorem; see also Gaussian). The method had been described earlier by Adrien-Marie Legendre in 1805, but Gauss claimed that he had been using it since 1795.

In 1818 Gauss, putting his calculation skills to practical use, carried out a geodesic survey of the state of Hanover, linking up with previous Danish surveys. To aid in the survey, Gauss invented the heliotrope, an instrument that uses a mirror to reflect sunlight over great distances, to measure positions.

Gauss also claimed to have discovered the possibility of non-Euclidean geometries but never published it. This discovery was a major paradigm shift in mathematics, as it freed mathematicians from the mistaken belief that Euclid's axioms were the only way to make geometry consistent and non-contradictory. Research on these geometries led to, among other things, Einstein's theory of general relativity, which describes the universe as non-Euclidean. His friend Farkas Wolfgang Bolyai with whom Gauss had sworn "brotherhood and the banner of truth" as a student had tried in vain for many years to prove the parallel postulate from Euclid's other axioms of geometry. Bolyai's son, János Bolyai, discovered non-Euclidean geometry in



Nachrichten 1828

1829; his work was published in 1832. After seeing it, Gauss wrote to Farkas Bolyai: "To praise it would amount to praising myself. For the entire content of the work... coincides almost exactly with my own meditations which have occupied my mind for the past thirty or thirty-five years."



This unproved statement put a strain on his relationship with János Bolyai (who thought that Gauss was "stealing" his idea), but it is now generally taken at face value. Letters by Gauss years before 1829 reveal him obscurely discussing the problem of parallel lines. Waldo Dunnington, a biographer of Gauss, argues in Gauss, Titan of Science that Gauss was in fact in full possession of non-Euclidian geometry long before it was published by János Bolyai, but that he refused to publish any of it because of his fear of controversy.

The survey of Hanover fueled Gauss's interest in differential geometry, a field of mathematics dealing with curves and surfaces. Among other things he came up with the notion of Gaussian curvature. This led in 1828 to an important theorem, the Theorema Egregium (*remarkable theorem* in Latin), establishing an important property of the notion of curvature. Informally, the theorem says that the curvature of a surface can be determined entirely by measuring angles and distances on the surface. That is, curvature does not depend on how the surface might be embedded in 3-dimensional space or 2-dimensional space.

In 1821, he was made a foreign member of the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences.

Later years and death (1831–1855)



Daguerreotype of Gauss on his deathbed, 1855.



Grave of Gauss at Albanifriedhof in Göttingen, Germany.

In 1831 Gauss developed a fruitful collaboration with the physics professor Wilhelm Weber, leading to new knowledge in magnetism (including finding a representation for the unit of magnetism in terms of mass, length and time) and the discovery of Kirchhoff's circuit laws in electricity. It was during this time that he formulated his namesake law. They constructed the first electromechanical telegraph in 1833, which connected the observatory with the institute for physics in Göttingen. Gauss ordered a magnetic observatory to be built in the garden of the observatory, and with Weber founded the "Magnetischer Verein" (*magnetic club* in German), which supported measurements of earth's magnetic field in many regions of the world. He developed a method of measuring the horizontal intensity of the magnetic field which has been in use well into the second half of the 20th century and worked out the mathematical theory for separating the inner (core and crust) and outer (magnetospheric) sources of Earth's magnetic field.

In 1840, Gauss published his influential *Dioptrische Untersuchungen*,^[11] in which he gave the first systematic analysis on the formation of images under a paraxial approximation (Gaussian optics).^[12] Among his results, Gauss showed that under a paraxial approximation that an optical system can be characterized by its cardinal points^[13] and he derived the Gaussian lens formula.^[14]

In 1854, Gauss notably selected the topic for Bernhard Riemann's now

famous Habilitationvortrag, *Über die Hypothesen, welche der Geometrie zu Grunde liegen*.^[15] On the way home from Riemann's lecture, Weber reported that Gauss was full of praise and excitement.^[11]

Gauss died in Göttingen, Hannover (now part of Lower Saxony, Germany) in 1855 and is interred in the cemetery Albanifriedhof there. Two individuals gave eulogies at his funeral, Gauss's son-in-law Heinrich Ewald and Wolfgang Sartorius von Waltershausen, who was Gauss's close friend and biographer. His brain was preserved and was studied by Rudolf Wagner who found its mass to be 1,492 grams and the cerebral area equal to 219,588 square millimeters^[16] (340.362 square inches). Highly developed convolutions were also found, which in the early 20th century was suggested as the explanation of his genius.^[2]

Religion

Bühler writes that, according to correspondence with Rudolf Wagner, Gauss did not appear to believe in a personal god. He further asserts that although Gauss firmly believed in the immortality of the soul and in some sort of life after death, it was not in a fashion that could be interpreted as Christian.^[11]

According to Dunnington, Gauss's religion was based upon the search for truth. He believed in "the immortality of the spiritual individuality, in a personal permanence after death, in a last order of things, in an eternal, righteous, omniscient and omnipotent God". Gauss also upheld religious tolerance, believing it wrong to disturb others who were at peace with their own beliefs.^[2]

Family

Gauss's personal life was overshadowed by the early death of his first wife, Johanna Osthoff, in 1809, soon followed by the death of one child, Louis. Gauss plunged into a depression from which he never fully recovered. He married again, to Johanna's best friend named Friederica Wilhelmine Waldeck but commonly known as Minna. When his second wife died in 1831 after a long illness,^[17] one of his daughters, Therese, took over the household and cared for Gauss until the end of his life. His mother lived in his house from 1817 until her death in 1839.^[2]

Gauss had six children. With Johanna (1780–1809), his children were Joseph (1806–1873), Wilhelmina (1808–1846) and Louis (1809–1810). Of all of Gauss's children, Wilhelmina was said to have come closest to his talent, but she died young. With Minna Waldeck he also had three children: Eugene (1811–1896), Wilhelm (1813–1879) and Therese (1816–1864). Eugene shared a good measure of Gauss' talent in languages and computation.^[18] Therese kept house for Gauss until his death, after which she married.



Gauss eventually had conflicts with his sons. He did not want any of his sons to enter mathematics or science for "fear of lowering the family name".^[18] Gauss wanted Eugene to become a lawyer, but Eugene wanted to study languages. They had an argument over a party Eugene held, which Gauss refused to pay for. The son left in anger and, in about 1832, emigrated to the United States, where he was quite successful. Wilhelm also settled in Missouri, starting as a farmer and later becoming wealthy in the shoe business in St. Louis. It took many years for Eugene's success to counteract his reputation among Gauss's friends and colleagues. See also the letter from Robert Gauss to Felix Klein on 3 September 1912.

Personality

Gauss was an ardent perfectionist and a hard worker. He was never a prolific writer, refusing to publish work which he did not consider complete and above criticism. This was in keeping with his personal motto *pauca sed matura* ("few, but ripe"). His personal diaries indicate that he had made several important mathematical discoveries years or decades before his contemporaries published them. Mathematical historian Eric Temple Bell estimated that, had Gauss published all of his discoveries in a timely manner, he would have advanced mathematics by fifty years.^[19]

Though he did take in a few students, Gauss was known to dislike teaching. It is said that he attended only a single scientific conference, which was in Berlin in 1828. However, several of his students became influential mathematicians, among them Richard Dedekind, Bernhard Riemann, and Friedrich Bessel. Before she died, Sophie

Germain was recommended by Gauss to receive her honorary degree.

Gauss usually declined to present the intuition behind his often very elegant proofs—he preferred them to appear "out of thin air" and erased all traces of how he discovered them. This is justified, if unsatisfactorily, by Gauss in his "Disquisitiones Arithmeticae", where he states that all analysis (i.e., the paths one travelled to reach the solution of a problem) must be suppressed for sake of brevity.

Gauss supported monarchy and opposed Napoleon, whom he saw as an outgrowth of revolution.

Mythology

There are several stories of his early genius. According to one, his gifts became very apparent at the age of three when he corrected, mentally and without fault in his calculations, an error his father had made on paper while calculating finances.

Another famous story has it that in primary school after the young Gauss misbehaved, his teacher, J.G. Büttner, gave him a task : add a list of integers in arithmetic progression; as the story is most often told, these were the numbers from 1 to 100. The young Gauss reputedly produced the correct answer within seconds, to the astonishment of his teacher and his assistant Martin Bartels.

Gauss's presumed method was to realize that pairwise addition of terms from opposite ends of the list yielded identical intermediate sums: 1 + 100 = 101, 2 + 99 = 101, 3 + 98 = 101, and so on, for a total sum of $50 \times 101 = 5050$. However, the details of the story are at best uncertain (see ^[20] for discussion of the original Wolfgang Sartorius von Waltershausen source and the changes in other versions); some authors, such as Joseph Rotman in his book *A first course in Abstract Algebra*, question whether it ever happened.

According to Isaac Asimov, Gauss was once interrupted in the middle of a problem and told that his wife was dying. He is purported to have said, "Tell her to wait a moment till I'm done."^[21] This anecdote is briefly discussed in G. Waldo Dunnington's *Gauss, Titan of Science* where it is suggested that it is an apocryphal story.

Commemorations

From 1989 through 2001, Gauss's portrait, a normal distribution curve and some prominent Göttingen buildings were featured on the German ten-mark banknote. The reverse featured the heliotrope and a triangulation approach for Hannover. Germany has also issued three postage stamps honoring Gauss. One (no. 725) appeared in 1955 on the hundredth anniversary of his death; two others, nos. 1246 and 1811, in 1977, the 200th anniversary of his birth.



Daniel Kehlmann's 2005 novel *Die Vermessung der Welt*, translated into English as *Measuring the World* (2006), explores Gauss's life and

work through a lens of historical fiction, contrasting them with those of the German explorer Alexander von Humboldt.

In 2007 a bust of Gauss was placed in the Walhalla temple.^[22]

Things named in honor of Gauss include:

- The CGS unit for magnetic field was named gauss in his honour,
- The crater Gauss on the Moon,^[23]
- Asteroid 1001 Gaussia,
- The ship Gauss, used in the Gauss expedition to the Antarctic,
- · Gaussberg, an extinct volcano discovered by the above mentioned expedition,

- Gauss Tower, an observation tower in Dransfeld, Germany,
- In Canadian junior high schools, an annual national mathematics competition (Gauss Mathematics Competition) administered by the Centre for Education in Mathematics and Computing is named in honour of Gauss,
- In University of California, Santa Cruz, in Crown College, a dormitory building is named after him,
- The Gauss Haus, an NMR center at the University of Utah,



Gauss (aged about 26) on East German stamp produced in 1977. Next to him: heptadecagon, compass and straightedge.

- The Carl-Friedrich-Gauß School for Mathematics, Computer Science, Business Administration, Economics, and Social Sciences of University of Braunschweig,
- The Gauss Building University of Idaho (College of Engineering).

In 1929 the Polish mathematician Marian Rejewski, who would solve the German Enigma cipher machine in December 1932, began studying actuarial statistics at Göttingen. At the request of his Poznań University professor, Zdzisław Krygowski, on arriving at Göttingen Rejewski laid flowers on Gauss's grave.^[24]

Writings

- 1799: Doctoral dissertation on the Fundamental theorem of algebra, with the title: *Demonstratio nova theorematis omnem functionem algebraicam rationalem integram unius variabilis in factores reales primi vel secundi gradus resolvi posse* ("New proof of the theorem that every integral algebraic function of one variable can be resolved into real factors (i.e., polynomials) of the first or second degree")
- 1801: Disquisitiones Arithmeticae ^[25]. German translation by H. Maser Untersuchungen über höhere Arithmetik (Disquisitiones Arithmeticae & other papers on number theory) (Second edition). New York: Chelsea. 1965.
 ISBN 0-8284-0191-8, pp. 1–453. English translation by Arthur A. Clarke Disquisitiones Arithemeticae (Second, corrected edition). New York: Springer. 1986. ISBN 0387962549.
- 1808: Theorematis arithmetici demonstratio nova. Göttingen: Comment. Soc. regiae sci, Göttingen XVI. German translation by H. Maser Untersuchungen über höhere Arithmetik (Disquisitiones Arithmeticae & other papers on number theory) (Second edition). New York: Chelsea. 1965. ISBN 0-8284-0191-8, pp. 457–462 [Introduces Gauss's lemma, uses it in the third proof of quadratic reciprocity]
- 1809: *Theoria Motus Corporum Coelestium in sectionibus conicis solem ambientium* ^[26] (Theorie der Bewegung der Himmelskörper, die die Sonne in Kegelschnitten umkreisen), English translation by C. H. Davis, reprinted 1963, Dover, New York.
- 1811: Summatio serierun quarundam singularium. Göttingen: Comment. Soc. regiae sci, Göttingen. German translation by H. Maser Untersuchungen über höhere Arithmetik (Disquisitiones Arithmeticae & other papers on number theory) (Second edition). New York: Chelsea. 1965. ISBN 0-8284-0191-8, pp. 463–495 [Determination of the sign of the quadratic Gauss sum, uses this to give the fourth proof of quadratic reciprocity]
- 1812: Disquisitiones Generales Circa Seriem Infinitam $1 + \frac{\alpha\beta}{\gamma.1} + \text{etc.}$
- 1818: Theorematis fundamentallis in doctrina de residuis quadraticis demonstrationes et amplicationes novae. Göttingen: Comment. Soc. regiae sci, Göttingen. German translation by H. Maser Untersuchungen über höhere Arithmetik (Disquisitiones Arithmeticae & other papers on number theory) (Second edition). New York: Chelsea. 1965. ISBN 0-8284-0191-8, pp. 496–510 [Fifth and sixth proofs of quadratic reciprocity]

- 1821, 1823 und 1826: *Theoria combinationis observationum erroribus minimis obnoxiae*. Drei Abhandlungen betreffend die Wahrscheinlichkeitsrechnung als Grundlage des Gauß'schen Fehlerfortpflanzungsgesetzes. English translation by G. W. Stewart, 1987, Society for Industrial Mathematics.
- 1827: Disquisitiones generales circa superficies curvas ^[27], Commentationes Societatis Regiae Scientiarum Gottingesis Recentiores. Volume VI, pp. 99–146. "General Investigations of Curved Surfaces ^[28]" (published 1965) Raven Press, New York, translated by A.M.Hiltebeitel and J.C.Morehead.
- 1828: Theoria residuorum biquadraticorum, Commentatio prima. Göttingen: Comment. Soc. regiae sci, Göttingen 6. German translation by H. Maser Untersuchungen über höhere Arithmetik (Disquisitiones Arithmeticae & other papers on number theory) (Second edition). New York: Chelsea. 1965. ISBN 0-8284-0191-8, pp. 511–533 [Elementary facts about biquadratic residues, proves one of the supplements of the law of biquadratic reciprocity (the biquadratic character of 2)]
- 1832: *Theoria residuorum biquadraticorum, Commentatio secunda*. Göttingen: Comment. Soc. regiae sci, Göttingen 7. German translation by H. Maser *Untersuchungen über höhere Arithmetik (Disquisitiones Arithmeticae & other papers on number theory) (Second edition)*. New York: Chelsea. 1965. ISBN 0-8284-0191-8, pp. 534–586 [Introduces the Gaussian integers, states (without proof) the law of biquadratic reciprocity, proves the supplementary law for 1 + i]
- 1843/44: Untersuchungen über Gegenstände der Höheren Geodäsie. Erste Abhandlung ^[29], Abhandlungen der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften in Göttingen. Zweiter Band ^[30], pp. 3–46
- 1846/47: Untersuchungen über Gegenstände der Höheren Geodäsie. Zweite Abhandlung ^[31], Abhandlungen der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften in Göttingen. Dritter Band ^[32], pp. 3–44
- Mathematisches Tagebuch 1796–1814, Ostwaldts Klassiker, Harri Deutsch Verlag 2005, mit Anmerkungen von Neumamn, ISBN 978-3-8171-3402-1 (English translation with annotations by Jeremy Gray: Expositiones Math. 1984)
- Gauss' collective works are online here ^[33] This includes German translations of Latin texts and commentaries by various authorities

Notes

- [1] Zeidler, Eberhard (2004). Oxford User's Guide to Mathematics. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press. p. 1188. ISBN 0198507631.
- [2] Dunnington, G. Waldo. (May, 1927). "The Sesquicentennial of the Birth of Gauss (http://www.mathsong.com/cfgauss/Dunnington/1927/)". Scientific Monthly XXIV: 402–414. Retrieved on 29 June 2005. Comprehensive biographical article.
- [3] Smith, S. A., et al. 2001. Algebra 1: California Edition. Prentice Hall, New Jersey. ISBN 0-13-044263-1
- [4] "Carl Friedrich Gauss" (http://www.math.wichita.edu/history/men/gauss.html). Wichita State University. .
- [5] "Gauss Birthday Problem" (http://american_almanac.tripod.com/gauss.htm). .
- [6] Susan Chambless (2000-03-11). "Letter:WORTHINGTON, Helen to Carl F. Gauss 1911-07-26" (http://www.gausschildren.org/genwiki/ index.php?title=Letter:WORTHINGTON,_Helen_to_Carl_F._Gauss_-_1911-07-26). Susan D. Chambless. Retrieved 2011-09-14.
- [7] Pappas, Theoni: Mathematical Snippets, Page 42. Pgw 2008
- [8] Carl Friedrich Gauss §§365–366 in Disquisitiones Arithmeticae. Leipzig, Germany, 1801. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 1965.
- [9] Klein, Felix; Hermann, Robert (1979). Development of mathematics in the 19th century. Math Sci Press. ISBN 9780915692286.
- [10] Heideman, M.; Johnson, D., Burrus, C. (1984). "Gauss and the history of the fast fourier transform". *IEEE ASSP Magazine* 1 (4): 14–21. doi:10.1109/MASSP.1984.1162257.
- [11] Bühler, Walter Kaufmann (1987). Gauss: a biographical study. Springer-Verlag. pp. 144-145. ISBN 0387106626.
- [12] Hecht, Eugene (1987). Optics. Addison Wesley. p. 134. ISBN 020111609X.
- [13] Bass, Michael; DeCusatis, Casimer; Enoch, Jay; Lakshminarayanan, Vasudevan (2009). Handbook of Optics. McGraw Hill Professional. p. 17.7. ISBN 0071498893.
- [14] Ostdiek, Vern J.; Bord, Donald J. (2007). Inquiry Into Physics. Cengage Learning. p. 381. ISBN 0495119431.
- [15] Monastyrsky, Michael (1987). Riemann, Topology, and Physics. Birkhäuser. pp. 21–22. ISBN 081763262X.
- [16] This reference from 1891 (Donaldson, Henry H. (1891). "Anatomical Observations on the Brain and Several Sense-Organs of the Blind Deaf-Mute, Laura Dewey Bridgman". *The American Journal of Psychology* (E. C. Sanford) 4 (2): 248–294. doi:10.2307/1411270. JSTOR 1411270.) says: "Gauss, 1492 grm. 957 grm. 219588. sq. mm. "; i.e., the unit is *square mm*. In the later reference: Dunnington (1927), the unit is erroneously reported as square cm, which gives an unreasonably large area, the 1891 reference is more reliable.

- 282
- [17] "Gauss biography" (http://www-groups.dcs.st-and.ac.uk/~history/Biographies/Gauss.html). Groups.dcs.st-and.ac.uk. . Retrieved 2008-09-01.
- [18] "Letter:GAUSS, Charles Henry to Florian Cajori 1898-12-21" (http://www.gausschildren.org/genwiki/index. php?title=Letter:GAUSS,_Charles_Henry_to_Florian_Cajori_-_1898-12-21). Susan D. Chambless. 2000-03-11. . Retrieved 2011-09-14.
- [19] Bell, E. T. (2009). "Ch. 14: The Prince of Mathematicians: Gauss". Men of Mathematics: The Lives and Achievements of the Great Mathematicians from Zeno to Poincaré. New York: Simon and Schuster. pp. 218–269. ISBN 0-671-46400-0.
- $\cite{20} http://www.americanscientist.org/issues/pub/gausss-day-of-reckoning/2$
- [21] Asimov, I. (1972). Biographical Encyclopedia of Science and Technology; the Lives and Achievements of 1195 Great Scientists from Ancient Times to the Present, Chronologically Arranged.. New York: Doubleday.
- [22] "Bayerisches Staatsministerium für Wissenschaft, Forschung und Kunst: Startseite" (http://www.stmwfk.bayern.de/downloads/aviso/ 2004_1_aviso_48-49.pdf). Stmwfk.bayern.de. . Retrieved 2009-07-19.
- [23] Andersson, L. E.; Whitaker, E. A., (1982). NASA Catalogue of Lunar Nomenclature. NASA RP-1097.
- [24] Władysław Kozaczuk, *Enigma: How the German Machine Cipher Was Broken, and How It Was Read by the Allies in World War Two*, Frederick, Maryland, University Publications of America, 1984, p. 7, note 6.
- [25] http://resolver.sub.uni-goettingen.de/purl?PPN235993352
- [26] http://books.google.com/books?id=ORUOAAAAQAAJ&dq=Theoria+Motus+Corporum+Coelestium+in+sectionibus+conicis+ solem+ambientium&cad=0
- [27] http://www-gdz.sub.uni-goettingen.de/cgi-bin/digbib.cgi?PPN35283028X_0006_2NS
- [28] http://quod.lib.umich.edu/cgi/t/text/text-idx?c=umhistmath;idno=ABR1255
- [29] http://dz-srv1.sub.uni-goettingen.de/contentserver/contentserver?command=docconvert&docid=D39018
- [30] http://www-gdz.sub.uni-goettingen.de/cgi-bin/digbib.cgi?PPN250442582_0002
- [31] http://dz-srv1.sub.uni-goettingen.de/contentserver/contentserver?command=docconvert&docid=D39036
- [32] http://www-gdz.sub.uni-goettingen.de/cgi-bin/digbib.cgi?PPN250442582_0003
- [33] http://dz-srv1.sub.uni-goettingen.de/cache/toc/D38910.html

Further reading

- Dunnington, G. Waldo. (2003). Carl Friedrich Gauss: Titan of Science. The Mathematical Association of America. ISBN 088385547X. OCLC 53933110.
- Gauss, Carl Friedrich (1965). *Disquisitiones Arithmeticae*. tr. Arthur A. Clarke. Yale University Press. ISBN 0300094736.
- Hall, Tord (1970). Carl Friedrich Gauss: A Biography. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. ISBN 0262080400. OCLC 185662235.
- Kehlmann, Daniel (2005). Die Vermessung der Welt. Rowohlt. ISBN 3498035282. OCLC 144590801.
- Sartorius von Waltershausen, Wolfgang (1966). Gauss: A Memorial (http://www.archive.org/details/ gauss00waltgoog).
- Simmons, J. (1996). *The Giant Book of Scientists: The 100 Greatest Minds of All Time*. Sydney: The Book Company.
- Tent, Margaret (2006). The Prince of Mathematics: Carl Friedrich Gauss. A K Peters. ISBN 1568814550.

External links

- Carl Friedrich Gauss (http://planetmath.org/?op=getobj&from=objects&id=5594) on PlanetMath
- Complete works (http://www-gdz.sub.uni-goettingen.de/cgi-bin/digbib.cgi?PPN235957348)
- Works by or about Carl Friedrich Gauss (http://worldcat.org/identities/lccn-n79-38533) in libraries (WorldCat catalog)
- Gauss and his children (http://www.gausschildren.org)
- Gauss biography (http://www.corrosion-doctors.org/Biographies/GaussBio.htm)
- Carl Friedrich Gauss (http://genealogy.math.ndsu.nodak.edu/id.php?id=18231) at the Mathematics Genealogy Project.
- Carl Friedrich Gauss (http://fermatslasttheorem.blogspot.com/2005/06/carl-friedrich-gauss.html), Biography at Fermat's Last Theorem Blog.
- Gauss: mathematician of the millennium (http://www.idsia.ch/~juergen/gauss.html), by Jürgen Schmidhuber

- English translation of Waltershausen's 1862 biography (http://books.google.com/books?id=yh0PAAAAIAAJ)
- Gauss (http://www.gauss.info) general website on Gauss
- MNRAS 16 (1856) 80 (http://adsabs.harvard.edu//full/seri/MNRAS/0016//0000080.000.html) Obituary
- Carl Friedrich Gauss on the 10 Deutsche Mark banknote (http://www-personal.umich.edu/~jbourj/money1. htm)
- O'Connor, John J.; Robertson, Edmund F., "Carl Friedrich Gauss" (http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/ Biographies/Gauss.html), *MacTutor History of Mathematics archive*, University of St Andrews.
- Carl Friedrich Gauss at Wikiquote

Oliver Heaviside

Oliver Heaviside				
Fortrait by Francis Edwin Hodge				
Born	18 May 1850			
	Camden Town, London, England			
Died	3 February 1925 (aged 74)			
	Torquay, Devon, England			
Residence	England			
Nationality	English			
Fields	Electrical engineering, mathematics and physics			
Institutions	Great Northern Telegraph Company			
Known for	Heaviside cover-up method			
	Kennelly-Heaviside layer			
	Reactance			
	Heaviside step function			
	Differential operators			
	Vector analysis			
	Heaviside condition			
Notable awards	Faraday Medal			
Notes				
Famous quote: Shall I refuse my dinner because I	do not fully understand the process of digestion?			

Oliver Heaviside (/'DIv θ r'h ϵ visaId/ (18 May 1850 – 3 February 1925) was a self-taught English electrical engineer, mathematician, and physicist who adapted complex numbers to the study of electrical circuits, invented mathematical techniques to the solution of differential equations (later found to be equivalent to Laplace transforms), reformulated Maxwell's field equations in terms of electric and magnetic forces and energy flux, and independently co-formulated vector analysis. Although at odds with the scientific establishment for most of his life, Heaviside changed the face of mathematics and science for years to come.

Biography

Early years

Heaviside was born at 55 Kings Street^[1] (now Plender Street) in London's Camden Town. He was short and red-headed, and suffered from scarlet fever when young, which left him with a hearing impairment. He was a good student (e.g. placed fifth out of five hundred students in 1865). Heaviside's uncle Sir Charles Wheatstone (1802–1875) was the original co-inventor of the telegraph in the mid 1830s, and was an internationally celebrated
expert in telegraphy and electromagnetism. Wheatstone was married to Heaviside's aunt in London and took a strong interest in his nephew's education.^[2]

Heaviside left school at age 16 to study at home in the subjects of telegraphy and electromagnetism. He continued fulltime study at home until age 18. Then – in the only paid employment he ever had^[2] – he took a job as a telegraph operator with the Great Northern Telegraph Company working first in Denmark and then in Newcastle-upon-Tyne, and was soon made a chief operator. It is likely that his uncle Sir Charles was instrumental in getting Heaviside the telegraph operator position.^[3] Heaviside continued to study while working, and at age 21 and 22 he published some research related to electric circuits and telegraphy. In 1874 at age 24 he quit his job and returned to studying fulltime on his own at his parents' home in London. He remained single throughout his life.

In 1873 Heaviside had encountered James Clerk Maxwell's newly published, and today famous, two-volume *Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism.* In his old age Heaviside recalled:

Fremember my first look at the great treatise of Maxwell's when I was a young man... I saw that it was great, greater and greatest, with prodigious possibilities in its power... I was determined to master the book and set to work. I was very ignorant. I had no knowledge of mathematical analysis (having learned only school algebra and trigonometry which I had largely forgotten) and thus my work was laid out for me. It took me several years before I could understand as much as I possibly could. Then I set Maxwell aside and followed my own course. And I progressed much more quickly... It will be understood that I preach the gospel according to my interpretation of Maxwell.^[4]

Doing fulltime research from home, he helped develop transmission line theory (also known as the "*telegrapher's equations*"). Heaviside showed mathematically that uniformly distributed inductance in a telegraph line would diminish both attenuation and distortion, and that, if the inductance were great enough and the insulation resistance not too high, the circuit would be distortionless while currents of all frequencies would have equal speeds of propagation. Heaviside's equations helped further the implementation of the telegraph.

Middle years

In 1880, Heaviside researched the skin effect in telegraph transmission lines. That same year he patented, in England, the coaxial cable. In 1884 he recast Maxwell's mathematical analysis from its original cumbersome form (they had already been recast as quaternions) to its modern vector terminology, thereby reducing twelve of the original twenty equations in twenty unknowns down to the four differential equations in two unknowns we now know as Maxwell's equations. The four re-formulated Maxwell's equations describe the nature of static and moving electric charges and magnetic dipoles, and the relationship between the two, namely electromagnetic induction.

Between 1880 and 1887, Heaviside developed the operational calculus (involving the *D* notation for the differential operator, which he is credited with creating), a method of solving differential equations by transforming them into ordinary algebraic equations which caused a great deal of controversy when first introduced, owing to the lack of rigour in his derivation of it. He famously said, "Mathematics is an experimental science, and definitions do not come first, but later on." He was replying to criticism over his use of operators that were not clearly defined. On another occasion he stated somewhat more defensively, "I do not refuse my dinner simply because I do not understand the process of digestion."

In 1887, Heaviside proposed that induction coils (inductors) should be added to telephone and telegraph lines to increase their self-induction and correct the distortion which they suffered. For political reasons, this was not done. The importance of Heaviside's work remained undiscovered for some time after publication in The Electrician, and so its rights lay in the public domain. AT&T later employed one of its own scientists, George A. Campbell, and an external investigator Michael I. Pupin to determine whether Heaviside's work was incomplete or incorrect. Campbell and Pupin extended Heaviside's work, and AT&T filed for patents covering not only their research, but also the technical method of constructing the coils previously invented by Heaviside. AT&T later offered Heaviside money in exchange for his rights; it is possible that the Bell engineers' respect for Heaviside influenced this offer. However, Heaviside refused the offer, declining to accept any money unless the company were to give him full recognition.

Heaviside was chronically poor, making his refusal of the offer even more striking.^[5]

In two papers of 1888 and 1889, Heaviside calculated the deformations of electric and magnetic fields surrounding a moving charge, as well as the effects of it entering a denser medium. This included a prediction of what is now known as Cherenkov radiation, and inspired his friend George FitzGerald to suggest what now is known as the Lorentz-Fitzgerald contraction.

In the late 1880s and early 1890s, Heaviside worked on the concept of electromagnetic mass. Heaviside treated this as material mass, capable of producing the same effects. Wilhelm Wien later verified Heaviside's expression (for low velocities).

In 1891 the British Royal Society recognized Heaviside's contributions to the mathematical description of electromagnetic phenomena by naming him a Fellow of the Royal Society, and the following year devoting more than fifty pages of the *Philosophical Transactions* of the Society to his vector methods and electromagnetic theory. In 1905 Heaviside was given an honorary doctorate by the University of Göttingen.

Later years

In 1902, Heaviside proposed the existence of the Kennelly-Heaviside Layer of the ionosphere which bears his name. Heaviside's proposal included means by which radio signals are transmitted around the Earth's curvature. The existence of the ionosphere was confirmed in 1923. The predictions by Heaviside, combined with Planck's radiation theory, probably discouraged further attempts to detect radio waves from the Sun and other astronomical objects. For whatever reason, there seem to have been no attempts for 30 years, until Jansky's development of radio astronomy in 1932.

In later years his behavior became quite eccentric. Though he had been an active cyclist in his youth, his health seriously declined in his sixth decade. During this time Heaviside would sign letters with the initials "W.O.R.M." after his name. Heaviside also reportedly started painting his fingernails pink and had granite blocks moved into his house for furniture.^[6] In 1922, he became the first recipient of the Faraday Medal, which was established that year.



Heaviside's grave in Paignton cemetery

Heaviside died at Torquay in Devon, and is buried in Paignton cemetery. Most of his recognition was gained posthumously.

Innovations and discoveries

Heaviside did much to develop and advocate vector methods and the vector calculus. Maxwell's formulation of electromagnetism consisted of 20 equations in 20 variables. Heaviside employed the curl and divergence operators of the vector calculus to reformulate 12 of these 20 equations into four equations in four variables (**B**, **E**, **J**, and ρ), the form by which they have been known ever since (see Maxwell's equations). He invented the Heaviside step function and employed it to model the current in an electric circuit. He invented the operator method for solving linear differential equations, which resembles current Laplace transform methods (see inverse Laplace transform, also known as the "Bromwich integral"). The UK mathematician Thomas John I'Anson Bromwich later devised a rigorous mathematical justification for Heaviside's operator method.

Heaviside advanced the idea that the Earth's uppermost atmosphere contained an ionized layer known as the ionosphere; in this regard, he predicted the existence of what later was dubbed the Kennelly-Heaviside Layer. He developed the transmission line theory (also known as the "telegrapher's equations"). He also independently co-discovered the Poynting vector.

Electromagnetic terms

Heaviside coined the following terms of art in electromagnetic theory:

- admittance (December 1887);
- conductance (September 1885);
- electret for the electric analogue of a permanent magnet, or, in other words, any substance that exhibits a quasi-permanent electric polarization (e.g. ferroelectric);
- impedance (July 1886);
- inductance (February 1886);
- permeability (September 1885);
- permittance (later susceptance; June 1887);
- reluctance (May 1888).

Publications

- 1885, 1886, and 1887, "Electromagnetic induction and its propagation", *The Electrician*.
- 1887. Electrical Papers.
- 1888/89, "Electromagnetic waves, the propagation of potential, and the electromagnetic effects of a moving charge", *The Electrician*.
- 1889, "On the Electromagnetic Effects due to the Motion of Electrification through a Dielectric", *Phil.Mag.S.5* 27: 324.
- 1892, "On the Forces, Stresses, and Fluxes of Energy in the Electromagnetic Field", *Philosopical Transaction of the Royal Society A* 183:423–80.
- 1893, "A gravitational and electromagnetic analogy,^[7]" *The Electrician*.
- 1951. Electromagnetic theory: The complete & unabridged edition. ISBN B0000CI0WA
- 1970. Electromagnetic Theory. American Mathematical Society. ISBN 0-8284-0237-X.
- 1999. Electrical Papers. American Mathematical Society. ISBN 0-8284-0235-3.
- 2003. Electrical Papers. American Mathematical Society. ISBN 0-8218-2840-1

Notes

- [1] From the book: Oliver Heaviside: the life, work, and times of an electrical genius of the victorian age. See (http://books.google.dk/ books?id=e9wEntQmA0IC&pg=PA13&lpg=PA13&dq=Oliver+Heaviside+birth+street#v=onepage&q=Oliver Heaviside birth street& f=false)
- [2] See History of Wireless (http://books.google.com/books?id=NBLEAA6QKYkC&pg=PA230&lpg=PA230&dq="wheatstone+took+a+ strong+interest+in+his+nephews"), a book by Tapan K Sarkar *et al.*
- [3] See (http://books.google.com/books?id=NBLEAA6QKYkC&pg=PA230&lpg=PA230&dq="wheatstone+took+a+strong+interest+in+his+nephews")
- [4] History of Wireless (http://books.google.com/books?id=NBLEAA6QKYkC&pg=PA232&lpg=PA232&dq="i+saw+that+it+was+ great+greater+and+greatest"&source=web&ots=1G_KeoS5sw&sig=AI3V-qcdD3mA3U1rP6nZghqnh90), a book by Tapan K Sarkar
- [5] Norbert Wiener (1993). Invention: The Care and Feeding of Ideas. MIT Press. pp. 70-75. ISBN 0262731118.
- [6] Nahin (2002), p.xx
- [7] http://serg.fedosin.ru/Heavisid.htm

Further reading

Sorted by date.

- Lee, G., "Oliver Heaviside". London, 1947.
- "The Heaviside Centenary Volume". The Institution of Electrical Engineers. London, 1950.
- Josephs, H, J., "Oliver Heaviside : a biography". London, 1963.
- Josephs, H, J., "*The Heaviside Papers found at Paignton in 1957*.". Electromagnetic Theory by Oliver Heaviside. New York, 1971.
- Moore, D. H., "Heaviside Operational Calculus". New York, 1971. ISBN 0-444-00090-9
- Buchwald, J. Z., "From Maxwell to microphysics". Chicago, 1985. ISBN 0-226-07882-5
- Searle, G. F. C., "Oliver Heaviside, the Man". St Albans, 1987. ISBN 0-906340-05-5
- Nahin, P. J., "Oliver Heaviside, Sage in Solitude". IEEE Press, New York, 1988. ISBN 0-87942-238-6
- Laithwaite, E. R., "Oliver Heaviside establishment shaker". Electrical Review, November 12, 1982.
- Hunt, B. J., "The Maxwellians". Ithaca NY, 1991.ISBN 0-8014-8234-8
- Lynch, A. C., "*The Sources for a Biography of Oliver Heaviside*". History of Technology, Vol. 13, ed. G. Hollister-Short, London & New York, 1991.
- Yavetz, I., "From Obscurity to Enigma: The Work of Oliver Heaviside, 1872-1889". Basel, 1995. ISBN 3-7643-5180-2
- Pickover, Clifford A., "Strange Brains and Genius, The Secret Lives of Eccentric Scientists and Madmen". June 2, 1999. ISBN 0-688-16894-9
- Nahin, Paul J., "Oliver Heaviside: The Life, Work, and Times of an Electrical Genius of the Victorian Age". November, 2002. ISBN 0-8018-6909-9
- Mahon, Basil, "*Oliver Heaviside: Maverick mastermind of electricity*". The Institution of Engineering and Technology. 2009. ISBN 978-0-86341-965-2

External links

- The MacTutor History of Mathematics archive, "*Oliver Heaviside* (http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/ history/Mathematicians/Heaviside.html)". School of Mathematics and Statistics. University of St Andrews, Scotland
 - Heather, Alan, " *Oliver Heaviside* (http://www-history.mcs.st-and.ac.uk/history/Miscellaneous/ other_links/Heaviside.html)". Torbay Amateur Radio Society.
- Katz, Eugenii, " *Oliver Heaviside* (http://web.archive.org/web/20091027123043/http://geocities.com/ neveyaakov/electro_science/heaviside.html)". Hebrew University of Jerusalem.
- "Oliver Heaviside". John H. Lienhard. *The Engines of Our Ingenuity*. NPR. KUHF-FM Houston. 1990. No. 426. Transcript (http://www.uh.edu/engines/epi426.htm).
- Ghigo, F., " *Pre-History of Radio Astronomy, Oliver Heaviside* (http://www.nrao.edu/whatisra/hist_prehist. shtml#heaviside) (*1850-1925*)". National Radio Astronomy Observatory, Green Bank, West Virginia.
- Eric W. Weisstein, "Heaviside, Oliver (1850-1925) (http://scienceworld.wolfram.com/biography/Heaviside. html)". *Eric Weisstein's World of Scientific Biography*. Wolfram Media, Inc.
- Naughton, Russell, " *Oliver W. Heaviside* (http://www.acmi.net.au/AIC/HEAVISIDE_BIO.html): 1850 1925". Adventures in CyberSound.
- Bexte, Peter, " *Kabel im Denkraum* (http://www.freitag.de/2002/44/02441801.php)" (German)
 - *Tr*. "Cable in the thinking area"
- McGinty, Phil, " *Oliver Heaviside* (http://www.torbytes.co.uk/op/tm2/lv2/item932-def.htm)". Devon Life, Torbay Library Services.
- Gustafson, Grant, "*Heaviside's Methods* (http://www.math.utah.edu/~gustafso/HeavisideCoverup.pdf)". math.Utah.edu. (PDF)

- The Dibner Library Portrait Collection, " *Oliver Heaviside* (http://www.sil.si.edu/digitalcollections/hst/scientific-identity/fullsize/SIL14-H003-03a.jpg)".
- " Physical units (http://78.1911encyclopedia.org/U/UN/UNITS_PHYSICAL.htm)". 1911 Encyclopædia
- Heaviside's Operational Calculus (http://www.du.edu/~jcalvert/math/laplace.htm)
- Heaviside's Operator Calculus (http://myreckonings.com/wordpress/2007/12/07/ heavisides-operator-calculus/)
- JACKSON, W (1950). "Life and work of Oliver Heaviside (May 18, 1850-February 3, 1925).". *Nature* 165 (4208): 991–3. 1950 Jun 24. Bibcode 1950Natur.165..991J. doi:10.1038/165991a0. PMID 15439051
- Many books by Heaviside available online (http://www.archive.org/search.php?query=creator:Heaviside, Oliver) at The Internet Archive

This article incorporates text from a publication now in the public domain: Chisholm, Hugh, ed (1911). *Encyclopædia Britannica* (11th ed.). Cambridge University Press.

Joseph Henry

Joseph Henry		
Born	December 17, 1797 Albany, New York, USA	
Died	May 13, 1878 (aged 80) Washington, D. C., USA	
Nationality	United States	
Fields	Physics	
Institutions	The Albany Academy Princeton University Smithsonian Institution	
Alma mater	The Albany Academy	
Known for	Electromagnetic induction	
Influences	Michael Faraday	
Influenced	Charles Grafton Page	

Joseph Henry (December 17, 1797 – May 13, 1878) was an American scientist who served as the first Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution, as well as a founding member of the National Institute for the Promotion of Science, a precursor of the Smithsonian Institution.^[1] During his lifetime, he was highly regarded. While building electromagnets, Henry discovered the electromagnetic phenomenon of self-inductance. He also discovered mutual inductance independently of Michael Faraday, though Faraday was the first to publish his results.^{[2] [3]} The SI unit of inductance, the henry, is named in his honor. Henry's work on the electromagnetic relay was the basis of the electrical telegraph, invented by Samuel Morse and Charles Wheatstone separately.

Biography

Henry was born in Albany, New York to Scottish immigrants Ann Alexander Henry and William Henry. His parents were poor, and Henry's father died while he was still young. For the rest of his childhood, Henry lived with his grandmother in Galway, New York. He attended a school which would later be named the "Joseph Henry Elementary School" in his honor. After school, he worked at a general store, and at the age of thirteen became an apprentice watchmaker and silversmith. Joseph's first love was theater and he came close to becoming a professional actor. His interest in science was sparked at the age of sixteen by a book of lectures on scientific topics titled *Popular Lectures on Experimental Philosophy*. In 1819 he entered The Albany Academy, where he was given free tuition. He was so poor, even with free tuition, that he had to support himself with teaching and private tutoring positions. He intended to go into the field of medicine, but in 1824 he was appointed an assistant engineer for the survey of the State road being constructed between the Hudson River and Lake Erie. From then on, he was inspired to a career in

either civil or mechanical engineering.

Henry excelled at his studies (so much so, that he would often be helping his teachers teach science) that in 1826 he was appointed Professor of Mathematics and Natural Philosophy at The Albany Academy by Principal T. Romeyn Beck. Some of his most important research was conducted in this new position. His curiosity about terrestrial magnetism led him to experiment with magnetism in general. He was the first to coil insulated wire tightly around an iron core in order to make a more powerful electromagnet, improving on William Sturgeon's electromagnet which used loosely coiled uninsulated wire. Using this technique, he built the strongest electromagnet at the time for Yale. He also showed that, when making an electromagnet using just two



electrodes attached to a battery, it is best to wind several coils of wire in parallel, but when using a set-up with multiple batteries, there should be only one single long coil. The latter made the telegraph feasible.



Joseph Henry, taken between 1865 and 1878, possibly by Mathew Brady.

Using his newly-developed electromagnetic principle, Henry in 1831 created one of the first machines to use electromagnetism for motion. This was the earliest ancestor of modern DC motor. It did not make use of rotating motion, but was merely an electromagnet perched on a pole, rocking back and forth. The rocking motion was caused by one of the two leads on both ends of the magnet rocker touching one of the two battery cells, causing a polarity change, and rocking the opposite direction until the other two leads hit the other battery.

This apparatus allowed Henry to recognize the property of self inductance. British scientist Michael Faraday also recognized this property around the same time; since Faraday published his results first, he became the officially recognized discoverer of the phenomenon.

In 1848 Henry worked in conjunction with Professor Stephen Alexander to determine the relative temperatures for different parts of

the solar disk. They used a thermopile to determine that sunspots were cooler than the surrounding regions.^{[4] [5] [6]} ^[7] This work was shown to the astronomer Angelo Secchi who extended it, but with some question as to whether Henry was given proper credit for his earlier work.^[8]

Influences in aeronautics

Prof. Henry was introduced to Prof. Thaddeus Lowe, a balloonist from New Hampshire who had taken interest in the phenomenon of lighter-than-air gases, and exploits into meteorology, in particular, the high winds which we call the Jet stream today. It was Lowe's intent to make a transatlantic crossing by utilizing an enormous gas-inflated aerostat. Henry took a great interest in Lowe's endeavors, promoting him among some of the more prominent scientists and institutions of the day.

In June 1860, Lowe had made a successful test flight with his gigantic balloon, first named the *City of New York* and later renamed *The Great Western*, flying from Philadelphia to Medford, New York. Lowe would not be able to attempt a transatlantic flight until late Spring of the 1861, so Henry convinced him to take his balloon to a point more West and fly the balloon back to the eastern seaboard, an exercise that would keep his investors interested.

Lowe took several smaller balloons to Cincinnati, Ohio in March 1861. On 19 April, he launched on a fateful flight that landed him in Confederate South Carolina. With the Southern States seceding from the union, and the onset of civil war, Lowe abandoned further attempts at a transatlantic crossing and, with Henry's endorsement, went to Washington to offer his services as an aeronaut to the Federal government. Henry submitted a letter to Secretary of War Simon Cameron which carried Henry's endorsement:

Hon. SIMON CAMERON:

DEAR SIR: In accordance with your request made to me orally on the morning of the 6th of June, I have examined the apparatus and witnessed the balloon experiments of Mr. Lowe, and have come to the following conclusions:

1st. The balloon prepared by Mr. Lowe, inflated with ordinary street gas, will retain its charge for several days.

2d. In an inflated condition it can be towed by a few men along an ordinary road, or over fields, in ordinarily calm weather, from the places where it is galled [i.e. swelled or inflated] to another, twenty or more miles distant.

3d. It can be let up into the air by means of a rope in a calm day to a height sufficient to observe the country for twenty miles around and more, according to the degree of clearness of the atmosphere. The ascent may also be made at night and the camp lights of the enemy observed.

4th. From experiments made here for the first time it is conclusively proved that telegrams can be sent with ease and certainty between the balloon and the quarters of the commanding officer.

5th. I feel assured, although I have not witnessed the experiment, that when the surface wind is from the east, as it was for several days last week, an observer in the balloon can be made to float nearly to the enemy's camp (as it is now situated to the west of us), or even to float over it, and then return eastward by rising to a higher elevation. This assumption is based on the fact that the upper strata of wind in this latitude is always flowing eastward. Mr. Lowe informs me, and I do not doubt his statement, that he will on any day which is favorable make an excursion of the kind above mentioned.

6th. From all the facts I have observed and the information I have gathered I am sure that important information may be obtained in regard to the topography of the country and to the position and movements of an enemy by means of the balloon now, and that Mr. Lowe is well qualified to render service in this way by the balloon now in his possession.

7th. The balloon which Mr. Lowe now has in Washington can only be inflated in a city where street gas is to be obtained. If an exploration is required at a point too distant for the transportation of the inflated balloon, an additional apparatus for the generation of hydrogen gas will be required. The necessity of generating the gas renders the use of the balloon more expensive, but this, where important results are required, is of comparatively small importance.

For these preliminary experiments, as you may recollect, a sum not to exceed \$200 or \$250 was to be appropriated, and in accordance with this Mr. Lowe has presented me with the inclosed statement of items, which I think are reasonable, since nothing is charged for labor and time of the aeronaut.

I have the honor to remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

JOSEPH HENRY,

Secretary Smithsonian Institution.

On Henry's recommendation Lowe went on to form the Union Army Balloon Corps and served two years with the Army of the Potomac as a Civil War Aeronaut.

Influences in room acoustics

Over 150 years ago, Henry identified the room acoustics phenomena we now call direct sound, early reflections, and reverberation. He demonstrated the early sound integration period and laid the groundwork for further fundamental research on early reflections that was not followed up until the work at Göttingen University in the 1950–1960s. He brought a robust scientific approach to the subject of acoustics.

Henry devised a simple experiment to demonstrate the integration of direct and early sound. A listener, standing in an open space 100 feet from a wall, claps his hands and hears an echo. He gradually approaches the wall, clapping, until no echo is perceived, at a distance of 30 feet—the "Henry Distance"—equating to an early sound integration time of 60 ms.^[9]

Later years

As a famous scientist and director of the Smithsonian Institution, Henry received visits from other scientists and inventors who sought his advice. Henry was patient, kindly, self-controlled, and gently humorous.^[10] One such visitor was Alexander Graham Bell, who on 1 March 1875 carried a letter of introduction to Henry. Henry showed an interest in seeing Bell's experimental apparatus, and Bell returned the following day. After the demonstration, Bell mentioned his untested theory on how to transmit human speech electrically by means of a "harp apparatus" which would have several steel reeds tuned to different frequencies to cover the voice spectrum. Henry said Bell had "the germ of a great invention". Henry advised Bell not to publish his ideas until he had perfected the invention. When Bell objected that he lacked the necessary knowledge, Henry firmly advised: "Get it!"



Henry's grave, Oak Hill Cemetery, Washington, D.C.

On 25 June 1876, Bell's experimental telephone (using a different design) was demonstrated at the Centennial Exhibition in Philadelphia where Henry was one of the judges for electrical exhibits. On 13 January 1877, Bell demonstrated his

instruments to Henry at the Smithsonian Institution and Henry invited Bell to demonstrate them again that night at the Washington Philosophical Society. Henry praised "the value and astonishing character of Mr. Bell's discovery and invention."^[11]

Henry died on 13 May 1878, and was buried in Oak Hill Cemetery in the Georgetown section of northwest Washington, D.C.

Legacy

Henry was a member of the Lighthouse Board from 1852 until his death. He was appointed chairman in 1871 and served in that position the remainder of his life. He was the only civilian to serve as chairman. The United States Coast Guard honored Henry for his work on lighthouses and fog signal acoustics by naming a cutter after him. The *Joseph Henry*, usually referred to as the *Joe Henry*, was launched in 1880 and was active until 1904.^[12]

In 1915 Henry was inducted into the Hall of Fame for Great Americans in the Bronx, New York.

At Princeton, the Joseph Henry Laboratories ^[13] and the Joseph Henry House are named for him.

Curriculum vitae

- 1826 Professor of Mathematics and Natural Philosophy at The Albany Academy, New York.
- 1832 Professor at Princeton.
- 1835 Invented the electromechanical relay.
- 1846 First secretary of the Smithsonian Institution until 1878
- 1848 Edited Ephraim G. Squier and Edwin H. Davis' Ancient Monuments of the Mississippi Valley, the Institution's first publication.
- 1852 Appointed to the Lighthouse Board
- 1871 Appointed chairman of the Lighthouse Board

References

- "Planning a National Museum" (http://siarchives.si.edu/history/exhibits/baird/bairdb.htm). Smithsonian Institution Archives. . Retrieved 2 January 2010.
- [2] Ulaby, Fawwaz (2001-01-31). Fundamentals of Applied Electromagnetics (2nd ed.). Prentice Hall. pp. 232. ISBN 0-13-032931-2.
- [3] "Joseph Henry" (http://www.nas.edu/history/members/henry.html). Distinguished Members Gallery, National Academy of Sciences. . Retrieved 2006-11-30.
- [4] Henry, Joseph (1845). "On the Relative Radiation of Heat by the Solar Spots". *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society* **4**: 173–176.
- [5] Magie, W. F. (1931). "Joseph Henry". *Reviews of Modern Physics* 3 (4): 465–495. Bibcode 1931RvMP....3..465M. doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.3.465.
- [6] Benjamin, Marcus (1899). "The Early Presidents of the American Association. II" (http://books.google.com/?id=OH4CAAAAYAAJ& pg=PA675&lpg=PA675&dq=thermopile+henry+joseph). Science (Moses King) 10: 670–676 [675]. Bibcode 1899Sci....10..670B. doi:10.1126/science.10.254.670. Retrieved 2007-09-23.
- [7] Hellemans, Alexander; Bryan Bunch (1988). *The Timetables of Science*. New York, New York: Simon and Schuster. pp. 317. ISBN 0671621300.
- [8] Mayer, Alfred M. (1880). "Henry as a Discoverer" (http://books.google.com/?id=GsAKAAAAIAAJ&pg=PA502&lpg=PA502&dq=thermopile+henry+joseph). A Memorial of Joseph Henry. Washington: Government Printing Office. pp. 475–508. . Retrieved 2007-09-23.
- [9] (http://www.acousticdimensions.com/tools/joseph_henry/jhexperiment.html)
- [10] Alexander Graham Bell and the Conquest of Solitude, Robert V. Bruce, pages 139-140
- [11] Alexander Graham Bell and the Conquest of Solitude, Robert V. Bruce, page 214
- [12] US Coast Guard Cutter Joseph Henry (http://www.uscg.mil/history/webcutters/Joseph_Henry_1880.pdf)
- [13] http://www.princeton.edu/physics/about-us/history/memorable-members/joseph-henry/

Further reading

- Ames, Joseph Sweetman (Ed.), *The discovery of induced electric currents*, Vol. 1. Memoirs, by Joseph Henry. New York, Cincinnati [etc.] American book company [c1900] LCCN 00005889
- Coulson, Thomas, Joseph Henry: His Life and Work, Princeton, Princeton University Press, 1950
- Dorman, Kathleen W., and Sarah J. Shoenfeld (comps.), *The Papers of Joseph Henry. Volume 12: Cumulative Index*, Science History Publications, 2008
- Henry, Joseph, Scientific Writings of Joseph Henry. Volumes 1 and 2, Smithsonian Institution, 1886
- Moyer, Albert E., *Joseph Henry: The Rise of an American Scientist*, Washington, Smithsonian Institution Press, 1997. ISBN 1-56098-776-6
- Reingold, Nathan, et al., (eds.), *The Papers of Joseph Henry. Volumes 1-5*, Washington, Smithsonian Institution Press, 1972–1988
- Rothenberg, Marc, et al., (eds.), *The Papers of Joseph Henry. Volumes 6-8*, Washington, Smithsonian Institution Press, 1992–1998, and *Volumes 9-11*, Science History Publications, 2002–2007



Statue of Henry before Smithsonian Institution

External links

- The Joseph Henry Papers Project (http://www.siarchives.si.edu/history/jhp/jhenry.html)
- Finding Aid to the Joseph Henry Collection (http://siarchives.si.edu/findingaids/FARU7001.htm)
- Biographical details (http://www.pnas.org/cgi/reprint/58/1/1.pdf) *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* (1967), 58(1), pages 1–10.
- Dedication ceremony for the Henry statue (1883) (http://www.sil.si.edu/digitalcollections/ HistoryCultureCollections/SIL7-154/pdf/SIL007-154.pdf)
- Published physics papers (http://www.aip.org/history/gap/) On the Production of Currents and Sparks of Electricity from Magnetism and On Electro-Dynamic Induction (extract)

Heinrich Hertz

Heinrich Rudolf Hertz		
Born	February 22, 1857 Hamburg, Germany	
Died	January 1, 1894 (aged 36) Bonn, Germany	
Residence	Germany	
Nationality	German	
Fields	Physics Electronic Engineering	
Institutions	University of Kiel University of Karlsruhe University of Bonn	
Alma mater	University of Munich University of Berlin	
Doctoral advisor	Hermann von Helmholtz	
Known for	Electromagnetic radiation Photoelectric effect	
Signature IfInh .		

Heinrich Rudolf Hertz (February 22, 1857 – January 1, 1894) was a German physicist who clarified and expanded the electromagnetic theory of light that had been put forth by Maxwell. He was the first to satisfactorily demonstrate the existence of electromagnetic waves by building an apparatus to produce and detect radio waves.

Biography

Early years

Hertz was born in Hamburg, Germany, into a prosperous and cultured Hanseatic family. His father, Gustav Ferdinand Hertz, was a writer and later a senator. His mother was the former Anna Elisabeth Pfefferkorn. His paternal grandfather David Wolff Hertz (1757-1822), fourth son of Benjamin Wolff Hertz, moved to Hamburg in 1793 where he made his living as a jeweller. He and his wife Schöne Hertz (1760-1834) were buried in the former Jewish cemetery in Ottensen. Their first son Wolff Hertz (1790-1859), was chairman of the Jewish community. His

brother Hertz Hertz (1797-1862) was a respected businessman. He was married to Betty Oppenheim, the daughter of the banker Salomon Oppenheim, from Cologne. Hertz Hertz converted from Judaism to Christianity and took the name Heinrich David Hertz.^[1]

While studying at the Gelehrtenschule des Johanneums in Hamburg, he showed an aptitude for sciences as well as languages, learning Arabic and Sanskrit. He studied sciences and engineering in the German cities of Dresden, Munich and Berlin, where he studied under Gustav R. Kirchhoff and Hermann von Helmholtz.

In 1880, Hertz obtained his PhD from the University of Berlin; and remained for post-doctoral study under Hermann von Helmholtz.

In 1883, Hertz took a post as a lecturer in theoretical physics at the University of Kiel.

In 1885, Hertz became a full professor at the University of Karlsruhe where he discovered electromagnetic waves.

The most dramatic prediction of Maxwell's theory of electromagnetism, published in 1865, was the existence of electromagnetic waves moving at the speed of light, and the conclusion that light itself was just such a wave. This challenged experimentalists to generate and detect electromagnetic radiation using some form of electrical apparatus.

The first clearly successful attempt was made by Heinrich Hertz in 1886. For his radio wave transmitter he used a high voltage induction coil, a condenser (capacitor, Leyden jar) and a spark gap - whose poles on either side are formed by spheres of 2 cm radius - to cause a spark discharge between the spark gap's poles oscillating at a frequency determined by the values of the capacitor and the induction coil.

To prove there really was radiation emitted, it had to be detected. Hertz used a piece of copper wire, 1 mm thick, bent into a circle of a diameter of 7.5 cm, with a small brass sphere on one end, and the other end of the wire was pointed, with the point near the sphere. He bought a screw mechanism so that the point could be moved very close to the sphere in a controlled fashion. This "receiver" was designed so that current oscillating back and forth in the wire would have a natural period close to that of the "transmitter" described above. The presence of oscillating charge in the receiver would be signaled by sparks across the (tiny) gap between the point and the sphere (typically, this gap was hundredths of a millimeter).

In more advanced experiments, Hertz measured the velocity of electromagnetic radiation and found it to be the same as the light's velocity. He also showed that the nature of radio waves' reflection and refraction was the same as those of light, and established beyond any doubt that light is a form of electromagnetic radiation obeying the Maxwell equations.

Hertz's experiments would soon trigger the invention of the wireless telegraph, radio, and later television. In recognition of his work, the unit of frequency - one cycle per second - is named the "hertz".

Meteorology

He always had a deep interest in meteorology probably derived from his contacts with Wilhelm von Bezold (who was Hertz's professor in a laboratory course at the Munich Polytechnic in the summer of 1878). Hertz, however, did not contribute much to the field himself except some early articles as an assistant to Helmholtz in Berlin, including research on the evaporation of liquids, a new kind of hygrometer, and a graphical means of determining the properties of moist air when subjected to adiabatic changes.^[2]

Contact mechanics

In 1886–1889, Hertz published two articles on what was to become known as the field of contact mechanics. Hertz is well known for his contributions to the field of electrodynamics (*see below*); however, most papers that look into the fundamental nature of contact cite his two papers as a source for some important ideas. Joseph Valentin Boussinesq published some critically important observations on Hertz's work, nevertheless establishing this work on contact mechanics to be of immense importance. His work basically summarises how two axi-symmetric objects placed in contact will behave under loading, he obtained results based upon the classical theory of elasticity and continuum mechanics. The most significant failure of his theory was the neglect of any nature of adhesion between the two solids, which proves to be important as the materials composing the solids start to assume high elasticity. It was natural to neglect adhesion in that age as there were no experimental methods of testing for it.



To develop his theory Hertz used his observation of elliptical Newton's rings formed upon placing a glass sphere upon a lens as the basis of

assuming that the pressure exerted by the sphere follows an elliptical distribution. He used the formation of Newton's rings again while validating his theory with experiments in calculating the displacement which the sphere has into the lens. K. L. Johnson, K. Kendall and A. D. Roberts (JKR) used this theory as a basis while calculating the theoretical displacement or *indentation depth* in the presence of adhesion in their landmark article "Surface energy and contact of elastic solids" published in 1971 in the Proceedings of the Royal Society (A324, 1558, 301-313). Hertz's theory is recovered from their formulation if the adhesion of the materials is assumed to be zero. Similar to this theory, however using different assumptions, B. V. Derjaguin, V. M. Muller and Y. P. Toporov published another theory in 1975, which came to be known as the DMT theory in the research community, which also recovered Hertz's formulations under the assumption of zero adhesion. This DMT theory proved to be rather premature and needed several revisions before it came to be accepted as another material contact theory in addition to the JKR theory. Both the DMT and the JKR theories form the basis of contact mechanics upon which all transition contact models are based and used in material parameter prediction in Nanoindentation and Atomic Force Microscopy. So Hertz's research from his days as a lecturer, preceding his great work on electromagnetism, which he himself considered with his characteristic soberness to be trivial, has come down to the age of nanotechnology.

Electromagnetic research

In 1886, Hertz developed the **Hertz antenna** receiver. This is a set of terminals which is not electrically grounded for its operation. He also developed a transmitting type of dipole antenna, which was a center-fed driven element for transmitting UHF radio waves. These antennas are the simplest practical antennas from a theoretical point of view.

In 1887, Hertz experimented with radio waves in his laboratory. These actions followed Michelson's 1881 experiment (precursor to the 1887 Michelson-Morley experiment) which did not detect the existence of aether drift, Hertz altered the Maxwell's equations to take this view into account for electromagnetism. Hertz used a Ruhmkorff coil-driven spark gap and one meter wire pair as a radiator. Capacity spheres were present at the ends for circuit resonance adjustments. His receiver, a precursor to the dipole antenna, was a simple half-wave dipole antenna for shortwaves. Hertz published his work in a book titled: *Electric waves: being researches on the propagation of electric action with finite velocity through space*.^[3]



Through experimentation, he proved that transverse free space electromagnetic waves can travel over some distance. This had been predicted by James Clerk Maxwell and Michael Faraday. With his apparatus configuration, the electric and magnetic fields would radiate away from the wires as transverse waves. Hertz had positioned the oscillator about 12 meters from a zinc reflecting plate to produce standing waves. Each wave was about 4 meters. Using the ring detector, he recorded how the magnitude and wave's component direction vary. Hertz measured Maxwell's waves and demonstrated that the velocity of radio waves was equal to the velocity of light. The electric field intensity and polarity was also measured by Hertz. (Hertz, 1887, 1888).

The Hertzian cone was first described by Hertz as a type of wave-front propagation through various media. His experiments expanded the field of electromagnetic transmission and his apparatus was developed further by others in the radio. Hertz also found that radio waves could be transmitted through different types of materials, and were reflected by others, leading in the distant future to radar.

Hertz helped establish the photoelectric effect (which was later explained by Albert Einstein) when he noticed that a charged object loses its charge more readily when illuminated by ultraviolet light. In 1887, he made observations of the photoelectric effect and of the production and reception of electromagnetic (EM) waves, published in the journal Annalen der Physik. His receiver consisted of a coil with a spark gap, whereupon a spark would be seen upon detection of EM waves. He placed the apparatus in a darkened box to see the spark better. He observed that the maximum spark length was reduced when in the box. A glass panel placed between the source of EM waves and the receiver absorbed ultraviolet radiation that assisted the electrons in jumping across the gap.

When removed, the spark length would increase. He observed no decrease in spark length when he substituted quartz for glass, as quartz does not absorb UV radiation. Hertz concluded his months of investigation and reported the results obtained. He did not further pursue investigation of this effect, nor did he make any attempt at explaining how the observed phenomenon was brought about.

Hertz did not realize the practical importance of his experiments. He stated that,



"It's of no use whatsoever[...]

this is just an experiment that proves Maestro Maxwell was right - we just have these mysterious electromagnetic waves that we cannot see with the naked eye. But they are there." ^[4]

Asked about the ramifications of his discoveries, Hertz replied,

"Nothing, I guess." ^[4]

His discoveries would later be more fully understood by others and be part of the new "wireless age". In bulk, Hertz' experiments explain reflection, refraction, polarization, interference, and velocity of electric waves.

In 1892, Hertz began experimenting and demonstrated that cathode rays could penetrate very thin metal foil (such as aluminium). Philipp Lenard, a student of Heinrich Hertz, further researched this "ray effect". He developed a version of the cathode tube and studied the penetration by X-rays of various materials. Philipp Lenard, though, did not realize that he was producing X-rays. Hermann von Helmholtz formulated mathematical equations for X-rays. He postulated a dispersion theory before Röntgen made his discovery and announcement. It was formed on the basis of the electromagnetic theory of light (*Wiedmann's Annalen*, Vol. XLVIII). However, he did not work with actual X-rays.

Death at age 36

In 1892, an infection was diagnosed (after a bout of severe migraines) and Hertz underwent some operations to correct the illness. He died of Wegener's granulomatosis at the age of 36 in Bonn, Germany in 1894, and was buried in Ohlsdorf, Hamburg at the Jewish cemetery.^[5]

Hertz's wife, Elizabeth Hertz (maiden name: Elizabeth Doll), did not remarry. Heinrich Hertz left two daughters, Joanna and Mathilde. Subsequently, all three women left Germany in the 1930s to England, after the rise of Adolf Hitler. Charles Susskind interviewed Mathilde Hertz in the 1960s and he later published a book on Heinrich Hertz. Heinrich Hertz's daughters never married and he does not have any descendants, according to the book by Susskind.

Legacy and honors

His nephew Gustav Ludwig Hertz was a Nobel Prize winner, and Gustav's son Carl Hellmuth Hertz invented medical ultrasonography.

The SI unit *hertz* (Hz) was established in his honor by the IEC in 1930 for frequency, a measurement of the number of times that a repeated event occurs per second (also called "cycles per sec" (cps)). It was adopted by the CGPM (Conférence générale des poids et mesures) in 1964.

In 1969 (East Germany), there was cast a Heinrich Hertz memorial medal. The IEEE Heinrich Hertz Medal, established in 1987, is "for outstanding achievements in Hertzian waves [...] presented annually to an individual for achievements which are theoretical or experimental in nature".

A crater that lies on the far side of the Moon, just behind the eastern limb, is named in his honor. The Hertz market for radioelectronics products in Nizhny Novgorod, Russia, is named after him. The Heinrich-Hertz-Turm radio telecommunication tower in Hamburg is named after the city's famous son.

Hertz is honored by Japan with a membership in the Order of the Sacred Treasure, which has multiple layers of honor for prominent people, including scientists.^[6]

Heinrich Hertz was honored by a number of countries around the world

in their postage issues and in Post World War II times has appeared on various German stamp issues as well.

Nazi revisionism

Although Hertz would not have considered himself Jewish, his "Jewish" portrait was removed by the Nazis from its prominent position of honor in Hamburg's City Hall (*Rathaus*) because of his partly "Jewish ancestry." Hertz was a Lutheran; and although his father's family had been Jewish,^[7] his father had converted to Catholicism before marrying. The painting has since been returned to public display.^[8]

Notes

- [1] http://www1.uni-hamburg.de/rz3a035//bundesstrasse1.html
- [2] Mulligan, J. F., and H. G. Hertz, "On the energy balance of the Earth," American Journal of Physics, Vol. 65, pp. 36-45.
- [3] Electric waves: being researches on the propagation of electric action with finite velocity through space (http://books.google.com/ books?id=8GkOAAAAIAAJ&pg=PR3#v=onepage&q&f=false), download here
- [4] Institute of Chemistry, Hebrew University of Jerusalem: Hertz biography, digitized photographs (http://chem.ch.huji.ac.il/history/hertz. htm)
- [5] For a photograph of his gravesite, see "Heinrich Rudolf Hertz" (http://phisicist.info/hertz.html). . Retrieved 2008-12-02.
- [6] L'Harmattan: List of recipients of Japanese Order of the Sacred Treasure (in French) (http://www.editions-harmattan.fr/index. asp?navig=catalogue&obj=article&no=8245)
- [7] Koertge, Noretta. (2007). Dictionary of Scientific Biography, Vol. 6, p. 340.
- [8] Robertson, Struan: Hertz biography (http://www1.uni-hamburg.de/rz3a035//hertz.html)



References

- Hertz, H.R. "Ueber sehr schnelle electrische Schwingungen", *Annalen der Physik*, vol. 267, no. 7, p. 421-448, May 1887. (WILEY InterScience (http://www3.interscience.wiley.com/journal/5006612/home))
- Hertz, H.R. "Ueber einen Einfluss des ultravioletten Lichtes auf die electrische Entladung", Annalen der Physik, vol. 267, no. 8, p. 983-1000, June, 1887. (WILEY InterScience (http://www3.interscience.wiley.com/journal/5006612/home))
- Hertz, H.R. "Ueber die Einwirkung einer geradlinigen electrischen Schwingung auf eine benachbarte Strombahn", *Annalen der Physik*, vol. 270, no. 5, p. 155-170, March, 1888. (WILEY InterScience (http://www3.interscience. wiley.com/journal/5006612/home))
- Hertz, H.R. "Ueber die Ausbreitungsgeschwindigkeit der electrodynamischen Wirkungen", Annalen der Physik, vol. 270, no. 7, p. 551-569, May, 1888. (WILEY InterScience (http://www3.interscience.wiley.com/journal/5006612/home))
- Hertz, Heinrich Rudolph. (1893). *Electric waves: being researches on the propagation of electric action with finite velocity through space* (translated by David Evans Jones). Ithica, New York: Cornell University Library. 10-ISBN 1-429-74036-1; 13-ISBN 978-1-429-74036-4
- IEEE (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers) Global History Network, IEEE History Center: "Heinrich Hertz" (retrieved 27 Jan 2007) (http://www.ieeeghn.org/wiki/index.php/Heinrich_Hertz_(1857-1894))
- Jenkins, John D. "The Discovery of Radio Waves 1888; Heinrich Rudolf Hertz (1847-1894)" (retrieved 27 Jan 2008) (http://www.sparkmuseum.com/BOOK_HERTZ.HTM)
- Koertge, Noretta. (2007). *Dictionary of Scientific Biography*. New York: Thomson-Gale. 10-ISBN 0-684-31320-0; 13-ISBN 978-0-684-31320-7
- Naughton, Russell. "Heinrich Rudolph (alt: Rudolf) Hertz, Dr : 1857 1894" (retrieved 27 Jan 2008) (http://www.acmi.net.au/AIC/HERTZ_BIO.html)
- Roberge, Pierre R. "Heinrich Rudolph Hertz, 1857-1894" (retrieved 27 Jan 2008) (http://www. corrosion-doctors.org/Biographies/HertzBio.htm)
- Robertson, Struan. "Buildings Integral to the Former Life and/or Persecution of Jews in Hamburg" (retrieved 27 Jan 2008) (http://www1.uni-hamburg.de/rz3a035//bundesstrasse1.html)
- Robertson, Struan. "Heinrich Hertz, 1857-1894" (retrieved 27 Jan 2007) (http://www1.uni-hamburg.de/rz3a035//rathaus.html#4)

Further reading

- Appleyard, Rollo. (1930). *Pioneers of Electrical Communication*". London: Macmillan and Company. [reprinted by Ayer Company Publishers, Manchester, New Hampshire: 10-ISBN 0836-90156-8; 13-ISBN 978-0-836-90156-6 (cloth)]
- Baird, Davis, R.I.G. Hughes, and Alfred Nordmann, eds. (1998). 'Heinrich Hertz: Classical Physicist, Modern Philosopher. *New York: Springer-Verlag. 10-ISBN 0-792-34653-X; 13-ISBN 978-0-792-34653-1*
- Bodanis, David. (2006). *Electric Universe: How Electricity Switched on the Modern World*. New York: Three Rivers Press. 10-ISBN 0-307-33598-4; 13-ISBN 978-0-307-33598-2
- Buchwald, Jed Z. (1994). The Creation of Scientific Effects : Heinrich Hertz and Electric Waves. Chicago : University of Chicago Press. 10-ISBN 0-226-07887-6; 13-ISBN 978-0-226-07887-8 (cloth) 10-ISBN 0-226-07888-4; 13-ISBN 978-0-226-07888-5 (paper)
- Bryant, John H. (1988). *Heinrich Hertz, the Beginning of Microwaves: Discovery of Electromagnetic Waves and Opening of the Electromagnetic Spectrum by Heinrich Hertz in the Years 1886-1892.* New York : IEEE (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers). 10-ISBN 0-879-42710-8; 13-ISBN 978-0-879-42710-8
- Lodge, Oliver Joseph. (1900). Signalling Across Space without Wires by Electric Waves: Being a Description of the work of [[Heinrich (http://www.acmi.net.au/aic/phd8030.html)] Hertz and his Successors.] [reprinted by Arno Press, New York, 1974. 10-ISBN 0-405-06051-3

- Maugis, Daniel. (2000). Contact, Adhesion and Rupture of Elastic Solids. New York: Springer-Verlag. 10-ISBN 3-540-66113-1; 13-ISBN 978-3-54066113-9]
- Susskind, Charles. (1995).*Heinrich Hertz :a Short Life*. San Francisco: San Francisco Press. 10-ISBN 0-911-30274-3; 13-ISBN 978-0-911-30274-5

External links

- Hertzian radiation better known as radio waves: what it is and how it happens (http://www.esmartstart.com/ _framed/250x/radiondistics/hertzian_radiation.htm)
- Encyclopædia Britannica (1911): Hertz biography (http://www.1911encyclopedia.org/Heinrich_Rudolf_Hertz)

Rudolf Kohlrausch

Rudolf Hermann Arndt Kohlrausch (November 6, 1809, Göttingen -March 8, 1858, Erlangen) was a German physicist.

Biography

He was a native of Göttingen, the son of educator Heinrich Friedrich Theodor Kohlrausch. He was successively teacher of mathematics and physics at Lüneburg, Rinteln, Cassell, and Marburg, and a professor at the Universities of Marburg and Erlangen.

Research

In 1854 Kohlrausch introduced the relaxation phenomena, and used the stretched exponential function to explain relaxation effects of a discharging Leyden jar. In 1856 with Wilhelm Weber (1804–1891) he demonstrated that the ratio of electrostatic to electromagnetic units produced a number that matched the value of the then known speed of

light. This finding led to Maxwell's conjecture that light is an electromagnetic wave. Also, the first usage of the letter "c" to denote the speed of light was in an 1856 paper by Kohlrausch and Weber.

Family

He was the father of physicist Friedrich Kohlrausch.

References

- "The evolution of applied harmonic analysis" ^[1] by Elena Prestini
- PhysicsWorld ^[2] "Blast from the Past"
- 🔞 "Kohlrausch, Rudolf Hermann Arndt". Encyclopedia Americana. 1920.

External links

• 🔞 "Kohlrausch, Rudolf Hermann Arndt". New International Encyclopedia. 1905.



Rudolf Kohlrausch (1809-1858)

References

- [2] http://physicsworld.com/cws/article/print/18921

Heinrich Lenz

Heinrich Friedrich Emil Lenz (Russian: Эмилий Христианович Ленц) (February 12, 1804 – February 10, 1865) was a Russian physicist of Baltic German ethnicity. He is most noted for formulating Lenz's law in electrodynamics in 1833.

Lenz was born in Dorpat (now *Tartu*), the Governorate of Livonia, in the Russian Empire at that time. After completing his secondary education in 1820, Lenz studied chemistry and physics at the University of Dorpat. He traveled with the navigator Otto von Kotzebue on his third expedition around the world from 1823 to 1826. On the voyage Lenz studied climatic conditions and the physical properties of seawater. The results have been published in "Memoirs of the St. Petersburg Academy of Sciences" (1831).



After the voyage, Lenz began working at the University of St. Petersburg, Russia, where he later served as the Dean of Mathematics

and Physics from 1840 to 1863 and was Rector from 1863 until his death in 1865. Lenz also taught at the Petrischule in 1830 and 1831, and at the Mikhailovskaya Artillery Academy.

Lenz had begun studying electromagnetism in 1831. Besides the law named in his honor, Lenz also independently discovered Joule's law in 1842; to honor his efforts on the problem, it is also given the name the "Joule–Lenz law," named also for James Prescott Joule.

Lenz eagerly participated in development of the electroplating technology, invented by his friend and colleague Moritz von Jacobi. In 1839 Lenz produced several medallions using electrotyping. Along with the electrotyped relief produced by Jacobi the same year, these were the first instances of galvanoplastic sculpture.^[1]

Lenz died in Rome, Italy, after suffering from a stroke.

References

[1] History of electroplating in the 19th century Russia (http://www.galteh.ru/article_galvanotehnika.html) (Russian)

External links

- Page on Lenz from a list of famous electroscientists (http://chem.ch.huji.ac.il/~eugeniik/history/lenz.html)
- Biography of Lenz (http://cse.unl.ecdu/~jtooker/Files/Lenz.pdf)

Hendrik Lorentz

Hendrik Antoon Lorentz		
Born	18 July 1853 Arnhem, Netherlands	
Died	4 February 1928 (aged 74) Haarlem, Netherlands	
Nationality	Netherlands	
Fields	Physics	
Alma mater	University of Leiden	
Doctoral advisor	Pieter Rijke	
Doctoral students	Geertruida L. de Haas-Lorentz Adriaan Fokker Leonard Ornstein	
Known for	Theory of EM radiation Lorentz force Lorentz contraction	
Notable awards	Nobel Prize for Physics (1902) Rumford Medal (1908) Franklin Medal (1917) Copley Medal (1918)	

Hendrik Antoon Lorentz (18 July 1853 - 4 February 1928) was a Dutch physicist who shared the 1902 Nobel Prize in Physics with Pieter Zeeman for the discovery and theoretical explanation of the Zeeman effect. He also derived the transformation equations subsequently used by Albert Einstein to describe space and time.

Biography

Early life

Hendrik Lorentz was born in Arnhem, Gelderland (The Netherlands), the son of Gerrit Frederik Lorentz (1822 – 1893), a well-off nurseryman, and Geertruida van Ginkel (1826 – 1861). In 1862, after his mother's death, his father married Luberta Hupkes. From 1866-1869 he attended the newly established high school in Arnhem, and in 1870 he passed the exams in classical languages which were then required for admission to University.

Lorentz studied physics and mathematics at the University of Leiden, where he was strongly influenced by the teaching of astronomy professor Frederik Kaiser; it was his influence that led him to become a physicist. After earning a bachelor's degree, he returned to Arnhem in 1872 to teach high school classes in mathematics, but he continued his studies in Leiden in addition to his teaching position. In 1875 Lorentz earned a doctoral degree under Pieter Rijke on a thesis entitled "Over de theorie der terugkaatsing en breking van het licht" (On the theory of reflection and refraction of light), in which he refined the electromagnetic theory of James Clerk Maxwell.

In 1881 Hendrik married Aletta Catharina Kaiser, niece of Frederik Kaiser. She was the daughter of Johann Wilhelm Kaiser, director of the Amsterdam's Engraving School and professor of Fine Arts, and designer of the first Dutch postage stamps (1852). Later Kaiser was the Director of the National Gallery of Amsterdam. Hendrik and Aletta's eldest daughter Geertruida Luberta Lorentz was to become a physicist as well.

Career

Professor in Leiden

In 1878, only 24 years of age, Hendrik Antoon Lorentz was appointed to the newly established chair in theoretical physics at the University of Leiden. On January 25, 1878, he delivered his inaugural lecture on "*De moleculaire theoriën in de natuurkunde*" (The molecular theories in physics).

During the first twenty years in Leiden, Lorentz was primarily interested in the theory of electromagnetism to explain the relationship of electricity, magnetism, and light. After that, he extended his research to a much wider area while still focusing on theoretical physics. From his publications, it appears that Lorentz made contributions to mechanics, thermodynamics, hydrodynamics, kinetic theories, solid state theory, light, and propagation. His most important



Portrait by Jan Veth

contributions were in the area of electromagnetism, the electron theory, and relativity.

Lorentz theorized that the atoms might consist of charged particles and suggested that the oscillations of these charged particles were the source of light. When a colleague and former student of Lorentz, Pieter Zeeman, discovered the Zeeman effect in 1896, Lorentz supplied its theoretical interpretation. The experimental and theoretical work was honored with the Nobel prize in physics in 1902. Lorentz' name is now associated with the Lorentz force, the Lorentzian distribution, and the Lorentz transformation.

Electrodynamics and relativity

In 1895, with the attempt to explain the Michelson-Morley experiment, Lorentz proposed that moving bodies contract in the direction of motion (see length contraction; George FitzGerald had already arrived at this conclusion, see FitzGerald-Lorentz Contraction). Lorentz worked on describing electromagnetic phenomena (the propagation of light) in reference frames that moved relative to each other. He discovered that the transition from one to another reference frame could be simplified by using a new time variable which he called *local time*. The local time depended on the universal time and the location under consideration. Lorentz's publications (of 1895 and 1899) made use of the term local time without giving a detailed interpretation of its physical relevance. In 1900, Henri Poincaré called Lorentz's local time a "wonderful invention" and illustrated it by showing that clocks in moving frames are synchronized by exchanging light signals that are assumed to travel at the same speed against and with the motion of the frame.

In 1899, and again in his paper "Electromagnetic phenomena in a system moving with any velocity smaller than that of light" (1904), Lorentz added time dilation to his transformations and published what Poincaré in 1905 named Lorentz transformations. It was apparently unknown to Lorentz that Joseph Larmor had used identical transformations to describe orbiting electrons in 1897. Larmor's and Lorentz's equations look somewhat unfamiliar, but they are algebraically equivalent to those presented by Poincaré and Einstein in 1905.^[1] Lorentz's 1904 paper includes the covariant formulation of electrodynamics, in which electrodynamic phenomena in different reference frames are described by identical equations with well defined transformation properties. The paper clearly recognizes the significance of this formulation, namely that the outcomes of electrodynamic experiments do not depend on the relative motion of the reference frame. The 1904 paper includes a detailed discussion of the increase of the inertial mass of rapidly moving objects. In 1905, Einstein would use many of the concepts, mathematical tools and results discussed to write his paper entitled "On the Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies",^[2] known today as the theory of special relativity. Because Lorentz laid the fundamentals for the work by Einstein, this theory was called the *Lorentz-Einstein theory* originally.

The increase of mass was the first prediction of special relativity to be tested, but the early (1901–1903) experiments by Kaufmann appeared to show a slightly different mass increase; this led Lorentz to the famous remark that he was "at the end of his Latin."^[3] The confirmation of his prediction had to wait until 1908. In 1909, Lorentz published "Theory of Electrons" based on a series of lectures in Mathematical Physics he gave at Columbia University.^[4]

Assessments

Poincaré (1902) said of Lorentz's theory of electrodynamics:

Paul Langevin (1911) said of Lorentz:

The most satisfactory theory is that of Lorentz; it is unquestionably the theory that best explains the known facts, the one that throws into relief the greatest number of known relations ... it is due to Lorentz that the results of Fizeau on the optics of moving bodies, the laws of normal and abnormal dispersion and of absorption are connected with each other ... Look at the ease with which the new Zeeman phenomenon found its place, and even aided the classification of Faraday's magnetic rotation, which had defied all Maxwell's efforts.

Albert Einstein and Hendrik Antoon Lorentz, photographed by Ehrenfest in front of his home in Leiden in 1921. Source: Museum Boerhaave, Leiden

ll Maxwell's efforts.

It is the great merit of H. A. Lorentz to have seen that the fundamental equations of electromagnetism admit a group of transformations which enables them to have the same form when one passes from one frame of reference to another; this new transformation has the most profound implications for the transformations of space and time

Lorentz and Emil Wiechert (Göttingen) had an interesting correspondence on the topics of electromagnetism and the theory of relativity, and Lorentz explained his ideas in letters to Wiechert. The correspondence between Lorentz and Wiechert has been published by Wilfried Schröder (Arch. ex. hist. Sci, 1984).

Lorentz was chairman of the first Solvay Conference held in Brussels in the autumn of 1911. Shortly after the conference, Poincaré wrote an essay on quantum physics which gives an indication of Lorentz's status at the time:

... at every moment [the twenty physicists from different countries] could be heard talking of the [quantum mechanics] which they contrasted with the old mechanics. Now what was the old mechanics? Was it that of Newton, the one which still reigned uncontested at the close of the nineteenth century? No, it was the mechanics of Lorentz, the one dealing with the principle of relativity; the one which, hardly five years ago, seemed to be the height of boldness.

Albert Einstein (1953) wrote of Lorentz:

For me personally he meant more than all the others I have met on my life's journey.^[5]

While Lorentz is mostly known for fundamental theoretical work, he also had an interest in practical applications. In the years 1918-1926, at the request of the Dutch government, Lorentz headed a committee to calculate some of the effects of the proposed Afsluitdijk (Closure Dike) flood control dam on other seaworks in the Netherlands. Hydraulic engineering was mainly an empirical science at that time, but the disturbance of the tidal flow caused by the Afsluitdijk was so unprecedented that the empirical rules could not be trusted. Lorentz proposed to start from the basic hydrodynamic equations of motion and solve the problem numerically. This was feasible for a "human computer", because of the quasi-one-dimensional nature of the water flow in the Waddenzee. The Afsluitdijk was completed in 1933 and the predictions of Lorentz and his committee turned out to be remarkably accurate.^[6] One of the two sets of locks in the Afsluitdijk was named after him.

Personal life

In 1912, Lorentz retired early to become director of research at Teylers Museum in Haarlem, although he remained external professor at Leiden and gave weekly lectures there. Paul Ehrenfest succeeded him in his chair at the University of Leiden, founding the Institute for Theoretical Physics which would become known as the Lorentz Institute. In addition to the Nobel prize, Lorentz received a great many honours for his outstanding work. He was elected a Fellow of the Royal Society in 1905. The Society awarded him their Rumford Medal in 1908 and their Copley Medal in 1918.

Lorentz died in Haarlem, Netherlands. The respect in which he was held in the Netherlands is apparent from O. W. Richardson's description of his funeral:

The funeral took place at Haarlem at noon on Friday, February 10. At the stroke of twelve the State telegraph and telephone services of Holland were suspended for three minutes as a revered tribute to the greatest man Holland has produced in our time. It was attended by many colleagues and distinguished physicists from foreign countries. The President, Sir Ernest Rutherford, represented the Royal Society and made an appreciative oration by the graveside.^[7]

Unique 1928 film footage of the funeral procession with a lead carriage followed by ten mourners, followed by a carriage with the coffin, followed in turn by at least four more carriages, passing by a crowd at the Grote Markt, Haarlem from the Zijlstraat to the Smedesstraat, and then back again through the Grote Houtstraat towards the Barteljorisstraat, on the way to the "Algemene Begraafplaats" at the Kleverlaan (northern Haarlem cemetery) has been digitized on Youtube.^[8]

Legacy

Richardson describes Lorentz as:

[A] man of remarkable intellectual powers ... Although steeped in his own investigation of the moment, he always seemed to have in his immediate grasp its ramifications into every corner of the universe. ... The singular clearness of his writings provides a striking reflection of his wonderful powers in this respect. He possessed and successfully employed the mental vivacity which is necessary to follow the interplay of discussion, the insight which is required to extract those statements which illuminate the real difficulties, and the wisdom to lead the discussion among fruitful channels, and he did this so skillfully that the process was hardly perceptible.^[7]

M. J. Klein (1967) wrote of Lorentz's reputation in the 1920s:

For many years physicists had always been eager "to hear what Lorentz will say about it" when a new theory was advanced, and, even at seventy-two, he did not disappoint them.^[9]

- Nobel Prize for Physics (1902)
- Rumford Medal (1908)
- Copley Medal (1918)

References

Papers of Lorentz

There are thirty-six complete papers by Lorentz (mostly in English) that are available for online viewing in the Proceedings of the Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Science, Amsterdam^[10].

- Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1895), Versuch einer Theorie der electrischen und optischen Erscheinungen in bewegten Körpern, Leiden: E.J. Brill
- Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1899), "Simplified Theory of Electrical and Optical Phenomena in Moving Systems", *Proc. Acad. Science Amsterdam* 1: 427–442
- Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1900), "Considerations on Gravitation" ^[11], *Proc. Acad. Science Amsterdam* **2**: 559–574
- Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1904), "Electromagnetic phenomena in a system moving with any velocity smaller than that of light", *Proc. Acad. Science Amsterdam* **6**: 809–831
- Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1909/16), *The theory of electrons and its applications to the phenomena of light and radiant heat; a course of lectures delivered in Columbia university, New York, in March and April 1906*^[12], New York, [NY.]: Columbia University Press
- Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1910/3), "Das Relativitätsprinzip und seine Anwendung auf einige besondere physikalische Erscheinungen", in Blumenthal, Otto & Sommerfeld, Arnold, *Das Relativitätsprinzip. Eine Sammlung von Abhandlungen.*, pp. 74–89
- Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1914), *Das Relativitätsprinzip. Drei Vorlesungen gehalten in Teylers Stiftung zu Haarlem*, Leipzig and Berlin: B.G. Teubner
- Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1914/21), "Two Papers of Henri Poincaré on Mathematical Physics", *Acta Mathematica* 38 (1): 293–308, doi:10.1007/BF02392073;
- Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1920), The Einstein Theory of Relativity, New York: Bentano's
- Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1927-1931), *Lectures on Theoretical Physics (vol. I-III)*, New York, [NY.]: Macmillan & Co., (Vol. I online ^[13])

Other sources

- de Haas-Lorentz, Geertruida L.; Fagginger Auer, Joh. C. (trans.) (1957), *H.A. Lorentz: impressions of his life and work*, Amsterdam: North-Holland Pub. Co.
- Langevin, Paul (1911), "L'évolution de l'espace et du temps", Scientia X: 31-54 :n.p.
- Macrossan, Michael N. (1986), "A note on relativity before Einstein" ^[14], Brit. J. Phil. Sci., 37: 232–234
- Poincaré, Henri (1900), "La théorie de Lorentz et le principe de réaction", Archives Néerlandaises des Sciences exactes et naturelles V: 253–278 See English translation^[15].
- Poincaré, Henri (1902), *La science et l'hypothèse*, Paris, [France]: Ernest Flammarion : n.p.. The quotation is from the English translation (Poincaré, Henri (1952), *Science and hypothesis*, New York, [NY.]: Dover Publications, p. 175)
- Poincaré, Henri (1913), *Dernières pensées*, Paris, [France]: Ernest Flammarion :n.p.. The quotation in the article is from the English translation: (Poincaré, Henri; Bolduc, John W. (trans.) (1963), *Mathematics and science: last essays*, New York, [NY.]: Dover Publications :n.p.)
- Przibram, Karl (ed.); Klein, Martin J. (trans.) (1967), *Letters of wave mechanics: Schrödinger, Planck, Einstein, Lorentz. Edited by Karl Przibram for the Austrian Academy of Sciences*, New York, [NY.]: Philosophical Library :n.p.
- Richardson, O. W. (1929), "Hendrik Antoon Lorentz", *J. Lond. Math Soc.* 4 (1): 183–192, doi:10.1112/jlms/s1-4.3.183 : n.p. The biography which refers to this article (but gives no pagination details other than those of the article itself) is this one: O'Connor, John J.; Robertson, Edmund F., "Hendrik Lorentz" ^[16], *MacTutor History of Mathematics archive*, University of St Andrews.
- Sri Kantha, S. Einstein and Lorentz. *Nature*, July 13, 1995; 376: 111.(Letter)

Endnotes

- [1] Macrossan 1986
- [2] Albert Einstein (1905) " Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper (http://www.pro-physik.de/Phy/pdfs/ger_890_921.pdf)", Annalen der Physik 17: 891; English translation On the Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies (http://www.fourmilab.ch/etexts/einstein/specrel/www/) by George Barker Jeffery and Wilfrid Perrett (1923); Another English translation On the Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies by Megh Nad Saha (1920).
- [3] Lorentz à Poincaré (http://web.archive.org/web/20050221211608/www.univ-nancy2.fr/poincare/chp/text/lorentz1.html) at web.archive.org
- [4] Lorentz 1909
- [5] Link (http://books.google.nl/books?id=EF2fKDpp8S8C&pg=PA375&lpg=PA375&dq="For+me+personally+he+meant+more+ than+all+the+others+I+have+met+on+my+life's+journey")
- [6] Carlo Beenakker (http://ilorentz.org/history/zuiderzee/zuiderzee.html)
- [7] Richardson 1929
- [8] funeral procession (http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=H2VtrJD0xJk) Hendrik Lorentz
- [9] Przibram 1967
- [10] http://www.historyofscience.nl/works_detail.cfm?RecordId=5
- [11] http://en.wikisource.org/wiki/Considerations_on_Gravitation
- $[12] \ http://www.archive.org/details/electronstheory00lorerich$
- [13] http://www.archive.org/details/lecturesontheore031600mbp
- [14] http://espace.library.uq.edu.au/view.php?pid=UQ:9560
- [15] http://www.physicsinsights.org/poincare-1900.pdf
- [16] http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/Biographies/Lorentz.html

External links

- Works by or about Hendrik Lorentz (http://worldcat.org/identities/lccn-n83-239384) in libraries (WorldCat catalog)
- Works by H.A. Lorentz (http://www.gutenberg.org/author/H._A._Lorentz) at Project Gutenberg
- Karl Grandin, ed. (1902). "Hendrik A. Lorentz Biography" (http://nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/ laureates/1902/lorentz-bio.html). *Les Prix Nobel*. The Nobel Foundation. Retrieved 2008-07-29.
- Beenakker, Carlo, *Lorentz and the Zuiderzee project* (http://ilorentz.org/history/zuiderzee/zuiderzee.html), Leiden, [The Netherlands]: Instituut Lorentz, University of Leiden
- van Helden, Albert (1999), "Hendrik Antoon Lorentz 1853-1928" (http://www.historyofscience.nl/author. cfm?RecordId=5), in van Berkel, Klaas; van Helden, Albert; Palm, Lodewijk (eds.), *A History of Science in The Netherlands: Survey, Themes and Reference*, Leiden, [The Netherlands]: Brill, pp. 514–518, ISBN 9004100067
- Kox, Anne J., *Ph.D. students of H.A. Lorentz: 1881-1921* (http://www.lorentz.leidenuniv.nl/IL-publications/ dissertations/lorentz.txt), Leiden, [The Netherlands]: University of Leiden
- O'Connor, John J.; Robertson, Edmund F., *Hendrik Lorentz, MacTutor History of Mathematics archive* (http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/Biographies/Lorentz.html), retrieved 2008-05-01
- Movie of Lorentz's funeral (http://www.vpro.nl/programma/zomergasten/afleveringen/22708246/items/ 23535592/)

James Clerk Maxwell

James Clerk Maxwell		
James Clerk Maxwell (1831–1879)		
Born	13 June 1831 Edinburgh, UK	
Died	5 November 1879 (aged 48) Cambridge, UK	
Citizenship	United Kingdom	
Nationality	British/Scottish	
Fields	Physics and mathematics	
Institutions	Marischal College, Aberdeen King's College London University of Cambridge	
Alma mater	University of Edinburgh University of Cambridge	
Academic advisors	William Hopkins	
Notable students	George Chrystal	
Known for	Maxwell's equations Maxwell distribution Maxwell's demon Maxwell's discs Maxwell speed distribution Maxwell speed distribution Maxwell stheorem Maxwell material Generalized Maxwell model Displacement current	
Notable awards	Smith's Prize (1854) Adams Prize (1857) Rumford Medal (1860) Keith Prize (1869-71) Signature	
J. Cled. Maawell		

James Clerk Maxwell of Glenlair^[1] FRS FRSE (13 June 1831 – 5 November 1879) was a Scottish^[2] physicist and mathematician. His most prominent achievement was formulating classical electromagnetic theory. This united all previously unrelated observations, experiments and equations of electricity, magnetism and optics into a consistent

theory.^[3] Maxwell's equations demonstrated that electricity, magnetism and light are all manifestations of the same phenomenon, namely the electromagnetic field. Subsequently, all other classic laws or equations of these disciplines became simplified cases of Maxwell's equations. Maxwell's achievements concerning electromagnetism have been called the "second great unification in physics",^[4] after the first one realised by Isaac Newton.

Maxwell demonstrated that electric and magnetic fields travel through space in the form of waves, and at the constant speed of light. In 1865 Maxwell published *A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field*. It was with this that he first proposed that light was in fact undulations in the same medium that is the cause of electric and magnetic phenomena.^[5] His work in producing a unified model of electromagnetism is one of the greatest advances in physics.

Maxwell also helped develop the Maxwell–Boltzmann distribution, which is a statistical means of describing aspects of the kinetic theory of gases. These two discoveries helped usher in the era of modern physics, laying the foundation for such fields as special relativity and quantum mechanics.

Maxwell is also known for presenting the first durable colour photograph in 1861 and for his foundational work on the rigidity of rod-and-joint frameworks like those in many bridges.

Maxwell is considered by many physicists to be the 19th-century scientist who had the greatest influence on 20th-century physics. His contributions to the science are considered by many to be of the same magnitude as those of Isaac Newton and Albert Einstein.^[6] In the millennium poll—a survey of the 100 most prominent physicists—Maxwell was voted the third greatest physicist of all time, behind only Newton and Einstein.^[7] On the centennial of Maxwell's birthday, Einstein himself described Maxwell's work as the "most profound and the most fruitful that physics has experienced since the time of Newton."^[8] Einstein kept a photograph of Maxwell on his study wall, alongside pictures of Michael Faraday and Newton.^[9]

Life

Early life, 1831-39

James Clerk Maxwell was born 13 June 1831 at 14 India Street, Edinburgh, to John Clerk, an advocate, and Frances Cay.^[10] Maxwell's father was a man of comfortable means, of the Clerk family of Penicuik, Midlothian, holders of the baronetcy of Clerk of Penicuik; his brother being the 6th Baronet.^[11] James was the first cousin of notable 19th century artist Jemima Blackburn.

He had been born **John Clerk**,^[12] adding the surname Maxwell to his own after he inherited a country estate in Middlebie, Kirkcudbrightshire from connections to the Maxwell family, themselves members of the peerage.^[10]

Maxwell's parents did not meet and marry until they were well into their thirties,^[13] which was unusual for the time; moreover, his mother was nearly 40 years old when James was born. They had had one earlier child, a daughter, Elizabeth, who died in infancy.^[14] They named their only surviving child James, a name that had sufficed not only for his grandfather, but also many of his other ancestors.

When Maxwell was young his family moved to Glenlair House, which his parents had built on the 1500 acre (6.1 km²) Middlebie estate.^[15] All indications suggest that Maxwell had maintained an unquenchable curiosity from an early age.^[16] By the age of three, everything that moved, shone, or made a noise drew the question: "what's the go o' that?".^[17] In a passage added to a letter from his father to his sister-in-law Jane Cay in 1834, his mother described this innate sense of inquisitiveness:

"He is a very happy man, and has improved much since the weather got moderate; he has great work with doors, locks, keys, etc., and "show me how it doos" is never out of his mouth. He also investigates the hidden course of streams and bell-wires, the way the water gets from the pond through the wall..."^[18]

Education, 1839-47

Recognising the potential of the young boy, his mother Frances took responsibility for James' early education, which in the Victorian era was largely the job of the woman of the house.^[19] She was however taken ill with abdominal cancer, and after an unsuccessful operation, died in December 1839 when Maxwell was only eight. James' education was then overseen by John Maxwell and his sister-in-law Jane, both of whom played pivotal roles in the life of Maxwell.^[19] His formal schooling began unsuccessfully under the guidance of a sixteen-year-old hired tutor. Little is known about the young man John Maxwell hired to instruct his son, except that he treated the younger boy harshly, chiding him for being slow and wayward.^[19] John Maxwell dismissed the tutor in November 1841, and after considerable thought, sent James to the prestigious Edinburgh Academy.^[20] He lodged during term times at the house of his aunt Isabella. During this time his passion for drawing was encouraged by his older cousin Jemima, who was herself a talented artist.^[21]

The ten-year-old Maxwell, having been raised in isolation on his father's countryside estate, did not fit in well at school.^[22] The first year had been full, obliging him to join the second year with classmates a year his senior.^[22] His mannerisms and Galloway accent struck the other boys as rustic, and his having arrived on his first day of school wearing a pair of homemade shoes and a tunic, earned him the unkind nickname of "Daftie".^[23]



Maxwell, however, never seemed to have resented the epithet, bearing it without complaint for many years.^[24] Social isolation at the Academy ended when he met Lewis Campbell and Peter Guthrie Tait, two boys of a similar age who were to become notable scholars later in life. They would remain lifetime friends.^[10]

Maxwell was fascinated by geometry at an early age, rediscovering the regular polyhedron before any formal instruction.^[21] Much of his talent however, went overlooked, and despite winning the school's scripture biography prize in his second year his academic work remained unnoticed^[21] until, at the age of 13, he won the school's mathematical medal and first prize for both English and poetry.^[25]

Maxwell wrote his first scientific paper at the age of 14. In it he described a mechanical means of drawing mathematical curves with a piece of twine, and the properties of ellipses, Cartesian ovals, and related curves with more than two foci. His work, *Oval Curves*, was presented to the Royal Society of Edinburgh by James Forbes, who was a professor of natural philosophy at Edinburgh University.^[10] ^[26] Maxwell was deemed too young for the work presented.^[27] The work was not entirely original, since Descartes had also examined the properties of such multifocal curves in the seventeenth century, but Maxwell had simplified their construction.^[27]

Edinburgh University, 1847–50



Maxwell left the Academy in 1847 at the age of 16 and began attending classes at the University of Edinburgh.^[28] Having had the opportunity to attend the University of Cambridge after his first term Maxwell instead decided to complete the full course of his undergraduate studies at Edinburgh. The academic staff of Edinburgh University included some highly regarded names, and Maxwell's first year tutors included Sir William Hamilton, who lectured him on logic and metaphysics, Philip Kelland on mathematics, and James Forbes on natural philosophy.^[10] Maxwell, however, did not find his classes at Edinburgh University very demanding,^[29] and was therefore able to

immerse himself in private study during free time at the university, and particularly when back home at Glenlair.^[30] There he would experiment with improvised chemical, electric, and magnetic apparatuses, but his chief concerns regarded the properties of polarized light.^[31] He constructed shaped blocks of gelatine, subjected them to various stresses, and with a pair of polarizing prisms given to him by the famous scientist William Nicol he would view the coloured fringes which had developed within the jelly.^[32] Through this practice Maxwell discovered photoelasticity, which is a means of determining the stress distribution within physical structures.^[33]

Maxwell contributed two papers for the Transactions of the Royal Society of Edinburgh at the age of 18. One of these, *On the equilibrium of elastic solids*, laid the foundation for an important discovery later in his life, which was the temporary double refraction produced in viscous liquids by shear stress.^[34] His other paper was titled *Rolling curves*, and just as with the paper *Oval Curves* that he had written at the Edinburgh Academy, Maxwell was again considered too young to stand at the rostrum and present it himself. The paper was delivered to the Royal Society by his tutor Kelland instead.^[35]

Cambridge University, 1850–56

In October 1850, already an accomplished mathematician, Maxwell left Scotland for Cambridge University.^[36] He initially attended Peterhouse, but before the end of his first term transferred to Trinity College, where he believed it would be easier to obtain a fellowship.^[37] At Trinity, he was elected to the elite secret society known as the Cambridge Apostles.^[38] In November 1851, Maxwell studied under William Hopkins, whose success in nurturing mathematical genius had earned him the nickname of "senior wrangler-maker".^[39] A considerable part of Maxwell's translation of his equations regarding electromagnetism was accomplished during his time at Trinity.

In 1854, Maxwell graduated from Trinity with a degree in mathematics. He scored second highest in the final examination, coming behind Edward Routh, and thereby earning himself the title of Second Wrangler. He was later declared equal with Routh, however, in the more exacting ordeal of the Smith's Prize examination.^[40]



A young Maxwell at Trinity College, Cambridge. He is holding one of his colour wheels.

Immediately after earning his degree, Maxwell read a novel paper to the Cambridge Philosophical Society entitled *On the transformation of surfaces by bending*.^[41] This is one of the few purely mathematical papers he had written,

and it demonstrated Maxwell's growing stature as a mathematician.^[42] Maxwell decided to remain at Trinity after graduating and applied for a fellowship, which was a process that he could expect to take a couple of years.^[43]

Buoyed by his success as a research student, he would be free, aside from some tutoring and examining duties, to pursue scientific interests at his own leisure.^[43]

The nature and perception of colour was one such interest, and had begun at Edinburgh University while he was a student of Forbes.^[44] Maxwell took the coloured spinning tops invented by Forbes, and was able to demonstrate that white light would result from a mixture of red, green and blue light.^[44] His paper, *Experiments on colour*, laid out the principles of colour combination, and was presented to the Royal Society of Edinburgh in March 1855.^[45] Fortunately for Maxwell this time it would be he himself who delivered his lecture.^[45]

Maxwell was made a fellow of Trinity on 10 October 1855, sooner than was the norm,^[45] and was asked to prepare lectures on hydrostatics and optics, and to set examination papers.^[46] However, the following February he was urged by Forbes to apply for the newly vacant Chair of Natural Philosophy at Marischal College, Aberdeen.^[47] His father assisted him in the task of preparing the necessary references, but he would die on 2 April, at Glenlair before either knew the result of Maxwell's candidacy.^[47] Maxwell nevertheless accepted the professorship at Aberdeen, leaving Cambridge in November 1856.^[46]

Aberdeen University, 1856–60

The 25-year-old Maxwell was a decade and a half younger than any other professor at Marischal, but engaged himself with his new responsibilities as head of department, devising the syllabus and preparing lectures.^[48] He committed himself to lecturing 15 hours a week, including a weekly *pro bono* lecture to the local working men's college.^[48] He lived in Aberdeen during the six months of the academic year, and spent the summers at Glenlair, which he had inherited from his father.

His mind was focused on a problem that had eluded scientists for two hundred years: the nature of Saturn's rings. It was unknown how they could remain stable without breaking up, drifting away or crashing into Saturn. The problem took on a particular resonance at this time as St John's College, Cambridge had chosen it as the topic for the 1857 Adams Prize.^[49] Maxwell devoted two years to studying the problem. proving that a regular solid ring could not be stable, and a fluid ring would be forced by wave action to break up into blobs. Since neither was observed, Maxwell concluded that the rings must comprise numerous small particles he called "brick-bats", each independently orbiting Saturn.^[49] Maxwell was awarded the £130 Adams Prize in 1859 for his essay On the stability of Saturn's rings; he was the only entrant to have made enough headway to submit an entry.^[50] His work was so detailed and convincing that when George Biddell Airy read it he commented "It is one of the most remarkable applications of mathematics to physics that I have ever seen."^[51] It was considered the



James and Katherine Maxwell, 1869.

final word on the issue until direct observations by the *Voyager* flybys of the 1980s confirmed Maxwell's prediction. Maxwell would also go on to disprove mathematically the nebular hypothesis (which stated that the solar system formed through the progressive condensation of a purely gaseous nebula), forcing the theory to account for additional portions of small solid particles.

In 1857 Maxwell befriended the Reverend Daniel Dewar, who was the Principal of Marischal, and through him met Dewar's daughter, Katherine Mary Dewar. They were engaged in February 1858 and married in Aberdeen on 2 June 1859. Seven years Maxwell's senior, comparatively little is known of Katherine although it is known that she helped in his lab and worked on experiments in viscosity.^[52] Maxwell's biographer and friend Campbell adopted an uncharacteristic reticence on the subject of Katherine, though describing their married life as "one of unexampled devotion".^[53]

In 1860, Marischal College merged with the neighbouring King's College to form the University of Aberdeen. There was no room for two professors of Natural Philosophy, and Maxwell, despite his scientific reputation, found himself laid off. He was unsuccessful in applying for Forbes' recently vacated chair at Edinburgh, the post instead going to Tait. Maxwell was granted the Chair of Natural Philosophy at King's College London instead.^[54] After recovering from a near-fatal bout of smallpox in the summer of 1860, Maxwell headed south to London with his wife Katherine.^[55]

King's College London, 1860–65

Maxwell's time at King's was probably the most productive of his career. He was awarded the Royal Society's Rumford Medal in 1860 for his work on colour, and was later elected to the Society in 1861.^[56] This period of his life would see him display the world's first light-fast colour photograph, further develop his ideas on the viscosity of gases, and propose a system of defining physical quantities—now known as dimensional analysis. Maxwell would often attend lectures at the Royal Institution, where he came into regular contact with Michael Faraday. The relationship between the two men could not be described as close, as Faraday was 40 years Maxwell's senior and showed signs of senility. They nevertheless maintained a strong respect for each other's talents.^[57]

This time is especially known for the advances Maxwell made in the fields of electricity and magnetism. He had examined the nature of both electric and magnetic fields in his two-part paper *On physical lines of force*, published in 1861, in which he had provided a conceptual model for electromagnetic induction, consisting of tiny spinning cells of magnetic flux. Two more parts later added to the paper were published in early 1862. In the first of these he discussed the nature of electrostatics and displacement current. The final part dealt with the rotation of the plane of polarization of light in a magnetic field, a phenomenon discovered by Faraday and now known as the Faraday effect.^[58]

Later years

In 1865, Maxwell resigned the chair at King's College London and returned to Glenlair with Katherine.

He wrote a textbook entitled *Theory of Heat* (1871), and an elementary treatise, *Matter and Motion* (1876). Maxwell was also the first to make explicit use of dimensional analysis, in 1871.

In 1871, he became the first Cavendish Professor of Physics at Cambridge. Maxwell was put in charge of the development of the Cavendish Laboratory. He supervised every step in the progress of the building and of the purchase of the very valuable collection of apparatus paid for by its generous founder, the 7th Duke of Devonshire (chancellor of the university, and one of its most distinguished alumni). One of Maxwell's last great contributions to science was the editing (with copious original notes) of the electrical researches of Henry Cavendish, from which it appeared that Cavendish researched, amongst other things, such questions as the mean density of the earth and the composition of water.

He died in Cambridge of abdominal cancer on 5 November 1879 at the age of 48.^[28] His mother had died at the same age of the same type of cancer. Maxwell is buried at Parton Kirk, near Castle



Maxwell's gravestone at Parton

Douglas in Galloway, Scotland. The extended biography *The Life of James Clerk Maxwell*, by his former schoolfellow and lifelong friend Professor Lewis Campbell, was published in 1882. His collected works, including the series of articles on the properties of matter, such as "Atom", "Attraction", "Capillary action", "Diffusion", "Ether", etc., were issued in two volumes by the Cambridge University Press in 1890.

Personality

As a great lover of Scottish poetry, Maxwell memorised poems and wrote his own.^[59] The best known is *Rigid Body Sings*, closely based on *Comin' Through the Rye* by Robert Burns, which he apparently used to sing while accompanying himself on a guitar. It has the opening lines^[60]

Gin a body meet a body Flyin' through the air. Gin a body hit a body, Will it fly? And where?

A collection of his poems was published by his friend Lewis Campbell in 1882. Many appreciations of Maxwell remark upon his remarkable intellectual qualities being matched by social awkwardness.

Ivan Tolstoy, author of one of Maxwell's biographies, has noted the frequency with which scientists writing short biographies of Maxwell omit the subject of his Christianity. He was an evangelical Presbyterian, and in his later years became an Elder of the Church of Scotland.^[61] Maxwell's religious beliefs and related activities have been the focus of several peer-reviewed and well-referenced papers.^[62] ^[63] ^[64] ^[65] Attending both Church of Scotland (his father's denomination) and Episcopalian (his mother's denomination) services as a child, Maxwell later underwent an evangelical conversion in April 1853, which committed him to an anti-positivist position.^[64]

Contributions

Electromagnetism

A postcard from Maxwell to Peter Tait.

Maxwell had studied and commented on the field of electricity and magnetism as early as 1855/6 when "On Faraday's lines of force" was read to the Cambridge Philosophical Society. The paper presented a simplified model of Faraday's work, and how the two phenomena were related. He reduced all of the current knowledge into a linked set of differential equations with 20 equations in 20 variables. This work was later published as "On physical lines of force" in March 1861.^[66]

Around 1862, while lecturing at King's College, Maxwell calculated that the speed of propagation of an electromagnetic field is approximately that of the speed of light. He considered this to be more

than just a coincidence, and commented "We can scarcely avoid the conclusion that light consists in the transverse undulations of the same medium which is the cause of electric and magnetic phenomena."^[51]

Working on the problem further, Maxwell showed that the equations predict the existence of waves of oscillating electric and magnetic fields that travel through empty space at a speed that could be predicted from simple electrical experiments; using the data available at the time, Maxwell obtained a velocity of 310,740,000 m/s. In his 1864 paper "A dynamical theory of the electromagnetic field", Maxwell wrote, "The agreement of the results seems to show that light and magnetism are affections of the same substance, and that light is an electromagnetic disturbance propagated through the field according to electromagnetic laws".^[5]

His famous equations, in their modern form of four partial differential equations, first appeared in fully developed form in his textbook *A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism* in 1873. Most of this work was done by Maxwell at Glenlair during the period between holding his London post and his taking up the Cavendish chair.^[51] Maxwell expressed electromagnetism in the algebra of quaternions and made the electromagnetic potential the centerpiece of his theory. In 1881 Oliver Heaviside replaced Maxwell's electromagnetic potential field by 'force fields' as the centerpiece of electromagnetic theory. Heaviside reduced the complexity of Maxwell's theory down to four differential equations, known now collectively as Maxwell's Laws or Maxwell's equations. According to Heaviside,

the electromagnetic potential field was arbitrary and needed to be "murdered".^[67] However, the use of scalar and vector potentials is now standard in the solution of Maxwell's equations.^[68]

A few years later there was a great debate between Heaviside and Peter Guthrie Tait about the relative merits of vector analysis and quaternions. The result was the realization that there was no need for the greater physical insights provided by quaternions if the theory was purely local, and vector analysis became commonplace.^[69]

Maxwell was proven correct, and his quantitative connection between light and electromagnetism is considered one of the great accomplishments of 19th century mathematical physics.

Maxwell also introduced the concept of the *electromagnetic field* in comparison to force lines that Faraday discovered. By understanding the propagation of electromagnetism as a field emitted by active particles, Maxwell could advance his work on light. At that time, Maxwell believed that the propagation of light required a medium for the waves, dubbed the luminiferous aether. Over time, the existence of such a medium, permeating all space and yet apparently undetectable by mechanical means, proved more and more difficult to reconcile with experiments such as the Michelson–Morley experiment. Moreover, it seemed to require an absolute frame of reference in which the equations were valid, with the distasteful result that the equations changed form for a moving observer. These difficulties inspired Albert Einstein to formulate the theory of special relativity, and in the process Einstein dispensed with the requirement of a luminiferous aether.

Colour analysis

Maxwell contributed to the field of optics and the study of colour vision, creating the foundation for practical colour photography.

From 1855 to 1872, he published at intervals a series of valuable investigations concerning the perception of colour, colour-blindness and colour theory, for the earlier of which the Royal Society awarded him the Rumford Medal. The instruments which he devised for these investigations were simple and convenient to use. For example, Maxwell's discs were used to compare a variable mixture of three primary colours with a sample colour by observing the spinning "colour top."

In the course of his 1855 paper on the perception of colour, Maxwell proposed that if three black-and-white photographs of a scene were



taken through red, green and violet filters, and transparent prints of the images were projected onto a screen using three projectors equipped with similar filters, when superimposed on the screen the result would be perceived by the human eye as a complete reproduction of all the colours in the scene.^[70]

During an 1861 Royal Institution lecture on colour theory, Maxwell presented the world's first demonstration of colour photography by this principle of three-colour analysis and synthesis, the basis of nearly all subsequent photochemical and electronic methods of colour photography. Thomas Sutton, inventor of the single-lens reflex camera, did the actual picture-taking. He photographed a tartan ribbon three times, through red, green and blue filters. He also made a fourth exposure through a yellow filter, but according to Maxwell's account this was not used in the demonstration. Because Sutton's photographic plates were in fact insensitive to red and barely sensitive to green, the results of this pioneering experiment were far from perfect. It was remarked in the published account of the lecture that "if the red and green images had been as fully photographed as the blue," it "would have been a truly-coloured image of the riband. By finding photographic materials more sensitive to the less refrangible rays, the representation of the colours of objects might be greatly improved."^[56] [71] [72]

Researchers in 1961 concluded that the seemingly impossible partial success of the red-filtered exposure was due to ultraviolet light. Some red dyes strongly reflect it, the red filter used does not entirely block it, and Sutton's plates

were sensitive to it.^[73]

The demonstration was not of a print or transparency containing tangible colouring matter, but of colour which was photographically recorded from nature and reproduced by the same additive colour synthesis principle now used by all common types of colour video displays. Maxwell's purpose was not to present a method of colour photography, but to illustrate the basis of human colour perception and to show that the correct additive primaries are not red, yellow and blue, as was then taught, but red, green and blue.

The three photographic plates now reside in a small museum at 14 India Street, Edinburgh, the house where Maxwell was born.

Kinetic theory and thermodynamics

Maxwell also investigated the kinetic theory of gases. Originating with Daniel Bernoulli, this theory was advanced by the successive labours of John Herapath, John James Waterston, James Joule, and particularly Rudolf Clausius, to such an extent as to put its general accuracy beyond a doubt; but it received enormous development from Maxwell, who in this field appeared as an experimenter (on the laws of gaseous friction) as well as a mathematician.

In 1866, he formulated statistically, independently of Ludwig Boltzmann, the Maxwell–Boltzmann kinetic theory of gases. His formula, called the Maxwell distribution, gives the fraction of gas molecules moving at a specified velocity at any given temperature. In the kinetic theory, temperatures and heat involve only molecular movement. This approach generalized the previously established laws of thermodynamics and explained existing observations and experiments in a better way than had been achieved previously. Maxwell's work on thermodynamics led him to devise the *Gedankenexperiment* (thought experiment) that came to be known as Maxwell's demon.

In 1871, he established Maxwell's thermodynamic relations, which are statements of equality among the second derivatives of the thermodynamic potentials with respect to different thermodynamic variables. In 1874, he constructed a plaster thermodynamic visualisation as a way of exploring phase transitions, based on the American scientist Josiah Willard Gibbs's graphical thermodynamics papers.
Control theory

Maxwell published a famous paper "On governors" in the Proceedings of Royal Society, vol. 16 (1867–1868). This paper is quite frequently considered a classical paper of the early days of control theory. Here governors refer to the governor or the centrifugal governor used in steam engines.

Legacy

Maxwell was ranked 91st on the BBC poll of the 100 Greatest Britons. His name is honoured in a number of ways:

- The maxwell (Mx), a compound derived CGS unit measuring magnetic flux.
- Maxwell Montes, a mountain range on Venus, one of only three features on the planet that are not given female names.
- The Maxwell Gap in the Rings of Saturn.
- The James Clerk Maxwell Telescope, the largest submillimetre-wavelength astronomical telescope in the world, with a diameter of 15 metres.
- The 1977 James Clerk Maxwell Building of the University of Edinburgh, housing the schools of mathematics, physics and meteorology.
- The James Clerk Maxwell building at the Waterloo campus of King's College London, in commemoration of his time as Professor of Natural Philosophy at King's from 1860 to 1865. The university



Maxwell statue in Edinburgh

also has a chair in Physics named after him, and a society for undergraduate physicists.

- The £4 million James Clerk Maxwell Centre of the Edinburgh Academy was opened in 2006 to mark his 175th anniversary.
- James Clerk Maxwell Road in Cambridge, which runs beside the Cavendish Laboratory.
- The University of Salford's main building is named after him.
- Maxwell bridge, a bridge circuit involving resistors, a capacitor and an inductor
- A statue on Edinburgh's George Street^[74]
- A street in Aberdeen's Kincorth area is named after him^[75]
- Thomas Pynchon, an American novelist, alludes to and explains Maxwell's demon in The Crying of Lot 49.
- P J Moore, keyboard player with The Blue Nile is developing a theatre piece based on the life of J.C.M.

Publications

- "On the description of oval curves, and those having a plurality of foci". Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, Vol. ii. 1846.
- "Are There Real Analogies in Nature?^[76]" (February 1856)
- Illustrations of the Dynamical Theory of Gases. 1860.
- On the Theory of Compound Colours, and the Relations of the Colours of the Spectrum ^[77]. 1860.
- "On physical lines of force". 1861.
- "A dynamical theory of the electromagnetic field". 1865.
- "On governors". Proceedings of the Royal Society, Vol. 16 (1867–1868) pp. 270–283.
- *Theory of Heat* ^[78]. 1871.
- "On the Focal Lines of a Refracted Pencil". Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society s1-4(1):337-343, 1871.

- A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism. Clarendon Press, Oxford. 1873.
- "Molecules^[79]". *Nature*, September, 1873.
- "On Hamilton's characteristic function for a narrow beam of light". *Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society* s1-6(1):182–190, 1874.
- Matter and Motion, 1876.
- "On Stresses in Rarefied Gases Arising from Inequalities of Temperature". *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, Vol. 170, (1879), pp. 231–256
- On the Results of Bernoulli's Theory of Gases as Applied to their Internal Friction, their Diffusion, and their Conductivity for Heat.
- "Ether", Encyclopædia Britannica, Ninth Edition (1875–89).
- An Elementary Treatise on Electricity Clarendon Press, Oxford. 1881, 1888.

Notes

- Waterston, Charles D; Macmillan Shearer, A (July 2006). Former Fellows of the Royal Society of Edinburgh 1783-2002: Biographical Index (http://www.rse.org.uk/fellowship/fells_indexp2.pdf). II. Edinburgh: The Royal Society of Edinburgh. ISBN 9780902198845. . Retrieved 22 March 2011.
- [2] "James Clerk Maxwell" (http://www.britannica.com/EBchecked/topic/370621/James-Clerk-Maxwell). Encyclopædia Britannica. .
 Retrieved 24 February 2010. "Scottish physicist best known for his formulation of electromagnetic theory"
- [3] "James Clerk Maxwell" (http://www.ieeeghn.org/wiki/index.php/James_Clerk_Maxwell). IEEE Global History Network. 2011. . Retrieved 2011-06-21.
- [4] Nahin, P.J., Spectrum, IEEE, Volume 29, Issue 3, March 1992 Page(s):45-
- [5] Maxwell, James Clerk (1865). "A dynamical theory of the electromagnetic field" (http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/19/ A_Dynamical_Theory_of_the_Electromagnetic_Field.pdf) (pdf). *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London* 155: 459–512. Bibcode 1865RSPT..155..459C. doi:10.1098/rstl.1865.0008. . (This article accompanied a December 8, 1864 presentation by Maxwell to the Royal Society.)
- [6] Tolstoy, p.12
- [7] "Einstein the greatest" (http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/sci/tech/541840.stm). BBC News. 29 November 1999. . Retrieved 2 April 2010.
- [8] McFall, Patrick "Brainy young James wasn't so daft after all" (http://www.maxwellyear2006.org/html/press_coverage.html) The Sunday Post, 23 April 2006
- [9] "Einstein's Heroes: Imagining the World through the Language of Mathematics", by Robyn Arianrhod UQP, reviewed by Jane Gleeson-White, 10 November 2003, The Sydney Morning Herald.
- [10] Oxford Dictionary of National Biography, p506
- [11] "John Clerk-Maxwell of Middlebie" (http://www.thepeerage.com/p22717.htm#i227165). thePeerage.com. . Retrieved 2008-02-16
- [12] "James Clerk" (http://www.thepeerage.com/p22717.htm#i227169). thePeerage.com. . Retrieved 2008-02-16
- [13] Tolstoy, p11
- [14] Campbell, p1.
- [15] Mahon, pp 186-187
- [16] Tolstoy, p13
- [17] Mahon, p3
- [18] Campbell, p27
- [19] Tolstoy, pp 15-16
- [20] Campbell, pp 19-21
- [21] Mahon, pp 12-14
- [22] Mahon, p10
- [23] Mahon, p4
- [24] Campbell, pp 23-24
- [25] Campbell, p43
- [26] Gardner, Martin (2007). The Last Recreations: Hydras, Eggs, and Other Mathematical Mystifications. Springer-Verlag. pp. 46–49. ISBN 9780387258270.
- [27] Mahon, p16
- [28] Harman, Hutchinson Dictionary, p662
- [29] Tolstoy, p46
- [30] Campbell, p64
- [31] Mahon, pp 30-31
- [32] Timoshenko, p58

- [33] Russo, Remigio (1996). Mathematical Problems in Elasticity. World Scientific. p. 73. ISBN 9810225768.
- [34] Timoshenko, pp. 268-278
- [35] Glazebrook, p. 23
- [36] Clerk Maxwell&sye=&eye=&col=all&maxcount=50 Maxwell, James Clerk (http://venn.lib.cam.ac.uk/cgi-bin/search.pl?sur=& suro=c&fir=&firo=c&cit=&cito=c&c=all&tex=James) in Venn, J. & J. A., *Alumni Cantabrigienses*, Cambridge University Press, 10 vols, 1922–1958.
- [37] Glazebrook, p28
- [38] Glazebrook, p30
- [39] Warwick, Andrew (2003). Masters of Theory: Cambridge and the Rise of Mathematical Physics. University of Chicago Press. pp. 84–85. ISBN 0226873749.
- [40] Tolstoy, p62
- [41] Harman, The Natural Philosophy, p3
- [42] Tolstoy, p61
- [43] Mahon, pp 47-48
- [44] Mahon, p51
- [45] Tolstoy, pp 64–65. The full title of Maxwell's paper was Experiments on colour, as perceived by the eye, with remarks on colour-blindness.
- [46] Glazebrook, pp 43-456
- [47] Campbell, p126
- [48] Mahon, pp 69-71
- [49] Oxford Dictionary of National Biography, p508
- [50] Mahon, p75
- [51] J J O'Connor and E F Robertson, James Clerk Maxwell (http://www-groups.dcs.st-and.ac.uk/~history/Biographies/Maxwell.html), School of Mathematics and Statistics, University of St Andrews, Scotland, November 1997
- [52] http://books.google.com/books?id=qE50pbHfQtgC&pg=PA351&lpg=PA351&dq=Maxwell%27s+wife+viscosity#v=onepage&q&f=false
- [53] Tolstoy, pp88-91
- [54] Glazebrook, p54
- [55] Tolstoy, p98
- [56] Tolstoy, p103
- [57] Tolstoy, pp100-101
- [58] Mahon, p109

[59] Seitz, Frederick. "James Clerk Maxwell (1831–1879); Member APS 1875" (http://www.amphilsoc.org/sites/default/files/Seitz.pdf). Philadelphia: The American Philosophical Society. . Retrieved 20 May 2011.

- [60] "Rigid Body Sings" (http://www.haverford.edu/physics-astro/songs/rigid.htm). PhysicsSongs.org. . Retrieved 2008-04-15.
- [61] *The Aberdeen University Review* (The Aberdeen University Press) **III**. 1916. http://www.archive.org/stream/ aberdeenuniversi03univuoft/aberdeenuniversi03univuoft_djvu.txt.
- [62] McNatt, Jerrold L. "James Clerk Maxwell's Refusal to Join the Victoria Institute" (http://www.asa3.org/ASA/PSCF/2004/ PSCF9-04McNatt.pdf) Perspectives on Science and Christian Faith, September 2004
- [63] Marston, Philip L. (2007). "Maxwell and creation: Acceptance, criticism, and his anonymous publication". *American Journal of Physics* 75 (8): 731–740. Bibcode 2007AmJPh..75..731M. doi:10.1119/1.2735631.
- [64] Theerman, Paul "James Clerk Maxwell and religion", American Journal of Physics, 54 (4), April 1986, p.312-317
- [65] "James Clerk Maxwell and the Christian Proposition by Ian Hutchinson, MIT IAP Seminar: The Faith of Great Scientists, January 1998, 2006" (http://silas.psfc.mit.edu/maxwell/). Retrieved 2008-04-13.
- [66] James Clerk Maxwell, " On physical lines of force (http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/b/b8/ On_Physical_Lines_of_Force.pdf)", Philosophical Magazine, 1861
- [67] B.J Hunt, The Maxwellians (Ph.D. dissertation). Baltimore, MD; The John Hopkins University, 1984, pp. 116-117. ALSO; 'History of Wireless' Tapan K. Sarkar, Robert J. Mailloux, Arthur A. Oliner, Magdalena Salazar-Palma, Dipak L. Sengupta
- [68] Leonard Eyges, 'The Classical Electromagnetic Field', Dover Publications Inc. New York, 1972, section 11.6.
- [69] Terence W. Barrett and Dale M. Grimes, Preface, p. vii-viii, in Advanced Electromagnetism: Foundations, Theory and Applications, Terence W. Barrett and Dale M. Grimes (eds.), World Scientific, Singapore, 1995
- [70] Maxwell, J.: "Experiments on Colour, as Perceived by the Eye, with Remarks on Colour-Blindness", *Transactions of the Royal Society of Edinburgh (1855) 21(part 2):275-298. (This thought-experiment is described on pages 283-284. The short-wavelength filter is specified as "violet", but during the 19th century "violet" could be used to describe a deep violet-blue such as the colour of cobalt glass.)*
- [71] http://notesonphotographs.org/index.php?title=Maxwell,_J._Clerk._%22On_the_Theory_of_Three_Primary_Colours.%22
- [72] http://notesonphotographs.org/index.php?title=%22The_Theory_of_the_Primary_Colours. %22_The_British_Journal_of_Photography,_August_9,_1861
- [73] Evans, R. (November 1961). "Maxwell's Color Photography". Scientific American 205: 117-128.
- [74] The Science World's Unsung Hero? (http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/scotland/south_of_scotland/7746365.stm) BBC News 25-11-08 Accessed 25-11-08

- [75] Google map's Clerk Maxwell Crescent (http://maps.google.co.uk/maps?rlz=1C1GGLS_en-GBGB328GB329&q=clerk maxwell crescent&um=1&ie=UTF-8&sa=N&hl=en&tab=wl)
- [76] http://www.ideayayinevi.com/metinler/real_analogies/are_there_real_analogies_in_nature.htm
- [77] http://rstl.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/150/57
- [78] http://www.archive.org/details/theoryheat02maxwgoog
- [79] http://www.thecore.nus.edu.sg/landow/victorian/science/science_texts/molecules.html

Bibliography

- Campbell, Lewis; Garnett, William (1882) (PDF). *The Life of James Clerk Maxwell* (http://www.sonnetusa. com/bio/maxbio.pdf). Edinburgh: MacMillan. OCLC 2472869. Retrieved 2008-02-20.
- Glazebrook, R. T. (1896). James Clerk Maxwell and Modern Physics. MacMillan. ISBN 978-1-40672-200-0.
- Harman, Peter. M. (2004). *Oxford Dictionary of National Biography, volume 37*. Oxford University Press. ISBN 019861411X.
- Harman, Peter M. (1998). *The Natural Philosophy of James Clerk Maxwell*. Cambridge University Press. ISBN 052100585X.
- Mahon, Basil (2003). The Man Who Changed Everything the Life of James Clerk Maxwell. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley. ISBN 0470861711.
- Porter, Roy (2000). Hutchinson Dictionary of Scientific Biography. Hodder Arnold H&S. ISBN 978-1859863046.
- Timoshenko, Stephen (1983). History of Strength of Materials. Courier Dover Publications. ISBN 0486611876.
- Tolstoy, Ivan (1982). James Clerk Maxwell: A Biography. University of Chicago Press. ISBN 0-226-80787-8.

External links

- Works by James Clerk Maxwell (http://www.archive.org/search.php?query=creator:"Maxwell, James Clerk, 1831-1879") at the Internet Archive
- Works by James Clerk Maxwell (http://www.gutenberg.org/author/James_Clerk_Maxwell) at Project Gutenberg
- O'Connor, John J.; Robertson, Edmund F., "James Clerk Maxwell" (http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/ Biographies/Maxwell.html), *MacTutor History of Mathematics archive*, University of St Andrews.
- Genealogy and Coat of Arms of James Clerk Maxwell (1831–1879) Numericana (http://www.numericana. com/arms/maxwell.htm)
- Campbell, Lewis, "*The Life of James Clerk Maxwell* (http://www.sonnetusa.com/bio/maxwell.asp)". 1882. [Digital Preservation]
- Maxwell's Legacy (http://ieee.li/pdf/essay_maxwells_legacy.pdf), James C. Rautio (2005)
- The James Clerk Maxwell Foundation (http://www.clerkmaxwellfoundation.org/) Including a virtual tour of the museum.
- Maxwell Year 2006 (http://www.maxwellyear2006.org/) Events planned to mark 175th anniversary of Clerk Maxwell's birth.
- James Clerk Maxwell Centre, Edinburgh Academy (http://www.edinburghacademy.org.uk/curriculum/ chemistry/sciencecentre.htm) Opened in Maxwell's 175th anniversary year.
- BBC Radio 4 In Our Time JAMES CLERK MAXWELL (http://www.bbc.co.uk/radio4/history/inourtime/ ram/inourtime_20031002.ram) – streaming audio
- James Clerk Maxwell on ScotlandsPeople website (http://www.scotlandspeople.gov.uk/content/help/index. aspx?r=546&1145) Maxwell's last will and testament
- James Clerk Maxwell's grave (http://local.upmystreet.com/picture-of-james-clerk-maxwell-grave-id-366375. html)

Albert Abraham Michelson

Albert Abraham Michelson		
Born	December 19, 1852 Strzelno, Kingdom of Prussia	
Died	May 9, 1931 (aged 78) Pasadena, California	
Nationality	United States	
Fields	Physics	
Institutions	Case Western Reserve University Clark University University of Chicago	
Alma mater	United States Naval Academy University of Berlin	
Doctoral advisor	Hermann Helmholtz	
Doctoral students	Robert Millikan	
Known for	Speed of light Michelson-Morley experiment	
Notable awards	Nobel Prize for Physics (1907) Copley Medal (1907) Henry Draper Medal (1916)	
Signature A. M. ichelson		

Albert Abraham Michelson (December 19, 1852 – May 9, 1931) was an American physicist known for his work on the measurement of the speed of light and especially for the Michelson-Morley experiment. In 1907 he received the Nobel Prize in Physics. He became the first American to receive the Nobel Prize in sciences.

Biography

Michelson was born in Strzelno, Provinz Posen in the Kingdom of Prussia (now Poland) into a Jewish family.^[1] He moved to the US with his parents in 1855, at the age of two. He grew up in the mining towns of Murphy's Camp, California and Virginia City, Nevada, where his father was a merchant. He spent his high school years in San Francisco in the home of his aunt, Henriette Levy (née Michelson), who was the mother of author Harriet Lane Levy.^[2]

President Ulysses S. Grant awarded Michelson a special appointment to the U.S. Naval Academy in 1869^[3]. During his four years as a midshipman at the Academy^[4], Michelson excelled in optics, heat, climatology and drawing. After graduating in 1873 and two years at sea, he returned to the Naval Academy in 1875 to become an instructor in physics and chemistry until 1879. In 1879, he was posted to the Nautical Almanac Office, Washington (part of the United States Naval Observatory^[5] ^[6] ^[7]), to work with Simon Newcomb. In the following year he obtained leave of absence to continue his studies in Europe. He visited the Universities of Berlin and Heidelberg, and the Collège de France and École Polytechnique in Paris.

Michelson was fascinated with the sciences, and the problem of measuring the speed of light in particular. While at Annapolis, he conducted his first experiments of the speed of light, as part of a class demonstration in 1877. His Annapolis experiment was refined, and in 1879, he measured the speed of light in air to be 299,864±51 kilometres per second, and estimated the speed of light in vacuum as 299,940 km/s, or 186,380 mps^{[8] [9] [10]}. After two years of studies in Europe, he resigned from the Navy in 1881. In 1883 he accepted a position as professor of physics at the Case School of Applied Science in Cleveland, Ohio and concentrated on developing an improved interferometer. In 1887 he and Edward Morley carried out the famous Michelson-Morley experiment which seemed to rule out the existence of the aether. He later moved on to use astronomical interferometers in the measurement of stellar diameters and in measuring the separations of binary stars.

In 1889 Michelson became a professor at Clark University at Worcester, Massachusetts and in 1892 was appointed professor and the first head of the department of physics at the newly organized University of Chicago.

In 1899, he married Edna Stanton. They raised one son and three daughters.

In 1907, Michelson had the honor of being the first American to receive a Nobel Prize in Physics "for his optical precision instruments and the spectroscopic and metrological investigations carried out with their aid". He also won the Copley Medal in 1907, the Henry Draper Medal in 1916 and the Gold Medal of the Royal Astronomical Society in 1923. A crater on the Moon is named after him.

Michelson died in Pasadena, California at the age of 78. The University of Chicago Residence Halls remembered Michelson and his achievements by dedicating 'Michelson House' in his honor. Case Western Reserve has dedicated a Michelson House to him, and the chemistry academic building at the United States Naval Academy also bears his name. Clark University named a theatre after him.^[11] Michelson Laboratory at Naval Air Weapons Station China Lake in Ridgecrest, California is named for him. There is a display in the publicly accessible area of the Lab which includes facsimiles of Michelson's Nobel Prize medal, the prize document, and examples of his diffraction gratings.

Speed of light

Early measurements

As early as 1877, while still serving as an officer in the United States Navy, Michelson started planning a refinement of the rotating-mirror method of Léon Foucault for measuring the speed of light, using improved optics and a longer baseline. He conducted some preliminary measurements using largely improvised equipment in 1878, about the same time that his work came to the attention of Simon Newcomb, director of the Nautical Almanac Office who was already advanced in planning his own study. Michelson published his result of 299,910±50 km/s in 1879 before joining Newcomb in Washington DC to assist with his measurements there. Thus began a long professional collaboration and friendship between the two.

Simon Newcomb, with his more adequately funded project, obtained a value of 299,860±30 km/s, just at the extreme edge of consistency with Michelson's. Michelson continued to "refine" his method and in 1883 published a measurement of 299,853±60 km/s, rather closer to that of his mentor.

Mount Wilson and Lookout Mountain

In 1906, a novel electrical method was used by E. B. Rosa and N. E. Dorsey of the National Bureau of Standards to obtain a value for the speed of light of 299,781±10 km/s. Though this result has subsequently been shown to be severely biased by the poor electrical standards in use at the time, it seems to have set a fashion for rather lower measured values.

From 1920, Michelson started planning а definitive measurement from the Mount Wilson Observatory, using a

baseline to Lookout Mountain, a prominent bump on the south ridge of Mount San Antonio (Old Baldy), some 22 miles distant.

In 1922, the U.S. Coast and Geodetic Survey began two years of painstaking measurement of the baseline using the recently available invar tapes. With the baseline length established in 1924, measurements were carried out over the next two years to obtain the published value of 299,796±4 km/s.^[12]

Famous as the measurement is, it was beset by problems, not least of which was the haze created by the smoke from forest fires which blurred the mirror image. It is also probable that the intensively detailed work of the geodetic survey, with an estimated error of less than one part in 1 million, was compromised by a shift in the baseline arising from the Santa Barbara earthquake of June 29, 1925, which was an estimated magnitude of 6.3 on the Richter scale.

The now-famous Michelson-Morley Experiment also influenced the affirmation attempts of peer Albert Einstein's theory of general relativity and special relativity, using similar optical instrumentation. These instruments and related collaborations included the participations of fellow physicists, Dayton Miller, Hendrick Lorentz, and Robert Shankland.





Determination of the Velocity of Light

Michelson, Pease & Pearson

The period after 1927 marked the advent of new measurements of the speed of light using novel electro-optic devices, all substantially lower than Michelson's 1926 value.

Michelson sought another measurement, but this time in an evacuated tube to avoid difficulties in interpreting the image owing to atmospheric effects. In 1930, he began a collaboration with Francis G. Pease and Fred Pearson to perform a measurement in a 1.6 km tube at Pasadena, California. Michelson died with only 36 of the 233 measurement series completed and the experiment was subsequently beset by geological instability and condensation problems before the result of 299,774±11 km/s, consistent with the prevailing electro-optic values, was published posthumously in 1935.

Interferometry

In 1887 he collaborated with colleague Edward Williams Morley of Western Reserve College, now part of Case Western Reserve University, in the Michelson-Morley experiment. Their experiment for the expected motion of the Earth relative to the aether, the hypothetical medium in which light was supposed to travel, resulted in a null result. Surprised, Michelson repeated the experiment with greater and greater precision over the next years, but continued to find no ability to measure the aether. The Michelson-Morley results were immensely influential in the physics community, leading Hendrik Lorentz to devise his now-famous Lorentz contraction equations as a means of explaining the null result.

There has been some historical controversy over whether Albert Einstein was aware of the Michelson-Morley results when he developed his theory of special relativity, which pronounced the aether to be "superfluous". Regardless of Einstein's specific knowledge, the experiment is today considered the canonical experiment in regards to showing the lack of a detectable aether.^[13] [14]

Astronomical interferometry

From 1920 and into 1921 Michelson and Francis G. Pease became the first individuals to measure the diameter of a star other than the Sun. They used an astronomical interferometer at the Mount Wilson Observatory to measure the diameter of the super-giant star Betelgeuse. A periscope arrangement was used to obtain a densified pupil in the interferometer, a method later investigated in detail by Antoine Émile Henry Labeyrie for use in "Hypertelescopes". The measurement of stellar diameters and the separations of binary stars took up an increasing amount of Michelson's life after this.

A century later, the specific interferometer instrumentation design produced by Albert Michelson has become the principle means to conduct astronomical interferometry. The "Michelson Interferometer" design is found on modern operational observatories such as VLTI, CHARA -- and the U.S. Navy's NPOI.

Michelson in popular culture

In an episode of the television series *Bonanza* (*Look to the Stars*, broadcast March 18, 1962), Ben Cartwright (Lorne Greene) helps the 16-year-old Albert Abraham Michelson (portrayed by 25-year-old Douglas Lambert (1936–1986)) obtain an appointment to the U.S. Naval Academy, despite the opposition of the bigoted town schoolteacher (played by William Schallert). *Bonanza* was set in and around Virginia City, Nevada, where Michelson lived with his parents prior to leaving for the Naval Academy. In a voice-over at the end of the episode, Greene mentions Michelson's 1907 Nobel Prize.

The home in which Michelson lived as a child in Murphys Camp, California is now a tasting room for Twisted Oak Winery.

New Beast Theater Works in collaboration with High Concept Laboratories produced a "semi-opera" about Michelson, his obsessive work style and its effect on his family life which ran from February 11 to February 26,

2011 in Chicago at The Building Stage. Michelson was portrayed by Jon Stutzman. The play was directed by Davaid Maral with music composed by Joshua Dumas.

Honors and awards

- Nobel Prize for Physics (1907)
- Rumford Prize (1888)
- Matteucci Medal (1903)
- Copley Medal (1907)
- Elliott Cresson Medal (1912)
- Henry Draper Medal from the National Academy of Sciences (1916)^[15]
- Gold Medal of the Royal Astronomical Society (1923)
- Franklin Medal (1923)

Michaelsen was a member of the Royal Society, the National Academy of Sciences, the American Physical Society and the American Association for the Advancement of Science.

The Computer Measurement Group gives an annual A. A. Michelson award.

Notes

- [1] http://www.aip.org/history/gap/Michelson/Michelson.html
- [2] Levy, 920 O'Farrell Street, 47.
- [3] http://www.usna.edu/LibExhibits/collections/michelson/
- [4] http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_United_States_Naval_Academy_alumni#Nobel_laureates
- [5] http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/2002JAHH....5..165S
- [6] http://www.usno.navy.mil/USNO/about-us/usno-command-history
- [7] http://eprints.jcu.edu.au/4957/1/4957_Shankland%26Orchiston_2002.pdf
- [8] http://www.raman-scattering.eu/raman/texts/009_menu_vitesse.php
- [9] http://www.opticsinfobase.org/on/abstract.cfm?uri=on-4-4-14
- [10] http://sas.uwaterloo.ca/~rwoldfor/papers/sci-method/paperrev/node6.html
- [11] http://www.clarku.edu/departments/clarkarts/facilities/littlecenter.cfm
- [12] Garner, C. L., Captain (retired) (April 1949). "A Geodetic Measurement of Unusually High Accuracy" (http://www.pvaa.us/nightwatch/ GeodeticMeasurementOfUnusuallyHighAccuracy.pdf). Coast and Geodetic Survey. pp. 68–74. . Retrieved August 13, 2009.
- [13] Note that while Einstein's 1905 paper On the Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies appears to reference the experiment on first glance—"together with the unsuccessful attempts to discover any motion of the earth relatively to the 'light medium,' suggest that the phenomena of electrodynamics as well as of mechanics possess no properties corresponding to the idea of absolute rest"—it has been shown that Einstein was referring to a different category of experiments here.
- [14] Holton, Gerald, "Einstein, Michelson, and the 'Crucial' Experiment", Isis, Vol. 60, No. 2 (Summer, 1969), pp. 133–197
- [15] "Henry Draper Medal" (http://www.nasonline.org/site/PageServer?pagename=AWARDS_draper). National Academy of Sciences. . Retrieved 19 February 2011.



A monument at United States Naval Academy marks the path of Michelson's experiments measuring the speed of light.

References

- Livingston, D. M. (1973). The Master of Light: A Biography of Albert A. Michelson. ISBN 0-226-48711-3.
- Levy, Harriet Lane (1996). 920 O'Farrell Street. Berkeley: Heyday Books. ISBN 0-930588-91-6.

External links

- Albert Abraham Michelson National Academy of Science (http://books.nap.edu/books/0309025184/html/ 282.html)
- Michelson's Life and Works from the American Institute of Physics (http://www.aip.org/history/gap/ Michelson/Michelson.html)
- U. S. Naval Academy and The Navy (http://www.usna.edu/LibExhibits/Michelson/Michelson_navy.html)
- USNA Guide to the Albert A. Michelson Collection, 1803-1989 (http://www.usna.edu/library/sca/ findingaids/michelson/index.html)
- From USNA to Nobel: Albert A. Michelson's Life and Contributions (http://www.usna.com/Document. Doc?id=617)
- Michelson House at the University of Chicago (http://michelson-house.uchicago.edu)
- Michelson's Nobel Prize Biography (http://nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/physics/laureates/1907/ michelson-bio.html)
- Works by Albert Abraham Michelson (http://www.gutenberg.org/author/Albert_A._Michelson) at Project Gutenberg
- *Experimental Determination of the Velocity of Light* (http://www.gutenberg.net/browse/BIBREC/BR11753. HTM)
- IMDB: Bonanza episode Look to the Stars (http://www.imdb.com/title/tt0529603/)
- Norman Maclean: "Billiards Is a Good Game": Gamesmanship and America's First Nobel Prize Scientist; reprinted in Lapham's Quarterly (http://www.laphamsquarterly.org/voices-in-time/ norman-maclean-learns-from-the-master.php?page=all)
- The U.S. Naval Academy Observatory Programs and Times Gone By: A Tale of Two Domes (http://www.europa.com/~telscope/usna.doc)
- NAWS China Lake (http://www.navair.navy.mil/nawcwd/nawcwd/news/2008/2008-02_michelson.htm)
- "Albert Abraham Michelson" (http://www.findagrave.com/cgi-bin/fg.cgi?page=gr&GRid=25254996). Find a Grave. Retrieved September 3, 2010.
- Nineteenth Century Astronomy at the U.S. Naval Academy (http://eprints.jcu.edu.au/4957/1/ 4957_Shankland&Orchiston_2002.pdf)

Edward Morley

Edward Williams Morley		
Born	January 29, 1838 Newark, New Jersey	
Died	February 24, 1923 (aged 85) West Hartford, Connecticut	
Institutions	Western Reserve College	
Alma mater	Williams College	
Known for	Michelson-Morley experiment	
Notable awards	Elliott Cresson Medal (1912) Davy Medal (1907) Willard Gibbs Medal (1899)	

Edward Williams Morley (January 29, 1838 – February 24, 1923) was an American scientist famous for the Michelson–Morley experiment.

Biography

Morley was born in Newark, New Jersey to Anna Clarissa Treat and the Reverend Sardis Brewster Morley. Both parents were of early colonial ancestry and of purely British origin. Morely grew up in West Hartford, Connecticut. During his childhood, he suffered much from ill health and was therefore educated by his father at home until the age of nineteen.^[1]

In 1857, Morley entered Williams College at Williamstown, Massachusetts, his father's alma mater. He graduated in 1860 as A.B., and in 1863 received his master's degree. Around 1960 he gradually shifted his attention from chemistry, which fascinated him since he was child, to optics and astronomy. In 1860–61 he mounted a transit instrument, constructed a chronograph, and made the first accurate determination of the latitude of the college observatory. This determination was the subject of his first published paper, which was read before the American Association for the Advancement of Science in 1866.^[1]

Upon advise of his parents, Morley entered Andover Theological Seminary in 1861 and completed the course in 1864. It was here, probably, that he acquired a good working knowledge of Hebrew. From 1866 to 1868 he was a teacher in a private school, and later, in 1868, he was called to preach in a small country parish in Ohio. At about the same time, he was appointed professor of chemistry in Western Reserve College (then situated at Hudson, Ohio and later moved to Cleveland and renamed Case Western Reserve University), where he remained until his retirement in 1906. This appointment was the turning point in his career. In 1873 he also became professor of chemistry in Cleveland Medical College, but resigned this chair in 1888 to have more time for research. Just before moving to Hudson he married Miss Imbella A. Birdsall.^[1]

Morley was not a voluminous writer and published only 55 articles. He outlived his wife by only a few months, and died, following a surgical operation, in the Hartford Hospital in 1923.^[1]

Research

Optics and astronomy

Morley's most-significant work came in the field of physics and optics. In this, Morley collaborated with and assisted the physicist Albert A. Michelson for several years around 1887. They set up, executed, and improved their techniques many times in what we call the Michelson–Morley experiment. This one involved making more and more accurate measurements of the speed of light in various directions, and at different times of the year as the Earth revolved in its orbit around the Sun. These careful measurements were created to measure the differences in the speed of light in different directions. Michelson and Morley always found that the speed of light did not vary at all depending on the direction of measurement, or the position of the Earth in its orbit. This was what we call a "null result" for their speed-of-light experiments.

Neither he nor Michelson ever considered that these null results disproved the hypothesis of the existence of "luminiferous aether", in which electromagnetic waves were thought to be propagated. Their null results led the Irish physicist George Francis FitzGerald to postulate what we now call the FitzGerald-Lorentz contraction of physical objects in the direction of their movement in inertial frames of reference.

However, other scientists did come to the conclusion that the aether did not exist. The results of the Michelson-Morley experiments soon led to Albert Einstein's strong postulate that the speed of light is a constant in all inertial frames of reference for his Special Theory of Relativity.

Morley also collaborated with Dayton Miller on positive aether experiments after his work with Michelson, and Morley himself made measurements of the speed of light when it passes through a strong magnetic field. Morley also studied the thermal expansion of solid materials.

Chemistry

In Western Reserve College, Morley was required to teach, not only chemistry, but also geology and botany that left him little time for research. Nevertheless, he found time during the first ten years at Hudson to publish five articles, mostly on the accuracy of measurements.^[1]

In chemistry, his original field, Morley had worked on determining accurate values for the composition of the atmosphere and the weights of its gases. His work on the atomic weight of oxygen covered a period of eleven years. Much time was spent in the calibration of instruments and improving the measurement accuracy to the highest possible degree (ca. 1 part per 10,000).^[1]

Honors

Morley was the president of the American Association for the Advancement of Science in 1895, and he was the president of the American Chemical Society in 1899. Morley was awarded the Davy Medal, named for the great British chemist Sir Humphrey Davy, by the Royal Society of London, England in 1907, and he also won the Elliott Cresson Medal, awarded by the Franklin Institute of Pennsylvania, in 1912, for important contributions to the science of chemistry. He had received the Willard Gibbs Medal of the Chicago Section of the American Chemical

Society in 1899.^[1]

The lunar crater Morley on the near side was named for him. The Morley Elementary School in West Hartford Conn. was also named for him. His house in West Hartford was made a National Historic Landmark in 1975.

Grave Hoax

A grave in the basement of the Noyes Laboratory at the University of Illinois at Urbana–Champaign was purported to belong to Edward Morley. The grave has since been called a hoax^[2] but is regularly visited by students.

References

This article incorporates text from a publication now in the public domain: F.W. Clarke (1923). "Obituary notices". J. Chem. Soc., Trans. 123: 3421–344. doi:10.1039/CT9232303421.



 Edgar F. Smith, W. R. Dunstan, B. A. Keen and Frank Wigglesworth Clarke (1923). "Obituary notices: Charles Baskerville, 1870–1922; Alexander Crum Brown, 1838–1922; Charles Mann Luxmoore, 1857–1922; Edward Williams Morley, 1838–1923; William Thomson, 1851–1923". J. Chem. Soc., Trans. 123: 3421–3441. doi:10.1039/CT9232303421.

 [2] "Unlucky day revives urban legends at University" (http://www.dailyillini.com/news/2009/03/13/ unlucky-day-revives-urban-legends-at-university). . Retrieved 2010-03-20.

External links

 Edward Williams Morley (http://www.britannica.com/eb/article-9053766/Edward-Williams-Morley) from the Encyclopædia Britannica

Félix Savart

Félix Savart became a professor at Collège de France in 1836 and was the co-originator of the Biot-Savart Law, along with Jean-Baptiste Biot. Together, they worked on the theory of magnetism and electrical currents. Their law was developed about 1820. The Biot-Savart Law relates magnetic fields to the currents which are their sources. Félix Savart also studied acoustics. He developed the Savart wheel which produces sound at specific graduated frequencies using rotating disks.

Félix Savart is the namesake of the unit of measurement for musical intervals, the savart, though it was actually invented by Joseph Sauveur.

External links

- O'Connor, John J.; Robertson, Edmund F., "Félix Savart" ^[1], *MacTutor History of Mathematics archive*, University of St Andrews.
- Logarithmic Interval Measures ^[2]

References

- [1] http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/Biographies/Savart.html
- [2] http://www.xs4all.nl/~huygensf/doc/measures.html

Wilhelm Eduard Weber

Wilhelm Weber		
Born	Wilhelm Eduard Weber 24 October 1804 Wittenberg, Saxony, Holy Roman Empire	
Died	23 June 1891 (aged 86) Göttingen, Hanover, Prussia	
Nationality	Germany	
Fields	Physics	
Institutions	University of Göttingen University of Halle University of Leipzig	
Alma mater	University of Halle University of Göttingen	
Doctoral advisor	Johann Salomo Christoph Schweigger	
Doctoral students	Ernst Abbe Friedrich Kohlrausch Eduard Riecke	
Other notable students	Gottlob Frege Arthur Schuster	
Known for	First use of 'c' for speed of light Work on magnetism Electrodynamometer Telegraphy	
Notable awards	Copley Medal (1859) Matteucci Medal (1879)	
Signature Wilgelow Weber-		
Notes		

The SI unit of magnetic flux is named after him. He was the brother of Ernst Heinrich Weber and Eduard Friedrich Weber. His father was Michael Weber.

Wilhelm Eduard Weber (24 October 1804 – 23 June 1891) was a German physicist and, together with Carl Friedrich Gauss, inventor of the first electromagnetic telegraph.

Biography

Early years

Weber was born in Wittenberg, where his father, Michael Weber, was professor of theology. Wilhelm was the second of three brothers, all of whom were distinguished by an aptitude for science. After the dissolution of the University of Wittenberg his father was transferred to Halle during 1815. William had received his first lessons from his father, but was now sent to the Orphan Asylum and Grammar School at Halle. After that he entered the University, and devoted himself to natural philosophy. He distinguished himself so much in his classes, and by original work, that after taking his degree of Doctor and becoming a *Privatdozent* he was appointed Professor Extraordinary of natural philosophy at Halle.

Career

During 1831, on the recommendation of Carl Friedrich Gauss, he was hired by the university of Göttingen as professor of physics, at the age of twenty-seven. His lectures were interesting, instructive, and suggestive. Weber thought that, in order to thoroughly understand physics and apply it to daily life, mere lectures, though illustrated by experiments, were insufficient, and he encouraged his students to experiment themselves, free of charge, in the college laboratory. As a student of twenty years he, with his brother, Ernst Heinrich Weber, Professor of Anatomy at Leipzig, had written a book on the *Wave Theory and Fluidity*, which brought its authors a considerable reputation. Acoustics was a favourite science of his, and he published numerous papers upon it in *Poggendorffs Annalen*, Schweigger's *Jahrbücher für Chemie und Physik*, and the musical journal *Carcilia*. The 'mechanism of walking in mankind' was another study, undertaken in conjunction with his younger brother, Eduard Weber. These important investigations were published between the years 1825 and 1838. Gauss and Weber constructed the first electromagnetic telegraph during 1833, which connected the observatory with the institute for physics in Göttingen.

In December 1837, the Hannovarian government dismissed Weber, one of the Göttingen Seven, from his post at the university for political reasons. Weber then travelled for a time, visiting England, among other countries, and became professor of physics in Leipzig from 1843 to 1849, when he was reinstated at Göttingen. One of his most important works was the *Atlas des Erdmagnetismus* ("atlas of geomagnetism"), a series of magnetic maps, and it was chiefly through his efforts that magnetic observatories were instituted. He studied magnetism with Gauss, and during 1864 published his *Electrodynamic Proportional Measures* containing a system of absolute measurements for electric currents, which forms the basis of those in use. Weber died in Göttingen, where he is buried in the same cemetery as Max Planck and Max Born.

He was elected a foreign member of the Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences during 1855.

In 1856 with Rudolf Kohlrausch (1809–1858) he demonstrated that the ratio of electrostatic to electromagnetic units produced a number that matched the value of the then known speed of light. This finding led to Maxwell's conjecture that light is an electromagnetic wave. Also, the first usage of the letter "c" to denote the speed of light was in an 1856 paper by Kohlrausch and Weber.

The SI unit of magnetic flux, the weber (symbol: Wb) is named after him.

References

- Gauss, Carl Friedrich; Weber, Wilhelm Eduard (1840). Atlas Des Erdmagnetismus: Nach Den Elementen Der Theorie Entworfen^[1]. Leipzig: Weidmann'sche Buchhandlung
- G.C.F. (1844). "Wilhelm Eduard Weber" ^[2]. *Nature* (Macmillan Journals ltd.) 44 (1132): 229–230.
 Bibcode 1891Natur..44..229G. doi:10.1038/044229b0. Retrieved 2007-11-16. obituary
- Urbanitsky, Alfred; Wormell, Richard (1886). *Electricity in the Service of Man*^[3]. London: Cassell and Company. pp. 756 758 Telegraph of Weber and Gauss (with pictures)
- "Weber, Wilhelm Eduard" ^[4]. *Virtual Laboratory*. Max Planck Institute for the History of Science, Berlin. Retrieved 2007-09-05.
- Jackson, Myles W. Harmonious Triads: Physicists, Musicians, and Instrument Makers in Nineteenth-Century German (MIT Press, 2006; paperback 2008).

External links

• Biography and bibliography ^[4] in the Virtual Laboratory of the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science

References

- [1] http://books.google.com/?id=uTkAAAAAQAAJ&printsec=frontcover&dq=wilhelm+weber
- [2] http://books.google.com/?id=Si8CAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA230&dq=wilhelm+eduard+weber
- [3] http://books.google.com/?id=MEgOAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA756&dq=wilhelm+weber+physics
- [4] http://vlp.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/people/data?id=per155

Publications

On Physical Lines of Force

On Physical Lines of Force is a famous four-part paper written by James Clerk Maxwell published between 1861 and 1862. In it, Maxwell derived the equations of electromagnetism in conjunction with a "sea" of "molecular vortices" which he used to model Faraday's lines of force. Maxwell made an analogy between the density of this medium and the magnetic permeability, as well as an analogy between the transverse elasticity and the dielectric constant, and using the results of a prior experiment by Wilhelm Eduard Weber and Rudolf Kohlrausch performed in 1856, he established a connection between the speed of light and the speed of propagation of waves in this medium.

The paper ushered in a new era of classical electrodynamics and catalyzed further progress in the mathematical field of vector calculus. Because of this, it is considered one of the most historically significant publications in the field of physics and of science in general, comparable with Einstein's *Annus Mirabilis papers* and Newton's *Principia Mathematica*.

Motivations

In 1856, Wilhelm Eduard Weber and Rudolf Kohlrausch performed an experiment with a Leyden jar and established the ratio of electric charge as measured statically to the same electric charge as measured electrodynamically. Maxwell used this ratio in Isaac Newton's equation for the speed of sound, as applied using the density and transverse elasticity of his sea of molecular vortices. He obtained a value which was very close to the speed of light, as recently measured directly by Hippolyte Fizeau. Maxwell then wrote^[1]

"we can scarcely avoid the inference that light consists in the transverse undulations of the same medium which is the cause of electric and magnetic phenomena"

It was also in this 1861 paper that Maxwell first introduced the displacement current term which is now included in Ampère's circuital law. But it wasn't until his next paper in 1864, A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field that Maxwell used this displacement current term to derive the electromagnetic wave equation.

$$abla imes \mathbf{B} = \mu_0 \mathbf{J} + \underbrace{\mu_0 \epsilon_0 rac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbf{E}}_{ ext{Maxwell's term}}$$

Impact

The four modern Maxwell's equations, as laid down in a publication by Oliver Heaviside in 1884, had all appeared in Maxwell's 1861 paper. Heaviside however presented these equations in modern vector format using the nabla operator (∇) devised by William Rowan Hamilton in 1837,

Of Maxwell's work, Albert Einstein wrote:^[2]

"Imagine [Maxwell's] feelings when the differential equations he had formulated proved to him that electromagnetic fields spread in the form of polarised waves, and at the speed of light! To few men in the world has such an experience been vouchsafed... it took physicists some decades to grasp the full significance of Maxwell's discovery, so bold was the leap that his genius forced upon the conceptions of his fellow-workers."

Other physicists were equally impressed with Maxwell's work, such as Richard Feynman who commented:^[3]

"From a long view of the history of the world—seen from, say, ten thousand years from now—there can be little doubt that the most significant event of the 19th century will be judged as Maxwell's discovery of the laws of electromagnetism. The American Civil War will pale into provincial insignificance in comparison with this important scientific event of the same decade."

References

- [1] Charles Coulston Gillispie. "James Clerk-Maxwell". Dictionary of Scientific Biography. Charles Scribner's Sons.
- [2] Albert Einstein (1940). "Considerations Concerning the Fundaments of Theoretical Physics". *Science* 91 (2369): 487–492.
 Bibcode 1940Sci....91..487E. doi:10.1126/science.91.2369.487.
- [3] Robert P. Crease (2008). The Great Equations: Breakthroughs in Science from Pythagoras to Heisenberg (http://books.google.com/ books?id=IU04tZsVjXkC&lpg=PA133&dq="Civil War will pale into provincial insignificance"&pg=PA133#v=onepage&q="Civil War will pale into provincial insignificance"&f=false). W. W. Norton & Company. p. 133. ISBN 039306204X.

Further reading

- James C. Maxwell (1861). "On Physical Lines of Force". Philosophical Magazine.
- "James Clerk Maxwell. On Physical Lines of Force, Parts 1 and 2" (http://www.manhattanrarebooks-science. com/maxwell.lines.of.force.htm). *ManhattanRareBooks-Science.com*. Retrieved 2010-11-20. (Contains a picture of Maxwell's vortices)
- Basil Mahon (2003). *The Man who Changed Everything: The Life of James Clerk Maxwell*. Wiley. ISBN 978-0470860885.
- James Clerk Maxwell (1878). "Ether". Encyclopædia Britannica Ninth Edition. 8. pp. 568–572.

A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field

A dynamical theory of the electromagnetic field		
Author(s)	James Clerk Maxwell	
Language	English	
Subject(s)	Classical electromagnetism	
Genre(s)	Scientific paper	
Publisher	Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society	
Publication date	1865	

"A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field" is the third of James Clerk Maxwell's papers regarding electromagnetism, published in 1865.^[1] It is the paper in which the original set of four Maxwell's equations first appeared. The concept of displacement current, which he had introduced in his 1861 paper "On Physical Lines of Force", was utilized for the first time, to derive the electromagnetic wave equation.^[2]

Maxwell's original equations

In part III of "A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field", which is entitled "General Equations of the Electromagnetic Field", Maxwell formulated twenty equations^[1] which were to become known as Maxwell's equations, until this term became applied instead to a set of four vectorized equations selected in 1884 by Oliver Heaviside, which had all appeared in "On physical lines of force".^[2]

Heaviside's versions of Maxwell's equations are distinct by virtue of the fact that they are written in modern vector notation. They actually only contain one of the original eight—equation "G" (Gauss's Law). Another of Heaviside's four equations is an amalgamation of Maxwell's law of total currents (equation "A") with Ampère's circuital law (equation "C"). This amalgamation, which Maxwell himself had actually originally made at equation (112) in "On Physical Lines of Force", is the one that modifies Ampère's Circuital Law to include Maxwell's displacement current.^[2]

Eighteen of the twenty original Maxwell's equations can be vectorized into 6 equations. Each vectorized equation represents 3 original equations in component form. Including the other two equations, in modern vector notation, they can form a set of eight equations. They are listed below:

(A) The law of total currents

$$\mathbf{J}_{tot} = \mathbf{J} + rac{\partial \mathbf{D}}{\partial t}$$

(B) Definition of the magnetic potential

$$\mu \mathbf{H} =
abla imes \mathbf{A}$$

(C) Ampère's circuital law

$$abla imes \mathbf{H} = \mathbf{J}_{tot}$$

(D) The Lorentz force

$$\mathbf{E} = \mu \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{H} - rac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t} -
abla \phi$$

This force represents the effect of electric fields created by convection, induction, and by charges.

(E) The electric elasticity equation

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \mathbf{D}$$

(F) Ohm's law

$$\mathbf{E} = \frac{1}{\sigma} \mathbf{J}$$

(G) Gauss's law

$$abla \cdot \mathbf{D} =
ho$$

(H) Equation of continuity of charge

$$abla \cdot {f J} = - rac{\partial
ho}{\partial t}$$

Notation

His the magnetic field, which Maxwell called the "magnetic intensity".

J is the electric current density (with \mathbf{J}_{tot} being the total current including displacement current).

D is the displacement field (called the "electric displacement" by Maxwell).

 ρ is the free charge density (called the "quantity of free electricity" by Maxwell).

A is the magnetic potential (called the "angular impulse" by Maxwell).

 \mathbf{E} is the electric field (called the "electromotive force" by Maxwell, not to be confused with the scalar quantity that is now called electromotive force).

 ϕ is the electric potential (which Maxwell also called "electric potential").

 σ is the electrical conductivity (Maxwell called the inverse of conductivity the "specific resistance", what is now called the resistivity).

Maxwell did not consider completely general materials; his initial formulation used linear, isotropic, nondispersive permittivity ε and permeability μ , although he also discussed the possibility of anisotropic materials.

It is of particular interest to note that Maxwell includes a $\mu \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{H}$ term in his expression for the "electromotive force" at equation "D", which corresponds to the magnetic force per unit charge on a moving conductor with velocity \mathbf{v} . This means that equation "D" is effectively the Lorentz force. This equation first appeared at equation (77) in "On Physical Lines of Force" quite some time before Lorentz thought of it.^[2] Nowadays, the Lorentz force sits alongside Maxwell's equations as an additional electromagnetic equation that is not included as part of the set.

When Maxwell derives the electromagnetic wave equation in his 1864 paper, he uses equation "D" as opposed to using Faraday's law of electromagnetic induction as in modern textbooks. Maxwell however drops the $\mu \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{H}$ term from equation "D" when he is deriving the electromagnetic wave equation, and he considers the situation only from the rest frame.

Maxwell – First to propose that light is an electromagnetic wave

In "A dynamical theory of the electromagnetic field", Maxwell utilized the correction to Ampère's Circuital Law that he had made in part III of "On physical lines of force".^[1] In part VI of his 1864 paper "Electromagnetic theory of light", Maxwell combined displacement current with some of the other equations of electromagnetism and obtained a wave equation with a speed equal to the speed of light. He commented,

The agreement of the results seems to show that light and magnetism are affections of the same substance, and that light is an electromagnetic disturbance propagated through the field according to electromagnetic laws.

Maxwell's derivation of the electromagnetic wave equation has been replaced in modern physics by a much less cumbersome method which combines the corrected version of Ampère's Circuital Law with Faraday's law of electromagnetic induction.

To obtain the electromagnetic wave equation in a vacuum using the modern method, we begin with the modern 'Heaviside' form of Maxwell's equations. Using (SI units) in a vacuum, these equations are



A postcard from Maxwell to Peter Tait.

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{E} = 0$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\mu_o \frac{\partial \mathbf{H}}{\partial t}$$
$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{H} = 0$$
$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H} = \varepsilon_o \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t}$$

If we take the curl of the curl equations we obtain

$$\nabla \times \nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\mu_o \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \nabla \times \mathbf{H} = -\mu_o \varepsilon_o \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^2}$$
$$\nabla \times \nabla \times \mathbf{H} = \varepsilon_o \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\mu_o \varepsilon_o \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{H}}{\partial t^2}$$

If we note the vector identity

 $abla imes (
abla imes \mathbf{V}) =
abla (
abla \cdot \mathbf{V}) -
abla^2 \mathbf{V}$

where \mathbf{V} is any vector function of space, we recover the wave equations

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \displaystyle \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{E}}{\partial t^2} & - \ c^2 \cdot \nabla^2 \mathbf{E} & = & 0 \\ \\ \displaystyle \frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{H}}{\partial t^2} & - \ c^2 \cdot \nabla^2 \mathbf{H} & = & 0 \end{array}$$

where

$$c = rac{1}{\sqrt{\mu_o arepsilon_o}} = 2.99792458 imes 10^8$$
 meters per second

is the speed of light in free space.

References

- Maxwell, James Clerk (1865). "A dynamical theory of the electromagnetic field" (http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/19/ A_Dynamical_Theory_of_the_Electromagnetic_Field.pdf) (PDF). *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London* 155: 459–512. doi:10.1098/rstl.1865.0008. (This article accompanied a December 8, 1864 presentation by Maxwell to the Royal Society.)
- [2] Maxwell, James Clerk (1861). "On physical lines of force" (http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/b/b8/ On_Physical_Lines_of_Force.pdf) (PDF). *Philosophical Magazine*.

Further reading

- Maxwell, James C.; Torrance, Thomas F. (March 1996). A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field. Eugene, OR: Wipf and Stock. ISBN 1-57910-015-5.
- Niven, W. D. (1952). The Scientific Papers of James Clerk Maxwell. Vol. 1. New York: Dover.
- Johnson, Kevin (May 2002). "The electromagnetic field" (http://www-gap.dcs.st-and.ac.uk/~history/Projects/ Johnson/Chapters/Ch4_4.html). James Clerk Maxwell – The Great Unknown. Retrieved Sept. 7, 2009.
- Tokunaga, Kiyohisa (2002). "Part 2, Chapter V Maxwell's Equations" (http://www.d3.dion.ne.jp/~kiyohisa/ tieca/251.htm). Total Integral for Electromagnetic Canonical Action. Retrieved Sept. 7, 2009.
- Katz, Randy H. (February 22, 1997). "'Look Ma, No Wires': Marconi and the Invention of Radio" (http://www.cs.berkeley.edu/~randy/Courses/CS39C.S97/radio/radio.html). *History of Communications Infrastructures*. Retrieved Sept. 7, 2009.

A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism

A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism is a two volume treatise on electromagnetism written by James Clerk Maxwell in 1873.

External links

- Reprint from Dover Publications (ISBN 0-486-60636-8)
- Full text of 1904 Edition including full text search. ^[1]
- A Treatise on Electricity And Magnetism Volume 1 1873^[2] Posner Memorial Collection Carnegie Mellon University
- A Treatise on Electricity And Magnetism Volume 2 1873^[3] Posner Memorial Collection Carnegie Mellon University
- Original Maxwell Equations ^[4] Maxwell's 20 Equations in 20 Unknowns PDF

References

- [1] http://www.antiquebooks.net/readpage.html#maxwell
- [2] http://posner.library.cmu.edu/Posner/books/book.cgi?call=537_M46T_1873_VOL._1
- [3] http://posner.library.cmu.edu/Posner/books/book.cgi?call=537_M46T_1873_VOL._2
- $\label{eq:label} \ensuremath{\left[4\right]} http://www.zpenergy.com/modules.php?name=Downloads&d_op=getit&lid=60 \ensuremath{\left[4\right]}$

Related articles

Classical electromagnetism and special relativity

The theory of special relativity plays an important role in the modern theory of classical electromagnetism. First of all, it gives formulas for how electromagnetic objects, in particular the electric and magnetic fields, are altered under a Lorentz transformation from one inertial frame of reference to another. Secondly, it sheds light on the relationship between electricity and magnetism, showing that frame of reference determines if an observation follows electrostatic or magnetic laws. Third, it motivates a compact and convenient notation for the laws of electromagnetism, namely the "manifestly covariant" tensor form.

Joules-Bernoulli equation for fields and forces

This equation considers two inertial frames. As notation, the field variables in one frame are *unprimed*, and in a frame moving relative to the unprimed frame at velocity **v**, the fields are denoted with *primes*. In addition, the fields *parallel* to the velocity **v** are denoted by \vec{E}_{\parallel} while the fields perpendicular to **v** are denoted as \vec{E}_{\perp} . In these two frames moving at relative velocity **v**, the **E**-fields and **B**-fields are related by:^[1]

$$egin{aligned} ec{E}_{\parallel}^{\ \prime} &= ec{E}_{\parallel} \ ec{B}_{\parallel}^{\ \prime} &= ec{B}_{\parallel} \ ec{E}_{\perp}^{\ \prime} &= \gamma \left(ec{E}_{\perp} + ec{v} imes ec{B}
ight) \ ec{B}_{\perp}^{\ \prime} &= \gamma \left(ec{B}_{\perp} - rac{1}{c^2}ec{v} imes ec{E}
ight) \ . \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\gamma \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} rac{1}{\sqrt{1-v^2/c^2}}$$

is called the Lorentz factor and *c* is the speed of light in free space. The inverse transformations are the same except $\mathbf{v} \rightarrow -\mathbf{v}$.

An equivalent, alternative expression is:

$$\mathbf{E}' = \gamma \left(\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B}
ight) - (\gamma - 1) \left(\mathbf{E} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{v}}
ight) \hat{\mathbf{v}}$$

 $\mathbf{B}' = \gamma \left(\mathbf{B} - rac{\mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{E}}{c^2}
ight) - (\gamma - 1) \left(\mathbf{B} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{v}}
ight) \hat{\mathbf{v}}$

where : $\mathbf{\hat{v}}$ is velocity's unit vector.

If a particle of charge q moves with velocity \mathbf{u} with respect to frame S, then the Lorentz force in frame S is:

$$\mathbf{F} = q\mathbf{E} + q\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{B}$$

In frame S', the Lorentz force is:

 $\mathbf{F'} = q\mathbf{E'} + q\mathbf{u'} imes \mathbf{B'}$

If S and S' have aligned axes then^[2]:

$$u'_x = rac{u_x + v}{1 + (v \; u_x)/c^2} \ u'_y = rac{u_y/\gamma}{1 + (v \; u_x)/c^2} \ u'_z = rac{u_z/\gamma}{1 + (v \; u_x)/c^2}$$

A derivation for the transformation of the Lorentz force for the particular case $\mathbf{u} = \mathbf{0}$ is given here.^[3] A more general one can be seen here.^[4]

Component by component, for relative motion along the x-axis, this works out to be the following, in SI units:

$$E'_{x} = E_{x}$$

$$E'_{y} = \gamma (E_{y} - vB_{z})$$

$$E'_{z} = \gamma (E_{z} + vB_{y})$$

$$B'_{x} = B_{x}$$

$$B'_{y} = \gamma \left(B_{y} + \frac{v}{c^{2}}E_{z}\right)$$

$$B'_{z} = \gamma \left(B_{z} - \frac{v}{c^{2}}E_{y}\right)$$

and in Gaussian-cgs units, the transformation is given by:^[5]

$$\begin{split} E'_x &= E_x \\ E'_y &= \gamma \left(E_y - \beta B_z \right) \\ E'_z &= \gamma \left(E_z + \beta B_y \right) \\ B'_x &= B_x \\ B'_y &= \gamma \left(B_y + \beta E_z \right) \\ B'_z &= \gamma \left(B_z - \beta E_y \right) \end{split}$$

where $\beta \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} v/c$.

The claim that the transformation rules for E and B take this particular form is equivalent to the claim that the electromagnetic tensor (defined below) is a covariant tensor.

Relationship between electricity and magnetism

"One part of the force between moving charges we call the magnetic force. It is really one aspect of an electrical effect."

- Feynman Lectures vol. 2, ch. 1-1

Deriving magnetism from electrostatics

The chosen reference frame determines if an electromagnetic phenomenon is viewed as an effect of electrostatics or magnetism. Authors usually derive magnetism from electrostatics when special relativity and charge invariance are taken into account. The Feynman Lectures on Physics (vol. 2, ch. 13-6) uses this method to derive the "magnetic" force on a moving charge next to a current-carrying wire. See also Haskell,^[6] Landau,^[7] and Field.^[8]

Fields intermix in different frames

The above transformation rules show that the electric field in one frame contributes to the magnetic field in another frame, and vice versa.^[9] This is often described by saying that the electric field and magnetic field are two interrelated aspects of a single object, called the electromagnetic field. Indeed, the entire electromagnetic field can be encoded in a single rank-2 tensor called the electromagnetic tensor; see below.

Moving magnet and conductor problem

A famous example of the intermixing of electric and magnetic phenomena in different frames of reference is called the "moving magnet and conductor problem", cited by Einstein in his 1905 paper on Special Relativity.

If a conductor moves with a constant velocity through the field of a stationary magnet, eddy currents will be produced due to a *magnetic* force on the electrons in the conductor. In the rest frame of the conductor, on the other hand, the magnet will be moving and the conductor stationary. Classical electromagnetic theory predicts that precisely the same microscopic eddy currents will be produced, but they will be due to an *electric* force.^[10]

Covariant formulation in vacuum

The laws and objects in classical electromagnetism can be written in a form which is manifestly covariant. Here, this is only done so for vacuum (or for the microscopic Maxwell equations, not using macroscopic descriptions of materials such as electric permittivity). In cgs-Gaussian units, the electric and magnetic fields combine into the covariant electromagnetic tensor:

$$F^{\alpha\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -E_x & -E_y & -E_z \\ E_x & 0 & -B_z & B_y \\ E_y & B_z & 0 & -B_x \\ E_z & -B_y & B_x & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The charge and current, meanwhile, combine into a four-vector called the four-current:

$$J^{lpha}=\,(c
ho,ec{J})$$

where ρ is the charge density, \vec{J} is the current density, and *c* is the speed of light.

With these definitions, Maxwell's equations take the following manifestly covariant form:

$$rac{\partial F^{lphaeta}}{\partial x^{lpha}} = rac{4\pi}{c} J^{eta} \qquad ext{and} \qquad 0 = \epsilon^{lphaeta\gamma\delta} rac{\partial F_{lphaeta}}{\partial x^{\gamma}}$$

where $F^{\alpha\beta}$ is the electromagnetic tensor, J^{α} is the 4-current, $e^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ is the Levi-Civita symbol (a mathematical construct), and the indices behave according to the Einstein summation convention.

The first tensor equation is an expression of the two inhomogeneous Maxwell's equations, Gauss's Law and Ampere's Law (with Maxwell's correction). The second equation is an expression of the homogenous equations, Faraday's law of induction and Gauss's law for magnetism.

Another covariant electromagnetic object is the electromagnetic stress-energy tensor, a covariant rank-2 tensor which includes the Poynting vector, Maxwell stress tensor, and electromagnetic energy density. Yet another is the four-potential, a four-vector combining the electric potential and magnetic vector potential.

A particularly convenient gauge choice in a relativistic setting is the Lorenz gauge condition, which in terms of the four-potential takes the covariant form:

$$\partial_{\alpha}A^{\alpha} = 0$$

In the Lorenz gauge, Maxwell's equations can be written as (in cgs):

$$\Box^2 A^\mu = -rac{4\pi}{c} J^\mu$$

where \square^2 denotes the d'Alembertian.

For a more comprehensive presentation of these topics, see Covariant formulation of classical electromagnetism.

Footnotes

- Tai L. Chow (2006). *Electromagnetic theory* (http://books.google.com/books?id=dpnpMhw1zo8C&pg=PA153& dq=isbn:0763738271#PPA368,M1). Sudbury MA: Jones and Bartlett. p. Chapter 10.21; p. 402–403 ff. ISBN 0-7637-3827-1.
- [2] R.C.Tolman "Relativity Thermodynamics and Cosmology" pp25
- [3] Force Laws and Maxwell's Equations http://www.mathpages.com/rr/s2-02/2-02.htm at MathPages
- [4] http://www.hep.princeton.edu/~mcdonald/examples/EM/ganley_ajp_31_510_62.pdf
- [5] Jackson, John D. (1998). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Wiley. ISBN 0-471-30932-X
- [6] http://www.cse.secs.oakland.edu/haskell/SpecialRelativity.htm
- [7] E M Lifshitz, L D Landau (1980). *The classical theory of fields* (http://worldcat.org/isbn/0750627689). Course of Theoretical Physics.
 Vol. 2 (Fourth Edition ed.). Oxford UK: Butterworth-Heinemann. ISBN 0750627689.
- [8] J H Field (2006) "Classical electromagnetism as a consequence of Coulomb's law, special relativity and Hamilton's principle and its relationship to quantum electrodynamics". Phys. Scr. 74 702-717
- [9] Tai L. Chow (2006). *Electromagnetic theory* (http://books.google.com/books?id=dpnpMhw1zo8C&pg=PA153& dq=isbn:0763738271#PPR6,M1). Sudbury MA: Jones and Bartlett. p. 395. ISBN 0-7637-3827-1.
- [10] David J Griffiths (1999). Introduction to electrodynamics (http://worldcat.org/isbn/013805326X) (Third Edition ed.). Prentice Hall. pp. 478–9. ISBN 013805326X.

Covariant formulation of classical electromagnetism

The **covariant formulation of classical electromagnetism** refers to ways of writing the laws of classical electromagnetism (in particular, Maxwell's equations and the Lorentz force) in a form which is "manifestly covariant" (i.e. in terms of covariant four-vectors and tensors), in the formalism of special relativity. These expressions both make it simple to prove that the laws of classical electromagnetism take the same form in any inertial coordinate system, and also provide a way to translate the fields and forces from one frame to another.

The Minkowski metric used in this article is assumed to have the form diag (+1, -1, -1, -1). The purely spatial components of the tensors (including vectors) are given in SI units. This article uses the classical treatment of tensors and the Einstein summation convention throughout. Where the equations are specified as holding in a vacuum, one could instead regard them as the formulation of Maxwell's equations in terms of *total* charge and current.

For a more general overview of the relationships between classical electromagnetism and special relativity, including various conceptual implications of this picture, see the article: Classical electromagnetism and special relativity.

Covariant objects

Electromagnetic tensor

The electromagnetic tensor is the combination of the electric and magnetic fields into a covariant antisymmetric tensor. In volt-seconds/meter², the field strength tensor is written in terms of fields $as^{[1]}$:

$$F_{\alpha\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & E_x/c & E_y/c & E_z/c \\ -E_x/c & 0 & -B_z & B_y \\ -E_y/c & B_z & 0 & -B_x \\ -E_z/c & -B_y & B_x & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and the result of raising its indices is

$$F^{\mu
u} \stackrel{
m def}{=} \eta^{\mulpha} \, F_{lphaeta} \, \eta^{eta
u} = egin{pmatrix} 0 & -E_x/c & -E_y/c & -E_z/c \ E_x/c & 0 & -B_z & B_y \ E_y/c & B_z & 0 & -B_x \ E_z/c & -B_y & B_x & 0 \end{pmatrix} \, .$$

where

 \boldsymbol{E} is the electric field,

 \boldsymbol{B} the magnetic field, and

c the speed of light.

Caution: The signs in the tensor above depend on the convention used for the metric tensor. The convention used here is +---, corresponding to the metric tensor $\eta^{\mu\nu}$:

$$\eta^{\mu
u} = egin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Four-Current

The four-current is the contravariant four-vector which combines electric current and electric charge density. In amperes/meter², it is given by

$$J^{\alpha} = (c\rho, \boldsymbol{J})$$

where ρ is the charge density, **J** is the current density, and *c* is the speed of light.

Four-potential

In volt-seconds/meter, the electromagnetic four-potential is a covariant four-vector containing the electric potential and magnetic vector potential, as follows:

$$A_{lpha} = (\phi/c, -A)$$

where ϕ is the scalar potential and **A** is the vector potential.

The relation between the electromagnetic potentials and the electromagnetic fields is given by the following equation:

$$F_{lphaeta} = \partial_{lpha} A_{eta} - \partial_{eta} A_{lpha}$$

where

$$\partial_lpha = rac{\partial}{\partial x^lpha} = \left(rac{1}{c}rac{\partial}{\partial t}, oldsymbol{
abla}
ight)\,.$$

Electromagnetic stress-energy tensor

The electromagnetic stress-energy tensor is a contravariant symmetric tensor which is the contribution of the electromagnetic fields to the overall stress-energy tensor. In joules/meters³, it is given by

$$T^{\alpha\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon_0 E^2/2 + B^2/2\mu_0 & S_x/c & S_y/c & S_z/c \\ S_x/c & -\sigma_{xx} & -\sigma_{xy} & -\sigma_{xz} \\ S_y/c & -\sigma_{yx} & -\sigma_{yy} & -\sigma_{yz} \\ S_z/c & -\sigma_{zx} & -\sigma_{zy} & -\sigma_{zz} \end{bmatrix}$$

where ϵ_0 is the electric permittivity of vacuum, μ_0 is the magnetic permeability of vacuum, the Poynting vector is

$$\mathbf{S} = rac{1}{\mu_0} \mathbf{E} imes \mathbf{B}$$

and the Maxwell stress tensor is given by

$$\sigma_{ij} = \epsilon_0 E_i E_j + rac{1}{\mu_0} B_i B_j - \left(rac{1}{2} \epsilon_0 E^2 + rac{1}{2\mu_0} B^2
ight) \delta_{ij} \,.$$

The electromagnetic stress-energy tensor is related to the electromagnetic field tensor by the equation:

$$T^{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{\mu_0} \left(\eta_{\gamma\nu} F^{\alpha\gamma} F^{\nu\beta} - \frac{1}{4} \eta^{\alpha\beta} F_{\gamma\nu} F^{\gamma\nu} \right)$$

where η is the Minkowski metric tensor. Notice that we use the fact that

$$\epsilon_0 \mu_0 c^2 = 1$$

Other, non-electromagnetic objects

For background purposes, we present here three other relevant four-vectors, which are not directly connected to electromagnetism, but which will be useful in this article:

• In meters, the "position" or "coordinate" four-vector is

$$x^{lpha}=(ct,x,y,z)$$
 .

• In meters/second, the velocity four-vector (or four-velocity) is

$$u^{lpha} = \gamma(c, oldsymbol{u})$$

where $oldsymbol{u}$ is the (three-vector) velocity and γ is the Lorentz factor associated with $oldsymbol{u}$.

• In kilogram meters/second, the four-momentum (or momentum four-vector) of a particle is

$$p_{\alpha} = (E/c, -\boldsymbol{p}) = mu_{\alpha}$$

where \boldsymbol{p} is the (three-vector) momentum, E is the energy, and m is the particle's rest mass.

Maxwell's equations in vacuo

In a vacuum (or for the microscopic equations, not including macroscopic material descriptions) Maxwell's equations can be written as two tensor equations

$$rac{\partial F^{lphaeta}}{\partial x^{lpha}} = \mu_0 J^{eta} \qquad ext{and} \qquad 0 = \epsilon^{lphaeta\gamma\delta} rac{\partial F_{lphaeta}}{\partial x^{\gamma}}$$

where $F^{\alpha\beta}$ is the electromagnetic tensor, J^{α} is the 4-current, $\epsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta}$ is the Levi-Civita symbol (a mathematical construct), and the indices behave according to the Einstein summation convention.

The first tensor equation is an expression of the two inhomogeneous Maxwell's equations, Gauss's Law and Ampere's Law (with Maxwell's correction). The second equation is an expression of the homogeneous equations, Faraday's law of induction and Gauss's law for magnetism.

In the absence of sources, Maxwell's equations reduce to a wave equation in the field strength:

$$\partial^{
u}\partial_{
u}F^{lphaeta} \stackrel{
m def}{=} \Box F^{lphaeta} \stackrel{
m def}{=} rac{1}{c^2}rac{\partial^2 F^{lphaeta}}{\partial t^2} -
abla^2 F^{lphaeta} = 0\,,$$

where,

$$\partial^{
u} = rac{\partial}{\partial x_{
u}} = \left(rac{1}{c}rac{\partial}{\partial t}, -
abla
ight),$$

 \Box is the d'Alembertian operator.

Other notation

Without the summation convention or the Levi-Civita symbol, the equations would be written

$$\sum_{x^{\alpha}=ct,x,y,z} \frac{\partial F^{\alpha\beta}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} = \mu_0 J^{\beta} \qquad \text{and} \qquad 0 = \frac{\partial F_{\alpha\beta}}{\partial x^{\gamma}} + \frac{\partial F_{\beta\gamma}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} + \frac{\partial F_{\gamma\alpha}}{\partial x^{\beta}}$$

where all indices range from 0 to 3 (or, more descriptively, x^{α} ranges over the set $\{ct, x, y, z\}$), where *c* is the speed of light in free space. The first tensor equation corresponds to four scalar equations, one for each value of β . The second tensor equation actually corresponds to $4^3 = 64$ different scalar equations, but only four of these are independent.

For convenience, professionals often write the 4-gradient (that is, the derivative with respect to x) using abbreviated notations; for instance,

$$rac{\partial F^{lphaeta}}{\partial x^\gamma} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \partial_\gamma F^{lphaeta} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} F^{lphaeta},_\gamma.$$

Using the latter notation, Maxwell's equations can be written as $F^{\alpha\beta}{}_{,\alpha} = \mu_0 J^\beta$ and $\epsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} F_{\alpha\beta,\gamma} = 0$.

Continuity equation

The continuity equation which expresses the fact that charge is conserved is:

$$J^{\alpha}_{,\alpha} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \partial_{\alpha} J^{\alpha} = 0.$$

Lorentz force

Fields are detected by their effect on the motion of matter. Electromagnetic fields affect the motion of particles through the Lorentz force. Using the Lorentz force, Newton's law of motion can be written in relativistic form using the field strength tensor as^[2]

$${dp_lpha\over d au} = q\,F_{lphaeta}\,u^eta$$

where p_{α} is the four-momentum (see above), q is the charge, u^{β} is the four-velocity (see above), and τ is the particle's proper time.

In terms of (normal) time instead of proper time, the equation is

$$rac{dp_lpha}{dt} = q \, F_{lphaeta} \, rac{dx^eta}{dt} \, .$$

In a continuous medium, the 3D *density of force* combines with the *density of power* to form a covariant 4-vector, f_{μ} . The spatial part is the result of dividing the force on a small cell (in 3-space) by the volume of that cell. The time component is 1/c times the power transferred to that cell divided by the volume of the cell. The density of Lorentz force is the part of the density of force due to electromagnetism. Its spatial part is $-f = -(\rho E + J \times B)$. In manifestly covariant notation it becomes:

$$f_{\alpha} = F_{\alpha\beta} J^{\beta}.$$

Differential equation for electromagnetic stress-energy tensor

The relationship between Lorentz force and electromagnetic stress-energy tensor should be:

$$f^{lpha} = -T^{lphaeta}_{,eta}$$
 .

Therefore, The electromagnetic stress-energy tensor (defined above) satisfies the following differential equation, relating it to the electromagnetic tensor and the current four-vector

$$T^{\alpha\beta}{}_{,\beta}+F^{\alpha\beta}J_{\beta}=0$$

or

$$\eta_{\alpha\nu}T^{\nu\beta}{}_{,\beta}+F_{\alpha\beta}J^{\beta}=0$$

which expresses the conservation of linear momentum and energy by electromagnetic interactions.

Lorenz gauge condition

The Lorenz gauge condition is a Lorentz-invariant gauge condition. (This can be contrasted with other gauge conditions such as the Coulomb gauge, which if it holds in one inertial frame will generally not hold in any other.) It is expressed in terms of the four-potential as follows:

$$\partial_{\alpha}A^{\alpha} = \partial^{\alpha}A_{\alpha} = 0$$
.

Maxwell's equations in the Lorenz gauge

In the Lorenz gauge, Maxwell's equations for a vacuum can be written as:

 $\Box A^{\sigma} = \mu_0 J^{\sigma}$

where denotes the d'Alembertian.

Bound current

In order to solve the equations of electromagnetism given here, it is necessary to add information about how to calculate the electric current, J^{ν} . Frequently, it is convenient to separate the current into two parts, the free current and the bound current, which are modeled by different equations.

$$J^{\nu} = J^{\nu}{}_{\rm free} + J^{\nu}{}_{\rm bound} \,,$$

where

$$egin{aligned} &J^{m{
u}}_{ ext{ free}} = (c
ho_{ ext{free}},m{J}_{ ext{free}}) = (c
ho_{ ext{free}},-rac{\partialm{D}}{\partial t}+
abla imesm{H})\,, \ &J^{m{
u}}_{ ext{ bound}} = (c
ho_{ ext{bound}},m{J}_{ ext{bound}}) = (c
ho_{ ext{bound}},rac{\partialm{P}}{\partial t}+
abla imesm{M})\,. \end{aligned}$$

The bound current is derived from the magnetization and electric polarization which form an antisymmetric contravariant magnetization-polarization tensor^[1]

$$\mathcal{M}^{\mu
u} = egin{pmatrix} 0 & P_x c & P_y c & P_z c \ -P_x c & 0 & -M_z & M_y \ -P_y c & M_z & 0 & -M_x \ -P_z c & -M_y & M_x & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

which determines the bound current

$$J^{\nu}_{\text{bound}} = \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{M}^{\mu \nu}$$

If this is combined with $F^{\mu\nu}$, we get the antisymmetric contravariant electromagnetic displacement tensor which combines the electric displacement (D_x, D_y, D_z) and the H-field (H_x, H_y, H_z) as follows

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -D_x c & -D_y c & -D_z c \\ D_x c & 0 & -H_z & H_y \\ D_y c & H_z & 0 & -H_x \\ D_z c & -H_y & H_x & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

They are related by

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu
u}=rac{1}{\mu_0}F^{\mu
u}-\mathcal{M}^{\mu
u}$$

which is equivalent to the constitutive equations $\boldsymbol{D} = \epsilon_0 \boldsymbol{E} + \boldsymbol{P}$ and $\boldsymbol{H} = \frac{1}{\mu_0} \boldsymbol{B} - \boldsymbol{M}$. And the result is that Ampère's law, $\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{H} = \boldsymbol{J}_{\text{free}} + \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{D}}{\partial t}$, and Gauss's law, $\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \boldsymbol{D} = \rho_{\text{free}}$, combine to form:

$$J^{
u}{}_{\text{free}} = \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu \nu}$$
 .

The bound current and free current as defined above are automatically and separately conserved

$$\partial_{\nu} J^{\nu}{}_{\text{bound}} = 0$$

 $\partial_{\nu} J^{\nu}{}_{\text{free}} = 0$.

Thus we have reduced the problem of modeling the current, J^{ν} , to two (hopefully) easier problems — modeling the free current, J^{ν}_{free} , and modeling the magnetization and polarization, $\mathcal{M}^{\mu\nu}$. For example, in the simplest materials at low frequencies, one has

$$egin{aligned} oldsymbol{J}_{ ext{free}} &= \sigma oldsymbol{E} \ oldsymbol{P} &= \epsilon_0 \chi_e oldsymbol{E} \ oldsymbol{M} &= \chi_m oldsymbol{H} \end{aligned}$$

where one is in the instantaneously-comoving inertial frame of the material, σ is its electrical conductivity, χ_e is its electric susceptibility, and χ_m is its magnetic susceptibility.

Lagrangian for classical electrodynamics

In a vacuum, the Lagrangian (Lagrangian density) for classical electrodynamics (in joules/meter³) is

$${\cal L}\,=\,{\cal L}_{
m field}+{\cal L}_{
m int}=-rac{1}{4\mu_0}F^{lphaeta}F_{lphaeta}-A_lpha J^lpha$$

In the interaction term, the four-current should be understood as an abbreviation of many terms expressing the electric currents of other charged fields in terms of their variables; the four-current is not itself a fundamental field.

The Euler-Lagrange equation for the electromagnetic Lagrangian density $\mathcal{L}(A_{\alpha}, \partial_{\beta}A_{\alpha})$ can be stated as follows:

$$\partial_{eta} \left[rac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial (\partial_{eta} A_{lpha})}
ight] - rac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial A_{lpha}} = 0$$

Noting $F_{\mu
u}=\partial_\mu A_
u-\partial_
u A_\mu$, The expression inside the square bracket is

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial(\partial_{\beta}A_{\alpha})} = -\frac{1}{4\mu_{0}} \frac{\partial(F_{\mu\nu}\eta^{\mu\lambda}\eta^{\nu\sigma}F_{\lambda\sigma})}{\partial(\partial_{\beta}A_{\alpha})} = -\frac{1}{4\mu_{0}} \eta^{\mu\lambda}\eta^{\nu\sigma} \left(F_{\lambda\sigma}(\delta^{\beta}_{\mu}\delta^{\alpha}_{\nu} - \delta^{\beta}_{\nu}\delta^{\alpha}_{\mu}) + F_{\mu\nu}(\delta^{\beta}_{\lambda}\delta^{\alpha}_{\sigma} - \delta^{\beta}_{\sigma}\delta^{\alpha}_{\lambda})\right) = -\frac{F^{\beta\alpha}}{\mu_{0}}$$

The second term is

$$rac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial A_{lpha}} = -J^{lpha}$$

Therefore, the electromagnetic field's equations of motion are

$$rac{\partial F^{eta lpha}}{\partial x^eta} = \mu_0 J^lpha \, .$$

Separating the free currents from the bound currents, another way to write the Lagrangian density is as follows:

$${\cal L} \, = \, - rac{1}{4 \mu_0} F^{lpha eta} F_{lpha eta} - A_lpha J^lpha_{
m free} + rac{1}{2} F_{lpha eta} {\cal M}^{lpha eta} \, .$$

Using Euler-Lagrange equation, the equations of motion for $D^{\alpha\beta}$ can be derived.

The equivalent expression in non-relativistic vector notation is

$$\mathcal{L}\,=\,rac{1}{2}(\epsilon_0 E^2 - rac{1}{\mu_0}B^2) - \phi\,
ho_{ ext{free}} + oldsymbol{A}\cdotoldsymbol{J}_{ ext{free}} + oldsymbol{E}\cdotoldsymbol{P} + oldsymbol{B}\cdotoldsymbol{M}\,,$$

In general relativity

In general relativity, the metric, $g_{\alpha\beta}$, is no longer a constant ($\eta_{\alpha\beta}$) but can vary from place to place and time to time. In general relativity, the equations of electromagnetism in a vacuum become:

$$egin{array}{lll} F_{lphaeta}&=\partial_lpha A_eta \,-\,\partial_eta A_lpha\ &\mathcal{D}^{\mu
u}\,=\,rac{1}{\mu_0}\,g^{\mulpha}\,F_{lphaeta}\,g^{eta
u}\,\sqrt{-g}\ &J^
u\,=\,\partial_\mu\mathcal{D}^{\mu
u}\ &f_\mu\,=\,F_{\mu
u}\,J^
u \end{array}$$

where f_{μ} is the density of Lorentz force, $g^{\alpha\beta}$ is the reciprocal of the metric tensor $g_{\alpha\beta}$, and g is the determinant of the metric tensor. Notice that A_{α} and $F_{\alpha\beta}$ are (ordinary) tensors while $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}$, J^{ν} , and f_{μ} are tensor densities of weight +1. All derivatives are partial derivatives — if one replaced them with covariant derivatives, the extra terms thereby introduced would cancel out.

Notes and references

- Vanderlinde, Jack (2004), *classical electromagnetic theory* (http://books.google.com/books?id=HWrMET9_VpUC&pg=PA316& dq=electromagnetic+field+tensor+vanderlinde), Springer, pp. 313–328, ISBN 9781402026997,
- [2] The assumption is made that no forces other than those originating in **E** and **B** are present, that is, no gravitational, weak or strong forces.

Further reading

- Einstein, A. (1961). Relativity: The Special and General Theory. New York: Crown. ISBN 0-517-02961-8.
- Misner, Charles; Thorne, Kip S. & Wheeler, John Archibald (1973). *Gravitation*. San Francisco: W. H. Freeman. ISBN 0-7167-0344-0.
- Landau, L. D. and Lifshitz, E. M. (1975). Classical Theory of Fields (Fourth Revised English Edition). Oxford: Pergamon. ISBN 0-08-018176-7.
- R. P. Feynman, F. B. Moringo, and W. G. Wagner (1995). *Feynman Lectures on Gravitation*. Addison-Wesley. ISBN 0-201-62734-5.

Electromagnetic four-potential

The **electromagnetic four-potential** is a potential from which the electromagnetic field can be derived. It combines both the electric scalar potential and the magnetic vector potential into a single space-time four-vector. In a given reference frame, the first component is the scalar potential and the other three components make up the magnetic vector potential as measured by that frame. While both the scalar and vector potential are frame dependent, the electromagnetic four-potential is Lorentz covariant. However as it is a gauge potential, it is not gauge covariant. That is, there are many gauge equivalent electromagnetic four-potentials corresponding to the same physical situation.

Mathematical note: In this article, the abstract index notation will be used. Formulas are given in SI units, and in parentheses in Gaussian-cgs units.

Definition

The electromagnetic four-potential can be defined as:

$$A^lpha = \left(rac{\phi}{c}, {f A}
ight) ext{ in SI} \qquad (A^lpha = (\phi, {f A}) ext{ in cgs})$$

in which ϕ is the electrical potential, and **A** is the magnetic potential, a vector potential.

The units of A^{α} are volt-seconds/meter in SI, and maxwell/centimeter in Gaussian-cgs.

The electric and magnetic fields associated with these four-potentials are:

$$\mathbf{E} = -\nabla \phi - \frac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t} \qquad \left(-\nabla \phi - \frac{1}{c} \frac{\partial \mathbf{A}}{\partial t} \right)$$
$$\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$$

In order for the electric and magnetic fields to satisfy special relativity, they must be written in the form of a tensor that transforms correctly under Lorentz transformations (see electromagnetic tensor). This is written in terms of the electromagnetic four-potential as:

$$F^{\mu\nu} = \partial^{\mu}A^{\nu} - \partial^{\nu}A^{\mu}$$

This essentially defines the four-potential in terms of physically observable quantities.

In the Lorenz Gauge

Often, physicists employ the Lorenz gauge condition $\partial_{\alpha}A^{\alpha} = 0$ in an inertial frame of reference to simplify Maxwell's equations as:

$$\Box A^{\alpha} = \mu_0 J^{\alpha} \qquad \left(\Box A^{\alpha} = \frac{4\pi}{c} J^{\alpha} \right)$$

where J^{lpha} are the components of the four-current,

and

$$\Box = rac{1}{c^2} rac{\partial^2}{\partial t^2} -
abla^2$$
 is the d'Alembertian operator.

In terms of the scalar and vector potentials, this last equation becomes:

$$\Box \phi = \frac{\rho}{\epsilon_0} \qquad (\Box \phi = 4\pi\rho)$$
$$\Box \mathbf{A} = \mu_0 \mathbf{j} \qquad \left(\Box \mathbf{A} = \frac{4\pi}{c} \mathbf{j}\right)$$

For a given charge and current distribution, $\rho(\mathbf{x}, t)$ and $\mathbf{j}(\mathbf{x}, t)$, the solutions to these equations in SI units are

$$egin{aligned} \phi(\mathbf{x},t) &= rac{1}{4\pi\epsilon_0}\int\mathrm{d}^3x'rac{
ho(\mathbf{x}', au)}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|}\ \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{x},t) &= rac{\mu_0}{4\pi}\int\mathrm{d}^3x'rac{\mathbf{j}(\mathbf{x}', au)}{|\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}'|}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\tau = t - \frac{|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|}{c}$ is the retarded time. This is sometimes also expressed with $\rho(\mathbf{x}', \tau) = [\rho(\mathbf{x}', t)]$.

where the square brackets are meant to indicate that the time should be evaluated at the retarded time. Of course, since the above equations are simply the solution to an inhomogeneous differential equation, any solution to the homogeneous equation can be added to these to satisfy the boundary conditions. These homogeneous solutions in general represent waves propagating from sources outside the boundary.

When the integrals above are evaluated for typical cases, e.g. of an oscillating current (or charge), they are found to give both a magnetic field component varying as r^{-2} (the induction field) and a component decreasing as r^{-1} (the radiation field).

References

- Rindler, Wolfgang (1991). *Introduction to Special Relativity (2nd)*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. ISBN 0-19-853952-5.
- Jackson, J D (1999). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd). New York: Wiley. ISBN ISBN 0-471-30932-X.

Maxwell's equations in curved spacetime

In physics, **Maxwell's equations in curved spacetime** govern the dynamics of the electromagnetic field in curved spacetime (where the metric may not be the Minkowski metric) or where one uses an arbitrary (not necessarily Cartesian) coordinate system. These equations can be viewed as a generalization of the vacuum Maxwell's equations which are normally formulated in the local coordinates of flat spacetime. But because general relativity dictates that the presence of electromagnetic fields (or energy/matter in general) induce curvature in spacetime,^[1] Maxwell's equations in flat spacetime should be viewed as a convenient approximation.



When working in the presence of bulk matter, it is preferable to distinguish between free and bound electric charges. Without that distinction, the vacuum Maxwell's equations are called the "microscopic" Maxwell's equations. When the distinction is made, they are called the macroscopic Maxwell's equations.

The reader is assumed to be familiar with the four dimensional form of electromagnetism in flat space-time and basic mathematics of curved spacetime.

The electromagnetic field also admits a coordinate-independent geometric description, and Maxwell's equations expressed in terms of these geometric objects are the same in any spacetime, curved or not. Also, the same modifications are made to the equations of flat Minkowski space when using local coordinates that are not Cartesian. For example, the equations in this article can be used to write Maxwell's equations in spherical coordinates. For these reasons, it may be useful to think of Maxwell's equations in Minkowski space as a special case, rather than Maxwell's equations in curved spacetimes as a generalization.
Summary

In general relativity, the equations of electromagnetism in a vacuum become:

$$egin{array}{lll} F_{lphaeta}&=\partial_lpha A_eta\,-\,\partial_eta A_lpha\ &=\int_{\mu_0}g^{\mulpha}\,F_{lphaeta}\,g^{eta
u}\,\sqrt{-g}\ &J^\mu&=\partial_
u \mathcal{D}^{\mu
u}\ &f_\mu&=F_{\mu
u}\,J^
u \end{array}$$

where f_{μ} is the density of Lorentz force, $g^{\alpha\beta}$ is the reciprocal of the metric tensor $g_{\alpha\beta}$, and g is the determinant of the metric tensor. Notice that A_{α} and $F_{\alpha\beta}$ are (ordinary) tensors while $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}$, J^{μ} , and f_{μ} are tensor densities of weight +1. Despite the use of partial derivatives, these equations are invariant under arbitrary curvilinear coordinate transformations. Thus if one replaced the partial derivatives with covariant derivatives, the extra terms thereby introduced would cancel out.

The electromagnetic potential

The electromagnetic potential is a covariant vector, A_{α} , which is the undefined primitive of electromagnetism. As a covariant vector, its rule for transforming from one coordinate system to another is

$$ar{A}_eta = rac{\partial x^\gamma}{\partial ar{x}^eta} A_\gamma$$

Electromagnetic field

The electromagnetic field is a covariant antisymmetric rank 2 tensor which can be defined in terms of the electromagnetic potential by

$$F_{lphaeta} = \partial_{lpha}A_{eta} - \partial_{eta}A_{lpha}$$

- -

To see that this equation is invariant, we transform the coordinates (as described in the classical treatment of tensors)

$$\begin{split} \bar{F}_{\alpha\beta} &= \frac{\partial A_{\beta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} - \frac{\partial A_{\alpha}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} \\ &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} \left(\frac{\partial x^{\gamma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} A_{\gamma} \right) - \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} \left(\frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} A_{\delta} \right) \\ &= \frac{\partial^2 x^{\gamma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha} \partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} A_{\gamma} + \frac{\partial x^{\gamma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} \frac{\partial A_{\gamma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} - \frac{\partial^2 x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta} \partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} A_{\delta} - \frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial A_{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} \\ &= \frac{\partial x^{\gamma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} \frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial A_{\gamma}}{\partial x^{\delta}} - \frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial x^{\gamma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} \frac{\partial A_{\delta}}{\partial x^{\gamma}} \\ &= \frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial x^{\gamma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} \left(\frac{\partial A_{\gamma}}{\partial x^{\delta}} - \frac{\partial A_{\delta}}{\partial x^{\gamma}} \right) \\ &= \frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial x^{\gamma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} F_{\delta\gamma} \,. \end{split}$$

This definition implies that the electromagnetic field satisfies

$$\partial_{\lambda}F_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}F_{\nu\lambda} + \partial_{\nu}F_{\lambda\mu} = 0$$

which incorporates Faraday's law of induction and Gauss's law for magnetism. This is seen by

$$egin{aligned} &\partial_{\lambda}F_{\mu
u}+\partial_{\mu}F_{
u\lambda}+\partial_{
u}F_{\lambda\mu}\ &=\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{\mu}A_{
u}-\partial_{\lambda}\partial_{
u}A_{\mu}+\partial_{\mu}\partial_{
u}A_{\lambda}-\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\lambda}A_{
u}+\partial_{
u}\partial_{\lambda}A_{\mu}-\partial_{
u}\partial_{\mu}A_{\lambda}=0\,. \end{aligned}$$

Although there appear to be 64 equations in Faraday-Gauss, it actually reduces to just four independent equations. Using the antisymmetry of the electromagnetic field one can either reduce to an identity (0=0) or render redundant all the equations except for those with λ, μ, ν = either 1,2,3 or 2,3,0 or 3,0,1 or 0,1,2.

The Faraday-Gauss equation is sometimes written

$$\begin{split} F_{[\mu\nu;\lambda]} &= F_{[\mu\nu;\lambda]} = \frac{1}{6} \left(\partial_{\lambda} F_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu} F_{\nu\lambda} + \partial_{\nu} F_{\lambda\mu} - \partial_{\lambda} F_{\nu\mu} - \partial_{\mu} F_{\lambda\nu} - \partial_{\nu} F_{\mu\lambda} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{3} \left(\partial_{\lambda} F_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu} F_{\nu\lambda} + \partial_{\nu} F_{\lambda\mu} \right) = 0 \end{split}$$

where the semicolon indicates a covariant derivative, comma indicate a partial derivative, and square brackets indicate anti-symmetrization. The covariant derivative of the electromagnetic field is

$$F_{\alpha\beta;\gamma} = F_{\alpha\beta,\gamma} - \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\alpha\gamma}F_{\mu\beta} - \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\beta\gamma}F_{\alpha\mu}$$

where $\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta \nu}$ is the Christoffel symbol which is symmetric in its lower indices.

Electromagnetic displacement

The electric displacement field, \mathbf{D} , and the auxiliary magnetic field, \mathbf{H} , form an antisymmetric contravariant rank 2 tensor density of weight +1. In a vacuum, this is given by

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu
u}\,=\,rac{1}{\mu_0}\,g^{\mulpha}\,F_{lphaeta}\,g^{eta
u}\,\sqrt{-g}\,.$$

Notice that this equation is the only place where the metric (and thus gravity) enters into the theory of electromagnetism. Furthermore even here, the equation is invariant under a change of scale, that is, multiplying the metric by a constant has no effect on this equation. Consequently, gravity can only affect electromagnetism by changing the speed of light relative to the global coordinate system being used. Light is only deflected by gravity because it is slower when near to massive bodies. So it is as if gravity increased the index of refraction of space near massive bodies.

More generally, in materials where the magnetization-polarization tensor is non-zero, we have

$${\cal D}^{\mu
u} \,=\, rac{1}{\mu_0}\,g^{\mulpha}\,F_{lphaeta}\,g^{eta
u}\,\sqrt{-g}\,-\,{\cal M}^{\mu
u}\,,$$

The transformation law for electromagnetic displacement is

$$\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right]$$

where the Jacobian determinant is used. If the magnetization-polarization tensor is used, it has the same transformation law as the electromagnetic displacement.

Electric current

The electric current is the divergence of the electromagnetic displacement. In a vacuum,

$$J^{\mu}\,=\,\partial_{
u}{\cal D}^{\mu
u}$$
 .

If magnetization-polarization is used, then this just gives the free portion of the current

$$J^{\mu}_{
m free}\,=\,\partial_{
u}{\cal D}^{\mu
u}\,.$$

This incorporates Ampere's Law and Gauss's Law.

In either case, the fact that the electromagnetic displacement is antisymmetric implies that the electric current is automatically conserved

 $\partial_{\mu}J^{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu} = 0$

because the partial derivatives commute.

The Ampere-Gauss definition of the electric current is not sufficient to determine its value because the electromagnetic potential (from which is was ultimately derived) has not been given a value. Instead, the usual procedure is to equate the electric current to some expression in terms of other fields, mainly the electron and proton, and then solve for the electromagnetic displacement, electromagnetic field, and electromagnetic potential.

The electric current is a contravariant vector density, and as such it transforms as follows

$$ar{J}^{\mu} = rac{\partial ar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{lpha}} J^{lpha} \det \left[rac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial ar{x}^{
ho}}
ight]$$

Verification of this transformation law

$$\begin{split} \bar{J}^{\mu} &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu}} \left(\bar{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu} \right) = \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu}} \left(\frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] \right) \\ &= \frac{\partial^{2} \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu} \partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial^{2} \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu} \partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] \\ &= \frac{\partial^{2} \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\beta} \partial x^{\alpha}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial^{2} \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta} \partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial^{2} \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta} \partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial^{2} \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial x^{\beta} \partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\beta}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}}{\partial x^{\sigma} \partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \frac{\partial^{2} x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho} \partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \\ &= 0 + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \mathcal{J}^{\alpha} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}}{\partial x^{\sigma} \partial \bar{x}^{\beta} \partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \\ &= \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \mathcal{J}^{\alpha} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\alpha}} \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\beta} \det \left[\frac{\partial x^{\sigma}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right] \left(\frac{\partial^{2} \bar{x}^{\nu}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\nu} \partial x^{\beta}} + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\rho}}{\partial x^{\rho} \partial \bar{x}^{\rho}} \right]$$

So all that remains is to show that

$$rac{\partial^2 ar{x}^
u}{\partial ar{x}^
u \partial x^eta} + rac{\partial ar{x}^
ho}{\partial x^\sigma} rac{\partial^2 x^\sigma}{\partial x^eta \partial ar{x}^
ho} = 0$$

which is a version of a known theorem (see Inverse functions and differentiation#Higher derivatives).

$$egin{aligned} &rac{\partial^2 ar{x}^
u}{\partial ar{x}^
u \partial x^eta} + rac{\partial ar{x}^
ho}{\partial x^\sigma} rac{\partial^2 x^\sigma}{\partial x^eta \partial ar{x}^
ho} &= rac{\partial x^\sigma}{\partial ar{x}^
u} rac{\partial^2 ar{x}^
u}{\partial x^\sigma \partial x^eta} + rac{\partial ar{x}^
u}{\partial x^\sigma} rac{\partial^2 x^\sigma}{\partial x^eta \partial ar{x}^
u} &= rac{\partial x^\sigma}{\partial ar{x}^
u} rac{\partial^2 ar{x}^
u}{\partial x^\sigma \partial x^eta} + rac{\partial^2 x^\sigma}{\partial x^eta \partial ar{x}^
u} rac{\partial ar{x}^
u}{\partial x^\sigma} rac{\partial ar{x}^
u}{\partial ar{x}^
u} &= rac{\partial}{\partial x^eta} \left(rac{\partial ar{x}^
u}{\partial ar{x}^
u}
ight) &= rac{\partial}{\partial x^eta} \left(rac{\partial ar{x}^
u}{\partial ar{x}^
u}
ight) = rac{\partial}{\partial x^eta} \left(4
ight) = 0 \,. \end{aligned}$$

Lorentz force

The density of the Lorentz force is a covariant vector density given by

$$f_{\mu} = F_{\mu\nu} J^{\nu} .$$

The force on a test particle subject only to gravity and electromagnetism is

$$rac{dp_lpha}{dt}\,=\,\Gamma^eta_{lpha\gamma}\,p_eta\,rac{dx^\gamma}{dt}\,+\,q\,F_{lpha\gamma}\,rac{dx^\gamma}{dt}$$

where *p* is the linear 4-momentum of the particle, *t* is any time coordinate parameterizing the world line of the particle, Γ is the Christoffel symbol (gravitational force field), and *q* is the electric charge of the particle.

This equation is invariant under a change in the time coordinate; just multiply by $\frac{dt}{d\bar{t}}$ and use the chain rule. It is also

invariant under a change in the *x* coordinate system. Using the transformation law for the Christoffel symbol

$$ar{\Gamma}^{eta}_{lpha\gamma}\,=\,rac{\partialar{x}^{eta}}{\partial x^{\epsilon}}\,rac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partialar{x}^{lpha}}\,rac{\partial x^{\zeta}}{\partialar{x}^{\gamma}}\,\Gamma^{\epsilon}_{\delta\zeta}\,+\,rac{\partialar{x}^{eta}}{\partial x^{\eta}}\,rac{\partial^{2}x^{\eta}}{\partialar{x}^{lpha}\partialar{x}^{\gamma}}$$

we get

$$\begin{split} \frac{d\bar{p}_{\alpha}}{dt} &- \bar{\Gamma}^{\beta}_{\alpha\gamma} \bar{p}_{\beta} \frac{d\bar{x}^{\gamma}}{dt} - q \,\bar{F}_{\alpha\gamma} \frac{d\bar{x}^{\gamma}}{dt} \\ &= \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} p_{\delta} \right) - \left(\frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\theta}} \frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial x^{\iota}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\gamma}} \Gamma^{\theta}_{\delta\iota} + \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\eta}} \frac{\partial^{2} x^{\eta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha} \partial \bar{x}^{\gamma}} \right) \frac{\partial x^{\epsilon}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} p_{\epsilon} \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\gamma}}{\partial x^{\zeta}} \frac{dx^{\zeta}}{dt} - q \frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} F_{\delta\zeta} \frac{dx^{\zeta}}{dt} \\ &= \frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} \left(\frac{dp_{\delta}}{dt} - \Gamma^{\epsilon}_{\delta\zeta} p_{\epsilon} \frac{dx^{\zeta}}{dt} - q F_{\delta\zeta} \frac{dx^{\zeta}}{dt} \right) + \\ & \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} \right) p_{\delta} - \left(\frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}}{\partial x^{\eta}} \frac{\partial^{2} x^{\eta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha} \partial \bar{x}^{\gamma}} \right) \frac{\partial x^{\epsilon}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\beta}} p_{\epsilon} \frac{\partial \bar{x}^{\gamma}}{\partial x^{\zeta}} \frac{dx^{\zeta}}{dt} \\ &= 0 + \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{\partial x^{\delta}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha}} \right) p_{\delta} - \frac{\partial^{2} x^{\epsilon}}{\partial \bar{x}^{\alpha} \partial \bar{x}^{\gamma}} p_{\epsilon} \frac{d\bar{x}^{\gamma}}{dt} = 0. \end{split}$$

Lagrangian

In a vacuum, the Lagrangian for classical electrodynamics (in joules/meter³) is a scalar density

$${\cal L}\,=\,-rac{1}{4\mu_0}\,F_{lphaeta}\,F^{lphaeta}\,\sqrt{-g}\,+\,A_lpha\,J^lpha$$

where $F^{\alpha\beta} = g^{\alpha\gamma}F_{\gamma\delta}g^{\delta\beta}$. The four-current should be understood as an abbreviation of many terms expressing the electric currents of other charged fields in terms of their variables.

If we separate free currents from bound currents, the Lagrangian becomes

$${\cal L}\,=\,-rac{1}{4\mu_0}\,F_{lphaeta}\,F^{lphaeta}\,\sqrt{-g}\,+\,A_lpha\,J^lpha_{
m free}\,+\,rac{1}{2}\,F_{lphaeta}\,{\cal M}^{lphaeta}\,.$$

Electromagnetic stress-energy tensor

As part of the source term in the Einstein field equations, the electromagnetic stress-energy tensor is a covariant symmetric tensor

$$T_{\mu
u} = -rac{1}{\mu_0}(F_{\mulpha}g^{lphaeta}F_{eta
u} - rac{1}{4}g_{\mu
u}F_{\sigmalpha}g^{lphaeta}F_{eta
ho}g^{
ho\sigma})$$

which is trace-free

 $T_{\mu\nu}g^{\mu\nu}=0$

because electromagnetism propagates at the invariant speed.

In the expression for the conservation of energy and linear momentum, the electromagnetic stress-energy tensor is best represented as a mixed tensor density

 $\mathfrak{T}^{\nu}_{\mu} = T_{\mu\gamma} \, g^{\gamma\nu} \, \sqrt{-g}.$

From the equations above, one can show that

 $\mathfrak{T}^{\nu}_{\mu;\nu} + f_{\mu} = 0$

where the semicolon indicates a covariant derivative.

This can be rewritten as

$$-\mathfrak{T}^{
u}_{\mu,
u} = -\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\mu
u}\mathfrak{T}^{
u}_{\sigma} + f_{\mu}$$

which says that the decrease in the electromagnetic energy is the same as the work done by the electromagnetic field on the gravitational field plus the work done on matter (via the Lorentz force), and similarly the rate of decrease in the electromagnetic linear momentum is the electromagnetic force exerted on the gravitational field plus the Lorentz force exerted on matter.

Derivation of conservation law

$$\begin{aligned} \mathfrak{T}^{\nu}_{\mu;\nu} + f_{\mu} &= -\frac{1}{\mu_{0}} (F_{\mu\alpha;\nu} g^{\alpha\beta} F_{\beta\gamma} g^{\gamma\nu} + F_{\mu\alpha} g^{\alpha\beta} F_{\beta\gamma;\nu} g^{\gamma\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} F_{\sigma\alpha;\nu} g^{\alpha\beta} F_{\beta\rho} g^{\rho\sigma}) \sqrt{-g} \\ &= -\frac{1}{\mu_{0}} (F_{\mu\alpha;\nu} F^{\alpha\nu} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\alpha;\mu} F^{\alpha\sigma}) \sqrt{-g} \\ &= -\frac{1}{\mu_{0}} ((-F_{\nu\mu;\alpha} - F_{\alpha\nu;\mu}) F^{\alpha\nu} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\alpha;\mu} F^{\alpha\sigma}) \sqrt{-g} \\ &= -\frac{1}{\mu_{0}} (F_{\mu\nu;\alpha} F^{\alpha\nu} - F_{\alpha\nu;\mu} F^{\alpha\nu} + \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\alpha;\mu} F^{\sigma\alpha}) \sqrt{-g} \\ &= -\frac{1}{\mu_{0}} (F_{\mu\alpha;\nu} F^{\nu\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} F_{\alpha\nu;\mu} F^{\alpha\nu}) \sqrt{-g} \\ &= -\frac{1}{\mu_{0}} (-F_{\mu\alpha;\nu} F^{\alpha\nu} + \frac{1}{2} F_{\sigma\alpha;\mu} F^{\alpha\sigma}) \sqrt{-g} \end{aligned}$$

which is zero because it is the negative of itself (see four lines above).

Electromagnetic wave equation

The nonhomogeneous electromagnetic wave equation in terms of the field tensor is modified from the special relativity form to

$$\Box F_{ab} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F_{ab; \ d} = -2R_{acbd}F^{cd} + R_{ae}F^{e}{}_{b} - R_{be}F^{e}{}_{a} + J_{a;b} - J_{b;c}$$

where R_{acbd} is the covariant form of the Riemann tensor and \Box is a generalization of the d'Alembertian operator for covariant derivatives. Using

 $\Box A^a = A^{a;b}{}_b$

Maxwell's source equations can be written in terms of the 4-potential [ref 2, p. 569] as,

$$\Box A^a - A^{b;a}{}_b = -\mu_0 J^a$$

or, assuming the generalization of the Lorenz gauge in curved spacetime $A^a_{;a} = 0$,

$$\Box A^a = -\mu_0 J^a + R^a{}_b A^b$$

where $R_{ab} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} R^s_{asb}$ is the Ricci curvature tensor.

This the same form of the wave equation as in flat spacetime, except that the derivatives are replaced by covariant derivatives and there is an additional term proportional to the curvature. The wave equation in this form also bears some resemblance to the Lorentz force in curved spacetime where A^a plays the role of the 4-position.

Nonlinearity of Maxwell's equations in a dynamic spacetime

When Maxwell's equations are treated in a background independent manner, that is, when the spacetime metric is taken to be a dynamical variable dependent on the electromagnetic field, then the electromagnetic wave equation and Maxwell's equations are nonlinear. This can be seen by noting that the curvature tensor depends on the stress-energy tensor through the Einstein field equation

$$G_{ab} = \frac{8\pi G}{c^4} T_{ab}$$

where

$$G_{ab} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} R_{ab} - rac{1}{2} R g_{ab}$$

is the Einstein tensor, G is the gravitational constant, g_{ab} is the metric tensor, and R (scalar curvature) is the trace of the Ricci curvature tensor. The stress-energy tensor is composed of the stress-energy from particles, but also stress-energy from the electromagnetic field. This generates the nonlinearity.

Geometric formulation

The geometric view of the electromagnetic field is that it is the curvature 2-form of a principal U(1)-bundle, and acts on charged matter by holonomy. In this view, one of Maxwell's two equations, d **F**= **0**, is a mathematical identity known as the Bianchi identity. This equation implies, by the Poincaré lemma, that there exists (at least locally) a 1-form **A** satisfying **F** = d **A**. The other Maxwell equation is

 $d * \mathbf{F} = \mathbf{J}$

where the curvature 2-form \mathbf{F} is known as the Faraday 2-form in this context, \mathbf{J} is the current 3-form, the asterisk * denotes the Hodge star operator, and d is the exterior derivative operator. The dependence of Maxwell's equation (there is only one with any physical content in this language) on the metric of spacetime lies in the Hodge star operator. Written this way, Maxwell's equation is the same in any spacetime.

References

- Einstein, A. (1961). Relativity: The Special and General Theory. New York: Crown. ISBN 0-517-02961-8.
- Misner, Charles; Thorne, Kip S. & Wheeler, John Archibald (1973). *Gravitation*. San Francisco: W. H. Freeman. ISBN 0-7167-0344-0.
- Landau, L. D. and Lifshitz, E. M. (1975). *Classical Theory of Fields (Fourth Revised English Edition)*. Oxford: Pergamon. ISBN 0-08-018176-7.
- R. P. Feynman, F. B. Moringo, and W. G. Wagner (1995). *Feynman Lectures on Gravitation*. Addison-Wesley. ISBN 0-201-62734-5.

External links

• Electromagnetic fields in curved spacetimes ^[2]

Notes

- [1] http://www.springerlink.com/content/h224886u7651v774/
- [2] http://www.iop.org/EJ/abstract/0264-9381/22/2/011/

Faraday paradox

This article describes the Faraday paradox in electromagnetism. There is a different Faraday paradox in electrochemistry: see Faraday paradox (electrochemistry).

The **Faraday paradox** (or **Faraday's paradox**) is an experiment that illustrates Michael Faraday's law of electromagnetic induction. Faraday deduced this law in 1831, after inventing the first electromagnetic generator or dynamo, but was never satisfied with his own explanation of the paradox.

The equipment

The experiment requires a few simple components (see Figure 1): a cylindrical magnet, a conducting disc with a conducting rim, a conducting axle, some wiring, and a galvanometer. The disc and the magnet are fitted a short distance apart on the axle, on which they are free to rotate about their own axes of symmetry. An electrical circuit is formed by connecting sliding contacts: one to the axle of the disc, the other to its rim. A galvanometer can be inserted in the circuit to measure the current.

The procedure

The experiment proceeds in three steps:

- The magnet is held to prevent it from rotating, while the disc is spun on its axis. The result is that the galvanometer registers a direct current. The apparatus therefore acts as a generator, variously called the Faraday generator, the Faraday disc, or the homopolar (or unipolar) generator.
- 2. The disc is held stationary while the magnet is spun on its axis. The result is that the galvanometer registers no current.
- 3. The disc and magnet are spun together. The galvanometer registers a current, as it did in step 1.

Why is this paradoxical?



Figure 1: Faraday's disc electric generator. The disc rotates with angular rate ω , sweeping the conducting disc circularly in the static magnetic field **B** due to a permanent magnet. The magnetic Lorentz force **v** × **B** drives the current radially across the conducting disc to the conducting rim, and from there the circuit path completes through the lower brush and the axle supporting the disc. Thus, current is generated from mechanical motion.

The experiment is described by some as a "paradox" as it seems, at first sight, to violate Faraday's law of electromagnetic induction, because the flux through the disc appears to be the same no matter what is rotating. Hence, the EMF is predicted to be zero in all three cases of rotation. The discussion below shows this viewpoint stems from an incorrect choice of surface over which to calculate the flux.

The paradox appears a bit different from the lines of flux viewpoint: in Faraday's model of electromagnetic induction, a magnetic field consisted of imaginary lines of magnetic flux, similar to the lines that appear when iron filings are sprinkled on paper and held near a magnet. The EMF is proposed to be proportional to the rate of cutting lines of flux. If the lines of flux are imagined to originate in the magnet, then they would be stationary in the frame of the magnet, and rotating the disc relative to the magnet, whether by rotating the magnet or the disc, should produce an EMF, but rotating both of them together should not.

Faraday's explanation

In Faraday's model of electromagnetic induction, a circuit received an induced current when it cut lines of magnetic flux. According to this model, the Faraday disc should have worked when either the disc or the magnet was rotated, but not both. Faraday attempted to explain the disagreement with observation by assuming that the magnet's field, complete with its lines of flux, remained stationary as the magnet rotated (a completely accurate picture, but maybe not intuitive in the lines-of-flux model). In other words, the lines of flux have their own frame of reference. As we shall see in the next section, modern physics (since the discovery of the electron) does not need the lines-of-flux picture and dispels the paradox.

Modern explanations

Using the Lorentz force

After the discovery of the electron and the forces that affect it, a microscopic resolution of the paradox became possible. See Figure 1. The metal portions of the apparatus are conducting, and confine a current due to electronic motion to within the metal boundaries. All electrons that move in a magnetic field experience a Lorentz force of $\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{qv} \times \mathbf{B}$, where \mathbf{v} is the velocity of the electrons and \mathbf{q} is the charge on an electron. This force is perpendicular to both the velocity of the electron at rest in the plane of the disc, and to the magnetic field, which is normal (surface normal) to the disc. An electron at rest in the frame of the disc moves circularly with the disc relative to the *B*-field, and so experiences a radial Lorentz force. In Figure 1 this force (on a *positive* charge, not an electron) is outward toward the rim according to the right-hand rule.

Of course, this radial force, which is the cause of the current, creates a radial component of electron velocity, generating in turn its own Lorentz force component that opposes the circular motion of the electrons, tending to slow the disc's rotation, but the electrons retain a component of circular motion that continues to drive the current via the radial Lorentz force.

This mechanism agrees with the observations: an EMF is generated whenever the disc moves relative to the magnetic field, regardless of how that field is generated.

The use of the Lorentz equation to explain the Faraday Paradox has led to a debate in the literature as to whether or not a magnetic field rotates with a magnet. Since the force on charges expressed by the Lorentz equation depends upon the relative motion of the magnetic field to the conductor where the EMF is located it was speculated that in the case when the magnet rotates with the disk but a voltage still develops, that the magnetic field must therefore not rotate with the magnetic material as it turns with no relative motion with respect to the conductive disk.

However, careful thought showed if the magnetic field was assumed to rotate with the magnet and the magnet rotated with the disk that a current should still be produced, not by EMF in the disk (there is no relative motion between the disk and magnet) but in the external circuit linking the brushes^[1] which is in fact in relative motion with respect to the rotating magnet. In fact it was shown that so long as a current loop was used to measure induced EMFs from the motion of the disk and magnet it is not possible to tell if the magnetic field does or does not rotate with the magnet.

Several experiments have been proposed using electrostatic measurements or electron beams to resolve the issue, but apparently none have been successfully performed to date.

Relation to Faraday's law of induction

The flux through the portion of the path from the brush at the rim, through the outside loop and the axle to the center of the disc is always zero because the magnetic field is in the plane of this path (not perpendicular to it), no matter what is rotating, so the integrated emf around this part of the path is always zero. Therefore, attention is focused on the portion of the path from the axle across the disc to the brush at the rim.

Faraday's law of induction can be stated in words as:^[2]

The induced electromotive force or EMF in any closed circuit is equal to the time rate of change of the magnetic flux through the circuit.

Mathematically, the law is stated:

$${\cal E} = - {d \Phi_B \over dt} = - {d \over dt} \int\!\!\!\!\int_{\Sigma(t)} d{m A} \cdot {f B}({f r}, \; t) \; ,$$

where $\Phi_{\rm B}$ is the flux, and *d* **A** is a vector element of area of a moving surface $\Sigma(t)$ bounded by the loop around which the EMF is to be found.

How can this law be connected to the Faraday disc generator, where the flux linkage appears to be just the *B*-field multiplied by the area of the disc?

One approach is to define the notion of "rate of change of flux linkage" by drawing a hypothetical line across the disc from the brush to the axle and asking how much flux linkage is swept past this line per unit time. See Figure 2. Assuming a radius *R* for the disc, a sector of disc with central angle θ has an area:



Figure 2: Two possible loops for finding EMF: the geometrically simple path is easy to use, but the other provides the same EMF. Neither is intended to imitate any line of physical current flow.

$$A=rac{ heta}{2\pi}\pi R^2 \; ,$$

so the rate that flux sweeps past the imaginary line is

$${\cal E}=-rac{d\Phi_B}{dt}=Brac{dA}{dt}=B~rac{R^2}{2}~rac{d heta}{dt}=B~rac{R^2}{2}\omega~,$$

with $\omega = d \theta / dt$ the angular rate of rotation. The sign is chosen based upon Lenz's law: the field generated by the motion must oppose the change in flux caused by the rotation.^[3]

This flux-cutting result for EMF can be compared to calculating the work done per unit charge making an infinitesimal test charge traverse the hypothetical line using the Lorentz force / unit charge at radius *r*, namely $|\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}| = B v = B r \omega$:

$${\cal E}=\int_0^R dr Br \omega = {R^2\over 2}B\omega \; ,$$

which is the same result.

The above methodology for finding the flux cut by the circuit is formalized in the flux law by properly treating the time derivative of the bounding surface Σ (*t*). Of course, the time derivative of an integral with time dependent limits is *not* simply the time derivative of the integrand alone, a point often forgotten; see Leibniz integral rule and Lorentz force.

In choosing the surface Σ (*t*), the restrictions are that (i) it be bounded by a closed curve around which the EMF is to be found, and (ii) it capture the relative motion of all moving parts of the circuit. It is emphatically *not* required that the bounding curve correspond to a physical line of flow of the current. On the other hand, induction is all about relative motion, and the path emphatically *must* capture any relative motion. In a case like Figure 1 where a portion of the current path is distributed over a region in space, the EMF driving the current can be found using a variety of paths. Figure 2 shows two possibilities. All paths include the obvious return loop, but in the disc two paths are shown: one is a geometrically simple path, the other a tortuous one. We are free to choose whatever path we like, but a portion of any acceptable path is *fixed in the disc itself* and turns with the disc. The flux is calculated though the entire path, return loop *plus* disc segment, and its rate-of change found.

In this example, all these paths lead to the same rate of change of flux, and hence the same EMF. To provide some intuition about this path independence, in Figure 3 the Faraday disc is unwrapped onto a strip, making it resemble a sliding rectangle problem. In the sliding rectangle case, it becomes obvious that the pattern of current flow inside the rectangle is time-independent and therefore irrelevant to the rate of change of flux linking the circuit. There is no need to consider exactly how the current traverses the rectangle (or the disc).



Any choice of path connecting the top and bottom of the rectangle (axle- to-brush in the disc) and moving with the rectangle (rotating with the disc) sweeps out the same rate-of-change of flux, and predicts the same EMF. For the disc, this rate-of-change of flux estimation is the same as that done above based upon rotation of the disc past a line joining the brush to the axle.

Some observations

Whether the magnet is "moving" is irrelevant in this analysis, as it does not appear in Faraday's law. In fact, rotating the magnet does not alter the *B*-field. Likewise, rotation of the magnet *and* the disc is the same as rotating the disc and keeping the magnet stationary. The crucial relative motion is that of the disk and the return path, not of the disk and the magnet.

This becomes clearer if a modified Faraday disk is used in which the return path is not a wire but another disk. That is, mount two conducting disks just next to each other on the same axle and let them have sliding electrical contact at the center and at the circumference. The current will be proportional to the relative rotation of the two disks and independent of any rotation of the magnet.

Configuration without a return path

A Faraday disk can also be operated with neither a galvanometer nor a return path. When the disk spins, the electrons collect along the rim and leave a deficit near the axis (or the other way around). It is possible in principle to measure the distribution of charge, for example, through the electromotive force generated between the rim and the axle (though not necessarily easy). This charge separation will be proportional to the magnetic field and the rotational velocity of the disk. The magnetic field will be independent of any rotation of the magnet. In this configuration, the polarisation is determined by the absolute rotation of the disk, that is, the rotation relative to an inertial frame. The relative rotation of the disk and the magnet plays no role.

Inapplicability of Faraday's law

Figure 4 shows a translating rectangle of material with a narrow conducting strip subject to a magnetic field. This strip of material is rendered conducting at a fixed location by, for example, a strong light beam at this location. The magnetic field also is confined to the same strip. The Lorentz force drives a current from the top rail to the bottom rail through this strip, and the circuit is completed through leads attached to the top and bottom conducting rails. In this example, the circuit does not move, and the magnetic flux through the circuit is not changing, so Faraday's law suggests no current flows. However, the Lorentz force law suggests a current does flow. This example is based upon one devised by Richard Feynman to illustrate the inapplicability of Faraday's law of induction



immovable strip of conducting material subject to a Lorentz force.

to certain situations (that is, the version of Faraday's law of induction which relates EMF to magnetic flux, which he terms the "flux rule"). Referring to his example, Feynman said:^[4]

The "flux rule" does not work in this case. It must be applied to circuits in which the *material* of the circuit remains the same. When the material of the circuit is changing, we must return to the basic laws. The *correct* physics is always given by the two basic laws

$$\mathbf{F} = q(\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B})
onumber \
abla imes \mathbf{E} = -rac{\partial}{\partial t} \mathbf{B} \; .$$

- Richard P Feynman The Feynman Lectures on Physics

Accordingly, he explains the phenomenon using the Lorentz force law, as described above. The point is that the flux law applies only to some situations, albeit some very practical ones.

Using the special theory of relativity

There is no paradox or difficulty if one invokes the special theory of relativity. It tells us that the observer sitting on the frame S of the stationary guide rail and the fixed-location strip sees the photoconductive rectangle moving through the magnetic induction field B with a velocity v. He sees an electric field in his frame of reference of E = vB. The Lorentz force experienced by the charged particle at the beamed photoconductive area is $F_{Lorentz} = qvB$.

For the observer resting on the frame S' of the photoconductive rectangle, he sees $E' = \gamma v B$. Thus the Lorentz force experienced by the charged particle is $F'_{Lorentz} = q \gamma v B$.

Noting the fact that from frame S to frame S', the force perpendicular to the relative velocity transforms as follows:

$$F' = {F\over (1-v^2/c^2)\gamma} = \gamma F ~~\circ$$

Thus, the charged particle experience the same force in frame S or frame S'.^{[5] [6]}

An additional rule

Now that it has been proven that the magnetic field rotates with the magnet as discussed in the observation section, what is really causing the paradox? Before addressing this question, we will discuss when Faraday's Law is valid and when it breaks down as in the disk experiment. In the case when the disk alone spins there is no change in flux through the circuit, however, there is an electromotive force induced contrary to Faraday's law. We can also show an example when there is a change in flux, but no induced voltage. Figure 5 shows the setup used in Tilley's experiment.^[7] It is circuit with two loops or meshes.



There is a galvanometer connected in the righthand loop, a magnet in the center of the lefthand loop, a switch in the lefthand loop, and a switch between the loops. We start with the switch on the left open and that on the right closed. When the switch on the left is closed and the switch on the right is open there is no change in the field of the magnet, but there is a change in the area of the galvanometer circuit. This means that there is a change in flux. However the galvanometer did not deflect meaning there was no induced voltage, and Faraday's law does not work in this case. According to A. G. Kelly this suggests that an induced voltage in Faraday's experiment is due to the "cutting" of the circuit by the flux lines, and not by "flux linking" or the actual change in flux. This follows from the Tilley experiment because there is no movement of the lines of force across the circuit and therefore no current induced althouogh there is a change in flux. Hrough the circuit. Nussbaum suggests that for Faraday's law to be valid work must be done in producing the change in flux.^[8]

To understand this idea, we will step through the argument given by Nussbaum.^[8] We start by calculating the force between two current carrying wires. The force on wire 1 due to wire 2 is given by:

$$\mathbf{F}_{21} = \frac{\mu_0}{4\pi} I_1 I_2 \oint_{C_1} \oint_{C_2} \frac{d\mathbf{l_1} \times (d\mathbf{l_2} \times \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{21})}{r_{21}^2}$$

The magnetic field from the second wire is given by:

$$\mathbf{B_2} = rac{\mu_0}{4\pi} I_2 \oint_{C_2} rac{(d\mathbf{l_2} imes \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{21})}{r_{21}^2}$$

So we can rewrite the force on wire 1 as:

$$\mathbf{F_{21}} = I_1 \oint_{C_1} d\mathbf{l_1} imes \mathbf{B}_2$$

Now consider a segment $d\mathbf{l}$ of a conductor displaced $d\mathbf{r}$ in a constant magnetic field. The work done is found from:

$$d\mathbf{W} = d\mathbf{F} \cdot d\mathbf{r}$$

If we plug in what we previously found for $d\mathbf{F}$ we get:

$$d\mathbf{W} = (Id\mathbf{l} \times \mathbf{B}) \cdot d\mathbf{r}$$

The area covered by the displacement of the conductor is:

$$d\mathbf{S} = d\mathbf{r} \times d\mathbf{l}$$

Therefore:

$$d\mathbf{W} = I\mathbf{B} \cdot d\mathbf{s} = Id\Phi$$

The differential work can also be given in terms of charge $d\mathbf{q}$ and potential difference V:

$$d\mathbf{W} = Vd\mathbf{q} = VId\mathbf{t}$$

 $d\mathbf{\Phi} = V d\mathbf{t}$

Furthermore, we now see that this is only true if $d\mathbf{W}$ is nonvanishing. Meaning, Faraday's Law is only valid if work is performed in bringing about the change in flux.

References

- [1] A. G. Kelly, Monographs 5 & 6 of the Institution of Engineers of Ireland, 1998, ISBN 1-898012-37-3 and ISBN 1-898012-42-3]
- [2] See, for example, M N O Sadiku (2007). Elements of Electromagnetics (http://books.google.com/?id=w2ITHQAACAAJ& dq=isbn:0-19-530048-3) (Fourth ed.). NY/Oxford UK: Oxford University Press. pp. §9.2 pp. 386 ff. ISBN 0-19-530048-3.
- [3] For example, the circuit with the radial segment in Figure 2 according to the right-hand rule *adds* to the applied B-field, tending to increase the flux linkage. That suggests that the flux through this path is decreasing due to the rotation, so $d \theta / dt$ is *negative*.
- [4] Richard Phillips Feynman, Leighton R B & Sands M L (2006). *The Feynman Lectures on Physics* (http://books.google.com/ ?id=zUt7AAAACAAJ&dq=intitle:Feynman+intitle:Lectures+intitle:on+intitle:Physics). San Francisco: Pearson/Addison-Wesley. Vol. II, pp. 17–2, 17–3. ISBN 0805390499.
- [5] Griffiths, David J. (1998), Introduction to Electrodynamics (3rd ed.), Prentice Hall, pp. 516–532, ISBN 0-13-805326-X
- [6] Hughes, William; Young, Frederick (1966), The electromagnetodynamics of fluids, Wiley, pp. 31
- [7] Tilley, D. E., Am. J. Phys. 36, 458 (1968)
- [8] Nussbaum, A., "Faraday's Law Paradox's", http://www.iop.org/EJ/article/0031-9120/7/4/006/pev7i4p231. pdf?request-id=49fbce3f-dbc4-4d6c-98e9-8258814e6c30

Further reading

- Michael Faraday, Experimental Researches in Electricity, Vol I, First Series, 1831 in Great Books of the Western World, Vol 45, R. M. Hutchins, ed., Encyclopædia Britannica, Inc., The University of Chicago, 1952. (http:// manybooks.net/titles/faradaym1498614986-8.html)
- "Electromagnetic induction: physics and flashbacks" (PDF) (http://www.brera.unimi.it/sisfa/atti/2001/ giuliani.pdf) by Giuseppe Giuliani details of the Lorentz force in Faraday's disc
- "Homopolar Electric Dynamo" (http://www.spots.ab.ca/~belfroy/Homopolars/homopoltext.html) contains derivation of equation for EMF of a Faraday disc
- Don Lancaster's "Tech Musings" column, Feb 1998 (http://www.tinaja.com/glib/muse121.pdf) on practical inefficiencies of Faraday disc
- "Faraday's Final Riddle; Does the Field Rotate with a Magnet?" (PDF) (http://exvacuo.free.fr/div/Sciences/ Experiences/Em/Homopolar IEI.pdf) - contrarian theory, but contains useful references to Faraday's experiments
- P. J. Scanlon, R. N. Henriksen, and J. R. Allen, "Approaches to electromagnetic induction," Am. J. Phys. 37, 698–708 (1969). describes how to apply Faraday's law to Faraday's disc
- Jorge Guala-Valverde, Pedro Mazzoni, Ricardo Achilles "The homopolar motor: A true relativistic engine," Am. J. Phys. 70 (10), 1052–1055 (Oct. 2002). argues that only the Lorentz force can explain Faraday's disc and describes some experimental evidence for this
- Frank Munley, Challenges to Faraday's flux rule, Am. J. Phys. 72, 1478 (2004). an updated discussion of concepts in the Scanlon reference above.
- Richard Feynman, Robert Leighton, Matthew Sands, "The Feynman Lectures on Physics Volume II", Chapter 17

 In addition to the Faraday "paradox" (where linked flux does not change but an emf is induced), he describes the "rocking plates" experiment where linked flux changes but no emf is induced. He shows that the correct physics is always given by the combination of the Lorentz force with the Maxwell-Faraday equation (see quotation box) and poses these two "paradoxes" of his own.
- The rotation of magnetic field (http://web.archive.org/web/20091027003359/http://geocities.com/terella1/) by Vanja Janezic describes a simple experiment that anyone can do. Because it only involves two bodies, its result is less ambiguous than the three-body Faraday, Kelly and Guala-Valverde experiments.

• W. F. Hughes and F. J. Young, The Electromagnetodynamics of Fluids, John Wiley & Sons (1965) LCCC #66-17631. Chapters 1. Principles of Special Relativity and 2. The Electrodynamics of Moving Media. From these chapters it is possible to work all induced emf problems and explain all the associated paradoxes found in the literature.

Moving magnet and conductor problem

The moving magnet and conductor problem is a famous thought experiment, originating in the 19th century, concerning the intersection of classical electromagnetism and special relativity. In it, the current in a conductor moving with constant velocity, v, with respect to a magnet is calculated in the frame of reference of the magnet and in the frame of reference of the conductor. The observable quantity in the experiment, the current, is the same in either case, in accordance with the basic principle of relativity, which states: "Only *relative* motion is observable;



there is no absolute standard of rest".^[1] However, according to Maxwell's equations, the charges in the conductor experience a **magnetic force** in the frame of the magnet and an **electric force** in the frame of the conductor. The same phenomenon would seem to have two different descriptions depending on the frame of reference of the observer.

This problem, along with Michelson-Morley experiment, formed the basis of Einstein's theory of relativity.

Introduction

Einstein's 1905 paper that introduced the world to relativity opens with a description of the magnet/conductor problem.[2]

It is known that Maxwell's electrodynamics--as usually understood at the present time--when applied to moving bodies, leads to asymmetries which do not appear to be inherent in the phenomena. Take, for example, the reciprocal electrodynamic action of a magnet and a conductor. The observable phenomenon here depends only on the relative motion of the conductor and the magnet, whereas the customary view draws a sharp distinction between the two cases in which either the one or the other of these bodies is in motion. For if the magnet is in motion and the conductor at rest, there arises in the neighborhood of the magnet an electric field with a certain definite energy, producing a current at the places where parts of the conductor are situated. But if the magnet is stationary and the conductor in motion, no electric field arises in the neighborhood of the magnet. In the conductor, however, we find an electromotive force, to which in itself there is no corresponding energy, but which gives rise--assuming equality of relative motion in the two cases discussed--to electric currents of the same path and intensity as those produced by the electric forces in the former case.

- On the electrodynamics of moving bodies, A. Einstein, 1905

An overriding requirement on the descriptions in different frameworks is that they be consistent. Consistency is an issue because Newtonian mechanics predicts one transformation (so-called Galilean invariance) for the *forces* that

drive the charges and cause the current, while electrodynamics as expressed by Maxwell's equations predicts that the *fields* that give rise to these forces transform differently (according to Lorentz invariance). Observations of the aberration of light, culminating in the Michelson Morley experiment, established the validity of Lorentz invariance, and the development of special relativity resolved the resulting disagreement with Newtonian mechanics. Special relativity revised the transformation of forces in moving reference frames to be consistent with Lorentz invariance. The details of these transformations are discussed below.

In addition to consistency, it would be nice to consolidate the descriptions so they appear to be frame-independent. A clue to a framework-independent description is the observation that magnetic fields in one reference frame become electric fields in another frame. Likewise, the solenoidal portion of electric fields (the portion that is not originated by electric charges) becomes a magnetic field in another frame: that is, the solenoidal electric fields and magnetic fields are aspects of the same thing.^[3] That means the paradox of different descriptions may be only semantic. A description that uses scalar and vector potentials φ and A instead of B and E avoids the semantical trap. A Lorentz-invariant four vector $A^{\alpha} = (\varphi / c_0, A)$ replaces E and $B^{[4]}$ and provides a frame-independent description (albeit less visceral than the E– B–description).^[5] An alternative unification of descriptions is to think of the physical entity as the electromagnetic field tensor, as described later on. This tensor contains both E and B fields as components, and has the same form in all frames of reference.

Background

Electromagnetic fields are not directly observable. The existence of classical electromagnetic fields can be inferred from the motion of charged particles, whose trajectories are observable. Electromagnetic fields do explain the observed motions of classical charged particles.

A strong requirement in physics is that all observers of the motion of a particle agree on the trajectory of the particle. For instance, if one observer notes that a particle collides with the center of a bullseye, then all observers must reach the same conclusion. This requirement places constraints on the nature of electromagnetic fields and on their transformation from one reference frame to another. It also places constraints on the manner in which fields affect the acceleration and, hence, the trajectories of charged particles.

Perhaps the simplest example, and one that Einstein referenced in his 1905 paper introducing special relativity, is the problem of a conductor moving in the field of a magnet. In the frame of the magnet, a conductor experiences a *magnetic* force. In the frame of a conductor moving relative to the magnet, the conductor experiences a force due to an *electric* field. The magnetic field in the magnet frame and the electric field in the conductor frame must generate consistent results in the conductor. At the time of Einstein in 1905, the field equations as represented by Maxwell's equations were properly consistent. Newton's law of motion, however, had to be modified to provide consistent particle trajectories.^[6]

Transformation of fields, assuming Galilean transformations

Assuming that the magnet frame and the conductor frame are related by a Galilean transformation, it is straightforward to compute the fields and forces in both frames. This will demonstrate that the induced current is indeed the same in both frames. As a byproduct, this argument will *also* yield a general formula for the electric and magnetic fields in one frame in terms of the fields in another frame.^[7]

In reality, the frames are *not* related by a Galilean transformation, but by a Lorentz transformation. Nevertheless, it will be a Galilean transformation *to a very good approximation*, at velocities much less than the speed of light.

Unprimed quantities correspond to the rest frame of the magnet, while primed quantities correspond to the rest frame of the conductor. Let \mathbf{v} be the velocity of the conductor, as seen from the magnet frame.

Magnet frame

In the rest frame of the magnet, the magnetic field is some fixed field $\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r})$, determined by the structure and shape of the magnet. The electric field is zero.

In general, the force exerted upon a particle of charge q in the conductor by the electric field and magnetic field is given by (SI units):

 $\mathbf{F} = q(\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}),$

where q is the charge on the particle, **v** is the particle velocity and **F** is the Lorentz force. Here, however, the electric field is zero, so the force on the particle is

 $\mathbf{F} = q\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}.$

Conductor frame

In the conductor frame, the magnetic field **B**' will be related to the magnetic field **B** in the magnet frame according to:^[8]

$$\mathbf{B}'(\mathbf{x}',t) = \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{x}' + \mathbf{v}t).$$

In this frame, there is an electric field, generated by the Maxwell-Faraday equation:

$$abla imes \mathbf{E}' = -rac{\partial \mathbf{B}'}{\partial t}$$

Using the above expression for **B**',

$$abla imes \mathbf{E}' = -(\mathbf{v} \cdot
abla) \mathbf{B} = -
abla imes (\mathbf{B} imes \mathbf{v}) - \mathbf{v} (
abla \cdot \mathbf{B}) = -
abla imes (\mathbf{B} imes \mathbf{v})$$

(using the chain rule and Gauss's law for magnetism). This has the solution:

 $\mathbf{E}' = -\mathbf{B} \times \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}$.

A charge q in the conductor will be at rest in the conductor frame. Therefore, the magnetic force term of the Lorentz force has no effect, and the force on the charge is given by

$$\mathbf{F}' = q\mathbf{E}' = q\mathbf{v} imes \mathbf{B}$$
 .

This demonstrates that *the force is the same in both frames* (as would be expected), and therefore any observable consequences of this force, such as the induced current, would also be the same in both frames. This is despite the fact that the force is seen to be an electric force in the conductor frame, but a magnetic force in the magnet's frame.

Galilean transformation formula for fields

A similar sort of argument can be made if the magnet's frame also contains electric fields. (The Ampere-Maxwell equation also comes into play, explaining how, in the conductor's frame, this moving electric field will contribute to the magnetic field.) The end result is that, in general,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}' &= \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B} \\ \mathbf{B}' &= \mathbf{B} - \frac{1}{c_0{}^2} \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{E} \;, \end{split}$$

with c_0 the speed of light in free space.

By plugging these transformation rules into the full Maxwell's equations, it can be seen that if Maxwell's equations are true in one frame, then they are *almost* true in the other, but contain incorrect terms pro by the Lorentz transformation, and the field transformation equations also must be changed, according to the expressions given below.

Transformation of fields as predicted by Maxwell's equations

In a frame moving at velocity \mathbf{v} , the **E**-field in the moving frame when there is no **E**-field in the stationary magnet frame Maxwell's equations transform as:^[9]

$$\mathbf{E}' = \gamma \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}$$

where

$$\gamma = rac{1}{\sqrt{1-\left(v/c_0
ight)^2}}$$

is called the Lorentz factor and c_0 is the speed of light in free space. This result is a consequence of requiring that observers in all inertial frames arrive at the same form for Maxwell's equations. In particular, all observers must see the same speed of light c_0 . That requirement leads to the Lorentz transformation for space and time. Assuming a Lorentz transformation, invariance of Maxwell's equations then leads to the above transformation of the fields for this example.

Consequently, the force on the charge is

$$\mathbf{F}' = q\mathbf{E}' = q\gamma\mathbf{v}\times\mathbf{B}$$
 .

This expression differs from the expression obtained from the nonrelativistic Newton's law of motion by a factor of γ . Special relativity modifies space and time in a manner such that the forces and fields transform consistently.

Modification of dynamics for consistency with Maxwell's equations

The Lorentz force has the same *form* in both frames, though the fields differ, namely:



$\mathbf{F} = q \left[\mathbf{E} + \mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B} \right]$.

See Figure 1. To simplify, let the magnetic field point in the *z*-direction and vary with location x, and let the conductor translate in the positive *x*-direction with velocity v. Consequently, in the magnet frame where the conductor is moving, the Lorentz force points in the negative *y*-direction, perpendicular to both the velocity, and the *B*-field. The force on a charge, here due only to the *B*-field, is

$$F_y = -q \ v \ B$$

while in the conductor frame where the magnet is moving, the force is also in the negative *y*-direction, and now due only to the **E**-field with a value:

$$F_y' = q \ E' = -q \ \gamma v \ B.$$

The two forces differ by the Lorentz factor γ . This difference is expected in a relativistic theory, however, due to the change in space-time between frames, as discussed next.

Relativity takes the Lorentz transformation of space-time suggested by invariance of Maxwell's equations and imposes it upon dynamics as well (a revision of Newton's laws of motion). In this example, the Lorentz transformation affects the *x*-direction only (the relative motion of the two frames is along the *x*-direction). The relations connecting time and space are (*primes* denote the moving conductor frame):^[10]

$$egin{aligned} x' &= \gamma(x-vt) \; x = \gamma(x'+vt') \; , \ t' &= \gamma(t-rac{vx}{c_0^2}) \; t = \gamma(t'+rac{vx'}{c_0^2}) \; . \end{aligned}$$

These transformations lead to a change in the y-component of a force:

$$F_y' = \gamma F_y$$
 .

That is, within Lorentz invariance, force is *not* the same in all frames of reference, unlike Galilean invariance. But, from the earlier analysis based upon the Lorentz force law:

$$\gamma F_{m{y}} \;= -q \; \gamma v \; B \;, \, F_{m{y}'} \;= -q \; \gamma v \; B \;,$$

which agrees completely. So the force on the charge is *not* the same in both frames, but it transforms as expected according to relativity.

Newton's law of motion in modern notation

The modern approach to obtaining the relativistic version of Newton's law of motion can be obtained by writing Maxwell's equations in covariant form and identifying a covariant form that is a generalization of Newton's law of motion.

Newton's law of motion can be written in modern covariant notation in terms of the field strength tensor as (cgs units):

$$mcrac{du^lpha}{d au}=~F^{lphaeta}qu_eta$$

where m is the particle mass, q is the charge, and

$$u_eta=\eta_{etalpha}u^lpha=\eta_{etalpha}rac{dx^lpha}{d au}$$

is the 4-velocity of the particle. Here, τ is c times the proper time of the particle and η is the Minkowski metric tensor.

The field strength tensor is written in terms of fields as:

$$F^{\alpha\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & E_x & E_y & E_z \\ -E_x & 0 & cB_z & -cB_y \\ -E_y & -cB_z & 0 & cB_x \\ -E_z & cB_y & -cB_x & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Alternatively, using the four vector:

$$A^{\alpha} = (\phi/c, A_x, A_y, A_z) ,$$

related to the electric and magnetic fields by:

$$\mathbf{E} = -\nabla \phi - \partial_t \mathbf{A} \ \mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A} \ ,$$

the field tensor becomes:^[11]

$$F^{lphaeta} = rac{\partial A^eta}{\partial x_lpha} - rac{\partial A^lpha}{\partial x_eta} \; ,$$

where:

$$x_lpha=(-ct,\ x,\ y,\ z)$$
 .

The fields are transformed to a frame moving with constant relative velocity by:

$$\acute{F}^{\mu\nu} = \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}\Lambda^{\nu}{}_{\beta}F^{\alpha\beta}$$

where $\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}$ is a Lorentz transformation.

In the magnet/conductor problem this gives

$$\mathbf{E}' = \gamma \frac{\mathbf{v}}{c} \times \mathbf{B},$$

which agrees with the traditional transformation when one takes into account the difference between SI and cgs units. Thus, the relativistic modification to Newton's law of motion using the traditional Lorentz force yields predictions for the motion of particles that are consistent in all frames of reference with Maxwell's equations.

References and notes

- [1] The Laws of Physics are the same in all inertial frames.
- [2] http://www.fourmilab.ch/etexts/einstein/specrel/www/
- [3] There are *two* constituents of electric field: a solenoidal field (or *incompressible field*) and a conservative field (or *irrotational field*). The first is transformable to a magnetic field by changing the frame of reference, the second originates in electric charge, and transforms always into an electric field, albeit of different magnitude.
- [4] The symbol c_0 represents the speed of light in free space.
- [5] However, φ and A are not completely disentangled, so the two types of E-field are not separated completely. See Jackson From Lorenz to Coulomb and other explicit gauge transformations (http://arxiv.org/abs/physics/0204034) The author stresses that Lorenz is not a typo..
- [6] Roger Penrose (Martin Gardner: foreword) (1999). The Emperor's New Mind: Concerning Computers, Minds, and the Laws of Physics (http://books.google.com/books?id=oI0grArWHUMC&pg=PA248&dq=reference+"laws+of+physics"). Oxford University Press. p. 248. ISBN 0192861980.
- [7] See Jackson, Classical Electrodynamics, Section 5.15.
- [8] This expression can be thought of as an assumption based on our experience with magnets, that their fields are independent of their velocity. At relativistic velocities, or in the presence of an electric field in the magnet frame, this equation would not be correct.
- [9] Tai L. Chow (2006). Electromagnetic theory (http://books.google.com/books?id=dpnpMhw1zo8C&pg=PA153&dq=isbn=0763738271& sig=PgEEBA6TQEZ5fD_AhJQ8dd7MGHo#PPA368,M1). Sudbury MA: Jones and Bartlett. Chapter 10.21; p. 402–403 ff. ISBN 0-7637-3827-1.
- [10] Tai L. Chow (2006). Electromagnetic theory (http://books.google.com/books?id=dpnpMhw1zo8C&pg=PA153& dq=isbn=0763738271#PPA368,M1). Sudbury MA: Jones and Bartlett. Chapter 10.5; p. 368 ff. ISBN 0-7637-3827-1.
- [11] DJ Griffiths (1999). Introduction to electrodynamics. Saddle River NJ: Pearson/Addison-Wesley. p. 541. ISBN 0-13-805326-X.

External links

 Magnets and conductors in special relativity (http://www.physics.ucla.edu/demoweb/demomanual/ modern_physics/special_relativity/special_relativity.html)

Further reading

[1] Einstein, A. (1961). Relativity: The Special and General Theory. New York: Crown. ISBN 0-517-02961-8.

[2] Misner, Charles; Thorne, Kip S. & Wheeler, John Archibald (1973). *Gravitation*. San Francisco: W. H. Freeman. ISBN 0-7167-0344-0.

[3] Landau, L. D. and Lifshitz, E. M. (1975). *Classical Theory of Fields (Fourth Revised English Edition)*. Oxford: Pergamon. ISBN 0-08-018176-7.

[4] Jackson, John D. (1998). Classical Electrodynamics (3rd ed.). Wiley. ISBN 0-471-30932-X.

[5] C Møller (1976). *The Theory of Relativity* (http://worldcat.org/oclc/220221617&referer=brief_results) (Second Edition ed.). Oxford UK: Oxford University Press. ISBN 019560539X.

Luminiferous aether

In the late 19th century, **luminiferous aether** or **ether**, meaning light-bearing aether, was the term used to describe a medium for the propagation of light.^[1]

Due to the negative outcome of aether-drift experiments like the Michelson-Morley experiment, the aether as a mechanical medium having a state of motion, is not used anymore in modern physics, and is replaced by the theory of relativity and quantum theory.

The history of light and aether

Luminiferous Ether Earth (spring) **Sun Earth** (fall) The luminiferous acther: it was hypothesised that the Earth moves through a "medium" of aether that carries light

To Robert Boyle in the 17th century, a little before Isaac Newton, the aether

was a probable hypothesis and consisted of subtle particles, one sort of which explained the absence of vacuum and the mechanical interactions between bodies, and the other sort of which explained phenomenon such as magnetism (and possibly gravity) that were inexplicable based on the purely mechanical interactions of macroscopic bodies:

...though in the ether of the ancients there was nothing taken notice of but a diffused and very subtle substance; yet we are at present content to allow that there is always in the air a swarm of steams moving in a determinate course between the north pole and the south.^[2]

Isaac Newton contended that light was made up of numerous small particles. This could explain such features as light's ability to travel in straight lines and reflect off surfaces. This theory was known to have its problems: although it explained reflection well, its explanation of refraction and diffraction was less satisfactory. In order to explain refraction, Newton's *Opticks* (1704) postulated an "Aethereal Medium" transmitting vibrations *faster* than light, by which light, when overtaken, is put into "Fits of easy Reflexion and easy Transmission", which caused refraction and diffraction. Newton believed that these vibrations were related to heat radiation:

Is not the Heat of the warm Room convey'd through the vacuum by the Vibrations of a much subtiler Medium than Air, which after the Air was drawn out remained in the Vacuum? And is not this Medium the same with that Medium by which Light is refracted and reflected, and by whose Vibrations Light communicates Heat to Bodies, and is put into Fits of easy Reflexion and easy Transmission?^[3]

The modern understanding is that heat radiation *is*, like light, electromagnetic radiation. However, Newton considered them to be two different phenomena. He believed heat vibrations to be excited "when a Ray of Light falls upon the Surface of any pellucid Body". He wrote, "I do not know what this Aether is", but that if it consists of particles then they must be "exceedingly smaller than those of Air, or even than those of Light: The exceeding smallness of its Particles may contribute to the greatness of the force by which those Particles may recede from one another, and thereby make that Medium exceedingly more rare and elastic than Air, and by consequence exceedingly less able to resist the motions of Projectiles, and exceedingly more able to press upon gross Bodies, by endeavoring to expand itself."

Christiaan Huygens, prior to Newton, had hypothesized that light was a wave propagating through an aether, but Newton rejected this idea. The main reason for his rejection stemmed from the fact that both men could apparently only envision light to be a longitudinal wave, like sound and other mechanical waves in fluids. However, longitudinal waves by necessity have only one form for a given propagation direction, rather than two polarizations as in a transverse wave, and thus they were unable to explain the phenomenon of birefringence, where two polarizations of light are refracted differently by a crystal. Instead, Newton preferred to imagine non-spherical particles, or "corpuscles", of light with different "sides" that give rise to birefringence. A further reason why Newton rejected light as waves in a medium was because such a medium would have to extend everywhere in space, and would thereby "disturb and retard the Motions of those great Bodies" (the planets and comets) and thus "as it [light's medium] is of no use, and hinders the Operation of Nature, and makes her languish, so there is no evidence for its Existence, and therefore it ought to be rejected."

In 1720 James Bradley carried out a series of experiments attempting to measure stellar parallax. Although he failed to detect any parallax, thereby placing a lower limit on the distance to stars, he discovered another effect, stellar aberration, an effect which depends not on position (as in parallax), but on speed. He noticed that the apparent position of the star changed as the Earth moved around its orbit. Bradley explained this effect in the context of Newton's corpuscular theory of light, by showing that the aberration angle was given by simple vector addition of the Earth's orbital velocity and the velocity of the corpuscles of light, just as vertically falling raindrops strike a moving object at an angle. Knowing the Earth's velocity and the aberration angle, this enabled him to estimate the speed of light. To explain stellar aberration in the context of an aether-based theory of light was regarded as more problematic, because it requires that the aether be stationary even as the Earth moves through it—precisely the problem that led Newton to reject a wave model in the first place.

However, a century later, Young and Fresnel revived the wave theory of light when they pointed out that light could be a transverse wave rather than a longitudinal wave—the polarization of a transverse wave (like Newton's "sides" of light) could explain birefringence, and in the wake of a series of experiments on diffraction the particle model of Newton was finally abandoned. Physicists still assumed, however, that like mechanical waves, light waves required a medium for propagation, and thus required Huygens's idea of an aether "gas" permeating all space.

However, a transverse wave apparently required the propagating medium to behave as a solid, as opposed to a gas or fluid. The idea of a solid that did not interact with other matter seemed a bit odd , and Augustin-Louis Cauchy suggested that perhaps there was some sort of "dragging", or "entrainment", but this made the aberration measurements difficult to understand. He also suggested that the *absence* of longitudinal waves suggested that the aether had negative compressibility. George Green pointed out that such a fluid would be unstable. George Gabriel Stokes became a champion of the entrainment interpretation, developing a model in which the aether might be (by analogy with pine pitch) rigid at very high frequencies and fluid at lower speeds. Thus the Earth could move through it fairly freely, but it would be rigid enough to support light.

Later, Maxwell's equations showed that light is an electromagnetic wave. The apparent need for a propagation medium for such Hertzian waves can be seen by the fact that they consist of perpendicular electric (E) and magnetic (B or H) waves. The E waves consist of undulating dipolar electric fields, and all such dipoles appeared to require separated and opposite electric charges. Electric charge is an inextricable property of matter, so it appeared that some form of matter was required to provide the alternating current that would seem to have to exist at any point along the propagation path of the wave. Propagation of waves in a true vacuum would imply the existence of electric fields without associated electric charge, or of electric charge without associated matter. Albeit compatible with Maxwell's equations, electromagnetic induction of electric fields could not be demonstrated in vacuum, because all methods of detecting electric fields required electrically charged matter.

In addition, Maxwell's equations required that all electromagnetic waves in vacuum propagate at a fixed speed, *c*. As this can only occur in one reference frame in Newtonian physics (see Galilean-Newtonian relativity), the aether was hypothesized as the absolute and unique frame of reference in which Maxwell's equations hold. That is, the aether

must be "still" universally, otherwise c would vary along with any variations that might occur in its supportive medium. Maxwell himself proposed several mechanical models of aether based on wheels and gears, and George FitzGerald even constructed a working model of one of them. These models had to agree with the fact that the electromagnetic waves are transverse but never longitudinal.

Nevertheless, by this point the mechanical qualities of the aether had become more and more magical: it had to be a fluid in order to fill space, but one that was millions of times more rigid than steel in order to support the high frequencies of light waves. It also had to be massless and without viscosity, otherwise it would visibly affect the orbits of planets. Additionally it appeared it had to be completely transparent, non-dispersive, incompressible, and continuous at a very small scale. Maxwell wrote in *Encyclopædia Britannica*.^[4]

Aethers were invented for the planets to swim in, to constitute electric atmospheres and magnetic effluvia, to convey sensations from one part of our bodies to another, and so on, until all space had been filled three or four times over with aethers.... The only aether which has survived is that which was invented by Huygens to explain the propagation of light.

Contemporary scientists were aware of the problems, but aether theory was so entrenched in physical law by this point that it was simply assumed to exist. In 1908 Oliver Lodge gave a speech in behalf of Lord Rayleigh ^[5] to the Royal Institution on this topic, in which he outlined its physical properties, and then attempted to offer reasons why they were not impossible. Nevertheless he was also aware of the criticisms, and quoted Lord Salisbury as saying that "aether is little more than a nominative case of the verb *to undulate*". Others criticized it as an "English invention", although Rayleigh jokingly corrected them to state it was actually an invention of the Royal Institution.

By the early 20th Century, aether theory was in trouble. A series of increasingly complex experiments had been carried out in the late 19th century to try to detect the motion of the Earth through the aether, and had failed to do so. A range of proposed aether-dragging theories could explain the null result but these were more complex, and tended to use arbitrary-looking coefficients and physical assumptions. Lorentz and Fitzgerald offered within the framework of Lorentz ether theory a more elegant solution to how the motion of an absolute aether could be undetectable (length contraction), but if their equations were correct, the new special theory of relativity (1905) could generate the same mathematics without referring to an aether at all. Aether fell to Occam's Razor.^[6] [7] [8] [9]

Maxwell's sea of molecular vortices and the indirect experimental determination of the speed of light

In 1856 Wilhelm Eduard Weber and Rudolf Kohlrausch performed an experiment to measure the numerical value of the ratio of the electromagnetic unit of charge to the electrostatic unit of charge. The result came out to be equal to the product of the speed of light and the square root of two. The following year, Gustav Kirchhoff wrote a paper in which he showed that the speed of a signal along an electric wire was equal to the speed of light. These are the first recorded historical links between the speed of light and electromagnetic phenomena. Meanwhile, James Clerk Maxwell was working on Faraday's lines of force. In his 1861 paper On Physical Lines of Force he modelled these magnetic lines of force using a sea of molecular vortices that he considered to be partly made of aether and partly made of ordinary matter. He derived expressions for the dielectric constant and the magnetic permeability in terms of the transverse elasticity and the density of this elastic medium. He then equated the ratio of the dielectric constant to the magnetic permeability with a suitably adapted version of Weber and Kohlrausch's result of 1856, and he substituted this result into Newton's equation for the speed of sound. On obtaining a value that was close to the speed of light as measured by Fizeau, Maxwell concluded that light consists in undulations of the same medium that is the cause of electric and magnetic phenomena.^[6] ^[7] ^[8] ^[9] Maxwell had however expressed some uncertainties surrounding the precise nature of his molecular vortices and so he began to embark on a purely dynamical approach to the problem. He wrote another famous paper in 1864 under the title of A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field in which the details of the luminiferous medium were less explicit.^[10] Although Maxwell did not explicitly mention the sea of molecular vortices, his derivation of Ampère's circuital law was carried over from

the 1861 paper and he used a dynamical approach involving rotational motion within the electromagnetic field which he likened to the action of flywheels. Using this approach to justify the electromotive force equation (the precursor of the Lorentz force equation), he derived a wave equation from a set of eight equations which appeared in the paper and which included the electromative force equation and Ampère's circuital law.^[10] Maxwell once again used the experimental results of Wilhelm Eduard Weber and Rudolf Kohlrausch to show that this wave equation represented an electromagnetic wave that propagates at the speed of light, hence supporting the view that light is a form of electromagnetic radiation.

Relative motion between the Earth and aether

Aether drag

The two most important models, which were aimed to describe the relative motion of the Earth and aether, were Augustin-Jean Fresnel's (1818) model of the (nearly) stationary aether including a partial aether drag determined by Fresnel's dragging coefficient,^[11] and George Gabriel Stokes' $(1844)^{[12]}$ model of complete aether drag. The latter theory was not considered as correct, since it was not compatible to the aberration of light, and the auxiliary hypotheses developed to explain this problem, was not convincing. Also, subsequent experiments as the Sagnac effect (1913) also showed that is model is untenable. However, the most important experiment supporting Fresnel's theory, was Fizeau's 1851 experimental confirmation of Fresnel's 1818 prediction that a medium with refractive index *n* moving with a velocity *v* would increase the speed of light traveling through the medium in the same direction as *v* from *c/n* to:^[13] [14]

$$\frac{c}{n} + \left(1 - \frac{1}{n^2}\right)v.$$

That is, movement adds only a fraction of the medium's velocity to the light (predicted by Fresnel in order to make Snell's law work in all frames of reference, consistent with stellar aberration). This was initially interpreted to mean that the medium drags the aether along, with a *portion* of the medium's velocity, but that understanding became very problematic after Wilhelm Veltmann demonstrated that the index n in Fresnel's formula depended upon the wavelength of light, so that the aether could not be moving at a wavelength-independent speed. This implied that there must be a separate aether for each of the infinitely many frequencies.

Negative aether-drift experiments

The key difficulty with Fresnel's aether hypothesis arose from the juxtaposition of the two well-established theories of Newtonian dynamics and Maxwell's electromagnetism. Under a Galilean transformation the equations of Newtonian dynamics are invariant, whereas those of electromagnetism are not. Basically this means that while physics should remain the same in non-accelerated experiments, light would not follow the same rules because it is traveling in the universal "aether frame". Some effect caused by this difference should be detectable.

A simple example concerns the model on which aether was originally built: sound. The speed of propagation for mechanical waves, the speed of sound, is defined by the mechanical properties of the medium. For instance, if one is in an airliner, you can still carry on a conversation with the person beside you because the sound of your words are traveling along with the air inside the aircraft. This effect is basic to all Newtonian dynamics, which says that everything from sound to the trajectory of a thrown baseball should all remain the same in the aircraft as sitting still on the Earth. This is the basis of the Galilean transformation, and the concept of frame of reference.

But the same was not true for light, since Maxwell's mathematics demanded a single universal speed for the propagation of light, based, not on local conditions, but on two measured properties, the permittivity and permeability of free space, that were assumed to be the same throughout the universe. If these numbers did change, there should be noticeable effects in the sky; stars in different directions would have different colors, for instance.

Thus at any point there should be one special coordinate system, "at rest relative to the aether". Maxwell noted in the late 1870s that detecting motion relative to this aether should be easy enough—light traveling along with the motion of the Earth would have a different speed than light traveling backward, as they would both be moving against the unmoving aether. Even if the aether had an overall universal flow, changes in position during the day/night cycle, or over the span of seasons, should allow the drift to be detected.

First order experiments

Although the aether is almost stationary according to Fresnel, his theory predicts a positive outcome of aether drift experiments only to *second* order in v/c, while Fresnel's dragging coefficient would cause a negative outcome of all optical experiments capable of measuring effects to *first* order in v/c. This was confirmed by the following first-order experiments, which all gave negative results (the following list is based on the description of Wilhelm Wien (1898), with changes and additional experiments according to the descriptions of Edmund Taylor Whittaker (1910) and Jakob Laub (1910):^{[15] [6] [16]}

- The experiment of François Arago (1810), to confirm whether refraction, and thus the aberration of light, is influenced by Earth's motion. Similar experiments were conducted by George Biddell Airy (1871) by means of a telescope filled with water, and Éleuthère Mascart (1872).^[17] [18] [19]
- The experiment of Fizeau (1860), to find whether the rotation of the polarization plane through glass columns is changed by Earth's motion. He obtained a positive result, but Lorentz could show that the results have been contradictory. DeWitt Bristol Brace (1905) and Straßer (1907) repeated the experiment with improved accuracy, and obtained negative results.^[20] [21] [22]
- The experiment of Martin Hoek (1868). This experiment is a more precise variation of the famous Fizeau experiment (1851). Two light rays were sent in opposite directions one of them traverses a path filled with resting water, the other one follows a path through air. In agreement with Fresnel's dragging coefficient, he obtained a negative result.^[23]
- The experiment of Wilhelm Klinkerfues (1870) investigated, whether an influence of Earth's motion on the absorption line of sodium exists. He obtained a positive result, but this was shown to be an experimental error, because a repetition of the experiment by Haga (1901) gave a negative result.^[24] [25]
- The experiment of Ketteler (1872), in which two rays of an interferometer were sent in opposite directions through two mutually inclined tubes filled with water. No change of the interference fringes occurred. Later, Mascart (1872) showed that the interference fringes of polarized light in calcite remained uninfluenced as well.^[26]
- The experiment of Éleuthère Mascart (1872) to find a change of rotation of the polarization plane in quartz. No change of rotation was found when the light rays had the direction of Earth's motion, and then the opposite direction. Lord Rayleigh conducted similar experiments with improved accuracy, and obtained a negative result as well.^[19] ^[27] ^[28]

Besides those optical experiments, also electrodynamic first-order experiments were conducted, which should lead to positive results according to Fresnel. However, Hendrik Antoon Lorentz (1895) modified Fresnel's theory and showed that those experiments can be explained by a stationary aether as well:^[29]

- The experiment of Wilhelm Röntgen (1888), to find whether a charged condenser produces magnetic forces due to Earth's motion.^[30]
- The experiment of Theodor des Coudres (1889), to find whether the inductive effect of two wire rolls upon a third one, is influenced by the direction of Earth's motion. Lorentz showed, that this effect is canceled to first order by the electrostatic charge (produced by Earth's motion) upon the conductors.^[31]
- The experiment of Königsberger (1905). The plates of a condenser are located in the field of a strong electromagnet. Due to Earth's motion, the plates shall be charged. No such effect was observed.^[32]

• The experiment of Frederick Thomas Trouton (1902). A condenser was brought parallel to Earth's motion and it was assumed, that momentum is produced when the condenser is charged. The negative result can be explained by Lorentz's theory, according to which the electromagnetic momentum compensates the momentum due to Earth's motion. Lorentz could also show, that the sensibility of the apparatus was much too low to observe such an effect.^[33]

Second order experiments

While the *first*-order experiments could be explained by a modified stationary aether, more precise *second*-order experiments should bring positive results, however, no such results could be found.

The famous Michelson-Morley experiment compared the source light with itself after being sent in different directions, looking for changes in phase in a manner that could be measured with extremely high accuracy.^[34] ^[35] The publication of their result in 1887, the null result, was the first clear demonstration that something was seriously wrong with the aether concept of that time (after Michelson's first experiment in 1881 that wasn't fully conclusive). In this case the MM experiment yielded a shift of the fringing pattern of about 0.01 of a fringe, corresponding to a small velocity. However, it was incompatible with the expected aether wind effect due to the Earth's (seasonally varying) velocity which would have required a shift of 0.4 of a fringe, and the



error was small enough that the value may have indeed been zero. Therefore, the null hypothesis, the hypothesis that there was no aether wind, could not be rejected. More modern experiments have since reduced the possible value to a number very close to zero, about 10^{-17} .

A series of experiments using similar but increasingly sophisticated apparatuses all returned the null result as well. Conceptually different experiments that also attempted to detect the motion of the aether were the Trouton-Noble experiment (1903)^[36] and the Experiments of Rayleigh and Brace (1902, 1904)^{[37] [38]} to detect double refraction, which like Michelson-Morley (MM) obtained a null result.

These "aether-wind" experiments led to the abandonment of the aether concept by some scientists like Emil Cohn or Alfred Bucherer, and to a flurry of efforts to "save" aether by assigning it ever more complex properties by others. Of particular interest was the possibility of "aether entrainment" or "aether drag", which would lower the magnitude of the measurement, perhaps enough to explain MMX results. However, as noted earlier, aether dragging already had problems of its own, notably aberration. In addition, the interference experiments of Lodge (1893, 1897) and Ludwig Zehnder (1895), aimed to show whether the aether is dragged by various, rotating masses, showed no aether drag.^[39] [^{40]} [^{41]} A more precise measurement was made in the Hammar experiment (1935), which ran a complete MM experiment with one of the "legs" placed between two massive lead blocks.^[42] If the aether was dragged by mass then this experiment would have been able to detect the drag caused by the lead, but again the null result was found. The theory was again modified, this time to suggest that the entrainment only worked for very large masses or those masses with large magnetic fields. This too was shown to be incorrect by the Michelson–Gale–Pearson experiment, which detected the Sagnac effect due to Earth's rotation (s. Aether drag hypothesis)

Another, completely different, attempt to save "absolute" aether was made in the Lorentz-Fitzgerald contraction hypothesis, which posited that *everything* was affected by travel through the aether. In this theory the reason the Michelson-Morley experiment "failed" was that the apparatus contracted in length in the direction of travel. That is, the light was being affected in the "natural" manner by its travel though the aether as predicted, but so was the apparatus itself, canceling out any difference when measured. Fitzgerald had inferred this hypothesis from a paper by Oliver Heaviside. Without referral to an aether, this physical interpretation of relativistic effects was shared by

Kennedy and Thorndike in 1932 as they concluded that the interferometer's arm contracts and also the frequency of its light source "very nearly" varies in the way required by relativity.^[43]

Similarly the Sagnac effect, observed by G. Sagnac in 1913 was immediately seen to be fully consistent with special relativity.^[45] ^[46] In fact, the Michelson-Gale-Pearson experiment in 1925 was proposed specifically as a test to confirm the relativity theory, although it was also recognized that such tests, which merely measure absolute rotation, are also consistent with non-relativistic theories.^[47]

During the 1920s, the experiments pioneered by Michelson were repeated by Dayton Miller, who publicly proclaimed positive results on several occasions, although not large enough to be consistent with any known aether theory. In any case, other researchers were unable to duplicate Miller's claimed results, and in subsequent years the experimental accuracy of such measurements has been raised by many orders of magnitude, and no trace of any violations of Lorentz invariance has been seen. (A later re-analysis of Miller's results concluded that he had underestimated the variations due to temperature.)

Since the Miller experiment and its unclear results there have been many more experiments to detect the aether. Many of the experimenters have claimed positive results. These results have not gained much attention from mainstream science, since they are in contradiction to a large quantity of high-precision measurements, all of them confirming special relativity.^[48]

Lorentz aether theory

Between 1892 and 1904, Hendrik Lorentz created an electron/aether theory, in which he introduced a strict separation between matter (electrons) and aether. In his model the aether is completely motionless, and it won't be set in motion in the neighborhood of ponderable matter. Contrary to other electron models before, the electromagnetic field of the aether appears as a mediator between the electrons, and changes in this field can propagate not faster than the speed of light. A fundamental concept of Lorentz's theory in 1895 was the "theorem of corresponding states" for terms of order v/c. This theorem states that a moving observer (relative to the aether) in his "fictitious" field makes the same observations as a resting observers in his "real" field. Lorentz noticed that it was necessary to change the space-time variables when changing frames and introduced concepts like physical length contraction (1892)^[49] to explain the Michelson-Morley experiment, and the mathematical concept of local time (1895) to explain the aberration of light and the Fizeau experiment. That resulted in the formulation of the so called Lorentz transformation by Joseph Larmor (1897, 1900)^{[50] [51]} and Lorentz (1899, 1904),^{[29] [52]} whereby it was noted by Larmor that the complete formulation of local time is accompanied by some sort of time dilation of moving electrons in the aether.^{[53] [8] [54]}

The work of Lorentz was mathematically perfected by Henri Poincaré who formulated on many occasions the Principle of Relativity and tried to harmonize it with electrodynamics. He declared simultaneity only a convenient convention which depends on the speed of light, whereby the constancy of the speed of light would be a useful postulate for making the laws of nature as simple as possible. In 1900 and 1904^{[55] [56]} he interpreted Lorentz's local time as the result of clock synchronization by light signals. And finally in June and July 1905^{[57] [58]} he declared the relativity principle a general law of nature, including gravitation. He corrected some mistakes of Lorentz and proved the Lorentz covariance of the electromagnetic equations. However, he used the notion of an aether as a perfectly undetectable medium and distinguished between apparent and real time, so most historians of science argue that he failed to invent special relativity.^{[53] [59] [8]}

End of aether?

Special relativity

Aether theory was dealt another blow when the Galilean transformation and Newtonian dynamics were both modified by Albert Einstein's special theory of relativity, giving the mathematics of Lorentzian electrodynamics a new, "non-aether" context.^[60] Unlike most major shifts in scientific thought, special relativity was adopted by the scientific community remarkably quickly, consistent with Einstein's later comment that the laws of physics described by the Special Theory were "ripe for discovery" in 1905.^[61] Max Planck's early advocacy of the special theory, along with the elegant formulation given to it by Minkowski, contributed much to the rapid acceptance of special relativity among working scientists.

Einstein based his theory on Lorentz's earlier work. Instead of suggesting that the mechanical properties of objects changed with their constant-velocity motion through an undetectable aether, Einstein proposed to deduce the characteristics that any successful theory must possess in order to be consistent with the most basic and firmly established principles, independent of the existence of a hypothetical aether. He found that the Lorentz transformation must transcend its connection with Maxwell's equations, and must represent the fundamental relations between the space and time coordinates of inertial frames of reference. In this way he demonstrated that the laws of physics remained invariant as they had with the Galilean transformation, but that light was now invariant as well.

With the development of the special relativity, the need to account for a single universal frame of reference had disappeared — and acceptance of the 19th century theory of a luminiferous aether disappeared with it. For Einstein, the Lorentz transformation implied a conceptual change: that the concept of position in space or time was not absolute, but could differ depending on the observer's location and velocity.

Moreover, in another paper published the same month in 1905, Einstein made several observations on a then-thorny problem, the photoelectric effect. In this work he demonstrated that light can be considered as particles that have a "wave-like nature". Particles obviously do not need a medium to travel, and thus, neither did light. This was the first step that would lead to the full development of quantum mechanics, in which the wave-like nature *and* the particle-like nature of light are both considered to be descriptions of the same thing. A summary of Einstein's thinking about the aether hypothesis, relativity and light quanta may be found in his 1909 (originally German) lecture "The Development of Our Views on the Composition and Essence of Radiation".^[62]

Lorentz on his side continued to use the aether concept. In his lectures of around 1911 he pointed out that what "the theory of relativity has to say ... can be carried out independently of what one thinks of the aether and the time". He commented that "whether there is an aether or not, electromagnetic fields certainly exist, and so also does the energy of the electrical oscillations" so that, "if we do not like the name of "aether", we must use another word as a peg to hang all these things upon." He concluded that "one cannot deny the bearer of these concepts a certain substantiality".^{[63] [53]}

In later years there have been a few individuals who advocated a neo-Lorentzian approach to physics, which is Lorentzian in the sense of positing an absolute true state of rest that is undetectable and which plays no role in the predictions of the theory. (No violations of Lorentz covariance have ever been detected, despite strenuous efforts.) Hence these theories resemble the 19th century aether theories in name only. For example, the founder of quantum field theory, Paul Dirac, stated in 1951 in an article in Nature, titled "Is there an Aether?" that "we are rather forced to have an aether".^[64] ^[65] However, Dirac never formulated a complete theory, and so his speculations found no acceptance by the scientific community.

Einstein's views on the aether

In 1916, after Einstein completed his foundational work on general relativity, Lorentz wrote a letter to him in which he speculated that within general relativity the aether was re-introduced. In his response Einstein wrote that one can actually speak about a "new aether", but one may not speak of motion in relation to that aether. This was further elaborated by Einstein in some semi-popular articles (1918, 1920, 1924, 1930).^[66] [67] [68] [69] [70] [71] [72]

In 1918 Einstein publicly alluded to that new definition for the first time.^[66] Then, in the early 1920s, in a lecture which he was invited to give at Lorentz's university in Leiden, Einstein sought to reconcile the theory of relativity with his mentor's cherished concept of the aether. In this lecture Einstein stressed that special relativity took away the last mechanical property of Lorentz's aether: immobility. However, he continued that special relativity does not necessarily rule out the aether, because the latter can be used to give physical reality to acceleration and rotation. This concept was fully elaborated within general relativity, in which physical properties (which are partially determined by matter) are attributed to space, but no substance or state of motion can be attributed to that "aether" (aether = curved space-time).^{[72] [67] [73]}

In another paper of 1924, named "Concerning the Aether", Einstein argued that Newton's absolute space, in which acceleration is absolute, is the "Aether of Mechanics". And within the electromagnetic theory of Maxwell and Lorentz one can speak of the "Aether of Electrodynamics", in which the aether possesses an absolute state of motion. As regards special relativity, also in this theory acceleration is absolute as in Newton's mechanics. However, the difference from the electromagnetic aether of Maxwell and Lorentz lies in the fact, that "*because it was no longer possible to speak, in any absolute sense, of simultaneous states at different locations in the aether, the aether became, as it were, four dimensional, since there was no objective way of ordering its states by time alone.*". Now the "aether of special relativity" is still "absolute", because matter is affected by the properties of the aether, but the aether is not affected by the presence of matter. This asymmetry was solved within general relativity. Einstein explained that the "aether of general relativity" is not absolute, because matter is influenced by the aether, just as matter influences the structure of the aether.^[68]

So the only similarity of this relativistic aether concept with the classical aether models lies in the presence of physical properties in space. Therefore, as historians such as John Stachel argue, Einstein's views on the "new aether" are not in conflict with his abandonment of the aether in 1905. For, as Einstein himself pointed out, no "substance" and no state of motion can be attributed to that new aether. In addition, Einstein's use of the word "aether" found little support in the scientific community, and played no role in the continuing development of modern physics.^[70] [71] [72]

Aether concepts

- Aether theories
- Aether (classical element)
- Aether drag hypothesis

Notes

- [1] The 19th century science book A Guide to the Scientific Knowledge of Things Familiar provides a brief summary of scientific thinking in this field at the time.
- [2] Robert Boyle, The Works of the Honourable Robert Boyle, ed. Thomas Birch, 2nd edn., 6 vols. (London, 1772), III, 316; quoted in E.A. Burtt, The Metaphysical Foundations of Modern Science (Garden City, NY: Doubleday & Company, 1954), 191-192.
- [3] Newton, Isaac: Opticks (http://books.google.ca/books?id=XXu4AkRVBBoC&printsec=toc&dq=opticks+newton#PPP1,M1) (1704). Fourth edition of 1730. (Republished 1952 (Dover: New York), with commentary by Bernard Cohen, Albert Einstein, and Edmund Whittaker).
- [4] Maxwell, James Clerk (1878), "Ether", Encyclopædia Britannica Ninth Edition 8: 568-572
- [5] http://www.keelynet.com/osborn/rey7.htm

- [6] Whittaker, Edmund Taylor (1910), A History of the theories of aether and electricity (http://www.archive.org/details/ historyoftheorie00whitrich) (1 ed.), Dublin: Longman, Green and Co.,
- [7] Jannsen, Michel & Stachel, John (2008), The Optics and Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies (http://www.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/Preprints/ P265.PDF),
- [8] Darrigol, Olivier (2000), Electrodynamics from Ampére to Einstein, Oxford: Clarendon Press, ISBN 0198505949
- [9] Schaffner, Kenneth F. (1972), Nineteenth-century aether theories, Oxford: Pergamon Press, ISBN 0-08-015674-6
- [10] Maxwell, JC (1865). "A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field (Part 1)" (http://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/ 19/A_Dynamical_Theory_of_the_Electromagnetic_Field.pdf).
- [11] Fresnel, A. (1818). "Lettre d'Augustin Fresnel à François Arago sur l'influence du mouvement terrestre dans quelques phénomènes d'optique". Annales de chimie et de physique: 57–66.
- [12] G. G. Stokes (1845). "On the Aberration of Light". *Philosophical Magazine* 27: 9–15.
- [13] Fizeau, H. (1859/1971)). "Hypotheses on luminous ether". Ann. de Chim. et de Phys. 57: 385-404.
- [14] Michelson, A. A. and Morley, E.W. (1886). "Influence of Motion of the Medium on the Velocity of Light". Am. J. Science 31: 377–386.
- [15] Wien, Wilhelm (1898). "Über die Fragen, welche die translatorische Bewegung des Lichtäthers betreffen (Referat für die 70. Versammlung deutsche Naturforscher und Aerzte in Düsseldorf, 1898)". Annalen der Physik (Beilage) 301 (3): I-XVIII.
- [16] Laub, Jakob (1910). "Über die experimentellen Grundlagen des Relativitätsprinzips". Jahrbuch der Radioaktivität und Elektronik 7: 405–463.
- [17] Arago, A. (1810/1853). "Mémoire sur la vitesse de la lumière, lu à la prémière classe de l'Institut, le 10 décembre 1810". Comptes Rendus de l'Académie des Sciences: 38–49.
- [18] Airy, G.B. (1871). "On the Supposed Alteration in the Amount of Astronomical Aberration of Light, Produced by the Passage of the Light through a Considerable Thickness of Refracting Medium" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k56114d/f79). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London 20: 35–39. Bibcode 1871RSPS...20...35A.
- [19] Mascart, E. (1872). "Sur les modifications qu'éprouve la lumière par suite du mouvement de la source lumineuse et du mouvement de l'observateur" (http://www.numdam.org/item?id=ASENS_1872_2_1__157_0). Annales scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure, Sér. 2 1: 157–214.
- [20] Fizeau, H. (1861). "Ueber eine Methode, zu untersuchen, ob das Polarisationsazimut eines gebrochenen Strahls durch die Bewegung des brechenden Körpers geändert werde" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k15199j/f572). Annalen der Physik 190 (12): 554–587. Bibcode 1861AnP...190..554F. doi:10.1002/andp.18621901204.
- [21] Brace, D.B. (1905). "The Aether "Drift" and Rotary Polarization". Philosophical Magazine 10: 383-396.
- [22] Strasser, B. (1907). "Der Fizeausche Versuch über die Änderung des Polarisationsazimuts eines gebrochenen Strahles durch die Bewegung der Erde" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k15331g/f143). Annalen der Physik **329** (11): 137–144. Bibcode 1907AnP...329..137S. doi:10.1002/andp.19073291109.
- [23] Hoek, M. (1868). "Determination de la vitesse avec laquelle est entrainée une onde lumineuse traversant un milieu en mouvement" (http:// www.archive.org/details/d2verslagenenmed02akad). Verslagen en mededeelingen 2: 189–194.
- [24] Klinkerfues, Ernst Friedrich Wilhelm (1870). "Versuche über die Bewegung der Erde und der Sonne im Aether" (http://adsabs.harvard. edu//abs/1870AN.....76...33K). Astronomische Nachrichten 76: 33. Bibcode 1870AN.....76...33K. doi:10.1002/asna.18700760302.
- [25] Haga, H. (1902). "Über den Klinkerfuesschen Versuch" (http://www.archive.org/details/physikalischeze00simogoog). Physikalische Zeitschrift 3: 191..
- [26] Ketteler, Ed. (1872). "Ueber den Einfluss der astronomischen Bewegungen auf die optischen Erscheinungen" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/ 12148/bpt6k152289/f121). Annalen der Physik 220 (9): 109–127. Bibcode 1871AnP...220..109K. doi:10.1002/andp.18712200906.
- [27] Mascart, E. (1874). "Sur les modifications qu'éprouve la lumière par suite du mouvement de la source lumineuse et du mouvement de l'observateur (deuxième partie)" (http://www.numdam.org/item?id=ASENS_1874_2_3_363_0). Annales scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure, Sér. 2 3: 363–420. .
- [28] Lord Rayleigh (1902). "Is Rotatory Polarization Influenced by the Earth's Motion?". Philosophical Magazine 4: 215.
- [29] Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1895), Versuch einer Theorie der electrischen und optischen Erscheinungen in bewegten Körpern, Leiden: E.J. Brill
- [30] Röntgen, W. (1888). "Über die durch Bewegung eines im homogenen elektrischen Felde befindlichen Dielektricums hervorgerufene elektrodynamische Kraft" (http://www.archive.org/details/sitzungsberichte1888deut). Berliner Sitzungsberichte 2. Halbband: 23–28.
- [31] Des Coudres, Th. (1889). "Ueber das Verhalten des Lichtäthers bei den Bewegungen der Erde" (http://www.archive.org/details/ annalenderphysi80unkngoog). Annalen der Physik 274 (9): 71–79. Bibcode 1889AnP...274...71D. doi:10.1002/andp.18892740908.
- [32] Königsberger, J. (1905). "Induktionswirkung im Dielektrikum und Bewegung des Aethers" (http://www.archive.org/details/ berichtedernatur131903natu). Berichte der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft zu Freiburg i. Br. 13: 95–100.
- [33] Trouton, F.T. (1902). "The results of an electrical experiment, involving the relative motion of the Earth and the Ether, Suggested by the Late Professor FitzGerald" (http://www.archive.org/details/scientifictransa27roya). Transactions of the Royal Dublin Society 7: 379–384.
- [34] Michelson, Albert Abraham (1881), "The Relative Motion of the Earth and the Luminiferous Ether", *American Journal of Science* 22: 120–129
- [35] Michelson, Albert Abraham & Morley, Edward Williams (1887), "On the Relative Motion of the Earth and the Luminiferous Ether", *American Journal of Science* 34: 333–345

- [36] Trouton, F. T.; Noble, H. R. (1903). "The Mechanical Forces Acting on a Charged Electric Condenser Moving through Space" (http:// gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k56007v/f199). *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series A* 202: 165–181. Bibcode 1904RSPTA.202..165T. doi:10.1098/rsta.1904.0005.
- [37] Lord Rayleigh (1902). "Does Motion through the Aether cause Double Refraction?". Philosophical Magazine 4: 678-683.
- [38] Brace, DeWitt Bristol (1904). "On Double Refraction in Matter moving through the Aether". *Philosophical Magazine* 7 (40): 317–329.
- [39] Lodge, Oliver J. (1893). "Aberration Problems" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k559898/f781). Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. A 184: 727–804. Bibcode 1893RSPTA.184..727L. doi:10.1098/rsta.1893.0015.
- [40] Lodge, Oliver J. (1897). "Experiments on the Absence of Mechanical Connexion between Ether and Matter". Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. A 189: 149–166.
- [41] Zehnder, L. (1895). "Ueber die Durchlässigkeit fester Körper für den Lichtäther" (http://www.archive.org/details/ annalenderphysi205unkngoog). Annalen der Physik 291 (5): 65–81. Bibcode 1895AnP...291...65Z. doi:10.1002/andp.18952910505.
- [42] G. W. Hammar (1935). "The Velocity of Light Within a Massive Enclosure". *Physical Review* 48 (5): 462–463.
 Bibcode 1935PhRv...48..462H. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.48.462.2.
- [43] Kennedy, R. J.; Thorndike, E. M. (1932). "Experimental Establishment of the Relativity of Time". *Physical Review* 42 (3): 400–418.
 Bibcode 1932PhRv...42..400K. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.42.400.
- [44] They commented in a footnote: "From [the Michelson-Morley] experiment it is not inferred that the velocity of the earth is but a few kilometers per second, but rather that the dimensions of the apparatus vary very nearly as required by relativity. From the present experiment we similarly infer that the frequency of light varies conformably to the theory."
- [45] Sagnac, Georges (1913). "The demonstration of the luminiferous aether by an interferometer in uniform rotation". *Comptes Rendus* 157: 708–710.
- [46] Sagnac, Georges (1913). "On the proof of the reality of the luminiferous aether by the experiment with a rotating interferometer". *Comptes Rendus* **157**: 1410–1413.
- [47] The confusion over this point can be seen in Sagnac's conclusion that "in the ambient space, light is propagated with a velocity V0, independent of the movement as a whole of the luminous source O and the optical system. That is a property of space which experimentally characterizes the luminiferous aether." The invariance of light speed, independent of the movement of the source, is also one of the two fundamental principles of special relativity.
- [48] Roberts, Schleif (2006); Physics FAQ: Experiments that Apparently are NOT Consistent with SR/GR (http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/ physics/Relativity/SR/experiments.html#Experiments_not_consistent_with_SS)
- [49] Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1892/1907), The Relative Motion of the Earth and the Aether, , Zittingsverslag Akad. V. Wet. 1: 74–79
- [50] Larmor, Joseph (1897), "On a Dynamical Theory of the Electric and Luminiferous Medium, Part 3, Relations with material media", *Philosophical transactions of the Royal society of London* 190: 205–300
- [51] Larmor, Joseph (1900), Aether and Matter, Cambridge University Press
- [52] Lorentz, Hendrik Antoon (1904), "Attempt of a Theory of Electrical and Optical Phenomena in Moving Bodies", Proceedings of the Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences 6: 809–831
- [53] Miller, Arthur I. (1981), Albert Einstein's special theory of relativity. Emergence (1905) and early interpretation (1905–1911), Reading: Addison–Wesley, ISBN 0-201-04679-2
- [54] Janssen, Michel & Mecklenburg, Matthew (2007), From classical to relativistic mechanics: Electromagnetic models of the electron (http:// www.tc.umn.edu/~janss011/), in V. F. Hendricks, et.al., , Interactions: Mathematics, Physics and Philosophy (Dordrecht: Springer): 65–134,
- [55] Poincaré, Henri (1900), "La théorie de Lorentz et le principe de réaction", Archives néerlandaises des sciences exactes et naturelles 5: 252–278. See also the English translation (http://www.physicsinsights.org/poincare-1900.pdf).
- [56] Poincaré, Henri (1904/1906), "The Principles of Mathematical Physics", in Rogers, Howard J., Congress of arts and science, universal exposition, St. Louis, 1904, 1, Boston and New York: Houghton, Mifflin and Company, pp. 604–622
- [57] Poincaré, Henri (1905), "On the Dynamics of the Electron", Comptes Rendus 140: 1504–1508 (Wikisource translation)
- [58] Poincaré, Henri (1905/6), "On the Dynamics of the Electron", *Rendiconti del Circolo matematico di Palermo* 21 (1): 129–176, doi:10.1007/BF03013466 (Wikisource translation)
- [59] Pais, Abraham (1982), Subtle is the Lord: The Science and the Life of Albert Einstein, New York: Oxford University Press, ISBN 0-19-520438-7
- [60] Einstein, Albert (1905a), "Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper", Annalen der Physik 322 (10): 891–921, Bibcode 1905AnP...322..891E, doi:10.1002/andp.19053221004. See also: English translation (http://www.fourmilab.ch/etexts/einstein/specrel/).
- [61] Born, M. (1956), *Physics in my generation* (http://www.archive.org/details/physucsinmygener006567mbp), London & New York: Pergamon Press,
- [62] Einstein, Albert: (1909) The Development of Our Views on the Composition and Essence of Radiation, Phys. Z., 10, 817-825. (review of aether theories, among other topics)
- [63] Lorentz wrote: "One cannot deny to the bearer of these properties a certain substantiality, and if so, then one may, in all modesty, call true time the time measured by clocks which are fixed in this medium, and consider simultaneity as a primary concept." However, he went on to say that this was based on his conception of "infinite velocity", which according to his own theory is not physically realizable. Lorentz also admitted that the postulate of an absolute but undetectable rest frame was purely metaphysical, and had no empirical consequences.

- [64] Dirac wrote about his theory: "We have now the velocity at all points of space-time, playing a fundamental part in electrodynamics. It is natural to regard it as the velocity of some real physical thing. Thus with the new theory of electrodynamics we are rather forced to have an aether".
- [65] Dirac, Paul: "Is there an Aether?", Nature 168 (1951), p. 906 (http://home.tiscali.nl/physis/HistoricPaper/Dirac/Dirac1951b.pdf)
- [66] A. Einstein (1918), "Dialog about Objections against the Theory of Relativity", *Naturwissenschaften* 6 (48): 697–702, Bibcode 1918NW.....6..697E, doi:10.1007/BF01495132
- [67] Einstein, Albert: "Ether and the Theory of Relativity" (1920), republished in *Sidelights on Relativity* (Methuen, London, 1922)
- [68] A. Einstein (1924), "Über den Äther", *Verhandlungen der Schweizerischen naturforschenden Gesellschaft* **105** (2): 85–93. See also an English translation: Concerning the Aether (http://www.oe.eclipse.co.uk/nom/aether.htm)
- [69] A. Einstein (1930), "Raum, Äther und Feld in der Physik", *Forum Philosophicum* 1: 173–180 manuscript online (http://www. alberteinstein.info/db/ViewImage.do?DocumentID=34095&Page=1)
- [70] Kostro, L. (1992), "An outline of the history of Einstein's relativistic ether concept", in Jean Eisenstaedt & Anne J. Kox, Studies in the history of general relativity, 3, Boston-Basel-Berlin: Birkäuser, pp. 260–280, ISBN 0817634797
- [71] Stachel, J. (2001), "Why Einstein reinvented the ether", Physics World: 55-56.
- [72] Kostro, L. (2001), "Albert Einstein's New Ether and his General Relativity" (http://www.mathem.pub.ro/proc/bsgp-10/0KOSTRO. PDF), *Proceedings of the Conference of Applied Differential Geometry*: 78–86, .
- [73] Einstein 1920: We may say that according to the general theory of relativity space is endowed with physical qualities; in this sense, therefore, there exists an aether. According to the general theory of relativity space without aether is unthinkable; for in such space there not only would be no propagation of light, but also no possibility of existence for standards of space and time (measuring-rods and clocks), nor therefore any space-time intervals in the physical sense. But this aether may not be thought of as endowed with the quality characteristic of ponderable media, as consisting of parts which may be tracked through time. The idea of motion may not be applied to it.

References

Primary sources

Experiments

Secondary sources

External links

- Decaen, Christopher A. (2004), "Aristotle's Aether and Contemporary Science" (http://www.thomist.org/jour/ 2004/July/2004 July A Dec.htm), *The Thomist* 68: 375–429, retrieved 2011-03-05.
- The Aether of Space (http://www.keelynet.com/osborn/rey7.htm) Lord Rayleigh's address
- ScienceWeek THEORETICAL PHYSICS: ON THE AETHER AND BROKEN SYMMETRY (http:// scienceweek.com/2005/sw050708-6.htm)
- The New Student's Reference Work/Ether

Michelson–Morley experiment

The **Michelson–Morley experiment** was performed in 1887 by Albert Michelson and Edward Morley at what is now Case Western Reserve University in Cleveland, Ohio. Its results are generally considered to be the first strong evidence against the theory of a luminiferous ether and in favor of special relativity. The most immediate effect at the time was to put an end to Lord Kelvin's Vortex theory, which said that atoms were vortices in the ether.^[1] The experiment has also been referred to as "the moving-off point for the theoretical aspects of the Second Scientific Revolution".^[2] See also Tests of special relativity.



Measuring ether



Physics theories of the late 19th century postulated that, just as water waves must have a medium to move across (water), and audible sound waves require a medium to move through (such as air or water), so also light waves require a medium, the "luminiferous aether". Because light can travel through a vacuum, it was assumed that the vacuum must contain the medium of light. Because the speed of light is so great, designing an experiment to detect the presence and properties of this aether took considerable ingenuity.

Earth travels a tremendous distance in its orbit around the Sun, at a speed of around 30 km/s or over 108,000 km per hour. The Sun itself is

travelling about the Galactic Center at even greater speeds, and there are other motions at higher levels of the structure of the universe. Since the Earth is in motion, it was expected that the flow of aether across the Earth should produce a detectable "aether wind". Although it would be possible, in theory, for the Earth's motion to match that of the aether at one moment in time, it was not possible for the Earth to remain at rest with respect to the aether at all times, because of the variation in both the direction and the speed of the motion.

At any given point on the Earth's surface, the magnitude and direction of the wind would vary with time of day and season. By analysing the return speed of light in different directions at various different times, it was thought to be possible to measure the motion of the Earth relative to the aether.

The expected difference in the measured speed of light was quite small, given that the velocity of the Earth in its orbit around the Sun was about one hundredth of one percent of the speed of light. A number of physicists had

attempted to make this measurement during the mid-19th century, but the accuracy demanded was simply too great for existing experimental setups. For instance, the Fizeau–Foucault apparatus could measure the speed of light to perhaps 5% accuracy, not nearly enough to make any sort of aether wind measurement.

The 1881 and 1887 experiments

Michelson had a solution to the problem of how to construct a device sufficiently accurate to detect aether flow. The device he designed, later known as an interferometer, sent a single source of white light through a half-silvered mirror that was used to split it into two beams travelling at right angles to one another. After leaving the splitter, the beams travelled out to the ends of long arms where they were reflected back into the middle on small mirrors. They then recombined on the far side of the splitter in an eyepiece, producing a pattern of constructive and destructive interference based on the spent time to transit the arms. If the Earth is traveling through an ether medium, a beam reflecting back and forth parallel to the flow of ether would take longer than a beam reflecting perpendicular to the ether because the time gained from traveling downwind is less than that lost traveling upwind. The result would be a delay in one of the light beams that could be detected when the beams were recombined through interference. Any slight change in the spent time would then be observed as a shift in the positions of the interference fringes. If the aether were stationary relative to the Sun, then the Earth's motion would produce a fringe shift 4% the size of a single fringe.

While teaching at his alma mater in 1877, the U.S. Naval Academy in Annapolis, Michelson conducted his first known successful light speed experiments as a part of a classroom demonstration. He left active U.S. Naval service in 1881, while he was in Germany concluding studies there. In that year and while there, Michelson had used an experimental device to make several more measurements, in which he noticed that the expected shift of 0.04 was not seen, and a smaller shift of (at most) about 0.02 was.^[3] However his apparatus was a prototype, and had experimental errors far too large to say anything about the aether wind. For a measurement of the aether wind, a much more accurate and tightly controlled experiment would have to be carried out. The prototype was, however, successful in demonstrating that the basic method was feasible.

Six years later he collaborated with Edward Morley, spending considerable time and money to create an improved version with more than enough accuracy to detect the drift.^[4] At this time Michelson was professor of physics at the Case School of Applied Science, and Morley was professor of chemistry at Western Reserve University, which shared a campus with the Case School on the eastern edge of Cleveland. The experiment was performed in several periods of concentrated observations between April and July 1887, in Adelbert Dormitory of WRU (later renamed Pierce Hall, demolished in 1962).^{[5] [6]}



In their experiment, the light was repeatedly reflected back and forth along the arms of the interferometer, increasing the path length to 11 m. At this length, the drift would be about 0.4 fringes. To make that easily detectable, the apparatus was assembled in a closed room in the basement of the heavy stone dormitory, eliminating most thermal and vibrational effects. Vibrations were further reduced by building the apparatus on top of a large block of

sandstone, about a foot thick and five feet square, which was then floated in an annular trough of mercury. They calculated that effects of about 1/100th of a fringe would be detectable.

The mercury pool allowed the device to be easily turned, so that given a single steady push it would slowly rotate through the entire range of possible angles to the "aether wind", while measurements were continuously observed by looking through the eyepiece. Even over a period of minutes some sort of effect would be noticed, since one of the arms would inevitably turn into the direction of the wind and the other away. Over longer periods day/night cycles or yearly cycles would also be easily measurable.

During each full rotation of the device, each arm would be parallel to the wind twice (facing into and away from the wind) and perpendicular to the wind twice. This effect would show readings in a sine wave formation with two peaks and two troughs. Additionally, if the wind were only from Earth's orbit around the Sun, the wind would fully change directions east/west during a 12-hour period. In this ideal conceptualization, the sine wave of day/night readings would be of opposing phase.

Because it was assumed that the motion of the Earth around the Sun would cause an additional component to the wind, the yearly cycles would be detectable as an alteration of the magnitude of the wind. An example of this effect is a helicopter flying forward. While hovering, a helicopter's blades would be measured as travelling around typically at 300 mph at the tips. However, if the helicopter is travelling forward at 150 mph, there are points where the tips of the blades are travelling through the air at 150 mph (downwind) and 450 mph (upwind). The same effect would cause the magnitude of an aether wind to decrease and increase on a yearly basis.

Most famous "failed" experiment

Subsequent experiments

After all this thought and preparation, the experiment became what might be called the most famous failed experiment to date.^[7] Instead of providing insight into the properties of the aether, Michelson and Morley's article in the *American Journal of Science* reported the measurement to be as small as one-fortieth of the expected displacement but "since the displacement is proportional to the square of the velocity" they concluded that the measured velocity was "probably less than one-sixth" of the expected velocity of the Earth's motion in orbit and "certainly less than one-fourth." Although this small "velocity" was measured, it was considered far too small to be used as evidence of speed relative to the aether, and it was later said to be within the range of an experimental error that would allow the speed to actually be zero.



Interferometer using a red laser.

Although Michelson and Morley went on to different experiments after their first publication in 1887, both remained active in the field. Other versions of the experiment were carried out with increasing sophistication. Roy J. Kennedy and K. K. Illingworth both modified the mirrors to include a half-wave "step", eliminating the possibility of some sort of standing wave pattern within the apparatus. Illingworth could detect changes on the order of 1/300th of a fringe, Kennedy up to 1/1500th. Miller later built a non-magnetic device to eliminate magnetostriction, while Michelson built one of non-expanding invar to eliminate any remaining thermal effects. Others from around the world increased accuracy, eliminated possible side effects, or both.

Morley was not convinced of his own results, and went on to conduct additional experiments with Dayton Miller. Miller worked on increasingly large experiments, culminating in one with a 32 m (effective) arm length at an installation at the Mount Wilson observatory. To avoid the possibility of the aether wind being blocked by solid walls, he used a special shed with thin walls, mainly of canvas. He consistently measured a small positive effect that varied with each rotation of the device, the sidereal day and on a yearly basis. His measurements amounted to approximately 10 km/s instead of the nearly 30 km/s expected from the Earth's orbital motion alone. He remained convinced this was due to partial entrainment, though he did not attempt a detailed explanation.

Though Kennedy later also carried out an experiment at Mount Wilson, finding 1/10 the drift measured by Miller, and no seasonal effects, Miller's findings were considered important at the time, and were discussed by Michelson, Lorentz and others at a meeting reported in 1928 (ref below). There was general agreement that more experimentation was needed to check Miller's results. Lorentz recognised that the results, whatever their cause, did not quite tally with either his or Einstein's versions of special relativity. Einstein was not present at the meeting and felt the results could be dismissed as experimental error (see Shankland ref below). To date, no-one has been able to replicate Miller's results, and modern experimental accuracies are considered to have ruled them out.^[8]

Also note, that the expected values are related to the relative speed between Earth and Sun of 30 km/s. With respect to the speed of the solar system around the galactic center of ca. 220 km/s, or the speed of the solar system relative to the CMB rest frame of ca. 368 km/s, the zero results of those experiments are even more obvious.

Name	Location	Year	Arm length (meters)	Fringe shift expected	Fringe shift measured	Ratio	Upper Limit on V _{aether}	Experimental Resolution	Null result
Michelson ^[3]	Potsdam	1881	1.2	0.04	≤ 0.02	2	~ 20 km/s	0,02	\approx yes
Michelson and Morley ^[4]	Cleveland	1887	11.0	0.4	< 0.02 or ≤ 0.01	40	~ 4–8 km/s	0,01	\approx yes
Morley and Miller ^{[9] [10]}	Cleveland	1902–1904	32.2	1.13	≤ 0.015	80	~ 3,5 km/s	0,015	yes
Miller ^[11]	Mt. Wilson	1921	32.0	1.12	≤ 0.08	15	~ 8–10 km/s	unclear	unclear
Miller ^[11]	Cleveland	1923–1924	32.0	1.12	≤ 0.03	40	~ 5 km/s	0.03	yes
Miller (sunlight) ^[11]	Cleveland	1924	32.0	1.12	≤ 0.014	80	~ 3 km/s	0.014	yes
Tomaschek (star light) ^[12]	Heidelberg	1924	8.6	0.3	≤ 0.02	15	~ 7 km/s	0.02	yes
Miller ^{[11] [13]}	Mt. Wilson	1925–1926	32.0	1.12	≤ 0.088	13	~ 8–10 km/s	unclear	unclear
Kennedy ^[14]	Pasadena/Mt. Wilson	1926	2.0	0.07	≤ 0.002	35	~ 5 km/s	0.002	yes
Illingworth ^[15]	Pasadena	1927	2.0	0.07	≤ 0.0004	175	~ 2 km/s	0.0004	yes
Piccard & Stahel ^[16]	with a Balloon	1926	2.8	0.13	≤ 0.006	20	~ 7 km/s	0.006	yes
Piccard & Stahel ^[17]	Brussels	1927	2.8	0.13	≤ 0.0002	185	~ 2,5 km/s	0.0007	yes
Piccard & Stahel ^[18]	Rigi	1927	2.8	0.13	≤ 0.0003	185	~ 2,5 km/s	0.0007	yes
Michelson et al. ^[19]	Mt. Wilson	1929	25.9	0.9	≤ 0.01	90	~ 3 km/s	0.01	yes
Joos ^[20]	Jena	1930	21.0	0.75	≤ 0.002	375	~ 1,5 km/s	0.002	yes
Recent experiments

Further information: Modern searches for Lorentz violation

In recent times experiments similar to the Michelson–Morley experiment have become commonplace. Lasers and masers amplify light by repeatedly bouncing it back and forth inside a carefully tuned cavity, thereby inducing high-energy atoms in the cavity to give off more light. The result is an effective path length of kilometers. Better yet, the light emitted in one cavity can be used to start the same cascade in another set at right angles, thereby creating an interferometer of extreme accuracy.^[21] The first such experiment was led by Charles H. Townes, one of the co-creators of the first maser. Their 1958 experiment put an upper limit on drift, including any possible experimental errors, of only 30 m/s. In 1974 a repeat with accurate lasers in the triangular Trimmer experiment reduced this to 0.025 m/s, and included tests of entrainment by placing one leg in glass.^[22]

The most precise experiments of this kind (using laser, maser, cryogenic optical resonators, etc.) were made in recent years. In some of those experiments, the devices were rotated or remained stationary, and some were combined with the Kennedy–Thorndike experiment. Tests on Lorentz invariance achieving a comparable precision, are the Hughes–Drever experiments.

Author	Year	Maximum
		anisotropy of c
Brillet & Hall ^[23]	1979	$\lesssim 10^{-15}$
Wolf et al. ^[24]	2003	
Müller et al. ^[25]	2003	
Wolf et al. ^[26]	2004	
Wolf et al. ^[27]	2004	
Antonini et al. ^[28]	2005	$\lesssim 10^{-16}$
Stanwix et al. ^[29]	2005	
Herrmann et al. ^[30]	2005	
Stanwix et al. ^[31]	2006	
Müller et al. ^[32]	2007	
Eisele et al. ^[33]	2009	$\lesssim 10^{-17}$
Herrmann et al. ^[34]	2009	

Fallout

Further information: History of special relativity

Einstein and special relativity

The constancy of the speed of light was postulated by Albert Einstein in 1905,^[35] motivated by Maxwell's theory of electromagnetism and the lack of evidence for the luminiferous ether but not, contrary to widespread belief, by the null result of the Michelson–Morley experiment.^[36] However the null result of the Michelson–Morley experiment helped the notion of the constancy of the speed of light gain widespread and rapid acceptance.

Aether dragging

Initially, the experiment of 1881 was meant to distinguish between the theory of Augustin-Jean Fresnel (1818), who proposed an almost stationary aether, and in which the aether is only partially dragged with a certain coefficient by matter; and the theory of George Gabriel Stokes (1845), who stated that the aether was fully dragged in the vicinity of the earth. Michelson initially believed the negative outcome confirmed the theory of Stokes. However, Hendrik Lorentz showed in 1886, that Stokes's explanation of aberration is contradictory.^{[37] [38]}

Also the assumption that the aether is not carried in the vicinity, but only *within* matter, was very problematic as shown by the Hammar experiment (1935). Hammar placed one arm of the interferometer between two huge lead blocks. If aether were dragged by mass, the blocks would, it was theorized, have been enough to cause a visible effect. Once again, no effect was seen, so any such theory is considered as disproved.

Emission theory

Walter Ritz's emitter theory (or ballistic theory), was also consistent with the results of the experiment, not requiring aether. The theory postulates that light has always the same velocity in respect to the source.^[39] However it also led to several "obvious" optical effects that were not seen in astronomical photographs, notably in observations of binary stars in which the light from the two stars could be measured in an interferometer. If this was correct, the light from the stars should cause fringe shifting due to the velocity of the stars being added to the speed of the light, but again, no such effect could be seen.

The Sagnac experiment placed a modified apparatus on a constantly rotating turntable; the main modification was that the light trajectory encloses an area. In doing so any ballistic theories such as Ritz's could be tested directly, as the light going one way around the device would have a different length to travel than light going the other way (the eyepiece and mirrors would be moving toward/away from the light). In Ritz's theory there would be no shift, because the net velocity between the light source and detector was zero (they were both mounted on the turntable). However in this case an effect *was* seen, thereby eliminating any simple ballistic theory. This fringe-shift effect is used today in laser gyroscopes.

Length contraction

The explanation was found in the FitzGerald–Lorentz contraction, also simply called length contraction. According to this physical law all objects physically contract along the line of motion (originally thought to be relative to the aether), so while the light may indeed transit slower on that arm, it also ends up travelling a shorter distance that exactly cancels out the drift. In 1932 the Kennedy–Thorndike experiment modified the Michelson–Morley experiment by making the path lengths of the split beam unequal, with one arm being very short. In this version a change of the velocity of the earth would still result in a fringe shift except if also the predicted time dilation is correct. Once again, no effect was seen, which they presented as evidence for both length contraction and time dilation, both key effects of relativity.

Einstein derived the FitzGerald–Lorentz contraction from the relativity postulate; thus his description of special relativity was also consistent with the apparently null results of most experiments (though not, as was recognized at the 1928 meeting, with Miller's observed seasonal effects). Today special relativity is generally considered the "solution" to the Michelson–Morley null result. However, this was not universally recognized at the time. As late as 1920, Einstein himself still spoke of a different concept of ether that was not a "ponderable medium" but something of significance nonetheless.^[40]

The Trouton–Noble experiment is regarded as the electrostatic equivalent of the Michelson–Morley optical experiment, though whether or not it can ever be done with the necessary sensitivity is debatable. On the other hand, the 1908 Trouton–Rankine experiment, which can be regarded as the electrical equivalent to the Kennedy–Thorndike experiment, achieved very high sensitivity.

References

- Adams, Colin Conrad (2004). The knot book: an elementary introduction to the mathematical theory of knots (http://books.google.com/books?id=M-B8XedeL9sC). American Mathematical Soc. p. 5. ISBN 0-821-83678-1. ., Extract of page 5 (http://books.google.com/books?id=M-B8XedeL9sC&pg=PA5)
- [2] Earl R. Hoover, Cradle of Greatness: National and World Achievements of Ohio's Western Reserve (Cleveland: Shaker Savings Association, 1977)
- [3] Michelson, Albert Abraham (1881). "The Relative Motion of the Earth and the Luminiferous Ether". *American Journal of Science* 22: 120–129.
- [4] Michelson, Albert Abraham & Morley, Edward Williams (1887). "On the Relative Motion of the Earth and the Luminiferous Ether". *American Journal of Science* 34: 333–345.
- [5] William Fickinger, *Physics at a Research University: Case Western Reserve*, 1830-1990, Cleveland, 2005, pp. 18-22, 48. The Dormitory was located on a now largely unoccupied space between the Biology Building and the Adelbert Gymnasium, both of which still stand on the CWRU campus.
- [6] Ralph R. Hamerla, An American Scientist on the Research Frontier: Edward Morley, Community, and Radical Ideas in Nineteenth-Century Science, Dordrecht, Springer, 2006, pp. 123-52.
- Blum, Sergey V. Lototsky, Edward K.; Lototsky, Sergey V. (2006). *Mathematics of physics and engineering* (http://books.google.com/ ?id=nFRG2UizET0C). World Scientific. p. 98. ISBN 981256621X. ., Chapter 2, p. 98 (http://books.google.com/ books?id=nFRG2UizET0C&pg=PA98)
- [8] Shankland, Robert S. et al. (1955). "New Analysis of the Interferometer Observations of Dayton C. Miller". *Reviews of Modern Physics* 27 (2): 167–178. Bibcode 1955RvMP...27..167S. doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.27.167.
- [9] Edward W. Morley and Dayton C. Miller (1904). "Extract from a Letter dated Cleveland, Ohio, August 5th, 1904, to Lord Kelvin from Profs. Edward W. Morley and Dayton C. Miller". *Philosophical Magazine*. 6 8 (48): 753–754.
- [10] Edward W. Morley and Dayton C. Miller (1905). "Report of an experiment to detect the Fitzgerald-Lorentz Effect". Proceedings of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences XLI (12): 321–8.
- [11] Miller, Dayton C. (1925). "Ether-Drift Experiments at Mount Wilson". *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 11 (6): 306–314.
 Bibcode 1925PNAS...11..306M. doi:10.1073/pnas.11.6.306.
- [12] Tomaschek, R. (1924). "Über das Verhalten des Lichtes außerirdischer Lichtquellen" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k153753/ f115). Annalen der Physik 378 (1): 105–126. Bibcode 1924AnP...378..105T. doi:10.1002/andp.19243780107.
- [13] Miller, Dayton C. (1933). "The Ether-Drift Experiment and the Determination of the Absolute Motion of the Earth". *Reviews of Modern Physics* 5 (3): 203–242. Bibcode 1933RvMP....5..203M. doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.5.203.
- [14] Kennedy, Roy J. (1926). "A Refinement of the Michelson-Morley Experiment". Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 12 (11): 621–629. Bibcode 1926PNAS...12..621K. doi:10.1073/pnas.12.11.621.
- [15] Illingworth, K. K. (1927). "A Repetition of the Michelson-Morley Experiment Using Kennedy's Refinement". *Physical Review* 30 (5): 692–696. Bibcode 1927PhRv...30..692I. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.30.692.
- [16] Piccard, A.; Stahel, E. (1926). "L'expérience de Michelson, réalisée en ballon libre" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k3136h/f420). Comptes Rendus 183 (7): 420–421.
- [17] Piccard, A.; Stahel, E. (1927). "Nouveaux résultats obtenus par l'expérience de Michelson" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k3137t/ f152). Comptes Rendus 184: 152.
- [18] Piccard, A.; Stahel, E. (1927). "L'absence du vent d'éther au Rigi" (http://gallica.bnf.fr/ark:/12148/bpt6k31384/f1198). Comptes Rendus 184: 1198–1200.
- [19] Michelson, A. A.; Pease, F. G.; Pearson, F.; Pease; Pearson (1929). "Results of repetition of the Michelson-Morley experiment". *Journal of the Optical Society of America* 18 (3): 181. Bibcode 1929JOSA...18...181M.
- [20] Joos, G. (1930). "Die Jenaer Wiederholung des Michelsonversuchs". Annalen der Physik 399 (4): 385–407. Bibcode 1930AnP...399...385J. doi:10.1002/andp.19303990402.
- [21] Relativity FAQ (2007): What is the experimental basis of Special Relativity? (http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/physics/Relativity/SR/ experiments.html)
- [22] Jaseja, T. S.; Javan, A.; Murray, J.; Townes, C. H. (1964). "Test of Special Relativity or of the Isotropy of Space by Use of Infrared Masers". *Phys. Rev.* 133 (5a): 1221–1225. Bibcode 1964PhRv..133.1221J. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.133.A1221.
- [23] Brillet, A.; Hall, J. L. (1979). "Improved laser test of the isotropy of space". *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 42 (9): 549–552.
 Bibcode 1979PhRvL..42..549B. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.42.549.
- [24] Wolf, P.; Bize, S.; Clairon, A.; Luiten, A. N.; Santarelli, G; Tobar, M. E. (2003). "New Limit on Signals of Lorentz Violation in Electrodynamics". *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **90** (6): 060402. arXiv:gr-qc/0210049. Bibcode 2003PhRvL..90f0402W. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.90.060402. PMID 12633279.
- [25] Müller, H.; Herrmann, S.; Braxmaier, C.; Schiller, S.; Peters, A. (2003). "Modern Michelson-Morley experiment using cryogenic optical resonators". *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **91** (2): 020401. arXiv:physics/0305117. Bibcode 2003PhRvL..91b0401M. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.91.020401. PMID 12906465.
- [26] Wolf, P.; Tobar, M. E.; Bize, S.; Clairon, A.; Luiten, A. N.; Santarelli, G. (2004). "Whispering Gallery Resonators and Tests of Lorentz Invariance". *General Relativity and Gravitation* 36 (10): 2351–2372. arXiv:gr-qc/0401017. Bibcode 2004GReGr..36.2351W.

doi:10.1023/B:GERG.0000046188.87741.51.

- [27] Wolf, P.; Bize, S.; Clairon, A.; Santarelli, G.; Tobar, M. E.; Luiten, A. N. (2004). "Improved test of Lorentz invariance in electrodynamics". *Physical Review D* 70 (5): 051902. arXiv:hep-ph/0407232. Bibcode 2004PhRvD..70e1902W. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.70.051902.
- [28] Antonini, P.; Okhapkin, M.; Göklü, E.; Schiller, S. (2005). "Test of constancy of speed of light with rotating cryogenic optical resonators". *Physical Review A* 71 (5): 050101. arXiv:gr-qc/0504109. Bibcode 2005PhRvA..71e0101A. doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.71.050101.
- [29] Stanwix, P. L.; Tobar, M. E.; Wolf, P.; Susli, M.; Locke, C. R.; Ivanov, E. N.; Winterflood, J.; van Kann, F. (2005). "Test of Lorentz Invariance in Electrodynamics Using Rotating Cryogenic Sapphire Microwave Oscillators". *Physical Review Letters* 95 (4): 040404. arXiv:hep-ph/0506074. Bibcode 2005PhRvL.95d0404S. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.040404. PMID 16090785.
- [30] Herrmann, S.; Senger, A.; Kovalchuk, E.; Müller, H.; Peters, A. (2005). "Test of the Isotropy of the Speed of Light Using a Continuously Rotating Optical Resonator". *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 95 (15): 150401. arXiv:physics/0508097. Bibcode 2005PhRvL..9500401H. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.95.150401. PMID 16241700.
- [31] Stanwix, P. L.; Tobar, M. E.; Wolf, P.; Locke, C. R.; Ivanov, E. N. (2006). "Improved test of Lorentz invariance in electrodynamics using rotating cryogenic sapphire oscillators". *Physical Review D* 74 (8): 081101. arXiv:gr-qc/0609072. Bibcode 2006PhRvD..74h1101S. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.74.081101.
- [32] Müller, H.; Stanwix, Paul L.; Tobar, M. E.; Ivanov, E.; Wolf, P.; Herrmann, S.; Senger, A.; Kovalchuk, E.; Peters, A. (2007). "Relativity tests by complementary rotating Michelson-Morley experiments". *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **99** (5): 050401. arXiv:0706.2031. Bibcode 2007PhRvL..99e0401M. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.99.050401. PMID 17930733.
- [33] Eisele, Ch.; Nevsky, A. Yu.; Schiller, S. (2009). "Laboratory Test of the Isotropy of Light Propagation at the 10⁻¹⁷ level". *Physical Review Letters* 103 (9): 090401. Bibcode 2009PhRvL.103i0401E. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.103.090401. PMID 19792767.
- [34] Herrmann, S.; Senger, A.; Möhle, K.; Nagel, M.; Kovalchuk, E. V.; Peters, A. (2009). "Rotating optical cavity experiment testing Lorentz invariance at the 10⁻¹⁷ level". *Physical Review D* 80 (100): 105011. arXiv:1002.1284. Bibcode 2009PhRvD..80j5011H. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.80.105011.
- [35] Einstein, A (June 30, 1905). "Zur Elektrodynamik bewegter Körper" (http://www.pro-physik.de/Phy/pdfs/ger_890_921.pdf) (in German) (PDF). Annalen der Physik 17: 890–921. Retrieved 2009-11-27. English translation: Perrett, W and Jeffery, GB (tr.); Walker, J (ed.). "On the Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies" (http://www.fourmilab.ch/etexts/einstein/specrel/www/). Fourmilab. Retrieved 2009-11-27.
- [36] Michael Polanyi, *Personal Knowledge: Towards a Post-Critical Philosophy*, ISBN 0226672883, footnote page 10-11: Einstein reports, via Dr N Balzas in response to Polanyi's query, that "The Michelson-Morely experiment had no role in the foundation of the theory." and "..the theory of relativity was not founded to explain its outcome at all." (http://books.google.com/books?id=0Rtu8kCpvz4C&lpg=PP1& pg=PT19#v=onepage&q=&f=false)
- [37] Jannsen, Michel & Stachel, John (2008). "The Optics and Electrodynamics of Moving Bodies" (http://www.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de/ Preprints/P265.PDF) (PDF).
- [38] Whittaker, Edmund Taylor (1910). A History of the theories of aether and electricity (http://www.archive.org/details/ historyoftheorie00whitrich) (1. ed.). Dublin: Longman, Green and Co...
- [39] Norton, John D. (2004). "Einstein's Investigations of Galilean Covariant Electrodynamics prior to 1905" (http://philsci-archive.pitt.edu/ archive/00001743/). Archive for History of Exact Sciences 59: 45–105. doi:10.1007/s00407-004-0085-6.
- [40] Albert Einstein said that space is "endowed with physical quantities", but that "this ether may not be thought of as endowed with the quality characteristic of ponderable media [...] The idea of motion may not be applied to it"—from Einstein, Albert: "Ether and the Theory of Relativity" (1920), republished in *Sidelights on Relativity* (Dover, NY, 1922)

Bibliography

- Michelson, A. A. et al. (1928). "Conference on the Michelson–Morley Experiment Held at Mount Wilson, February, 1927". *Astrophysical Journal* 68: 341–390. Bibcode 1928ApJ....68..341M. doi:10.1086/143148.
- Shankland, Robert S. et al. (1955). "New Analysis of the Interferometer Observations of Dayton C. Miller". *Reviews of Modern Physics* 27 (2): 167–178. Bibcode 1955RvMP...27..167S. doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.27.167.
- DeMeo, James (2002). "Dayton Miller's Ether-Drift Experiments: A Fresh Look" (http://www.orgonelab.org/ miller.htm). *Pulse of the Planet* 5: 114–130.
- Müller, Holger et al. (2003). "Modern Michelson–Morley Experiment Using Cryogenic Optical Resonators". *Physical Review Letters* 91 (2): 020401. arXiv:physics/0305117. Bibcode 2003PhRvL..91b0401M. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.91.020401. PMID 12906465.
- Parentani, Renaud (2002). "What Did We Learn from Studying Acoustic Black Holes?". *International Journal of Modern Physics A* 17 (20): 2721–2726. arXiv:gr-qc/0204079. Bibcode 2002IJMPA..17.2721P. doi:10.1142/S0217751X02011679.
- Rashevsky, N. (1921). "Light Emission from a Moving Source in Connection with the Relativity Theor". *Physical Review* 18 (5): 369–376. Bibcode 1921PhRv...18..369R. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.18.369.

• For gravitational waves: *PostScript file* (http://axion.physics.ubc.ca/hyperspace/mog21.ps.gz) of the newsletter of the Topical Group on Gravitation of the American Physical Society Number 21 Spring 2003; Google.com can be used to extract the text of the document.

External links

- Early Experiments (http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/physics/Relativity/SR/experiments.html#2.early experiments)
- Modern Michelson–Morley Experiment improves the best previous result by two orders of magnitude, from 2003 (http://link.aps.org/abstract/PRL/v91/e020401)
- "Test Light Speed in Mile Long Vacuum Tube." (http://books.google.com/books?id=UigDAAAAMBAJ&pg=PA17&dq=1930+plane+"Popular&hl=en&ei=bfiPTs-NGInE0AHC_4k_&sa=X&oi=book_result&ct=result&resnum=8&ved=0CEwQ6AEwBzgK#v=onepage&q=1930 plane "Popular&f=true) *Popular Science Monthly*, September 1930, p. 17-18.

Article Sources and Contributors

Maxwell's equations Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=460451395 Contributors: 130.225.29.xxx, 165.123.179.xxx, 16@r, 213.253.39.xxx, A.C. Norman, Acroterion, AgadaUrbanit, Ahoerstemeier, Alan Peakall, Aleio2083, Almeo, Ambui, Saxena, Ancheta Wis, Andre Engels, Andrei Stroe, Andries, AndvBucklev, Anthony, Antixt, Anville, Anvthingvouwant, Ap, Areldyb, Arestes, Army 1987, Art Carlson, Asar, AugPi, Aulis Eskola, Avenged Eightfold, AxelBoldt, Axfangli, BD2412, Barak Sh, BehzadAhmadi, BenBaker, BenFrantzDale, Bender 235, Berland, Bernardmarcheterre, Blaze Labs Research, Bob1817, Bora Eryilmaz, Brainiac2595, Brendan Moody, Brequinda, Brews ohare, Bryan Derksen, CYD, Calliopejen1, Can't sleep, clown will eat me, CanDo, Cardinality, Cassini83, Charles Matthews, Childzy, Chodorkovskiy, Chris the speller, Cloudmichael, Coldwarrier, Colliand, Comech, Complexica, Conversion script, Cooltom95, Corkgkagj, Courcelles, Cpl.Luke, Craig Pemberton, Cronholm144, Crowsnest, D6, DAGwyn, DGJM, DJIndica, Daniel.Cardenas, David spector, Delirium, DeltaIngegneria, Dgrant, Dicklyon, Dilwala314, Dmr2, Donarreiskoffer, Donreed, DrSank, Dratman, DreamsReign, Drw25, Dxf04, Dlugosz, El C, Electrodynamicist, Eliyak, Enok.cc, Enormousdude, FDT, Farhamalik, Fgnievinski, Fibonacci, Find the way, Finell, Fir-tree, Firefly322, First Harmonic, Fizicist, Fjomeli, Fledylids, Freepopcornonfridays, Fuhghettaboutit, Gaius Cornelius, Geek1337, Gene Nygaard, Geometry guy, George Smyth XI, GeorgeLouis, Ghaspias, Giftlite, Giorgiomugnaini, Giraffedata, Glicerico, GordonWatts, Graham87, Gremagor, Gservakov, H.A.L., HaeB, Headbomb, Herbee, Heron, Hope I. Chen, Hpmv, Icairns, Ignorance is strength, Igor m, Ixfd64, Izno, JATerg, JNW, JRSpriggs, JTB01, JabberWok, Jaknelaps, Jakohn, Jan S., Janfri, Jao, Jasón, Jfrancis, Jj1236, Joconnor, Johann Wolfgang, JohnBlackburne, Johnlogic, Jordgette, Joseph Solis in Australia, Jpbowen, Jitr, JustinWick, Karada, Karl Dickman, Keenan Pepper, Kelvie, KingofSentinels Kissnmakeup, Kooo, Kragen, Kri, Kwamikagami, Kzollman, L-H, LAUBO, Lambiam, Larryisgood, Laurascudder, Lcabanel, LedgendGamer, Lee J Haywood, Lethe, Light current, LilHelpa, Linas, Linuxlad, Lir, Lixo2, Lockeownzj00, Loom91, Looxix, Lseixas, Luk, LutzL, MFH, MarSch, Marek69, Marmelad, Marozols, Maschen, Masudr, MathKnight, Maxellus, Maxim Razin, Meier99, Melchoir, MeltBanana, Metacomet, Mets501, Mfrosz, Mgiganteus1, Michael Hardy, Michielsen, Micru, Miguel, Mild Bill Hiccup, Milikguay, Miserlou, Mjb, Mleaning, Modster, Mokakeiche, Monkeyjmp, Mpatel, Msablic, Msh210, Myasuda, NHRHS2010, Nabla, Nakon, Nebeleben, Neparis, NewEnglandYankee, Niteowlneils, Nmnogueira, Nousernamesleft, Nudve, Oleg Alexandrov, Omegatron, One zero one, Opspin, Orbst, Out of Phase User, Paksam, Paolo.dL. Paquitotrek, Passw0rd, Patrick, Paul August, Paul D. Anderson, Peeter joot, Pervect, Pete Rolph, Peterlin, Phile, Phys, Physchim62, Pieter Kuiper, Pigsonthewing, Pinethicket, PiratePi, PlantTrees, Pouyan12, Qrystal, Quibik, Quondum, RG2, RK, RandomP, Ranveig, Rdrosson, Red King, Reddi, Reedy, Revilo314, Rgdboer, Rhtcmu, Rich Farmbrough, Rjwilmsi, Rklawton, Roadrunner, RogierBrussee, Rogper, Rossami, Rudchenko, Rudminjd, S7evyn, SJP, Sadi Carnot. Salsb, Sam Derbyshire, Sanders muc, Sannse, Sbyrnes321, Scurvycajun, SebastianHelm, Selfstudier, Sgiani, Shamanchill, Shanes, Sheliak, Shlomke, Slakr, Sonygal, Sparkie82, Spartaz, Srleffler, Steve Quinn, Steve p, Steven Weston, Stevenj, Stewart/MH, Stikonas, StradivariusTV, TStein, Tarquin, TeaDrinker, Template namespace initialisation script, Tercer, That Guy, From That Show!, The Anome, The Cunctator, The Original Wildbear, The Sanctuary Sparrow, The Wiki ghost, The undertow, TheObtuseAngleOfDoom, Thincat, Thingg, Tide rolls, Tim Shuba, Tim Starling, Tkirkman, Tlabshier, Tobias Bergemann, Tom.Reding, Toymontecarlo, Tpbradbury, Treisijs, Trelvis, Trusilver, Truthnlove, Tunheim, Urvabara, Warfvinge, Warlord88, Waveguy, Wik, Wikipelli, Wing gundam, Woodstone, Woohookitty, Wordsmith, WriterHound, Wtshymanski, Wurzel, Wwoods, XJamRastafire, Xenonice, Xonqnopp, Yamaguchi先生, Yevgeny Kats, Youandme, Zhenvok 1, Zoicon5, ^musaz, 老陳, 836 anonymous edits

Ampère's circuital law Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/windex.php?oldid=454496865 Contributors: 1or2, Agent Smith (The Matrix), Alfred Centauri, Ancheta Wis, Andmatt, Andre Engels, Andreas Rejbrand, Anthony, Antixt, Anuran, Arabani, Art Carlson, AugPi, Awedh, BD2412, Brews ohare, Bromskloss, Burn, Canis Lupus, CanisRufus, Canley, Complexica, Constructive editor, Croquant, DJIndica, Dave3457, David Haslam, Delrium, DerHexer, Dicklyon, Discospinster, Drrngryy, El C, Elwikipediata, EncycloPetey, FDT, Fresheneezz, Gene Nygaard, GeorgHW, Ghirlandajo, Giftlite, Gillis, Grebaldar, Greyscale, Headbomb, Hephaestos, Hope I. Chen, Icairns, Inquisitus, Irigi, Izno, JRM, JabberWok, Jleedev, Keenan Pepper, King Lopez, Kopovoi, Larryisgood, Laurascudder, LittleDan, Lixo2, Localzuk, Looxix, Lord89, Lseixas, MFNickster, MMS2013, Metacomet, Metric, Mets501, Michael C Price, Michael Hardy, MikeMalak, Nickpowerz, Nmnogueira, Onco p53, Ozhiker, PasswOrd, Phile, Quibik, RG2, Rich Farmbrough, Salsb, Sbyrnes321, Sheliak, Siddhant, Smack, Stephenb, Stevenj, StewartMH, StradivariusTV, Sudhanshu007, Tagishsimon, Template namespace initialisation script, The wub, Tim Shuba, Tim Starling, Vuong Ngan Ha, Wbrameld, Wing gundam, Wshun, Xaven, 🛱 URJ 18, 102 anonymous edits

Faraday's law of induction Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=459465845 Contributors: A. di M., AdjustShift, Agentpyro003, Alfred Centauri, Altenmann, Amplitude101, Anterior1, Anton Gutsunaev, Attilios, Aulis Eskola, Auntof6, Berowell, BillC, Bmicomp, Brews ohare, C0N6R355, Cassiopella, Chamal N, Chendy, Chetvorno, Chronos Tachyon, Cometstyles, Complexica, DJIndica, DMahalko, Dalibor Bosits, Daniel.Cardenas, Deans-nl, Debresser, Delirium, Deor, Desmondo 54, Donarreiskoffer, Earnric, Eliyak, Epbr123, FDT, Feezo, Flondin, Floorsheim, Foobaz, Freakmighty, Freshenesz, FyzixFighter, George Smyth XI, Gitflite, GimliDotNet, Glenn, Green caterpillar, GregorB, GrimFang4, Guy Harris, Guy Macon, Harald88, Headbomb, Hgrobe, Howcheng, Icare, InverseHypercube, Iridescent, Izno, J.delanoy, Jaakobou, JanAKiska, Jgorse, Jodie44, Johnny Vega, Jusjih, K Eliza Coyne, KJS77, Kbk, Ken g6, Korvin2050, Kpmalik6364, L Kensington, Laurascudder, Lumos3, MER-C, MFNickster, MPerel, Metacomet, Michael C Price, Michael Lenz, Msdaif, Myasuda, NERIUM, Nmnogueira, NorwegianBlue, Ohs1027, Omegatron, Pandamonia, Perkinsonj, Phi/Knight, Philip Trueman, PhySusie, Pjacobi, Quebec99, Ragesoss, Rdrosson, Red Act, Rico402, Riyuky, Rob.derosa, Salsh, Sbyrnes321, Sheliak, Shoaibali, Sidam, Snoyes, Steven Zhang, StradivariusTV, Superhrogirl7, Suradnik13, THEN WHO WAS PHONE?, Tewy, The Thing That Should Not Be, The wub, Thedjatclubrock, Thubing, Treekids, Trent1799, Trusilver, Tisi43318, Tvoz, Venny85, VirtualDelight, Voyagerfan5761, Wolfkeeper, Wrwrwr, Wtshymanski, Xp54321, Xu rui, Yeygeny Kats, Yk Yk Xg, Zanimum, Zzuuzz, Jae Jyo6osi, 雾木敲二, 여름 20 of aonymous edits

Gauss's law Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=459432916 Contributors: 2help, ABCD, Aa77zz, Achoo5000, Adanadhel, Ahoerstemeier, Aihadley, Alexius08, Ali Obeid, Amazins490, Andries, AugPi, Badgernet, Bcartolo, Benjamin Barenblat, Bigbluefish, Blu Aardvark, BoomerAB, Brews ohare, CBM, Caltas, Charles Matthews, Chetvorno, Cookie4869, Covracer, Cpl.Luke, Cronholm144, DJIndica, DVdm, Dahnamics, Daniel.Cardenas, Dchristle, DeadEyeArrow, Delirium, Delver23, Deryck Chan, Destatiforze, Diberri, Dr. Morbius, Drngryv, Eebster the Great, Eleuther, Elwikipedista, Emboo, Enok.cc, Firoja, Frozen fish, Girllite, Goplat, Headbomb, HebrewHammerTime, Hephaestos, IAPIAP, Ikara, IJav/, Insurrectionist, Irigi, Ixfd64, Izno, JHMM13, JacDT, Jmannc3, JustinWick, Keenan Pepper, Kocher2006, Kojiroh, Koyn, Kuri ahf, Lambda, Laurascudder, Lcabanel, Lethe, Life of Riley, Linas, Lingwitt, LittleDan, Looxix, Lseixas, LutzL, MFNickster, Mcba, Meier99, MelbourneStar, Merryjman, Michael Hardy, MikeMalak, Mikeblas, MonteChristof, Mosaffa, Mphilip1, NBS525, Nd12345, Nickpowerz, Nmnogueira, One zero one, Patrick, Patstuart, Pfalstad, PhilKnight, Physic sox, Pinkbasu, Pyryjv, Puffin, Rama1981, Random89, Rbj, Rdrosson, Retinoblastoma, Reywas92, Rjwilmsi, Rnt20, Salsb, Sbyrnes321, Set theorist, Shleiak, Slicerace, SmilesALot, Social tamarisk, Spoon!, StradivariusTV, Tagishsimon, TakuyaMurata, Template namespace initialisation script, The Anome, The wub, TheKMan, Tide rolls, Treisijs, Versageek, Vrenator, Wricardoh, WriterHound, Xaven, Yecril, Yevgeny Kats, 210 anonymous edits

Gauss's law for magnetism Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454500143 Contributors: 124Nick, Antixt, Brews ohare, CUSENZA Mario, Enormousdude, Eranus, FDT, Giftlite, Headbomb, Ikara, Inune, JohnBlackburne, LilHelpa, Mebden, Paolo.dL, Reywas92, Sbyrnes321, SimpleBeep, TStein, User A1, Vuo, 老陳, 애喜라이트, 18 anonymous edits

Biot-Savart law Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=456980121 Contributors: 124Nick, Andres Agudelo, Antixt, Arc-, AugPi, Burn, Caliston, Charles Matthews, Charlym, Choster, Complexica, Craig Pemberton, Crowsnest, DJIndica, Daniel.Cardenas, DavidLevinson, Deb, Decumanus, Deflective, Dicklyon, Dilipmeena22, Dolphin51, Drrngrvy, Ed Poor, Eliz81, Enormousdude, Ferengi, FyzixFighter, Gabridelca, Gaius Cornelius, George Smyth XI, Giftlite, Grebaldar, H2g2bob, Headbomb, Icairns, Ioverka, JabberWok, JayEsJay, Khashishi, Klunkó, Kwamikagami, Laurascudder, Linuxlad, MC10, MFNickster, Martynas Patasius, Mboverload, Mebden, Metacomet, Michael Hardy, Mild Bill Hiccup, Mjohnrussell, Mtodorov 69, Muu-karhu, Mythealias, Onco p53, Oobayly, Paolo.dL, Petwil, Pfalstad, Qxz, Revolver, Roo72, Rtdrury, Salsb, Sbyrnes321, Sheliak, StradivariusTV, Svick, TStein, The wub, Tim Shuba, Tim Starling, Tobiasgt79, Toby Bartels, Toolnut, User A1, Vinograd19, Weialawaga, Wik, Wolfkeeper, Wrude bouie, Zvn, 老陳, 334

Electromagnetic wave equation Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461623641 Contributors: A. di M., Ajohnson2289, Ale2006, Antixt, BD2412, Barak Sh, Betterworld, BorgHunter, Brad7777, Brews ohare, Bvcrist, Cameron bol, Commander Nemet, Complexica, Daniel.Cardenas, DarkHedos, Deglr6328, DemonicInfluence, Devindunseith, Dicklyon, Evilspoons, FDT, Firefly322, FooBaron, Gene Nygaard, Gurch, Headbomb, Heron, Huang Sir, Ian Pitchford, J.delanoy, Jasondet, JaxBax5, Kri, Kupirijo, Lookang, Magnus Manske, Martin451, Metacomet, Mets501, Myasuda, Netheril96, Noegenesis, PEHowland, Pasquale.Carelli, PetaRZ, Pfalstad, Pflammer, Pieter Kuiper, R'n'B, Rajb245, Rdrosson, Rickcandell, Roastytoast, Serein (renamed because of SUL), Sherool, Shinglor, Skatche, Sridhar10chitta, Srleffler, StewartMH, StradivariusTV, That Guy, From That Show!, Tim Shuba, Vanka5, Venny85, Xonqnopp, Zzyzx11, 老陳, 135 anonymous edits

Electromotive force *Source*: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=460764623 *Contributors*: 168..., ARTE, AdotInSpace, Alexht, Alfred Centauri, Annannienann, Anonymous Dissident, Arc de Ciel, Arcanedruid 101, Arkuat, Aulis Eskola, Aviroop Ghosh, AxelBoldt, Azndragon1987, BD2412, Bert Hickman, Biscuittin, Brandon5485, Brews ohare, Britmax, Bullwhackers, Cacycle, Caltas, Canadian1234, Cfsenel, Closedmouth, Craig Pemberton, Crispmuncher, DJIndica, Delirium, Dicklyon, Dolphin51, Dormy Carla, Dr FJY, Dspradau, Dual Freq, Edward Z. Yang, Eequor, Electromotive force, Electron9, Erebus555, Eugene Yurtsev, Ferritecore, Fred Bradstadt, FrozenMan, Funky Monkey, Gaius Cornelius, Gene Nygaard, Giftlite, Grebaldar, Gutworth, Hannabeprakash, Hao2lian, Headbomb, Heron, Hmains, Höyhens, InverseHypercube, JaGa, Jc3s5h, Jedidan747, Jerzy, Jim E. Black, Jleedev, John Fagan, K Eliza Coyne, KJS77, Kaczor, Karl-Henner, Kelleycs01, Kyng, LeheckaG, Light current, Linas, Lmatt, Loodog, LostLeviathan, Lunaibis, Melchoir, Merfster, Metacomet, Minichu, Mofochickamo, My76Strat, Nabla, Namazu-tron, Ndkl, Neutrality, Ninly, Nmnogueira, Nopetro, Oliver202, Oliviosu, Omegatron, Opelio, Orionus, Owain.davies, Patrick, Paverider, Peterlin, Pfalstad, Phr en, PhySusie, Porges, Potatoswatter, Proficient, RGForbes, RLD2988, Recognizance, Reddi, Rjwilmsi, Rogper, Rowmcc, Rror, SU Linguist, Sbyrnes321, Serpent's Choice, Sheliak, Spike Wilbury, Stevenj, TAB, Template namespace initialisation script, Tim Starling, TreeSmiler, Treisijs, Tribunist, Tryn, Ub3rm4th, WMSwiki, WhatamIdoing, Wik, WikHead, Willemo, Woohookitty, Zarius, Zoicon5, axi, 304 anonymous edits

Inverse-square law Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461509280 Contributors: 2001:db8, Aerion, Anarchia, ArglebargleIV, Arthena, Asephei, Barticus88, Bodesj, Borb, Brandon, Brenont, Bsadowski1, C. A. Russell, C45207, CRGreathouse, CWenger, Charles Matthews, Chowbok, Cloudswrest, Craig Pemberton, Curps, Cybercobra, DJIndica, Dick Shane, Dicklyon, Docu, Dr. Morbius, Enzo Aquarius, EverettYou, Excirial, F Notebook, FGrose, Fang 23, Furius, Giftlite, Goochelaar, Google5google6, Grendlefuzz, Grimlock, Headbomb, Hirak 99,

Inas66, Inquisitus, Jamie C, Jason Quinn, Jimbreed, Jspacemen01-wiki, Keilana, Kri.umd, LiDaobing, Marianika, Mathwhiz 29, MattOates, MaxHilarity, Maxw41, Mbeychok, Meowmeowaz, Michael Hardy, Mild Bill Hiccup, Modernist, Mradamtoo, Mulad, NYKevin, NeilN, Nudve, O keyes, Omegatron, Optimist on the run, Patrick, Pflatau, Pheon, Philipcosson, Pieter Kuiper, Pizza Puzzle, Pjvpjv, Queenmomcat, RThompson, Rbj, Redboblehat, Retired user 0001, Riedl, Rjwilmsi, Rnt20, Robert K S, Robofish, Rogerbrent, Rorybob, SURIV, Salsb, Scott14, SimonLea, SimonP, Skoch3, Slakr, SlipperyHippo, Srleffler, Ssd, Systemizer, Terry0051, TimmmCam, Tranh Nguyen, Truthflux, Tuplanolla, Ugha, VKokielov, Webmaren, WereSpielChequers, Whpq, Wikipelli, Wiliam M. Connolley, YoussefAA, Zap Rowsdower, ZeroOne, 237 anonymous edits

Lorentz force Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461554290 Contributors: Alexcalamaro, Alfredo, Ambros-aba, Amicus of borg, Ancheta Wis, Andres, BenRG, Boethius65, Brews ohare, Bryan Derksen, CUSENZA Mario, Capricorn42, Complexica, Conversion script, Cpiral, D-Kuru, D.Keenan, DJIndica, DVdm, Deans-nl, Decltype, Dgrant, Dicklyon, DrBob, Edmundo ba, El C, FDT, Falcon8765, Frobnitzem, Fuhghettabouti, FyzixFighter, Gene Nygaard, Geoffrey.landis, George Smyth XI, Giftlite, Headbomb, Heron, Hollgor, Inbamkumar86, InverseHyperube, JNW, JRSpriggs, JabberWok, Jaro, D, Jauhienij, Jcc77, Jdcanfield, Jjalexand, JohnBlackburne, Jradavenport, K Eliza Coyne, Khunglongcon, Kieff, Kiyabg, Kwamikagami, Laurascudder, Leonard G., Lerdthenerd, Logichulk, Looxix, LtPowers, Lwiniarski, MFNickster, Masgatotkaca, Metacomet, Michael C Price, Michael Devore, Mihaip, Mikeblas, Mikiemike, Modeha, Mpatel, Mrdice, Myasuda, Neptune5000, Nick, Nnnogueira, Orderud, Paclopes, Paolo.dL, Petri Krohn, Philip Trueman, Qwasty, Rbj, Reach Out to the Truth, Rich Farmbrough, RobertG, Rror, Rtdrury, Sadi Carnot, Salsb, Sankalpdravid, Sbyrnes321, SebastianHelm, Su, Sheliak, Smb1001, Spartaz, StaticGull, SunCreator, Sunnysite, TStein, Tetracube, Tharunsr121, That Guy, From That Show!, The Anome, The mexican boodle, TheBFG, Thurth, Ti89TProgrammer, Tim Shuba, Tim Starling, Treisijs, Tttrung, Uncle Milty, Utcursch, Wavgfkl, Werdna, Wessmaniac, WikHead, Yakeyglee, Yevgeny Kats, ธาวิหารที

Telegrapher's equations Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=451867009 Contributors: AlexandriNo, Audriusa, Casey56, Cburnett, CecilWard, Charles Matthews, Constant314, CosineKitty, Dah31, Engineergod, Enochlau, Ethanminot, Gene Nygaard, GeoGreg, Headbomb, Heron, Ignat99, Kevin B12, Light current, Loadmaster, MuthuKutty, Nanog, Oleg Alexandrov, Omegatron, Pb30, PerceptualChaos, Pstudier, Punitxsmart, Quistnix, Rbj, Reddi, Reinderien, Salsb, Spinningspark, Witger, Wtshymanski, Xb2u7Zjzc32, 27 anonymous edits

E field Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461626695 Contributors: 20ver0, ABCD, Abdull, AmarChandra, Anclation, Andre Engels, Antixt, Aristotle2600, Atomless, Bdforbes, Benjah-bnm27, Benjamink8, Bentogoa, Bert Hickman, Big Bird, Bmk, Bomac, Bonginkosi zwane, Bongwarrior, Brad7777, Bvcrist, Catslash, Chrislk02, Ckatz, Complexica, Corkgkagj, CosineKitty, Courcelles, Culo95, DJIndica, DVdm, Ddvche, Dgrant, Doctorkismet, DomenicDenicola, Donarreiskoffer, Dreitmen, Edward321, El C, Enormousdude, Excirial, FDT, Fento, Fluxbyte, Fresheneesz, Freywa, Frokor, FrozenMan, Fuhghettaboutit, FyzixFighter, Gaius Cornelius, GameGod, Geek1337, Gene Nygaard, Ghitis, Gifflitti, Gludwiczak, Gracielleannep, Grafen, Gryllida, Hardestcorest, Headbomb, Helix84, Herbee, Heron, HiDrNick, Hongooi, Hqb, Hungryhungarian, Hwong557, Icairns, Icep, InverseHypercube, Ipatrol, Irigi, JForget, JRSpriggs, JerrySteal, Jmguerrac, JohnBlackburne, Jpeham, Jpk, Juliancolton, Krawi, Larry V, Lauraccudder, Lenko, Lian1238, Light current, Linas, Linnea, Lookang, Looxix, Lseixas, Lumos3, MFNickster, Mandarax, Maurice Carbonaro, Mboverload, Mebden, Mekeretrig, Mfrosz, Michael C Price, Michael Hardy, Mindmatrix, Misnardi, Mjpieters, Modster, MrDoedorant, Mwtoews, Nasanbat, Nayafun, Netkinetic, Nikai, Nmongueira, NuclearEnergy, Nuno Tavares, OlavN, Oleg Alexandrov, Omegatron, Onewhohelps, Patrick, Pearbonn, Pedrose, Peterlin, Pfalstad, Philip Trueman, Pion, Poilkmn1, PrestonH, Purplefeltangel, Quadduc, Qui-Gon Jinn, Qwerty59, RG2, RGForbes, Radagast83, Rausch, Razimantv, Rdrosson, Reddi, Reinam, Relilles, Renaissancee, Riana, Rivertorch, Robertirwin22, Rokerdud, Rtdrury, Russell4, Ruy Pugliesi, SCEhardt, Salsh, Sbyrnes321, Scjessey, Scott.medling, Sdoregon, SheffieldSteel, Sheliak, Shenme, Shirt58, Smack, Sodaplayer, Sonygal, Spartan, Spiderboy, Srleffler, Sd, St.daniel, Stephenb, StradivariuxTV, Strait, SwisterTwister, T-rex, Tantalate, Tariqabjotu, Tcncv, The Anonymous One, TheEgyFian, Tide rolls, Tim Starling, TomViza, Tpruane, Treisgis

D field Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=449833273 Contributors: Adjusting, AnyFile, Brews ohare, Chanting Fox, Charles Matthews, Chub, Citkast, Cookie4869, CosineKitty, Crowsnest, DarkHedos, David Haslam, Eclecticerudite, Erwin, Fuhghettaboutit, Gene Nygaard, Grafen, Grebaldar, Gurubrahma, H2g2bob, Hans Lundmark, Headbomb, Hirudo, Hwong557, JJ Harrison, Kulmalukko, Laurascudder, Light current, Lumidek, Mav, Michael C Price, Mlada, NeilTarrant, Osquar F, Pak21, Paksam, Paul White 511, Pfalstad, RJFJR, Rasraster, Salsb, Samsoon Inayat, Sbyrnes321, Smite-Meister, Snaphat, Stevenj, Tabletop, TobinFricke, Wtshymanski, XJamRastafire, Xezlec, 老陳, 63 anonymous edits

B and H fields Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461645397 Contributors: 1howardsr1, 213.253.39.xxx, 23790AD, 2D, 20ver0, 4twenty420, @pple, Abductive, Af648, Ahoerstemeier, Aitias, Aka042, Alansohn, Alex Klotz, Alfred Centauri, Alphachimp, Ambros-aba, Anna512, Anterior1, Antixt, Arch dude, Armius, Arthena, Ascidian, Ashill, Aulis Eskola, B21O303V3941W42371, BSTR, Bachrach44, Barneca, Bart133, Beland, BenFrantzDale, Bender235, Bishoppowell, Bobyorox, Bookandcoffee, Brews ohare, BrianWilloughby, Brichcja, Brigman, Bryan Derksen, Buster79, C14, CUSENZA Mario, Calvin 1998, Cantiorix, Capricorn42, Captain Yankee, CaptinJohn, Catslash, Celebere, Cessator, CharlesChandler, Chetvorno, Chris the speller, Chrislk02, Chrsschm, Citeseer, Clicketyclack, CliffC, Clw, Cocytus, Coldwarrier, Cometstyles, Complexica, CosineKitty, Creidieki, Curps, Cxz111, CyrilB, D6, DARTH SIDIOUS 2, DJIndica, DMahalko, Da Joe, Dadude3320, Daf, Damo0078, Daniel.Cardenas, Deadlyops, Defender of torch, Delirium, DemonThing, Dennis Brown, DerHexer, DesertAngel, Dgmyer, Dgroseth, Diannaa, Dicklyon, Dino, Direvus, Discospinster, Djr32, Dmn, Doc aberdeen, DomenicDenicola, DoubleBlue, Download, Doyley, Dr. Seaweed, DrBob, Dreadengineer, Drrngrvy, Dynaflow, Edivorce, Egmontaz, Ekkert, El C, El estremeñu, Enchanter, Enormousdude, Ethan, Ettrig, Eudoxie, Evgeny, Excirial, Explodinglam, FDT, FelisLeo, Fento, Filepopoulos, Floorsheim, Fongs, Fpahl, Freelance Physicist, Fresheneesz, From-cary, FrstFrs, Fyyer, FyzixFighter, Fæ, G-W, GDonato, GRB, Gary King, Gatoatigrado, Geek1337, Gene Nygaard, Gfoley4, Giftlite, Giggy 12345, Gilliam, Gingavitus 777, Gits (Neo), Glenn, Glmory, Goudzovski, Greenpowered, Grstain, Gryllida, Gökhan, H0dges, H2g2bob, HEL, Harry, Headbomb, Helix 84, Hellbus, Herbee, Heron, HexaChord, Hommadi2001, Hongooi, Hqb, Hunter360x, Hurricane Angel, Hydrogen Iodide, ICE77, IVAN3MAN, Iantresman, Icairns, Icep, Imrankhan85, Incompetence, Inquisitu Intangir, Iridescent, Isdarts222, Ixfd64, J.delanov, JD554, JForget, JJ Harrison, JaGa, JabberWok, Jackelfive, JackyR, Jaganath, Jagun, Janolaf30, JasonSaulG, Jauhienij, Javalenok, Jaxl, JerrySteal, Jfx319, JoanneB, John of Reading, John254, JohnBlackburne, Jojalozzo, Justanyone, Jvansanten, KJS77, Kafka Liz, KasugaHuang, Katalaveno, Katieh5584, Kenshin9554, Kesac, Khashishi, Kimse, Kingpin13, Kku, Kmarinas86, Kri, Kurzon, Laurascudder, LeCire, LeilaniLad, Lenko, Lichen from Hell, Light current, LilHelpa, Lindberg G Williams Jr, Locriani, Lookang, Lseixas, Luke490, Luna Santin, M C Y 1008, MC10, MER-C, MacedonianBoy, Magog the Ogre, Manscher, MarcoLittel, Marmzok, MarsRover, Maschen, Matdrodes, Materialscientist, Mattbr, Maxhutch, Mcmonkeyburger, Mebden, Melchoir, Mentifisto, Merseyless, Metacomet, Mh liv01, Michael Hardy, Michi zh, Mihail Vasiliev, Mikiemike, Mjpieters, Mni9791, Modulatum, Momo san, Mossd, Msiddalingaiah, Mstyne, Myasuda, Mygerardromance, Nabla, Nageh, Nakon, NatureA16, Ndhuang, Neko-chan, Netheril96, NewEnglandYankee, Nicolharper, Nigilan, Nmnogueira, Noommos, Notinasnaid, Ocolon, Oda Mari, Ohnoitsjamie, Old Moonraker, Olivier, Omegatron, Onco p53, Oreo Priest, Owlbuster, Oxymoron83, Palle.haastrup, Paolo.dL, Papa November, Patrick, Paverider, Pax: Vobiscum, Pdn, Pearle, Pedantik, Pedro, Pekinensis, Penubag, Persian Poet Gal, Pfalstad, Pgadfor, Pgosta, Phasespace, Phil Boswell, Philip Trueman, Photodude Phynicen, Physis, Pi zza314159, Pinethicket, Pissipo, Pjacobi, Pokipsy76, Pol098, Pollinator, Postglock, Prodego, Oniemice, Quantpole, Quibik, RG2, RJHall, Racko94, RadioFan, Radon210, Rafonseca, Ral315, Razimantv, Rbj, Rdsmith4, Reddi, Regig, RepublicanJacobite, Rich Farmbrough, Richerman, Rico402, Rjstott, Rjwilmsi, Robinh, RockMagnetist, Ross Burgess, Rossami, Rpf, Rrburke, Rundquist, SCZenz, SDC, SJP, Salsb, Salt Yeung, Sam Korn, Santista1982, Sbharris, Sbyrnes321, Scarian, Scohoust, Scooter, Sfu, Shawn81, Sheliak, Signalhead, Sintau.tayua, Sir48, SirEditALot, Sjakkalle, Smack, Smark33021, Smile a While, Sneller2, Snigbrook, Sole Soul, Some jerk on the Internet, SomeUsr, Southen, Speedevil, Srleffler, Ssilvers, Stan Sykora, Stannered, Starwed, Starwiz, Steel, Steve Quinn, SteveBaker, Stevenj, Strait, TStein, Tagray, Talon Artaine, Tarquin, TedPavlic, Telpardec, Template namespace initialisation script, Tempodivalse, Tgoyen, Thatguyflint, The Earwig, The Thing That Should Not Be, The wub, The-G-Unit-Boss, Thric3, Tide rolls, Tim Shuba, Tim Starling, Time3000, Tkirkman, Tlabshier, Tonyalfrey, Treisijs, Trovatore, Trusilver, Twsx, UnknownForEver, Useight, Utcursch, Vamaviscool123, Van der Hoorn, Van helsing, Vary, Vcelloho, Veinor, Verdi1, Versus22, Vlus, Wahying, Wavelength, Wavgfkl, Wayward, Whitepaw, WikiHead, WikiDao, William Avery, Wizard191, Wogboy52, Wolfkeeper, Woohookitty, Woseph, Ximenes Resende, Xtremepunker, Yevgeny Kats, Yill577, Yoduh2007, Yurei-eggtart, ZodTron, Zoicon5, محبوب عالم, 0000000, 1033 anonymous edits

Current density Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454497391 Contributors: Andrei Stroe, Andres Agudelo, Arch dude, Bahar101, Barticus88, Brews ohare, Complexica, Dave1g, Dicklyon, Ekarademir, Emote, Eric Hegi, Finell, Fuhghettaboutit, Giftlite, Giro720, GlobeGores, Headbomb, HitchHiker42, Hooperbloob, Icep, Ideal gas equation, Jaaaap, Jaan513, Jaapkroe, Jeffrey O. Gustafson, Kku, Larsobrien, Lathrop, Lenko, Manscher, Marie Poise, Michael C Price, Mild Bill Hiccup, Mmm-kkk, MolBioMan, Mppf, Paolo.dL, Rheostatik, RubberTyres, S milady, Sanya3, Srleffler, StradivariusTV, Tevildo, The Original Wildbear, Twin Bird, Wtshymanski, Xonqnopp, Zaereth, Zureks, ^musaz, 48, ``anonymous edits

Displacement current Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=459309910 Contributors: AlexDitto, Alfred Centauri, Bobo192, Brews ohare, Charles Matthews, Chetvorno, Ciyayesipi, Complexica, Corinnemansfield, DJIndica, David Haslam, Dominican, Dreadstar, Dsk8, Edgar181, Ettrig, FDT, Freiddie, Gene Nygaard, Gershwinrb, Giftlite, Goluckyryan, Grebaldar, Hamsterlopithecus, Headbomb, Icairns, Insertesla, Ivor Catt, Iw3idz, John of Reading, L-H, Lawpjc, Light current, Marie Poise, Marokwitz, Matthew R Dunn, Michael Hardy, Nmnogueira, NuclearEnergy, Oli Filth, Omegatron, Oscarthecat, Passw0rd, Pfalstad, Plvekamp, Rdrosson, Rogerbrent, Rracecarr, Sasajid, Sheliak, Srleffler, That Guy, From That Show!, The Anome, Theslavemaster, Tim Shuba, Vadmium, Vahagn Petrosyan, Wtshymanski, Wurzel, Yevgeny Kats, 老陳, 75 anonymous edits

Electric charge *Source*: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461626617 *Contributors*: ABCD, ACBest, Aadal, Acroterion, Alansohn, Alfred Centauri, Andre Engels, Andrei Stroe, Andres, Andy M. Wang, Arakunem, Atlant, Avnjay, AxelBoldt, Ayan2289, Bambaiah, Barticus88, Bhaskarandpm, BillC, Biscuittin, Bobo192, Bongwarrior, Brad7777, Brews ohare, Brockert, Bubba hotep, Bvcrist, Calmer Waters, Caltas, Canley, Capricorn42, Cenarium, Cernms, Chetvorno, Cimex, CinchBug, Cking1414, Constructive editor, Conversion script, Cronholn144, Cyberman, DARTH SIDIOUS 2, DJIndica, DV8 2XL, Daniel.Cardenas, DarkFalls, Darkfight, DavidCary, Davidteng, Dbachmann, Delirium, Demmy100, Demonuk, DerHexer, Discospinster, Dmitry sychov, Drphilharmonic, Drunauthorized, Dual Freq, Duping Man, Eleasar777, Ellywa, Elvum, Enormousdude, Epbr123, Eshmate, Excirial, Faradayplank, Fast kartwheels, Fl, Fredrik, Frozenevolution, GNU, Gakrivas, Gastin, Geek1337, Gene Nygaard, Gentgeen, Geoffrey.landis, Gerry Ashton, Giftlite, Gilliam, Ginsengbomb, Giraffedata, Glenn, Gogo Dodo, Gurch, HalfShadow, Hallenrm, Harddk, Headbomb, HenkvD, HenryLi, Herbee, Heron, IRP, Iantresman, Icairns, Ihwood, ImperatorExercitus, InvertRect, Irfanyousufdar, Ixfd64, J2thawiki, JDPhD, JDSperling, JDoorjam, JDspeeder1, JForget, Jason Quinn, Jc3s5h, Jebus989, Jefferson Anderson, JerrySteal, Jivee Blau, Jjurik, JohnOwens, Johndburger, Jojalozzo, Jonkerz, Japlant, Jpk, Jsd, Juliancolton, Jusdafax, Karol Langner, Kehrli, Kingpin13, Kjkolb, Kkmurray, Kocher2006, Krash, Kri, L Kensington, Lalrang2007, Laurascudder, LedgendGamer, Lenko, Levineps, LiDaobing, Light current, Logical Gentleman, Looxix, Lseixas, Lucinos, LuizBalloti, M. Bilal Shafiq, Manop, Manscher, Manuel Anastácio, MarkSutton, Marquez, Materialscientist, Mav, Mdd, Mdebets, Meaghan, Mejor Los Indios, Meno25, Michael Hardy, MichaelBillington, Mikeo, Mild Bill Hiccup, Moeron, Monty845, Msadaghd, Mithrandir, NSiln, Naidevinci, Naui, Ndkartik, Nickipedia 008, NightFalcon90909, Nikai, Nivix, Nmnogueira, Niviv, Nonsuch

Palica, Peter Karlsen, Peterlin, Pharaoh of the Wizards, Phazvmk, Philip Trueman, PhySusie, Pinethicket, Pinikas, Prolog, Psyphen, Pyrrhus16, QuickClown, RScheiber, RandomCritic, Raven in Orbit, Rbj, Reddi, Reyk, Richard L. Peterson, Roadrunner, Rocastelo, Rogper, Rossami, Rrburke, Rror, Ryryrules100, Scentoni, Scottyferguson, Seaphoto, Sertion, Sheliak, Slowmover, Snowdog, Springnuts, Str712, Ssilvers, Sstolper, Stephaninator, Stephen C Wells, Stephenb, Steve Quinn, Stikonas, StradivariusTV, Sven Manguard, TDogg310, Taytaylisious09, Tcsetattr, Template namespace initialisation script, Termine, The Original Wildbear, The Thing That Should Not Be, The tooth, Thunderboltz, Tide rolls, Tinton5, Treisijs, Truthnlove, Uncle Dick, User AI, Vald, Valen, Velella, Versus22, Vincom2, Virenator, WISo, WikifingHelper, Wing gundam, Wjbeaty, Wknight94, Wuzur, Yevgeny Kats, ZeroOne, 百家姓之四, 466 anonymous edits

Magnetic charge Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454500400 Contributors: 2bithacker, 2over0, 84user, Aarchiba, Achoo5000, Adarsh116098, Ahoerstemeier, Alansohn, Alex Fix, Andre Engels, Andrija radovic, Antixt, Aoosten, Ap, ArnoldReinhold, BD2412, Bakken, Balashpersia, Barak Sh, Barraki, Beland, BenRG, Bryan Derksen, Camembert, Capefeather, CatherS, Catslash, Charles Matthews, Charles C, Charvest, Congruence, ConradPino, Courcelles, Crumley, Cutler, Cwedhrin, Cyan, DVdm, David Thorne, Dawright12, Dchoulette, Deannullen09, Dickontoo, Diffy, Disambiguator, Dominus, DonSiano, Dorfrottel, Dougweller, DragonHawk, Drrngryv, Długosz, ESkog, EddEdmondson, El C, Elektron, Emerson7, Enochlau, Erkcan, Eyu100, FDominec, FKLS, Falcorian, Floquenbeam, Flying hazard, Fru1tbat, GRB, Gaius Cornelius, Gareth McCaughan, Giftlite, Gillis, Giscard2, Gorog, GregorB, Gzuckier, Headbomb, Henrygb, Heron, Hollgor, HonoluluMan, Icairns, Igodard, Ixfd64, JA.Davidson, JabberWok, JarlaxleArtemis, Jeffq, Jerzy, Jkl, John of Reading, Jonathan Karlsson, JorisvS, Jstrater, Karl Dickman, Karl-H, Kbodouhi, Khukri, KingCarrot, Kjoonlee, Likebox, Linas, Lisatwo, Lixo2, Loadmaster, LonelyBeacon, Lookix, Lumidek, Luna Santin, MFNickster, MarSch, Mathfreak11235, Maury Markowitz, Maxime.Debosschere, Melchoir, Michael C Price, Michael Hardy, Mike Rosoft, Mild Bill Hiccup, Mintleaf, Mkweise, Mohseng, Morphotomy, Moyerjax, Mpatel, Munkel Davidson, NORND123, Nagualdesign, NerdyNSK, Nick Mks, Nlalic, Nova77, Nsande01, Octahedron80, Oldnoah, Particle hep, Patrick, Pauli133, PearlSt82, Peter Ellis, Pharotic, Phys, Piccor, Pit-trout, Pjacobi, Plasticup, PoorLeno, Q0k, QFT, Qaswqaswgd, Quibik, Randall Nortman, Rapio, RaseaC, Rasmus Faber, Razimantv, Relke, Renaissancee, Rich Farmbrough, Rjwilnsi, Roadrunner, Rock4arolla, Ross Fraser, Ruud Koot, SamuelRiv, Sasquatch, Sbyres321, Seraphimblade, Skatche, Skeptical scientist, Skininki, Skippy le Grand Gourou, Skysmith, Spartaz, Splartmaggot, Stephen B Streater, Stevenj, Stigin, Tabletop, Tardis, T

Electric flux Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461638812 Contributors: Achilles750, Aulis Eskola, Daniel.Cardenas, Dcirovic, Ddvche, Djr32, Fryed-peach, Fuhghettaboutit, Gabriel Vidal Álvarez, Giftlite, Headbomb, Izno, JoergenB, Mathwhiz 29, Mike Rosoft, PV=nRT, Patrick, Physnix, PieterJanR, PigFlu Oink, Wdwd, 26 anonymous edits

Magnetic flux Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=452296512 Contributors: ARTE, Aiken drum, Aka042, Alansohn, Albmont, Alchemist Jack, AliRajabi, Andre Engels, Annannienann, Atlantia, Balcer, Basket of Puppies, Bdesham, Brews ohare, Bryan Derksen, Caliston, Cigale, Crazycomputers, D4g0thur, DJIndica, Danlaycock, Deodar, Dicklyon, Dispenser, Editor at Large, Electron9, Finemann, FrozemMan, Giftlite, Gludwiczak, Grendelkhan, Headbomb, Heron, Icairns, Igoldste, InShaneee, InverseHypercube, Irigi, Isnow, Itai, J.delanoy, JDHeinzmann, Jacobolus, Jag123, JeremyA, Jvansanten, Kenny TM~, Kku, Kmarinas86, Laurascudder, Linas, Live2dielol, Lseixas, MSGJ, Marc Venot, Marc van de Korput, Metacomet, Michael Hardy, Michilans, MikeLynch, MikeMalak, Muriel Gottrop, NERIUM, NOrbeck, Nahtanoj04, Nedim Ardoğa, Netkinetic, NewEnglandYankee, Nk, Nsaa, Oleg Alexandrov, Pandamonia, Papercutbiology, Peterlin, Pfalstad, Piotrus, Pleasantville, Qsaw, Ran, Raoul NK, Reddi, Russell04, Russell4, Sbyrnes321, Scm83x, Searchme, Shalom Yechiel, Sheliak, Stevenj, TStein, Template namespace initialisation script, Tiggerjay, Tim Starling, Tobias Bergemann, Treekids, Treisijs, Tuttt, USPatent, Uncle Dick, Uni4dfx, Vadmium, Vrenator, Waveguy, Wimt, Wolfkeeper, Xxanthippe, Yms, 115 anonymous edits

Electric potential *Source*: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldia=458780419 *Contributors*: 4twenty42o, AManWithNoPlan, AdjustShift, Alan Peakall, Amog, Andres, Andres Agudelo, Antandrus, Antikon, Antixt, Aulis Eskola, AvicAWB, AxelBoldt, BRPXQZME, Bensaccount, BillC, Browster, Bryan Derksen, Carultch, Cbdorsett, Charles Matthews, Cometstyles, Conversion script, Cordell, Cxz111, DJIndica, DMacks, David Haslam, Delirium, Diberri, Dicklyon, Discospinster, Donareiskoffer, Dormy Carla, Drnies, Ducker, Dunaboy, El C, Fabrício Kury, Fibonacci, Firefly322, Fizicist, Frokor, FrozenMan, Frédérick Lacase, Gabr-el, Gene Nygaard, George2001hi, GeorgeW, Giftlite, Graham87, Gralo, Harddk, Headbomb, HereToHelp, Heron, Hoo man, Hughey, Idontunderstandwhat, Isis, Ixfd64, Jo4n, JYOuyang, JYOlkowski, Jason Carreiro, JayEsJay, Jc3sSh, Jean-François Clet, JimVC3, Jusdafax, Karol Langner, Keenan Pepper, Kevin B12, Kku, Kuru, Lapzwans, Laurascudder, Layfon, Lenko, LiDaobing, Light current, Lookang, LouPuls, Lseixas, Luna Santin, LutzL, Macavity, Maestromatt, Marc33uk, Michael Hardy, Mihaip, Minhtung91, MisterSheik, Mormegil, Mufka, NawlinWiki, Nnnogueira, NuclearEnergy, Oleg Alexandrov, Omegatron, Paga19141, Patrick, PenguiN42, Peter Chastain, Peter L, Pie4all88, RGForbes, Rockvee, Roo72, Rostheskunk, Sabarosey, Salsb, Sam Korn, Sathimantha, Satyasai75, Sbyrnes321, ScAvenger Iv, SeanAH, Sheliak, Skittleys, Smack, Starsong, Stephen C Wells, Strevaiy, Ziutliwikia, Tangee5, Template namespace initialisation script, Theleftorium, Tim Starling, Tsi43318, Venny85, Waggers, WikHead, Willking1979, Youssefsan, ZlatkoMinev, Listo Ji, Zik, Mino Ji, ZikoMinev, Listo Ji, ZikoMinev, Jieka, Zik, Miro, Zik, Zik, Jieka, ZikoMinev, Jieka, ZikoMi

Magnetic potential Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454496537 Contributors: AdjustShift, Avb, Burn, Charles Matthews, Chris the speller, Christopherlumb, Constant314, DoktorDec, Enon, Excirial, Fizicist, Gene Nygaard, Giftlite, Glmory, Grendelkhan, Headbomb, Hess88, Hgilbert, Hidaspal, Hollgor, Icairns, Infovarius, Iridescent, Karol Langner, Kmellem, Kri, Kupirijo, Larssl, Laurascudder, Lumidek, MFNickster, MatrixFrog, Netheril96, Omnispace, Phys, Pinestone, R'n'B, RyanC., Sabzali, Sbyrnes321, Sneller2, Stevenj, StewartMH, TStein, The Anonymous One, Thucydides411, TimBentley, Tobycat, Vuldoraq, Wishymanski, Xxanthippe, Yil1577, 65 anonymous edits

Electric susceptibility Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454497777 Contributors: ABCD, Afri, Alzarian16, Barak Sh, Brews ohare, Crowsnest, Dodohjk, DrBob, FrozenMan, Gcm, Harold f, Headbomb, Karol Langner, KnightRider, Larryisgood, Light current, Mak17f, Marie Poise, Mathieu Perrin, Mattpickman, Maxim, Michael Hardy, Pfalstad, Radagast83, Rdrosson, Rjwilmsi, Siroxo, Steinsky, Steve Quinn, Stevenj, Ti-30X, Timwilson85, Ufim, Waggers, 老陳, 12 anonymous edits

Permittivity Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=459616152 Contributors: Absinf, Adam410, Adams13, Alexrudd, Andres, Anthony, Archimerged, ArielGold, AvicAWB, AxelBoldt, Balcer, Bdesham, Bert Hickman, Born2bwire, Brews ohare, Brockert, Bryan Derksen, Bubba73, Cacycle, Carl Koch, Complexica, Crowsnest, DMacks, Dan, Darth Panda, Deepon, Djr32, Dougher, DrBob, Edward E. Hopkins, Edwinhubbel, Eequor, Emt409, Euc, FDT, Felipebm, FelisSchrödingeris, Femto, Fgnievinski, Fresheneesz, FrozenMan, Gazza1685, Gene Nygaard, Giftlite, Glmory, Gnowor, Heron, Humanist, Icairns, Ich42, Iridescent, Jaganath, Jauhienij, Jimp, Joriki, Jslm, JunCTionS, Kaiserkarl 13, Karol Langner, Keenan Pepper, Kildunye, Kjkolb, KyleP, Larryisgood, Light current, Lokozoid, Looxix, M.O.X, M1ss Iontomars2k4, Mak17f, Marie Poise, Materialscientist, Mckaysalisbury, Mfrosz, Michael Hardy, Michaelamiller, Mild Bill Hiccup, Mshuha, Mytomi, NeilTarrant, Numbo3, Osquar F, Out of Phase User, Paolo.dL, Patrick, Pfalstad, Pgan002, Pieter Kuiper, Polaron, QTCaptain, RoMaY89, Radagast83, Rdrosson, Ricardo.hein.h, Rwestafer, Salsb, Sam Hocevar, Sbyrnes321, Scheinverfermann, Scollin, Sean Tater, Selket, Sietse Snel, SimonP, Snaily, Someone42, Spike Wilbury, Srleffler, Stephen C. Carlson, Steve Quinn, Stevenj, Stikonas, Strykerhorse, Sverdrup, TDogg310, TheDeuce1123, Thurth, Tim Starling, Tobias Bergmann, Traxs7, Truffer, Twin Bird, UlmPhysiker, Unyoyega, Verrai, WhitHatLurker, Wigie, Wood Thrush, Wtshymanski, Xezlec, Xtraneous, Zoicon5, 老陳, 218 anonymous edits

Permeability Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/windex.php?oldid=459616594 Contributors: 20ver0, Aami rony, Aimulti, Andre Engels, Antixt, Archimerged, Army1987, Arnero, Ashishbhatnagar72, Aulis Eskola, BD2412, Barkeep, BehzadAhmadi, Berserkerus, Bmk, Brews ohare, Brockert, Bubba73, Buggi22, Capricorn42, Cdmeyer, Complexica, Conscious, Crazymonkey1123, Cryptic C62, DMacks, Daniel, levine, Deepon, Donarreiskoffer, Draicone, Dxtrous, Ebyabe, Eequor, Electricmic, Evand, Ewilson2011, Ferengi, FrozenMan, Frungi, Fuhghettaboutit, Gene Nygaard, Giftlite, H2g2bob, Hasek is the best, Headbomb, Heron, Hippojazz, Hugo-cs, IanOfNorwich, Icairns, JLD, Jeltz, Jimmy, Jkthomps7, Joechuck, JohnOwens, Jtslm, Kanakukk, Katoa, Keenan Pepper, Keyur86, Kmarinas86, KoenDelaere, L-H, LMB, Lazulilasher, Lovecz, M.O.X, Manco Capac, Marie Poise, Materialscientist, Michael Hardy, Michi zh, MihaiLG, Mmortal03, Nakon, Omegatron, PNG, Pagw, Payakoff, Pearle, PlantTrees, Rdrosson, Rememberway, Rtdrury, Ryanrs, Salsb, Sam Hocevar, Sankalpdravid, Sceptre, Shadowlynk, Sibian, Skwa, Snowolf, Soclan, Srleffler, StevenVerstoep, Stevenj, Sundaryourfriend, Sverdrup, TDogg310, Tstein, Teapeat, The Land, Thelb4, Tom.Reding, Trevor MacInnis, Verpies, Voidxor, WinstonSmith, Wolfkeeper, Xoder, Yoshigev, Z4ngetsu, Zhangzhe0101, Zureks, Zzedar, 136 anonymous edits

Magnetization Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=455385909 Contributors: 16@r, Awickert, BehzadAhmadi, Berserkerus, Brews ohare, Broune US, CambridgeBayWeather, Cdmeyer, D6, David R. Ingham, Emilia.Wiki, Ferengi, Flszen, Fred Hsu, FrozenMan, Gene Nygaard, Giftlite, Grebaldar, Gurch, Harold f, Haymaker, Headbomb, JJ Harrison, Jeff3000, Karol Langner, Kay Dekker, Khalidkhoso, Kjkolb, MER-C, Michael Hardy, Mild Bill Hiccup, Netheril96, Nimur, Pearle, Q0k, RockMagnetist, Rtdrury, Run!, Salsb, San rees, Saperaud, Sbyrnes321, Sitarmooseman, Sugaar, TStein, Tango, TomyDuby, Tone, Ugajin, V8rik, Wdcf, Wolfkeeper, Xenonice, Xxanthippe, Yevgeny Kats, Zhangzhe0101, ^musaz, 46 anonymous edits

Polarization Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454499510 Contributors: Adrory, Antixt, Brews ohare, Burn, Crowsnest, D6, Danh, Dario Gnani, Dawynn, DrBob, Dude fri13, E104421, Elee115, Freiddie, FrozenMan, Geek28, Headbomb, JJ Harrison, Jeff3000, Jyril, Karol Langner, Kevinb, Metacomet, Mlada, Mrklaney, Onionmon, Pdn, Qkrijger, RJB1, Romanm, Russell E, Salsb, Sbyrnes321, Scentoni, Shalom Yechiel, Shoichi yamaguchi, Srleffler, Stevenj, StradivariusTV, TStein, The Thing That Should Not Be, Trommeltier, Yevgeny Kats, 32 anonymous edits

Scalar potential Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=457330175 Contributors: Allen McC., Anamexis, Arcfrk, AugPi, COGDEN, Charles Matthews, Cool3, Craig Pemberton, Eraserhead1, Giftlite, Haljolad, Headbomb, Hess88, Infovarius, Karol Langner, KasugaHuang, Kcordina, Linas, Lookang, MFNickster, Melnakeeb, Michael Hardy, Minhtung91, Oleg Alexandrov, PV=nRT, Patrick, Qniemiec, Smack, Social tamarisk, TStein, Tiddly Tom, Usien6, VanishedUser314159, Xnn, Mыша, 18 anonymous edits

Vector potential Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=460456447 Contributors: Adiel lo, AugPi, Brews ohare, Brian Tvedt, CBM, Calle, Charles Matthews, Complexica, Conscious, Dmr2, Giftlite, Headbomb, Icairns, Jossi, Karol Langner, KasugaHuang, Kupirijo, Lambiam, Larryisgood, LokiClock, MFNickster, MarSch, Nullpointer, Oleg Alexandrov, Pinestone, Sbyrnes321, Sverdrup, WriterHound, 15 anonymous edits

Vacuum permeability Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=444191943 Contributors: A. di M., Aerosapien, BD2412, Biblbroks, Bondrake, Brews ohare, Bubba73, Cardamon, Craig Pemberton, DVdm, Djr32, Doodle77, Fuhghettaboutit, Gaius Cornelius, Giftlite, Headbomb, John, Larryisgood, Ltmboy, Mnmngb, Moxfyre, Ndhuang, Physchim62, Pieter Kuiper, Popovvk, PrimeHunter, RGForbes, Steve Quinn, Stevenj, TimothyRias, Wigie, Wthered, XJamRastafire, Yoshigev, 34 anonymous edits

Vacuum permittivity Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454642042 Contributors: Ajohnson2289, Barak Sh, Brews ohare, Chemmix, ChrisChiasson, Dgroseth, Dicklyon, Djr32, Edudobay, Gaius Cornelius, Gavia immer, Gene Nygaard, Gitlitte, Haein45, Headbomb, Hmains, Jimp, John of Reading, KaiMartin, Karol Langner, Lambiam, Larryisgood, Loodog, Maderibeyza, Martin Ulfvik, Michael C Price, Michael Hardy, MightyWarrior, Mike Rosoft, Miraculouschaos, Mnmngb, Orionus, Patrick, Peter Chastain, Physchim62, Pieter Kuiper, Polaron, Poulpy, RGForbes, Randomblue, Rich Farmbrough, Ryiwilmsi, Rmashhadi, Srleffler, Stevenj, StradivariusTV, Svick, The Original Wildbear, TimothyRias, Tizeff, Tobias Bergemann, Twin Bird, Vyznev Xnebara, WinstonSmith, Wthered, Zebas, 老陳, 71 anonymous edits

Speed of light Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461615152 Contributors: (aeropagitica), (jarbarf), 193.203.83.xxx, 21655, 8.218, 84user, A civilian, A. di M., A455bcd9, A876, A8UDI, A930913, AJG, Abc123monkey, Abce2, Abrech, Abtract, Ace Class Shadow, AcharyaR, Achoo5000, Acroterion, Adashiel, Aditya, Adrian.benko, AdrianBurgos, Agge1000, Ahoerstemeier, Ajr, Akamad, Akldawgs, Alan012, Alansohn, Alec - U.K., Aleenf1, Aletoni, Alex Klotz, Ali K, Alisonken1, Alphachimp, Amcfreely, Amorymeltzer, Amrad, Andre Engels, Andres, Andrewlp1991, AndyTheGrump, Angelbo, AngelicMasterMind, Angr, AnonGuy, Anonymous Dissident, Anoriega, Antandrus, Anthony, Antixt, Ap, Apoc2400, Apostrophe, Appple, Aptony, Aquatics, Arabani, Arfon, Ariel., Arnero, ArnoldReinhold, Arpingstone, Arthuralee, Arturus, Arvindn, Asbestos, Ashenai, Ashley Pomeroy, Astronautics, Ati3414, Atlant, Aunt Entropy, Auric, Avalcarce, AxelBoldt, AySz88, Azo bob, B4hand, BF, BRUTE, Babomb, Badgernet, Barticus88, BattyBoy03, Bazerko, Bearbloke, Beetfarm Louie, Beland, Bella Swan, Ben-Zin, BenNightingale, Bender235, Benjamin.foxman, Bento00, Besselfunctions, Bethpage89, Bhadani, Bidabadi, Binksternet, Bircoph, Bjromanus69, Bkonrad, BlackAndy, Blacklemon67, Blainster, Blanchardb, Blueberrypony, Bob A, Bob K31416, Bobblewik, Bobo192, Boing! said Zebedee, Bombarstic, Bonadea, Bongwarrior, Boredzo, Bosonic dressing, Brandmeister (old), Bratswithmustard, Breakfastmachine1000, Brenalair, Brews ohare, Brianhe, Brighterorange, Bryan Derksen, Bsmith671, Bubba73, Bubble chamber, Bukowski, Bunthorne, Burnon720, Burzmali, Bwsmith1, C0nanPayne, CAFxX, CIreland, Cadsuane Melaidhrin, Calabe1992, CambridgeBayWeather, Can't sleep, clown will eat me, CanadianCaesar, CanadianLinuxUser, CanisRufus, Cantus, Capricorn42, CardinalDan, Carlosp420, Carnage2K4, Carusus, Catgut, Cbrodersen, Cburnett, Cdlane30165, Cederal, Cedgin, Centrx, Chadstarr, Chaide, Chamal N, Charliemouse, CharlotteWebb, Charvest, Chas zzz brown, Chaugen1, Chelmite, Chenzw, Chez37, Chill doubt, Chovain, Chowbok, Chris Fletcher, Chris O'Riordan, Christiaan, Christian List, Christopher Parham, Christopher Thomas, Chun-hian, Chymicus, Ciaccona, CityOfSilver, Ck lostsword, Clarince63, Clayhalliwell, Cod1337, CommonsDelinker, Complexica, Coneslayer, Conversion script, CorvetteZ51, Corwin8, Cos111, CosineKitty, Count Iblis, Courcelles, Cpl Syx, Cquan, Crispmuncher, Csladic, CultureArchitect, Curtdbz, Cybercobra, Cyp, Cyphern, D. Recorder, D.H, D4n, D6, DDCrunch, DHN, DJ Clayworth, DO'Neil, DS1000, DVD R W, DVdm, Dabigkid, Dabomb87, Dabuddy, Daganboy, Dandrake, Danielnerso, Danny, Dark Ermac, Darklilac, DataWraith, David Cohen, David J Wilson, Davidh, Davidhorman, Davidwr, Dbachmann, Dbfirs, Dcoetzee, Deanmullen09, Decumanus, Deglr6328, Dejawolf, Dekisugi, Delirium, Deltabeignet, Denisarona, Deor, Dethme0w, Dfeldmann, Dialectric, Diberri, Dicklyon, Diegowarrior, Dirac66, DirkvdM, Discospinster, Djr32, DocWatson42, Doceddi, Doczilla, Dominus, Donkyta, Doradus, Dr.K., DrBob, Dracontes, Drajaytripathi, Dratman, Dravick, Drbogdan, Drbuzz44, Dreadstar, Drift chambers, Drkarthi, Drmies, Dtgriscom, Dtrebbien, DuKu, Dude1818, Dynamization, Dysmorodrepanis, Dzubint, Długosz, E Pluribus Anthony, ESkog, Eah2498, Ed Poor, Edcolins, EddEdmondson, Edderso, EdwardLockhart, Edwinstearns, Egg, Egil, Ehrenkater, El C, Electron9, Eleuther, Email4mobile, Ems57fcva, Engineman, Enochlau, Enormousdude, Enviroboy, Epastore, Epbr123, Epepke, Ernstk, Errabee, Escape Orbit, Escape80, Espoo, Everyking, Evil saltine, Excirial, Exir Kamalabadi, Extra999, Extransit, Exxos77, Ezra Wax, F G Sedgwick, FDT, FKmailliW, Facts707, Falcon8765, Falcorian, Fangz, Favonian, Fconaway, FedorB, Ferkelparade, Fermion, Figon, Filceolaire, Finell, Fireice, Fisherjammy, Fiziker, Flarity, Florian Blaschke, Flowerpotman, Fredrik, Fropuff, Froth, Funk1998, FyzixFighter, G Rose, G0dS F1NEST, GB fan, Gaelen S., Gail, Gaius Cornelius, Gameseeker, Ganesh J. Acharya, Gangetic-aryan, GarHTField234, Gary King, Gdo01, Ged UK, Geht, Gekritzl, Gene Nygaard, Gene s, Geoffrey.landis, George100, GeorgeLouis, Georgewilliamherbert, Ghquik, Gibson 29979, Giftlite, Gilkamesh, Gjp23, Glenn L, Glj1952, Gm axis, Goblin, Gogo Dodo, Gparker, Graham87, Green caterpillar, Greg L, Gregory9, Gregorydavid, Grim Revenant, Grokmoo, Grovyle55, Grundle2600, Grunt, Gsd65, Gsmgm, Gwernol, Hadal, Hagie, Hairy Dude, Handmaidstale, Hankwang, Harald88, Harry the Dirty Dog, Haseo9999, Havi-san, Hawkeve7, Havabusa future, Headbomb, Heimhenge, Hellfire Preacherman, Hello32020, Hemmingsen, HenryLi, Heron, Hertz1888, Hess88, Hfastedge, Hon-3s-T, Horologium, Howdoesthiswo, Hpa, Htews, Husond, Hydrogen Iodide, IVAN3MAN, Ian13, Icairns, Ignoranteconomist, Iimd1931, Ilmari Karonen, Immunize, InbredScorpion, Injust, Insuranze, InvertRect, Invisifan, Inzy, Itsmine, IvorE, Ivs5982, Ivysaur, Ixfd64, J.Voss, J.delanoy, J.smith, JA.Davidson, JDAWiseman, JForget, JKeck, JVDSS, JYolkowski, Jackrepenning, Jafet, Jagged 85, Jagun, Jakohn, Jay-Sebastos, Jazza55, Jb dodo, Jbergquist, Jccooper, Jeepday, Jeff G., Jennavecia, Jeremyl. Imsg, Jewbacca, Jhbdel, Jholmes900, Jimbobsmileypants, Jimp, Jitse Niesen, Jj137, Jleedev, Jnestorius, Jni, Joe Kress, Joelfurr, John of Reading, JohnBlackburne, JohnOwens, JohnWheater, Johnmuir, Johntheadams, Johnuniq, Jok2000, JonDePlume, Joris Gillis, Joshua Issac Jpk, Julesd, Jumbuck, Junin.mendes, JustUser, Justanother, JzG, K, KOIVIN, KYLETHEGOD, Karenjc, Karol Langner, Katalaveno, Kauffner, Kaushalspeed, Kazvorpal, Keegan, Keenan Pepper, Keilana, Kelisi, Kenyon, Kevin, Khukri, Kissshow, Kleinroy, Knight1993, KnightRider, KnowledgeHegemony, KnowledgeOfSelf, Kpufferfish, Kralizec!, Krawi, Krm500, Kundor, Kureido, Kuru, Kusma, Kvinayakpai, Kvng, L'Aquatique, LLcopp, LaRouxEMP, LakeHMM, Lantonov, Latitude0116, Lbr123, LeBofSportif, LeCire, LeLoyd, Leaflord, Lectonar, LegolasGreenleaf, Lenticel, Lesnail, Lestrade, Leuko, Lightspeedchick, Ligulem, Likebox, LilHelpa, Ling Kah Jai, Lir, Lklundin, Logical2u, Longuniongirl, Looxix, Lord British, Lord Emsworth, LouScheffer, Luk, Lumidek, Lupin, Lupo, Lycurgus, M C Y 1008, MER-C, MPerel, Macabu, Macdonald-ross, Maghnus, Magioladitis, Magister Mathematicae, Magnetizzle, Magog the Ogre, Mahlonmahlon, Mailseth, MajorVariola, Majts, Mako, Malo, Mandarax, Maniadis, Mankar Camoran, MarSch, Marburns, MarcoLittel, Marek69, Martin Hogbin, Martin451, MartinSpacek, Marty lambe, Maruti nandan, Mathematiks, Maurice Carbonaro, Mav, Maynardjk13, Mayooranathan, Mbarbier, McSly, Mcorazao, Mdebets, Mdw0, Medich1985, Meelar, Melchoir, Meowkinz0mg, Mepncal, Mercury, MetalmanCaE, Mets501, Mgiganteus1, Michael C Price, Michael Hardy, Michaelkourlas, Mike Peel, Mike Rosoft, Mike409, Mikehelms, Mikemoral, MikeyTMNT, Millarj, Mindmatrix, Minesweeper, Mintguy, Mirokado, Misterfahrenheit, Misternuvistor, Miyer11, Mkch, Mlewis000, Mmk, Mo0, Moink, Molinogi, Moroder, Moses2k, Moshe Constantine Hassan Al-Silverburg, MottyGlix, Mr. Wheely Guy, MrSquirrel13, Mrand, Mrdempsey, Mrholybrain, Msruzicka, Munford, Mushlack, Mysdaao, Mysid, Mysidia, Mütze, NAshbery, NIRVANA2764, NMChico24, NOrbeck, NSH001, Nabla, Nadokiller, Namaia, Nathanhaynes, Nathanielbartkus, Naveevindren 1618, Navy Blue, Ndriscoll, Nergaal, Neutrality, NewEnglandYankee, Nicecoolbuddy, Nicholas Perkins, Nick, Nighend, Nigholith, Nihiltres, Nijdam, Nikpapag, Ninetyone, Nivedh, Nk, NoPetrol, NorseOdin, NorsemanII, Northumbrian, Novangelis, Nrksbullet, Nsaa, NuclearWarfare, Nurg, Oblivious, Occultations, Oh Blah Dee Blah Dah, OlYeller21, Omegatron, Omidkhani, Opelio, Optokinetics, Ottomachin, OverlordQ, Oxnard28, Oxymoron83, P g chris, PFSLAKES1, Padillah, Padmanabhd, Paine Ellsworth, Parveson, Pascal. Tesson, Patrick, Patrick0Moran, Paul Koning, Paul r wood, Pdn, Pecos Joe, Pereant antiburchius, Perspicuus, Pervect, Petchboo, Peter, Peter L, PeterisP, Pgk, Phil Boswell, Philip Trueman, PhilipO, Philipgorilla, Philosophicles, Phoenix2, PhySusie, Physchim62, Pieter Kuiper, Pinethicket, Pizza Puzzle, PizzaMargherita, Pjvpjv, Plimmlia, Pmronchi, Poetaris, Poor Yorick, Postdlf, Potatoswatter, Pranathi, PranksterTurtle, Prari, PresN, President Rhapsody, Protonk, Proxima Centauri, Pt, Pwnagepanther, QofASpiewak, Quale, Quantumobserver, Quondum, Ququ, Owe, R6MaY89, RCX, RDBury, RG2, RJHall, RP88, Rachelgoodwin, RadioFan, Rainwarrior, Ramajois, Randomblue, Ranin06, Rasmus Faber, Raul654, Rayfield, Rclocher3, Reaper Eternal, Rebecca, Redvsblue11607, Reedy, RetiredUser2, Revolver, RexNL, Reywas92, Rgdboer, Rich Farmbrough, Richard L. Peterson, Richwales, Ricky raymond hurst, Rjgodoy, Rjstott, Rjwilmsi, Rl, Rnt20, Roadrunner, Robert A. Mitchell, RobertG, Robertvan1, Robma, Rocket71048576, Rojomoke, Ronebofh, Ronstew, RoosMargot, Rrburke, Runaway9995, Ruslik0, Rydel, S-k-k, SCZenz, SUSHRUTA, SWAdair, Sagaciousuk, Saikat m77, Sakurambo, Salsb, Salvio giuliano, Sanchom, SandManMattSH, Sandeep. 1585, Sanders muc, SandyGeorgia, Saros136, Sbharris, Sbyrnes321, Sceptre, Schlafly, Schnolle, Science11bob, Scohoust, ScottSteine Scythian77, Sdj91887, Sean.hoyland, Seb az86556, Sebastiangarth, Seiku~, Selmo, Semperf, Sendhil, ServAce85, Setanta747, Sethmahoney, Shaardu, Shadow demon, Shadowlynk, Shashaanktulsyan, Shell Kinney, Shimirel, Shirik, Shoota Fodder, Silly rabbit, Silversink, Simon Moon, Skapur, Skarnani, Skizzik, Slash, Slavering.dog, Smack, Smallfri, Smiles Aloud, Smoove Z, Soliloquial, Solkoll, Someguy1221, Sonett72, Sonicology, South Bay, Sp33dyphil, SpNeo, Spanglej, Spartaz, Spawn Man, Speed of light 1-way, SpeedyGonsales, Spiel496, Spinningspark, Splintercellguy, SqueakBox, Srleffler, Ssprasath10, Sssdddfff, Stannered, Stealth357, Stefan-Xp, Steve Pucci, Steve Quinn, Stevemanjones4, Stevenj, Stevertigo, Sting au, Suffusion of Yellow, ummonerMarc, Sundar, Superm401, Surajt88, Surfo, Susurrus, Susvolans, Sverdrup, Swpb, Syrian eagle, T.c123, THEN WHO WAS PHONE?, TJDay, TStein, Tagishsimon, Tangotango, Tarotcards, Tarquin, Tassedethe, Tauhidaerospace, Taxman, Tcncv, Tea and crumpets, TechnoFaye, Teflon Don, Tempodivalse, TenOfAllTrades, Teorth, Texture, Tgr, Thayora, The Anome, The Cunctator, The Land, The Magnificent Clean-keeper, The Rationalist, The Thing That Should Not Be, The undertow, TheHYPO, TheIncredibleEdibleOompaLoompa, TheLetterM, TheNewPhobia, TheTrainEnthusiast, Thechamelon, Thecheesykid, TheresJamInTheHills, Theresa knott, Thermochap, ThomasK, Thue, Thumperward, Tide rolls, Tim Shuba, Tim Starling, TimBentley, Timneu22, TimothyRias, Timwi, Tiptoety, Tjshermer, Tobby72, Toenailsin, Tom Pippens, Tom Radulovich, Tom walker, Tony 1, Tpbradbury, TradinTigerJohn, Trevor MacInnis, Tristan Schmelcher, Trovatore, Truthnlove, Twin Bird, Tyco.skinner, UberCryxic, Ubi, Ukexpat, Ukt-zero, Ulcph, Ulric1313, Uncle Scrooge, Unotwotiga, Utcursch, UtherSRG, Uubucks, V1adis1av, Valenvo7, Vanished User 0001, VanishedUser314159, VasilievVV, Vecrumba, Velvetron, Venu62, Versus22, Vicarious, Victamonn, Vignaux, Vipinhari, Visuall, VivaEmilyDavies, Voidxor, Vrenator, Vslashg, Vsmith, Wakari07, Warm&Hard, WarrenPlatts, Watson0123, Wayne Slam, Wayward, Wdl1961, Whitepaw, WikHead, Wikarchitect, WikiPediaAid, WikiSlasher, Wikidan829, Wikipedian64, Wikipelli, WildElf, Wile E. Heresiarch, William M. Connolley, WilliamKF, WillowW, Willtron, Wisden17, Wkdewey, Woland37, Wprlh, Wslypp, Wurzel, X!, XJamRastafire, Xerxes314, Xgkkp, Xonein, Xrchz, XxPantherNovaXx, Ybtcphk, Yellowdesk, Yevgeny Kats, Youandme, ZX81, ZachPruckowski, Zaharous, Zaydana, Zerbu, Zgyorfi, Zoicon5, Zoonosis, Δζ, 이방인 얼라이언스, 1916 anonymous edits

Dielectric Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=455300542 Contributors: 12056, Adiel Io, Ajaxkroon, Alan Liefting, Alex Bakharev, Alfio, Alfred Centauri, Arad, Barticus88, BenFrantzDale, Benplowman, Bert Hickman, BetsyBobby, Blue520, Bob Burkhardt, Borgg, Bread2u, Bryan Derksen, Clreland, CNMIN, Cafe Nervosa, ChemGardener, Chetvorno, Christopher Parham, Chrumps, CoJaBo, Complexica, David Haslam, Dbachmann, Delyle, Deuterium124, Dr Zak, EagleFan, Edwinhubbel, Ehsan.hosseini, Enistuneer, Euty, Fama Clamosa, Fantusta, Femto, Fizicist, Foxjwill, Frodlimt, FrozenMan, Fuzzform, Giftlite, Gitrguru, GregorB, Guiermo, Hajo3, Haleyonhazard, Haljolad, Hard Raspy Sci, Harold f, Headbomb, Heron, Icarims, InvertRect, Iridescent, Jaan513, JabberWok, Jaeger5432, Jeff G., Jegeyom, Jerry-VA, Jimp, Joannacooper, John Walker (fourmilab.ch), John of Reading, John.fothergill, Johnflux, Jondel, Joshlepaknpsa, Kedmond, Kevmitch, Kmarinas86, Laburke, Lamro, Langbein Rise, Light current, Loohcsnuf, LouriePieterse, Lovetinkle, Lxmota, Malcolma, Maniac55, Mappetop, Mariastaar, Marie Poise, Materialscientist, Maximus Rex, McCart42, Mclaugb, Mdawber, Melchoir, Mhaitham.shammaa, MightyWarrior, Milibby, Mmmgb, Ngebbett, Niskhid64, Od Mishehu, Oli Filth, Omnipaedista, Out of Phase User, Pirish, Philip Trueman, Phoebe, Pigsonthewing, Pjrich, Polaron, PrimeCupEevee, Pyfan, Quantumobserver, Ravishkumar88, Romanm, Royalguard11, Rsteif, SDC, Shaddack, SimonP, Smack, Srleffler, Steve Quinn, Storkk, Superm401, Sverdrup, Sweetness46, Techauthor, Thaejas, Thedatastream, Ti-30X, Timwilson85, Tanletuhan, Trebnoj, Ulflund, Uuado, Wavelength, Wikispeller, Wikiuser100, WinterSpw, Wolfnix, Xanzzibar, على ويكى, 老陳, 169 anonymous edits

Diamagnetic Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=458209959 Contributors: 213.253.39.xxx, 24.1.200.xxx, AJim, ALACE, Aaagmar, Acroterion, Adashiel, Arkadipta banerjee, Bakuryuu, Beland, Belg4mit, Bluefalcon07, Bodnotbod, Brews ohare, Bryan Derksen, Busukxuan, Campuzano85, Candleknight, Casey boy, Cesiumfrog, CharlesC, Cheeseifyer, Constructive editor, Conversion script, Cp111, Cquan, DARTH SIDIOUS 2, Darekun, DarkHorse, Deepnightblue, Deglr6328, Dfinkel, Dimwitt Flathead, Dirac1933, Don4of4, DragonflySixtyseven, Dwmyers, EbedYahweh, Eigenpirate, Favonian, Foobar, Gaius Cornelius, Gene Nygaard, Giftlite, Graham87, Gudeldar, Guswandhi, Hans Dunkelberg, Headbomb, Hede2000, Henrygb, Heron, Hesperian, Horkana, Icairns, Iliev, Inter rest, Jaapkroe, Jackelfive, Jafet, Jcline1, Jcwf, Jinxed, Jkeohane, Joanjoc, JustAddPeter, K Eliza Coyne, Kaifeng, Karol Langner, KasugaHuang, Katalaveno, Kmarinas86, L'Aquatique, Leobh, Lfh, LogaRhythm, Looxix, Lumrs, Macderv15h, Mbweissman, Mech Aaron, Midgrid, Mike Rosoft, MisterSheik, Mmm, Moemin05, Netscott, OlEnglish, Oli Filth, Omegatron, Pearle, Peterburton, Petergans, Pharaoh of the Wizards, Phoenix79, Phys, Piil, Poisonmilk, Prikryl, Rage, Rememberway, Rifleman 82, Roadrunner, Robin Whittle, RockMagnetist, Salsb, Sappe, Scott Dial, Serverxeon, Sibian, Sikkema, SilentOpen, Silly rabbit, Slakr, Smalljim, Smokefoot, Snigbrook, Splarka, Stokerm, Suffusion of Yellow, Tarotcards, Tim Starling, Tradage, Tomothy, Troyrock, Vanderdecken, Vanished user, WLU, Waleswatcher, Whitepaw, Wolfkeeper, Xanzzibar, Xompanthy, Yakiniku, Zamirm, Zereshk, Zinger, Julie, J174 anonymous editis

Electromagnetic induction Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461373554 Contributors: ARTE, Aagagne, Ahoerstemeier, Akamad, Alfred Centauri, AndySimpson, Aqwis, Arfarshchi, Atlant, Attilios, AugPi, Aulis Eskola, AxelBoldt, Bakkouz, Bentogoa, Bigchessegs, Binksternet, Brews ohare, Brossow, Bwe45, Can't sleep, clown will eat me, CardinalDan, Celiecinema1, Chetankathalay, Complexica, Cutler, CzarB, D0lio, DJIndica, DVdm, DVocean, Dawnseeker2000, Delirium, Dirac1933, Dysprosia, Edison, Emilio Juanatey, Fletchwiki, Frungi, GSMR, Giftlite, Gilliam, Giraffedata, Glenn, Girx, Golgofrinchian, Guerillero, Guoguo12, Hans Dunkelberg, Headbomb, Hede2000, Heron, Icairns, InShaneee, Incompetence, InverseHypercube, InvertRect, Isnow, Ixfd64, JabberWok, Jaganath, Jayron32, John of Reading, Keegscee, Kitfaaace, Laurascudder, Light current, Linas, Lseixas, Mannam, Marshall Williams2, McGeddon, Melchoir, Mendel, Michael Hardy, Mlada, Msdaif, Muriel Gottrop, N.hong.phuc, Nagytibi, Neier, NellieBly, Nlu, Nmnogueira, No-Bullet, Numbo3, Ocaasi, Oleg Alexandrov, Onionmon, PTSE, Patrick, Peak, Peterlin, Pillar Technologies, Piotrus, Prateep, Richiesking193, Ryisott, Rm, Ronz, Rsduhamel, SCZenz, Salsb, Sidam, SirBoh42, Someones life, SpeedyGonsales, Starsong, Stephenb, Support.and.Defend, TStein, Tbhotch, Template namespace initialisation script, That Guy, From That Show!, The-gnu, Tide rolls, Tim Starling, Treisijs, Trevyn, Tsi43318, Vkem, Vonkje, Waveguy, Werdan7, Wildthing61476, Will Beback, Wizardist, Wolfkeeper, Wtshymanski, Zoiccons, Löc 200 anonymous edits

Electromagnetic radiation Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461228622 Contributors: 100110100, 1howardsr1, 216.237.32.xxx, 20ver0, 360flip360, 5 albert square 63.195.122.xxx, 80.62.100.xxx, 8lak3st3r, A8UDI, ARTE, Aajaja, Abach, Acather96, Acroterion, AdamW, Adashiel, Agilulfe, Ahoerstemeier, Akidd dublin, Alansohn, Alethiophile, Alipson, Allstarecho, Amaltheus, Amilnerwhite, Andreazy, Anphanax, Antandrus, Antonio Lopez, Anville, Armin T, Arx Fortis, Ashishbhatnagar72, Atropos235, Aulis Eskola, AxelBoldt, Barticus88, Bass fishing physicist, Bdjwww, Bensaccount, BentzyCo, Betterusername, Bhadani, Binarypower, Binksternet, Bjankuloski06en, Black Kite, Blainster, Bluerasberry, Bobblewik, Bobo192, Boing! said Zebedee, Brews ohare, Bryan Derksen, Bsayusd, Buickid, Bvcrist, C h fleming, CODOR, Caiaffa, Calum MacUisdean, Can't sleep, clown will eat me, Canterbury Tail, Capricorn42, Catgut, Catintehbox, Chetvorno, Chill doubt, Chris the speller, Chun-hian, Churibo, Clinton reece, Closedmouth, CoincidentalBystander, Cometstyles, Complexica, Conversion script, CorplTGuy, Craig Currier, CrazieXninja, Crotalus horridus, Cureden, DJIndica, DV8 2XL, DVdm, Daniel.Cardenas, Darkspots, Dauto, David D., Dchristle, December21st2012Freak, Deconstructhis, Deglr6328, Delldot, Demologian, Den fjättrade ankan, Denelson83, Deryck Chan, Dharmendra srivastva, Dianneknight, Dicklyon, Djr32, Dkroll2, Doczilla, Donarreiskoffer, Doniago, Dougweller, Doulos Christos, DrBob, Drphilharmonic, Dtvjho, Dust Filter, EJF, Earwax09, Edcolins, Editorpark, Edward Z. Yang, Eecon, Eeekster, EikwaR, El C, Eliz81, Emezei, Enochlau, Enormousdude, Epbr123, Epzcaw, Erik9, Excirial, FIL (usurped), Favonian, Federico Benitez Conte, Fieldday-sunday, Fredbauder, Freiddie, Fresheneesz, G-W, GHe, Gabbe, Galoubet, Genius101, Giftlite, Gilliam, Glenn, Golgofrinchian, Goodwill289, Grafen, Graham87, Gurch, Gurchzilla, GyroMagician, HamburgerRadio, Hammer1980, Handface, Hankwang Hayabusa future, Hdt83, Headbomb, Heron, HexaChord, IanOfNorwich, Ibrasg, Icairns, Iknowyourider, ImaFirinMaLazor, Immunize, InvertRect, Ironholds, J-p-fm, J.delanoy, JForget, JNW, JRSpriggs, JSpung, JVz, JabberWok, Jackfork, JameKelly, JamesBWatson, Jamyskis, Jauerback, Jauhienij, Javawizard, Jcw69, Jeandré du Toit, Jim E. Black, Jlc0023, Jmorkel, JoanneB, John David Wright, Jonverve, Jose77, Jp0186, Jpk, Jpowell, Julesd, Jusdafax, JustUser, Jytdog, KJK::Hyperion, KSSA, Kaisershatner, Kanhef, Kar.ma, Karol Langner, Kbh3rd, Kdau, Keegan, Kerowren, Killdevil, Kkmurray, Kostisl, L Kensington, Lambiam, Lascorz, Laurascudder, Laurinavicius, Lcabanel, Legofreak2008, LenBudney, Light current, Likebox, Lir, Lmatt. Loiskristellemum, Lookang, Looxix, Louis Labrèche, Luna Santin, M.O.X, MADe, MER-C, MJ94, MK8, Macellarius, Maestrosync, Magister Mathematicae, Maplestory101, Marek69, Marie Poise, Martin Hogbin, Materialscientist, Maxrokatanski, Mbell, McSly, McIay1, Meisam, Mejor Los Indios, Melchoir, Mermaid from the Baltic Sea, Michaelbluejay, Mike Rosoft, Mike2vil, Mishlai, Mozzerati, Mpatel, Ms2ger, Msh210, Mwtoews, Mxn, Mygerardromance, Mykhal, N5iln, NMChico24, NatureA16, Netheril96, Niaoulibloodelf, Nickkid5, Nicoguaro, Njaelkies Lea. Nk, Nmnogueira, Noah Salzman, Nono64, Nv8200p, Nyttend, Octahedron80, Odie5533, Oliverkeenan, Olivier, Omegatron, Omicronpersei8, OrdinaryFattyAcid, Oren0, Otuguldur, Paine, Pak21, Paolo.dL, Patrick, Pax85, Peruvianllama, Pgk, Phazvmk, Phil Boswell, Philip Trueman, PhySusie, PierreAbbat, Pinethicket, Pizza Puzzle, Poi830, Prari, QuiteUnusual, Qxz, RDates, RainbowOfLight, Ramir, Ranveig, Raomap, Ratsbew, Ravirathore1984, Ray Van De Walker, Razimantv, Rdsmith4, Reach Out to the Truth, Reaper Eternal, Reddi, Redheylin, Redpanda900, ResearchRave, Rettetast, Rgjm, Rhopkins8, Rickcandell, Rico402, Rintrah, RisingStick, Rogerbrent, Ronak abna, Ronhjones, Rubin joseph 10, Ryanross43, SEWilco, Saaga, Sagsaw, Sakurambo, Salsb, Sbacle, Sbyrnes321, Scarian, Sceptre, Scottfisher, Seaphoto, Serendipodous, Shadow1, Shadowjams, Sheliak, Shieber, Shikasannin, Simsea, Sina-chemo, Sizarieldor, Sjö, Sky380, Smack, Smin0, Snags, Snigbrook, Snowolf, Sokratesla, Sophus Bie, Sp33dyphil, Spammerman, Sparkie82, SpikeToronto, Srleffler, Srtxg, Ssd, St.daniel, StalinsLoveChild, Stamulevich, Steve Quinn, Stevertigo, Storm Rider, Suffusion of Yellow, Susfele, THEN WHO WAS PHONE?, Tarotcards, Tcncv, Tefnut, Teles, Tempodivalse, Tfl, The Anome, The Original Economist, The Photon, The Rambling Man, The Rogue Penguin, The Thing That Should Not Be, The stuart, The way, the truth, and the light, The wub, Thedjatclubrock, Thedoctor123, Thinghy, Thubing, Tide rolls, Tigerdragon, Tigershrike, Tim Starling, Timo Honkasalo, Tobias Hoevekamp, TomCerul, Tommy2010, Topazg, Trojancowboy, Troyboy53, Twihard123, Ukberry, Uncle Dick, Utcursch, V 1993, VanishedUser314159, Vasu123, Veinor, Venny85, Victamonn, VincenzoAmpolo, Vivek Verma 38, Vladkornea, Vql, Vsmith, Vuldoraq, Wavelength, WereSpielChequers, Wereon, WikiCantona, WikiDao, Wikipelli, Wjbeaty, Wtmitchell, Www.ca, Yakitoriman, Yeanold Viskersenn, Yongy, Youssefsan, Ysangkok, Yunshui, Yy-bo, ZooFari, やまびこ, 989 anonymous edits

Vacuum Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461343917 Contributors: (jarbarf), 128.59.58.xxx, 38.33.140.xxx, 97198, ANTIcarrot, Aaberg123, Aaron Brenneman Acornsandsquirrels, AlexanderWinston, Altzinn, Anachron, Andres, Andrewa, Anna Lincoln, AnnaFrance, Anoopm, ArdClose, ArneBab, Ash, Ask123, Athaenara, Atlant, BD2412, Bcrowell, Ben-Zin, Benbest, Beta Trom, Bevo, Bignose, Bigwhiteyeti, BillC, BillWSmithJr, Biscuittin, BjörnEF, Blackfell, Bobblewik, Bobsmellslikeshit, Bongwarrior, Bowlhover, Brainssturm Branddobbe, Brews ohare, Brighterorange, Bsimmons666, Bulwersator, Caltas, CalumH93, Canderson7, Catgut, Cavila, Ceilidthbear, Centaurrr, Charles Matthews, Chem-awb, Chrislk02, Christopher Parham, ClaudeSB, Cmdrjameson, Cometstyles, Complexica, Conversion script, Craitman17, CultureDrone, Cyrius, D, DMacks, DMahalko, DVD R W, DVdm, Dan Gluck, Danielrwright, Darth Panda, Dave6, DaveC426913, DecayConstant, Deglr6328, Deneys, DevilBirdman, Dialectric, Dicklyon, Dina, Discospinster, Dismas, DivineAlpha, Doc Perel, Docu, Don Mattox, Dr. Sunglasses, Dr.enh, DragonHawk, DragonflySixtyseven, Dreish, Drilnoth, Dtgriscom, Dudegalea, Dysepsion, E. Ripley, E0steven, Eddie12390, Edgar181, EdgeOfEpsilon, Efenstor, Elmschrat, Emperorbma, Enochlau, EricR, Erik9, Eutactic, Eva2pare, Evacuumstore, FT2, Falconalconalco, Favonian, Finejon, Flghtmstr1, FlyingToaster, Frecklefoot, FrstFrs, GTBacch Gafaddict, Gaius Cornelius, Gdogboy, Gene Nygaard, Geni, Geoffrey.landis, Ghjthgh, Giftlite, Ginsengbomb, Glengarry, Glenn, Glueball, Gnusbiz, Gogo Dodo, Graham87, GrindtXX, Grisunge, Gyrocompa, H Padleckas, H2eddsf3, HDP, Haeretica Pravitas, Haileexhunn, Hankwang, Headbomb, Hellbus, Herbee, Heron, Hgrobe, Hgrosser, HiDrNick, Hojimachong, Hooverf5914900, Husond, IVAN3MAN, Iames, Iantresman, Iarnell, Icairns, Ieatchips84, Igoldste, Interiot, Iridescent, Iroony, Iwan Novirion, J.delanoy, JBKramer, JForget, JJ Harrison, JTN, Jack.m.gill, Jaganath, Jagged 85, Jajetheman, Jarhed, JeLuF, Jeffthompson, JeremyR, Jheald, JimVC3, Jimp, Jll, Johann137, Johhny Oh, John fromer, JohnSinclair, Johnbod, Johnlu 78759, JorgeGG, Josh Parris, Jsellick100, Jwkane, Karmafist, Karol Langner, Keesiewonder, Keilana, Ken g6, KentoIkeda, Killiondude, Kilo-Lima, King of Hearts, Knight1993, Kosebamse, Krash, Kri.fot, Kubigula Lambiam, Landon 1980, Laxtroy 17, Lexi Marie, LibLord, Light current, Ligulem, LilHelpa, LittleOldMe, Ljfeliu, Logan, Lukerider86, Lumidek, Luna Santin, MONGO, Madeinchina 4567, MarSch, Mark Zinthefer, Martpol, Masgatotkaca, Masterhatch, Maximus Rex, Mbell, Melchoir, Mephistophelian, Metaferon, Michael Snow, Mighty Warrior, Mike Rosoft, MikeCorsi, MikeGogulski, MikeMaller, Millatce, Mindbuilder, Mmxx, Moink, MortimerCat, Mr. viktor, stepanov, Mulad, Muu-karhu, Mwistev, NHRHS2010, NMChico24, Naucer, NickFr, Nivaca, Nocat50, Nondistinguished, Nufy8, Number 0, Oblivious, Octahedron80, Omer88f, Orange Suede Sofa, OsamaBinLogin, Pak21, Parkwells, Patrick, Pedro, Peripitus, Peter bertok, Philip Trueman, Piano non troppo, Pigsonthewing, Pip2andahalf, Polylerus, Pool1010101, Postdlf, ProTestOxford, Prodego, Profero, Quale, QuantumDynamo, Quincy c3, Qwerty24cb, Qz, RJHall, Razaakperk, Razimantv, Rbj2001, Rebroad, Reddi, Reinoutr, RetiredUser2, Rettetast, Rich Farmbrough, Richardgaywood, Rico402, Rifleman 82, Rjanag, Rjcflyer, Rjwilmsi, Robert K S, Robert, vandyk, RobertG, Rogator, Roleplayer, Romanm, Ronburgandy99, Rrburke, Rursus, SDC, ST47, Salsb, Sam Korn, SamuelTheGhost, Sasawat, Sbyrnes321, ScAvenger Iv, Scoo, Scottfisher, Scowie, Scubasteve19, Sean Whitton, Sean hemingway process, Sesshomaru, Sgc21896, Shadowlynk, Shahrukhmohammed, Shanes, Shantavira, Shoaler, SilverSoul91911, SiobhanHansa, Sjakkalle, Skillionair, Skrounge, SomeHuman, Sophus Bie, SpaceFlight89, Spamhog, SpikeToronto, Sprocketeer, Starsong, Stephenb, Stevenj, Sturm55, Syncategoremata, TUF-KAT, Tabby, Tagishsimon, Tearlach, The Alex, The Behnam, TheNewPhobia, TheXenocide, Thechamp69er, Tide rolls, Tim Shuba, Tim Starling, Timwi, Tobby72, Tomasz Prochownik, Tombomp, TopGUN71691, Tuor, Twooars, Tyciol, Tyler, Tythuey, Ulcph, UltraHighVacuum, Ummit, UtherSRG, V642336, VASANTH S.N., VBGFscJUn3, Vaccuumsauce, Vacume, Van helsing, Vegardw, Vikrantkorde, Vipinhari, Visor, Vistaarjuneja, Voidxor, Voyagerfan5761, Vsmith, WJBscribe, Weakopedia, West.andrew.g, Wik, WikipedianMarlith, Willking1979, Wimt, Wj32, Wknight94, Wolfkeeper, Woohookitty, Wrexham25, Yapete, Yidisheryid, You700, Ytrottier, Yuyudevil, Zandperl, Zoicon5, Zondor, Zzuuzz, ลี่ย ญี่18, 523 anonymous edits

André-Marie Ampère Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=460246170 Contributors: 216.60.221.xxx, A3camero, Abductive, Adam Bishop, AdjustShift, Adrian.benko, Airplaneman, Alfion, Allen234, Andycjp, Anneyh, Antandrus, ArnoLagrange, Ashadeofgrey, Askewmind, Astrochemist, AxelBoldt, B20180, BW, Blindmanguy0, Blue520, Bluemask, BrandonR, Bryan Derksen, Can't sleep, clown will eat me, Cape cod naturalist, Chameleon, Chris Capoccia, Clemwang, Closedmouth, Constructive editor, Conversion script, Courcelles, Curps, Currentapple, D6, DARTH SIDIOUS 2, DVdm, Danski14, DeansFA, Deb, Derild4921, Deskana, Desmondo 54, Dezaz, Dontdoit, DragonflySixtyseven, Drestros power, Drewish, Dungodung, Durova, Editor at Large, EI C, Elockid, Epbr123, Ewulp, FeanorStar7, Fibonacci, Fieldday-sunday, Frozenevolution, FunPika, Fyyer, Gadfium, Geomanjo, Giflite, Gilliam, Gralo, Gutsul, Hallmark, Hannes Eder, HappyApple, Headbomb, Hephaestos, Heron, Hqb, Icairns, IceUnshattered, Immunize, Infoseed, Insanity Incarnate, IvanLanin, J Di, J.delanoy, JMS Old Al, Jake Wartenberg, JimVC3, JoanneB, Joeyjoe10, John, John Vandenberg, Joseph Solis in Australia, JoshuaWalker, Jowimo, Jggordon, Juliancolton, Jusdafax, Kablammo, KarasuGamma, Kehrbykid, Kesla, Kku, La Pianista, Lazylaces, Lexadec, LexCorp, LibLord, Life, Liberty, Property, Lightmouse, Lights, Little Mountain 5, Lockley, MJ94, Magapenguins, MagnInd, Magnus Manske, Mais ouil, Manuel Trujillo Berges, Marax, Mark elmo, Mathiasrex, Mav, Mentifisto, MessinaRagazza, Metal Militia, Michael C Price, MichaelTinkler, Mightyroostah, MikGurlitz, MikeVitale, Mild Bill Hiccup, Minesweeper, Monegasque, Mundaro, Munita Prasad, Mwng, Nedim Ardoğa, Nick UA, NickBush24, OC, Ohconfucius, Olivier, Omicron18, OnePt618, Oracleofottawa, Orioane,

Orionus, Oxymoron83, Paranaense81, Pastordavid, Patstuart, Paul August, Pdpinch, PearlSt82, Pedrose, Pfalstad, Pgr94, Phantomsteve, Philip Trueman, Phoebe, Physchim62, Piano non troppo, Pierreballinger, Pinkadelica, Polpo, Puchiko, Qxz, RJaguar3, Rangek, Ranveig, Rdsmith4, Reddi, Resurgent insurgent, Rettetast, Rich Farmbrough, Robertvan1, Rocastelo, Rockstar915, RogDel, RyanCross, SPUI, Sadi Carnot, Salsb, Sanbeg, Saruha, Sbfw, Scewing, Scott REDD, SeanMack, Searchme, Seinfreak37, Senator Palpatine, SeventyThree, Shervinafshar, Shimeru, Shoeofdeath, Sietse Snel, SimonP, Snowdog, Snoyes, Sophia, Spoom, Stalfur, Studerby, StuffOfInterest, SubZero..Vighu.., SureFire, Syrthiss, T, TBadger, Tanvir Ahmmed, Tarret, TauIronTiger, TehBrandon, The Thing That Should Not Be, TheParanoidOne, Thingg, Thorpe, Tide rolls, Tom-, Tomas e, Tommy2010, Topper46231, Tripredacus, Trusilver, Ttwaring, Tuckerj1976, Valentinejoesmith, Vanished User 0001, Vojvodaen, Vox Rationis, Venator, Vsmith, Vuong Ngan Ha, Walter Humala, Wertuose, Wiki alf, William Avery, Wood Thrush, Woohookitty, Wtmitchell, XJamRastafire, Tиверополник, Ãt thái S, 575 anonymous edits

Jean-Baptiste Biot Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=460751118 Contributors: A D Monroe III, Adrian.benko, Arjen Dijksman, Askewmind, Astrochemist, Basilicofresco, Biot's Angels, Ccastill, Chenopodiaceous, Colonies Chris, Connormah, Curps, D6, Dinostephen, Dpb2104, Duendeverde, Dungodung, Ed Poor, Emperorbma, Eric Shalov, Evercat, Finn-Zoltan, Fredrik, Gadfium, General Wesc, GeoGreg, Giftlite, Greyengine5, Gunnar Larsson, Haham hanuka, Headbomb, Hektor, Immunize, J JMesserly, Jaraalbe, Jimfbleak, Joel7687, Kkksdfasdfsda, Ktsquare, Kurlandlegionar, Laurascudder, LawfulGoodThief, LilHelpa, Lockley, Mackensen, Marie Poise, Materialscientist, Maximus Rex, MessinaRagazza, Michael Hardy, Mintguy, Mmm, Nk, Octahedron80, Ohconfucius, Oos, Oracleofottawa, PV=nRT, Phoebe, Plindenbaum, Plucas58, Poppy, RJHall, RexNL, Rifleman 82, Robma, RogDel, Roo72, Scewing, Smack, Smallweed, Snoyes, T. Anthony, TedPavlic, The Thing That Should Not Be, TheParanoidOne, Thorseth, Tomas e, Tommy2010, Trialsanderrors, Vinograd19, Viriditas, Waterguy, Woohookitty, XJamRastafire, Xezbeth, 27 anonymous edits

Michael Faraday Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461590201 Contributors: 05f087, 10metreh, 2D, 2help, 666 Eddie, 8HRE, 96.186, A purple wikiuser, A8UDI, ABF, AJim, Aa42john, Abc518, Academic Challenger, Acdx, Acroterion, Adambiswanger1, Adambro, Addshore, Adebayowalls, Aditya, Adrian, Adrian, benko, Agassi, Ahoerstemeier, Aillema, Aitias Ajithkumar.ega, Alan Liefting, Alansohn, Ale jrb, Alex Bakharev, All in alan, Allen222, Allstarecho, Alpha 4615, Alsandro, Amelioratel, AmyzzXX, Anaraug, Ancheta Wis, Andonic, Andre Engels, Andres, Andris, AndySimpson, Andycjp, Anetode, AnonMoos, Arakunem, Arbitrarily00, Argo Navis, Arjun01, Arthena, Aruton, Ascidian, Asdfhjkl123456789, Astrochemist, Attilios, Avenged Eightfold, BD2412, Badams022, BananaFiend, Bart133, Baseball Bugs, Bcrowell, BeSherman, Becritical, Before My Ken, Ben Lee, Ben davison, Bidabadi, Bigbadandback4now, BiggKwell, Bigredrabbit, Bill37212, Billybhoy1888, Biruitorul, Bletchley, Blyifittan, Bobultranerd, Boing! said Zebedee, Bolop, Bookwiki, Brews ohare, Brutannica, Bryan Derksen, Buccalucky11, Bunzil, Burn the asylum, CWY2190, Cachedio, Cafe Nervosa, CambridgeBayWeather, Can't sleep, clown will eat me, Canterbury Tail, Chalybs, Chamal N, Chaojoker, Chasnor15, Chaz13, ChemGardener, Chetvorno, Chgwheeler, ChicXulub, Chicheley, Chimeric Glider, Chocolateboy, Christian List, Christian 1107, Chriswiki, Cnbrb, Colejames1, Cometstyles, Conversion script, Coolbill 14, Coolleon 159, Corey 1552, Courcelles, Crazy ChemGuy, Crowsnest, Crystallina, Csari, Curps, Currentapple, Cutler, D6, DARTH SIDIOUS 2, DESiegel, DMacks, DSRH, DVdm, Dabomb87, Daderot, Dan Gan, Danbarnesdavies, DanielCD, Dannyboy8111, Darth Panda, Davepape, David0811, Dawn Bard, DeadEyeArrow, Deaneden79, Defender of torch, Deltipoo, Den fjättrade ankan, Deor, DerHexer, Desmondo 54, Dhp1080, Diamond95, Diberri, Digitalme, Dirigible Plum, Discospinster, DocWatson42, DoubleBlue, Downwards, DragonHawk, Dreadstar, Drphilharmonic, Duendeverde, DuncanHill, E104421, ELApro, ENEWITOK, ERcheck, Eatabullet, EdH, EddieF 1984, Edison, Eisnel, Eitheladar, Ekepaulemeka, Eliyak, Eliz81, Elwell, Emerson7, Emersoni, Emile Akhmed, Encephalon, Engineer Bob, Enigmaman, Entropy, Enviroboy, Epbr123, Eric Shalov, Eric-Wester, Erkan Yilmaz, Everyking, Fabartus, Faraday1791, Faradayplank, Fayenatic london, Felixshen, Fenoxielo, Finn-Zoltan, Firefly322, FisherQueen, Flippers626, Flockmeal, Fluffernutter, Frankenpuppy, Freakazoid0123, FreplySpang, Fryeb, Fstmdj, Funeral, Gabriel Kent, Gail, Gaius Cornelius, Galwhaa, Gary King, GcSwRhlc, Geneisner, GeneralPatton, Genesisflare, Gianluigi, Giftlite, Gilliam, Gimmetrow, Glane23, Glenn, Globbet, Good Olfactory, Goosedoggy, Gracenotes, GraemeE17, Gralo, Graymornings, Grayshi, Gregogil, GriffinTB, Grim23, Grindkore, Grunt, Guest9999, Gurch, Gurubrahma, Gwernol, Hans Dunkelberg, Hard Sin, Harddk, Hardyplants, Harryembleton, Hawaiian717, Hdt83, Headbomb, HeikoEvermann, Heimstern, Helixblue, Hemmingsen, Heron, HexaChord, HollyI, Hqb, Hu12, Humanist, I dream of horses. II MusLiM HyBRiD II, Iain marcuson, Ian Dunster, Ianb, Icairns, Iloveeuler, In Desk, Infrogmation, Insanity Incarnate, Inter, InverseHypercube, InvictaHOG, Iridescent Ironholds, Ishack22, Ixfd64, J.delanov, JLaTondre, JNW, JaGa, Jackol, Jacoplane, Jadtn1, Jake Wartenberg, JamAKiska, James086, JamesAM, Jamesofur, Jamesontai, Janahan, Janeiellvroll, Jaxl, Jbourj, Jclemens, Jebba, Jeffshantz, Jennavecia, JesseHogan, Jgorse, Jh12, Jill Gillespie, Joanna Gooding, John, JohnCub, Johnny Vega, Johntex, Jonathan3030, Jorrell, Joshlepaknpsa, Jossi, Jpbowen, Jtkiefer, Junglecat, K Eliza Coyne, Kaczor, Kaiza300, Kaldari, Kalmbach, Kanags, Kbdank71, Kbk, Kbthompson, Ken I lee, Ketiltrout, Kf4bdy, Kflaux, KimiSan, King Toadsworth, Kingfishdonkey, Kingpin13, Knowledge lover1123, Knutux, Koavf, Kooo, Kraxler, Kukini, Kungfuadam, Kuru, Kyky108, L33th4x0rguy, Lacolo, Ladyktj, Lakers, LaloMartins, LeaveSleaves, Leithp, LenW, Leomerya12, Lerdthenerd, Leujohn, Lights, Linuxguymarshall, Little Mountain 5, LittleOldMe, Looxix, Loren.wilton, Lorsforever, Love Krittaya, Lquilter, Luk, Lukep913, Lumos3, M7, M840524, MC10, MER-C, MKar, MacedonianBoy, Macho, Madhero88, Magister Mathematicae, Mahyarg6304, Mais oui!, MakeRocketGoNow, Mal4mac, Malo, Maninal, Manscher, MarcoTolo, Marcocampo, Marek69, Mark elmo, Markdelfs, Marysunshine, Mattstan, Matttheguy, Max Naylor, Maxrokatanski, McVities, Mdanzig09, MecaTron101, Meegs Megan 1967, Mentifisto, MiLo28, Michael Hardy, Michael Tinkler, Michall, Mike Hayes, Mike Plus Pus, MikeVitale, Mikedash, Mikofski, Mion, Moletrouser, Motor, Ms2ger, Mschel, Mshecket, Munita Prasad, Mxn, Nakon, NawlinWiki, Nczempin, Nedim Ardoğa, NellieBly, Nemo bis, NeoJustin, Nepenthes, Neurolysis, NewEnglandYankee, Nivix, No Guru, NorwegianBlue, Nsaa Nubiatech, Nunquam Dormio, Odie5533, Ohconfucius, Ohsimone, Olaftn, Oldfaw, Oldschool69, Olessi, Oliver81, Onias, Oracleofottawa, Oxymoron83, P.T. Aufrette, PJM, PKM, ParticleMan, Patchey1000, Paul A, Paul August, Pavel Vozenilek, Pb30, PennaBoy, Per Ardua, Peter Winnberg, Peter.C, Peterlewis, Pgg7, Pgk, Pgr94, Pherdy, Philip Trueman, Phoenixrnr, Phynicen, Pi, Piano non troppo, Piedude 37, Pinethicket, PoccilScript, Pokemon, Postmortemjapan, Prashanthns, Prmacn, Proofreader 77, Protostan, Quantumobserver, Qxz, R. fiend, RJaguar 3, RS1900, RadicalOne, Ragesoss, Railwayfan2005, Rajah, RandomXYZb, Rangoon11, Rapty, Rdsmith4, Reddi, Reenem, Regan123, Rettetast, RexNL, Rgoodermote, Riana, Rich Farmbrough, Richard Arthur Norton (1958-), Richardwhitelaw, Richi, Rico402, Riddley, Rje, Rjwilmsi, Roland Kaufmann, Roland2, Rorz09, Royboycrashfan, Ryan fitzgareld VII, RyanEberhart, Ryulong, Rzepa, SMC, Sadi Carnot, Samjowen, Saurabhmalani 1994, Sax Russell, Scarian, Scewing, Schlier22, Sciencerulz, Secretlondon, Sellyme, Selmo, Serlin, Shalom Yechiel, Shanes, Shaurita aka reeree Shijualex, Shipmaster, Shirulashem, Silent timelord, Sillybilly, Singlephoton, Sintaku, SiobhanHansa, Sjokle7, Skomorokh, SlimVirgin, Slowking Man, Slyfoxx, Slyguy, Smallweed, SmithBook, Snapple96, Sniffer231, SoLando, Someguy1221, Something, Something... Ah, Nevermind, Spitfire, Spliced, Sprout333, SpuriousQ, SqueakBox, Squids and Chips, Srushe, StaticGull, Static Vision, SteinbDJ, Stephen Burnett, Stephenb, Steven Zhang, Stevertigo, Stretch 135, Student school09, Suffusion of Yellow, Sun King, SuperGirl, Superm401, SusanLesch, Syrthiss, T-rex, T. Anthony, THEN WHO WAS PHONE?, Tabletop, Tagishsimon, TaintedMustard, Tannkrem, Tarquin Binary, Tcncv, Tdmg, Tectar, Teisbetter2, Thadius856, The Thing That Should Not Be, The flying pasty, TheMagnificentSpider, TheRealMichealFaraday, TheSciolist, TheSilleGuy, TheSmuel, Tholme, Tide rolls, Tiggy1, Timneu22, Timothykhoo, Tom harrison, Tomas e, Tombomp, Tony1, TonyW, Touch Of Light, Traderdc, TransUtopian, Tregoweth, Trevor MacInnis, Tribalwars321, Trovatore, Trugster, Trusilver, Tubbyalonso, TubularWorld, Tv316, Twthmoses, Uirauna, Useight, User A1, Utternutter, Vanished user 39948282, VenomousConcept, Versus22, Villafanuk, VooDooChild, VooLaLa, Vsmith, WMSwiki, Waffle, Wakebrdkid, Walkerma, Walton One, Waprap, Watershipper, Wavelength, Wayne Slam, Weedwhacker 128, Wgsuper, Wikipelli, WildWildBil, Wile E. Heresiarch, William M. Connolley, Willox303, Wine Guy, Wjbeaty, Wknight94, Woohookitty, Work permit, Wrathchild, WriterHound, XJamRastafire, Xxanthippe, Yeanold Viskersenn, Yudaiyudaison, Zanze123, Ziggurat, Zoz, Zygomorph, Zzuuzz, Æ, គឺមស៊ីវុន, 1574 anonymous edits

Carl Friedrich Gauss Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461011671 Contributors: 10metreh, 20ver0, A13ean, A5, AV3000, AVIosad, Acather96, Acebulf, Adam McMaster, Adrian 1001, Adrian.benko, Ahoerstemeier, Akhilesh92, Alansohn, AlbrechtSchwarzschild, Alexandria25, Algorithme, Ali, Alison, Allstarecho, Alpine321, Ameliorate!, Ancheta Wis, Andre Engels, AndrewHowse, Anetode, Angus Lepper, Animum, Antandrus, Arabani, Arakunem, Archaeopteryx, Arianm17, Arsia Mons, Arthur Rubin, Arthursimms, Arundhati bakshi, Arvindn, Asdirk, Ashwin, Asyndeton, Avicennasis, Avjoska, AxelBoldt, BaronLarf, Basketbal23, Beatpunk, Belovedfreak, Ben-Zin, BenFrantzDale, Bender235, Besselfunctions, Bidabadi, Bishonen, BlackFingolfin, Bletchley, Blutfink, Bobblewik, Bobm987, Bobo192, Bobthebuilderface, Bogdan Stanciu, Bookandcoffee, Borisblue, Brendawg0, Brighterorange, Bruce lee, Brunswyk, Bryancromie, Bull1037, Bunzil, C S, CSvBibra, Can't sleep, clown will eat me, Cantiorix, Capricorn42, Captain-tucker, Carborane, Catmoongirl, Centrx, Chefukija, Chenel324, Chichelev, Chicobangs, Chris 73, Chris1802, ChrisWalt, Clay Juicer, Cognition, Comrade42, Connelly, Connormah, Conversion script, Corkgkagj, Corrigendas, Cosh, Coubure, Courcelles, Cristianonenas, Cristianrodenas, CryptoDerk, Cube lurker, Curps, Cyberpower678, D, D1ma5ad, DBaba, DCEdwards1966, Danger, DanielHolth, DanielNuyu, DarkFalls, Darlene4, David Sneek, DavidCBryant, Dcandeto, DeadEyeArrow, Deflective, Den fjättrade ankan, Deor, DerHexer, Discordanian, Discospinster, Dismas, Dmcq, Docu, Dolly1313, Domino theory, Dominus, Download, Dr. Leibniz, Dstanizzo, Dureo, ELApro, Ed Avis, EdBever, Edcolins, Edinborgarstefan, Edwy, Emerson7, EnSamulili, Enchanter, Enti342, Ep3no, Equendil, Eric-Wester, Erik9, Esprungo, EugeneZelenko, Everyking, Evil Monkey, Evilfranny01, Excirial, Fabiform, Fahrenheit451, Falcon8765, Favonian, FeanorStar7, Fibonacci, Finbarr Saunders, Finlay McWalter, FisherQueen, Flapdragon Flowerpotman, Fredrik, FrenchIsAwesome, FreplySpang, FrisoHoltkamp, Frochtrup, Funnybunny, Fxer, GTBacchus, Gadfium, Gail, Gaius Cornelius, Galoubet, Gandalf61, Garrybaldi, Gary King, Gaussisaprick, Gdo01, Gekedo, Gene Nygaard, GentlemanGhost, GeometryJim, Gerhard51, Gerhardvalentin, Giftlite, Gilliam, Gjd001, Glane23, Gloriamarie, Gnomz007, Good Olfactory, GorillaWarfare, Green Cardamom, Grendelkhan, Grinevitski, Gryffindor, Guardian of Light, Guettarda, Gui le Roi, Gurch, Hadal, Haeb, Haham hanuka, Halibutt, Hall Monitor, Hallows AG, Hammer1980, Hans Adler, Hd like apples, Headbomb, Hede2000, Hellis, HenryLi, Heptadecagram, HexaChord, Hfastedge, Hillman, Hpdl, Hu, Human.v2.0, IJeCstaff, IW.HG, Ian13, Icairns, Icey, Ikf5, Iloveeuler, Ilyanep, Indian4575258, Iner22, Inner Earth, InspectorSands, Iridescent, Ishboyfay, Ixfd64, J.delanoy, J8079s, JJ THE NERD, JO 24, JYOuyang, JYolkowski, Jagged 85, JamesBWatson, Jaranda, Jaredwf, Jasperdoomen, Jaxl, Jay Litman, Jennavecia, Jeronimo, JerryFriedman, JesseHogan, Jim.belk, JimmyTheWig, JoanneB, John Reid, Jojhutton, Jojit fb, Jondel, Joris Gillis, JorisvS, Joseaperez, Josephblanc, Joshuabowman, JuPitEer, JuanVivar, Junglecat, Jusdafax, JustAGal, Justin W Smith, Jw239, KHL, KHamsun, Kaiba, Kalki, Katalaveno, Kdano, Kelisi, Kensai, Kent Witham, Kesla, Ketiltrout, Kidshare, King Bee, King of Hearts, Kingpin13, Kiore, Kipala, Kku, Klapi, Klaus Trainer, Klopjh, Knakts, KnowledgeOfSelf, Kompik, Kope, Kouber, Kross, Kusma, Kwamikagami, L Kensington, L33tminion, LDH, LUH 3417, LacticBurn, Lambiam, LeaveSleaves, Lenthe, Lightmouse, Logan, LoneWolfJack, Loopv loo 1234, Looxix, Loren36, Lou.weird, Lowellian, Lradrama, Lschulz, Luckychuky, Luckyherb, Lupin, MORDOOR, Mac Davis, Mackan79, Malcohol, Malikarcanum, Manishwriter, Marc van Leeuwen, Marcika, Marek69, Marozols, Marudubshinki, Mascdman, Masterofdisasterkingofdoom, Mathsinger, Matkatamiba, Matt Crypto, Mav, Maxim, Maxus96, McVities, Mdebets, Mdotley, Meithal, Melchoir, Menchi, Mentifisto, MessinaRagazza, MetsFan76, Mhym, Michael C Price, Michael Hardy, Michaelbusch, MikeVitale, Mikeblew, Mindmatrix, Mindspillage, Miquonranger03, Miranda, Mkehrt, Moe Epsilon, Molinari, Monegasque, Mountain, Msablic, Mxn, Myasuda, N1RK4UDSK714, NCurse, NERIC-Security, Nedim Ardoğa, Nedim.sh, NellieBly, Newone, Nick, Nihil novi. NikolaiLobachevsky, Nlu, NuclearWarfare, Oatmeal batman, ObsessiveMathsFreak, Ocolon, Oekaki, OilyFry, Oleg Alexandrov, Olessi, Olivier, Omcnew, Orochimaru611, Orphan Wiki, Osarius, Overminded, Owl order, PDH, PL290, PMDrive1061, Parhamr, Parishan, Parudox, Patcito, Paul August, PedEye1, Pepsidrinka, PericlesofAthens, PerryTachett, Persian Poet Gal, Peterhi, Phil Boswell, Philip Trueman, Pichpich, Pilotguy, Pimemorizer, Pimlottc, Pishogue, Pizza Puzzle, Platyk, Plucas58, Plugwash, Pmanderson, Pol098, Poppafuze, Power.corrupts, Prb4, Profvk, Prumpf, Purple acid, Qero, Quadell, Quale, Qwertyus, R.e.b., RDBury, RJHall, RS1900, RabidDeity, Ragesoss, Rajah9, Rajasekaran Deepak, Rajpaj, RandomCritic, Randomblue, Randomguy132, RapidR, Rebroad, Red Winged Duck, Reddi, Rembrandt- 62 when he died, Remember, Resurgent insurgent, Revolver, RexNL, Riaazvgm, Rich Farmbrough, Ricky81682,

Rjensen, Rjwilmsi, RobHar, RobertG, RockMagnetist, Rogério Brito, Rohit math, Romanm, Rossami, Rostz, Rror, Rufous-crowned Sparrow, Ruwanraj, Ryan123456789101112131415, S2000magician, SU26Ilham, Sankalpdravid, Saravan p, Sardanaphalus, Saros136, Saruha, Scalhoun, Schlier22, Schneelocke, Science History, Scottmsg, Screwcap, Seaaron, Senator Palpatine, ShadowRangerRIT, Shanes, Sharonlees, Shaun F, Shearsongs78, Sherool, Shoeofdeath, Silly rabbit, Silverhelm, Sintaku, SirFozzie, Skeptic2, Skew-t, SkyWalker, Slider360, Sluzzelin, Smchs, Smeira, Smog0302, Someone else, Sp33dyphil, SpNeo, Spacepotato, Spout, Stan Shebs, Stanleybraganza, StaticGull, Stemonitis, Stephenmitchell, Stochastic, Stone, Studerby, Sudirclu, Supasheep, SuperGirl, SureFire, Symane, T. Anthony, Ta bu shi da yu, Tamfang, Tangotango, Tannin, Tastemyhouse, Tbjablin, Tempodivalse, Terriblecertainty, Texture, The Anome, The Fat Man Who Never Came Back, The Thing That Should Not Be, The Young Ones, The nerd of awesome, Themel, Thenestorman, TheoClarke, Thewitchkingofangmar, Thingg, Tide rolls, Tjunier, Tkuvho, Tobias Bergemann, Tom Peters, Tom harrison, TomR, Tomas e, Tomi, Tommy2010, Totemtotemo, Tpbradbury, Traveletti, Tresckow, Trevor MacInnis, Triwbe, Twas Now, Tylop, UberCryxic, Ukaxpat, Ulralizer, Ulric1313, Ultra34343434, Unyoyega, User2004, Username314, Vadim Makarov, Vanished User 0001, Velho, Vibhijain, Virginia-American, VivaEmilyDavies, Waltervulej, Waltpohl, Weetoddid, Westwind2, Why Not A Duck, Wiki Michel, Wihlelmina Will, Will Beback, William M. Connolley, Wine Guy, Wompa99, Wonglkd, Woohookitty, Wstorny, Xlconox, XlamRastafire, XTayax, Xeno, Yamamoto Ichiro, Yamla, Yanksox, Yelyos, Zhou Yu, Zickzack, Zundark, Zylinder, °.Brownie...*, ScaOdS, 1218 anonymous edits

Oliver Heaviside Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=457698776 Contributors: 205.183.31.xxx, Adamsan, Ams80, Andycjp, Archivist, Art LaPella, Batmanand, Bemoeial, Bender235, Bensin, BillC, Brews ohare, Burn, CanisRufus, Cantus, Cardamon, Charles Matthews, Chicheley, Cmdrjameson, Colonies Chris, Conversion script, Cr7i, Css, Czoller, D.H, D6, DESiegel, Dapsv, Derek Ross, Dino, Djd sd, DonPMitchell, Dthomsen8, Dysprosia, Ed g2s, Elb2000, EugeneZelenko, Everyking, Ewlyahoocom, Frank A, FrankTobia, Fredrik, Geltron, Giftlite, Grebaldar, Greensburger, Grendelkhan, Haeleth, Harald88, Headbomb, Hede2000, Heron, Horncabbage, Iammacm, Icairns, Itsmejudith, JCCO, JIL, JRSpriggs, Jacobolus, Jaganath, JamesAM, Japanese Searobin, Jaraalbe, Jaredwf, Jdforrester, JesseHogan, Jhipkiss, Jim.henderson, Jiuguang Wang, John, Jsnx, Jwestbrook, JzG, Kevin B12, Kwamikagami, Lanzadan, LeaveSleaves, Lestrade, LinuxChristian, Loadmaster, Looxix, LorenzoB, Mais ouil, Marconi1901, Marie Poise, Mav, Mavros, Maximus Rex, MiLo28, Michael Hardy, MikeVitale, Mild Bill Hiccup, Mjmcb1, Mlewis000, NGn, Nbarth, Neelix, Netoholic, Nikai, Oleg Alexandrov, Oracleofottawa, Paolo, L, Paul A, PeterHuntington, Phaedriel, Plindenbaum, Pournami, Pratik.mallya, Qaz, Quantumstream, Raul654, Reddi, Resurgent insurgent, Rgiboer, Rikimaru, Rjwilmsi, Rnt20, Seanwall11111, Sherbrooke, Shoesss, Sibian, Smallweed, Snoyes, Spinningspark, Ssd, Steve carlson, SuperGirl, Szyslak, Tarquin, Tarquin Binary, Theoretical Pluralist, Thurth, Txynerd, TonyW, Tuesdaily, Wishymanski, XJamRastafire, Zigger, Zundark, 107 anonymous edits

Joseph Henry Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=459571043 Contributors: 12dstring, 16@r, AdnanSa, Ahwiv, Anemonella, Annika64, Antidote, Argyll Lassie, Astrochemist, Ayers595, BD2412, Barbiebrutal, Bearcat, Bearian, Big360jake1, Billy Hathorn, Blah28948, Blainster, Bobp0303, Breffni Whelan, Bryan Derksen, Buaidh, C628, Cambyses, Closedmouth, CommonsDelinker, Curps, Cybjorg, D6, Dabomb87, Darry2385, Davepape, DavidOaks, Download, DrEricYH, Durova, Easchiff, Edison, Emerson7, Epolk, Etacar11, Falcon8765, Fingerz, Fluffernutter, Flyhighplato, Formerstaff, G.-M. Cupertino, GCappy, Giflitle, Grebaldar, Greensburger, Gunter, HOT L Baltimore, Headbomb, Heron, Hockeyguy0517, Hooperbloob, Hugo999, Igoldste, Ilovechicago, Immadub, Itai, Ixfd64, JForget, JGF Wilks, Jacklee, Jangeom, Jauhienij, Jpbowen, Jsd, Jusdafax, Kingpin13, Kktor, KnightRider, Koavf, Kumioko, Laaazyboi, Looxix, Lsd7, MAURY, Madhero88, Magi Media, Martin Hogbin, Maximus Rex, Maxis ftw, Mayumashu, Michael Hardy, NawlinWiki, Nbruschi, Nedim Ardoğa, Nedwards9820, Nihin Ioovi, Omegatron, PaulHanson, Pharaoh of the Wizards, Piano non troppo, Raymondwinn, Rdikeman, Red1 17, Reddi, Rich Farnbrough, Rjwilmsi, SHIMONSHA, Sanremofilo, Sesel, Stephenb, SunCreator, Tassedethe, TexasAndroid, The Thing That Should Not Be, Threeafterthree, Tommy2010, Twas Now, Versus22, Wikibofh, William Avery, Wknigh194, Wsmorganv, 172 anonymous edits

Heinrich Hertz Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461106468 Contributors: -Kerplunk-, 5858ericm, 610finest, Acroterion, AdultSwim, Agolib, Alan Liefting, Alansohn, Alex Middleton, All Hallow's Wraith, Allen234, Ally-Cat2043, Andre Engels, Ankurdhar, Antandrus, Anthony Krupp, Antidote, Apparition11, Arjen Dijksman, Astrochemist, Avargasm, Avenged Eightfold, Bart133, Bbanerje, Bearcat, Beland, Ben-Zin, BillWSmithJr, Bradburyist, Brz7, Bunzil, Calvin 1998, Canthusus, Cate, Chetvorno, Chicheley, Chowbok, Church of emacs, Chvsanchez, Cleo123, CommonsDelinker, Conversion script, Coolavokig, Crowsnest, Css, Curps, D. Recorder, D6, Dalric, Dassiebtkreuz, David Gale, DavidBlackwell, Dawn Bard, Dealdealdeal, Dicklyon, Didie, Doczilla, Duendeverde, ELApro, ESkog, Evmore, Figma, Flobthelog, Gamahucheur, Gcm, Gene Nygaard, GeorgHH, Giftlite, Gilliam, Greatgreenwhale, Greensburger, Grendelkhan, Guy Harris, Gwillhickers, Halibutt, Hannes Hirzel, Headbomb, Heron, Hertz1888, Hertzian, Hiks395, Hintswen, Humus sapiens, Hypercephalic, II MusLiM HyBRiD II, IPSOS, Icey, ImperatorExercitus, Impy4ever, Inwind, Isnow, Jac16888, Jakohn, JamieS93, Jannex, Jauhienij, Jim.henderson, Jimp, Jnivekk, John, Johnstone, Jondel, Joseaperez, Kansas Sam, Karl-Henner, Kdkeller, Keegscee, Kgrr, Kieff, Kmg90, Knotnic, Kostisl, Kuzar, LaFoiblesse, Landon1980, LeaveSleaves, Leinoffs, LiHelpa, Lir, Looxix, LorenzoB, Lradrama, Mackensen, Magnus, de, Marie Poise, Marine79, Maroux, Matthead, Mbweissman, Mechanical digger, Meelar, Meelar, Meelar, Meelar, Moike Vitale, Minimimimimimi, Mintleaf, Mononomic, Moreschi, Mwng, Ndenison, Nedim Ardoğa, Nixdorf, Nobody of Consequence, Oda Mari, Olessi, Olivier, Omnipaedista, Onorem, Oracleofottawa, Orphan Wiki, Peter Horn, Peter439, Philip Trueman, Piano non troppo, Pyrrhus16, Q Chris, Qwerty123322, Reddi, Repep, Resurgent insurgent, Rich Farmbrough, Riverfield, Rjwilmsi, Rsduhamel, Ruslik0, SD6-Agent, SDC, Sadi Carnot, Salsb, Seaphoto, Sfahey, Shoeofdeath, Snigbrook, Stevertigo, Sukh17, SuperGirl, Sup

Rudolf Kohlrausch Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454499588 Contributors: Bob Burkhardt, Colonies Chris, FDT, George.wilson1992, Headbomb, Monegasque, Omnipaedista, Riffle, Tassedethe, 4 anonymous edits

Heinrich Lenz Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=458205180 Contributors: Awolf002, Beligaronia, Bert Hickman, ChiLlBeserker, Colchicum, D6, Dj Capricorn, DmitryKo, Dungodung, Fossiili, Gits (Neo), Grebaldar, Greensburger, Greyhood, H2ppyme, Headbomb, Henry Flower, Herostratus, Insanity Incarnate, Japanese Searobin, KnightRider, LilHelpa, NickShaforostoff, Ntesla66, Nudve, Olessi, Pfalstad, Pirags, Quibik, Serge Lachinov, Sky, Staffelde, SuperMoonMan, Tamtamar, Twthmoses, Vina, Wik, Wmahan, Woohookitty, 28 anonymous edits

Hendrik Lorentz Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=459968450 Contributors: 478jjjz, ActiveSelective, Afasmit, Ahoerstemeier, Alan U. Kennington, Alektzin, Alfio, Allen234, Arancaytar, Arch dude, Aris Katsaris, Backslash Forwardslash, Binksternet, Bletchley, Boethiusó5, Brad7777, Branko, Brews ohare, Brienanni, Bunzil, Chuyelchulo, Cmcelwain, Cmetcalf, Colonies Chris, CommonsDelinker, CoolKid1993, Curps, Cyktsui, D.H. D6, Danny, Darius Dhlomo, DaughterofSun, Davshul, Deb, Demophon, Dicklyon, Dirac1933, Dna-webmaster, Edmmacro, Emerson7, Erianna, Fastfission, Ferdinand Pienaer, Frmereced, Galloping Ghost U of I, Giftlite, H7asan, HP1740-B, Hadal, Harald88, Headbomb, Hike395, Ise@, J.smith, HEms123, JRSpriggs, Jan D. Berends, Jane023, Jannex, Jauhienij, JdH, John, Joseph Solis in Australia, Josteinn, Julezijgsaw, Jumbuck, Jyril, Kenneth M Burke, Koavf, Krawcz, Ksnow, Ktotam, Lemeza Kosugi, Leondumontfollower, Lfgoette, Little Savage, Looxix, Lumpy27, MARKELLOS, MWaller, Matthew Fennell, Maximus Rex, Meisam, Mic, Michaelw000, Miguel.mateo, Mschlindwein, Myasuda, Natty sci, Obradovic Goran, Orderud, PDH, Pde, Pethan, Physicistjedi, Pibwl, Plucas58, Polylerus, RS1900, Ragesoss, Resurgent insurgent, Rhetth, Rich Farmbrough, Rnt20, Robvhoorn, Rorro, Rotational, Rozth, Sadi Carnot, Saraphim, Sardanaphalus, Schlaffy, Smallweed, Srleffler, Stefan Jansen, SuperGirl, T-W, T. Anthony, T@nn, TFOWR, Thorenn, Thurth, Tim Starling, Unyoyega, Valentinian, Wdcf, Whithouse, Who, Wikisidd, WingZero, XJamRastafire, Youpoint, Zachwoo, ﷺ, Aien, 1980, @q.-] ed:_131 anonymous edits

James Clerk Maxwell Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461440400 Contributors: -Midorihana-, 100110100, 10110madrigal, 19.126, 193.117.101.xxx, 1exec1, 5 albert square, A little insignificant, A.C. Norman, AKGhetto, AVarchaeologist, Adam Krellenstein, Adamearn, AdjustShift, Aff123a, Alan Liefting, Alex Bakharev, Alienus, Allen234, Alsocal, AmiDaniel, Andre Engels, AndreasWashington, AndyZ, Andycjp, AnonymousIdiot, Anterior1, Araignee, Arcturus, Argyll Lassie, Argyriou, Arkkeeper, Art and Muscle, Arturo 7, Arx Fortis, Astrochemist, Avargasm, AzaToth, Bachrach44, Bancki, Beagel, Bemoeial, Ben davison, Ben-Zin, Benjiboi, Beyazid, BillC, Billion, Birdycatcher, Bistromathic, Bletchley, Blondegiraffe23, Bob247, Bobo192, Bookandcoffee, Brad7777, Bradmiester123, BritishWatcher, Brokenfixer, Brutannica, Bryan Derksen, Bubba73, Bunzil, Byrial, Clreland, CONGLOGRANT, Can't sleep, clown will eat me, Cantus, Capricorn42, Carnildo, Cbjohnny, Cburnett, CecilWard, Cecil, ChemGardener, Chenopodiaceous, Chineseyoyoworld, Chiswick Chap, Chris the speller, Chrylis, Chun-hian, Clarityfiend, Colimmotox11, Colwolyoung, Complexica, Conventional Wisdom, Conversion script, CorbinSimpson, Cornthwaite, Corrigendas, Crazyjokesta29, Crosbiesmith, Curps, Cutler, Cvata, Cynical, CyrilB, D.H, D6, DVD R W, Dante Alighieri, Darius Bacon, Dave souza, David Eppstein, David Gerard, Davivalle, Dawson, DerHexer, Derek Ross, Dffgd, Diannaa, Dicklyon, Dirac66, Discospinster, Djr32, Dkrolls, Dmn, Doczilla, Dominique Michel, DonSiano, Douglas Heriot, Drstuey, Dsp13, Dudered, Duendeverde, Duncharris, Ed Poor, Ed g2s, Edit666, El, El C, Elcobbola, ElectronicsEnthusiast, Eliyak, Emerson7, Epbr123, EugeneZelenko, Excirial, Extransit, Ezra Wax, Fabrozapata, Famouslongago, Fastfission, Favonian, Fernando Aguirre Fieldday-sunday, Filoha, Fireaxe888, FireballX301, Firefly322, Firsfron, Flaming Ferrari, Floaterfluss, Flying Stag, Freakofnurture, Freddyd945, FroggyJamer, From-cary, Fuzheado, Fys, Gaius Cornelius, Gala.martin, GanjaManja, Giftlite, Gilliam, Gimmemoretime, Gimmetrow, Gobonobo, Gogo Dodo, GoldenMeadows, Good Olfactory, Graham87, GrahamColm, Gralo, Griffinsusername, Gtxfrance, Gzornenplatz, HLawrence, HOD, Haadun, HarDNox, Headbomb, Heimstern, Hemmingsen, Henry springs, Hephaestos, Herakles01, Heron, Hertz1888, Hial, Hmains, Homagetocatalonia, Hoo man, Hob, Ian Dunster, IanOfNorwich, Imrahil, Ioverka, Iridescent, J Hizzal, J.delanoy, JJL, JKeck, JLaTondre, Jacj, JackSchmidt, Jacob Cutts, Jaganath, Jan T. Kim, Jayanta Sen, Jbergquist, Jdforrester, Je at uwo, Jiang, Jmgonzalez, JoanneB, Joao Xavier, Johan1298, John, John Vandenberg, Johnbibby, Johncampbell 8z, Johnpretty010, Johnstone, Jpg, K.C. Tang, Karenje, Karl Stas, Keith meef, Kevin Hayes, Kim Traynor, Kipala, Kjaergaard, Kmitchell 19, Kostisl, Kuangvu, Kungfuadam, Kyle Barbour, L-H, LaurieSK, Leonardo Alves Leopold Davidovich, Lesnail, Light current, Ligulem, Lir, Lochaber, Looxix, Lord Emsworth, Loren.wilton, Loving random article, Lunchscale, MK8, Maebmij, Magister Mathematicae, Magnus Manske, Mais oui!, Malo, MarcoTolo, Marie Poise, Martin-C, Martin451, Martinevans123, MasterPlan, Mattbr, Maury Markowitz, Maxellus, Maximilian Schönherr, Maxrokatanski, Mayooranathan, Mayumashu, Mchangun, Meaghan, Megan 1967, Mentifisto, Merlincooper, MessinaRagazza, Michael David, Michael Hardy, MichaelMaggs, Miguelavin, MikeVitale, Mikeblas, Mindmatrix, Minored, Missmarple, Mjmcb1, Mojska, Monty845, Mr pand, Mrh30, Mrwojo, Munford, Mutt Lunker, Myasuda, Naddy, NawlinWiki, Nczempin, Nedim Ardoğa, Netoholic Newmanbe, Nihil novi, Niteowlneils, NorwegianBlue, Notreallydavid, Novangelis, Occuli, OliviaGuest, Oracleofottawa, PMDrive1061, PMJ, Paddy, Patar knight, Paul August, PearlSt82, Penfold, Peruvianllama, Petteri Aimonen, Philip Trueman, PhilipLS, Physics Teacher2, Pigman, Pilif12p, Pink fuzzy slippers, Pinkunicorn, Pitt2, Pizza Puzzle, Potahto, Pretty Green, Proberts2003, Proofapparent, Pt, Quarma, RCEberwein, RG2, RJaguar3, RS1900, Radagast3, Rashhypothesis, Read-write-services, Red Winged Duck, Reddi, Reformation212, Reinstatehomer, Rettetast, RexNL, Rhtcmu, Rich Farmbrough, Rigadoun, Rjwilmsi, Rlfb, Rnt20, Robby, Robert Thibadeau, Robminchin, Rurquhart, S2000magician, Sadi Carnot, Salsb, Sam Hocevar, Sannse, Sarah, Saruha, Scarian, Sciurinæ, Scooterssuck, Seele2015au, Seldon, SeventyThree, Sgeureka, Shanes, Shimgray, Simsimtigger, Sionus, Sjakkalle, Sjorford, Skylark42, Skyring, SlimVirgin, Smallweed, Smyth, Snowolf, Snoyes, Soler97, Some jerk on the Internet, SpNeo, Spalding, SpuriousQ, Srleffler, Starrymessenger, Stephenb, Stevenig, Steverigo, Straw Cat, Sum33, Sunshine1111, Suruena, Svick, T. Anthony, TYelliot, Taliesin717, Tassedethe, The Thing That Should Not Be, The penfool, TheMindsEye, Thincat, Thingg, Think outside the box, Thparkth, Tide rolls, Tim Starling, Timrollpickering, Tithon, Tozznok, Travis Wells, Trevor Marron, Tryforsure, Tsemii, Uriel8, Vanish2, Versus22, Vlad Akila, Vodex, Vsmith, Warofdreams, Wdfarmer, West Brom 4ever, Westchaser, Wiccan Quagga, Wik, Wiki alf, William Allen Simpson, William rogan, Wilmot1, Woohookitty, Wpollock, XJamRastafire, XX360AMPUNKXX, Xezbeth,

Xkfusionxk, Xyzzyplugh, Zachareth, Zaslav, Zburh, Ziusudra, Zoicon5, Zweibel3, 768 anonymous edits

Albert Abraham Michelson Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461696093 Contributors: AKGhetto, Ab merkin, All Hallow's Wraith, Allen234, Amalex5, Amalthea, Andrei Stroe, AnonMoos, Astonzia, Bernoeial, BillFiis, Bluemoose, Brian0918, Bunzil, Cdc, Ceharanka, Chavo gribower, ChicXulub, ChrisLoosley, Ckhenderson, Cmaric, CommonsDelinker, Connormah, CoolKid1993, Corrigendas, Css, Curps, Cutler, D.H, D6, Davshul, Derek Ross, Dicklyon, Dirac66, Dk1965, Droll, Eeekster, Emax, Emerson7, Enoent, Eran, Eric Kvaalen, Errabee, Etacar11, Fairandbalanced, Favonian, Feketekave, Figma, Froggy, GCappy, GDonato, GcSwRhlc, Giftlite, Gilisa, Graham87, Grey noise, Ground Zero, Headbomb, Hede2000, Herodotos, Heryu, Hoho, Iimd1931, Ilario, JEms123, James McBride, Jbergquist, Jimmyeatskids, John, JohnBlackburne, Joshronsen, Josteinn, Jrincaye, Just Another Dan, Kharker, Koavf, Kowalmistrz, Kramer, Ksnow, Kumioko, L.smithfield, Lemeza Kosugi, Line, Looxix, LorenzoB, Lucas(CA), Lupo, MORD00R, Magnus Manske, Masterpiece2000, Mav, Maximus Rex, Mediumwikiuser, Mfranco, MiLo28, Michael C Price, Michael Hardy, Michael93555, Mike s, Monegasque, Nabla, Newport, Numbo3, Oatmeal batman, Odedee, Ohconfucius, Optokinetics, Paine Ellsworth, Parkjumwung, Paul August, Physchim62, Pit, Plucas58, ProdigySportsman, Pyroclastic, RS1900, RapidR, Reddi, Resurgent, Rich Farmbrough, Rnt20, Rogerd, Roman Spinner, Ronz, Samuraieditor, Schopenhauer, Shoy, Singlephoton, Smelialichu, Squids and Chips, Srleffler, Staecker, Steventl, SuperCirl, SureFire, T-W, T. Anthony, TFBCT1, Tim bates, Tixity, Tony619, Unclekirk, Urbanows, User2004, Utternutter, Valentinian, Vega Nexos, Vladdraculdragon, Will Beback, WriterListener, Ww-austin, XJamRastaffre, Z10x, 132 anonymous edits

Edward Morley Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=461569893 Contributors: Andrei Stroe, Audacity, Bemoeial, Bencherlite, Benjy515whodat, Binksternet, CSumit, Capecodeph, Carl Henderson, Cbustapeck, ChrisHodgesUK, Ckatz, Curps, D6, DangApricot, Derek Ross, Eliyak, Errabee, Etacar11, Falcorian, Finn-Zoltan, Froggy, Giftlite, GirasoleDE, Headbomb, Helatsson, Igilli, Joseph Solis in Australia, Laurascudder, Lekrecteurmasque, Looxix, Magnus Manske, Materialscientist, Mgnelu, MichaelHaeckel, Minesweeper, Mintleaf, Mrtnmcc, Oxymoron83, PeterLerangis, Poppy, Quadell, RS1900, Ragesoss, Reddi, Salsb, SimonP, Singlephoton, Staib, Stevenj, Superslum, Timmorra, Unclekirk, Veryfutzy, Waacstats, Warrickball, William Avery, Wricardoh, XJamRastafire, Zoicon5, 老陳, 25 anonymous edits

Félix Savart Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=458147509 Contributors: Astrochemist, Ceancata, Conscious, Crystallina, Headbomb, Kauczuk, Omnipaedista, Peruvianllama, Plucas58, Qaz, Rich Farmbrough, Riffle, Rigadoun, Rosarino, Skysmith, Urhixidur, Waacstats, 老陳, 8 anonymous edits

Wilhelm Eduard Weber Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454496212 Contributors: Alma Pater, Astrochemist, AttoRenato, Aymatth2, BhangraGirl, Bletchley, Bob Burkhardt, Bunzil, Chapochn, Circeus, D6, Djr32, DrBob, Eilthireach, Emerson7, EugeneZelenko, Flammingo, George.wilson1992, Goatasaur, Grebaldar, Headbomb, Hoss, Hyperboreer, Kiril97, Korte, LorenzoB, Magnus Manske, Nedim Ardoğa, Nicke Lilltroll, OS2Warp, Olessi, Omnipaedista, Oracleofottawa, Plucas58, Qorilla, QueenAdelaide, RB1956, RS1900, Rees11, Resurgent insurgent, Rjwilmsi, Ronstew, Sannse, Schaxel, SuperGirl, T. Anthony, TheParanoidOne, Tomas e, Twthmoses, X45bw, XJamRastafire, Yves-Laurent, 霧木諒二, 21 anonymous edits

On Physical Lines of Force Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454499468 Contributors: Bearcat, FDT, Good Olfactory, Headbomb, NuclearWarfare, 2 anonymous edits

A Dynamical Theory of the Electromagnetic Field Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454496825 Contributors: 7Piguine, Bobblewik, Cburnett, D.H, DMG413, DavidWBrooks, Dmr2, Eliyak, Entner, Foobar, Gadfium, Gene Nygaard, Good Olfactory, Headbomb, Jaraalbe, Jmabel, John Vandenberg, Kjkolb, L-H, Lifebaka, Light current, MFNickster, MakeRocketGoNow, Michael Coldham-Fussell, Michael Hardy, Oli Filth, Pegship, Pjacobi, Proofapparent, Razorflame, Reddi, Shirik, Skippy le Grand Gourou, Srleffler, Stevenj, StuTheSheep, Tim Shuba, Tomos, Wood Thrush, 差陳, 70 anonymous edits

A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=457482287 Contributors: A.C. Norman, Conscious, Eliyak, Good Olfactory, Headbomb, Icairns, Jag123, Jaraalbe, Kate, L-H, MakeRocketGoNow, Nigholith, Pegship, Physicistjedi, Pseudomonas, Robert Thibadeau, Salsb, StAnselm, TStein, Tony1, Vespristiano, 11 anonymous edits

Classical electromagnetism and special relativity Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454497265 Contributors: Brews ohare, DS1000, DVdm, Dario Gnani, Headbomb, J04n, JacobTrue, Sbyrnes321, Stevenj, TStein, Teply, Woohookitty, Ywaz, 16 anonymous edits

Covariant formulation of classical electromagnetism Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=456050073 Contributors: Brews ohare, Complexica, David Haslam, DemonThing, Dicklyon, EverettYou, Falcorian, Frédérick Lacasse, Giftlite, Headbomb, Hwasungmars, JRSpriggs, Kaye101, Light current, Ligulem, Lseixas, Machina Lucis, Michael C Price, Mpatel, Neparis, Nimur, Nur Hamur, Optigan13, Peeter.joot, Quondum, Retired username, Rjwilmsi, Sbyrnes321, ScottAlanHill, SebastianHelm, Sohanley, Srleffler, Stevenj, TStein, Teply, Voyaging, Wingwan, 老陳, 26 anonymous edits

Electromagnetic four-potential Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=449215417 Contributors: Ancheta Wis, Antixt, Charles Matthews, Comech, Dauto, Dekimasu, Dr.enh, Enthusiastic Student, Headbomb, Icairns, JRSpriggs, L-H, LAUBO, Laurascudder, Linuxlad, Lseixas, Markalex, Mpatel, NeilTarrant, Pervect, Pph, Sbyrnes321, Stepa, Steve86au, TStein, That Guy, From That Show!, The Anome, Tpellman, Mыша, 10 anonymous edits

Maxwell's equations in curved spacetime Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=454499194 Contributors: Complexica, Giftlite, Headbomb, Henry Delforn, Hillman, JRSpriggs, Lantonov, Lethe, Ligulem, Michael C Price, Mpatel, Ozob, Pervect, Rjwilmsi, Sbyrnes321, SebastianHelm, Stevekirst7, Stevenj, Sweetser, Well.caffeinated, 14 anonymous edits

Faraday paradox Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=456954154 Contributors: Acdx, Art Carlson, Brews ohare, Chetvorno, CommonsDelinker, D.keenan, Dr FJY, Długosz, Eliyak, FlyHigh, HCPotter, Headbomb, Heron, ISC PB, Ivy86, J S Lundeen, Laurascudder, Light current, Melchoir, Mild Bill Hiccup, N5iln, Qniemiec, Quarl, Radagast83, Sbyrnes321, Shadowjams, Srleffler, Updatehelper, Weatherman1126, Wtshymanski, Youngfj, Zalokar, 老陳, 43 anonymous edits

Moving magnet and conductor problem Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=455084896 Contributors: Barticus88, Brews ohare, Chris the speller, Complexica, Corwin MacGregor, Gregbard, Headbomb, Heron, LilHelpa, Robert B Francis Jr, Sbyrnes321, ScienceMind, Srleffler, Stannered, Vyznev Xnebara, Whitepaw, Wikipelli, Zzyzx11, 老陳, 10 anonymous edits

Luminiferous aether *Source*: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=459305498 *Contributors*: 208.46.78.xxx, 213.253.39.xxx, Alon, Altenmann, Andrei Stroe, Antientropic, Archie Paulson, ArdClose, Arny, Art Carlson, Ashmoo, Ati3414, AugPi, Ayebretwalda, Barticus88, Bdesham, Beelaj, Beeson, BigFatBuddha, Bkell, Bryan Derksen, CES1596, Cardinality, Casimi79999, Charvest, Chas zzz brown, Chocolateboy, Circeus, Cleonis, Conversion script, Count Iblis, Cronholn144, Cryptic, Cyde, D.H, Dart evader, Datamine8, Dcoetzee, Deli nk, Demeo@mind.net, Derek Ross, Dijimon333, Dlauri, Dli42395, DonovanHawkins, Drdonzi, Driesvt, Dlugosz, ERcheck, El C, Elronxenu, Eluchi1404, Ems57fcva, Enochlau, Epolk, Eric Forste, ErkDemon, FDT, Falcorian, Famspear, Finell, Fog00al, Fuhghettaboutit, GDallimore, Gene Nygaard, Geremia, Giftlite, Gil987, God ofcoffee, GrahamHardy, Gregory9, GrindtXX, Gsp, HTG, Hairy Dude, Harald88, Harryboyles, Hartri, Headbomb, Hephaestos, HereToHelp, Heron, Hfarmer, Hillman, Hmains, Hodja Nasreddin, HunterX, IVAN3MAN, Icairns, Idnwiki, Ija Schmelzer, Isheden, JDspeeder1, JKeck, JRK, JabberWok, James, Jasper3838, Jean-François Clet, Jeff G., Jipcondor, Jkominek, Jonathunder, Joseph Wajisberg, Jtankers, JulesH, KBi, KnowledgeOfSelf, Kzollman, Lazypplunite, Lethe, Lights, Linas, Looxix, Lovley, Luckyherb, Lumidek, Machine Elf 1735, Mackensen, Mahrabu, Marie Poise, Martin Hogbin, Maury Markowitz, Mav, Maximus Rex, Megya, Mgiganteus1, Mgmirkin, Michael Hardy, Mirv, Misteror, Mladifilozof, Monedula, Mooquackwooffweetmeow, Moroder, Mr Stephen, Mr snarf, Musiqueue, Myasuda, Nathan Baum, Nixdorf, Nk, Nreprn2026, Obli, Occamy, Olivier, Omasey, Orthografer, PS2pcGAMER, Pavel Vozenilek, Peregrinoerick, Peteemhahn, Pjacobi, Pokipsy76, Ponder, Quidproquo2004, RG2, RJHall, RK, Ragesoss, Reddi, Rich Farmbrough, RickReinckens, Roadrunner, Robert McClenon, RobinK, Rpba, Rufous, Rughede, Ryan Reich, Saayit, Salsb, Sam Hocevar, Schlafly, Shay Guy, Shii, SocioPhobic, Steevven1, Steverej, SunCreator, Superborsuk, That Guy, From T

Michelson–Morley experiment *Source*: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?oldid=458218983 *Contributors*: 1(), A Nobody, A930913, AWX13245, Adam Krellenstein, Ajrocke, Amikake3, Andrei Stroe, Animum, Applrpn, Arabani, Arbitrary username, Arjun01, Army1987, Art Carlson, Ati3414, B4hand, Bcrowell, Bdesham, BenRG, Bender235, Berserkerus, Bighead, BlckKnght, Bobblewik, Brainhell, BrownstoneKnockn, Bryan Derksen, Cabfare123, Carnildo, Caroline Thompson, Charles Matthews, Chas zzz brown, ChrisMiddleton, Cimon Avaro, Cliodule, Complexica, Cronholm144, D.H, DS1000, DVdm, Dabuek, Daniel Case, Danwills, Daralam, Dcoetzee, Deli nk, Demeo@mind.net, Dhinden, Dicklyon, Dino, Dodiad, DomQ, DonSiano, Dorftrottel, Dr. Submillimeter, Drdonzi, E23, Eeekster, Egg, El C, ElKevbo, Enormousdude, ErkDemon, Evil Monkey, Falcorian, Famspear, Fastfission, Felicity4711, Fibonacci, Frozenport, Giocov, Giro720, Gombang, Gregory9, Gustronico, Hairy Dude, Hakan Kayı, Harald88, Headbomb, Hmains, Hooperbloob, Hugcharlesparker, Hugo999, Ian Pitchford, IceKarma, J.delanoy, JCSantos, Jackehammond, Jaeger5432, Jaraalbe, JerrySteal, Jessemerriman, JohnathanBeef, Jon the Geek, JorisvS, JoshG, Jredmond, Jrincayc, Jrockley, Karl Naylor, Khazar, Kingturtle, Kungfuadam, LKG123, Lacrimosus, Linas, Looxix, Loxley, Magnus Manske, Mahrabu, MakeRocketGoNow, Martin Hogbin, Maury Markowitz, Melchoir, Menchi, Meiganteus I, Michael C Price, Michael Hardy, Monty845, Mxn, NEMT, Nabla, Nedwardmiller, Nemesis75, NewEnglandYankee, NiteowIneils, Notahippie76, Nvf, Odedee, Omegatron, Orangedolphin, Ott2, PItP, Parameswaranvaliathan, PatrickOMoran, Pethr, Pfuller96, Physchim62, Piano non troppo, Pjacobi, Pjvpiv, RJHall, Ragesoss, Rasmus Faber, Reddi, Rememberway, Resolute, Rich Farmbrough, Richard001, Rjwilmsi, Robert K S, Ronz, Roy096, SJRubenstein, STLocutus, Samuelweiss, Sanders muc, Sfahey, Simerica, Smartiger, Smyth, Snowdog, Someone42, Splash, Splintercellguy, Stleffler, Steven Weston, Steverti, Stevertigo, Sturena, Tabletop, Tarquin, Ted87, Tentu, Teorth, The Cunc

Image Sources, Licenses and Contributors

Image: VFPt dipole magnetic1.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:VFPt_dipole_magnetic1.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Geek3

File:Magnetosphere rendition.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Magnetosphere_rendition.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: w:NASANASA

Image:Magnetic core.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Magnetic_core.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution 2.5 Contributors: Apalsola, Fayenatic london, Gribozavr, Uberpenguin

File:Polarization and magnetization.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Polarization_and_magnetization.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Marmelad

File:Molecular Vortex Model.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Molecular_Vortex_Model.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Contributors: user:老陳 Image:Electromagnetism.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Electromagnetism.svg License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: User:Stannered

File:Faraday emf experiment.svg *License*: Creative Commons Zero *Contributors*: User:InverseHypercube

File:Faraday disk generator.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday_disk_generator.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Émile Alglave Image:Induction experiment.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Induction_experiment.png License: Public Domain Contributors: J. Lambert

Image: Vector field on a surface.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Vector_field_on_a_surface.PNG License: Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike

Contributors: Brews ohare

Image:Surface integral illustration.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Surface_integral_illustration.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Darapti, Jahobr, Oleg Alexandrov, WikipediaMaster

Image:Stokes' Theorem.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Stokes'_Theorem.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported Contributors: Cronholm144

Image:Faraday Area.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday_Area.PNG License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0,2.5,2.0,1.0 Contributors: Brews ohare

Image:Faraday's disc.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday's_disc.PNG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Brews_ohare

Image:FaradaysLawWithPlates.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:FaradaysLawWithPlates.gif License: Creative Commons Zero Contributors: User:Sbyrnes321 Image:Spindle.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Spindle.PNG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Brews_ohare

File:Hawkins Electrical Guide - Figure 292 - Eddy currents in a solid armature.jpg Source:

http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Hawkins_Electrical_Guide_-_Figure_292_-_Eddy_currents_in_a_solid_armature.jpg *License*: Public Domain *Contributors*: User:DMahalko File:Hawkins Electrical Guide - Figure 293 - Armature core with a few laminations showing effect on eddy currents.jpg *Source*:

http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Hawkins_Electrical_Guide_-_Figure_293_-_Armature_core_with_a_few_laminations_showing_effect_on_eddy_currents.jpg *License*: Public Domain *Contributors*: User:DMahalko

File:Small DC Motor pole laminations and overview.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Small_DC_Motor_pole_laminations_and_overview.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: DMahalko, Dale Mahalko, Gilman, WI, USA -- Email: dmahalko@gmail.com

File:Hawkins Electrical Guide - Figure 291 - Formation of eddy currents in a solid bar inductor.jpg Source:

http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Hawkins_Electrical_Guide_-_Figure_291_-_Formation_of_eddy_currents_in_a_solid_bar_inductor.jpg *License*: Public Domain *Contributors*: User:DMahalko

File:SurfacesWithAndWithoutBoundary.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:SurfacesWithAndWithoutBoundary.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Simple_Torus.svg: Sphere_wireframe_10deg_6r.svg: Geek3 derivative work: Sbyrnes321 (talk)

File:Loudspeaker.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Loudspeaker.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Bayo, Gmaxwell, Husky, Iamunknown, Mirithing, Myself488, Nethac DIU, Omegatron, Rocket000, The Evil IP address, Wouterhagens, 16 anonymous edits

Image: Vortex filament (Biot-Savart law illustration).png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Vortex_filament_(Biot-Savart_law_illustration).png License: Public Domain Contributors: myth

File:Postcard-from-Maxwell-to-Tait.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Postcard-from-Maxwell-to-Tait.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Ahellwig, Kilom691, Tjlaxs

File:Time dilation02.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Time_dilation02.gif License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Cleonis

File:Electromagneticwave3D.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Electromagneticwave3D.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Lookang

File:Spectre.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Spectre.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 2.5 Contributors: Tatoute and Phrood

File:Reaction path.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Reaction_path.JPG License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Brews ohare Image:Dry-cell.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Dry-cell.JPG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: 121a0012, BazookaJoe, Longhair, R-Berto, 1 anonymous edits

Image:Solar cell equivalent circuit.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Solar_cell_equivalent_circuit.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Squirmymcphee

File:Solar cell characterisites.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Solar_cell_characterisites.JPG License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Brews ohare

Image:Inverse square law.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Inverse_square_law.svg License: unknown Contributors: Borb

Image:PD-icon.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:PD-icon.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Alex.muller, Anomie, Anonymous Dissident, CBM, MBisanz, Quadell, Rocket000, Strangerer, Timotheus Canens, 1 anonymous edits

File:Lorentz force.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Lorentz_force.svg License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: User:Jaro.p

File:Cyclotron motion.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Cyclotron_motion.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike Contributors: Marcin Białek File:charged-particle-drifts.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Charged-particle-drifts.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution 2.5 Contributors: User:Stannered

File:Regla mano derecha Laplace.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Regla_mano_derecha_Laplace.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Jfmelero

Image:Transmission line element.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Transmission_line_element.svg License: unknown Contributors: User:Omegatron
Image:SignalTransmission.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:SignalTransmission.png License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Audriusa, 1

anonymous edits

Image: Unbalanced Transmission Line Equivalent Sub Circuit.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Unbalanced_Transmission_Line_Equivalent_Sub_Circuit.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Constant314

File:Electric field.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Electric_field.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Lookang File:Electric field negative.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Electric_field_negative.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Lookang User:Lookang

File:Electric field one charge changing.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Electric_field_one_charge_changing.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Lookang

Image:VFPt charges plus minus thumb.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:VFPt_charges_plus_minus_thumb.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Geek3

File:Electric field and potential relationship.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Electric_field_and_potential_relationship.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Lookang

File:Gravitational field.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Gravitational_field.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Lookang File:ElectricDisplacement English.GIF Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:ElectricDisplacement_English.GIF License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: 老陳

Image:Descartes magnetic field.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Descartes_magnetic_field.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: René Descartes Image:Magnetic field near pole.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Magnetic_field_near_pole.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: TStein

Image:Magnet0873.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Magnet0873.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Newton Henry Black

Image:Manoderecha.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Manoderecha.svg License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Jfmelero

Image:Solenoid-1.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Solenoid-1.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Zureks

File:Magnetic force.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Magnetic_force.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Maschen Image:Regla mano derecha Laplace.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Regla_mano_derecha_Laplace.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0

Contributors: Jfmelero

Zureks

File:BIsAPseudovector.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:BIsAPseudovector.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Sbyrnes321

Image:Earths Magnetic Field Confusion.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Earths_Magnetic_Field_Confusion.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: TStein

Image:Magnetic quadrupole moment.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Magnetic_quadrupole_moment.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Original uploader was K. Aainsqatsi at en.wikipedia

Image:VFPt dipole magnetic3.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:VFPt_dipole_magnetic3.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Geek3

File:Current continuity in capacitor.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Current_continuity_in_capacitor.JPG License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Brews ohare

Image:Displacement current in capacitor.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Displacement_current_in_capacitor.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Chetvorno Image:VFPt plus thumb.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:VFPt_plus_thumb.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Geek3

Image:VFPt minus thumb.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:VFPt_minus_thumb.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Geek3 Image:Bcoulomb.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Bcoulomb.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Chanchocan, Lmbuga, Mutter Erde, N.borisenkov, Pieter Kuiper, Sertion, WikipediaMaster

File:CuttingABarMagnet.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:CuttingABarMagnet.svg License: Creative Commons Zero Contributors: User:Sbyrnes321 Image:Surface normal.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Surface_normal.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Original uploader was Oleg Alexandrov at en.wikipedia

Image:Magnetic Vector Potential Circular Toroid.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Magnetic_Vector_Potential_Circular_Toroid.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Constant314

File:Diel.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Diel.gif License: Public Domain Contributors: hyperphysics

Image:Dielectric responses.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Dielectric_responses.svg License: Attribution Contributors: Original uploader was Archimerged at en.wikipedia

File:Permeability by Zureks.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Permeability_by_Zureks.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Zureks File:Permeability of ferromagnet by Zureks.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Permeability_of_ferromagnet_by_Zureks.svg License: Public Domain Contributors:

File:Dielectric sphere.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Dielectric_sphere.JPG License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Brews ohare File:Mass potential well increasing mass.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Mass_potential_well_increasing_mass.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Lookang

File:Gravity field near earth.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Gravity_field_near_earth.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Lookang

Image:GravityPotential.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:GravityPotential.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: AllenMcC. File:Sun to Earth.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Sun_to_Earth.JPG License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Brews ohare

File:Lorentz factor.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Lorentz_factor.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: egg, Graph created with KmPlot, edited with Inkscape Trassiorf (talk) 21:54, 2 March 2010 (UTC)

File:Relativity of Simultaneity.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Relativity_of_Simultaneity.svg License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: User:Army1987 created the original PNG file; Acdx converted it to SVG.

File:frontgroupphase.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Frontgroupphase.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: TimothyRias File:Speed of light from Earth to Moon.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Speed_of_light_from_Earth_to_Moon.gif License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: en:User:Cantus

File:SoL Abberation.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:SoL_Abberation.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: TimothyRias File:Fizeau.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Fizeau.JPG License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Brews ohare

File:Waves in Box.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Waves_in_Box.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Badseed working on a raster by Brews_ohare

File:Interferometer sol.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Interferometer_sol.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: TimothyRias File:Roemer.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Roemer.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Albedo-ukr, Glj1952, Gregors, Hemmingsen, Jappalang, Mdd Image:dielectric model.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Dielectric_model.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: User:Superm401, User:Timwilson85 Image:Capacitor schematic with dielectric.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Capacitor_schematic_with_dielectric.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Papa November

Image:Diamagnetic graphite levitation.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Diamagnetic_graphite_levitation.jpg License: Public domain Contributors: en:User:Splarka Image:Superconductor.GIF Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Superconductor.GIF License: Public Domain Contributors: David Meeker wrote FEMM 4.2 Image:Frog diamagnetic levitation.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Frog_diamagnetic_levitation.jpg License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Lijnis Nelemans

File:VisibleEmrWavelengths.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:VisibleEmrWavelengths.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: maxhurtz File:Electromagneticsideview.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Electromagneticsideview.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Lookang

File:Electromagneticwave3Dfromside.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Electromagneticwave3Dfromside.gif License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User:Lookang

File:Onde electromagnetique.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Onde_electromagnetique.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported Contributors: SuperManu

File:EM spectrum.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:EM_spectrum.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 2.5 Contributors: User:Sakurambo File:Light spectrum.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Light_spectrum.svg License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Light_spectrum.png: Original uploader was Denelson83 at en.wikipedia derivative work: B. Jankuloski (talk)

File:Kolbenluftpumpe hg.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Kolbenluftpumpe_hg.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Contributors: Hannes Grobe (talk)

File: Vacuum chamber-being opened by engineer.jpeg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File: Vacuum_chamber-being_opened_by_engineer.jpeg License: Public Domain Contributors: Original uploader was Kevin Saff at en.wikipedia

File:Gluehlampe 01 KMJ.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Gluehlampe_01_KMJ.jpg License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: KMJ File:Structure of the magnetosphere.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Structure_of_the_magnetosphere.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Original bitmap from w:NASANASA. SVG rendering by w:User:AkaaseAaron Kaase.

File:An Experiment on a Bird in an Air Pump by Joseph Wright of Derby, 1768.jpg Source:

http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:An_Experiment_on_a_Bird_in_an_Air_Pump_by_Joseph_Wright_of_Derby,_1768.jpg *License*: Public Domain *Contributors*: Anne97432, AnonMoos, Bukk, Deadpan, Duesentrieb, GeeJo, Gryffindor, Mattes, Micheletb, Pieter Kuiper, Pmsyyz, Rave, Rocket000, Tchoř, WikipediaMaster

File:Baro 0.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Baro_0.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Ruben Castelnuovo (Ub)

File:Crookes tube.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Crookes_tube.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported Contributors: Y. Trottier File:L-Pumpe2.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:L-Pumpe2.png License: unknown Contributors: Kolossos, WikipediaMaster, 1 anonymous edits

File:Hand pump.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Hand_pump.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Skipjack, Tetris L, Ub, WikipediaMaster

File:Cut through turbomolecular pump.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Cut_through_turbomolecular_pump.jpg License: GNU General Public License Contributors: liquidat

File:McLeod gauge 01.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:McLeod_gauge_01.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported Contributors: McLeod_gauge_jpg: Ytrottier derivative work: Amada44 (talk)

File:Ampere Andre 1825.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Ampere_Andre_1825.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Ambrose Tardieu

File:André-Marie Ampère signature.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:André-Marie_Ampère_signature.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: André-Marie Ampère Created in vector format by Scewing

Image:Ampere grave.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Ampere_grave.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Original uploader was Astrochemist at en.wikipedia File:Jean baptiste biot.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Jean_baptiste_biot.jpg License: unknown Contributors: Auguste Lemoine (?)

File:Biot-Signature.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Biot-Signature.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Jean-Baptiste Biot Created in vector format by Scewing

 $\label{eq:second} File: Faraday.png \ Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File: Faraday.png \ License: Public Domain \ Contributors: unattributed \ File: Faraday.png \ License: Public Domain \ Contributors: unattributed \ File: Faraday.png \ License: Public Domain \ Contributors: unattributed \ File: Faraday.png \ License: Public Domain \ Contributors: unattributed \ File: Faraday.png \ Faraday.png$

File:Michael Faraday signature.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Michael_Faraday_signature.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Michael Faraday File:Faraday Cochran Pickersgill.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday_Cochran_Pickersgill.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: John Cochran File:M Faraday Lab H Moore.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:M_Faraday_Lab_H_Moore.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Harriet Moore File:Tetrachloroethylene-3D-vdW.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday_magnetic_rotation.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Benjah-bmm27 File:Faraday magnetic rotation.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday_magnetic_rotation.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Michael Faraday File:Faraday-Daniell.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday_Daniell.PNG License: Public Domain Contributors: Michael Faraday en.wikipedia

File:Faraday photograph ii.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday_photograph_ii.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Nase

Image:Faraday cage.gif Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday_cage.gif License: Public Domain Contributors: Stanisław Skowron

File:FaradayFatherThames.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:FaradayFatherThames.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Edward, Ewan ar Born, Infrogmation, Man vyi, Rosenzweig, The Duke of Waltham

Image: Lighthouse lantern room with Fresnel lens.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Lighthouse_lantern_room_with_Fresnel_lens.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Adolphe Ganot

File:Faraday Michael old age.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday_Michael_old_age.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Henry Roscoe File:Faraday Michael Christmas lecture detail.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Faraday_Michael_Christmas_lecture_detail.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Alexander Blaikley (1816 - 1903)

File:Michael Faraday statue AB.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Michael_Faraday_statue_AB.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Contributors: Adambro

File:Carl Friedrich Gauss.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Carl_Friedrich_Gauss.jpg License: unknown Contributors: Bcrowell, Blösöf, Conscious, Gabor, Joanjoc, Kaganer, Kilom691, Luestling, Mattes, Rovnet, Schaengel89, Ufudu, Wolfmann, 4 anonymous edits

File:Carl Friedrich Gauß signature.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Carl_Friedrich_Gauß_signature.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: derivative work: Pbroks13 (talk) Carl_Friedrich_Gauß_Namenszug_von_1794.jpg: Carl Friedrich Gauß (1777-1855)

File:Statue-of-Gauss-in-Braunschweig.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Statue-of-Gauss-in-Braunschweig.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 2.5 Contributors: Mascdman

File:Disqvisitiones-800.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Disqvisitiones-800.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Aristeas, Gveret Tered, Juiced lemon, Maksim, Toobaz, Ufudu, Wst

File:Bendixen - Carl Friedrich Gauß, 1828.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Bendixen_-_Carl_Friedrich_Gauß_1828.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Siegfried Detlev Bendixen

File:Normal distribution pdf.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Normal_distribution_pdf.png License: GNU General Public License Contributors: Ardonik, Gerbrant, Grendelkhan, Inductiveload, Juiced lemon, MarkSweep, Wikiwide, 10 anonymous edits

File:Carl Friedrich Gauss on his Deathbed, 1855.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Carl_Friedrich_Gauss_on_his_Deathbed, 1855.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Philipp Petri

File:Göttingen-Grave.of.Gauß.06.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Göttingen-Grave.of.Gauß.06.jpg License: Creative Commons Sharealike 1.0 Contributors: Jonathan Groß, Kresspahl, Longbow4u, Martin H.

File:Therese Gauss.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Therese_Gauss.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Churchh, Skraemer

File:10 DM Serie4 Vorderseite.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:10_DM_Serie4_Vorderseite.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Deutsche Bundesbank, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

File:Stamp Carl Friedrich Gauß.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Stamp_Carl_Friedrich_Gauß.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: User:Prolineserver File:Oliver Heaviside2.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Oliver_Heaviside2.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Original uploader was SuperGirl at en.wikipedia

Image:Heaviside grave.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Heaviside_grave.JPG License: Public Domain Contributors: Original uploader was Ianmacm at en.wikipedia

File:Jospeh_Henry_(1879).jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Jospeh_Henry_(1879).jpg License: unknown Contributors: Henry Ulke (1821-1910)

File:Birthplace Of Modern Electricity.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Birthplace_Of_Modern_Electricity.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Original uploader was Igoldste at en.wikipedia

File:Joseph Henry - Brady-Handy.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Joseph_Henry_-_Brady-Handy.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: w:Mathew BradyMathew Brady or w:Levin Corbin HandyLevin Handy

File:Henry Joseph grave.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Henry_Joseph_grave.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Original uploader was Astrochemist at en.wikipedia

File:JosephHenry-SmithsonianCastle-20050517.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:JosephHenry-SmithsonianCastle-20050517.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 2.5 Contributors: David Bjorgen. Originally uploaded at en.wikipedia.

File:Heinrich Rudolf Hertz.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Heinrich_Rudolf_Hertz.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Denniss, Kilom691, Majtec, Materialscientist, Mschlindwein, Peter439

File:Autograph of Heinrich Hertz.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Autograph_of_Heinrich_Hertz.png License: Public Domain Contributors: Original uploader was Grendelkhan at en.wikipedia

Image:Büste von Heinrich Hertz in Karlsruhe.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Büste_von_Heinrich_Hertz_in_Karlsruhe.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Klaus-Dieter Keller, Germany

Image:TransverseEMwave.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:TransverseEMwave.PNG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: en:User:Hertzian Image:Hertz schematic0.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Hertz_schematic0.PNG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Austinblm, Hertzian, 2 anonymous edits

File:Heinrich Hertz Deutsche-200-1Kcs.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Heinrich_Hertz_Deutsche-200-1Kcs.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Deutsche Bundespost

File:Rudolf Kohlrausch.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Rudolf_Kohlrausch.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Der Bischof mit der E-Gitarre Image:wikisource-logo.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Wikisource-logo.svg License: logo Contributors: Nicholas Moreau

Image:Heinrich Friedrich Emil Lenz.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Heinrich_Friedrich_Emil_Lenz.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Quibik File:Hendrik Antoon Lorentz.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Hendrik_Antoon_Lorentz.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: The website of the Royal Library shows a picture from the same photosession that is attributed to Museum Boerhaave. The website of the Museum states "vrij beschikbaar voor publicatie" (freely available for publication).

Image: Jan Veth05.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Jan_Veth05.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Rotational, Tekstman, Vincent Steenberg Image:Einstein en Lorentz.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Einstein_en_Lorentz.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Cycn, Deadstar, Enboifre, Gixie, Infrogmation, JdH, Rimshot, 1 anonymous edits

File:James Clerk Maxwell.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:James_Clerk_Maxwell.png License: Public Domain Contributors: G. J. Stodart

File:James Clerk Maxwell sig.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:James_Clerk_Maxwell_sig.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: James Clerk Maxwell Image:Edinburgh Academy frontage.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Edinburgh_Academy_frontage.jpg License: unknown Contributors: Original uploader was Macumba at en.wikipedia

Image:Edinburgh University 1827.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Edinburgh_University_1827.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Dave souza, Jonathan Oldenbuck, Tatata

Image:YoungJamesClerkMaxwell.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:YoungJamesClerkMaxwell.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Ahellwig, Kilom691, Tilaxs

Image: James Clerk Maxwell-Katherine Maxwell-1869.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:James Clerk Maxwell-Katherine Maxwell-1869.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Ahellwig, Kilom 691, P.wormer, Tjlaxs

File:Maxwell's gravestone.JPG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Maxwell's_gravestone.JPG License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: Flying Stag

Image:Postcard-from-Maxwell-to-Tait.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Postcard-from-Maxwell-to-Tait.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Ahellwig, Kilom691. Tilaxs

Image:Tartan Ribbon.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Tartan_Ribbon.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: James Clerk Maxwell (original photographic slides) ; scan by User:Janke.

File: James Clerk Maxwell statue in George Street, Edinburgh.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:James_Clerk_Maxwell_statue_in_George_Street,_Edinburgh.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User: Kim Traynor

File:Albert Abraham Michelson2.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Albert_Abraham_Michelson2.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Original uploader was Bunzil at en.wikipedia

File:Albert A Michelson Signature.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Albert_A_Michelson_Signature.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Albert A. Michelson File:Michelson - Experimental Determination of the Speed of Light, p 1.jpg Source:

http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Michelson_-_Experimental_Determination_of_the_Speed_of_Light,_p_1.jpg *License*: Public Domain *Contributors*: Original uploader was w:en:User:Brian0918Brian0918 at en.wikipedia

File:Michelson - Experimental Determination of the Speed of Light, conclusion.jpg Sources

http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Michelson_-_Experimental_Determination_of_the_Speed_of_Light,_conclusion.jpg *License*: Public Domain *Contributors*: Brian0918 File:Michaelson experiment annapolis.JPG *Source*: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Michaelson_experiment_annapolis.JPG *License*: Public Domain *Contributors*: Staecker

File:Edward Williams Morley2.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Edward_Williams_Morley2.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: unknown

Image:Morely Grave image.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Morely_Grave_image.jpg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike Contributors: Mrtnmcc File:PD-icon.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:PD-icon.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: Alex.muller, Anomie, Anonymous Dissident, CBM, MBisanz, Quadell, Rocket000, Strangerer, Timotheus Canens, 1 anonymous edits

File:Wilhelm Eduard Weber II.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Wilhelm_Eduard_Weber_II.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Rud. Hoffmann, 1856; Druck v. J. Haller; Nach einer Photographie v. Petri in Göttingen.

File:Wilhelm Eduard Weber_sig.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Wilhelm_Eduard_Weber_sig.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Bletchley, Sven Manguard

Image: James Clerk Maxwell.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:James_Clerk_Maxwell.jpg License: Public Domain Contributors: Probably derived from a photograph by Fergus of Greenock

Image:Gravitation space source.png Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Gravitation_space_source.png License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Adam majewski, Duesentrieb, Schekinov Alexey Victorovich, Superborsuk, WikipediaMaster

Image:Solid Faraday disc.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Solid_Faraday_disc.PNG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Brews ohare Image:Current loops.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Current_loops.PNG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Brews_ohare

Image:Disc-to-strip mapping.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Disc-to-strip_mapping.PNG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Brews ohare Image:Feynman flux counterexample.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Feynman_flux_counterexample.PNG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Brews_ohare

File:Tilley experiment.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Tilley_experiment.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Contributors: User: 老陳 Image:060618 conductor magnet.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:060618_conductor_magnet.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 3.0 Unported Contributors: User: Stannered

Image:Moving magnet.PNG Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Moving_magnet.PNG License: GNU Free Documentation License Contributors: Brews ohare Image:AetherWind.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:AetherWind.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported Contributors: User:Cronholm144

Image:Michelson-Morley experiment (en).svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Michelson-Morley_experiment_(en).svg License: unknown Contributors: User:Bdesham Image:Michelsonmorley-boxplot.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Michelsonmorley-boxplot.svg License: Public Domain Contributors: User:Schutz Image:aetherWind.svg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:AetherWind.svg License: Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported Contributors: User:Combolm144

Image:Michelson Interferometer Red Laser Interference.jpg Source: http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=File:Michelson_Interferometer_Red_Laser_Interference.jpg License: unknown Contributors: Falcorian, Teebeutel

License

Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 3.0 Unported //creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/